
BOULDER CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 1777 BROADWAY 

Tuesday, December 1, 2015 
6 PM  

AGENDA 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
A. Certification of Election Results 
 

2. OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE (limited to 45 min.) 
Public may address any city business for which a public hearing is not scheduled later in 
the meeting (this includes the consent agenda and first readings).  After all public 
hearings have taken place, any remaining speakers will be allowed to address Council.  
All speakers are limited to three minutes. 
 

3. CONSENT AGENDA (to include first reading of ordinances) Vote to be taken on the 
motion at this time. ( Roll Call vote required) 

A. Consideration of a motion to approve the minutes for the September 29, 2015 City 
Council Special Meeting (to be included in final packet) 
 

B. Consideration of a motion to accept the Oct. 27, 2015 Study Session Summary: 
Human Services Strategy Update 

 
C. Consideration of a motion to accept the Oct. 27, 2015 Study Session Summary: 

Homelessness Strategy Update 
 

D. Consideration of a motion to approve the City’s 2016 State and Federal 
Legislative Agenda 

 
E. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8090 

vacating and authorizing the City Manager to execute two deeds of vacation to 
vacate two public access easements at 901 Pearl Street 
Applicant/Property Owner: 901 Eldridge, Inc 
 

F. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8092 
approving November/December supplemental appropriations for the 2015 
Budget  

 
Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Boulder City Council and 
convene as the City of Boulder Forest Glen Transit Pass General Improvement 
District Board of Directors  

 
G. Consideration of a motion to adopt Resolution No. 52 approving a supplemental 

appropriation to the 2015 Forest Glen Transit Pass General Improvement 
District Fund Budget  
 

Packet Page 1



Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the City of Boulder Forest Glen 
Transit Pass General Improvement District Board of Directors and convene as 
the Boulder Junction Access Commission General Improvement District – 
Travel Demand Management Board of Directors  

 
H. Consideration of a motion to adopt Resolution No. 17 approving a supplemental 

appropriation to the 2015 Boulder Junction Access Commission General 
Improvement District – Travel Demand Management Fund Budget  
 
Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Boulder Junction Access 
Commission General Improvement District – Travel Demand Management 
Board of Directors and reconvene as the City Council 

 
I. Introduction and consideration of a motion to adopt Emergency Ordinance No. 

8097 adopting Supplement No. 125, which codifies previously adopted 
Ordinance Nos. 8043, 8050, 8066, 8071, 8089, and other miscellaneous 
corrections and amendments, as an amendment to the Boulder Revised Code, 1981 

 
J. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by 

title only Ordinance No. 8098 amending Sections 8-3-7, “Regulation of Horses 
and Livestock,” and 8-3- 11, “Sledding and Skiing in Open Space and 
Mountain Parks Prohibited,” and adding a new section 7-6-31, “Horse Trailer 
Parking.” 

  
K. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by 

title only Ordinance No. 8099 approving the addition of the Schnell Homestead 
Property to the Western Mountain Park Habitat Conservation Area 

 
L. Consideration of the following items related to the annexation of the property 

at 4525 Palo Parkway 
1. Resolution No. 1177 finding the annexation petition in compliance with state 

statutes and establishing Jan. 5, 2016, as the date for a public hearing 
2. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by 

title only Ordinance No. 9000 related to the annexation of a 3.2-acre 
property with an initial zoning designation of Residential - Mixed 2 (RMX-2). 

  Applicant/Property Owner:  Boulder Housing Partners 
 

4. POTENTIAL CALL-UP CHECK IN  
Opportunity for Council to indicate possible interest in the call-up of an item listed 
under 8-A. No action will be taken on this item at this time. 

1. Concept Plan Review 311 Mapleton Ave.  
2. Concept Plan Review 4525 Palo Pkwy. 

  
ORDER OF BUSINESS 

 
 

Packet Page 2



5. PUBLIC HEARINGS  
Note:  Any items removed from the Consent Agenda will be considered after any City 
scheduled Public Hearings. 
A. Consideration of the following items 

1. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8093 
rezoning a 0.8 acre portion of property located at 385 Broadway, from 
Residential - Low 1 to Business - Transitional 2, consistent with the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan land use designation of Transitional Business. 
2. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8094 
amending Sections 9-2-14, “Site Review,” and 9-9-2, “General Provisions,” B.R.C. 
1981, to ensure reasonable compatibility of the development of lots and parcels 
located in more than one zoning district one of which is a low density residential 
district with neighboring land uses 
 

B. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8095 
amending subsection 9-12-2(b), “Prohibition of Sale Before Plan Approval,” B.R.C. 
1981 to allow the owner of the property at 2180 Violet Ave. to sell a portion of 
the unplatted parcel to Habitat for Humanity of Boulder Valley, Inc. for the 
purposes of developing affordable housing. 
Applicant: Habitat for Humanity of Boulder Valley, Inc. 
Owner:  2145 Upland LLC 

 
C. Consideration of a motion to accept the Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation 

Plan 
 

6. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER 
 

7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY 
 

8. MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 
A. Potential Call-Ups  

1. Concept Plan Review 311 Mapleton Ave.  
2. Concept Plan Review 4525 Palo Pkwy. 
 

B.   “Nod of Five” for staff to prepare a declaration regarding inclusivity for the 
refugees and other disenfranchised populations 

 
9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS -15 min 

Public comment on any motions made under Matters. 
 

10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS Action on motions made under Matters 
 

11. DEBRIEF -Opportunity for Council to discuss how the meeting was conducted-5 min 
 

12. ADJOURNMENT 

Packet Page 3

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


This agenda and the meetings can be viewed at www.bouldercolorado.gov / City Council.  
Meetings are aired live on Municipal Channel 8 and the city’s Web site and are re-
cablecast at 6 p.m. Wednesdays and 11 a.m. Fridays in the two weeks following a regular 
council meeting.  DVDs may be checked out from the Main Boulder Public Library.   
 
Anyone requiring special packet preparation such as Braille, large print, or tape recorded 
versions may contact the City Clerk’s Office at (303) 441-3002, 8 a.m. – 5 p.m. Monday 
through Friday.  48 hours notification prior to the meeting or preparation of special 
materials IS REQUIRED.   
 
If you need Spanish interpretation or other language-related assistance for this meeting, 
please call (303) 441-1905 at least three business days prior to the meeting.  Si usted 
necesita interpretación o cualquier otra ayuda con relación al idioma para esta junta, por 
favor comuníquese al (303) 441-1905 por lo menos 3 negocios días antes de la junta.  
 
Electronic presentations to the city council must be pre-loaded by staff at the time of sign 
up and will NOT be accepted after 3:30 p.m. at regularly scheduled meetings.  Electronic 
media must come on a prepared USB jump (flash/thumb) drive and no technical support 
is provided by staff. 

Packet Page 4



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: December 1, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE: 
Items relating to the certification of the 2015 General Municipal Coordinated Mail Ballot 
Election held on November 3, 2015: 

1. Motion to convene as the General Canvassing and Election Board for the
City of Boulder General Municipal Election.

2. Roll Call of the General Canvassing and Election Board.

3. Administration of oath and signing of same by Board members.

4. Consideration of a motion nominating a member to chair the Board.

5. Submission to the Board by the Secretary of the following:

i. Certificate of the official ballot
ii. Certificate of the official Public Notice of the

November 3, 2015 Election
iii. Certificate of election returns

6. Public Hearing

7. Consideration of a motion that the abstract and result sheets be approved
and signing of same, if approved.

8. Motion to adjourn from the General Canvassing and Election Board for the
General Municipal Election and reconvene as the Boulder City Council.

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Alisa D. Lewis, Director of Support Services/Secretary of the General Canvassing and 
Election Board 

Agenda Item 1A     Page 1Packet Page 5



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The City of Boulder Charter Section 22 calls for a general municipal election to be held on the 
first Tuesday in November of odd number years for the purpose of filling any expired or vacant 
council seats. On November 3, 2015, City of Boulder electors voted to fill five (5) vacant council 
seats and voted on seven (7) ballot measures. 

To comply with Charter Section 32, which provides for the certification of election results, the 
Council shall serve as the General Canvassing and Election Board.  The Designated Election 
Official/Secretary for the General Canvassing and Election Board will present the Board with all 
official election documents for review and signature.  After conducting a public hearing, the 
board shall consider a motion approving the abstract of votes and shall sign the official 
documents.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests the General Canvassing and Election Board’s consideration of this matter and 
action in the form of the following motion: 

Motion language: 

Move to approve the official abstract and result sheets from the 2015 General Municipal 
Coordinated Election held on November 3, 2015. 

ATTACHMENT: 
A. Certificate of election returns 
B.     Reconciliation Report

Agenda Item 1A     Page 2Packet Page 6



Agenda Item 1A     Page 3Packet Page 7



Contest Name Choice Name
Active 
Voters Total Ballots Total Votes

Percent of 
Votes

Total Under 
Votes

Total Over 
Votes

Number of 
Precincts

City of Boulder Council Candidates Jared Kaszuba 62895 29552 1534 1.34% 32468 85 88
City of Boulder Council Candidates Lisa Morzel 62895 29552 10810 9.46% 32468 85 88
City of Boulder Council Candidates Leonard May 62895 29552 6705 5.87% 32468 85 88
City of Boulder Council Candidates Edward Jabari 62895 29552 1846 1.62% 32468 85 88
City of Boulder Council Candidates Cha Cha Spinrad 62895 29552 2016 1.76% 32468 85 88
City of Boulder Council Candidates Bob Yates 62895 29552 12242 10.72% 32468 85 88
City of Boulder Council Candidates Aaron Brockett 62895 29552 10213 8.94% 32468 85 88
City of Boulder Council Candidates Julianne McCabe 62895 29552 4000 3.50% 32468 85 88
City of Boulder Council Candidates Bill Rigler 62895 29552 5644 4.94% 32468 85 88
City of Boulder Council Candidates Tim Plass 62895 29552 8109 7.10% 32468 85 88
City of Boulder Council Candidates Cindy Carlisle 62895 29552 8861 7.76% 32468 85 88
City of Boulder Council Candidates Suzanne Jones 62895 29552 11294 9.89% 32468 85 88
City of Boulder Council Candidates Michael Kruteck 62895 29552 8819 7.72% 32468 85 88
City of Boulder Council Candidates Comrade Keith Percy 62895 29552 901 0.79% 32468 85 88
City of Boulder Council Candidates Jyotsna Raj 62895 29552 6444 5.64% 32468 85 88
City of Boulder Council Candidates Jan Burton 62895 29552 8986 7.87% 32468 85 88
City of Boulder Council Candidates Don Cote 62895 29552 5822 5.10% 32468 85 88
City of Lafayette Council Candidates Christine Berg 16724 7100 4144 21.02% 8666 6 17
City of Lafayette Council Candidates Cliff Willmeng 16724 7100 1951 9.90% 8666 6 17
City of Lafayette Council Candidates Alexandra Lynch 16724 7100 3311 16.80% 8666 6 17
City of Lafayette Council Candidates Frank Phillips 16724 7100 2421 12.28% 8666 6 17
City of Lafayette Council Candidates Brad Wiesley 16724 7100 2472 12.54% 8666 6 17
City of Lafayette Council Candidates Stephanie Walton 16724 7100 3342 16.96% 8666 6 17
City of Lafayette Council Candidates Cliff Smedley 16724 7100 2069 10.50% 8666 6 17
City of Longmont Mayor Sarah Levison 50445 22045 5451 25.84% 944 5 55
City of Longmont Mayor Ron Gallegos 50445 22045 3562 16.88% 944 5 55
City of Longmont Mayor Dennis L. Coombs 50445 22045 12083 57.28% 944 5 55
City of Longmont Council At-Large Joan Peck 50445 22045 10378 50.89% 1648 5 55
City of Longmont Council At-Large Scott Dunn 50445 22045 10014 49.11% 1648 5 55
City of Longmont Council Ward 1 Brian J. Bagley 17180 7127 5378 100.00% 1749 0 19
City of Longmont Council Ward 3 Bonnie Finley 16453 7661 4018 55.93% 474 3 20
City of Longmont Council Ward 3 Paul Rennix 16453 7661 3166 44.07% 474 3 20
City of Louisville Mayor Bob Muckle 13797 6515 5009 100.00% 1506 0 15
City of Louisville City Council Person Ward I Jay Keany 5286 2464 1744 100.00% 720 0 6
City of Louisville City Council Person Ward II Susan Loo 4381 1928 1466 100.00% 462 0 9
City of Louisville City Council Person Ward III Todd Stevenson 4130 2123 474 23.84% 132 3 7

Agenda Item 1A     Page 4Packet Page 8



Contest Name Choice Name
Active 
Voters Total Ballots Total Votes

Percent of 
Votes

Total Under 
Votes

Total Over 
Votes

Number of 
Precincts

City of Louisville City Council Person Ward III Dennis Maloney 4130 2123 777 39.08% 132 3 7
City of Louisville City Council Person Ward III Angie Layton 4130 2123 737 37.07% 132 3 7
Boulder Valley School District RE-2  Director District A Denny McCloskey 125477 56447 11254 32.74% 22059 13 159
Boulder Valley School District RE-2  Director District A Shelly Benford 125477 56447 23121 67.26% 22059 13 159
Boulder Valley School District RE-2  Director District C Chris Barge 125477 56447 17801 49.55% 17734 38 159
Boulder Valley School District RE-2  Director District C Kathy Gebhardt 125477 56447 18124 50.45% 17734 38 159
Boulder Valley School District RE-2  Director District D Sam Fuqua 125477 56447 30222 100.00% 26225 0 159
Boulder Valley School District RE-2  Director District G Richard L. Garcia 125477 56447 29973 100.00% 26474 0 159
Thompson School District R2-J  Board of Education  Director District A Jeff Swanty 153 67 27 54.00% 17 0 2
Thompson School District R2-J  Board of Education  Director District A Aimie Randall 153 67 23 46.00% 17 0 2
Thompson School District R2-J  Board of Education  Director District C Denise Montagu 153 67 39 78.00% 17 0 2
Thompson School District R2-J  Board of Education  Director District C Vance Hansen 153 67 11 22.00% 17 0 2
Thompson School District R2-J  Board of Education  Director District D Pam Howard 153 67 39 78.00% 17 0 2
Thompson School District R2-J  Board of Education  Director District D Tomi Grundvig 153 67 11 22.00% 17 0 2
Thompson School District R2-J  Board of Education  Director District G David Levy 153 67 34 68.00% 17 0 2
Thompson School District R2-J  Board of Education  Director District G Bruce Finger 153 67 16 32.00% 17 0 2
Proposition BB (STATUTORY) YES/FOR 192976 86577 65626 77.18% 1529 20 233
Proposition BB (STATUTORY) NO/AGAINST 192976 86577 19402 22.82% 1529 20 233
CITY OF BOULDER BALLOT ISSUE 2N FOR THE MEASURE 62895 29552 16132 57.08% 1270 19 88
CITY OF BOULDER BALLOT ISSUE 2N AGAINST THE MEASURE 62895 29552 12131 42.92% 1270 19 88
City of Boulder Ballot Question 2O For the Measure 62895 29552 19153 71.40% 2724 4 88
City of Boulder Ballot Question 2O Against the Measure 62895 29552 7671 28.60% 2724 4 88
City of Boulder Ballot Question 2P For the Measure 62895 29552 21636 77.17% 1511 6 88
City of Boulder Ballot Question 2P Against the Measure 62895 29552 6399 22.83% 1511 6 88
City of Boulder Ballot Question 2Q For the Measure 62895 29552 23159 91.08% 4119 5 88
City of Boulder Ballot Question 2Q Against the Measure 62895 29552 2269 8.92% 4119 5 88
City of Boulder Ballot Question 2R For the Measure 62895 29552 12336 45.20% 2250 11 88
City of Boulder Ballot Question 2R Against the Measure 62895 29552 14955 54.80% 2250 11 88
City of Boulder Ballot Question No. 300 For the Measure 62895 29552 10938 37.86% 639 19 88
City of Boulder Ballot Question No. 300 Against the Measure 62895 29552 17956 62.14% 639 19 88
City of Boulder Ballot Question No. 301 For the Measure 62895 29552 11077 38.44% 724 10 88
City of Boulder Ballot Question No. 301 Against the Measure 62895 29552 17741 61.56% 724 10 88
City of Lafayette Ballot Question No. 2J Yes 16724 7100 1748 25.66% 285 2 17
City of Lafayette Ballot Question No. 2J No 16724 7100 5065 74.34% 285 2 17
City of Lafayette Ballot Question No. 2K Yes 16724 7100 4640 68.64% 340 0 17
City of Lafayette Ballot Question No. 2K No 16724 7100 2120 31.36% 340 0 17

Agenda Item 1A     Page 5Packet Page 9



Contest Name Choice Name
Active 
Voters Total Ballots Total Votes

Percent of 
Votes

Total Under 
Votes

Total Over 
Votes

Number of 
Precincts

City of Longmont Ballot Question 2D Yes 50445 22045 14453 73.43% 2362 1 55
City of Longmont Ballot Question 2D No 50445 22045 5229 26.57% 2362 1 55
TOWN OF JAMESTOWN BALLOT ISSUE 2E YES 195 122 75 63.03% 3 0 1
TOWN OF JAMESTOWN BALLOT ISSUE 2E NO 195 122 44 36.97% 3 0 1
TOWN OF JAMESTOWN BALLOT ISSUE 2F YES 195 122 86 72.27% 3 0 1
TOWN OF JAMESTOWN BALLOT ISSUE 2F NO 195 122 33 27.73% 3 0 1
TOWN OF LYONS BALLOT ISSUE 2A YES 1529 777 492 63.48% 2 0 2
TOWN OF LYONS BALLOT ISSUE 2A NO 1529 777 283 36.52% 2 0 2
TOWN OF LYONS BALLOT ISSUE 2B YES 1529 777 502 64.69% 1 0 2
TOWN OF LYONS BALLOT ISSUE 2B NO 1529 777 274 35.31% 1 0 2
TOWN OF NEDERLAND BALLOT ISSUE 2C YES 1053 468 418 89.89% 3 0 2
TOWN OF NEDERLAND BALLOT ISSUE 2C NO 1053 468 47 10.11% 3 0 2
Boulder Valley School District RE-2 Ballot Question 3A Yes 125477 56447 45293 85.68% 3579 6 159
Boulder Valley School District RE-2 Ballot Question 3A No 125477 56447 7569 14.32% 3579 6 159
ESTES VALLEY RECREATION AND PARK DISTRICT BALLOT ISSUE 4C YES/FOR 78 75 20 26.67% 0 0 2
ESTES VALLEY RECREATION AND PARK DISTRICT BALLOT ISSUE 4C NO/AGAINST 78 75 55 73.33% 0 0 2
ESTES VALLEY RECREATION AND PARK DISTRICT BALLOT ISSUE 4D YES/FOR 78 75 21 28.00% 0 0 2
ESTES VALLEY RECREATION AND PARK DISTRICT BALLOT ISSUE 4D NO/AGAINST 78 75 54 72.00% 0 0 2
Knollwood Water District Ballot Question 5A Yes 112 80 52 65.00% 0 0 3
Knollwood Water District Ballot Question 5A No 112 80 28 35.00% 0 0 3
BOULDER RURAL FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT BALLOT ISSUE 5B YES 9873 4785 3214 68.41% 86 1 31
BOULDER RURAL FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT BALLOT ISSUE 5B NO 9873 4785 1484 31.59% 86 1 31

Agenda Item 1A     Page 6Packet Page 10



1 

 Boulder County 2015 Coordinated Election 
 Reconciliation Report 

 November 18, 2015 

Overview 

The primary duty of the Canvass Board is to ensure that the number of votes counted is equal to or less than 
number of ballots cast and that the number of ballots cast is equal to or less than the number of eligible voters 
(CRS 1-10-101.5). Secretary of State Rule 10 states that election details must be preserved, requiring tracking of 
issued ballots as well as voted ballots as they pass through the election processes.  

It is from this foundation, that we are able to reconcile the election. This report will present both summary data 
regarding the overall election processes, as well as a detailed accounting of ballots on a precinct-by-precinct 
basis. This report summaries the processes that provide evidence to allow for the Canvass Board to fulfil their 
statutory duty. 

A high-level view of the election processes can be seen below: 

The reconciliation process primarily focuses on the distribution and reception of ballots, through the assignment of 
voter credit. Boulder County’s audit, the subject of a separate process and report, is the quality assurance 
procedure that checks the accuracy of the machine tally results. The audit and corresponding report assists the 
Canvass Board in their other duty, which is to certify the abstract of votes cast (election results). 

Ballot Distribution 

Mail Ballots 

Ballots are automatically sent to all active eligible voters. Eligible voters are the subset of voters that are active, 
registered in the county, reside in one of the jurisdictions on the ballot and are 18 years old or older on Election 
Day. The diagram below is an overview of the process of mailing ballots. 

Agenda Item 1A     Page 7Packet Page 11



2 

The Boulder County Elections Division uses a print/mailing vendor for majorityof the mail ballots sent. We provide 
the vendor with ballot images and addressing information several weeks before ballots are to be mailed. 
However, during these weeks we receive and process numerous registration changes, some of which void ballots 
being processed by the vendor. When possible we attempt to find and secure those voided ballots. For this 
election voids were pulled 2 times, securing 2,477 voided ballots and reducing the number of mail-pieces 
managed by the vendor. In addition, 301 ballots were pulled for the purposes of hand-delivery to Health Care 
Facilities (HCFs). The vendor hand-off to the Post Office reflects these numbers. Final totals show that ballots 
reported being mailed by the vendor matched our expected-to-be-mailed counts.  

Batch Date

Original

Number in

Batch LAT Ballots

Voided Ballots

Returned from

Vendor

Batch 03 - UOCAVA Mail 9/16 1,281
Batch 04 - HCF 9/17 301
Batch 05 - ID Required 9/17 382
Batch 06 - Regular 9/17 188,025 327
Batch 23 - ID Supplemental 10/8 141
Batch 24 - Reg Supplemental 10/8 3,663

Total For Printing: 193,793

Ballots Picked Up from Vendor:

HCF Ballots 301
LAT Ballots 327
Voided Ballots 2,477
UOCAVA Mail Ballots 1,281

Total Picked up from Vendor: 4,386

Expected Vendor to Mail: 189,407
Vendor/USPS Mail Receipt: 189,407

Difference: 0

2,477

Vendor Batches

Attachment 1 provides a precinct-by-precinct accounting of ballots sent. 

The majority of our mail ballots are printed and mailed through our vendor by the statutory deadline to mail ballots 
(no later than18 days prior to the election). If a voter registers or changes their registration after lists and 
supplemental batches and voids are performed with our vendor, then that voter’s ballot is printed in-house and 
taken directly to the local USPS facility to be mailed. This process of printing in-house and mailing ballots from our 
office continues until the statutory deadline of 8 days prior to the election. After such date, late registrants much 
visit a Voter Service and Polling Center (VSPC) to request a ballot. 

During the couse of the election, a total of 13,132 ballots were returned to the county by the USPS as 
undeliverable as of the date of this report.. 

Ballots Received 

Mail ballots are received through the Post Office, secure 24-hour ballot drop boxes,  drop-off ballot boxes from 
Voter Service and Polling Centers, or from  drive-by drop-off locations. These ballots are validated by Election 
Workers and either accepted or rejected, depending upon the envelope signature, and recorded accordingly in 
SCORE. Letters are sent to the voters with a rejected signature (or missing signature or missing ID), allowing 
them to  “cure” their ballot envelope by returning a signed affidavidit and returning a copy of their ID (due by the 
8th day after the election). Only the ballots associated with accepted envelopes proceed through the process to 
scanning, resolution, and tallying.  

Voted paper ballots from Voter Service and Polling Center (VSPC) locations arrive in separate ballot boxes from 
the mail-in ballots. Because the voters were already recorded in SCORE and had their ID verified at the VSPC 
locations, these ballots go directly to scanning, resolution, and tallying after being counted.  

Agenda Item 1A     Page 8Packet Page 12



 

  3 

 
 

Attachment 2 provides an accounting of ballots received. The left hand portion of Attachment 2 shows the ballots 
received in SCORE by vote method.  

 

Provisional and Damaged Ballots 
 
Election Rule 10.4.1 (g) requires the reporting of the provisional ballot information below: 
 

Accepted: 1
Rejected: 0

Provisional Ballot Total: 1

Provisional Ballot Summary

 
 

Also required by rule 10.4.1(h) is the following summary information of damaged and spoiled ballots: 
 

Damaged (duplicated) Ballots: 76
Incomplete: 0

Spoiled Ballots from VSPCs: 64

Damaged/Spoiled Ballot Summary

 
 
 

Tally Accounting 

Once the ballots are scanned, resolved and tallied, the number of ballots counted should equal the number of 
accepted ballots in SCORE.  

Accepted Mail-Ballot 85,313 Precinct Ballots Counted 86,577

Voted In-Person 1,263 Landowner Ballots Counted 113
Provisional 1 Total 86,690

Total SCORE 86,577

Landowner ballots 113
Total 86,690

SCORE Record Tally of Ballots Counted

 
 

Attachment 2 pulls together all voting methods and provides a precinct-by-precinct comparison against the ballots 
seen by Tally.  

Ballots sent to non-resident property owner voters for special district contests are recorded in a Boulder County 
Landowner Ballot Management System, as SCORE does not provide this capability. The summary of ballots 
counted, cast, and sent is as follows: 

Ballots Counted: 113

Ballots Cast: 113

Ballots Sent: 137

Special District Landowner Ballots

 

Agenda Item 1A     Page 9Packet Page 13



4 

Election Audit 
The election audit confirms the ballots cast and the vote count. Randomly selected contests and randomly 
selected ballots are manually tallied and compared with the machine count of the same ballots. The Audit results 
are summarized in a separate report. 

Statutory Requirement Fullfilled 

Based on the research performed during this canvass and reported herein, it has been determined that Colorado 
Statute CRS 1-10-101 has been met, in that the number of votes counted is equal to or less than the number of 
ballots cast (accepted plus rejected ballots) and the ballots cast is equal to or less than the number of eligible 
voters. 

For this election, these numbers are as follows: 

Votes Counted: 86,577

Ballots Cast: 87,028

Active Voters: 192,976
Inactive Voters: 52,544

Registered Electors: 245,520

* Ballots Cast includes ballots that are ultimately not counted due to various reasons. Most common reasons
include: voter failed to sign the ballot envelope, voter failed to provide ID when requied, or voter’s signature did 
not match signature on file. Voters have until the 8th day after the election to rectify these issues, however, not 
every voter does so in this timeframe. If they do not, their cast ballot is not counted. 

Agenda Item 1A     Page 10Packet Page 14



Precinct Active Inactive IVS Printed
In-House 
Printed Voided

Registered
After Mail 

Cut-Off
In-Person 

Ballots
Total Active 

Ballots

Diff Eligibles &
Active Ballots 
(Col B - Col J)

100 1111 271 1117 11 21 3 1 1111 0
101 1131 229 1142 5 18 3 0 1132 -1
102 932 753 954 24 58 4 8 932 0
103 1039 148 1033 8 10 5 3 1039 0
104 981 158 988 8 19 4 0 981 0
105 398 163 396 8 11 3 0 396 2
106 895 145 898 6 10 0 1 895 0
107 565 136 565 8 9 1 0 565 0
200 582 59 586 7 14 1 2 582 0
201 637 100 636 8 11 2 2 637 0
202 1035 246 1033 21 29 3 6 1034 1
203 954 89 948 14 10 1 1 954 0
204 948 158 954 9 17 2 0 948 0
205 911 156 918 6 16 0 3 911 0
206 518 49 527 6 16 0 1 518 0
207 891 141 890 12 14 1 2 891 0
208 1003 159 1012 3 16 2 2 1003 0
209 575 48 579 3 9 2 0 575 0
210 861 112 861 3 9 4 2 861 0
211 1041 183 1036 11 11 2 3 1041 0
212 948 212 959 12 27 2 2 948 0
213 1749 153 1746 31 39 7 4 1749 0
214 1184 185 1194 10 26 3 4 1185 -1
300 1106 199 1112 19 30 1 4 1106 0
301 1548 265 1540 21 30 5 12 1548 0
302 994 209 1000 12 24 2 4 994 0
303 793 191 793 10 13 0 3 793 0
304 838 103 845 10 19 0 1 837 1
305 1020 250 1018 17 22 4 3 1020 0
306 1026 231 1031 16 26 1 4 1026 0
307 841 320 836 26 31 5 6 842 -1
308 827 197 831 13 24 2 5 827 0
309 1067 155 1065 8 17 7 4 1067 0
310 1216 201 1213 11 15 4 1 1214 2
311 772 157 775 16 23 0 4 772 0
312 905 137 910 5 12 0 2 905 0
313 1223 147 1226 17 25 2 4 1224 -1
314 1093 80 1086 14 13 2 4 1093 0
315 727 152 739 7 20 1 0 727 0
316 1111 135 1107 14 14 3 1 1111 0
400 114 5 115 1 3 0 1 114 0
401 646 64 648 11 17 1 3 646 0
402 595 68 602 4 15 2 2 595 0
403 913 107 915 9 16 1 5 914 -1
404 884 95 891 6 16 2 1 884 0
405 472 47 473 5 8 1 1 472 0
406 666 82 672 6 15 0 3 666 0
407 435 56 432 5 2 0 0 435 0
408 1117 161 1126 4 16 1 2 1117 0
409 1373 200 1368 19 21 3 4 1373 0

Sent Ballots 
(CE-E013 - SCORE Absentee List)

Eligible Voters
(EX003 - SCORE Registered Voter List)

Agenda Item 1A     Page 11Packet Page 15



Precinct Active Inactive IVS Printed
In-House 
Printed Voided

Registered
After Mail 

Cut-Off
In-Person 

Ballots
Total Active 

Ballots

Diff Eligibles &
Active Ballots 
(Col B - Col J)

410 1041 107 1037 5 7 4 2 1041 0
411 1670 228 1663 23 32 9 6 1669 1
412 1374 189 1380 10 21 2 3 1374 0
500 844 171 836 14 14 4 4 844 0
501 890 96 886 22 19 0 1 890 0
502 967 104 967 10 12 1 1 967 0
503 1393 132 1402 4 21 0 8 1393 0
504 711 72 710 5 6 0 2 711 0
505 761 140 766 11 19 3 2 763 -2
506 556 64 556 5 5 0 0 556 0
507 1112 107 1111 11 11 0 1 1112 0
508 702 88 714 3 16 0 1 702 0
600 1415 259 1424 14 32 5 4 1415 0
601 1307 176 1304 14 21 6 3 1306 1
602 714 140 719 7 13 1 0 714 0
603 1207 164 1208 5 15 5 3 1206 1
604 927 105 917 14 8 1 3 927 0
605 978 196 976 8 10 2 2 978 0
606 708 165 708 4 5 1 0 708 0
607 921 163 923 13 19 1 3 921 0
608 843 271 850 11 19 0 1 843 0
609 452 161 453 2 5 1 1 452 0
610 1314 364 1315 19 33 6 6 1313 1
611 921 230 922 6 9 1 1 921 0
612 846 113 849 5 10 2 0 846 0
613 796 132 798 6 15 2 5 796 0
614 1242 208 1245 15 24 2 4 1242 0
615 762 110 759 14 15 0 4 762 0
616 1019 110 1035 3 22 2 1 1019 0
617 1612 311 1619 23 39 5 4 1612 0
618 1269 142 1270 17 26 3 5 1269 0
619 1280 448 1280 27 34 2 5 1280 0
620 1273 375 1287 14 30 0 2 1273 0
621 954 198 965 9 22 1 1 954 0
622 648 153 651 5 15 2 5 648 0
623 1062 340 1057 24 31 4 9 1063 -1
624 767 172 764 10 14 5 2 767 0
625 771 124 784 11 33 3 6 771 0
626 982 189 986 13 21 3 1 982 0
627 682 236 704 9 35 2 2 682 0
628 802 96 801 5 10 4 2 802 0
629 551 107 548 7 16 7 5 551 0
630 817 218 819 12 22 2 6 817 0
631 572 129 577 7 16 1 3 572 0
632 1126 192 1121 9 11 3 4 1126 0
633 782 237 788 11 23 2 4 782 0
634 708 193 710 11 20 3 4 708 0
635 768 125 764 11 11 1 3 768 0
636 1064 162 1071 14 28 4 3 1064 0
637 1170 275 1171 14 23 4 4 1170 0
638 948 87 951 7 15 2 3 948 0
639 864 101 861 15 16 0 4 864 0

Agenda Item 1A     Page 12Packet Page 16



Precinct Active Inactive IVS Printed
In-House 
Printed Voided

Registered
After Mail 

Cut-Off
In-Person 

Ballots
Total Active 

Ballots

Diff Eligibles &
Active Ballots 
(Col B - Col J)

640 813 118 814 10 14 1 2 813 0
641 772 144 764 10 7 3 2 772 0
642 1097 208 1095 9 19 4 7 1096 1
643 714 158 707 8 5 4 0 714 0
644 754 263 758 11 25 4 6 754 0
645 813 119 814 4 13 4 4 813 0
646 859 127 862 7 15 2 3 859 0
647 1101 144 1089 26 24 3 6 1100 1
648 893 207 891 10 13 2 3 893 0
649 671 186 665 10 9 3 2 671 0
650 732 155 738 7 17 1 3 732 0
651 930 126 930 11 14 1 2 930 0
652 907 296 909 14 25 2 7 907 0
653 696 58 696 5 7 2 0 696 0
654 1203 366 1199 17 21 5 3 1203 0
700 916 107 922 6 14 1 1 916 0
701 517 47 516 4 4 0 1 517 0
702 309 30 303 8 2 0 0 309 0
703 437 44 437 4 5 0 1 437 0
704 339 50 337 4 2 0 0 339 0
705 610 71 607 10 8 1 0 610 0
706 174 17 176 1 5 0 2 174 0
707 565 55 573 4 13 0 1 565 0
708 655 79 652 6 6 2 1 655 0
800 838 129 842 13 20 1 2 838 0
801 630 78 617 13 13 3 10 630 0
802 667 361 672 25 40 2 8 667 0
803 803 322 819 14 37 1 6 803 0
804 1224 164 1230 17 32 3 6 1224 0
805 455 63 455 6 8 0 2 455 0
806 1056 263 1038 30 30 3 14 1055 1
807 1089 158 1075 25 31 3 17 1089 0
808 1712 364 1698 56 63 5 16 1712 0
809 967 176 959 21 17 0 4 967 0
810 994 154 990 21 23 1 5 994 0
811 1226 200 1232 16 29 1 6 1226 0
812 884 119 868 32 30 2 13 885 -1
813 815 207 812 17 19 1 4 815 0
814 1013 222 1007 26 37 6 11 1013 0
815 725 401 713 32 32 4 10 727 -2
816 997 345 998 28 56 8 19 997 0
817 784 109 792 8 23 1 6 784 0
818 989 188 984 17 26 3 11 989 0
819 841 197 832 20 24 2 11 841 0
820 690 141 689 16 22 0 6 689 1
821 1004 350 1001 31 48 7 13 1004 0
822 856 401 853 44 55 8 5 855 1
823 1521 558 1524 47 82 11 23 1523 -2
824 990 290 992 24 39 1 12 990 0
825 560 137 552 16 19 4 6 559 1
826 744 239 754 19 44 0 15 744 0
827 792 404 771 37 40 3 21 792 0

Agenda Item 1A     Page 13Packet Page 17



Precinct Active Inactive IVS Printed
In-House 
Printed Voided

Registered
After Mail 

Cut-Off
In-Person 

Ballots
Total Active 

Ballots

Diff Eligibles &
Active Ballots 
(Col B - Col J)

828 584 378 579 26 42 4 17 584 0
829 657 486 674 21 53 2 12 656 1
830 589 610 620 20 68 4 13 589 0
831 715 687 738 28 73 5 17 715 0
832 288 175 298 8 28 1 9 288 0
833 600 845 602 31 53 5 15 600 0
834 695 1732 734 19 69 3 8 695 0
835 401 561 433 17 58 1 9 402 -1
836 465 304 468 14 27 1 10 466 -1
837 713 724 727 30 67 6 17 713 0
838 384 364 389 18 30 1 6 384 0
839 578 92 579 11 16 2 2 578 0
840 540 177 539 15 24 2 8 540 0
841 695 135 692 20 24 2 5 695 0
842 1047 236 1053 21 34 2 5 1047 0
843 1179 187 1187 19 39 1 11 1179 0
844 671 201 684 12 33 3 5 671 0
845 792 367 807 18 52 4 16 793 -1
846 949 603 975 39 83 6 11 948 1
847 575 519 606 24 78 5 17 574 1
848 617 307 614 19 29 4 9 617 0
849 658 1425 678 28 66 0 16 656 2
850 637 88 639 8 12 1 1 637 0
851 851 243 854 36 51 7 5 851 0
852 1043 362 1056 21 44 4 6 1043 0
853 809 372 816 26 49 4 11 808 1
854 876 368 882 33 59 4 16 876 0
855 718 334 730 17 41 6 6 718 0
856 563 124 570 12 28 2 7 563 0
857 818 147 809 26 27 2 8 818 0
858 886 166 877 29 31 4 7 886 0
859 812 106 819 12 23 0 4 812 0
860 638 88 624 11 8 3 8 638 0
861 602 82 592 10 5 2 3 602 0
862 625 104 631 7 21 2 6 625 0
863 725 128 725 10 15 1 4 725 0
864 618 117 612 12 10 1 3 618 0
865 576 276 569 18 23 2 10 576 0
866 794 267 792 24 34 2 10 794 0
867 679 279 684 20 45 6 14 679 0
868 855 115 849 20 22 1 7 855 0
869 540 185 544 13 24 3 4 540 0
870 631 257 640 9 32 2 11 630 1
871 720 425 727 20 51 4 20 720 0
872 662 812 657 40 59 4 19 661 1
873 439 76 438 12 15 2 2 439 0
874 967 299 961 24 29 1 10 967 0
875 470 726 484 15 38 3 5 469 1
876 474 1022 484 20 49 6 12 473 1
877 668 326 675 13 32 3 9 668 0
878 608 515 620 17 38 1 8 608 0
879 603 552 613 24 51 3 14 603 0

Agenda Item 1A     Page 14Packet Page 18



Precinct Active Inactive IVS Printed
In-House 
Printed Voided

Registered
After Mail 

Cut-Off
In-Person 

Ballots
Total Active 

Ballots

Diff Eligibles &
Active Ballots 
(Col B - Col J)

880 660 1251 673 32 59 0 14 660 0
881 577 317 583 14 38 1 18 578 -1
882 621 173 631 11 30 1 7 620 1
883 741 231 731 24 30 1 15 741 0
884 830 505 828 28 51 9 15 829 1
885 558 159 561 14 18 0 1 558 0
886 774 115 765 11 14 1 11 774 0
887 959 133 955 25 30 4 5 959 0
888 824 92 815 13 11 1 6 824 0
900 487 78 484 11 11 1 2 487 0
901 592 139 588 12 9 1 0 592 0
902 258 40 259 1 2 0 0 258 0
903 1701 468 1693 30 34 8 4 1701 0
904 480 84 484 10 20 3 3 480 0
905 264 37 266 2 6 1 1 264 0
906 552 68 552 7 14 1 6 552 0
908 895 137 892 9 10 1 3 895 0
909 529 115 530 8 17 3 5 529 0
910 737 119 742 14 27 3 5 737 0
911 869 138 875 13 22 1 3 870 -1
912 1069 147 1071 16 31 4 9 1069 0
913 663 86 667 6 13 0 3 663 0
914 528 126 532 15 22 0 3 528 0
915 351 71 349 6 7 0 3 351 0
916 439 87 431 10 7 4 1 439 0
917 1218 220 1233 15 30 0 1 1219 -1
918 1082 175 1081 8 17 7 2 1081 1

TOTAL 192976 52544 193466 3367 5694 564 1263 192966 10

7
2
-1
2

10

Sent
95
41
1

137

Voted another county ballot lives in Boulder now:
Updated their registration in-person and chose not to vote, voiding both ballots:

Explanation of Differences
(Unless specified otherwise in this section, the Differences column (+/- numbers) represents voter relocations from one 

precinct to another precinct)

Voter corrected to inactive after election day:
Voter corrected to active after election day:

Total Ballots Sent:

Non-Resident Special District Landowner Ballots
Special District   

BOULDER RURAL FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT
ESTES VALLEY RECREATION AND PARK DISTRICT
BOULDER RURAL FIRE & KNOLLWOOD WATER

Total:

Agenda Item 1A     Page 15Packet Page 19



Tally Differences

Pct
Eligible 
Voters

Accepted 
Mail-In

Accepted
In-Person

Total Vote 
Credit

Rejected 
Mail-In

Total Ballots 
Cast Tally Total Diff Total

100 1111 345 1 346 2 348 346 0
101 1131 338 0 338 2 340 338 0
102 932 139 8 147 3 150 147 0
103 1039 364 3 367 2 369 367 0
104 981 321 0 321 0 321 321 0
105 398 96 0 96 0 96 96 0
106 895 318 1 319 3 322 319 0
107 565 150 0 150 2 152 150 0
200 582 297 2 299 1 300 299 0
201 637 325 2 327 1 328 327 0
202 1035 494 6 500 2 502 500 0
203 954 411 1 412 3 415 412 0
204 948 382 0 382 2 384 382 0
205 911 397 3 400 2 402 400 0
206 518 333 1 334 2 336 334 0
207 891 479 2 481 2 483 481 0
208 1003 460 2 462 3 465 462 0
209 575 291 0 291 0 291 291 0
210 861 384 2 386 4 390 386 0
211 1041 457 3 460 3 463 460 0
212 948 441 2 443 2 445 443 0
213 1749 784 4 788 2 790 788 0
214 1184 559 4 563 3 566 563 0
300 1106 475 4 479 1 480 479 0
301 1548 546 12 558 4 562 558 0
302 994 408 4 412 0 412 412 0
303 793 275 3 278 1 279 278 0
304 838 394 1 395 0 395 395 0
305 1020 380 3 383 1 384 383 0
306 1026 434 4 438 3 441 438 0
307 841 275 6 281 0 281 281 0
308 827 375 5 380 6 386 381 -1
309 1067 526 4 530 1 531 530 0
310 1216 539 1 540 5 545 540 0
311 772 333 4 337 3 340 337 0
312 905 444 2 446 1 447 446 0
313 1223 550 4 554 2 556 554 0
314 1093 473 4 477 3 480 477 0
315 727 274 0 274 2 276 274 0
316 1111 504 1 505 4 509 505 0
400 114 59 1 60 0 60 60 0
401 646 283 3 286 1 287 286 0
402 595 285 2 287 2 289 287 0
403 913 460 5 465 1 466 465 0
404 884 419 1 420 2 422 420 0
405 472 221 1 222 2 224 222 0
406 666 295 3 298 2 300 298 0
407 435 208 0 208 1 209 208 0
408 1117 455 2 457 4 461 457 0
409 1373 525 4 529 7 536 528 1
410 1041 467 2 469 4 473 469 0

SCORE Voter Credit

Agenda Item 1A     Page 16Packet Page 20



Pct
Eligible 
Voters

Accepted 
Mail-In

Accepted
In-Person

Total Vote 
Credit

Rejected 
Mail-In

Total Ballots 
Cast Tally Total Diff Total

411 1670 648 6 654 5 659 654 0
412 1374 542 3 545 3 548 545 0
500 844 339 4 343 1 344 343 0
501 890 473 1 474 2 476 474 0
502 967 514 1 515 2 517 515 0
503 1393 749 8 757 5 762 757 0
504 711 376 2 378 0 378 378 0
505 761 312 2 314 2 316 312 2
506 556 261 0 261 5 266 261 0
507 1112 517 1 518 4 522 518 0
508 702 362 1 363 5 368 363 0
600 1415 660 4 664 3 667 664 0
601 1307 632 3 635 0 635 635 0
602 714 297 0 297 3 300 297 0
603 1207 543 3 546 2 548 546 0
604 927 472 3 475 3 478 475 0
605 978 312 2 314 3 317 314 0
606 708 289 0 289 0 289 289 0
607 921 404 3 407 4 411 407 0
608 843 260 1 261 2 263 261 0
609 452 97 1 98 0 98 98 0
610 1314 432 6 438 3 441 438 0
611 921 366 1 367 1 368 367 0
612 846 368 0 368 4 372 368 0
613 796 349 5 354 0 354 354 0
614 1242 594 4 598 1 599 598 0
615 762 346 4 350 3 353 350 0
616 1019 453 1 454 4 458 454 0
617 1612 656 4 660 1 661 660 0
618 1269 559 5 564 1 565 564 0
619 1280 376 5 381 2 383 381 0
620 1273 553 2 555 2 557 555 0
621 954 461 1 462 2 464 462 0
622 648 262 5 267 0 267 267 0
623 1062 445 9 454 2 456 454 0
624 767 401 2 403 6 409 403 0
625 771 428 6 434 2 436 434 0
626 982 514 1 515 0 515 515 0
627 682 261 2 263 0 263 263 0
628 802 399 2 401 1 402 401 0
629 551 219 5 224 1 225 224 0
630 817 321 6 327 2 329 327 0
631 572 207 3 210 1 211 210 0
632 1126 474 4 478 5 483 478 0
633 782 238 4 242 0 242 242 0
634 708 313 4 317 0 317 317 0
635 768 403 3 406 0 406 406 0
636 1064 559 3 562 1 563 562 0
637 1170 521 4 525 0 525 525 0
638 948 593 3 596 1 597 596 0
639 864 504 4 508 1 509 508 0
640 813 412 2 414 0 414 414 0
641 772 339 2 341 2 343 341 0

Agenda Item 1A     Page 17Packet Page 21



Pct
Eligible 
Voters

Accepted 
Mail-In

Accepted
In-Person

Total Vote 
Credit

Rejected 
Mail-In

Total Ballots 
Cast Tally Total Diff Total

642 1097 439 7 446 2 448 446 0
643 714 278 0 278 2 280 278 0
644 754 217 6 223 1 224 223 0
645 813 369 4 373 0 373 373 0
646 859 382 3 385 0 385 385 0
647 1101 511 6 517 1 518 519 -2
648 893 383 3 386 2 388 386 0
649 671 243 2 245 2 247 245 0
650 732 282 3 285 1 286 285 0
651 930 388 2 390 5 395 390 0
652 907 319 7 326 1 327 326 0
653 696 396 0 396 1 397 396 0
654 1203 530 3 533 5 538 533 0
700 916 495 1 496 5 501 496 0
701 517 247 1 248 1 249 248 0
702 309 142 0 142 1 143 142 0
703 437 225 1 226 0 226 226 0
704 339 150 0 150 2 152 150 0
705 610 295 0 295 2 297 295 0
706 174 82 2 84 3 87 84 0
707 565 307 1 308 0 308 308 0
708 655 340 1 341 3 344 341 0
800 838 402 2 404 0 404 404 0
801 630 280 10 290 3 293 290 0
802 667 225 8 233 3 236 233 0
803 803 284 6 290 1 291 290 0
804 1224 623 6 629 3 632 629 0
805 455 214 2 216 1 217 216 0
806 1056 497 14 511 3 514 511 0
807 1089 611 17 628 5 633 628 0
808 1712 754 16 770 7 777 770 0
809 967 569 4 573 3 576 573 0
810 994 575 5 580 4 584 580 0
811 1226 632 6 638 4 642 638 0
812 884 445 13 458 1 459 458 0
813 815 313 4 317 0 317 317 0
814 1013 517 11 528 1 529 528 0
815 725 242 10 252 2 254 252 0
816 997 428 19 447 3 450 447 0
817 784 501 6 507 4 511 507 0
818 989 597 11 608 2 610 608 0
819 841 474 11 485 5 490 485 0
820 690 422 6 428 3 431 428 0
821 1004 449 13 462 1 463 462 0
822 856 286 5 291 1 292 291 0
823 1521 527 23 550 4 554 550 0
824 990 503 12 515 2 517 515 0
825 560 335 6 341 1 342 341 0
826 744 403 15 418 2 420 418 0
827 792 380 21 401 4 405 401 0
828 584 210 17 227 1 228 227 0
829 657 222 12 234 0 234 234 0
830 589 105 13 118 1 119 118 0

Agenda Item 1A     Page 18Packet Page 22



Pct
Eligible 
Voters

Accepted 
Mail-In

Accepted
In-Person

Total Vote 
Credit

Rejected 
Mail-In

Total Ballots 
Cast Tally Total Diff Total

831 715 174 17 191 0 191 191 0
832 288 117 9 126 2 128 126 0
833 600 97 15 112 0 112 112 0
834 695 16 8 24 1 25 24 0
835 401 29 9 38 2 40 38 0
836 465 186 10 196 0 196 196 0
837 713 141 17 158 0 158 159 -1
838 384 91 6 97 0 97 97 0
839 578 338 2 340 0 340 340 0
840 540 273 8 281 1 282 281 0
841 695 385 5 390 2 392 390 0
842 1047 577 5 582 3 585 582 0
843 1179 702 11 713 3 716 713 0
844 671 332 5 337 0 337 337 0
845 792 291 16 307 1 308 307 0
846 949 225 11 236 1 237 236 0
847 575 69 17 86 2 88 86 0
848 617 232 9 241 1 242 241 0
849 658 22 16 38 1 39 38 0
850 637 420 1 421 3 424 420 1
851 851 439 5 444 2 446 444 0
852 1043 444 6 450 2 452 450 0
853 809 338 11 349 1 350 349 0
854 876 327 16 343 3 346 342 1
855 718 269 6 275 2 277 275 0
856 563 262 7 269 1 270 269 0
857 818 449 8 457 2 459 457 0
858 886 546 7 553 2 555 553 0
859 812 509 4 513 2 515 513 0
860 638 399 8 407 1 408 407 0
861 602 350 3 353 3 356 353 0
862 625 381 6 387 4 391 387 0
863 725 450 4 454 1 455 454 0
864 618 387 3 390 3 393 390 0
865 576 243 10 253 0 253 253 0
866 794 424 10 434 1 435 434 0
867 679 293 14 307 0 307 307 0
868 855 552 7 559 3 562 559 0
869 540 320 4 324 1 325 324 0
870 631 224 11 235 2 237 235 0
871 720 309 20 329 1 330 329 0
872 662 125 19 144 0 144 144 0
873 439 297 2 299 1 300 299 0
874 967 528 10 538 2 540 538 0
875 470 58 5 63 0 63 63 0
876 474 26 12 38 1 39 38 0
877 668 310 9 319 3 322 319 0
878 608 238 8 246 2 248 247 -1
879 603 203 14 217 1 218 217 0
880 660 83 14 97 2 99 97 0
881 577 265 18 283 0 283 282 1
882 621 373 7 380 4 384 380 0
883 741 390 15 405 1 406 405 0

Agenda Item 1A     Page 19Packet Page 23



Pct
Eligible 
Voters

Accepted 
Mail-In

Accepted
In-Person

Total Vote 
Credit

Rejected 
Mail-In

Total Ballots 
Cast Tally Total Diff Total

884 830 322 15 337 2 339 338 -1
885 558 299 1 300 6 306 300 0
886 774 455 11 466 7 473 466 0
887 959 588 5 593 4 597 593 0
888 824 536 6 542 0 542 542 0
900 487 180 2 182 4 186 182 0
901 592 229 0 229 0 229 229 0
902 258 94 0 94 0 94 94 0
903 1701 719 4 723 7 730 724 -1
904 480 197 3 200 0 200 200 0
905 264 117 1 118 1 119 118 0
906 552 242 6 248 1 249 248 0
908 895 383 3 386 2 388 386 0
909 529 235 5 240 1 241 240 0
910 737 328 5 333 1 334 333 0
911 869 396 3 399 0 399 399 0
912 1069 500 9 509 1 510 509 0
913 663 329 3 332 1 333 332 0
914 528 244 3 247 2 249 247 0
915 351 131 3 134 0 134 134 0
916 439 218 1 219 0 219 219 0
917 1218 617 1 618 6 624 617 1
918 1082 549 2 551 2 553 552 -1

192,976 85,313 1,263 86,576 452 87,028 86,577 -1
1

86,577 86,577 0

Accepted
76
36
1

113

86,690

Vote Credit at Election Close:
Accepted Provisionals:

An example of this can be seen in precincts 917 and 918. A voter moved to precinct 918 but returned 
their 917 ballot. This 917 ballot was duplicated on to a 918 ballot before being scanned, but the 
accepted ballot in SCORE is reflected as the 917 ballot. Therefore, SCORE voter credit is showing 1 higher 
for 917 than Tally, and Tally is showing 1 higher for 918 than SCORE.

Non-Resident Special District Landowner Ballots

Note: Precinct-to-Precinct differences in the "Differences" column above can be explained as follows:
By Colorado law, the first ballot back from a voter is the ballot that must be counted. If the voter has 
changed their registration to a different residence from the ballot that they returned, then their 
returned ballot is duplicated on to a ballot reflecting their new residence, and only the common contests 
voted are counted. 

Special District   
BOULDER RURAL FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT
ESTES VALLEY RECREATION AND PARK DISTRICT
BOULDER RURAL FIRE & KNOLLWOOD WATER

Total Ballots Processed (SCORE + Landowner):

Total:

Agenda Item 1A     Page 20Packet Page 24



CITY OF BOULDER  
CITY COUNCIL PROCEEDINGS 

SPECIAL MEETING 
September 29, 2015 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
Mayor Pro Tem Jones called the special September 29, 2015 City Council meeting to
order at 6:03 PM in the Council Chambers.

Those present were: Mayor Pro Tem Jones and Council Members Cowles, Karakehian,
Morzel, Plass, Shoemaker, Weaver, and Young. Mayor Appelbaum was absent.

2. CONSENT AGENDA
A. THIRD READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT AND ORDER

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY, ORDINANCE NO. 8050 AMENDING TITLE 10
“STRUCTURES” FOR THE PURPOSE OF ALLOWING AND REGULATING SHORT-TERM
RENTALS BY AMENDING SECTION 10-1-1 “DEFINITIONS” BY AMENDING THE
DEFINITION OF “OPERATOR,” AMENDING THE DEFINITION OF “RENTAL
PROPERTY,” ADDING A NEW DEFINITION OF “SHORT-TERM RENTAL,” ADDING A
NEW SECTION 10-3-19 “SHORT-TERM RENTALS” AND SETTING FORTH RELATED
DETAILS  

(Public hearing on this item was held and closed at the August 27 meeting) 

Council members noted that there were nuisance issues that would need to be revisited 
once more data was collected around the issue. They also clarified that the ordinance 
would not go into effect until January 1, 2016 and then only if the tax measure passed 
on November 3, 2015. 

Council Member Plass moved, seconded by Council Member Weaver to approve 
Consent Agenda item 2A. The motion carried 7:1, Council Member Karakehian 
opposed and Mayor Appelbaum was absent.  The vote was taken at 6:06 PM. 

3. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER
A. Update and staff recommendation on Folsom Street Pilot Project – 6:08 PM

The presentation on the item was provided by Kathleen Bracke, GO Boulder Manager.

The council had a robust conversation about the challenges around safety and traffic
congestion. It was noted that effective outreach and education was seldom
acknowledged by those impacted and the level of vitriol surrounding this issue was
disappointing. Council urged the community to demonstrate compassion and respect for
one another. The Council also reiterated its commitment to the Transportation Master
Plan and to continue to learn from the project.

The Council voiced unanimous support for the staff recommendation which was to
restore a four-lane street configuration along Folsom Street between Spruce Street and
Canyon Boulevard to improve the operational capacity of the Pearl and Canyon

Agenda Item 3A     Page 1Packet Page 25



intersections and the overall vehicle operations in this stretch of the corridor. This may 
include some additional restriping to provide adequate transitions between the two-lane 
and four-lane sections north and south of the intersections. The City would maintain 
green pavement markings at the intersections and continue evaluating the effectiveness 
of these treatments. This recommendation would also maintain the protected bike lanes 
along the northern segment to Valmont Road and the buffered bike lanes south of 
Arapahoe Avenue to Colorado Boulevard. 

Council direction was to support the staff recommendation with continued 
updates, data collection and research for solutions to sharing the road between 
multi modes of transportation.  

4. PUBLIC HEARINGS

A. SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE NO.
8071, AMENDING TITLE 10, “STRUCTURES,” B.R.C. 1981 TO ADD A NEW CHAPTER
10-7.7 “COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL ENERGY EFFICIENCY” AND AMENDING
SECTION 10-1-1 “DEFINITIONS” BY ADDING DEFINITIONS AND SETTING FORTH
RELATED DETAILS
(BUILDING PERFORMANCE) 

The presentation for this item was provide by Kendra Tuper, Energy Services Manager 
and Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and Sustainability. 

The Public hearing was opened: 

1. Angelique Espinoza, from the Boulder Chamber of Commerce, addressed the
savings of being energy efficient and was supportive of the Climate Action Plan
because it was based on positive rebates and assistance.  The Chamber did not
support the mandated upgrades.

Council Member Weaver moved, seconded by Council Member Young  to adopt 
Ordinance No. 8071, amending Title 10, “Structures,” B.R.C. 1981 to add a new 
Chapter 10-7.7 “Commercial and Industrial Energy Efficiency” and amending Section 
10-1-1 “Definitions” by adding definitions and setting forth related details. The motion 
carried 8:0 with Mayor Appelbaum absent. The vote was taken at 8:28 pm. 

B. CONSIDERATION OF THE FOLLOWING ITEMS RELATED TO MEDICAL AND
RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA: 

1. INTRODUCTION, FIRST READING AND CONSIDERASTION OF A MOTION TO
ORDER PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY ORDINANCE NO. 8081 AMENDING
CHAPTERS 6-14 “MEDICAL MARIJUANA” AND 6-16  “RECREATIONAL
MARIJUANA;” AND 

2. REQUEST FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION AND DIRECTION REGARDING
POTENTIAL AMENDMENTS TO THE CITY OF BOULDER’S RECREATIONAL AND
MEDICAL MARIJUANA CODES.

Agenda Item 3A     Page 2Packet Page 26



The presentation for this item was provided by City Attorney, Tom Carr and Senior 
Assitant City Attorney, Kathy Haddock. 

The public Hearing was opened: 
1. Kara Miller, represented the Farm. She was concerned about the grandfathering of

the buffers and the licensing of dual use.
2. Kevin Cheney was concerned about the zoning density requirements, transferability

of licenses, and 70-30 rule for Marijuana Infused Products (MIPs).
3. Tim Galluzzi was concerned about virtual separation and resin production at OPC

Grow facilities.
4. Austin Hiatt, resident at 5942 Gunbarrel Avenue #D, wanted to clarify the 70-30

rule for MIPs.
5. Heath Harmon, Director of Health Divisions with Boulder County Public Health,

wanted to discuss reasonable adult access to a legal product while limiting the
availibility to youth and protecting health and community safety.  His agency has
not taken action against adult access, but focused on preventing and reducing
substance use among youth.

6. Truman Bradley, owner of Southwest Alternative Care located at 6390 Gun Park,
wanted allowance for license transfers and grandfathering.

7. Jordon Wellington urged the city of Boulder to review the State regulations and to
follow those to the extent possible in Boulder.

8. Chris Woods supported the suggestion to repeal the City’s medical marijuana code
and draft a supplement similar to its beverages licensing ordinance.

9. Shawn Coleman, resident, urged the council to follow the State regulations.
10. Larisa Bolivar, resident, was concerned that the city of Boulder was behind the State

in regulating marijuana and expressed the need for more operating hours for
consumers to obtain marijuana.  She wanted businesses to have the ability to issue
coupons and to have venues available for consumption with in the city.

11. Devin Miles, resident, represented the Farm and clarified the definition of “dual
use.”

12. Jan Cole, talked about the Farm and was concerned about the sale of Root.
13. Angelique Espinoza supported all the challenges of this issue.

There being no further speakers the public hearing was closed. 

There was council consensus around establishing a Maijuana Advisory Committee to 
work on recommendations regarding additional Code changes. City Attorney Carr 
indicated that staff could come back at a study session in December with 
recommendations regarding the make-up and charge for that group.  

Council Member Cowles moved, Seconded by Council Member Plass, to introduce and 
order published by title only Ordinance No. 8081 amending Chapter 5-10 "General 
Offenses," regarding marijuana offenses; Sections 6-14-2 “Definitions,” and 6-14-8 
“Requirements Related to Operation of Medical Marijuana Businesses” regarding 
medical marijuana production and transportation; and Sections 6-16-2 “Definitions,” 
and 6-16-8 “Requirements Related to Operation of Recreational Marijuana Businesses” 
and 6-16-13 "Prohibited Acts" regarding production and transport of recreational 
marijuana and the amendments contained on the blue handout. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 3Packet Page 27



Council Member Shoemaker offered a friendly amendment that the municipal judge 
shall act as the hearing officer over de novo hearings. Friendly amendment accepted by 
Council Member Cowles and Plass. 

Vote was taken on the motion to introduce and order published by title only Ordinance 
No. 8081 amending Chapter 5-10 "General Offenses," regarding marijuana offenses; 
Sections 6-14-2 “Definitions,” and 6-14-8 “Requirements Related to Operation of 
Medical Marijuana Businesses” regarding medical marijuana production and 
transportation; and Sections 6-16-2 “Definitions,” and 6-16-8 “Requirements Related to 
Operation of Recreational Marijuana Businesses” and 6-16-13 "Prohibited Acts" 
regarding production and transport of recreational marijuana and the amendments 
contained on the blue handout and as amended to designate the municipal judge as the 
hearing officer over de novo hearings.  The motion carried 8:0 with Mayor Apelbaum 
absent. The vote was taken at 10:27 PM. 

3. ADJOURNMENT
There being no further business to come before Council at this time, BY MOTION
REGULARLY ADOPTED, THE MEETING WAS ADJOURNED on September 29, 2015 at
10:33 PM.

Approved this 1st day of December, 2015. 
APPROVED BY: 

__________________________ 
Suzanne Jones 
Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_________________________            
Lynnette Beck 
City Clerk 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 4Packet Page 28



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: Dec. 1, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to accept the Oct. 27, 2015 Study Session 
Summary: Human Services Strategy Update. 

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Karen Rahn, Human Services Director 
Todd Jorgensen, Human Services Strategic Initiatives Manager 
Wendy Schwartz, Human Services Planning and Program Development Manager 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This agenda item is a summary of the Oct. 27, 2015 Human Services (HS) Strategy Update. The 
Study Session focused on the Strategy public engagement process, community funding and county 
partnerships. The study session memo can be found here.  Previous council memos related to the 
HS Strategy can be found here: Human Services Strategy. 

Public engagement is currently underway, with efforts expanding during the fourth quarter of 
2015 and first quarter of 2016. BBC Research and Consulting (BBC) has been engaged to assist in 
launching a robust public process for both the Human Services and Homelessness Strategies, 
including a community survey, public meetings and focus groups and numerous online and web-
based opportunities.  

The city and Boulder County have been convening partnership meetings to evaluate roles, assess 
and integrate services where feasible and align funding and metrics to meet common community 
goals for supporting vulnerable residents and enhancing quality of life.  

Potential changes to community funding priorities and options were discussed for further 
assessment during and after the public engagement process. Potential changes could include more 
focused and specific funding areas to meet key city priorities. These options could include a 
combination of more narrow and focused priority areas along with identified percentages of 
available funding.  

Agenda Item 3B     Page 1Packet Page 29

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/20151027_SS-1-201510211711.pdf
https://bouldercolorado.gov/human-services-plan/human-services-strategy


STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to accept the Oct. 27, 2015 Study Session Summary: Human Services Strategy 
Update. 

NEXT STEPS 
 Community engagement process – fourth quarter 2015, first quarter 2016
 Community funding options and service delivery models – first quarter 2016
 Draft Strategy – first quarter 2016
 Strategy adoption – second quarter 2016

ATTACHMENT 
Attachment A: Oct. 27, 2015 Human Services Strategy Update Study Session Summary 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 2Packet Page 30



Attachment A: Oct. 27, 2015 Human Services Strategy Update Study Session Summary 

Oct. 27, 2015 City Council Study Session Summary: Human Services Strategy Update 

PRESENT 
City Council: Mayor Matt Appelbaum, Mayor Pro Tem Suzanne Jones, Macon Cowles, 
George Karakehian, Lisa Morzel, Tim Plass, Andrew Shoemaker, Sam Weaver, Mary 
Young 

Staff Presenter: Human Services Director Karen Rahn 

Guest Presenters: Frank Alexander, Director, Boulder County Department of Housing 
and Human Services and Jen Garner, Senior Consultant, BBC Research and Consulting 

PURPOSE 
The study session provided an update on the Human Services (HS) Strategy 
development, focusing on the public engagement process, Boulder County partnerships 
and community funding. The study session memo can be found here. Previous council 
memos related to the HS Strategy can be found here: Human Services Strategy. 

OVERVIEW OF PRESENTATION 
Public engagement is currently underway for both the Human Services and Homelessness 
Strategies with efforts expanding during the fourth quarter of 2015 and first quarter of 
2016. BBC Research and Consulting (BBC) has been engaged to assist in launching a 
robust public process for both the Human Services and Homelessness Strategies, 
including a community survey, public meetings and focus groups and numerous online 
and web-based opportunities.

The city and Boulder County have been convening partnership meetings to evaluate 
roles, assess and integrate services where feasible, and align funding and metrics to meet 
common community goals for supporting vulnerable residents and enhancing quality of 
life. The city and county are evaluating services in four areas: 

 Early Childhood Programs;
 Family Support Services;
 Data and Metrics; and
 Aging Services.

Potential changes to community funding priorities and options were discussed, for further 
assessment during and after the public engagement process. 

Potential changes could include more focused and specific funding areas to meet key city 
priorities. These options could include a combination of more narrow and focused 
priority areas along with identified percentages of available funding.  

COUNCIL DISCUSSION 
The following comments, themes and requests for information emerged from council 
discussion: 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 3Packet Page 31

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/20151027_SS-1-201510211711.pdf
https://bouldercolorado.gov/human-services-plan/human-services-strategy


Attachment A: Oct. 27, 2015 Human Services Strategy Update Study Session Summary 

Public Engagement 
Goals of public engagement include: 

 Maximizing resident opportunities for participation by providing a variety of
forums including surveys, focus groups, public meetings and online engagement.

 To test and validate draft priorities and options.
 To explore key issues and priorities; and
 To report findings in a manner that is accessible to a wide range of audiences.

A representative from BBC presented their planned approach which includes: 
 Community survey – statistically valid telephone survey of residents.
 In-person meetings – resident meetings, focus groups and interviews with under-

represented populations and partner and stakeholder meetings.
 Digital – Human Services will leverage the survey and meetings with online

surveys, Mindmixer/InspireBoulder, Channel 8 videos, email sign-up and
meetings schedules.

Council suggested: 
 Staff to consider holding public meetings and focus groups after the community

survey results are available to receive additional feedback on the results.
 Consider a kick-off event to launch the public engagement process.
 Council review the survey instrument before it is fielded.
 Include the Transportation Advisory Board in public engagement process.
 Communicate during public engagement that establishing priorities may require

tradeoffs.

County Partnership 
Staff highlighted the key areas where the city and county have been collaborating, 
including:  

 Early Childhood Programs;
 Family Support Services;
 Data and outcome metrics; and
 Aging services.

o The city’s Child Care Referral program will transition to the Boulder County
Department of Housing and Human Services to provide enhanced support to
families for financial assistance and guidance in finding quality child care.
The county administers the Colorado Child Care Assistance Program
(CCCAP); the city administers the county-wide Child Care Referral Program.
The potential client overlap is over 70 percent, making integration highly
desirable.

o The city will contract with the Early Childhood Council of Boulder County to
provide training options for existing and new child care providers.

o Frank Alexander, Boulder County Department of Housing and Human
Services Director, provided an overview of the Department’s work including
the Human Services Safety Net tax initiative and successes following the
passage of the Affordable Care Act.

Agenda Item 3B     Page 4Packet Page 32



Attachment A: Oct. 27, 2015 Human Services Strategy Update Study Session Summary 

o Council discussed living-wage and it was suggested as a future topic with
county commissioners. A living-wage policy proposal will be reviewed by
council in early 2016.

o Council discussed workforce development, especially high-tech training and
training for single mothers, as a function of the county.

o Human Services will work with Boulder County to provide an Information
Packet to council in early 2016 regarding Workforce questions.

o Through Human Services Strategy development, Human Services intends to
further explore potential priorities and the city’s role, if any, in employment
and workforce development as part of the poverty and economic mobility
issue area.

o The city and county should continue to pursue opportunities for partnership.

Community Funding 
 Staff reviewed the seven issue areas and three key principles that have emerged

from Phase I based on trend data, guiding policy documents, humans services
frameworks and best practice and council direction. These issue areas and
principles shape the direction for public engagement regarding funding and
services priorities.

 Staff presented examples that compared current Human Services budget
allocation to potential methodologies to narrow funding, depending on
forthcoming public engagement feedback on community priorities.

 Council shared that, in analyzing city investment in human services, budget
information should include other human services the city provides, including
affordable housing.

 In future budget presentations staff will include affordable housing information.
The city manager indicated the goal of the 2018 budget is to show investments by
impact area as well as by department.

 Staff should continue to weigh the potential benefits and tradeoffs associated with
the three key themes of upstream investment, system integration and data-driven
outcomes.

 Council identified the potential for a competitive funding process to stifle
collaboration among community nonprofits and suggested that staff consider
ways to incentivize collaboration.

 Staff plans to offer innovation grants, to incentivize collaborative funding
applications and to fund technical assistance and capacity support as funding
priorities may shift.

 Council identified the need for more clarity regarding detailed funding options
with examples and how the current impact areas will relate to new priority areas.
This includes working with Grant Management System partners to improve and
clarify impact areas and outcomes.

NEXT STEPS 
 Staff will continue to implement public engagement through fourth quarter 2015

and first quarter 2016. This includes conducting the community survey and
convening resident, partner and stakeholder meetings.

Agenda Item 3B     Page 5Packet Page 33



Attachment A: Oct. 27, 2015 Human Services Strategy Update Study Session Summary 

 Staff will develop draft funding options and service delivery models in first
quarter of 2016, with a draft Strategy to present to council by late first quarter
2016. 

 Final adoption of the Strategy will occur in second quarter 2016.
 Staff will schedule an IP with follow up information related to Workforce Boulder

County data and rental housing information presented by Boulder County.

Requested Follow-up Information  
Information was requested regarding Boulder Valley School District’s (BVSD) plans to 
continue to offer a summer food program. 

 BVSD participates in the Summer Food Service program which provides
breakfast and a morning snack to children at seven schools, four of which are in
Boulder during the summer.  Meals are provided to all children without charge.
Funding for this program is provided through the Colorado Department of
Education (which also funds school-year meals). For the summer of 2015 BVSD
served 22,500 meals to low-income students and another 8,500 to other students
at no charge to the family. As a point of comparison, BVSD serves 12,000 meals
a day to their students.

 The Gamm Initiative for Infants and Toddlers (GIIT) provided funding in 2015
for summer meals for preschool age children in BVSD. These funds were used for
lunch and a bag of food to for the family to cook over the weekend. This project
was carried out at three schools, Columbine, Creekside, and University Hills, that
serve very low-income families. Funding has been secured to start the weekend
food bag program in January 2016. Project details are currently being developed.

Council asked for clarification on data included in the analysis of Boulder County 
Average Rents (slide 16 in the presentation).  

 Specifically, does it include single-family homes and can this skew the average
rent upward? Staff will provide this County information in an Information Packet
at a later date.

 In the Metro Denver area, the data source most commonly used to understand
changes in rent and vacancy is the Apartment Association of Metro Denver’s
Denver Metro Apartment Vacancy and Rent Report. This survey provides some
insight into the student and nonstudent rental market as Boulder is divided in the
report into two submarkets; University and Non- University. Though these are not
clean categories that entirely exclude student or non-student households, they
provide some indication of the differences between rents in student and non-
student markets. For the third quarter 2015, the most recent quarter reported, the
average rent in the non-university area was $1,743 and the average vacancy was
4.3 percent. In the university area, the average rent was $1,532, somewhat lower
than that in the non-university area and the vacancy rate was lower as well at 3
percent. The most recent comprehensive market analysis was prepared by BBC
Research and Consulting in 2013. This market analysis included Boulder’s
average rents by submarket and unit size and also presents rental market trends
over the past decade. More information on city housing data can be found here.

Agenda Item 3B     Page 6Packet Page 34

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/Presentation_HS_Strategy-1-201510271437.pdf
https://bouldercolorado.gov/housing-boulder/housing-data-challenges


CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: Dec. 1, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to accept the Oct. 27, 2015 Study Session 
Summary: Homelessness Strategy Update.    

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager   
Karen Rahn, Human Services Director 
Wendy Schwartz, Human Services Planning and Program Development Manager 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This agenda item presents a summary of the Oct. 27, 2015 study session on Homelessness 
Strategy Update. The study session provided an update on the Homelessness Strategy and Action 
Plan development, public engagement process benchmarks and timelines, updates on current 
Action Plan initiatives and changes for the 2015-2016 sheltering season. The Study Session memo 
can be found here. Previous council memos related to homeless can be found here. 

OVERVIEW OF PRESENTATION 
Staff provided an overview of: 

 Background on the Homelessness Strategy purpose, Framework, Action Plan and
community engagement process;

 Homeless Action Plan accomplishments including regional partnerships, innovative
solutions to increase housing options, local service integration and coordination, improved
community dialogue and homelessness prevention;

 Changes in the sheltering season - the Boulder Homeless Services Collaborative (BHSC)
initiative  and the Day Services (DS)/Resource Center (RC) Pilot which expands homeless
day services and day shelter space, with funding from the city, county, foundations, and
private fundraising; and

 A review of criteria and recommendations regarding adult homeless services.

Isabel McDevitt, Executive Director of Bridge House; Greg Harms, Executive Director of Boulder 
Shelter for the Homeless (BSH); and Bill Sweeney, Treasurer of Boulder Outreach for Homeless 
Overflow (BOHO) answered questions about homeless services operations and procedures.  

COUNCIL DISCUSSION 
General Themes  

 Homelessness Strategy and Action Plan are headed in the right direction.

Agenda Item 3C     Page 1Packet Page 35

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/10-27-2015_Homelessness_Update_on_Public_Engagement_Process_-_Initiatives_and_2015-16_Sheltering_Season-1-201510261609.pdf
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/10-27-2015_Homelessness_Update_on_Public_Engagement_Process_-_Initiatives_and_2015-16_Sheltering_Season-1-201510261609.pdf
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/20151027_SS-1-201510211711.pdf
https://bouldercolorado.gov/homelessness/homeless-council-memos


 Continue existing criteria for homeless services in the community, but monitor changes to
homeless population.

 Support for BHSC collaboration pilot, including expansion of day sheltering and day
services at the BSH.  DS/RC pilot is positive progress.

 Consider different methods (meals served, summer Point In Time survey, etc.) to estimate
differences in homeless populations during different times of year to better understand the
traveler population.  Staff will evaluate options and return with additional information at a
later date.

 Explore options for tracking cost savings of permanent supportive housing initiatives,
based on decreased demand for emergency services. Savings may be difficult to track due
to the number of service systems involved.  City and community partners are tracking
outcomes on homeless people with high utilization of municipal court system and 1175
Lee Hill residents will be assessed for progress on the Self Sufficiency Matrix as part of an
annual report.

 Continue positive engagement of other communities and regional collaboration with
Boulder County and metro Denver regional coordinated entry system.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to accept the Oct. 27, 2015 Study Session Summary: Homelessness Strategy 
Update.   

NEXT STEPS 
 Community engagement process – fourth quarter 2015, first quarter 2016
 Council review of community engagement results and draft Homelessness Strategy – first

quarter 2016
 Adoption of Homelessness Strategy – second quarter 2016

ATTACHMENT 
Attachment A: Oct. 27, 2015 Study Session Summary: Homelessness Strategy Update 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 2Packet Page 36



Attachment A: Oct. 27, 2015 Study Session Summary: Homelessness Strategy Update 

Oct. 27, 2015 City Council Study Session Summary: Homelessness Strategy Update 

PRESENT 
City Council: Mayor Matt Appelbaum, Mayor Pro Tem Suzanne Jones, Macon Cowles, 
George Karakehian, Lisa Morzel, Tim Plass, Andrew Shoemaker, Sam Weaver, Mary 
Young 

Staff Presenters: Human Services Director Karen Rahn and Human Services Planning 
and Program Development Manager Wendy Schwartz 

PURPOSE 
The study session provided an update on the Homelessness Strategy and Action Plan 
development, public engagement process benchmarks and timelines, updates on current 
Action Plan initiatives, changes for the 2015-2016 sheltering season, homeless services 
criteria and next steps in the process.   

OVERVIEW OF PRESENTATION 
Staff provided an overview of: 

 Background on the Homelessness Strategy purpose, Framework, Action Plan and
community engagement process;

 Homeless Action Plan accomplishments including regional partnerships,
innovative solutions to increase housing options, local service integration and
coordination, improved community dialogue and homelessness prevention;

 Changes in the sheltering season - the Boulder Homeless Services Collaborative
(BHSC) initiative and the Day Services (DS)/Resource Center (RC) Pilot which
expands homeless day services and day shelter space, with funding from the city,
county, foundations and private fundraising; and

 A review of criteria and recommendations regarding adult homeless services.

Isabel McDevitt, Executive Director of Bridge House; Greg Harms, Executive Director 
of Boulder Shelter for the Homeless (BSH); and Bill Sweeney, Treasurer of Boulder 
Outreach for Homeless Overflow (BOHO) answered questions about homeless services 
operations and procedures.  

COUNCIL DISCUSSION 
General Themes  

 Homelessness Strategy and Action Plan is headed in the right direction.
 Continue existing criteria for homeless services in the community, but monitor

changes to homeless population.  Support for BHSC collaboration pilot, including
expansion of day sheltering and day services at the BSH.  DS/RC pilot is positive
progress.

 Consider different methods (meals served, summer Point In Time survey, etc.) to
estimate differences in homeless populations during different times of year to
better understand traveler population.  Staff will evaluate options and return with
additional information at a later date.

Agenda Item 3C     Page 3Packet Page 37



Attachment A: Oct. 27, 2015 Study Session Summary: Homelessness Strategy Update 

 Explore options for tracking cost savings of permanent supportive housing based
on decreased demand for emergency services. Savings may be difficult to track
due to the number of service systems involved. City and community partners are
tracking outcomes on homeless people with high utilization of municipal court
system and 1175 Lee Hill residents will be assessed for progress on the Self
Sufficiency Matrix as part of an annual report.

 Continue positive engagement of other communities, regional collaboration with
county and metro Denver and regional coordinated entry.

Planning/Land Use 
 Use lessons learned from 1175 Lee Hill as part of planning/land use discussions

convened by Boulder County Ten-Year Plan to Address Homelessness Board
(Ten-Year Plan Board).

Coordinated Intake/Regional Solutions 
 There is greater awareness of regional homeless issues and collaborative efforts as

a result of work over the last year.
 The Metro Mayor’s Caucus has spearheaded regional landlord recruitment

campaign to engage landlords to increase access to housing for homeless
individuals.

 The regional coordinated entry system is part of city’s collaborative efforts. A
number of people from Boulder have been placed in housing through that project.

 BSH and Bridge House are using common tools, including  the Vulnerability
Index and Service Prioritization Decision Assistance Tool (VI-SPDAT) and
centralized regional housing list as first steps in establishing coordinated entry.

 Emergency shelter is currently not included in regional coordinated entry system
because the regional system is focused on permanent supportive housing. The
long-term vision for the coordinated entry system is to offer a variety of rapid
rehousing and supportive housing solutions to a variety of homeless populations.

 Planned integrated data system with the County should link to the regional
coordinated entry system.  Consider how a data system developed for local
integrated data links to Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) used
by United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) and
required for entities receiving federal funds.

 Consortium of Cities collaboration to support and fund a permanent supportive
housing study is a positive step forward.

Denver Foundation Public Will-Building 
 The Denver Foundation is establishing a regional messaging platform for a

unified message and campaign across the region as part of its Public Will
Building campaign around homelessness.

 The city, as part of the Ten-Year Plan Board, is working with the Denver
Foundation to leverage the messaging, training and technical assistance developed
for the public will building campaign.

Agenda Item 3C     Page 4Packet Page 38



Attachment A: Oct. 27, 2015 Study Session Summary: Homelessness Strategy Update 

Boulder Homeless Services Collaborative (BHSC) and DS/RC Pilot 
 Isabel McDevitt described the increased collaboration of Bridge House, BSH and

BOHO over the past two years to form BHSC and move from three separate
agencies to a continuum of services, with specific focus on day services and
appropriate roles for each service provider. The agencies are continuing to meet
and look at data issues and possible organizational changes for the future.

 Measure service engagement associated with pilot, and track usage of overnight
shelter clients.

 The BHSC DS pilot will require people to have “welcome meeting” for outreach
case management and service orientation within seven days of accessing services.
The welcome meeting is the link between emergency “walk up” services and
engagement beyond those basic needs services.

 Staff areworking with BHSC to develop measurement for utilization of RC by
overnight shelter clients.

 It is important that the DS/RC pilot reduces duplication of services.
 BOHO may occasionally turn someone away from overnight warming centers for

refusing to agree to follow the rules, but not due to capacity constraints.
 People outdoors that wish to go to a warming center can be transported there

through Boulder County Cares outreach program.
 Additional summer beds at BSH are a positive development.

Homeless Services Criteria 
 A question was posed about whether baseline data can be established around the

homeless population to evaluate whether the pilot program is contributing to
increasing homeless population numbers by offering more services.

 The question of whether homeless services motivate more homeless people to
come to Boulder has been reviewed with available data previously and no
evidence has been found that services are drawing significant numbers of people
here. Available data from the Point In Time (PIT) homeless survey suggest that
Boulder does not have a higher percentage of “non-resident” mobile homeless
than other counties in the region.

 The transient/traveler population is difficult to measure and complicates analysis
of the homeless population and why people are in Boulder. Staff conducted
preliminary investigation of a summer traveler study during summer 2015,
described in the Sept. 1, 2015 Information Packet to council, and recommended
against it due to concerns about reliability and safety.

 Staff is working on increasing reliable baseline data and the partnership with the
county and BHSC should help achieve better data on homeless population.

 In response to questions about the transient population, Greg Harms explained
that the shelter does serve the transient population in the winter, but not during the
summer because there are no emergency shelter services on site at that time.

 In response to questions about meal counts to help measure the homeless
population during different times of the year, Isabel McDevitt explained that they
do have meal counts for the Community Table meal service offered nightly, but
they do not serve outdoor meals. Council requested Community Table meal
information and is included in Chart 1 below.

Agenda Item 3C     Page 5Packet Page 39



Attachment A: Oct. 27, 2015 Study Session Summary: Homelessness Strategy Update 

 Greg Harms was asked if entry to BSH could be prioritized by vulnerability or a
factor other than the lottery. He responded that there are many ways to prioritize
but they are all very challenging and complex in trying to develop an appropriate
way to distribute a scarce resource.

Other 
 The High Utilizer project is positive with 32 people assessed for regional housing

list and two housed, in addition to eight placed at 1175 Lee Hill.
 Project EDGE is extremely successful at de-escalating law enforcement situations

with mental health issues.

Requested Follow-up Information  
Council requested the following additional information: 

1. How many meals has  Bridge House (Community Table Kitchen) served and
changes over time. – Community Table Meals for January-October for 2014 and
2015 are included in Chart 1 below. Fewer meals were served in the spring and
summer months of 2015, than the same period in 2014 .

Chart 1: Community Table Meals – Average per Day 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sep Oct

Community Table Meals - Average per Day

2014 2015

2. Additional information on impacts in cities where camping ordinances have been
revoked. Council will determine if this will be included in the work plan at City
Council retreat.

3. How many homeless children are in Boulder? - According to Boulder Valley
School District, 238 students from the City of Boulder accessed district homeless
services during the 2014-15 school year.

4. Are mobile home park landlords part of regional landlord recruitment campaign?
There has not yet been direct outreach to mobile home park landlords in Boulder,
however,  they can be included in future outreach.

Agenda Item 3C     Page 6Packet Page 40



Attachment A: Oct. 27, 2015 Study Session Summary: Homelessness Strategy Update 

5. Is a summer PIT an option for measuring the difference between summer and
winter homeless populations?  Staff will evaluate feasibility of this option and
report back to council during Homelessness Strategy update during First Quarter
2016. 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 7Packet Page 41



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: December 1, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to approve the City’s 2016 State 
and Federal Legislative Agenda 

PRESENTERS:  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Carl Castillo, Policy Advisor 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The purpose of this item is to allow council to consider approving the city’s 2016 State 
and Federal Legislative Agenda (the “2016 Agenda,” Attachment A). Proposed 
substantive policy changes from council’s Nov. 17 discussion of the 2016 Agenda are 
summarized below and reflected in the attached using strike-through and double-
underline formatting. Once approved, the 2016 Agenda will be available to present to the 
city’s state legislative delegation at a breakfast scheduled for Dec. 18, 2015 and to its 
congressional delegation during a visit to Washington D.C. anticipated sometime next 
year. The 2016 Agenda will also provide individual council members and city staff with 
authority to advocate on behalf of the city for the stated positions as opportunities arise 
during the rest of this year and throughout 2016. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to approve the city’s 2016 State and Federal Legislative Agenda as reflected in 
Attachment A. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 1Packet Page 42



COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

• Economic - City lobbying efforts have and are expected to continue to contribute
to the city’s economic sustainability goals. In 2016, this is expected to include
advocating for continued funding for the University of Colorado Boulder and the
federally funded laboratories in Boulder.

• Environmental - City lobbying efforts have and are expected to continue to
contribute to the city’s environmental sustainability goals. In 2016, this will
include efforts to ensure implementation of EPA’s Clean Power Plan and to
encourage widespread adoption of electric and efficient motorized vehicles.

• Social - City lobbying efforts have and are expected to continue to contribute to
the city’s social sustainability goals. In 2016, this is expected to include
advocating for an increased minimum wage.

OTHER IMPACTS 

• Fiscal - The proposed 2016 Agenda includes several positions that would protect
the city’s financial resources, including those that would lead to state and federal
assistance for flood disaster recovery and mitigation expenses and that would
protect the city’s workers compensation and retirement system. In terms of
financial outlays, the city anticipates renewing contracts for lobbying services
with the following consultants:

o Smith Dawson & Andrews – Approximately $40,000/year for city-specific
representation before Congress and the federal executive branch.

o Headwaters Strategies, Inc. – Approximately $48,000/year for city-
specific representation before the Colorado General Assembly and the
state executive branch.

o Grayling – Approximately $23,340/year for the city’s portion of a contract
for federal representation of the US 36 Mayors and Commissioners
Coalition.

• Staff time - Creation of a legislative agenda, and devoting time to advance it, is
part of staff’s approved work plan.

BACKGROUND 

The 2016 regular session of the Colorado General Assembly is scheduled to convene on 
Jan. 13, 2016. Each legislator is allowed to introduce five bills. The deadline for 
legislators to request their first three bills is Dec. 1, 2015. Unless “late bill” status is 
granted, all bills must be introduced no later than Jan. 29, 2016. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 2Packet Page 43



In order to develop the proposed 2016 Agenda, modifications from the city’s 2015 
Agenda were made. In making these modifications, several considerations were taken 
into account, including: 

1. A review of the 2015 state legislative session;
2. A review of the 1st session of the 114th Congress;
3. Input from city staff and council’s legislative committee, and;
4. Discussions with the city’s regional partners

ANALYSIS 

The following is a list of the significant changes since council discussed the proposed the 
2016 Agenda on Nov. 17, 2015: 

1) Budget Flexibility Under TABOR – Added support for converting the
hospital provider fee to an enterprise to the list of state legislative priorities
(see p. 8 of the proposed 2016 Agenda)

2) Colorado Road and Community Safety Act – Indicated support for the
necessary funding for state offices to provider driver’s licenses under the
“Colorado Road and Community Safety Act” (see p. 23 of the proposed 2016
Agenda).

3) Employment Non-Discrimination Act – Un-deleted reference to support for
“ENDA” (see p. 23 of the proposed 2016 Agenda)

4) TRANS Bonds – Add qualified support for referral to the ballot of a “TRANS
Bonds” measure (see p. 37 of the proposed Agenda)

Although not addressed in the proposed 2016 Agenda, staff was also directed to review 
HB15-1235, concerning the creation of the Colorado Retirement Security Task Force, 
and to bring any proposed response back for council’s consideration in February.  

ATTACHMENTS  

Attachment A – Proposed 2016 Agenda, substantive policy revisions reflected 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 3Packet Page 44



2016 

Proposed  

Dec. 1, 2015 

State and Federal 
Legislative Agenda 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 4

Attachment A

Packet Page 45



Agenda Item 3D     Page 5

Attachment A

Packet Page 46



CONTACTS 
City Council 

NAME/ADDRESS CURRENT TERM CONTACT INFORMATION 
Matthew 
Appelbaum 
200 Pawnee Drive 
Boulder, CO  80303 

Began 
11/19/2013 

Expires 
11/21/2017 

303-499-8970  
appelbaumm@bouldercolorado.gov 

Aaron Brockett 
1601 Yellow Pine Ave 
Boulder, CO 80304 

Began 
11/17/2015 

Expires 
11/19/2019 

303-913-1025720-984-1863 
brocketta@bouldercolorado.gov 

Jan Burton 
852 11th Street 
Boulder, CO 80302 

Began 
11/17/2015 

Expires 
11/21/17 

214-632-6289 
burtonj@bouldercolorado.gov 

Suzanne Jones, 
Mayor 
1133 6th Street 
Boulder, CO  80302 

Began 
11/17/2015 

Expires 
11/19/2019 

720-633-7388  
joness@bouldercolorado.gov 

Lisa Morzel 
2155 Poplar Avenue 
Boulder, CO  80304 

Began 
11/17/2015 

Expires 
11/19/2019 

303-815-6723   
lisamorzel@gmail.com  

Andrew Shoemaker 
1064 10th St. 
Boulder, CO 80302 

Began 
11/19/2013 

Expires 
11/21/17 

303-332-8646 
shoemakera@bouldercolorado.gov 

Sam Weaver 
2423 23rd Street 
Boulder, CO 80304 

Began 
11/19/2013 

Expires 
11/21/17 

303-416-6130 
weavers@bouldercolorado.gov 

Mary Young, Mayor 
Pro Tem 
1420 Alpine Ave 
Boulder, CO 80304 

Began 
11/19/2013 

Expires 
11/21/17 

303-501-2439 
youngm@bouldercolorado.gov 

Bob Yates 
3820 Cloverleaf Drive 

Began 
11/17/2015 

Expires 
11/19/2019 

303-884-8891 
yatesb@bouldercolorado.gov 

City Manager 
Jane S. Brautigam 
303-441-3090 
brautigamj@bouldercolorado.gov 

City Attorney 
Tom Carr 
303-441-3020 
carrt@bouldercolorado.gov 

Policy Advisor 
Carl Castillo 
303-441-3009 
castilloc@bouldercolorado.gov

Mailing Address  
P.O. Box 791, Boulder, 
CO 80306 

Physical Address 
1777 Broadway, Boulder, 
CO 80302 

Legislative Website 
bouldercolorado.gov/policy-
advisor/state-federal-
legislative-matters 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 6

Attachment A

Packet Page 47



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
PURPOSE OF THE LEGISLATIVE AGENDA ........................................................ 5

2016 STATE LEGISLATIVE PRIORITIES AT A GLANCE ................................... 7

2016 FEDERAL LEGISLATIVE PRIORITIES AT A GLANCE ............................. 8

CLIMATE CHANGE AND COMMUNITY RESILIENCE ....................................... 9

• Preserve and support the ability of local governments to engage in climate action
efforts ........................................................................................................................................ 9 

• Facilitate access to renewable energy ............................................................................... 9
• Expand the development of climate change adaptation strategies ................................ 10
• Enhance customer energy choice ..................................................................................... 10
• Increase public access to energy data .............................................................................. 10
• Support energy utility and regulatory enhancements .................................................... 11
• Increase energy efficiency ................................................................................................ 12
• Encourage more widespread adoption of electric and efficient motorized vehicles ....... 12
• Support reform of Property Assessed Clean Energy (PACE) Finance statutes to allow
for resumption of Boulder County’s ClimateSmart Loan Program (CSLP) .......................... 13 

• Promote waste reduction and diversion efforts ............................................................... 13
• Support improvements to the Colorado Oil and Gas Conservation Commission’s
oversight of oil and gas drilling and preservation of local control to adopt regulations, 
moratoriums or other limits as necessary ............................................................................. 14 

• Federal and state support for building community resilience ........................................ 16

DEMOCRACY AND GOVERNANCE ....................................................................... 17

• Support for an amendment to the U.S. Constitution abolishing corporate personhood 17
• Support General Assembly action to submit to the Colorado electorate a referred
measure to reform the current process for citizen-initiated constitutional and statutory 
amendments by altering the signature collection requirements and requiring a 
supermajority voter approval for constitutional amendments, except for those measures 
that look to amend previous voter-approved constitutional amendments; and requiring for 
a time a supermajority approval by the General Assembly to change citizen-initiated 
statutory amendments ........................................................................................................... 17 

ECONOMIC VITALITY .............................................................................................. 18

Agenda Item 3D     Page 7

Attachment A

Packet Page 48



 

2 
 
 
 
 

• Protect core provisions of the Colorado Urban Renewal law, which provide effective 
redevelopment tools for municipalities such as tax increment financing and eminent 
domain .................................................................................................................................... 18 

• Support continued funding and support for the federally funded labs located in Boulder
 18 

• Support facilitating the ability of municipalities to enter into revenue sharing 
agreements ............................................................................................................................. 19 

HOUSING ..................................................................................................................... 20 

• Oppose federal efforts to reduce appropriations for HUD Public Housing and Section 8 
programs which provide rental assistance to low-income households .................................. 20 

• Oppose federal reductions to Community Development Block Grant program and 
HOME Investment Partnerships ........................................................................................... 20 

• Support for state housing trust fund ............................................................................... 20 

• Support legislation that helps address the power imbalance between owners of mobile 
homes and owners of mobile home parks .............................................................................. 21 

HUMAN SERVICES/HUMAN RIGHTS ................................................................... 21 

• Support comprehensive federal immigration reform ...................................................... 21 

• Protect unaccompanied children immigrating into the United States ........................... 22 

• Support the necessary funding for state offices to provide drivers licenses under the 
“Colorado Road and Community Safety Act” ......................................................................... 23 

• Further the rights of all people regardless of their actual or perceived sexual 
orientation or gender variance status .................................................................................... 23 

• Increase the minimum wage ........................................................................................... 23 

• Oppose further cuts to state funded health and human service programs, especially 
those that are preventive in nature ....................................................................................... 24 

INTERNAL ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS .......................................................... 24 

• Protect workers’ compensation system ........................................................................... 24 

• Protect governmental immunity...................................................................................... 25 

• Oppose changes that could unnecessarily result in increased contributions or force a 
reduction in benefits for members of the Public Employees Retirement Association (PERA)
 25 

LOCAL CONTROL ...................................................................................................... 26 

• Oppose threats to local control and home rule authority ............................................... 26 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 8

Attachment A

Packet Page 49



 

3 
 
 
 
 

NATURAL RESOURCES, WILDLIFE AND PARKS ............................................ 27 

• Protect the ability of local governments and the land trust community to acquire and 
protect parks and open space ................................................................................................. 27 

• Support state legislation furthering implementation of the city’s Urban Wildlife 
Management Plan .................................................................................................................. 28 

• Support to address the city’s emerald ash borer infestation .......................................... 28 

• Support restoration of local government authority to regulate certain pesticide uses 
and for additional protections for pollinators, human health and water quality ................. 29 

• Support efforts that protect the boulder community from wildfire and promote 
ecological forest health ........................................................................................................... 30 

PUBLIC HEALTH AND SAFETY ............................................................................. 30 

• State and federal assistance for flood disaster recovery needs and expenses ................ 30 

• Support for safe use and commercial regulation of recreational marijuana .................. 31 

• Support removal of barriers that prevent legitimate marijuana businesses to access 
banking services ..................................................................................................................... 31 

• Promote health and safety concerns associated with alcohol abuse in the greater 
community .............................................................................................................................. 32 

• Close the federal gun show loophole................................................................................ 32 

• Oppose expanding the application of the “make my day” law beyond personal 
residences ............................................................................................................................... 32 

• Oppose legislation limiting the state’s ability to regulate concealed weapons or local 
government’s ability to restrict possession of weapons in public facilities ........................... 32 

• Oppose mandates for local government enforcement of federal immigration laws ....... 33 

• Oppose infringements on employment and personnel decisions made by municipal 
police and fire departments ................................................................................................... 33 

• Oppose imposition of onerous information gathering and reporting requirements on 
public safety, especially when those requirements come with substantial costs that are not 
supported by adequate funding.............................................................................................. 33 

• Increase the financial threshold of property damage that triggers a police investigation 
of non-injury traffic accidents ................................................................................................ 34 

• Oppose limitations on municipal authority to operate red light or photo radar cameras 
to enforce traffic safety ........................................................................................................... 34 

ROCKY FLATS ............................................................................................................ 35 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 9

Attachment A

Packet Page 50



 

4 
 
 
 
 

• Support funding for the Department of Energy for the Office of Legacy Management 
and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service in order to manage Rocky Flats as a national wildlife 
refuge with the appropriate systems in place for long term stewardship ............................ 35 

TAX POLICY ................................................................................................................ 35 

• Support the Market Fairness Act and other action to preserve and expand the 
authority of local governments to collect taxes ..................................................................... 35 

TELECOMMUNICATIONS ....................................................................................... 36 

• Reestablish the right of municipalities to provide telecommunication services such as 
large and complex city-wide fiber and premise networks ..................................................... 36 

TRANSPORTATION .................................................................................................. 36 

• Increase transportation funding and prioritize its expenditure on projects that 
maintain existing infrastructure, are multimodal in design and that otherwise promote 
smart growth .......................................................................................................................... 36 

• Realign the Colorado Transportation Commission to include population, not just 
geography, to ensure fair representation of the metropolitan area ...................................... 38 

• Promote “Complete Streets,” accommodating all modes of travel .................................. 38 

• Oppose limitations on the city’s ability to regulate vehicle use on sidewalks, multi-use 
pathways, and bike lanes, or that requires the city to alter its current code in order to 
maintain current policy on allowed uses of those facilities ................................................... 38 

• Oppose transfering the maintenance responsibilities for regional highways from the 
Colorado Department of Transportation to local governments ............................................. 38 

• Support flexible solutions and new funding opportunities to address impacts of train horn noise and 
support creation of quiet zones ..................................................................................................... 38 

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO................................................................................. 39 

• Support a renewed commitment by the state and federal governments to fund the 
University of Colorado and its capital programs ................................................................... 39 

WATER .......................................................................................................................... 40 

• Support legislation that promotes the efficient utilization and conservation of water . 40 

• Oppose significant threats to the city’s water rights ...................................................... 40 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 10

Attachment A

Packet Page 51



 

5 
 
 
 
 

PURPOSE OF THE LEGISLATIVE AGENDA  
 
The purpose of the city’s 2016 State and Federal Legislative Agenda (the “Legislative 
Agenda”) is to formalize city positions on legislation expected to be considered by the 
Colorado General Assembly and the U.S. Congress. The city offers the Legislative Agenda as 
a guideline to legislators for reference when considering legislation impacting the City of 
Boulder. Strategic, targeted, and/or abbreviated versions of the information contained in this 
agenda will also be created throughout the year for use in further legislative 
communications. 
 
The Legislative Agenda was developed in advance of the convening of the 2016 Colorado 
General Assembly and the Second Session of the 114th U.S. Congress. Consequently, it does 
not address legislation by bill number. Instead, it describes the underlying interest the city 
has on specific issues. With the coordination of the city’s Policy Advisor, it will be used by 
individual council members and city staff to inform city positions taken on specific bills once 
these legislative sessions begin. At that point, council may also consider amendments to the 
Legislative Agenda and address specific bills that have been proposed. 
 
The city often attempts to influence state and federal policies through other avenues, beyond 
the legislative agenda, such as by submitting comments on administrative rulemakings or 
“sunset” reviews of expiring legislation, or by making direct appeals to federal and state 
administrative officials. While the Legislative Agenda is not designed to direct such action, it 
can be looked toward as a resource to inform such city efforts. 
 
Council may revisit the Legislative Agenda at any point. It may do so as a body, or through 
its Legislative Committee. Council created this committee for the purpose of convening on an 
ad hoc basis with the Policy Advisor and other city staff as necessary when one or more of the 
following circumstances exist: 
 
1. There is an immediate need for council members to participate with staff in developing a 

legislative strategy to advance or defeat a bill which is clearly addressed by the city’s 
legislative agenda or other council-approved policy documents, or; 

 
2. There is action expected on pending legislation that affects a matter which council has 

previously provided general direction on and that could significantly impact the city, but 
which council did not provide sufficient specific direction on (either through its legislative 
agenda or other approved policy documents) and with timing that will not allow for 
council direction to be obtained. In these limited situations, the Policy Advisor may turn 
to the committee for direction on such legislation so that the city can advocate 
accordingly. Council is to be informed whenever such committee direction has been 
provided, and may choose to subsequently revisit such direction.  

 
Council’s Legislative Committee is also turned to during non-legislative periods to provide 
suggestions on revisions to the legislative agenda and to plan agendas for meetings with 
legislators. 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 11

Attachment A

Packet Page 52



 

6 
 
 
 
 

As has been done in years past, council is again adopting a goal that modifications to this 
legislative agenda require consistency, when applicable, with the six criteria described below: 
   
1. Uniformity with current city council goals;  
2. Expected relevance in the upcoming or present state and federal legislative sessions;  
3. Uniqueness of issue or impact to the City of Boulder;  
4. Viability, or likelihood of achieving goal;  
5. Opportunity for providing funding for City of Boulder; and,  
6. High probability of metrics of success in order to allow the position to be deleted from 

future agendas if achieved. 
 
Departures from these criteria are made in unique circumstances as determined by council, 
such as when adoption of a city position is important to support its regional partners, even 
while the legislation is otherwise of limited consequence to the city. 
 
The city welcomes the opportunity to discuss the city’s Legislative Agenda. Please direct any 
questions to City Council members or to the city’s Policy Advisor at 303-441-3009. 
 
  

Agenda Item 3D     Page 12

Attachment A

Packet Page 53



 

7 
 
 
 
 

2016 STATE LEGISLATIVE PRIORITIES AT A GLANCE   
 
The city expects to adopt and communicate positions on dozens of state bills during 
the 2016 state legislative session. The six positions listed below, however, address 
the bills that the city expects to focus the bulk of its limited resources and political 
capital on. These priorities are selected not only due to their importance to the city 
but because related legislation is expected to be introduced in 2016 and involvement 
of the city and its legislative delegation could be determinative to their outcome. The 
priorities take into account the expected political realities of the upcoming session 
and accordingly are first and foremost pragmatic. Nevertheless, they are considered 
important in their own right and are also considered incremental steps that will 
create support in future years for some of the city’s more ambitious legislative goals. 
 

1. Oppose state legislation aimed at undermining the implementation of EPA’s 
Clean Power Plan Rule, including those that would create a requirement for 
General Assembly approval of the state’s plan. More on this position can be 
found at page 11. 
 

2. Modify the existing state tax credit for electric vehicles by allowing them 
to be transferable, thereby creating new financing opportunities (e.g., leases, 
performance contracting, etc) and/or allowing public sector agencies to take 
advantage of the credits (i.e., 100% refundable in the absence of tax liability). 
More on this position can be found at page 12. 
 

3. Support legislation allowing US 36 BRT vehicles to use “Bus on Shoulder” 
for local service.  
 

4. Support state legislation that results increasing the minimum wage to 
$10.10 an hour and/or allows municipalities the authority to adopt minimum 
wage requirements higher than the federal and state standards. The city’s 
reasoning for this position is described on page 23.  

 
5. Preserve the authority of local governments to use red light cameras or 

photo radar enforcement. Page 34 describes how these tools are used by the 
city and their importance to the public’s safety.  
 

6. Protect against significant threats to the city’s water rights, especially 
those allowing for out-of-priority, un-augmented well use in the South Platte 
basin. Page 40 describes the negative impact to the city of permitting such use. 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 13

Attachment A

Packet Page 54



8 

6.7. Support efforts to provide budget flexibility under the TABOR revenue 
cap by changing the hospital provider fee from a cash fund to an enterprise, 
thereby minimizing proposed funding cuts to K-12 and higher education. 

2016 FEDERAL LEGISLATIVE PRIORITIES AT A GLANCE 

1. Seek federal support for Boulder’s federally funded labs and the University of
Colorado Boulder. As described further on pages 18 and 38, these institutions
are foundational to the economic and cultural well being of the city.

2. Support legislation necessary to seek federal assistance for flood disaster
recovery needs and expenses described further on page 30.

3. Continue to brief federal officials on the city’s municipalization efforts and
seek support as necessary, while positioning Boulder as a national pilot for
building a resilient electricity system, adopting distributed generation and
implementing aggressive demand-side initiatives, as explained further on page
9 of the agenda.

Agenda Item 3D     Page 14

Attachment A

Packet Page 55



 

9 
 
 
 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND COMMUNITY RESILIENCE 
 

• PRESERVE AND SUPPORT THE ABILITY OF LOCAL 
GOVERNMENTS TO ENGAGE IN CLIMATE ACTION EFFORTS 

 
Preserve and support the ability of local governments to develop and implement effective 
energy strategies that reduce environmental impacts by:  
 

o Forming their own energy utilities;  
o Enhancing the right of local governments to condemn electric assets at fair market 

value while opposing utility efforts to seek lost revenues  
o Securing access to information from regulated utilities of designated 

undergrounding funds and communitywide energy information relevant to climate 
action programs;  

o Facilitating local government purchases of street lighting; and, 
o Funding local government energy efficiency and renewable energy programs.  

 

• FACILITATE ACCESS TO RENEWABLE ENERGY 
 
Facilitate access to renewable energy by:  
 

• Allowing for aggregation of residential or commercial electric customers in municipal 
purchase of renewable energy on behalf of these groups of customers (a.k.a. 
community choice aggregation);  

• Reinstating the federal production tax credit for wind energy which was allowed to 
expire at the end of 2014; 

• Extending the 30 percent federal investment tax credit for solar energy for residential 
projects and maintaining the 30 percent tax credit for commercially-owned projects 
(including projects owned by commercial developers but installed on residential 
rooftops);  

• Allowing mobile home owners to receive the same rebates and incentives for 
installation of solar panels as are available to other homeowners;  

• Establishing a small state level carbon tax with proceeds used to fund renewable 
energy projects as well as transmission and distribution system improvements that 
enable additional deployment of renewables and energy efficiency measures; 

• Supporting federal policies that establish a price on carbon emissions domestically as 
well as internationally;  

• Removing the 120 percent cap on net metered generation; and, 
• Allowing customer access to diverse solar options through a variety of well-designed 

and equitable policies (including net metering, feed-in tariffs, “value of solar” tariffs, 
or minimum bills) that fully recognize the value of local solar.  

 
  

Agenda Item 3D     Page 15

Attachment A

Packet Page 56



 

10 
 
 
 
 

• EXPAND THE DEVELOPMENT OF CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION 
STRATEGIES 

 
The city understands that the early impacts of climate change have already appeared and 
that scientists believe further impacts are inevitable, regardless of decreases to future global 
greenhouse gas emissions. In addition, the city recognizes that decisions we make today 
about land use, infrastructure, health, water management, agriculture, biodiversity and 
housing will have lasting consequences. It is therefore important to begin planning now for 
the impacts of climate change in the future. Consequently, the city supports legislation that 
expands the development of climate change adaptation strategies such as those that initiate, 
foster, and enhance existing efforts to improve economic and social well-being, public safety 
and security, public health, environmental justice, species and habitat protection, and 
ecological function. 
 

• ENHANCE CUSTOMER ENERGY CHOICE 
 
Enhance the energy choices available to customers by:  
 

o Making any necessary changes to the community solar gardens law (HB10-1342) 
to allow for its successful implementation, especially with regard to facilitating 
formation of smaller (500 kW and under) solar gardens, and enabling local 
ownership of wind and solar gardens above and beyond ERP requirements and 
without incentives, if a community chooses;  

o Enacting time-of-day electricity price signals that would, among other things, 
promote charging of vehicles at night;  

o Requiring statewide lighting, appliance and other equipment efficiency standards 
and/or incentives, as appropriate, for efficient technologies;  

o Facilitating peer-to-peer customer sharing of electricity generation through 
strategies like enhanced virtual net metering or microgrid development;  

o Allowing local governments to develop regional energy networks that implement 
energy efficiency programs with direct funding from utilities; and, 

o Precluding utilities from imposing excessive charges onto their customers for net 
metering of distributed renewable energy generation, customer-sited combined 
heat and power systems, or on-site energy recapture systems. 

 

• INCREASE PUBLIC ACCESS TO ENERGY DATA 
 
Increase the public’s access to energy data by:  

o Standardizing regulated utility filings to increase transparency at the PUC and 
requiring all PUC discovery to be publicly available and filed in machine-readable 
formats; 

o Promoting best practices related to energy data, such as adoption of the Green 
Button Program by regulated utilities;  

Agenda Item 3D     Page 16

Attachment A

Packet Page 57



 

11 
 
 
 
 

o Facilitating the development of a third-party demand-side management program 
implementer;  

o Facilitating the development of an energy data center or energy statistics branch 
within a state energy agency to produce data sets related to research and 
policymaking; 

o Enabling regulated utilities to provide aggregated whole-building data to building 
owners and property managers for use in building benchmarking and energy 
efficiency improvements; and, 

o Creating an exception to the Colorado Open Records Act that confirms the ability 
of local governments to protect customers’ energy data when they participate in 
local energy efficiency programs. 

 

• SUPPORT ENERGY UTILITY AND REGULATORY ENHANCEMENTS 
 
Support energy utility and regulatory enhancements by:  
 

o Requiring utilities to file grid modernization plans with commitments to 
distribution grid upgrades and targets that facilitate energy efficiency, renewable 
energy, and grid-connected energy storage;  

o Changing the Public Utilities Commission regulations to encourage investments 
in conservation by replacing the current focus on minimization of energy rates to 
one focusing on minimization of the consumer’s total energy bill;  

o Unbundling rates to clearly differentiate fixed and variable energy costs;  
o Facilitating the use of investor–owned transmission lines at fair and reasonable 

prices to convey renewable energy from multiple sources (a.k.a. retail wheeling). 
o Encouraging the Public Utilities Commission to consider comprehensive 

performance-based regulation for utilities, which would compensate them based 
on providing customer choice and satisfaction, reliability and resilience, and 
reduced carbon emissions, as opposed to applying traditional cost of service 
concepts. 
 

The city also supports legislation similar to HB12-1234 that would clarify that, for purposes 
of the rules governing intervention in administrative hearings before the Colorado Public 
Utilities Commission (PUC), customers of a business regulated by the PUC qualify as 
persons who "will be interested in or affected by" the PUC's order. 
 
In 2015, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) finalized rules designed to reduce 
carbon emissions from coal-fired power plants across the country. Known collectively as the 
Clean Power Plan, they require each state to develop a plan to meet new source performance 
standards and emission guidelines for both new and existing electric generating units and to 
submit those plans to the EPA by the summer of 2016. The city supports Governor 
Hickenlooper’s intentions to implement this plan through the Colorado Department of Public 
Health and Environment. The city will oppose any state legislation aimed at undermining 
this implementation, including laws that would create a requirement for General Assembly 
approval of the state’s plan. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 17

Attachment A

Packet Page 58



 

12 
 
 
 
 

• INCREASE ENERGY EFFICIENCY 
 

• Increase energy efficiency by establishing high performance residential and 
commercial building codes. At the state level, encourage the adoption of at least 
the 2012 version of the International Energy Conservation Code (IECC). 

• Allow local governments to develop regional energy networks that implement 
energy efficiency programs 

• Facilitate development of a third-party demand-side management program 
implementer 

• Facilitate the development of outcome-based and net zero energy codes. 
• Reinstate the energy-efficient commercial and residential buildings federal tax 

deductions that expired at the end of 2013. 
 

• ENCOURAGE MORE WIDESPREAD ADOPTION OF ELECTRIC AND 
EFFICIENT MOTORIZED VEHICLES 

 
Metropolitan Denver and the northern Front Range were classified as a "marginal" ozone 
nonattainment area by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency effective July 20, 2012. 
The city supports legislation that would decrease the amount of air pollutants, including 
greenhouse gas emissions, resulting from the use of motorized vehicles. While the primary 
approach will always be to encourage alternative modes of transportation that reduce vehicle 
miles travelled, the city will also support legislative change that reduce energy use and 
emissions of air pollutants from vehicles, specifically legislation that:  
 

o Modifies existing state tax credit for electric vehicles making them transferable in 
order to create new financing opportunities (e.g., leases, performance contracting, 
etc) and/or to allow public sector agencies to take advantage of those credits (i.e., 
100% refundable in the absence of tax liability); 

o Uses existing “Alternative Fuels Colorado Program” state funding to ensure the 
development of a network of strategically located public fast-charging stations 
along the state’s major corridors, irrespective of whether they are co-located with 
compressed natural gas stations; 

o Modifies current “HOV Exemption Program,” which provides owners of 2,000 low-
emission and energy efficient vehicles free access to high-occupancy-toll lanes, to 
limit the exemption to three years per vehicles and to allocate the new permits to 
only the owners of the most energy efficient vehicles, which should be updated 
periodically. 

o Requires the state’s vehicle registration database to be structured to allow local 
governments to have access to fuel efficiency information of the vehicles registered 
in their jurisdiction;   

o Provides Colorado counties the option to implement a revenue-neutral system that 
imposes higher vehicle registration fees on the purchase of less efficient vehicles 
and rebates on the purchase of more efficient vehicles (assuming social equity 
concerns can be concerned);  

Agenda Item 3D     Page 18

Attachment A

Packet Page 59



 

13 
 
 
 
 

o Supports the adoption of the next phase (post-2025) of federal vehicle efficiency 
standards for light duty vehicles and of the next phase (post 2016) of federal 
efficiency standards for medium and heavy duty vehicles; 

o Requires a percentage of vehicles sold in Colorado to meet “zero emission vehicle 
standards,” as enacted in California (requires 15% of vehicles sales to be ZEV by 
2025) and subsequently adopted by nine other states;  

o Increases state biofuel infrastructure and develop a statewide biofuels strategy, 
and;  

o Encourages the proliferation of public charging stations for electric vehicles by 
requiring new parking lots and parking structures to provide a minimum number 
of public charging stations. 
 

• SUPPORT REFORM OF PROPERTY ASSESSED CLEAN ENERGY 
(PACE) FINANCE STATUTES TO ALLOW FOR RESUMPTION OF 
BOULDER COUNTY’S CLIMATESMART LOAN PROGRAM (CSLP) 

 
The city has been an active supporter of Boulder County’s PACE finance program, the CSLP. 
Many city residents have taken advantage of the CSLP to secure low-interest loans to make 
energy efficiency and renewable energy upgrades to their homes. However, actions taken in 
2010 by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and the Federal Housing Finance Agency have forced 
local governments across the country, including Boulder County, to suspend their PACE 
financing programs. The city supports reversal or resolution of these federal actions, either 
through legislation or regulation, to allow PACE programs to again move forward. If such 
federal action is taken, the city would also urge the Colorado General Assembly to quickly 
take any action necessary to conform Colorado’s PACE enabling statutes with the new 
federal requirements.  
 

• PROMOTE WASTE REDUCTION AND DIVERSION EFFORTS 
  
In Colorado, there are currently no statewide minimum waste diversion goals. In addition, 
there exist artificially inexpensive landfill tip fees and no minimum recycled content 
standards. This often makes the most environmentally responsible management practices 
like source reduction and recycling and composting cost prohibitive. The city supports 
statewide legislation that would: 
 

o Encourage product stewardship and take-back programs (a.k.a. “extended 
producer responsibility”);  

o Ban specific materials;   
o Require post-consumer minimum content standards for product manufacture;  
o Implement statewide or regional landfill tip fee surcharges to be used for waste 

reduction;  
o Create tax credits to encourage source reduction, recycling and composting, and 

markets for recycled materials, and;  

Agenda Item 3D     Page 19

Attachment A

Packet Page 60



 

14 
 
 
 
 

o Establish a statewide waste diversion goal structured to include incentives and 
assistance programs to spur waste diversion state-wide, and encourage additional 
resource recovery.  

 
While the city opposes "waste to energy" technologies involving trash incineration or 
incentivizing landfilling for the sake of energy creation, the city supports energy capture 
from anaerobic digestive technologies at composting and wastewater treatment plants. The 
city also supports energy production from the organic matter portions of the waste stream 
that would otherwise end up in a landfill if not used to make energy or energy products.  
Examples of this type of beneficial use include woody construction and demolition waste and 
yard or food waste that is not able to be otherwise diverted from landfilling and can be used 
to produce electricity or liquid fuel components. The city, however, views all energy 
production uses as last in priority to other beneficial uses such as composting, recycling, and 
re-purposing. 
 
The city also has specific concerns about the environmental hazards posed by electronic 
waste in landfills. Therefore, the city supports legislation that requires extended producer 
responsibility that is regulated to be environmentally and socially acceptable. Finally, the 
city would support repeal of the prohibition contained in state law (C.R.S. Section 25-17-104) 
on local government bans on “use or sale of specific types of plastic materials or products” or 
restrictions on “containers . . . for any consumer products.” 
 

• SUPPORT IMPROVEMENTS TO THE COLORADO OIL AND GAS 
CONSERVATION COMMISSION’S OVERSIGHT OF OIL AND GAS 
DRILLING AND PRESERVATION OF LOCAL CONTROL TO ADOPT 
REGULATIONS, MORATORIUMS OR OTHER LIMITS AS 
NECESSARY 

 
Oil and gas drilling is an industrial activity that is increasing in Colorado and within the 
northern Front Range, and which poses significant risks and potential adverse impacts, 
These include damage to air and water quality, scenic values, property values, public 
infrastructure, and public health and that can significantly affect both local quality of life 
and economic prosperity.  
 
There is growing public concern about the proximity of oil and gas development to 
communities and other sensitive resources and about industry techniques, such as hydraulic 
fracturing (or “fracking”), used to access oil and gas resources. Fracking is a process whereby 
fluids are injected at high pressure into underground rock formations to blast them open and 
enable new or increased exploitation of fossil fuel resources. Chemicals typically used in the 
fracking process include diesel fuel, benzene, industrial solvents, and other carcinogens and 
endocrine disrupters. According to the Colorado Oil and Gas Conservation Commission 
(COGCC), nearly all of the more than 51,000 oil and gas wells operating in Colorado are 
fracked.  
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 20

Attachment A

Packet Page 61



 

15 
 
 
 
 

There is increasing evidence and growing concern that oil and gas operations emit toxic air 
pollutants, volatile organic compounds that cause ground-level ozone, and potentially large 
amounts of methane, one of the most potent greenhouse gasses. Further, according to the 
COGCC, since 2010, there have been more than 1,500 spills in Colorado – an average of 500 
each year – and more than 20% of these spills have contaminated water supplies. 
Accordingly, the city believes that fracking should not be an exempted activity under the 
Clean Water Act or Safe Drinking Water Act or other federal environmental laws. 
 
In July of 1993 the City of Boulder adopted its own regulations to govern oil and gas 
operations and production on city open space lands. These regulations require an application 
to the city manager, and hearings conducted by the Open Space Board of Trustees and City 
Council. Since the adoption of these regulations in 1993, no one has applied to conduct new 
drilling operations on Open Space lands. These regulations, however, do not address the 
issue of fracking or other emerging concerns about oil and gas impacts, nor do they address 
any potential drilling that might be proposed within city limits on non-open space lands. 
 
Boulder County and many of the communities surrounding Boulder are facing increased oil 
and gas drilling activity and are in various stages of adopting moratoria or crafting new rules 
to address potential risks and adverse impacts from fracking and other drilling activities. 
The State of Colorado argues that state authority preempts local rules. In addition, the oil 
and gas industry sued Longmont challenging a ban on fracking within city limits that was 
adopted by Longmont citizens by a 60% vote. A decision in favor of industry is currently 
being appealed by Longmont. Furthermore, several multi-year studies are underway—
including one by the University of Colorado at Boulder—to analyze air, water and public 
health impacts of fracking, the results of which will not be out for several years. In response, 
the Boulder City Council adopted a year-long moratorium in June 2013 on processing any 
new permits for oil and gas exploration or development within the city limits or on our city 
open space. The council subsequently placed an initiative on the November ballot to extend 
this moratorium until June 2018, while waiting for the results of these pending studies and 
lawsuits; voters passed this ballot initiative (2H) by over 78%. 
 
The City of Boulder believes that local governments have both the right and responsibility to 
take action to protect the public health and well being of its residents as well as the 
environment. The city supports the state setting minimum standards and best management 
practices for the oil and gas industry (such as those suggested by the International Energy 
Agency on this subject, entitled “Golden Rules for a Golden Age of Gas”), but also believes 
that local jurisdictions must be allowed to adopt strong rules as needed to address local 
concerns and conditions. To that end, the city supports legislation that clarifies and 
strengthens the authority of local governments to use their existing land use authorities to 
manage and tailor oil and gas activities within their borders to ensure public health, safety 
and welfare, and to protect the environment. The city also opposes legislation that would 
preempt local authority to establish bans, temporary moratoriums, or to establish and 
enforce regulations over such fracking operations.  
 
In addition, the city supports legislation that would address specific oil and gas drilling 
impacts, including legislation to: 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 21

Attachment A

Packet Page 62



 

16 
 
 
 
 

 
• Better protect homes and communities by increasing the minimum distance 

between wells and occupied buildings from the current 350’ setback to 1000’, 
1,500’ for schools, giving local governments an effective role in controlling the pace 
and footprint of development in their jurisdictions;  

• Lift the current prohibition on local governments passing along the cost of 
inspections to industry.  

• Adopt statewide protections for water including: requiring setbacks from all 
streams and lakes; requiring baseline and periodic water monitoring at all drilling 
sites; raising casing and cementing standards to ensure wellbore integrity; and 
requiring operators to formulate a water management plan and recycle 
wastewater before acquiring new supplies. 

• Better protect air quality at and near oil and gas operations and decrease 
greenhouse gas emissions by requiring strict controls on fugitive emissions from 
oil and gas facilities, including adopting the latest technology in leak detection and 
repair. 

•  Address the dual mandate and composition of the COGCC to make its primary 
role the regulation of the oil and gas industry to protect the public health, safety 
and the environment. 

• Support further study of air, water and public health impacts oil and gas 
operations and ways to mitigate or avoid impacts. 
 

• FEDERAL AND STATE SUPPORT FOR BUILDING COMMUNITY 
RESILIENCE 

 
In December 2013, Boulder was selected as one of 32 inaugural cities to participate in 100 
Resilient Cities, an exciting new initiative pioneered by the Rockefeller Foundation that is 
committed to building resilience in diverse communities worldwide. Resilience and adaptation 
are real challenges Boulder is wrestling with as the community recovers from historic flooding 
that created severe and lasting impacts. This follows just three years after experiencing (then) 
Colorado’s most financially destructive wildfire in state history. These experiences and a long 
history of climate mitigation initiatives have taught the city that resilience strategies involve more 
than managing or recovering from disruptive events. Resilience as the ability to “bounce back” is 
insufficient. To mobilize the resources and community support necessary to significantly increase 
our social, economic and ecological resilience, we must formulate a compelling vision of the 
future towards which our efforts allow us to “bounce forward”. 

Over the next two years, we will be working to develop a resilience strategy that will build on past 
successes and look to new integrated planning to ensure a thriving future for our 
community. With Rockefeller Foundation support, the city has hired its first Chief Resilience 
Officer to lead the coordination and development of broad reaching resilience strategy. 

In order for Boulder and other communities around the nation to implement these strategies, 
they will require coordination and financial and technical support from the state and federal 
governments. The city will support legislation that furthers such goals.  
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 22

Attachment A

Packet Page 63



 

17 
 
 
 
 

DEMOCRACY AND GOVERNANCE 

• SUPPORT FOR AN AMENDMENT TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION 
ABOLISHING CORPORATE PERSONHOOD 

 
On November 1, 2011, the residents of Boulder voted, by a 73 percent majority, to approve 
Ballot Question No. 2H which called for “reclaiming democracy from the corrupting effects of 
corporate influence by amending the United States Constitution to establish that: 1) Only 
human beings, not corporations, are entitled to constitutional rights; and 2) Money is not 
speech, and therefore regulating political contributions and spending is not equivalent to 
limiting political speech.” 
 
The City of Boulder will support state and federal legislation similar to SJR12-1034, or 
action by other intergovernmental partners, that furthers efforts to amend the U.S. 
Constitution with language that captures the sentiment, if not the exact language, expressed 
by Ballot Question No. 2H. This includes support for the joint resolution that was introduced 
in the U.S. Senate on December 8, 2011 by Senator Bernie Sanders to amend the 
Constitution to exclude corporations from First Amendment rights to spend money on 
Political Campaigns (a.k.a. the Saving American Democracy Amendment).  

• SUPPORT GENERAL ASSEMBLY ACTION TO SUBMIT TO THE 
COLORADO ELECTORATE A REFERRED MEASURE TO REFORM 
THE CURRENT PROCESS FOR CITIZEN-INITIATED 
CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY AMENDMENTS BY ALTERING 
THE SIGNATURE COLLECTION REQUIREMENTS AND REQUIRING 
A SUPERMAJORITY VOTER APPROVAL FOR CONSTITUTIONAL 
AMENDMENTS, EXCEPT FOR THOSE MEASURES THAT LOOK TO 
AMEND PREVIOUS VOTER-APPROVED CONSTITUTIONAL 
AMENDMENTS; AND REQUIRING FOR A TIME A SUPERMAJORITY 
APPROVAL BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY TO CHANGE CITIZEN-
INITIATED STATUTORY AMENDMENTS  

 
Over the past 25 years, as a result of its low threshold requirements, Colorado has 
experienced a surge in citizen-initiated ballot measures. In the last 18 years alone, the 
constitution has been amended 35 times, adding detailed and sometimes conflicting 
provisions with far-reaching consequences. The city supports state legislation similar to 
HCR12-1003 that would reform the citizen initiative process to make it more difficult to 
amend the state constitution while providing assurance to Colorado citizens that statutory 
amendments will be respected by state elected officials. 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 23

Attachment A

Packet Page 64



 

18 
 
 
 
 

ECONOMIC VITALITY 

• PROTECT CORE PROVISIONS OF THE COLORADO URBAN 
RENEWAL LAW, WHICH PROVIDE EFFECTIVE REDEVELOPMENT 
TOOLS FOR MUNICIPALITIES SUCH AS TAX INCREMENT 
FINANCING AND EMINENT DOMAIN  

 
Unlike many communities that contain vast areas of undeveloped land planned for future 
commercial and residential use, Boulder's future economic sustainability will depend on 
effective and ongoing re-use of existing developed property. The majority of future 
redevelopment in Boulder will be completed by private entities and through private 
investment. However, in rare circumstances, and based on the requirements of the urban 
renewal law, projects that demonstrate a compelling community need may only be achievable 
through a public/private urban renewal partnership. Municipalities should retain the 
capacity to facilitate revitalization of their urbanized areas.  
 
In 2015, HB15-1348 was enacted into law to promote an equitable financial contribution 
among affected public bodies in connection with urban redevelopment project. In 2016, 
legislation is expected to be introduced that is consistent with the intent of HB15-1348 but 
that addresses perceived technical, implementation or interpretation issues with how the bill 
was drafted. Specifically, the 2016 effort will aim to distinguish between urban renewal 
projects that are materially affected by a substantial modification and those that are 
unaffected. The city anticipates no impacts from such bill and, accordingly, to merely monitor 
that legislative effort.  
 

• SUPPORT CONTINUED FUNDING AND SUPPORT FOR THE 
FEDERALLY FUNDED LABS LOCATED IN BOULDER  

 
The city’s economic vitality policy strongly supports the federally funded laboratories that 
are located in the city, specifically:  
 

o Cooperative Institute for Research in Environmental Sciences (CIRES) 
o Joint Institute for Laboratory Astrophysics (JILA) 
o Laboratory for Atmospheric and Space Physics (LASP) 
o National Center for Atmospheric Research (NCAR) 
o National Ecological Observatory Network (NEON) 
o National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) 
o National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) 

o Earth System Research Laboratory (ESRL) 
o National Geophysical Data Center (DGDC) 
o Office of Oceanic and Atmospheric Research (OAR) 
o National Weather Service (NWS) 
o National Environmental Satellite, Data and Information Service (NESDIS) 
o Space Weather Prediction Center (SWPC) 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 24

Attachment A

Packet Page 65



 

19 
 
 
 
 

o National Telecommunications and Information Administration (NTIA) 
o University Corporation for Atmospheric Research (UCAR) 
o UNAVCO 
o United States Geological Survey (USGS) 

 
The labs, the research they conduct, and the researchers and staff they employ are vitally 
important to the City of Boulder, Boulder County, the Denver metropolitan region, the state, 
and the nation as a whole. The research funding they receive is redistributed throughout 
Colorado and beyond in the form of discretionary employee income, purchases of goods and 
services from suppliers, and contractual agreements with universities and private industry. 
Technologies they’ve created have led to technology transfer and spin-off companies.   
 
In the Boulder metro area alone, federal research labs employed over 3,539 people in 2012. 
The NOAA, NIST and NTIA labs accounted for over one-third of this employment. These are 
high-skilled, highly educated employees whose average annual compensation in 2012 was 
$107,900. In August 2013, CU’s Leeds School of Business released a study entitled, “CO-
LABS Economic Impact Study: Economic and Fiscal Impacts of Federally Funded Research 
Facilities”. According to the report, the net economic benefit to Boulder County of the federal 
labs, combined with other federally funded research laboratories in Colorado, totaled $743.2 
million in FY 2012. 
 
Boulder highly values the scientific contributions the labs and their employees have made to 
the entire nation, as well as the economic impact they have on our community. These 
institutions work closely with scientific researchers from the University of Colorado in 
Boulder and Colorado State University in nearby Ft. Collins. This synergy of scientific 
knowledge is found nowhere else in the United States.  
 
Just as the labs generate direct benefits (employment, local spending) and associated indirect 
activity through an economic multiplier effect, the opposite holds true for funding reductions. 
According to CU’s Leeds School of Business, for every job lost at these federal laboratories, 
an additional 1.17 jobs will be lost in Colorado. For every $1 million in funding cuts to the 
labs, an additional $1.13 million in economic impact will be lost. Perhaps even more 
troubling, our national capacity for research and innovation will be damaged by lay-offs of 
scientists and researchers, jeopardizing new advanced technologies, future businesses 
formed to commercialize developing technologies, and our global competitiveness.   
 

• SUPPORT FACILITATING THE ABILITY OF MUNICIPALITIES TO 
ENTER INTO REVENUE SHARING AGREEMENTS   

 
The city believes that there are a number of shortcomings associated with the current 
reliance municipalities have on sales tax generation. These include revenue-driven 
development detached from community land use goals, the use of incentives to capture 
development at the expense of municipal budgets, and sales tax revenue volatility resulting 
from counterproductive competition of regional retail outlets. In order to address these and 
other limitations, the City of Boulder, in conjunction with the Boulder County Consortium of 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 25

Attachment A

Packet Page 66



 

20 
 
 
 
 

Cities, is exploring the possibility of a revenue sharing agreement with one or more of its 
municipal neighbors. The significant challenge of such an undertaking would be diminished 
if the state were to provide mechanisms to encourage such agreements. One possibility would 
be for the state to establish a task force to evaluate the possibility of exploring revenue 
sharing as it may relate to the creation of a service tax or the removal of barriers to collecting 
Internet sales tax. 
 

HOUSING 

• OPPOSE FEDERAL EFFORTS TO REDUCE APPROPRIATIONS FOR 
HUD PUBLIC HOUSING AND SECTION 8 PROGRAMS WHICH 
PROVIDE RENTAL ASSISTANCE TO LOW-INCOME HOUSEHOLDS  

In the continuum of housing options for Boulder citizens, public housing and Section 8 
vouchers provide a unique source of safe and affordable homes for approximately 1,000 
families. Public housing and voucher assistance serve the most low income families in 
Boulder, 95 percent of whom have incomes below $14,000 annually and pay an average of 
less than $300 per month in rent. There are very few, if any, market options for these 
families who depend entirely on the availability of federal assistance in order to live with 
dignity and assurance of shelter. 

• OPPOSE FEDERAL REDUCTIONS TO COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
BLOCK GRANT PROGRAM AND HOME INVESTMENT 
PARTNERSHIPS  

 
Boulder has participated in the CDBG program since 1975, and funds have been used in the 
past for a variety of projects ranging from assistance to nonprofit agencies that provide 
services to the city’s low and moderate income residents, to construction of the Pearl Street 
Mall, and renovation of the Chautauqua Auditorium.  Boulder has also participated in the 
HOME program since 1992 and program funds have supported the production and 
preservation of affordable housing.  For the past nine years Boulder has been the lead agency 
for a regional HOME Consortium including all of Boulder and Broomfield Counties.  Half of 
the HOME funds received by Boulder are used in Boulder and half in the other Consortium 
communities. In 2015, the city received $704,991 in CDBG funding, a 31% decrease over 5 
years, and $866,115 in HOME funding, a 36% decrease in five years, from the U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development. The CDBG and HOME programs allow the 
city to strengthen public infrastructure, increase supply of affordable housing, and improve 
the quality of life for the city's low and moderate income residents.  
 

• SUPPORT FOR STATE HOUSING TRUST FUND  
 
The city is supportive of legislative efforts that would lead to creation and financing of a 
state affordable housing trust fund.  One example is the mechanism that was put in place 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 26

Attachment A

Packet Page 67



 

21 
 
 
 
 

through HB14-1017, which created a state low income housing tax credit operated through 
the Colorado Housing and Finance Authority (CHFA). The program is to sunset and requires 
legislative action in 2016 to continue. In the last two years, nearly 2,000 affordable housing 
units were developed in various municipalities throughout the state using state tax credits. 
This program is another tool for the state to develop affordable housing in communities. 
 

• SUPPORT LEGISLATION THAT HELPS ADDRESS THE POWER 
IMBALANCE BETWEEN OWNERS OF MOBILE HOMES AND 
OWNERS OF MOBILE HOME PARKS 

 
It is the policy of the city to encourage affordable housing ownership, including 
manufactured housing.   
The following are examples of the changes that the city may support to mobile home owners: 
    

1. Create an enhanced enforcement mechanism for the provisions of the Colorado 
Mobile Park Act and associated funding source; 

2. Require a minimum one-year lease; 
3. Prohibit changes in park rules during term of lease; 
4. Create an opportunity to purchase a mobile home park by residents or non-

profit organizations; 
5. Expanded (i.e., 6 month) notification requirement if mobile home park is to be 

closed.  
 

HUMAN SERVICES/HUMAN RIGHTS 
 

• SUPPORT COMPREHENSIVE FEDERAL IMMIGRATION REFORM  
 
The City of Boulder has been, and remains, committed to the protection of civil and human 
rights for all people. It believes in the dignity of all Boulder residents, regardless of 
immigration status, and recognizes the importance of their many contributions to the social, 
religious, cultural and economic life of the city. 
 
The failures of the U.S. immigration system have had profound impacts within the Boulder 
community. These include very young students losing motivation to excel in their learning 
because of knowledge that they lack affordable higher educational opportunities and the 
existence of an underclass, climate of fear, informal economy and work force inequities. 
 
Accordingly, the city welcomes and encourages cooperation at all levels of government to 
work together to support swift and responsible legislative action to produce equitable, 
humane, effective and comprehensive federal immigration reform that provides for: 
 

1. Enforceable immigration laws; 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 27

Attachment A

Packet Page 68



 

22 
 
 
 
 

2. A rational and humane approach to the undocumented population; 
3. A simplified visa system which allows for family unification of those who have been 

separated by the legal immigration backlog process and which provides for legal 
status for the existing immigrant workforce; 

4. A rate and system of controlled immigration that matches the needs of our economy; 
5. Social integration for our existing immigrant workforce and their families; 
6. Recognizing employers as key allies in implementing immigration policy and 

enhancing enforcement of labor laws to remove the market advantage that leads to 
exploiting immigration status to pay lower wages, avoid taxes and violate labor laws; 

7. A system which ultimately aids in border control, and; 
8. Bilateral partnerships with other countries to promote economic development that 

will reduce the flow of immigrants. 
 
The city also supports federal legislation, such as the often introduced Development, Relief, 
and Education for Alien Minors Act (The “DREAM Act”), that would qualify students for 
immigration relief if they have resided in the United States for several consecutive years, 
arrived in the U.S. as young children and demonstrated good moral character; put such 
students on a pathway to citizenship if they graduate from high school or obtain a GED and 
complete at least 2 years towards a 4-year degree or serve in the U.S. military for at least 
two years, and; eliminate a federal provision that discourages states from providing in-state 
tuition to their undocumented immigrant student residents, thus restoring full authority to 
the states to determine state college and university fees. Similarly, the city supports 
legislation, like HB14-1124, which would allow instate tuition for American Indian Tribe 
members with ties to Colorado. 
 
Finally, the city supports legislation like the Uniting American Families Act, which would 
ensure that all Americans, regardless of sexual orientation, receive equal treatment under 
immigration laws. The bill specifically would have allowed partners and children of U.S. 
citizens and lawful permanent residents to obtain lawful permanent resident status the 
same way heterosexual spouses can.  It would also allow for family-based immigration for 
gay and lesbian Americans and the reunification of families, which strengthens our 
communities. 
 

• PROTECT UNACCOMPANIED CHILDREN IMMIGRATING INTO THE 
UNITED STATES  

 
In 2014, an unprecedented number of unaccompanied minors fled their home countries in 
Central America to seek refuge in the United States, creating a humanitarian crisis and 
requiring immediate action by the Administration and Congress of the United States.  Many 
of the U.S. laws and procedures regarding unaccompanied minors are focused on the welfare 
of the child, rather than detention, and the United States Department of Health and Human 
Services (HHS) must place the children in the “least restrictive setting” possible. Boulder 
City Council urges the President and Congress of the United States to adopt immigration 
policies that ensure that unaccompanied minors receive appropriate child welfare services, 
legal support and expeditious reunification with their families already in the United States. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 28

Attachment A

Packet Page 69



 

23 
 
 
 
 

• SUPPORT THE NECESSARY FUNDING FOR STATE OFFICES TO 
PROVIDE DRIVERS LICENSES UNDER THE “COLORADO ROAD 
AND COMMUNITY SAFETY ACT”  

 
In 2013, Colorado enacted SB 13-251, the “Colorado Road and Community Safety Act,” which 
allowed an estimated 150,000 undocumented Colorado residents, who cannot provide proof of 
legal presence in the United States, to apply for driver’s licenses and ID cards. When the 
program went into effect the state became the 10th in the country to license undocumented 
immigrants. Demand has been strong, but has been met with long waits and limited D.M.V. 
appointments. The city believes that licensing immigrants makes the roads safer by 
educating drivers and making them likelier to carry insurance and supports efforts to 
provide the necessary funding to allow state offices to meet demand.  
 

• FURTHER THE RIGHTS OF ALL PEOPLE REGARDLESS OF THEIR 
ACTUAL OR PERCEIVED SEXUAL ORIENTATION OR GENDER 
VARIANCE STATUS 

 
On May 18, 2004, Boulder’s City Council adopted Resolution No. 947. This resolution affirms 
the city’s commitment to the protection of civil rights for all people as outlined in the city’s 
human rights ordinance. Furthermore, the resolution recognized the many contributions that 
the city’s gay, lesbian, bisexual and transgender residents have provided that have enhanced 
the lives of all in the community. Finally, the resolution declared support for repealing or 
legislatively challenging the Colorado state law prohibiting the issuance of same sex 
marriage licenses.   
 
Consistent with the city’s long history of support for the equal rights of all people regardless 
of their actual or perceived sexual orientation or gender variance status, the city supports 
the Employment Non-Discrimination Act (ENDA), legislation that has been proposed in 
every Congress since 1994 which would prohibit employment discrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation or gender identity. With no clear federal law prohibiting workplace 
discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation or gender identity, many lesbian, gay, 
bisexual, and transgender workers live with uncertainty and fear about whether they'll be 
able to keep a job and care for their families. Without a comprehensive federal law like 
ENDA, these workers lack antidiscrimination protections in a majority of states. 
 

• INCREASE THE MINIMUM WAGE  
 
In his 2014 State of the Union address, President Obama called on Congress to raise the 
federal minimum wage from $7.25 to $10.10 an hour. Colorado's minimum wage is currently 
$8 per hour. The Economic Policy Institute estimates that raising the federal minimum wage 
to $10.10 by 2016 would: 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 29

Attachment A

Packet Page 70



 

24 
 
 
 
 

▪ Increase wages for 269,000 working Coloradans who currently make the minimum 
wage; 

▪ Raise wages for another 141,000 Coloradans who would see their salaries adjusted 
upward to reflect a new pay scale; 

▪ Elevate all affected Coloradans' total earnings by $578.1 million each year, 
contributing to workers' spending power; 

▪ Support 217,000 children in Colorado; and, 
▪ Increase Colorado's GDP by $366 million and create 1,500 full-time jobs over three 

years. 
 
Raising the minimum wage also would reduce Coloradans' reliance on safety nets like 
Medicaid, the Children's Health Insurance Program and the Supplemental Nutrition 
Assistance Program (SNAP). In Colorado, raising the minimum wage would decrease SNAP 
enrollment by more than 42,300 people and save Colorado $40.7 million. Two-thirds of 
minimum wage workers are women. Women, minorities, and families with children would be 
among those to benefit most from a higher minimum wage. Nearly 17,000 Colorado veterans 
would also see higher wages. 
 
For these reasons, the city supports change at either the state or federal level that would 
increase the state’s minimum wage to $10.10. 
 
The city would also support efforts to amend Colorado law as necessary so as to allow 
municipalities to establish their own minimum wage laws higher than the state or federal 
minimum wage. 
 
 

• OPPOSE FURTHER CUTS TO STATE FUNDED HEALTH AND 
HUMAN SERVICE PROGRAMS, ESPECIALLY THOSE THAT ARE 
PREVENTIVE IN NATURE 

 
In recent years the state made drastic cuts to services that help provide a safety net to 
thousands of city residents. This includes services to very low income residents, children and 
families, mentally ill, disabled and people without health insurance. The city urges the 
General Assembly to avoid making further cuts to those essential services that serve the 
city’s most vulnerable, especially intervention and prevention services that keep people out of 
crisis. 
 

INTERNAL ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 

• PROTECT WORKERS’ COMPENSATION SYSTEM    
 
The city’s self-insurance program is a cost efficient method to provide workers’ compensation. 
The workers’ compensation system serves a dual purpose, providing benefits promptly to 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 30

Attachment A

Packet Page 71



 

25 
 
 
 
 

injured employees in a cost-effective manner and minimizing costly litigation. Consequently, 
the city will support legislation that improves the administrative efficiency of the State of 
Colorado’s Division of Workers’ Compensation. 
 
State intervention or taxation can negatively impact the city. Consequently, the city will 
oppose legislation that increases insurance premium costs to employers, adds administrative 
burdens or taxes to self-insurance programs, promotes litigation, or removes existing off-sets 
to workers’ compensation benefits. 
 
The city also opposes efforts to expand “presumptive disease” claims associated with workers’ 
compensation insurance. Presumptive disease claims are a change in the philosophy guiding 
workers’ compensation insurance. They presume an existing or previous employee obtained 
the disease from work associated with that person’s employer unless the employer can prove 
otherwise. The 2007 legislative session enacted legislation that requires that, under the 
Workers’ Compensation Act of Colorado, if a firefighter contracts cancer of the brain, skin, 
digestive system, hematological system or genitourinary system, the condition be deemed to 
have occurred within the scope of employment unless the employer can prove that the 
covered cancer did not occur within the scope of employment. This is a particularly difficult 
proposition for employers as many diseases have a genetic component and cannot be 
definitively detected in baseline (time of hiring or imposition of new law) testing. The result 
of this legislation was a 15 percent increase in premiums associated with fire employees. The 
city opposes any effort to further shift the burden of proof for workers’ compensation claims.  

• PROTECT GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY 
 
The complexity and diversity of city operations and services required to meet the needs of the 
residents of Boulder may expose the city and its officers and employees to liability for 
damage and injury. City officers and employees must be confident that they have the city’s 
support in the lawful and proper performance of their assigned duties and responsibilities.   
 
Consequently, the city will support legislation that provides immunity to municipalities and 
their officers and employees in the lawful and proper performance of their duties and 
responsibilities and that discourages baseless and frivolous claims against the same. 
Conversely, the city will oppose legislation that expands or increases municipal liability or 
further limits municipal immunity beyond current law. 
 

• OPPOSE CHANGES THAT COULD UNNECESSARILY RESULT IN 
INCREASED CONTRIBUTIONS OR FORCE A REDUCTION IN 
BENEFITS FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES 
RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION (PERA) 

 
Two significant pieces of legislation were enacted in recent years aimed at putting PERA 
back on track to being fully funded. The first, SB06-235, passed in 2006, made several 
changes, including: (1) temporary increases in the amount that employers from each division 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 31

Attachment A

Packet Page 72



 

26 
 
 
 
 

must contribute to PERA, with increases staying in effect until accounts in those divisions 
are found to be 100% funded; (2) the addition of an eight percent cap per year on the Highest 
Average Salary (HAS) for new hires; (3) a change of the Rule of 80 to a Rule of 85 with a 
minimum retirement age of 55 for new hires; (4) a prescribed amortization period reduced 
from 40 years to 30 years; (5) a requirement for independent actuarial studies to be 
conducted before future benefit increases could occur; and, (6) a new requirement to purchase 
service at full actuarial cost. 
 
Then in 2010, SB10-001 was enacted to require, among other things: (1) additional increases 
in the temporary employer contributions beyond previous requirements, with exemptions for 
the local government division where further increases were deemed unnecessary; (2) 
reductions in the cost of living adjustments (COLA); (3) application of the 3-year HAS with a 
base year and an eight percent spike cap applicable to current members not eligible to retire 
on January 1, 2011; (4) extension of the Rule of 85 to existing members with less than five 
years of service credit as of January 1, 2011, creation of a Rule of 88 for new hires and a Rule 
of 90 for hires after 2017, and; (5) a new requirement for contributions from retirees who 
return to work.   
   
Despite this legislation, a result of comprehensive and collaborative efforts by PERA, 
legislators and representatives of employer groups, and despite a 2012 independent auditor 
finding that PERA’s assumed 8% rate of return is “within a reasonable range of possible 
scenarios,” a variety of legislation has since been and is expected to continue to be introduced 
in the Colorado General Assembly to further change the PERA system. The city recognizes 
that further reforms may indeed be required and consequently supports legislation deemed 
necessary to stabilize PERA’s funds, but only when informed by a comprehensive evaluation 
of the impacts of those changes so as to protect against unnecessary increases to employer or 
employee contributions or reductions in employee benefits. One reform the city would 
support without further analysis is changes to the composition of the 16-member PERA 
Board of Trustees to provide more balanced representation from non-PERA covered 
members. However, as one of the largest of the 24 member governments in PERA’s Local 
Government Division, Boulder will oppose piecemeal state legislation that has unknown 
financial impacts.  
 

LOCAL CONTROL 

• OPPOSE THREATS TO LOCAL CONTROL AND HOME RULE 
AUTHORITY 

 
Several bills are introduced each session that threaten to erode local powers. As a general 
matter, the city believes that local problems need local solutions and that the current 
authority and powers of municipal governments in areas such as land use, zoning, personnel 
matters and sales tax, should not be further eroded. Legislation threatening local control, 
that does not otherwise further interests specified in this legislative agenda or otherwise 
recognized by City Council, will be opposed by the city. 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 32

Attachment A

Packet Page 73



 

27 
 
 
 
 

NATURAL RESOURCES, WILDLIFE AND PARKS 

• PROTECT THE ABILITY OF LOCAL GOVERNMENTS AND THE 
LAND TRUST COMMUNITY TO ACQUIRE AND PROTECT PARKS 
AND OPEN SPACE 

 
Colorado Lottery proceeds have been one of the few sources of state funding for conservation 
of natural resources, wildlife and parks, providing $2.3 billion statewide over the past 28 
years. Profits from the sale of lottery products are allocated according to the following 
formula: up to 50 percent to the Great Outdoors Colorado (GOCO) Trust Fund, 40 percent to 
the Conservation Trust Fund (CTF), and 10 percent to the Colorado Division of Parks and 
Outdoor Recreation. GOCO provides competitive grants to projects that preserve, protect and 
enhance Colorado’s wildlife, parks, rivers, trails and open space. The fund is capped 
(approximately $54 million in 2011) and any spillover is directed to the BEST rural school 
capital construction assistance fund. The CTF funds are used by local communities across 
the state for outdoor projects including trail construction, ball fields, playgrounds, and 
adding new parks or enhancing existing parks.  
 
CTF and GOCO funds have for years been a critical part of the city’s capital budget. 
Important acquisitions have been added to Boulder’s inventory of parks and open space that 
have helped shape our community, preserve ecological systems and create opportunities for 
active and passive recreation for people of all ages. Among the projects accomplished with 
GOCO funding include Valmont Bike Park, winner of the 2011 Colorado Parks and 
Recreation Association award for recreation facility design and future host of the 2014 USA 
Cyclo-Cross National Championships.  
 
The city supports preservation of the current lottery distribution formula and will oppose 
legislation that would change that allocation or create new lottery scratch tickets for other 
purposes that would decrease demand for the existing lottery tickets. 

The city also encourages congress to restore funding for the Land and Water Conseration 
Fund (LWCF) which was allowed to expire this past September. The LWCF was, until very 
recently, a Federal program established to provide funds and matching grants to federal, 
state and local governments for the acquisition of land and water, and easements on land 
and water, for the benefit of all Americans. The main emphasis of the funds are for 
recreation and the protection of natural treasures in the forms of parks and protected forest 
and wildlife areas.  

The primary source of income to the fund was fees paid to the Bureau of Ocean Energy 
Management, Regulation and Enforcement by companies drilling offshore for oil and gas 
and, to a lesser extent, the sale of surplus federal real estate and taxes on motorboat fuel. 

  

Agenda Item 3D     Page 33

Attachment A

Packet Page 74



 

28 
 
 
 
 

• SUPPORT STATE LEGISLATION FURTHERING IMPLEMENTATION 
OF THE CITY’S URBAN WILDLIFE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

 
The Urban Wildlife Management Plan (UWMP) was developed to provide guidance on how 
Boulder’s urban areas will provide diverse, self-sustaining, native wildlife populations in a 
manner compatible with basic human needs, social and economic values and long-term 
ecological sustainability. The plan also seeks to reduce conflicts between humans and wildlife 
in the urban core. Management of the city’s lands outside of the urban core such as Open 
Space and Mountain Parks lands and utilities lands (Silver Lake Watershed, Boulder 
Reservoir) are covered by the plans of the appropriate managing department.  
 
Because of the network of nearby natural lands, its geographic setting at the intersection of 
the mountains and plains, Boulder’s urban areas are visited or inhabited by a wide range of 
wildlife species. Some species keep a low profile, present little or no conflict and go unnoticed 
by most urban residents. Other species are highly valued by the community, but most of 
these present little or no conflict with urban services or land uses. There are, however 
species that are valued by the community that do come into conflict with people. These 
include prairie dogs, black bear, mountain lions, Canada geese and mule deer. The city is 
often attempting to simultaneously conserve these species on open space lands, while 
managing conflict in the urban area.   
 
There are often opportunities on a species-specific level to support legislation at a state or 
federal level to complement our conservation and conflict management efforts. Examples 
include support of funding for mosquito management to address state or federal public 
health issues/mandates; modifications of laws to allow prairie dog relocation to other 
counties without commissioner approval; and, modifications to in-stream flow legislation that 
would allow the city to retain the value of its water rights while simultaneously conserving 
native and sport fisheries. 

• SUPPORT TO ADDRESS THE CITY’S EMERALD ASH BORER 
INFESTATION 

 
In late September of 2013, the emerald ash borer (EAB), an invasive pest of ash trees, was 
identified within the city limits of Boulder. The EAB is very difficult to detect in early stages 
and kills even healthy ash trees within 2-4 years of initial attack. Although the EAB flies, 
infestation normally results from movement of infested ash trees and wood (e.g., firewood, 
chips, packing and industrial materials). All attempts to eradicate this pest across the 
Midwest have failed due to the difficulty in detection and ease of movement; by the time the 
pest is found in an area it has already established and spread to other areas. 
 
The EAB poses a significant threat to all ash trees within the city. There are approximately 
50,000 city park and public street rights-of-way trees under the jurisdiction of the Boulder 
Parks and Recreation Urban Forestry Division: approximately 6,000 are ash trees (12 
percent of the public tree population). That number within the city rises to 70,000 when you 
include private ash trees and 1.45 million when you take into account all the ash trees in the 
Denver metro area. Consequently, local governments may require significant support from 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 34

Attachment A

Packet Page 75



 

29 
 
 
 
 

the state to contain the threat, enforce a quarantine, remove dead trees and to educate the 
public.  
 
The city will support necessary state legislation, including requests for supplemental funding 
for the CDA or the creation of an account to support emergency response to pests when no 
specific agricultural or horticultural industry is primarily impacted, to allow the state to 
partner with the city in addressing the challenges presented by the EAB.  
 

• SUPPORT RESTORATION OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT AUTHORITY 
TO REGULATE CERTAIN PESTICIDE USES AND FOR ADDITIONAL 
PROTECTIONS FOR POLLINATORS, HUMAN HEALTH AND WATER 
QUALITY 

 
The Colorado Pesticide Applicators’ Act applies to pesticide applicators with the focus 
primarily on licensing of commercial pesticide applicators. The act is administered and 
enforced by the Colorado Department of Agriculture which also administers EPA rules and 
federal pesticide law in Colorado. Until 2006, when industry-backed legislation was enacted, 
the Act allowed local governments in Colorado wide discretion to enact pesticide regulations. 
Since 2006, however, local control to regulate almost all aspects of pesticide use has been 
preempted by state law. The 2006 legislation expanded state preemption for all pesticide 
users. The only exception is for the posting of notification of pesticide applications for non-
commercial pesticide applicators. 
 
Given the city’s vested concerns in regaining some of its former authority to protect human 
health and the environment from the potential adverse effects of pesticides, the city will 
advocate for legislation that provides a more balanced perspective on pesticide use that takes 
into account recent studies concerning the human health and environmental impacts of 
pesticides. Specifically, it will support state protections concerning pesticide exposure that 
affects children, pollinators and water quality and restoration of the ability in specific 
situations for local governments to regain some authority to restrict pesticide use when 
immediate risk to human health or the environment cannot be addressed by the federal or 
state governments to adequately safeguard the public interest in a timely manner. The city 
will also support funding for increased education or research on alternatives to pesticides 
and programs that provide increased pesticide-free habitat, sustainable agriculture and 
preservation of biodiversity. 
 
Rapid decline of honeybees and other pollinators threatens the U.S. agricultural system and 
the functioning of general ecosystem services. Urgent regulatory action is needed at all levels 
of government. State restoration of local control would allow municipalities to address 
pollinator-specific concerns. The city also supports measures for pollinator protections at all 
levels of government, including federal legislation such as the Saving America’s Pollinators 
Act. 
  

Agenda Item 3D     Page 35

Attachment A

Packet Page 76



 

30 
 
 
 
 

• SUPPORT EFFORTS THAT PROTECT THE BOULDER COMMUNITY 
FROM WILDFIRE AND PROMOTE ECOLOGICAL FOREST HEALTH 

 
The city owns and manages 10,000 acres of forested open space and mountain parks land, 
almost all outside the boundaries of the city but immediately adjacent to residential areas. 
The health of these forests is critical to preventing catastrophic fires and to supporting 
biodiversity and creating resiliency. Historic fire suppression has led to overly dense forest 
conditions around Boulder that can have a direct impact on wildfire intensity and frequency, 
habitat function, water quality, and recreational values. The city is dedicated to protecting 
these natural resource values by implementing vegetation management activities that 
improve the overall ecological health of our forests, decrease the risk of high intensity 
wildfires, maintain and improve habitat for fish, wildlife, and plants, and protect public and 
private resources. Accordingly, the city will support federal and state legislation that 
promotes wildfire mitigation and forest restoration efforts in the wildland/urban interface.  
 

PUBLIC HEALTH AND SAFETY 

• STATE AND FEDERAL ASSISTANCE FOR FLOOD DISASTER 
RECOVERY NEEDS AND EXPENSES 

 
September 2013 brought unprecedented rainfall to the region causing significant flooding 
and extensive damage to many Colorado communities. In Boulder, total damage to city 
infrastructure and public lands is estimated at $27.6 million, and private-property damage is 
estimated at $200 million. The city was declared a national disaster which created the 
opportunity for possible reimbursement through the Federal Emergency Management 
Agency (FEMA), Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) and the State of Colorado. As of 
September, 2015, the city had spent approximately $20.1 million on flood recovery. 
Estimated reimbursements from FEMA, the State of Colorado and the Federal Highway 
Administration (FHWA) are currently anticipated to be $17.6 million. To date, the city has 
received over $4.1 million in non-FEMA grant funding from federal and state agencies for 
recovery and resilience projects. City staff is actively pursuing additional grant opportunities 
as they become available.  The city continues to expend significant resources to ensure that 
FEMA projects and expenses remain eligible for reimbursement. The city wants to ensure 
that the State of Colorado and FEMA region VIII possess the appropriate capacity to provide 
the technical assistance necessary to ensure an efficient flood recovery process. The city will 
support efforts to ensure that the state and FEMA receive appropriate resources to support 
local governments’ efforts to rebuild as more resilient communities. 
 
The city still has one FEMA project from the 2013 floods which is under appeal. As of the 
time of this writing, it is anticipated that the city’s first appeal, which is based upon differing 
interpretations of FEMA policies, will be denied. The city intends to pursue its right to a 
second appeal, which will result in review by the Assistant Administrator for the Mitigation 
Directorate in Washington D.C. The city will support efforts to ensure that FEMA policies 
adequately support the unique aspects of flood recovery in mountain states.  

Agenda Item 3D     Page 36

Attachment A

Packet Page 77



 

31 
 
 
 
 

 
The city, in collaboration with the other jurisdictions in Boulder County, have been working 
together to obtain Housing and Urban Development (HUD) Community Development Block 
Grant – Disaster Recovery (CDBG-DR) funds.  This program is administered through the 
State of Colorado, and similar to the FEMA Public Assistance program, the city wants to 
ensure the state possesses the appropriate resources, and continues to coordinate with local 
jurisdictions on where the remaining needs are.  For example, the State of Colorado’s 1st 
Substantial Amendment to the Action Plan which directs the funding to various programs 
identified a nearly equal need between housing and infrastructure needs.  A local unmet 
needs analysis performed by the communities in Boulder County demonstrated that 78% of 
the remaining need is within the infrastructure category.  The city appreciates HUD’s 
approval of the sub allocation approach to allocating CDBG-DR funding in Boulder County to 
allow projects to be sufficiently funded and the local unmet needs analysis to direct all future 
funding decisions.   

• SUPPORT FOR SAFE USE AND COMMERCIAL REGULATION OF 
RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA  

 
The city will support or oppose legislation, as necessary, in furtherance of the following 
principles: 
 

1. Maintaining or creating new mechanisms to ensure marijuana is appropriately 
labeled and regulated so that only adults intentionally choosing to use marijuana are 
exposed to it, that such users receive a safe product with complete information about 
the impacts of what they are choosing to ingest, and that these substances are kept 
away from children. 

2. Maintaining a dual licensing system to allow both the state and local governments to 
issue and enforce licensing of commercial marijuana facilities. 

3. Allowing local governments to recover the full costs of any commercial licenses they 
choose to allow. 

4. Maintaining as a matter of state interest and responsibility the creation of overall 
safety requirements related to recreational marijuana while reserving to local 
governments specific abilities, but not mandate, to adopt additional requirements and 
monitor and enforce those rules. 

 

• SUPPORT REMOVAL OF BARRIERS THAT PREVENT LEGITIMATE 
MARIJUANA BUSINESSES TO ACCESS BANKING SERVICES  

 
Legitimate marijuana businesses in Boulder are forced to operate on a cash-only basis 
because the substance's federal status currently bars banks from doing business with them. 
This inequity creates a vulnerability to several of the enforcement priorities outlined in the 
Deputy Attorney General's letter dated August 29, 2013. More importantly it creates a 
serious local public safety problem. Statutory solutions are at the federal level and there are 
efforts underway to try and address this, most recently by Rep. Ed Perlmutter. The city will 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 37

Attachment A

Packet Page 78



 

32 
 
 
 
 

support these efforts to remove legal and administrative barriers that prevent these 
businesses from accessing banking services. 
 

• PROMOTE HEALTH AND SAFETY CONCERNS ASSOCIATED WITH 
ALCOHOL ABUSE IN THE GREATER COMMUNITY  

 
Boulder’s City Council adopted Resolution 960 on October 19, 2004, concerning alcohol abuse 
within the community. This resolution affirmed the city’s commitment to finding solutions to 
address the critical issues of health, safety and well being stemming from alcohol abuse 
within the city.   
 
Since this time, Council has expressly stated its support for appropriate legislation that 
would: 
 

1. Require the sale of kegs containing alcohol to have a tag attached that would permit 
tracing of the purchaser, and; 

2. Require mandatory server training. 
3. Repeal the provision contained in C.R.S. Section 27-81-117 preventing municipalities 

from adopting public drunkenness ordinances; and 
4. Permit municipalities to regulate licensees’ hours of alcohol service. 

 
The city will support appropriate legislation that furthers these goals. Conversely, the city 
will oppose any legislation that undermines these goals, including efforts similar to SB12-
118 which would eliminate the 25 percent food requirement for Hotel and Restaurant liquor 
licenses. 
 

• CLOSE THE FEDERAL GUN SHOW LOOPHOLE 
 
While criminal background checks are currently required for purchases of guns at gun shows 
in Colorado, there are states that do not have such laws. In order to ensure that guns are not 
placed in the hands of criminals, a federal law eliminating the gun show loophole is 
necessary.    
 

• OPPOSE EXPANDING THE APPLICATION OF THE “MAKE MY DAY” 
LAW BEYOND PERSONAL RESIDENCES  

 

• OPPOSE LEGISLATION LIMITING THE STATE’S ABILITY TO 
REGULATE CONCEALED WEAPONS OR LOCAL GOVERNMENT’S 
ABILITY TO RESTRICT POSSESSION OF WEAPONS IN PUBLIC 
FACILITIES  

 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 38

Attachment A

Packet Page 79



 

33 
 
 
 
 

 The city will oppose federal legislation that would require Colorado to honor concealed carry 
permits granted by other states, even when those permit holders could not meet the 
standards required by Colorado law. 
Boulder also has concerns with regard to the open carrying of guns. While cities are 
prevented from restricting permitted holders of concealed weapons, Boulder wants to make 
sure it maintains the ability to prevent the open carrying of guns in its public facilities. The 
open carrying of weapons is alarming to many people and can create logistical issues for the 
police department. 
 

• OPPOSE MANDATES FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT ENFORCEMENT 
OF FEDERAL IMMIGRATION LAWS 

 
The city supports preserving the option for its police officers to enforce federal laws, 
including federal immigration laws. However, it will vigorously oppose any state or federal 
legislation that mandates that its police enforce federal immigration laws, especially if they 
are unfunded mandates or are likely to result in enforcement officers engaging in racial 
profiling or discrimination based on race, ethnicity or national origin. 
 

• OPPOSE INFRINGEMENTS ON EMPLOYMENT AND PERSONNEL 
DECISIONS MADE BY MUNICIPAL POLICE AND FIRE 
DEPARTMENTS  

 
Employees of the city’s fire and police departments are part of collective bargaining units. As 
part of those units, they have the right to negotiate the terms of their employment. The city 
opposes any state or federal law that would mandate municipalities to collectively bargain 
with public safety employee labor unions over wages, benefits, or working conditions, under 
one-size-fits-all rules.  
 

• OPPOSE IMPOSITION OF ONEROUS INFORMATION GATHERING 
AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS ON PUBLIC SAFETY, 
ESPECIALLY WHEN THOSE REQUIREMENTS COME WITH 
SUBSTANTIAL COSTS THAT ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY ADEQUATE 
FUNDING 

 
An example of a reporting requirement that has been imposed on local law enforcement 
agencies in the past is the state law requiring the arrest of undocumented immigrants to be 
reported to Immigration and Customs Enforcement.  

Agenda Item 3D     Page 39

Attachment A

Packet Page 80



 

34 
 
 
 
 

• INCREASE THE FINANCIAL THRESHOLD OF PROPERTY DAMAGE 
THAT TRIGGERS A POLICE INVESTIGATION OF NON-INJURY 
TRAFFIC ACCIDENTS 

 
It takes very little damage to a vehicle to reach the current threshold of $1,000. While the 
city’s police department currently responds to most accidents, increasing the damage 
threshold will provide greater flexibility and more local control over the use of police 
resources. 
 

• OPPOSE LIMITATIONS ON MUNICIPAL AUTHORITY TO OPERATE 
RED LIGHT OR PHOTO RADAR CAMERAS TO ENFORCE TRAFFIC 
SAFETY 

 
Boulder is one of nine cities in Colorado that use photo enforcement to enhance the safety of 
its streets. The red light locations in Boulder were carefully selected due to a historic rate of 
higher accidents over other locations. Use of photo enforcement at these red light locations 
has yielded significant safety benefits and reduced red light running accidents by 68 percent. 
Moreover, fewer and fewer red light tickets are issued at these locations each year due to 
increased compliance. Removal of these cameras could result in accident rates and non-
compliance returning to pre-enforcement levels.  
 
Quantifying photo speed enforcement success is somewhat more difficult. It is implemented 
per strict state statute requirements that limit where it can be placed. It enables the city to 
enforce speed limits in neighborhood locations that do not have a high enough volume of 
traffic to justify deployment of officers. It is particularly effective in school zones. One 
conclusion that can be made is that photo speed enforcement has enhanced the safety of 
neighborhood streets and school zones by reducing speeding.  
 
Between 1999, when Boulder first introduced photo enforcement, and 2013, fines associated 
with violations of the city’s photo enforcement program and red light violations generated 
$13,695,940 in revenue at a direct cost to the city of $13,118,972.  When soft costs of 
overseeing the program are factored in, the costs of running the program essentially run 
even to the revenue it generates.  
 
The true cost associated with motorists running red lights and speeding through 
neighborhoods is not captured in the financial information provided above. It is best 
quantified in the cost to our community associated with the personal injury and property 
damage from motorists speeding and running red lights. Recent studies have shown that the 
average red light camera location in the U.S. results in $38,000 a year in reduced societal 
costs, not to mention the number of lives and grief saved from fewer right-angle crashes. For 
Boulder, with our eight (8) red light running cameras, this results in $304,000 in societal cost 
saved annually.  
 
For these reasons, the city will oppose any legislation similar to SB14-181 that would 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 40

Attachment A

Packet Page 81



 

35 
 
 
 
 

prohibit or otherwise further restrict the rights of local governments to use red light cameras 
or photo radar enforcement.  

ROCKY FLATS 

• SUPPORT FUNDING FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY FOR 
THE OFFICE OF LEGACY MANAGEMENT AND U.S. FISH AND 
WILDLIFE SERVICE IN ORDER TO MANAGE ROCKY FLATS AS A 
NATIONAL WILDLIFE REFUGE WITH THE APPROPRIATE 
SYSTEMS IN PLACE FOR LONG TERM STEWARDSHIP 

 
In February of 2006, the Rocky Flats Stewardship Council (RFSC) was formed to focus on the 
post-closure management of Rocky Flats, the former nuclear weapons plant southwest of 
Boulder. As a member of RFSC, the city is very supportive of the 2001 federal legislation 
(Rocky Flats National Wildlife Refuge Act of 2001) that designates Rocky Flats as a future 
national wildlife refuge site as well as the requirement that long-term liability, ownership 
and management of the site remain with the federal government. The city supports 
legislation authorizing, funding, or otherwise providing assistance for the Rocky Flats 
Legacy Stakeholders Organization, or alternative organization, to work on coordinating 
regional open space and conservation efforts as they relate to Rocky Flats  
 

TAX POLICY 

• SUPPORT THE MARKET FAIRNESS ACT AND OTHER ACTION TO 
PRESERVE AND EXPAND THE AUTHORITY OF LOCAL 
GOVERNMENTS TO COLLECT TAXES 

 
According to research undertaken by Forrester Research for Internet Retailer, national 
online retail spending climbed to nearly $200 billion in 2011, up from $30 billion in 2000, and 
will grow approximately 10 percent per year to reach $280 billion and comprise more than 
seven percent of overall national retail spending by 2015. At the state level, the National 
Conference of State Legislatures estimates that Colorado will lose $352 million in 2012 from 
uncollected sales taxes. The growth in internet retail activity presents a clear challenge to 
the operating budgets of Colorado’s local governments, many of which rely on sales taxes to 
fund critical municipal services, as well as the state budget. Consequently, the city supports 
legislation, such as the Marketplace Fairness Act, that provides authority for states and 
Colorado local governments to collect sales taxes on purchases made over the internet, 
regardless of whether the vendor has a physical nexus with the state. Appropriate 
limitations on this authority might include exemptions for small businesses, centralized 
collection of taxes on non-nexus sales and adoption of a common tax base for non-nexus sales. 
However, the city will not support changes which would allow the state to collect and remit 
tax revenues on non-nexus sales based on anything other than each municipality’s individual 
sales tax rate (e.g., the city opposes use of a blended tax rate) or which would dictate the tax 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 41

Attachment A

Packet Page 82



 

36 
 
 
 
 

base or assume authority to collect revenues on local nexus sales which the city already has 
the authority to tax and collect.     
 

TELECOMMUNICATIONS 

• REESTABLISH THE RIGHT OF MUNICIPALITIES TO PROVIDE 
TELECOMMUNICATION SERVICES SUCH AS LARGE AND 
COMPLEX CITY-WIDE FIBER AND PREMISE NETWORKS 

 
The provision of telecommunication access to ensure effective and appropriate access to 
educational and city resources are seen as a must in today's society. Utilizing current 
infrastructure and public‐private partnerships can create necessary competition to retain 
low‐cost, high‐speed access to our residents, regardless of economic status. Senate Bill 05‐152 
preempted home rule municipalities from providing telecommunication services (with certain 
limited exceptions) without a vote of the people, even if infrastructure had already been 
built. Boulder believes that this legislation is overly restrictive in its private sector “non-
compete” provisions. Given the very “low and slow” market evolution in providing low-cost 
and easily accessible internet and other telecommunication services, the city is completely 
hamstrung in seeking ways of legitimately investing public dollars in infrastructure and 
services to resolve the digital divide and general access issues in our communities. 
 

TRANSPORTATION 

• INCREASE TRANSPORTATION FUNDING AND PRIORITIZE ITS 
EXPENDITURE ON PROJECTS THAT MAINTAIN EXISTING 
INFRASTRUCTURE, ARE MULTIMODAL IN DESIGN AND THAT 
OTHERWISE PROMOTE SMART GROWTH  

 
The city and the entire Denver metropolitan area are in need of new funding to maintain 
existing infrastructure and transit services, for multi-modal transportation improvements 
related to roadway, bicycle, pedestrian, carpool/vanpool and for travel demand management 
activities that would increase the efficiency of the existing system. There is a critical need for 
federal and state funds to ensure completion of the US 36 BRT project, including funding to 
acquire the best vehicles and BRT amenities possible and first and final mile connections to 
that corridor. Funding is also necessary for implementation of the recommendations of the 
Northwest Area Mobility Study (NAMS); specifically North I25 bi-directional HOV/Transit 
lanes and development of an arterial BRT system along SH119, US287, 120th Ave, South 
Boulder Road, Arapahoe/SH7, and SH 42.  
 
The city supports turning to funding sources that are tied to transportation use, including 
vehicle registration, car rentals, gasoline consumption, or vehicle miles traveled, provided 
that a significant portion of the funding generated is directed toward specific, identified 
projects, including US Highway 36 and arterial BRT, or to programs that fund alternative 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 42

Attachment A

Packet Page 83



 

37 
 
 
 
 

modes of transportation. One proposal that could be considered by the statehouse in 2016 
would refer a measure to the ballot aimed at extending a soon to be paid-off transportation 
bond and using the $3.5 billion to address the state’s top transportation and transit 
priorities. The city may be in a position to support such “TRANS Bonds” measure if the 
infrastructure improvements were consistent with priorities outlined here. Accordingly, it 
will seek to ensure that such priorities are reflected in any project list that may be developed 
in relationship to this effort. 
 
This city also supports the recent trend of turning to managed lanes as a practical solution 
for improving mobility by providing viable travel options in congested corridors. In fact, the 
city believes that any significant new lane capacity built with state funds be required to be 
managed. Managed lanes should result in regulation of demand to ensure choices for the 
traveler beyond the single occupancy vehicle by providing for the option of travel by bus and 
free or discounted access to high occupancy vehicles (“HOVs”), as well as allowing pricing to 
help manage corridor performance, such as dynamic, variable-priced tolls linked to 
congestion. Public-private partnerships (PPPs) are often essential to identifying funding to 
construct managed lanes. The challenge, however, is that the partnerships can sometimes 
focus too much on revenue generation and insufficiently on transportation performance. 
Moreover, decisions can be made by the state that do not receive sufficient vetting and/or 
oversight from the affected local governments. In order to ensure that only appropriate toll 
projects are built, the city would support legislation to require all PPPs for managed lanes to 
undergo a transparent approval process and to demonstrate maximization in the 
transportation of people (not just vehicles); reinvestment of at least a portion of toll operating 
revenues into the corridor for continued improvements; and prioritization of travel choices 
with a portion of toll revenues supporting transit and/or travel demand management, in 
order to maximize the value of the transportation investment and to ensure that lower-
income residents benefit from the public investment in a toll road. The city also support 
legislation mandating a determination by the appropriate Metropolitan Planning 
Organizations (MPOs) that all toll projects, including those which do not use state or federal 
funding, be analyzed for consistency with the development policies of the MPO’s plan, and 
that the MPOs assess implications of such projects on the region’s fiscal health, air and 
water quality, energy, climate change and long-term sustainability. Finally, the city would 
support legislation similar to HB12-1171 that would prohibit the use of so called “non 
compete” clauses which are sometimes included in PPPs to preclude maintenance of, or 
improvements to, existing roads (e.g., Highway 93) in order to increase travel demand on 
new tolled lanes. 
 
The city believes that new or existing funding should be used for regional priorities as 
determined by the area MPO, or, where no MPO exists, by the local Transportation Planning 
Region (TPR) where the improvements are supported by the affected local governments. The 
city also believes that state legislation should require MPOs and TPRs to model projects for 
their expected contribution to greenhouse gases and vehicle miles traveled and to prioritize 
those projects that reduce both.  
 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 43

Attachment A

Packet Page 84



38 

• REALIGN THE COLORADO TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION TO
INCLUDE POPULATION, NOT JUST GEOGRAPHY, TO ENSURE
FAIR REPRESENTATION OF THE METROPOLITAN AREA

• PROMOTE “COMPLETE STREETS,” ACCOMMODATING ALL MODES
OF TRAVEL

The city supports legislation that furthers the concept of “Complete Streets” where modes are 
interconnected and a complete set of options are made available to improve efficiency and 
mobility for all.  The city also supports legislation that promotes sustainable transportation 
solutions recognizing energy sources, impacts of vehicle miles traveled, connections to land 
use, urban design, and increased accessibility for all. 

• OPPOSE LIMITATIONS ON THE CITY’S ABILITY TO REGULATE
VEHICLE USE ON SIDEWALKS, MULTI-USE PATHWAYS, AND BIKE
LANES, OR THAT REQUIRES THE CITY TO ALTER ITS CURRENT
CODE IN ORDER TO MAINTAIN CURRENT POLICY ON ALLOWED
USES OF THOSE FACILITIES

The city’s current ordinances prohibit the use of Segways or motorized “toy vehicles” such as 
scooters, electric skateboards or mini bikes on sidewalks, multi-use paths or bike lanes. City-
initiated changes to such policies would best be informed by a public process where input 
from the various sidewalk, multi-use path, and trail users could be solicited and evaluated. 
The city opposes changes to state law that would require the city to change its policy or force 
an unnecessary and potentially controversial re-evaluation of its policy. 

• OPPOSE TRANSFERING THE MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR REGIONAL HIGHWAYS FROM THE COLORADO DEPARTMENT
OF TRANSPORTATION TO LOCAL GOVERNMENTS

In past years, the Colorado General Assembly has been asked to consider legislation that 
would lead to the unilateral transfer to local governments of state highways. Boulder has 
several state highways that would be subject to such “devolution,” including U.S. 36 and 
Highways 93, 7 and 119. The city believes that these types of regional highways, which 
service multiple communities and counties, need to remain the responsibility of the state 
government. 

• SUPPORT FLEXIBLE SOLUTIONS AND NEW FUNDING OPPORTUNITIES TO
ADDRESS IMPACTS OF TRAIN HORN NOISE AND SUPPORT CREATION OF
QUIET ZONES

Agenda Item 3D     Page 44

Attachment A

Packet Page 85



 

39 
 
 
 
 

The city intends to participate in the upcoming Federal Railroad Administration (FRA) rule 
making process anticipated to open in  2016 to modify the train horn rules and requirements to 
create quiet zones. Whether through that process or through legislative means, the city will support 
more flexible and affordable options that work within the context of the local communities and 
support the safety goals of the FRA as well as the sustainability goals of EPA, HUD, DOT (FTA 
& FHWA). Addressing train horn noise and quiet zones is important to achieve local, regional, 
and national goals for multimodal transportation options, safety, housing, jobs, and the 
environment. Opportunities to amend the FRA train horn rules and quiet zone requirements, as 
well as identify funding sources for implementation, will address existing community concerns 
caused by train horn noise and support transportation options and mixed use, transit oriented 
development areas within the core areas of the city and other communities located along the 
Burlington Northern Santa Fe railroad corridor. 
 

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO 

• SUPPORT A RENEWED COMMITMENT BY THE STATE AND 
FEDERAL GOVERNMENTS TO FUND THE UNIVERSITY OF 
COLORADO AND ITS CAPITAL PROGRAMS 

 
The City of Boulder has been the proud home to the flagship campus of the University of 
Colorado (CU) since 1876. CU’s Boulder campus (CU-Boulder) brings to the city the Colorado 
Shakespeare Festival, the Conference on World Affairs, the CU Concerts and Artist Series, 
access to libraries, athletic events, noncredit courses, and numerous other social and cultural 
offerings, all of which significantly contribute to the city’s vibrancy. Furthermore, it directly 
employed 14,803 people in fiscal year (FY) 2011, 8,105 which were non-students (including 
temporary workers) earning average salaries of $57,216, accounting for 5.2 percent of total 
employment in Boulder County. Through research, teaching, operations, construction, 
student spending, and visitation, CU is an economic driver in Boulder County, contributing 
more than $1.5 billion in economic activity locally driven off $809 million in direct 
expenditures in the county in FY2011. This funding is by and large non-local, thus 
leveraging outside investment for the local economy. The presence of CU’s research facilities 
and the highly skilled labor force that CU produces, have attracted major federal facilities, 
satellite institutions, and major private firms to the city. Yet, as reflected in the above graph, 
state funding for CU-Boulder has seen a dramatic decline over the last decade, a decline that 
is anticipated to continue over at least the next two years. In light of the extraordinary 
importance of CU to the city, the city will support state and federal legislation that provides 
a renewed attention to funding CU, its capital programs (currently facing a deferred 
maintenance backlog of approximately $500 million), and particularly legislation that helps 
preserve the flagship status of the CU-Boulder campus.  
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 45

Attachment A

Packet Page 86



 

40 
 
 
 
 

WATER 

• SUPPORT LEGISLATION THAT PROMOTES THE EFFICIENT 
UTILIZATION AND CONSERVATION OF WATER 

 
Boulder is on the forefront of support for water conservation and efficient utilization of 
water. Boulder uses a water budget rate structure to reward the efficient use of water and 
penalize wasteful practices. Boulder has adopted water conservation goals for build-out that 
will help meet the city's adopted reliability criteria for water supplies without significant 
new water acquisitions when fully using water sources already owned by the city. Water 
conservation can be an important public outreach and educational tool and can help to 
maximize reservoir storage levels and water use reductions needed during drought periods. 
Although the first priority for conserved water is drought protection and the extent to which 
the city can direct conserved water to any particular use is limited, when reservoirs are full, 
some conserved water can be provided for non-permanent uses such as annual agricultural 
leasing or instream flow enhancement. Accordingly, Boulder will support legislation that 
promotes water conservation, instream flow enhancement and the efficient utilization of 
water when such legislation is structured to also be protective of the city’s water rights. By 
way of example, the city would support legislation that would phase in a requirement that 
new indoor water fixtures (including toilets, urinals, showers and faucets) sold in Colorado 
meet reduced flush volume requirements consistent with the US Environmental Protection 
Agencies WaterSense guidelines, provided that the legislation would not mandate 
retrofitting nor require local governments to assure compliance. 
 

• OPPOSE SIGNIFICANT THREATS TO THE CITY’S WATER RIGHTS  
 
In prior years, Boulder has lost thousands of acre-feet of the city’s water because of the lack 
of proper well augmentation on the South Platte River. Loss of this reservoir water increases 
Boulder’s risk of severe water shortage during drought years. In non-drought years, the city 
supports Boulder Creek basin farmers through annual leases of any water in excess of the 
city's short-term and long-term needs for approximately $30 per acre foot.  Offsetting un-
augmented well use in the South Platte basin would represent a $120,000 loss to the city in a 
year that 4,000 acre-feet of water is given up and would also decrease water for Boulder 
Creek farmers by reducing the city's leasable supplies. If other water users with junior water 
rights were to operate without proper augmentation and cause Boulder to need to 
permanently replace the water rights for 4,000 acre-feet of municipal water to protect the 
city against drought and any negative effects of climate change that might occur, it would 
cost $48,000,000 or more. 
 
Recent Colorado Supreme Court decisions have found that the State Engineer was not 
properly administering some water rights, such as for agricultural irrigation wells that were 
operating under junior water rights without providing senior water rights owners with 
sufficient augmentation water.  New state legislation passed in the years from 2003 to 2009 
clarifies that many well owners must file in water court for well augmentation plans and 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 46

Attachment A

Packet Page 87



 

41 
 
 
 
 

address the amount of augmentation water to be provided.  To protect the yield of its existing 
water rights, Boulder has coordinated with other water users owning senior surface water 
rights, including many farmers, to participate in water court cases and monitor legislative 
actions regarding water rights. Many of the underlying disputes have now been addressed.  
Nevertheless, some issues remain that may result in the General Assembly again becoming 
the arena for water bills that attempt to incrementally adjust, or in many cases by-pass, the 
state constitution’s Prior Appropriation Doctrine.   
 
Bills that may be introduced might include attempts to limit the amount of augmentation 
water that junior diverters are required to return to the river to less than their impact on 
more senior water rights or to replace the jurisdiction of water courts with state engineer 
authority such that decisions on the adequacy of augmentation plans would be less 
transparent and subject to political influence. The city is committed to the legal principle of 
maximum utilization of both surface water and groundwater and believes this can best be 
achieved through water court-approved augmentation plans rather than the political 
process. To the extent that future bills significantly threaten the city’s water rights, such as 
by shifting responsibility for well augmentation from well users to senior water rights 
owners, or increasing reliability for junior water rights by decreasing reliability for senior 
water rights, they will be vigorously opposed. 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 47

Attachment A

Packet Page 88



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: December 1, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE 
Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8090 vacating and 
authorizing the City Manager to execute two deeds of vacation to vacate two public 
access easements at 901 Pearl Street.  

Applicant/Property Owner: 901 Eldridge, Inc. 

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Bob Eichem, Finance Director /Acting Executive Director of Administrative Services                
David Driskell, Executive Director of Planning, Housing & Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
Sloane Walbert, Planner I 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The applicant and property owner requests vacation of two public access easements at 
901 Pearl Street that are no longer necessary to serve the development or the public. The 
easements were originally dedicated to the public by means of two grants of easement 
recorded April 28, 2009. A Site and Use Review was approved in 2008 for a mixed-use 
building on the property. As a condition of approval, the applicant was required to 
dedicate the portions of public sidewalk located on the property. This included an 
easement beyond the sidewalk limits along 9th Street to maintain a sidewalk width of 8 
feet and an easement along Pearl Street to ensure a sidewalk width of 15 feet. However, 
the project was never constructed and a new Site Review was approved in 2013 with a 
different site design (#LUR2013-00039). The subject easements are no longer necessary 
to ensure public access and are located beneath the new building, which is currently 
under construction. Existing public access easements must be vacated by ordinance, with 
City Council approval.  

On November 10, 2015, City Council approved first reading of the draft ordinance but 
asked for the following information. 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 1Packet Page 89



First Reading Questions: 
1. Why is the proposed vacation presented after the building was already built?

The building currently under construction was approved per Site Review
#LUR2013-00039 on October 1, 2013. Unfortunately, the subject easements were not
shown on the plans or survey information submitted for the new development. Thus,
the necessity for these vacations was not discovered until the building permit phase.

2. What is the standard width was for sidewalks and will this project have
standard sidewalks.

At Site Review it was determined that the sidewalk on 9th Street adjacent to subject
property could taper from 8 feet at the corner of Pearl Street to 5 feet on the north end
of the site, which connects to the single-family property across the alley. This width is
consistent with the City’s Design and Construction Standards (DCS) for a sidewalk
on a collector street adjacent to a residential land use. The sidewalk on Pearl Street is
11 feet - 10 inches, including tree grates. The West Pearl pedestrian and streetscape
improvements have been completed and were coordinated with the construction of
the new building to provide adequate access on the south side of the building. Refer
to the Background and Analysis sections below for additional information.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff finds that the criteria of section 8-6-9, “Vacation of Public Rights-of-Way and Public 
Access Easements,” B.R.C. 1981 can be met and recommends that the City Council take the 
following action: 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8090 vacating and authorizing the City Manager to 
execute two deeds of vacation to vacate two public access easements located at 901 Pearl 
Street. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
• Economic:  None identified.

• Environmental:  None identified.

• Social: None identified.

OTHER IMPACTS 
• Fiscal: No impact.

• Staff time: The vacation application has been processed through the provisions of a
standard vacation process and is within normal staff work plans.

Agenda Item 3E     Page 2Packet Page 90



BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
Notification was sent to the Planning Board on October 30, 2015 in conformance with 
Section 79 of the Boulder City Charter.  

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
All notice requirements of section 9-4-3, “Public Notice Requirements,” B.R.C. 1981 
have been met. Public notice of this proposed vacation was sent to property owners 
within 600 feet of the project on June 16, 2015. Staff received several inquiries from the 
public but no one expressed opposition to the vacations. Most inquiries were regarding 
the building under construction or the alley behind the construction.  

BACKGROUND 
The approximately one-half acre site is located within the Downtown 2 (DT-2) zoning 
district at the northwest corner of 9th and Pearl Streets (a vicinity map with zone districts 
is provided in Attachment A). The building currently under construction was approved 
per Site Review #LUR2013-00039 on October 1, 2013. The development is a three-story 
mixed-use building, with the first two stories at a zero lot line. The ground floor 
restaurant is planned with outdoor seating recessed below the second story, which does 
not encroach into the public walkway.  

A similar project was approved 
in 2008, but due to the economic 
downturn, that approval expired. 
As a condition of this approval, 
the applicant was required to 
dedicate the proposed portions 
of the public sidewalks located 
on the property. This included 
an easement beyond the 
sidewalk limits along 9th Street 
to maintain a sidewalk width of 
8 feet and an easement along 
Pearl Street to ensure a sidewalk 
width of 15 feet. However, at 
site review for the new 
development, staff determined 
that these widths were excessive 
considering the street 
classifications and uses.  

It was determined that the sidewalk on 9th Street adjacent to subject property could taper 
from 8 feet at the corner of Pearl Street to 5 feet on the north end of the site, which 
connects to the single-family property across the alley. This width is consistent with the 
City’s Design and Construction Standards (DCS) for a sidewalk on a collector street 
adjacent to a residential land use. The sidewalk on Pearl Street is 11 feet - 10 inches, 
including tree grates. The West Pearl pedestrian and streetscape improvements have been 

Project Site 

Figure 1: Vicinity Map 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 3Packet Page 91



completed and were coordinated with the construction of the new building to provide 
adequate access on the south side of the building. Refer to Figures 3 and 4 on the 
following page for images showing current conditions. 

The subject easements have carried pedestrian traffic and must be vacated by ordinance, 
with City Council approval. The easements were dedicated to the public by means of two 
grants of easement recorded April 28, 2009. Inadvertently, these easements were re-
recorded February 6, 2012. The subject easements are no longer necessary to ensure 
public access and are located beneath the new building, which is currently under 
construction.  

ANALYSIS 
The subject easements were declared open to the public when they were dedicated and 
thus must be vacated by ordinance passed by City Council. In order for the existing 
easements to be vacated, the council would have to conclude that the criteria under 
subsection 8-6-9(c), B.R.C. 1981 are met. Staff has reviewed this vacation request and 
has concluded that the criteria can be met as discussed as follows. 

(1) The applicant must demonstrate that the public purpose for which an easement or 
right-of-way was originally acquired or dedicated is no longer valid or necessary 
for public use; 

The subject 1.25-foot wide public access easement along the south property line is 96 
square feet in area and was originally dedicated to the public by means of a grant of 
easement recorded April 28, 2009. The purpose of the easement was to ensure a 

Figure 2: Easements to be Vacated (in red) 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 4Packet Page 92



Figure 4: Access along Pearl Street 

minimum sidewalk width of 15 feet along 
Pearl Street. The narrow easement on the 
northwest corner of the property, 158 
square feet in area, was also dedicated to 
the public by means of a grant of 
easement recorded April 28, 2009. The 
purpose of the easement was to ensure a 
minimum sidewalk width of 8 feet along 
9th Street. Staff reviewed the new 
proposal to ensure that adequate width 
was provided following development 
without the need for easements (refer to 
Figures 3 and 4). Refer to the approved 
Site Plans in Attachment D. The 
easements were intended for a specific 
and limited purpose, which will continue 
to be met with the proposed vacation. The 
easements are no longer necessary to 
ensure public access along these streets. 

(2) All agencies and departments having a conceivable interest in the easement or 
right-of-way must indicate that no need exists, either at present or conceivable in 
the future, to retain the property as an easement or right-of-way, either for its 
original purpose or for some other public purpose unless the vacation ordinance 
retains the needed utility or right-of-way easement; 

The proposed vacation has been evaluated by the Planning, Public Works and 
Transportation Departments and it has been collectively concluded that the public 

Figure 3: Access along 9th Street 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 5Packet Page 93



entities would have no conceivable future interest in the easements to be vacated 
since the necessary width to accommodate pedestrian traffic will be provided on 9th 
and Pearl Streets. CenturyLink, Comcast, and Xcel have also approved the request.  

(3) The applicant must demonstrate, consistent with the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan and the City's land use regulations, either: 

(A) That failure to vacate an existing right-of-way or easement on the property 
would cause a substantial hardship to the use of the property consistent with 
the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan and the City's land use regulations; 
or 

The easements are located beneath a building that is currently under 
construction, which was approved in 2013. At the time of review, the subject 
easements were not identified on the survey or plans. It would be a substantial 
hardship to the property owner if the easements were not vacated.  

(B) That vacation of the easement or right-of-way would actually provide a 
greater public benefit than retaining the property in its present status. 

Not Applicable. 

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A: Vicinity Map 
Attachment B: Ordinance No. 8090 
Attachment C: Draft Deeds of Vacation 
Attachment D: Approved Technical Documents 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 6Packet Page 94



Attachment A - Vicinity Map

Agenda Item 3E     Page 7Packet Page 95



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

ORDINANCE NO. 8090 

AN ORDINANCE VACATING AND AUTHORIZING THE 
CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE DEEDS OF VACATION 
FOR TWO PUBLIC ACCESS EASEMENTS GENERALLY 
LOCATED AT 901 PEARL STREET, AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS.

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER FINDS AND RECITES THAT:

A. 901 Pearl Unit 100, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company, the owner of the

property located at 901 Pearl Street, Boulder, CO has requested that the City vacate two public 

access easements located at 901 Pearl Street; and

B. The City Council is of the opinion that the requested vacations are in the public

interest and that said public access easements are not necessary for the public use. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO:

Section 1.  The City Council vacates and authorizes the city manager to execute two 

deeds of vacation for the public access easements described as follows: 

(1) Public Access Easement (96 square feet in size) dedicated to the City of Boulder

on April 3, 2009 and recorded in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder on April 

28, 2009 at Reception No. 2995500 and re-recorded on February 6, 2012 at Reception No. 

03200945 as more particularly described on Exhibit A.

(2) Public Access Easement (26.87 square feet in size) dedicated to the City of

Boulder on April 3, 2009 and recorded in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder 

on April 28, 2009 at Reception No. 2995501 and re-recorded on February 6, 2012 at Reception 

No. 03200946 as more particularly described on Exhibit B. 

Attachment B - Ordinance No. 8090

Agenda Item 3E     Page 8Packet Page 96



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Section 2.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 3.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 10th day of November, 2015. 

Mayor

Attest:

City Clerk

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 1st day of December, 2015. 

Mayor

Attest:

City Clerk

Attachment B - Ordinance No. 8090

Agenda Item 3E     Page 9Packet Page 97



Agenda Item 3E     Page 10Packet Page 98



Agenda Item 3E     Page 11Packet Page 99



Attachment C - Draft Deeds of Vacation

Agenda Item 3E     Page 12Packet Page 100



Attachment C - Draft Deeds of Vacation

Agenda Item 3E     Page 13Packet Page 101



Attachment C - Draft Deeds of Vacation

Agenda Item 3E     Page 14Packet Page 102



Attachment C - Draft Deeds of Vacation

Agenda Item 3E     Page 15Packet Page 103



Attachment D - Approved Technical Documents

Agenda Item 3E     Page 16Packet Page 104



Attachment D - Approved Technical Documents

Agenda Item 3E     Page 17Packet Page 105



Attachment D - Approved Technical Documents

Agenda Item 3E     Page 18Packet Page 106



Attachment D - Approved Technical Documents

Agenda Item 3E     Page 19Packet Page 107



Attachment D - Approved Technical Documents

Agenda Item 3E     Page 20Packet Page 108



Attachment D - Approved Technical Documents

Agenda Item 3E     Page 21Packet Page 109



Attachment D - Approved Technical Documents

Agenda Item 3E     Page 22Packet Page 110



Attachment D - Approved Technical Documents

Agenda Item 3E     Page 23Packet Page 111



Attachment D - Approved Technical Documents

Agenda Item 3E     Page 24Packet Page 112



Attachment D - Approved Technical Documents

Agenda Item 3E     Page 25Packet Page 113



Attachment D - Approved Technical Documents

Agenda Item 3E     Page 26Packet Page 114



Attachment D - Approved Technical Documents

Agenda Item 3E     Page 27Packet Page 115



Attachment D - Approved Technical Documents

Agenda Item 3E     Page 28Packet Page 116



C I T Y   O F   B O U L D E R 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE:  December 1, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE 
Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8092 approving 
November/December supplemental appropriations for the 2015 Budget. 

Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Boulder City Council and convene 
as the City of Boulder Forest Glen Transit Pass General Improvement District Board of 
Directors. 

PRESENTERS 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Finance 
Peggy Bunzli, Budget Officer 
Gina Coluzzi, Senior Budget Analyst 
Maria Diaz, Budget Analyst 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
As described in the Budget Philosophy and Process section of the annual budget 
document, each year at least two supplemental ordinances (known as Adjustments to 
Base (ATB), where the “base” is the original annual budget) are presented to City 
Council for review and approval. In years where new initiatives are launched and other 
unique circumstances become apparent after annual budget approval, additional 
adjustments to base may be brought forward for council consideration. Previous 
supplemental requests brought to council this year include: 

 A supplemental for high priority Community Planning and Open Space and
Mountain Parks work items, approved by council on March 17;

 A supplemental to appropriate new, one-time revenues from Recreational
Marijuana and the three year community, culture and safety tax (ballot item 2A),
approved by council on May 5;

Agenda Item 3F     Page 1Packet Page 117

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/0/doc/128570/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/128829/Electronic.aspx


 The Annual Carryover and “first” Adjustments to Base covering numerous,
typically small, adjustments related to ongoing work plan items and new
revenues, approved by council on May 19;

 A supplemental to appropriate earnest money for the Boulder Community
Hospital Broadway campus site purchase offer, approved by council on August
18;

 A supplemental related to reorganization in Open Space and Mountain Parks and
critical IT needs, crucial to improved customer service and security, approved by
council on September 15;

 A supplemental related to Storm Water & Flood Management revenue bonds
series 2015, approved by council on August 18.

This supplemental request for 2015 is the Budget Supplemental that council sees every 
year in November/December, that will help close out the year with necessary adjustments 
for new revenues, such as grants, and other evolving budget needs identified as the year 
progresses, as well as adjustments necessitated by accounting requirements. 

As always, existing budget is used, wherever possible, to cover even increasing costs, and 
regular operating tradeoffs are made, and savings sought, in order to complete work plans 
within existing budget. Supplemental budget is only requested at this time for clearly 
identified, 2015 priority work items for which additional budget is needed and one-time 
funds are available, after all reserves have been met.  

This supplemental ordinance will adjust only the current year budget and the adjustments 
included are considered “one-time” only. As a result, they have no direct or immediate 
impact on the following year’s budget.  

A proposed ordinance is provided as Attachment A to this packet. 

Detailed narrative information on each budget supplemental request was included in 
Attachment B of the Nov. 17, first reading agenda item. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION  

Suggested Motion Language: 

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8092 approving supplemental appropriations to the 2015 
Budget. 

Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Boulder City Council and convene as the 
City of Boulder Forest Glen Transit Pass General Improvement District Board of 
Directors. 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 2Packet Page 118

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/128919/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/130032/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/130032/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/130265/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/130031/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/130864/Electronic.aspx


COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
This supplemental ordinance appropriates funding for a variety of citywide projects and 
services that positively affect economic, environmental or social sustainability in the 
community. 

OTHER IMPACTS 
 Fiscal:

In the General Fund this ordinance will appropriate $1,255,235 from additional 
revenue and $1,927,623 from fund balance. It also includes a net increase in 
revenue only of $7,250. 

In restricted funds, this ordinance will appropriate $4,629,617 from additional 
revenue and $8,663,126 from fund balance. It also includes a net decrease in 
revenue only of $5,989.  

 Staff time for this process is allocated in the Budget Division’s regular annual
work plan.

ANALYSIS 

Types of requests contained in this packet 
The following requests provide examples of supplemental appropriations from 
various fund balances: 

 2015 November election costs (General Fund)
 Legal Assistance to Mobile Home Owners (General Fund)
 Flatirons Event Center Demo (.25 Sales Tax Fund)
 Depot Square at Boulder Junction (Affordable Housing Fund)
 Impact Fee/Excise Tax Study (various funds)

The following requests provide examples of supplemental appropriations from new 
revenue: 

 Wellness Credit from the city’s healthcare provider (General Fund)
 Sewer Bond Issuance (Wastewater Utility)
 Appropriation for additional program funding from grant and/or donation revenue

(multiple funds)

A third category of supplemental appropriations are a negative appropriation, an 
example of this type of request is a reduction in grant funding. 

Also included are supplemental appropriations to transfer between funds.  An example 
of this type of request is the transfer of funds from a United Healthcare credit in the 
General Fund to the Workers Compensation fund, to supplement the wellbeing program, 
an allowable use of the credit. 

Finally, a number of other adjustments are identified in this final budget supplemental 
to meet accounting requirements. Examples of these types of requests are prior year 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 3Packet Page 119



encumbrance corrections in various funds related to the recent transition to a new 
financial system. 

Additional Information on Selected Adjustment to Base Requests 

Fire Alerting System 
This request appropriates $580,000 from General Fund fund balance, to upgrade the Fire-
Rescue Department’s station alerting system (SAS). The funding will replace aging 
infrastructure and provide for fast and reliable crew notification. Station alerting notifies 
the crews of a 911 call and provides the appropriate response information. The new 
technology will allow for simultaneous alerting of multiple stations and will automate 
information flow to improve emergency response times. It is intended to reduce the time 
from 911 call to response team notification and reduce the burden on the 911 call 
taker/dispatcher. A contract for services with the selected vendor is expected to be 
finalized in November with installation beginning late November or early December, 
2015. The project is expected to last approximately 120 days with testing, training and 
switchover to follow. This request is in response to council’s input at the April 14 study 
session. 

Wastewater Treatment Facility (WWTF) Permit Improvements 
This request appropriates $4,000,000 from Wastewater Fund fund balance for WWTF 
facilities improvements required to meet new effluent regulations identified in the 2011 
Colorado Discharge Permit System (CDPS) Permit. The WWTF must meet the new 
effluent limits by December 2017. The project will involve the modification of existing 
and the construction of new facilities to meet daily maximum ammonia and nitrate limits. 
The project, originally identified in the 2012 Capital Improvement Program (CIP) process 
for construction in 2015, was bid in May 2015. Although original estimates for the 
project were estimated at $1.9 million, the expected project total cost, following bid, is 
now approximately $5.5 million. The higher than originally estimated cost is due in part 
to current bidding conditions, and also to the fact that the city is an early implementer of 
the technology to meet these requirements and technology needs and costs were not well 
known in advance of actually designing the project. Additionally, the city is 
implementing an innovative design approach, in an effort to minimize long-term 
operation and maintenance costs. The design approach will involve utilizing a brewery 
waste product from a local supplier for beneficial reuse to minimize the chemical 
addition requirements for the facility’s biological process. A $1,080,000 grant was 
awarded by the State of Colorado (to improve water quality in Colorado) associated with 
Regulation #85 (a nutrient management control regulation).  It is not anticipated that the 
additional cost over original estimate will impact the current operating or CIP budget, 
given higher than expected Plant Investment Fee (PIF) revenues and available fund 
balance. The completion of this project is anticipated in early 2017.    

Landlink Replacement Project (LRP+)  
This request appropriates $100,000 from the Open Space Fund fund balance to replace 
current outdated permitting systems. The Open Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) 
Department is participating, along with Planning & Development Services, Finance, 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 4Packet Page 120

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/129012/Electronic.aspx


Parking, and Code Enforcement, in the Landlink Replacement Project (LRP+), a new 
citywide enterprise permitting software upgrade. The LandLink System will assist OSMP 
in delivering essential services, help manage data and operations, and track and collect 
revenue as they relate to Commercial Use, Off Trail, Parking, Special Use permits, as 
well as assist with the Voice & Sight tag process. Phase I, which covered GIS integration 
configuration, programming business processes, and writing technical specifications to 
integrate with the city’s financial system have been completed. Phase II began October 
2015, this phase will utilize consultant services to support configuration with a planned 
implementation the first quarter of 2017. The funding being requested is the OSMP share 
of the estimated costs associated with this project. 

Overview of Total Requests 
In common usage in city meetings, the April/May and November/December budget 
supplementals are also referred to as the First Adjustment to Base and Second 
Adjustment to Base, respectively. The current year’s council-approved budget is the 
“base” in the term Adjustment to Base (ATB). 

In total, the city recommends $16,475,600 in appropriations, of which $5,884,852 come 
from new revenues and $10,590,749 from fund balance. The Nov. 17, 2015 agenda, item 
3D includes a detailed narrative of each budget supplemental request in Attachment B, a 
summary table of the supplemental requests in Attachment C, and a schedule reflecting 
the impact of the supplemental appropriations for 2015 on the projected fund balance for 
each fund in Attachment D.  

PUBLIC AND COUNCIL FEEDBACK 
There were no questions from the public on first reading.  

On p. 36 of the council packet for the Nov. 17 City Council Meeting, the description for 
one of the budget supplemental requests inadvertently left off the intended use of a 
portion ($25,000) of the funds. At the Council Agenda Committee (CAC) meeting on 
Nov.16, council asked for clarification of this request. Below is a reworded description 
including all supplemental appropriation being requested for this item and clarifying the 
request that was sent to hotline following the Nov. 16 CAC request. 

Police - Miscellaneous Services-Dispatch - $65,750 
This is a request to appropriate funds of $65,750 from the Miscellaneous Services 
revenue. Funds have been received from American Medical Response (AMR) under a 
contract with our Communications Center to dispatch their services on emergency calls, 
and from Boulder Regional Emergency Telephone Authority (BRETSA) in support of 
Communication Aided Dispatch (CAD) services. These funds are being requested to be 
used as follows: $40,750 one-time funding in support of project management for the new 
Records Management System implementation and $25,000 for one-time replacement 
costs of Communication Center equipment. 

ATTACHMENTS 
A. Ordinance 8092 relating to supplemental appropriations to the 2015 Budget 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 5Packet Page 121

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/130864/Electronic.aspx
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/20151117_Agenda_Packet_Final2-1-201511131716.pdf


Attachment A 

ORDINANCE NO. 8092 1 

AN ORDINANCE RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL 2 
AFFAIRS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, 3 
MAKING SUPPLEMENTAL APPROPRIATIONS FOR 4 
THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2015 5 
SETTING FORTH DETAILS IN RELATION TO THE 6 
FOREGOING. 7 

8 

WHEREAS, Section 102 of the Charter of the City of Boulder provides that: "At any 9 

time after the passage of the annual appropriation ordinance and after at least one week's public 10 

notice, the council may transfer unused balances appropriated for one purpose to another 11 

purpose, and may by ordinance appropriate available revenues not included in the annual 12 

budget;" and 13 

WHEREAS, the City Council now desires to make certain supplemental appropriations 14 

for purposes not provided for in the 2015 annual budget; and, 15 

WHEREAS, required public notice has been given; 16 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 17 

OF BOULDER, COLORADO, that the following amounts are appropriated from additional 18 

projected revenues and from unused fund balances to the listed funds: 19 

Section 1.  General Fund 20 
21 

Appropriation from Fund Balance $  1,927,623 22 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue  $  1,255,235 23 
Increase in Revenue  $         7,250 24 

25 
Section 2.  Capital Development Fund 26 

27 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $       90,173 28 

29 
Section 3.  Library Fund 30 

31 
Appropriation from Fund Balance  $         2,500 32 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $     301,194 33 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 6Packet Page 122



Attachment A 

Section 4.  Lottery Fund 1 
2 

Appropriation from Additional Revenue $        11,631 3 
4 

Section 5.  Planning & Development Services Fund  5 
6 

Appropriation from Additional Revenue $        12,110 7 
Negative Appropriation $       (71,423) 8 

9 
Section 6.  Affordable Housing Fund 10 

11 
Appropriation from Fund Balance  $       526,584 12 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $    2,634,171 13 

14 
Section 7.  .25 Cent Sales Tax Fund  15 

16 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $       385,643 17 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $           5,450 18 

19 
Section 8.  Recreation Activity Fund  20 

21 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $          5,873 22 

23 
Section 9.  Climate Action Plan Fund  24 

25 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $       200,000 26 

27 
Section 10.  Open Space Fund 28 

29 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $       791,924 30 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $         85,982 31 
Decrease in Revenue  $        (20,014) 32 

33 
Section 11.  Transportation Fund 34 

35 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $         15,833 36 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $       584,500 37 
Increase in Revenue  $         14,025 38 

39 
Section 12.  Transportation Development Fund 40 

41 
Appropriation from Fund Balance  $         84,160 42 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $       100,000 43 

44 
45 
46 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 7Packet Page 123



Attachment A 

Section 13.  Community Development Block Grant Fund 1 
2 

Appropriation from Additional Revenue $          28,232 3 
4 

Section 14.  HOME Fund 5 
6 

Appropriation from Additional Revenue $        100,000 7 
8 

Section 15.  Permanent Parks and Recreation Fund  9 
10 

Appropriation from Fund Balance  $          13,227 11 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue  $          13,000 12 

13 
Section 16.  Capital Improvement Community, Culture & Safety  14 

15 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $            5,000 16 

17 
Section 17.  Water Utility Fund  18 

19 
Appropriation from Fund Balance  $        897,023 20 

21 
Section 18.  Wastewater Utility Fund  22 

23 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $     4,373,500 24 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $        432,039 25 

26 
Section19.  Stormwater/Flood Management Utility Fund 27 

28 
Appropriation from Fund Balance  $        373,500 29 

30 
Section 20.  Property and Casualty Fund  31 

32 
Appropriation from Fund Balance  $        170,000 33 

34 
Section 21. Workers Compensation Insurance Fund  35 

36 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $          26,930 37 

38 
Section 22.  Equipment Replacement Fund  39 

40 
Appropriation from Fund Balance  $        275,000 41 

42 
Section 23.  Facility Renovation and Replacement Fund  43 

44 
Appropriation from Fund Balance  $         735,482 45 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $           83,505 46 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 8Packet Page 124



Attachment A 

1 
Section 24.  The City Council finds that this ordinance is necessary to protect the public 2 

health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the City and covers matters of local concern. 3 

4 

Section 25.  If any part or parts hereof are for any reason held to be invalid, such shall not 5 

affect the remaining portion of this ordinance. 6 

7 

Section 26.  The Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 8 

only and order that copies of this ordinance be made available in the Office of the City Clerk for 9 

public inspection and acquisition. 10 

11 

INTRODUCED, READ, ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 12 

TITLE ONLY this 17th day of November, 2015.  13 

14 

15 

_________________________________ 16 

Mayor 17 

Attest: 18 

19 

20 

______________________________ 21 

City Clerk  22 

23 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 9Packet Page 125



Attachment A 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 1 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE this 1st day of December, 2015. 2 

3 

4 

__________________________________ 5 

Mayor 6 

Attest: 7 

8 

9 

_______________________________ 10 

City Clerk 11 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 10Packet Page 126



FOREST GLEN TRANSIT PASS GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE:  December 1, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE Consideration to adopt a resolution approving a supplemental 
appropriation to the 2015 Forest Glen Transit Pass General Improvement District 
Fund Budget.  

Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the City of Boulder Forest Glen Transit 
Pass General Improvement District Board of Directors and convene as the Boulder 
Junction Access Commission General Improvement District – Travel Demand 
Management Board of Directors. 

PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Finance 
Peggy Bunzli, Budget Officer 
Gina Coluzzi, Senior Analyst
Maria Diaz, Budget Analyst 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This budget supplemental resolution is the first to be presented to City Council for the 
2015 Forest Glen Transit Pass General Improvement District Fund. All supplementals 
adjust only the 2015 budget and are considered “one-time” adjustments.  As a result, this 
item will have no direct or immediate impact on the 2016 budget, reserving the annual 
budget process for consideration of ongoing budget requests so that all such requests may 
be evaluated comprehensively. 

Ordinances are adoptions of law that can only be done by a legislative body, like the City 
Council. Section 16 of the charter requires “all legislative enactments must be in the form 
of ordinances”. Non-legislative bodies, like corporations, improvement districts, 
committees, etc. cannot adopt ordinances so act by resolution or motion. Only ordinances 
require two readings (except for emergency ordinances); motions and resolutions are 
effective upon adoption after one reading.  Therefore, in order to have the budget actions 
for General Improvement Districts effective on the same date as City of Boulder budget 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 1Packet Page 127



actions related to similar budget cycle timing or items, GID resolutions are submitted for 
consideration at the same time as the second readings of budget ordinances. 

A proposed resolution is provided as Attachment A to this packet. The resolution 
contains request(s) to transfer funds from Forest Glen Transit Pass General Improvement 
District Fund to the Transportation Fund for the repayment of expenses. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
following motion: 

Motion to adopt a resolution approving a supplemental appropriation to the 2015 
Forest Glen Transit Pass General Improvement District Fund Budget.  

Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the City of Boulder Forest Glen Transit 
Pass General Improvement District Board of Directors and convene as the Boulder 
Junction Access Commission General Improvement District – Travel Demand 
Management Board of Directors. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

This supplemental ordinance appropriates funding for projects and services that 
positively affect economic, environmental or social sustainability in the community. 

OTHER IMPACTS 

 Fiscal - This resolution will appropriate $14,025 from fund balance in the Forest
Glen Transit Pass General Improvement District Fund.

 Staff time for this process is allocated in the Budget Division’s regular annual
work plan.

ANALYSIS 
This supplemental resolution appropriates $14,025, to correct the 2014 purchase of RTD 
transit passes for residents of the neighborhood inadvertently purchased out of the 
Transportation Fund as opposed to the Forest Glen Transit Pass GID, from which the 
purchase should have been made for the district. 

Attachment B shows the impact of this resolution on the Forest Glen Transit Pass 
General Improvement District fund balance.  

Agenda Item 3G     Page 2Packet Page 128



BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
The Forest Glen Transit Pass General Improvement District Board supports this request. 

ATTACHMENTS  
A. Proposed Resolution amending the 2015 Forest Glen Transit Pass General 

Improvement District Fund Budget  
B. 2015 Forest Glen Transit Pass General Improvement District Fund Activity 

Summary 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 3Packet Page 129



Attachment A 

RESOLUTION NO. 52 

A RESOLUTION RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL 
AFFAIRS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER FOREST GLEN 
TRANSIT PASS GENERAL IMPROVEMENT 
DISTRICT FUND, MAKING SUPPLEMENTAL 
APPROPRIATIONS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING 
DECEMBER 31, 2015, AND SETTING FORTH DETAILS 
IN RELATION THERETO. 

WHEREAS, the District now desires to make fund balance transfers to 

continue and complete a project previously authorized and approved; and 

WHEREAS, the District also desires to make certain supplemental 

appropriations for purposes not provided for in the 2015 Annual Appropriation 

Resolution: 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL, 

ACTING AS THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE FOREST GLEN TRANSIT 

PASS GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT THAT THE FOLLOWING BE 

ACCOMPLISHED: 

Section 1.   

Appropriation from Fund Balance $14,025 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 4Packet Page 130



Attachment A 

INTRODUCED, READ, PASSED AND ADOPTED the 1st day of December, 2015. 

________________________________________

Chair

Attest: 

______________________________ 

Secretary 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 5Packet Page 131



Attachment B

Projected
 Dec 31, 2015

FUND
Unreserved Fund 

Balance

Original Estimated 
Revenues (Including 

Xfers In)

Original 
Appropriations 

(Including 
Xfers Out)

Increase in 
Estimated 
Revenues

Appropriations 
(Including Xfers 

Out) Fund Balance

Forest Glen Transit Pass General Improvement District 25,628$                  14,655 15,081 0 14,025 11,177$  

2015 FUND ACTIVITY SUMMARY

At January 1, 2015 Budget Supplemental

Agenda Item 3G     Page 6Packet Page 132



BOULDER JUNCTION ACCESS COMMISSION GENERAL IMPROVEMENT 
DISTRICT – TRAVEL DEMAND MANAGEMENT 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: December 1, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE 
Consideration to adopt a resolution approving a supplemental appropriation to the 2015 
Boulder Junction Access Commission General Improvement District – Travel Demand 
Management Fund Budget. 

Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Boulder Junction Access Commission General 
Improvement District – Travel Demand Management Board of Directors and reconvene as 
the City Council. 

PRESENTERS 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Finance 
Peggy Bunzli, Budget Officer 
Gina Coluzzi, Senior Budget Analyst 
Maria Diaz, Budget Analyst 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This budget supplemental resolution is the first to be presented to City Council for the 
2015 Boulder Junction Access Commission General Improvement District (GID) – 
Travel Demand Management (TDM) Fund.  All supplementals adjust only the 2015 
budget and are considered “one-time” adjustments.  As a result, this item will have no 
direct or immediate impact on the 2016 budget, reserving the annual budget process for 
consideration of ongoing budget requests so that all such requests may be evaluated 
comprehensively. 

Ordinances are adoptions of law that can only be done by a legislative body, like the City 
Council. Section 16 of the charter requires “all legislative enactments must be in the form 
of ordinances”. Non-legislative bodies, like corporations, improvement districts, 
committees, etc. cannot adopt ordinances so act by resolution or motion. Only ordinances 
require two readings (except for emergency ordinances); motions and resolutions are 
effective upon adoption after one reading.  Therefore, in order to have the budget actions 
for General Improvement Districts effective on the same date as City of Boulder budget 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 1Packet Page 133



actions related to similar budget cycle timing or items, GID resolutions are submitted for 
consideration at the same time as the second readings of budget ordinances. 
A proposed resolution is provided as Attachment A to this packet. The resolution 
contains request(s) for supplemental increases to revenue estimates. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION   

Suggested Motion Language: 

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to adopt a resolution approving a supplemental appropriation to the 2015 Boulder 
Junction Access Commission GID-Travel Demand Management Fund Budget.  

Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Boulder Junction Access Commission 
General Improvement District – Travel Demand Management Board of Directors and 
reconvene as the City Council. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
This supplemental ordinance appropriates funding for projects and services that 
positively affect economic, environmental or social sustainability in the community. 

OTHER IMPACTS 
 Fiscal - This resolution will increase the estimated revenue in the Boulder

Junction Access Commission GID-Travel Demand Management Fund by 
$41,913. 

 Staff time for this process is allocated in the Budget Division’s regular annual
work plan.

ANALYSIS 
This supplemental resolution increases revenue estimates to reflect actual amount of 
Payments in Lieu of Taxes (PILOT) fees received in 2015.  As a new district, revenue 
assumptions have been made based on expected timing of development in the district and 
corresponding expenses have been budgeted accordingly. Due to the timing of 
development differing from original projections, 2015 revenues are greater than what was 
originally budgeted for 2015, while the beginning fund balance projected for 2015 was 
lower than originally projected. This adjustment, increasing revenue only, aligns actual 
revenue collections with the budget and allows for a restatement of estimated fund 
balance to include this revenue. 

Attachment B shows the impact of this resolution on the Boulder Junction Access 
Commission GID-Travel Demand Management fund balance.  

Agenda Item 3H     Page 2Packet Page 134



BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
The Boulder Junction Access GID-TDM Commission supports this request. 

ATTACHMENTS 
A. Proposed Resolution amending the 2015 Boulder Junction Access 

Commission GID- Travel Demand Management Fund Budget  
B. 2015 Boulder Junction Access Commission GID- Travel Demand Management 

Fund Activity Summary 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 3Packet Page 135



Attachment A 

RESOLUTION NO. 17 

A RESOLUTION RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL AFFAIRS 
OF THE CITY OF BOULDER BOULDER JUNCTION ACCESS 

COMMISSION GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT – 
TRAVEL DEMAND MANAGEMENT FUND, MAKING 

SUPPLEMENTAL REVENUE ESTIMATES FOR THE FISCAL 
YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2015, AND SETTING FORTH 

DETAILS IN RELATION THERETO. 

WHEREAS, the District now desires to continue and complete a project previously 

authorized and approved; and 

WHEREAS, the District also desires to make certain supplemental revenue estimates 

for purposes not provided for in the 2015 Annual Budget Resolution: 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL, ACTING AS 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE BOULDER JUNCTION ACCESS COMMISSION 

GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT – TRAVEL DEMAND MANAGEMENT THAT 

THE FOLLOWING BE ACCOMPLISHED: 

Section 1.   

Increase to Revenue Estimates $41,913 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 4Packet Page 136



Attachment A 

INTRODUCED, READ, PASSED AND ADOPTED the 1st day of December, 2015. 

________________________________________ 

Chair 

Attest: 

______________________________ 

 Secretary

Agenda Item 3H     Page 5Packet Page 137



Attachment B

Projected
 Dec 31, 2015

FUND
Unreserved Fund 

Balance

Original Estimated 
Revenues (Including 

Xfers In)

Original 
Appropriations 

(Including 
Xfers Out)

Increase in 
Estimated 
Revenues

Appropriations 
(Including Xfers 

Out) Fund Balance

Boulder Junction General Improv Dist - Tdm 47,886$                  82,828 148,695 41,913 - 23,932$  

2015 FUND ACTIVITY SUMMARY

At January 1, 2015 Budget Supplemental

Agenda Item 3H     Page 6Packet Page 138



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE:  December 1, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE 
Introduction and consideration of a motion to adopt Emergency Ordinance No. 8097 adopting 
Supplement No. 125, which codifies previously adopted Ordinance Nos. 8043, 8050, 8066, 8071, 
8089, and other miscellaneous corrections and amendments, as an amendment to the Boulder 
Revised Code, 1981. 

PRESENTER: 
Office of the City Attorney 
Thomas A. Carr, City Attorney 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The Boulder Revised Code (“B.R.C. 1981”) is the official book of laws of the City of Boulder.  Four 
times a year (quarterly), the City Council is asked to adopt supplements to the B.R.C. 1981.  An 
ordinance format is used to bring ordinances that the City Council adopted in the prior quarter, or 
effective prior to the upcoming supplement, into the B.R.C. 1981, and to ensure that there is no question 
regarding what constitutes the official laws of the City of Boulder.  These supplement ordinances are 
approved as a matter of routine by the City Council.  

In order to generate the printed supplements to the B.R.C. as soon as possible, council is asked to adopt 
the proposed ordinance at first reading as an emergency measure. 

The text of Supplement No. 125 has been previously adopted by the following ordinances: 

Ord 
#8043 

AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 10-12 “MOBILE HOMES” 
ADDING A NEW SECTION 10-12-25 “LIMITATION ON THE PROHIBITION OF 
SALES,” ADDING A SECTION 10-12-26 “LIMITATION ON REQUIRED UPGRADES TO 
EXISTING MOBILE HOMES,” AMENDING SECTION 10-12-2 TO ADD DEFINITIONS, 
AMENDING SECTION 10-12-3 TO MAKE SECTION 10-12-25 APPLICABLE TO ALL 
MOBILE HOME PARKS, AMENDING SECTION 10-12-4 TO PROVIDE FOR 
ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS.

Ord 
#8050 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 10 “STRUCTURES” AMENDING SECTION 10-1-1 
“DEFINITIONS” BY ADDING A NEW DEFINITION OF “ACCESSORY UNIT,” 
AMENDING THE DEFINITION OF “RENTAL PROPERTY,” AMENDING SECTION 10-
3-2 “RENTAL LICENSE REQUIRED BEFORE OCCUPANCY AND LICENSE 
EXEMPTIONS,” ADDING A NEW DEFINITION OF “SHORT-TERM RENTAL,” 
ADDING A NEW SECTION 10-3-19 “SHORT-TERM RENTALS” AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS. 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 1Packet Page 139



Ord 
#8066 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING AND REPLACING SECTION 4-1-8 “INSURANCE 
REQUIRED,” B.R.C. 1981 TO UPDATE MINIMUM INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR 
LICENSEES AND PERMITTEES, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

Ord 
#8071 

AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 10 “STRUCTURES,” ADDING A 
NEW CHAPTER 10-7.7 “COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL ENERGY EFFICIENCY,” 
AMENDING SECTION 10-1-1, “DEFINITIONS” BY ADDING DEFINITIONS OF 
“COMMERCIAL OR INDUSTRIAL,” “FLOOR AREA” AND “RETRO-
COMMISSIONING,” AND SETTING  FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

Ord 
#8089 

AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 5 “GENERAL OFFENSES” BY 
AMENDING SECTION 5-3-7, “AGGRESSIVE BEGGING PROHIBITED” AMENDING 
SECTION (a)(1) AND REPEALING SECTION (a)(4) AND (c) AND REPEALING 
SECTION 5-3-12 “BEGGING IN CERTAIN PLACES PROHIBITED” AND SETTING 
FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

FISCAL IMPACTS: 
Budgetary:   None 
Staff Time:   None beyond the time always allocated to code maintenance in the City Attorney’s 

overall work plan. 
Economic:    None 

COUNCIL FILTER IMPACTS: 
Ongoing code maintenance is an essential and largely administrative obligation of the city. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following motion:  

Motion to adopt Emergency Ordinance No. 8097 regarding Supplement No. 125. 

FORMAT NOTES: 

Code amendments (if any) may be reflected in strike out and double underline format along with a 
“Reason for Change” as part of this agenda item.  Such amendments are intended to correct non-
substantive errors discovered through review of these ordinances and/or which may have occurred in 
previously adopted ordinances already in the B.R.C. 1981.  Major and/or substantive corrections or 
revisions are brought forward as a separate ordinance to City Council during the normal course of future 
City Council business. 

DISCUSSION: 

This supplement includes ordinances that were adopted by the City Council in the last supplement 
quarter, or are effective prior to the upcoming supplement.  They are added to the official version of the 
B.R.C. 1981 by way of the attached supplement ordinance.  The City Council adopts a quarterly 
supplement ordinance to ensure that a clearly identifiable version of the Boulder Revised Code is 
legislatively adopted. 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 2Packet Page 140



The printed supplements to the B.R.C. may not be distributed until the proposed adopting ordinance is 
effective.  The laws of the city should be current and available to the residents of the City of Boulder as 
soon as possible, therefore, council is asked to adopt the proposed ordinance at first reading as an 
emergency measure. 

AMENDMENTS: 

1. Section 3-12-2, “Imposition of Climate Action Plan Excise Tax,” B.R.C. 1981 is amended to

read: 

…. 
(b) The Climate Action Plan excise tax shall expire on March 31, 2018 2023. 
…. 

Reason for change:  On November 3, 2015, voters approved Ord. 8057, extending the expiration of the 
Climate Action Plan Excise Tax from March 31, 2018 to March 31, 2023.  This amendment reflects that 
voter approved extension. 

ATTACHMENT: 

A -  Proposed Emergency Ordinance No. 8097 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 3Packet Page 141



K:\ccco\o-8097 supp 125-2347.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8097 

AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE ADOPTING SUPPLEMENT NO. 125, 
WHICH CODIFIES PREVIOUSLY ADOPTED ORDINANCE NOS. 8043, 
8050, 8066, 8071, 8089, AND OTHER MISCELLANEOUS 
CORRECTIONS AND AMENDMENTS, AS AN AMENDMENT TO THE 
BOULDER REVISED CODE, 1981, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Legislative Findings. 

A.   Supplement No. 125 amending the Boulder Revised Code 1981 (“B.R.C.”) has been 
printed. 

B.   The City Council intends that this supplement be codified and published as a part of the 
B.R.C. 

C.    Supplement No. 125 to the B.R.C. is a part of this ordinance and contains all of the 
amendments to the B.R.C. enacted by the City Council in Ordinance Nos. 8043, 8050, 8066, 8071, 
8089, and other miscellaneous corrections and amendments. The City Council intends to adopt this 
supplement as an amendment to the B.R.C. 

D.    The ordinances contained in Supplement No. 125 are available in printed copy to each 
member of the City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, and the published text of the supplement, 
along with the text of those ordinances, is available for public inspection and acquisition in the office of 
the city clerk of the City of Boulder, in the Municipal Building, 1777 Broadway, Boulder, Colorado. 

Section 2.  The City Council adopts Supplement No. 125 by this reference. 

Section 3.  The City Council orders that a copy of Supplement No.125 as proposed for adoption 

by reference herein be on file in the office of the city clerk of the City of Boulder, Colorado, Municipal 

Building, 1777 Broadway, City of Boulder, Boulder County, Colorado, and may be inspected by any 

person at any time during regular business hours pending of the adoption of this ordinance. 

Section 4.  The annotations, source notes, codifier’s notes, and other editorial matter included in 

the printed B.R.C. are not part of the legislative text.  These editorial provisions are provided to give the 

Attachment A
Proposed Supp 125

Emergency Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 4Packet Page 142



K:\ccco\o-8097 supp 125-2347.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

public additional information for added convenience.  No implication or presumption of a legislative 

construction is to be drawn from these materials. 

Section 5.  The B.R.C., or any chapter or section of it, may be proved by a copy certified by the 

city clerk of the City of Boulder, under seal of the city; or, when printed in book or pamphlet form and 

purporting to be printed by authority of the city.  It shall be received in evidence in all courts without 

further proof of the existence and regularity of the enactment of any particular ordinance of the B.R.C. 

Section 6.  These provisions of the B.R.C. shall be given effect and interpreted as though a 

continuation of prior laws and not as new enactments. 

Section 7.  Unless expressly provided otherwise, any violation of the provisions of the B.R.C., as 

supplemented herein, shall be punishable by a fine of not more than one thousand dollars or 

incarceration for not more than ninety days in jail, or by both such fine and incarceration, as provided in 

section 5-2-4, “General Penalties,” B.R.C. 1981. 

Section 8.  Section 3-12-2, “Imposition of Climate Action Plan Excise Tax,” B.R.C. 1981 is 

amended to read: 

…. 
(b) The Climate Action Plan excise tax shall expire on March 31, 2018 2023. 
…. 

Section 9.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of the 

residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 10.  The printed supplements cannot be distributed until the adopting ordinance is 

effective.  The laws of the city should be current and available to the residents of the City of Boulder as 

soon as possible.  On that basis, this ordinance is declared to be an emergency measure and shall be in 

full force and effect upon its final passage. 

Attachment A
Proposed Supp 125

Emergency Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 5Packet Page 143



K:\ccco\o-8097 supp 125-2347.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

READ ON FIRST READING, PASSED, ADOPTED AS AN EMERGENCY MEASURE BY 

TWO-THIRDS COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY 

this 1st day of December 2015. 

____________________________________ 
            Mayor 

Attest: 

______________________________ 
City Clerk  

Attachment A
Proposed Supp 125

Emergency Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 6Packet Page 144



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: December 1, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE: 
Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only 
Ordinance No. 8098 amending Sections 8-3-7, “Regulation of Horses and Livestock,” 
and 8-3-11, “Sledding and Skiing in Open Space and Mountain Parks Prohibited,” and 
adding a new section 7-6-31, “Horse Trailer Parking.”  

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Tracy Winfree, Director, Open Space and Mountain Parks 
Joe Reale, Ranger Supervisor 
Janet T. Michels, Sr. Assistant City Attorney  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This memorandum presents two recommended changes to Boulder Revised Code 1981 
(B.R.C.) ordinances 8-3-7 “Regulation of Horses and Livestock” and 8-3-11 “Sledding 
and Skiing in Open Space and Mountain Parks Prohibited” in order to enact portions of 
the West Trail Study Area (TSA) Plan. An additional change to the B.R.C creating a new 
ordinance 7-6-31 “Horse Trailer Parking” is recommended to allow for official 
designation and enforcement of horse trailer parking at Open Space and Mountain Parks 
trailheads. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to introduce on first reading and order published by title only Ordinance No. 
8098 amending Sections 8-3-7, “Regulation of Horses and Livestock,” and 8-3-11, 
“Sledding and Skiing in Open Space and Mountain Parks Prohibited” and adding a new 
section 7-6-31, “Horse Trailer Parking,” of the Boulder Revised Code 1981. 

Agenda Item 3J     Page 1Packet Page 145



COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
• Economic – No economic impacts are anticipated.
• Environmental – Regulating areas where horses and sledding activities are

allowed on Open Space and Mountain Parks was identified in the West TSA Plan
and the Visitor Master Plan as a way to mitigate adverse effects on agricultural
and ecological resources.

• Social – The proposed regulatory changes are intended to help sustain a high-
quality visitor experience by reducing conflict, providing appropriate areas for
desired visitor use, and providing dedicated parking resources to enhance
horseback riding activities.

OTHER IMPACTS 
• Fiscal – Minimal one-time financial expenditures for signs and infrastructure.
• Staff time – No additional staff time is required for these changes.

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
The Open Space Board of Trustees was advised of these regulation updates on Aug. 12, 
2015. The West TSA Plan was approved by council in November of 2011 and the Visitor 
Master Plan was approved in April of 2005. 

Board discussion included questions related to city manager authority relative to sliding 
areas, the ability for other TSAs to designate additional sliding areas and how the parking 
ordinance would allow rangers to enforce horse trailer parking.  The board was generally 
appreciative of the staff’s work to implement the intent of the West TSA. 

BACKGROUND 
Horseback Riding 
The Open Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) Charter, Section 176 states, “Open space 
land shall be acquired, maintained, preserved, retained, and used only for the following 
purposes: … (c) Preservation of land for passive recreational use, such as hiking, 
photography or nature studies, and, if specifically designated, bicycling, horseback 
riding, or fishing;.” Bicycling and fishing on OSMP lands are currently regulated 
consistently with this clause, while horseback riding has not had a specific ordinance to 
address this requirement.  

The West TSA (2011) (p43) called for specifically designating where horseback riding 
would be allowed. Both the Marshall Mesa-Southern Grasslands TSA (2005) and the 
Eldorado Mountain/Doudy Draw TSA (2006) contain specific on-trail area requirements 
for horses and prohibits them from Habitat Conservation Areas. In order to provide a 
consistent management framework and to meet the charter requirements, 8-3-7, B.R.C. 
1981, Regulation of Horses and Livestock (Attachment A) will be amended to include a 
new section (d) which will prohibit horseback riding in any area of the previously 
approved TSAs unless the area has been specifically designated for that use. When this 
ordinance is adopted, the horseback riding areas called for in the West TSA will be 
implemented. No changes to current horseback riding opportunities will occur anywhere 
else in the system.   

Agenda Item 3J     Page 2Packet Page 146



Horse Trailer Parking  
The three completed trail study areas have all included improvements to trailheads to 
include the addition or improvement of horse trailer parking. However, despite signs 
specifically designating areas of the trailheads as “Horse Trailer Parking Only,” these 
spots are consistently occupied by other vehicles. This is a source of great frustration to 
equestrian users who often travel long distances to trailheads only to find that there is no 
parking available. At this time there is not a clear ordinance which would prohibit this 
from happening. In order to provide a consistent means of enforcing this parking 
designation, a new ordinance, 7-6-31, B.R.C. 1981, Horse Trailer Parking, will be 
adopted. 

Sledding and Skiing 
The West TSA (p47), states, “Prohibit (by City Manager’s Rule) the use of snowboards 
and skis (when heel is fixed to the ski) in designated sledding locations.” The Boulder 
Revised Code currently contains an ordinance which prohibits “sliding” on OSMP Lands 
(8-3-11, B.R.C., 1981), and a City Manager’s Rule cannot be used to modify an 
ordinance. So, in order to enact the provisions of the West TSA, the existing ordinance 
will be amended to prohibit snowboarding or skiing with a fixed heel on OSMP lands. 
(Attachment A) 

ANALYSIS 
Following the West TSA approval process in late 2011, staff has been gradually 
following implementation steps including rerouting of trails, restoration of undesignated 
trails, modification of regulations, habitat improvement and other changes.  The 
September 2013 flood impacted the implementation pace of a number of work program 
items, including the West TSA.  Among the work program requirements identified in the 
West TSA is changing ordinances to document designated equestrian access and to 
clarify allowed sledding and skiing.   

As noted previously, the Open Space Charter, approved by the voters, states that certain 
passive recreation activities, such as bicycling, horseback riding and fishing, need to be 
specifically designated.  Both the Marshall Mesa-Southern Grasslands TSA and the 
Eldorado Mountain/Doudy Draw TSA included areas in which horseback riding was 
prohibited and the West TSA included trail by trail horse regulations as well as broad 
area designations (Attachment B). In order to implement the West TSA requirements and 
to provide a single consistent regulation to meet charter requirements, OSMP and City 
Attorney’s Office staff worked collaboratively to develop language amending sections of 
B.R.C 8-3-7, “Regulation of Horses and Livestock.”   

The aforementioned plans also call for improving trailhead access for equestrian users. 
The OSMP department has made significant investments in infrastructure changes to 
accommodate horse trailers in multiple trailheads. However, the designated horse trailer 
parking is regularly filled with passenger vehicles preventing equestrian access to 
adjacent trails. Currently, there is not an applicable parking regulation to address this 

Agenda Item 3J     Page 3Packet Page 147



issue. In order to address this need, OSMP and City Attorney’s Office staff created an 
additional section in 7-6-31, “Horse Trailer Parking.” 

OSMP staff worked with equestrian community members and received feedback to better 
clarify the implementation ordinances including the designated trail access and the 
enforceable horse trailer parking. 

The OSBT reviewed, asked questions and provided input to staff relative to these 
ordinances at its August 2015 board meeting.     

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to introduce on first reading and order published by title only, an ordinance 
amending Sections of 8-3-7, “Regulation of Horses and Livestock,” and 8-3-11 “Sledding 
and Skiing in Open Space and Mountain Parks Prohibited” and adding a new section 7-6-
31 “Horse Trailer Parking,” of the Boulder Revised Code 1981. 

ATTACHMENTS 
A. An ordinance adding sections 7-6-31, “Horse Trailer Parking,” and amending 

sections 8-3-7 “Regulation of Horses and Livestock,” and 8-3-11, “Sledding in 
Open Space and Mountain Parks Prohibited,” B.R.C. 1981 and setting forth 
related details. 

B. OSMP Horse Regulations 

Agenda Item 3J     Page 4Packet Page 148



K:\omop\o-8098-1st-yop.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

ORDINANCE NO. 8098 

AN ORDINANCE ADDING SECTIONS 7-6-31, “HORSE 
TRAILER PARKING,” AND AMENDING SECTIONS 8-3-7, 
“REGULATION OF HORSES AND LIVESTOCK,” AND 8-3-11, 
“SLEDDING IN OPEN SPACE AND MOUNTAIN PARKS 
PROHIBITED,” B.R.C. 1981, AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  A new Section 7-6-31 is added as follows: 

7-6-31. – Horse Trailer Parking. 

(a) No vehicle shall be parked in a space designated for horse trailer parking by any sign or 
pavement marking reasonably indicating designation for horse trailer parking, except a 
horse trailer and a motor vehicle that is attached to the horse trailer. 

(b) This section applies to all spaces designated for horse trailer parking on open space and 
mountain parks properties. 

(c) When a traffic control sign is in place giving notice thereof, no vehicle shall remain in a 
space designated for horse trailer parking for longer than the time designated thereon. 

(d) As used in this section, horse trailer shall mean any trailer designed for transporting horses, 
mules, llamas, burros or other equine animals that is pulled behind another vehicle, and 
shall include equine haulers and equine motorcoaches.  

(e) No vehicle shall be parked in any parking area on open space and mountain parks 
properties where the vehicle is used in the staging of a commercial use event as defined in 
section 8-8-9, B.R.C. 1981, unless such parking is specifically authorized in the commercial 
use permit issued for the event. 

Section 2.  Section 8-3-7, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

8-3-7. - Regulation of Horses and Livestock. 

(a) No owner, agent, employee, operator, or concessionaire of any commercial horse stable, 
riding school, or livery shall use any park, parkway, recreation area, or open space for 
grazing or pasture of livestock without first obtaining a permit from the city manager.  

(b) Except pursuant to a lease with the city, no owner, agent, employee, operator, or 
concessionaire of any commercial horse stable, riding school, or livery shall use any park, 
parkway, recreation area, or open space for training, riding, or trail riding activities of 
customers without first obtaining a permit from the city manager, completing an application 
that includes the amount of use, times and dates of use, trails, or areas to be used, and other 
details of the use, and paying the fee prescribed by Section 4-20-40, "Horse Concession Park 
Use Fee," B.R.C. 1981.  

ATTACHMENT A - OSMP ORD

Agenda Item 3J     Page 5Packet Page 149



K:\omop\o-8098-1st-yop.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

(c) No person shall ride or lead horses on any landscaped park or recreation area except upon a 
public equestrian trail so designated by the city manager.  

(d) No person shall take or ride any horse, mule, llama, burro, or other equine animal upon any 
open space and mountain parks property within the boundaries shown in Appendix A, 
except where designated for that use by the city manager. 

Section 3.  Section 8-3-11, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

8-3-11. – Sledding and Skiing in Open Space and Mountain Parks Prohibited. 

(a)  Except as provided in this section, nNo person shall sled, toboggan, or slide in any recreation 
area or open space or and mountain park property, except on roadways, designated trails, or 
other areas designated and posted for that use by the city manager. 

(b)   No person shall snowboard, ski, or otherwise slide upon open space and mountain parks 
properties when that person’s heel is fixed to the ski, board or sliding device. 

Section 4.  The city manager is authorized to adopt rules and regulations that the manager 

determines are reasonably necessary to implement the requirements of this chapter. 

Section 5.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 6.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 1st day of December, 2015. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

City Clerk 

ATTACHMENT A - OSMP ORD

Agenda Item 3J     Page 6Packet Page 150



K:\omop\o-8098-1st-yop.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this _____ day of _________, 2015. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

City Clerk 

ATTACHMENT A - OSMP ORD

Agenda Item 3J     Page 7Packet Page 151



8-3-7(d)
Regulation of Horses and Livestock

Regulation Boundary

OSMP Fee Property0 1 20.5
Miles

User: hodgt1  Date: 7/9/2015  Document Path: E:\MapFiles\Regulatory\HorseRegs\Maps\HorseReg8_3_7d.mxd

Agenda Item 3J     Page 8Packet Page 152

fenic1
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT A - OSMP ORD



Diag
on

al 
 H

wy.

Br
oa

dw
ay

Balsam  Ave.

20th  St.

Pearl  St.
Arapahoe  Rd.

76
th

  S
t.

South  Boulder  Rd.

M
cC

aslin  Blvd.

55
th

  S
t.

28
th

St
.

30
th

St
.

Poorm an
Rd

.

Cany on Blvd.

University Ave. 28
th

 S
t.

30
th

 S
t.

Cente
nn

ial P
kw

y.

Pearl Pkwy.

G
ro

ss
Da

m
Rd.

Gross
D

am
Rd.

K
oss l er

Lake
R

d.

Coal Creek
Rd.

Rock
Cr. Pkwy

Magnoli
a Dr.

L ook
out Rd.

Pine  St.

Baseline Rd.

Walnut  St.
Canyon  Blvd.

Arapahoe Ave.

Colorado Ave.

H
w

y
93

9t
h 

 S
t.

75
th

 S
t

N
.  

B
ro

ad
w

ay

n Dr.

Boulder Cany o n
Dr

.

Fourm
ile

Canyon
Dr.

Linden
D

r.

O
ld

e
St

a g

63
rd

  S
t.

Jay Rd.

51
st

  S
t.

Mapleton Ave.

17
th

  S
t.

Arapahoe  Rd.

63rd  S
t.

57
th

  S
t.

Cherryvale Rd.

Ta
bl

e Mesa Dr.

55
th

  S
t.

M
cC

as
lin

  B
lv

d.

Via  Ap

Fo
ot

hi
lls

  P
kw

y.

Edgewood

Dr.

Linden Dr.

Yarmouth Ave.

Table  Mesa  Dr.

75
th

S
t.

61
st

St
.

Le
hi

gh
  S

t.

Moorhead  Ave.

Eldorado Sprin

gs
Dr.

Bison

Dr - P rivate

In
di

an
a 

 S
t.

Baseline  Rd.

nyon Dr.

Coal  Creek  Canyon Dr.

Baseline  Rd.

Sunshine Canyon
Dr.

Independence Rd.

Valmont Dr.

Flagstaff Dr.

Broadway

G
re

en

briar B lvd.

Pearl  St.

Fo
ls

om
  S

t.
Fo

ls
om

  S
t.

Fo
ot

hi
ll s

Pk
w

y.

C
he

rry
va

le
  R

d.

Marshall Dr.

Dillon

Rd.

75
th

  S
t.

Jay Rd.

Valmont  Rd.

19
th

  S
t.

Iris  Ave.

Baseline  Rd.

Violet Ave.

Lee Hill Dr.

28th
St. Ext.

S.  Broadway

Sources: Esri, DeLorme, USGS, NPS, Sources: Esri, USGS, NOAA

OSMP Horse Regulations

Horses Allowed on Trail

Horses Not Allowed on Trail

Regulation Boundary

Horses Allowed Off Trail

Horses Allowed Off Trail with HCA Permit

OSMP Fee Property0 1 20.5
Miles

User: HodgT1  Date: 8/10/2015  Document Path: E:\MapFiles\Regulatory\HorseRegs\Maps\ManagementTeam05132015\WTSA_STSA_HorseRegs.mxd

Agenda Item 3J     Page 9Packet Page 153

valem1
Typewritten Text

valem1
Typewritten Text

valem1
Typewritten Text

valem1
Text Box
Attachment B  - OSMP ORD



  CITY OF BOULDER 
  CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: December 1, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE:  Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order 
published by title only Ordinance No. 8099 approving the addition of the Schnell 
Homestead Property to the Western Mountain Park Habitat Conservation Area. 

PRESENTER/S 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Thomas Carr, City Attorney 
Tracy Winfree, Director, Open Space and Mountain Parks Department 
Janet Michels, Assistant City Attorney 
Joe Reale, Ranger Supervisor, Open Space and Mountain Parks  
Mark Gershman, Planning Supervisor, Open Space and Mountain Parks 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
In January 2015, the Open Space Board of Trustees (OSBT) unanimously (5-0) recommended that City 
Council approve the acquisition of the five-acre Schnell Homestead property as open space.  On Feb. 3, 
2015 City Council unanimously (8-0; Councilmember Shoemaker absent) approved this open space 
acquisition.   At the time of acquisition, both the OSBT (3-2) and council (8-0) approved the designation 
of the property as part of the Western Mountain Parks Habitat Conservation Area (HCA).    

This memorandum recommends City Council approval of the attached ordinance (Attachment A) which 
will formally designate the Schnell Homestead property as part of the Western Mountain Parks HCA.   

Agenda Item 3K     Page 1Packet Page 154



STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to introduce and order published by title only Ordinance No. 8099 approving the 
addition of the Schnell Homestead Property to the Western Mountain Parks Habitat 
Conservation Area.  

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
• Environmental: Open Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) is a significant community-supported

program that is recognized worldwide as a leader in preservation of open space lands
contributing to the environmental sustainability goal of the City Council. The department's land
acquisition, land and resource management and visitor service programs help preserve and
protect the Open Space values of these lands. The expansion of the Western Mountain Parks
HCA through the inclusion of the Schnell Homestead property will enhance the ecological value
of the HCA by increasing the block size of the habitat, and protecting additional ecological
important features such as the drainages and relatively undisturbed ponderosa pine forests.

• Economic:  OSMP contributes to the economic vitality goal of the city as it provides the context
for the diverse and vibrant economic system that sustains services for residents.  Diverse and
high-quality opportunities for visitor activities in the West TSA help attract and support
businesses and residents who seek such opportunities.

• Social:  Because the Open Space land system is accessible to all members of the community, it
helps support council’s community sustainability goal because all residents who live in Boulder
can feel a part of, and thrive in, this aspect of their community. The public will be afforded
access to the Schnell Homestead property on the Chapman Drive Trail.  In addition, permits for
off-trail travel in the Western Mountain Parks HCA are available to all on-line and at no charge.

OTHER IMPACTS 
• Fiscal:  The cost to designate the Schnell Homestead property as HCA is very minimal, and

chiefly associated with materials to fabricate signs, and services to update the off-trail permit
webpage.

• Staff time:  Initially it may take some staff time to acquaint OSMP visitors with the new
management designation and regulations. Signs, maps and other sources of HCA-related
information will be modified.

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
The Open Space Board of Trustees (OSBT) recommended (3-2) the designation of the Schnell 
Homestead property as an addition to the Western Mountain Parks HCA at its Jan. 14, 2015 meeting.  
City Council unanimously recommended this designation at its Feb. 3, 2015 meeting.  

The Board voted 3-2 in favor of recommending council include this parcel as part of the Western 
Mountain Parks HCA. One Board member voted no on the HCA recommendation because that Board 
member thought the designation should be heard as a separate agenda item at a separate meeting.  The 

Agenda Item 3K     Page 2Packet Page 155



other dissenting Board member thought it best to see what, if anything became of the proposal to 
dispose of a portion of this parcel for the establishment of a privately-owned and operated trail-side 
amenity.  The proponent for that project has since concluded that Boulder County would not allow the 
necessary land use revisions and has withdrawn his proposal.  

PUBLIC COMMENT AND PROCESS 
This item is being heard at this public meeting advertised in the Daily Camera on Nov. 29, 
2015.  While the HCA designation was approved by motion in February 2015, an ordinance 
is required to formalize the HCA designation.  The time lag between March 2015 and now is 
due to overall heavy workloads in OSMP. 

ANALYSIS 
The 2005 Visitor Master Plan introduced the concept of management area designations for OSMP 
properties as one way to help balance access for passive recreation, agricultural sustainability and 
ecological conservation across the OSMP land system.  The management areas allow the city to 
emphasize different open space purposes and services depending upon the nature and context of the 
land.   In Passive Recreation Areas, emphasis is placed upon public access and passive recreation.  
Agricultural Areas are where the OSMP manages the most intensive ranching and farming operations.  
OSMP relies upon Habitat Conservation Areas as the best opportunities to meet conservation objectives 
for ecological systems. Natural Areas contain a wide range of conditions and are managed to deliver a 
range of services frequently balancing a variety of OSMP management goals in one place.   

The Chapman and Schnell areas provide habitat to support a variety of forest- and riparian-dependent 
species.  These areas, along with adjacent areas such as Lost Gulch, combine to form the high-quality, 
large habitat blocks that are typical of the Western Mountain Parks Habitat Conservation Area. 

Although the management emphasis is reflected in the management area designation, there are often 
seasons or places where the emphasis shifts because of changing conditions. For example, OSMP 
visitors will have access to Schnell Homestead property via the Chapman Drive Trail which crosses the 
property.  

More information on the ecological values of the Schnell Homestead property can be found in 
Attachment B.  

ATTACHMENTS: 
A. Ordinance and Associated Map Exhibits 
B. Ecological Values of the Schnell Homestead Property 

Agenda Item 3K     Page 3Packet Page 156



ATTACHMENT A - SCHNELL HCA 

1 ORDINANCE NO. 8099 

2 

3 AN  ORDINANCE  ORDERING  THE  DESIGNATION  AND 
ADDITION  OF  APPROXIMATELY  112  ACRES  TO  THE 

4 WESTERN MOUNTAIN PARKS HABITAT CONSERVATION 
AREA PURSUANT TO SECTION 8-8-2, B.R.C. 1981. 

5 

6 
BE  IT  ORDAINED  BY  THE  CITY  COUNCIL  OF  THE  CITY  OF  BOULDER, 

7 
COLORADO: 

8 

9 Section 1.  Purpose and Findings 

10 

11 
(A) The purpose of this ordinance is to implement the policies and recommendations 

approved by the City Council on April 12, 2005 in the Open Space and Mountain Parks 
12 Visitor Master Plan.  This ordinance is subject to referendum as provided in the City 

Charter. 
13 

(B) Pursuant to Section 8-8-2, “Habitat Conservation Area Designation,” B.R.C. 1981, the 
14 city manager has identified and proposed the area described in this ordinance for 

restricted public use because those areas would appropriately constitute habitat 
15 conservation areas within the city’s open space and mountain parks system based upon 

the criteria set forth in the Open Space and Mountain Parks Visitor Master Plan. 
16 

(C) The city manager has sought and received advice and comments from the Open Space 
17 Board of Trustees on the areas included in this ordinance. 

18 
Section 2.  Under Section 8-8-2, B.R.C. 1981, the property described as Schnell 

19 
Homestead HCA Proposal on Exhibit “A” to this ordinance is designated as an addition to the 

20 
Western Mountain Parks HCA. 

21 
Section 3.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

22 

23 the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

24 

25 

S:\OSMP\ADMIN\Council\CC Memos 2015\Schnell Homestead HCA ordinance\o-adding Schnell to Western Mountain Parks HCA-1290.docx 

Agenda Item 3K     Page 4Packet Page 157



ATTACHMENT A - SCHNELL HCA 

1 Section 4.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

2 only and orders copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

3 public inspection and acquisition. 

4 
INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

5 

6 
TITLE ONLY this   day of   , 2015. 

7 

8 

9 Attest: 

10 

Mayor 

11 City Clerk 

12 READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

13 PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this    day of   , 2015. 

14 

15 

16 

17 Attest: 

18 

19 City Clerk 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Mayor 

S:\OSMP\ADMIN\Council\CC Memos 2015\Schnell Homestead HCA ordinance\o-adding Schnell to Western Mountain Parks HCA-1290.docx 

Agenda Item 3K     Page 5Packet Page 158



6000 

Schnell Homestead 
Proposed HCA 

ATTACHMENT A - SCHNELL HCA 

Exhibit A:  Schnell Homestead HCA Proposal 

119 

CChhaappmmaann 
DDrriivvee 

Schnell 
Homestead 

0  250 500 
Feet 

OSMP Trailhead 
with Designated Parking 
200 ft Contour 
40 ft Contour 
Multi-Use Trail 

OSMP Fee Property 
(Not HCA) 
Active Habitat 
Conservation Area 
Schnell Homestead 
HCA Proposal Agenda Item 3K     Page 6Packet Page 159



ATTACHMENT B – SCHNELL HCA 

ECOLOGICAL VALUES OF THE SCHNELL HOMESTEAD PROPERTY 

Wildlife surveys of Chapman Drive and Schnell areas have mostly been restricted to the OSMP fee 
properties surrounding the upper sections of Chapman Drive.  The recently purchased Schnell property 
has not been surveyed for breeding birds, forest hawks or owls due to the season of purchase. However, 
because the habitat surrounding the entire length of Chapman Drive is continuous and of equally high 
quality, monitoring data and habitat modeling of the upper sections of Chapman Drive can inform 
expectations of wildlife habitat and species’ use of the lower portions and Schnell as well.  In addition, 
motion-triggered cameras and tracking after snowfall have allowed staff to confirm several species of 
wildlife within the Schnell property during January and February 2013. Some areas, both adjacent to 
upper Chapman Drive as well as through the Schnell property and particularly drainages on the 
properties, appear to be heavily travelled by large species of wildlife including deer, elk, bear, mountain 
lions, bobcats, coyotes and foxes. 

Habitat suitability modeling in the upper Chapman Drive area was completed during the West Trail 
Study Area (TSA) process to inform conversations regarding management in the area.  Staff put together 
extensions to these highly-suitable habitat polygons on the Schnell property.  These models show that 
goshawk, black bear, and Abert’s squirrel highly-suitable habitat exist on Schnell. Field site visits to the 
area confirm that the habitat appears suitable for these indicator species and the habitats they represent. 

Forest Hawks  
Within the upper sections of Chapman Drive, three forest hawk breeding territories (two Cooper’s hawk 
and one sharp-shinned hawk) have been identified including several nesting structures used by these 
birds. Portions of the forest on the Schnell property appear to be of similar quality with the potential for 
additional Cooper’s, sharp-shinned or goshawk nesting. Highly-suitable habitat polygons for goshawk 
and other forest hawks in the upper Chapman area extend into the Schnell property in areas of similar 
habitat.  These species show a variety of sensitivity to human presence with goshawks showing the 
highest sensitivity and Cooper’s hawks showing a spectrum of sensitivity to humans depending on the 
location of their nests. Birds nesting in these areas are likely to be highly sensitive to human presence 
due to the previous extremely low levels of use in this area. 

Forest Owls  
Two flammulated owl territories are known in the area directly adjacent to upper Chapman Drive.  In 
addition, several territories are known in the adjacent Lost Gulch area.  Habitat characteristics appear to 
be suitable in some areas and so presence of breeding owls is expected if suitable nesting cavities are 
present. 

Ungulates  
Considerable quantities of deer scat detected during breeding bird surveys on upper Chapman Drive 
suggest heavy use of this area by this species.   In addition, signs of occasional elk use are evident on the 
property.  Tracks through snow in the drainages on Schnell also suggested these areas are used heavily 
by deer and possibly elk. 

Agenda Item 3K     Page 7Packet Page 160



ATTACHMENT B – SCHNELL HCA 

Bear  
Areas adjacent to upper Chapman Drive appear to be frequently travelled by bears as evidenced by scat 
detections during breeding bird surveys in the area.  The apparent movement corridors extend onto 
Schnell and also support substantial use by bears.  Highly-suitable habitat polygons near upper Chapman 
and adjacent to Schnell extend onto the Schnell property along the drainages on the property. 

Felines  
Studies including radio collared mountain lions and bobcats have shown frequent and extensive use of 
the areas surrounding Chapman Drive and on the Schnell property.  Areas along upper Chapman have 
been used successfully by researchers to capture and collar mountain lions.  Tracks and motion-activated 
cameras on Schnell indicate that this is popular habitat for mountain lions. 

Breeding Birds  
Breeding bird surveys of the areas surrounding upper Chapman Drive have detected a rich and diverse 
breeding bird community including shrub nesters and interior-forest birds. Breeding bird surveys have 
not been completed for the Schnell property due to the seasonality of the purchase.  However, general 
habitat types represented in the upper Chapman area appear to also exist on Schnell. 

Abert’s Squirrel 
Abert’s squirrel is an indicator species used in habitat modeling to represent ponderosa pine woodland 
habitats and the species they support in the West TSA.  The area surrounding upper Chapman Drive 
supports highly-suitable habitat as modeled for Abert’s squirrels.  Habitat on Schnell suggests that these 
adjacent highly-suitable habitat polygons extend onto this property as well.  Visits to the Schnell 
property during the winter showed heavy use, existence of nests and signs of Abert’s squirrel foraging in 
several areas of the Schnell property. 

Overall Wildlife Value  
The Chapman and Schnell areas provide habitat to support a variety of forest- and riparian-dependent 
species.  These areas, along with adjacent areas such as Lost Gulch, combine to form the high-quality, 
large habitat blocks that are typical of the Western Mountain Parks Habitat Conservation Area. 

Agenda Item 3K     Page 8Packet Page 161



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: December 1, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE: 
Consideration of the following items related to the annexation of the property at 4525 
Palo Parkway: 

1. Resolution No. 1177  finding the annexation petition in compliance with state
statutes and establishing Jan. 5, 2016, as the date for a public hearing;

2. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by
title only, Ordinance No. 9000 related to the annexation of a 3.2-acre property
with an initial zoning designation of Residential - Mixed 2 (RMX-2).

Applicant/Property Owner:  Boulder Housing Partners 

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Bob Eichem, Finance Director /Acting Executive Director of Administrative Services                        
David Driskell, Executive Director of Planning, Housing & Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Planning, Housing & Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Land Use Review Manager 
Jeff Yegian, Division of Housing Manager  
Sloane Walbert, Planner I 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Request to annex a 3.2 acre property into the City of Boulder with an initial zoning of 
Residential Mixed - 2 (RMX-2) to construct a 100% permanently affordable family 
housing development by Boulder Housing Partners (BHP), in partnership with Flatirons 
Habitat for Humanity including 44 triplexes, townhouses and apartment units in nine 
buildings.  

The city purchased the site from the Boulder Valley School District (BVSD) in 2006 with 
the goal of developing affordable housing. In early 2015 City Council authorized the 

Agenda Item 3L     Page 1Packet Page 162



transfer of the land to BHP, which will work in partnership with Flatirons Habitat for 
Humanity (Habitat) to pursue the entitlements and financing needed to develop the site. 
Following the approval of the transfer, BHP and the city executed a Land Transfer 
Agreement and Interim Permanent Affordable Covenant. Since the execution of the Land 
Transfer Agreement, BHP and Habitat have been working closely with residents of the 
surrounding neighborhoods to identify concerns, answer questions, and work together to 
design a conceptual plan for the site. This summer, BHP and Habitat hosted a community 
visioning workshop, property walkabouts, and a concept plan open house where 
neighbors could review and comment on three concept plan alternatives.  

Planning Board reviewed the proposed Annexation on November 19, 2015. Additionally, 
the Board reviewed and commented on a companion Concept Plan application. A 
subsequent Site Review application would be required prior to any development. A 
summary of the board’s discussion and recommendation on the annexation can be found 
below under “Board and Commission Feedback.” 

Per the State’s annexation statutes, City Council is asked to consider the attached 
annexation resolution as provided in Attachment B. The annexation resolution is a 
procedural step required under state law to determine that the petition to annex the 3.2-
acre property complies with section 31-12-107(1), C.R.S. and to set a hearing to 
determine compliance with other annexation requirements. The ordinance to annex the 
property is provided for first reading in Attachment C. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motions: 

1. Motion to approve Resolution No. 1177 finding the annexation petition in
compliance with state statutes and establishing Jan. 5, 2016 as the date for a
public hearing and council action on the annexation ordinance.

2. Motion to introduce on first reading and to order published by title only
Ordinance No. 9000:

a. Annexing a 3.2-acre area of land generally located 4525 Palo Parkway with an
initial zoning classification of Residential - Mixed 2 (RMX-2);

b. Authorizing variations and modifications to the Boulder Revised Code to allow
the signing of the annexation agreement following first reading.

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 Economic - It is in the interest of the city to annex properties in the county to

avoid the economic burden that could arise should independent septic systems fail
and impact city assets, such as creek systems or open space properties are affected
by such failures.  The additional units also add to the tax base of the community.

Agenda Item 3L     Page 2Packet Page 163



 Environmental - There are environmental benefits of having properties connected
to city water and sewer, specifically, the avoidance of the potential impacts of
independent septic system failure.

 Social - If developed as proposed including both rental and homeownership,
development will add 44 units of permanently affordable housing to the city’s
inventory providing housing for diverse community members. The site will
feature a mix of affordable rental and homeownership opportunities serving
residents earning 60% AMI or below. Over the past year, BHP has been working
closely with residents of the surrounding neighborhoods to design a conceptual
plan for the site. This summer, BHP hosted a community visioning workshop,
property walkabouts, and a concept plan open house where neighbors could
review and comment on three concept plan alternatives.

OTHER IMPACTS 
 Fiscal - City services are existing and available to this site.  All development will

be subject to city development fees including payment of Storm Water, Flood
Management, and utility Plant Investment Fees (PIFs).

 Staff time - The annexation application has been processed through the provisions
of a standard annexation process and is within normal staff work plans.

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
Boulder County Commission: Annexations are subject to county referral and city 
Planning Board recommendation prior to City Council action. The county has reviewed 
the request and has not objected to the proposal. 

Planning Board:  On Nov. 19, 2015, the Planning Board reviewed the proposed 
annexation along with a Concept Plan Review application. The Board agreed that the 
proposal would be consistent with the city’s annexation policies and meets the level of 
community benefit outlined in the BVCP. They also agreed that a zoning of Residential 
Mixed – 2 (RMX-2) is appropriate as the initial zoning for the property. The Board 
unanimously (4-0, B. Bowen recused, L. May absent) recommended to City Council 
approval of the proposed annexation with initial zoning of Residential Mixed – 2 (RMX-
2), subject to the recommended conditions of approval for the annexation as provided for 
in the draft annexation agreement but making the placement of a multi-use path 
conditioned on an approved site review and city manager discretion.  The recommended 
changes to the annexation agreement have been made to the agreement located in 
Attachment D. 

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
Required public notice was given in the form of written notification mailed to all property 
owners within 600 feet of the subject site and a sign posted on the property for at least 10 
days. Thus, all notice requirements of section 9-4-3, B.R.C. 1981 have been met. In the 
stated desired outcomes for the property compiled for the transfer of the property, City 
Council stated “through an open, inclusive and transparent process, the city and BHP 
will identify options [with a]…collaborative public process from concept planning 

Agenda Item 3L     Page 3Packet Page 164



through final development approval.” BHP has led several public engagement events 
over the past year to meet this intent and ensure that the neighborhood had ample 
opportunity to influence the design process and communicate their concerns. According 
to the written statement, BHP has organized 25 meetings, including focus groups, 
visioning workshop, online survey, walking tours, and an open house. 

Neighborhood Comments: 
Staff has received significant public comments regarding the project, which included both 
those with concerns and those in support of the project. Many neighbors in the 
surrounding neighborhoods are concerned about compatibility with the character of the 
area, traffic, parking and safety. The general themes of public concern have been 
summarized below. 

 Traffic and Congestion – Palo Pkwy is already congested. The proposal would
increase traffic on quiet neighborhood streets and create an unsafe traffic
condition for motorists, cyclists, and pedestrians in the neighborhood. Kalmia
Estates is still under construction so true impacts are unknown. People will cut
through Northfield Commons or Kalmia Estates to avoid traffic lights and backed
up traffic.

 Compatibility – The proposal is not compatible with the existing character of the
surrounding area.

 Density – The proposal includes too many units and is too intense to be
compatible with the surrounding neighborhood.

 Parking –Parking along Palo Parkway is scarce. It can be difficult to have two
cars pass each other due to the parking density on both sides of the street. On-
street parking in Northfield Commons is heavily utilized, especially during
evenings/weekends with visitors. The proposed surface parking is not compatible
with the neighborhood and garages should be provided.

 Affordable Housing – The neighborhood is bearing more density and
incorporating more affordable housing than most neighborhoods in Boulder.
Affordable Housing should be located in areas with better access to public transit.

 Environmental – Concerns that development could displace groundwater and
deposit it into the creek, which is incapable of handling extra water. The water
table is very high in Palo Park. The 2013 flood apparently deposited silt in the
creek bed and subsequent overflows of the creek have deposited more silt along
its sides and on the overpasses.

 Safety –The terminus of Palo Parkway serves as an access to the Four Mile Creek
system of bike paths and trails and East Palo Park and is popular with pedestrians
and bicyclists. Extra vehicular traffic on the streets is a safety concern for children
and pets.

 Consistency with BVCP – The plan is inconsistent with the policies of the BVCP.
The definition of medium density residential is “medium density areas are
generally situated near community shopping areas or along some of the major
arterials of the city.”

 Proposal will affect the quality of life enjoyed by neighborhood residents.

Agenda Item 3L     Page 4Packet Page 165



Figure 1: Birds-Eye View of Existing Context 

 Support for the provision of affordable housing, especially family-oriented
housing. Affordable housing is desperately needed and BHP has undergone a
significant public outreach effort on this proposal.

BACKGROUND 
The 3.2-acre property is located in Boulder County at the eastern terminus of Palo 
Parkway (refer to Figure 1 below). The property is bounded to the east by the Pleasant 
View Fields soccer sports complex, which is owned and managed by City of Boulder 
Parks and Recreation. The subject property is undeveloped and has been vacant since at 
least the 1940’s. The subject property was initially platted as Outlot E on the Palo Park 
Filing No. 4 subdivision, a planned unit development subdivision recorded April 11, 
1984. On the plat, Outlot E was deeded to Boulder Valley School District for “school 
purposes.” The area directly the west of the subject property was later platted with 
smaller residential lots under Palo Park Filing No. 4 – Replat B. Fourmile Canyon Creek 
is located along the north boundary of the property, which is enclosed by City of Boulder 
Open Space land. Refer to criterion 1 under the concept plan criteria in Section IV of this 
memo for additional information on the characteristics of the site and surrounding areas. 

The property is located in Area II in the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP), 
which is the “area now under county jurisdiction, where annexation to the city can be 
considered consistent with policies 1.16 Adapting to Limits on Physical Expansion, 1.18 
Growth Requirements and 1.24 Annexation. New urban development may only occur 
coincident with the availability of adequate facilities and services and not otherwise.” 
The subject property is surrounded to the north and west by the Area II. The location and 
characteristics of this land make it potentially suitable for new urban development, based 
on the apparent lack of sensitive environmental areas, hazard areas, and significant 

Agenda Item 3L     Page 5Packet Page 166



agricultural lands, the feasibility of efficient urban service extension, and contiguity to 
the existing Service Area, which maintains a compact community. Refer to Figure 2 on 
the following page. The property is part of the Palo Park Subcommunity. However, an 
area plan has not been adopted for this subcommunity. 

Figure 2: BVCP Planning Areas 

As shown in Figure 3 on the following page, the site is currently designated as MR 
(Medium Density Residential) under the BVCP Land Use Map with a planned density of 
six to 14 units per acre. As part of the 2000 Major Update to the BVCP, the property was 
approved for a land use designation change from low density residential to medium 
density residential to ensure a mixture of housing types, provide compatibility with 
adjacent land uses and to provide for affordable housing. 

The property is located in unincorporated Boulder County with a county zoning of SR – 
Suburban Residential, which is defined as “low density suburban residential areas.” 
(Article 4-105, Boulder County Land Use Code). The applicant has proposed a zoning 
designation of Residential - Mixed 2 (RMX-2) as part of annexation. This zone district is 
described as “medium density residential areas which have a mix of densities from low 
density to high density and where complementary uses may be permitted” (section 9-5-
2(c), B.R.C. 1981). Refer to Figure 4 on the following page for surrounding city zone 
districts. The BVCP defines medium density residential development as six to 14 
dwelling units per acre. Thus, the proposal of 13.7 dwelling units per acre is consistent 
with medium density development. 

Area II 

Area I 

Agenda Item 3L     Page 6Packet Page 167



Figure 3: BVCP Land Use 

Figure 4: Surrounding City Zoning Districts 

The property was originally included in the neighborhood planning process that preceded 
the adjacent Northfield Commons and Vojta Farms development. Initially, the city 
explored options for creating faculty and staff housing for Boulder Valley School District 
(BVSD) on the site. However, the school district decided that this was not something it 

Agenda Item 3L     Page 7Packet Page 168



wished to pursue and began instead to look at selling the site. The school district staff 
approached the city about purchasing the property for residential development in 2005. 
Subsequently, the city purchased the site from BVSD in 2006 with the goal of developing 
affordable housing.  

In early 2015 City Council authorized the transfer of the land to BHP, which will work in 
partnership with Flatirons Habitat for Humanity (Habitat) to pursue the entitlements and 
financing needed to develop the site. Following the approval of the transfer, BHP and the 
city executed a Land Transfer Agreement and Interim Permanent Affordable Covenant.  

The Agreement declares the following requirements: 
 BHP will apply for and pursue annexation of the property into the City within 12

months of the title transfer for the City to BHP.

 The property will be used for permanent affordable housing for income and asset
eligible homebuyers and renters secured through the replacement of the Interim
Covenant with a Permanently Affordable Low Income Housing Covenant.

 The land will revert to the City if BHP is not able to produce a viable project.

Since the execution of the Land Transfer Agreement, BHP and Habitat have been 
working closely with residents of the surrounding neighborhoods to identify concerns, 
answer questions, and work together to design a conceptual plan for the site. This 
summer, BHP and Habitat hosted a community visioning workshop, property 
walkabouts, and a concept plan open house where neighbors could review and comment 
on three concept plan alternatives.  

BHP and Habitat intend to develop a 100% permanently affordable, mixed tenure 
(featuring rental and homeownership units) neighborhood. Dependent on the outcomes of 
the entitlement process, the intention of the site is to feature 36 rental units and 9 
homeownership units available to low and moderate income residents earning between 
30% - 60% Area Median Income. For a family of four, this equates to annual household 
incomes between $29,820 and $59,640.  

In May 2015, the Affordable Housing Technical Review Group (TRG) recommended and 
the City Manager approved an Opportunity Fund request reimbursing BHP up to 
$220,000 for pre-development costs associated with the project development and 
entitlement process. Funds will only be reimbursed if the project does not move forward. 
To further support the development of the site, through the 2016 Affordable Housing 
Fund Round, the TRG recommended and the City Manager approved awarding $975,000 
in local funds to support Boulder Housing Partners with development of the permanently 
affordable rental units to be constructed at Palo Park.    

To secure complete financing for the development of the site BHP will be pursuing 
CDBG-DR funds available through the state as well as Low Income Housing Tax 
Credits. At this time, the Boulder County Long Term Flood Recovery Countywide 
Collaborative has identified the development of Palo Park as a priority flood recovery 

Agenda Item 3L     Page 8Packet Page 169



project for the County supporting its application for CDBG-DR funds. To compete for 
the CDBG-DR funds, BHP must submit an application on February 1, 2016. Successful 
submission requires site control and planning and zoning approvals are in place.  

If developed as planned, the site will achieve a series of desired outcomes identified by 
City Council as part of the agreement to transfer the land to BHP including: 

 Collaborative public process from concept planning through final development
approval.

 Design that is compatible with the existing neighborhood character and
development pattern.

 100 percent permanent affordability with a mixture of ownership and rental
housing.

 Housing that is consistent with the land use designation and policies of the
Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan.

 Addresses goals of Housing Boulder including Strengthening Our Current
Commitments and Create Diverse Housing Choices.

 Housing designs suitable for families and multiple generations.
 Energy efficiency and green building practices and outcomes.

ANALYSIS 
As affirmed by the attached resolution (Attachment B), staff has found the proposal 
consistent with State Annexation Statutes, in particular, Section 31-12-107(1), C.R.S. A 
discussion about the project’s compliance with city policies, regulations and guidelines 
follow: 

1. Land Use Designation and Initial Zoning

The request is for an initial zoning of RMX-2. The RMX-2 zoning district is intended 
for “medium density residential areas which have a mix of densities from low density 
to high density and where complementary uses may be permitted,” per section 9-5-
2(c)(1)(E) of the land use code. The BVCP defines medium density residential 
development as six to 14 dwelling units per acre. Thus, the proposal of 13.7 dwelling 
units per acre is consistent with medium density development.  RMX-2 zoning 
generally allows for 10 dwelling units per acre consistent with the land use map 
designation. However, the RMX-2 zone district allows for density bonuses up to 20 
dwelling units per acre based on the percentage of permanently affordable housing 
developed on a property. The density bonuses are limited in that they require site 
review approval and the proposal may not exceed the density associated with the 
residential land use designation of the BVCP. The annexation agreement will also 
specify that no development on the property may exceed 14 dwelling units per acre to 
ensure continued consistency with the BVCP. 

The city approved a land use designation change on the property from Low Density 
Residential to Medium Density Residential as part of the 2000 BVCP update. The 
analysis concluded that the designation would better “ensure a mixture of housing 
types, flexibility in the site design, and enough density to provide a significant 

Agenda Item 3L     Page 9Packet Page 170



amount of affordable housing while giving consideration to adjacent land uses.” The 
appropriate density and land use designations in the BVCP for properties in this area 
has been a subject of discussion and deliberation through the past several BVCP 
updates. In the fall of 2002, landowners applied for a BVCP land use designation 
change as part of the 2002/2003 Annual Review of the BVCP, to change a portion of 
the properties south of Palo Parkway (Northfield Commons) from low to medium 
density residential. The result of the BVCP Annual Review was that eleven acres 
were also approved for a land use designation change from Low Density Residential 
to Medium Density Residential to ensure a mixture of housing types, provide 
compatibility with adjacent land uses and to provide for a significant amount of 
affordable housing. A portion of the Northfield Commons development is also zoned 
RMX-2 and the development was limited to the maximum density allowed per the 
BVCP land use designation. 

Staff finds that the current proposal for Residential - Mixed 2 (RMX-2) zoning and 
medium density residential development is consistent with the goals, objectives and 
recommendations of the BVCP. In general, the project supports opportunities for a 
variety of housing types for low- and moderate-income households and is generally 
consistent with established neighborhood character. 

2. Compliance with State Annexation Statutes

The applicant is requesting annexation by petition as provided by state law. 
Annexations must comply with Colorado Revised Statutes (C.R.S.), Article 12 of 
Title 31.  Staff has reviewed the annexation petition for compliance with section 31-
12-107(1), C.R.S. and otherwise section 31-12-104, C.R.S. and section 31-12-105, 
C.R.S. and finds that the application is consistent with the statutory requirements, as 
affirmed by the criteria below: 

 Landowners of more than 50 percent of the area who comprise more than 50
percent of the landowners in the area have petitioned to annex. The annexation
petition was signed by Jane Brautigam on behalf of the City of Boulder. At the
time of application, the city had 100 percent ownership of the subject property. It
is expected that the property will be conveyed to BHP before the end of
November.

 The annexation petition has been filed with the City Clerk of the City of Boulder.

 There is a community interest between the property proposed for annexation and
the city of Boulder, the property borders City of Boulder residential
developments, it is planned to be developed shortly upon annexation and it is
capable of being integrated into the City of Boulder. As more than one-sixth of
the perimeter of the area proposed to be annexed is contiguous with the annexing
municipality, a community of interest is presumed. Additionally, the property
borders City of Boulder residential developments, it is proposed to be developed
shortly upon annexation, and is capable of being integrated into the City of
Boulder.

Agenda Item 3L     Page 10Packet Page 171



 The subject property does not include any area included in another annexation
proceeding involving a municipality other than the city of Boulder;

 The annexation would not remove the property from one school district and add it
to another.

 The property has more than one-sixth contiguity with the City of Boulder. The
existing contiguity is 855.66 feet or 54% and is fully consistent with the standards
of C.R.S. 31-12-104.

 The annexation would not have the effect of extending the City of Boulder’s
boundaries any further than three miles from any point of the existing City
boundaries in any one year.

Staff has found that the proposed annexations are compliant with the state provisions for 
annexation located in Section 31-12-101 et seq., C.R.S. 

3. Compliance with City Policies

The Annexation of land must be consistent with the BVCP Policy 1.24. 

BVCP Annexation Policy 1.24 
The policies concerning annexation to be pursued by the city are: 

a) Annexation will be required before adequate facilities and services are
furnished.

The property will annex into the city before the property may connect to city utilities. 
The property is part of the Northern Colorado Water Conservation District (NCWCD) 
and appears to be in the NCWCD Municipal Sub-district. Per the draft annexation 
agreement, prior to utility connection, the property owner would be required to pay 
applicable excise taxes and fees, plant investment fees and connection and inspection 
fees. Connection will only occur if the annexation is approved by City Council in 
accordance with the annexation agreement (refer to Attachment D). 

b) The city will actively pursue annexation of county enclaves, Area II properties
along the western boundary, and other fully developed Area II properties.
County enclave means an unincorporated area of land entirely contained within
the outer boundary of the city. Terms of annexation will be based on the amount
of development potential as described in (c), (d), and (e) of this policy.
Applications made to the county for development of enclaves and Area II lands
in lieu of annexation will be referred to the city for review and comment. The
county will attach great weight to the city’s response and may require that the
landowner conform to one or more of the city’s development standards so that
any future annexation into the city will be consistent and compatible with the
city’s requirements.

Not applicable, the property is not a county enclave, is not located along the western 

Agenda Item 3L     Page 11Packet Page 172



boundary of the city and is currently undeveloped. 

c) Annexation of existing substantially developed areas will be offered in a manner
and on terms and conditions that respect existing lifestyles and densities. The
city will expect these areas to be brought to city standards only where necessary
to protect the health and safety of the residents of the subject area or of the city.
The city, in developing annexation plans of reasonable cost, may phase new
facilities and services. The county, which now has jurisdiction over these areas,
will be a supportive partner with the city in annexation efforts to the extent the
county supports the terms and conditions being proposed.

The applicant will be responsible for bringing the property to city standards with 
regards to facilities and services after annexation.  

d) In order to reduce the negative impacts of new development in the Boulder
Valley, the city will annex Area II land with significant development or
redevelopment potential only if the annexation provides a special opportunity or
benefit to the city. For annexation considerations, emphasis will be given to the
benefits achieved from the creation of permanently affordable housing.
Provision of the following may also be considered a special opportunity or
benefit: receiving sites for transferable development rights (TDRs), reduction of
future employment projections, land and/or facilities for public purposes over
and above that required by the city’s land use regulations, environmental
preservation, or other amenities determined by the city to be a special
opportunity or benefit. Parcels that are proposed for annexation that are already
developed and which are seeking no greater density or building size would not
be required to assume and provide that same level of community benefit as
vacant parcels unless and until such time as an application for greater
development is submitted.

Proposed annexations with additional development potential are required to 
demonstrate community benefit consistent with BVCP policies, in order to offset the 
negative impacts of additional development in the Boulder Valley.  For proposed 
residential development, emphasis is given to the provision of permanently affordable 
housing. The city’s policy and practice for the past several years has been that 45% to 
65% of new development from annexed parcels be permanently affordable to low and 
middle income households, usually split evenly between the two income groups.  The 
proposed project would provide 100 percent permanent affordability with a mixture 
of ownership and rental housing. The project would have mixed-income affordability 
from very low to moderate income. Provided housing choices are suitable for families 
and multiple generations. Staff believes that these characteristics of the development 
provide adequate community benefit and will help the city to provide diverse housing 
choices. 100 percent permanently affordability will be required as a condition of 
annexation. The exact levels of affordability will be determined with the permanently 
affordable covenant that will be placed on the property. 

Agenda Item 3L     Page 12Packet Page 173



e) Annexation of substantially developed properties that allows for some additional
residential units or commercial square footage will be required to demonstrate
community benefit commensurate with their impacts. Further, annexations that
resolve an issue of public health without creating additional development
impacts should be encouraged.

Not applicable, the property is not a substantially developed property. 

f) There will be no annexation of areas outside the boundaries of the Boulder
Valley Planning Area, with the possible exception of annexation of acquired
open space.

Not applicable, the property is within the Boulder Valley Planning Area. The property 
is within Area II of the Boulder Valley Planning Area, which makes the area eligible 
for immediate annexation. 

g) Publicly owned property located in Area III and intended to remain in Area III
may be annexed to the city if the property requires less than a full range of
urban services or requires inclusion under city jurisdiction for health, welfare
and safety reasons.

Not applicable, the property is located in Area II. 

h) The Gunbarrel Subcommunity is unique because the majority of residents live in
the unincorporated area and because of the shared jurisdiction for planning and
service provision among the county, the city, the Gunbarrel Public Improvement
District and other special districts. Although interest in voluntary annexation
has been limited, the city and county continue to support the eventual
annexation of Gunbarrel. If resident interest in annexation does occur in the
future, the city and county will negotiate new terms of annexation with the
residents.

Not applicable, the property is not located within the Gunbarrel Subcommunity. 

4. Terms of Annexation

The annexation conditions provided on Attachment D include the following terms: 

 Grant to the City of an Avigation Easement over the entire Property;
 Payment of excise tax fees, investment fees and all applicable unity connection

and inspection fees;
 Construct a 5-foot wide detached sidewalk with a 8-foot wide landscape buffer

adjacent to the property along Palo Parkway;
 Dedicate a 14-foot wide public access easement and construct a 10-foot wide

multi-use path from Palo Parkway to the existing Fourmile Creek Path. The

Agenda Item 3L     Page 13Packet Page 174



agreement includes a provision that this requirement may be modified if an 
alternative connection is approved as part of Site Review for the property. 

ATTACHMENTS 

A. Annexation Map 
B. Proposed Resolution No. 1177 
C. Proposed Ordinance No. 9000 
D. Annexation Agreement 
E. Annexation Petition 

Agenda Item 3L     Page 14Packet Page 175



Attachment A - Annexation Map

Agenda Item 3L     Page 15Packet Page 176



K:\pldr\r-1st reading-palo parkway, 4525-2443.docx

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

RESOLUTION NO. 1177 

A RESOLUTION TO DETERMINE THAT THE PETITION TO 
ANNEX APPROXIMATELY 3.216 ACRES OF LAND GENERALLY 
LOCATED AT 4525 PALO PARKWAY IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH 
SECTION 31-12-107(1), C.R.S. AND TO SET A HEARING TO 
DETERMINE COMPLIANCE WITH OTHER STATUTORY 
ANNEXATION REQUIREMENTS. 

A. The City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, hereby finds that the Petition to
Annex the property generally known as 4525 Palo Parkway and more particularly
described as Outlot E, Palo Park Filing No. 4, County of Boulder, State of Colorado, is in
compliance with subsection 31-12-107(1), C.R.S., as amended;

B. The City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, finds that the following requirements
have been met:

i. Persons comprising more than 50 percent of the landowners in the area and
owning more than 50 percent of the area, excluding public streets and alleys,
meeting the requirements of Sections 31-12-104 and 31-12-105, C.R.S., as
amended, have petitioned the City of Boulder for annexation of such territory;

ii. The Petition has been filed with the City Clerk;

iii. The Petition alleges it is desirable and necessary that such area be annexed to the
City of Boulder;

iv. The Petition alleges that the requirements of Sections 31-12-104 and 31-12-105,
C.R.S., as amended, exist or have been met;

v. The Petition contains a request that the City of Boulder approve the annexation of
the area proposed to be annexed;

vi. The Petition alleges that signers of the Petition comprise more than 50 percent of
the landowners in the area and own more than 50 percent of the area proposed to
be annexed, exclusive of streets and alleys;

vii. The Petition contains signatures of such landowners;

viii. The Petition contains the mailing address of each signer;

ix. The Petition contains the legal description of the land owned by each signer;

x. The Petition contains the date of signing of each signature; and

Attachment B - Proposed Resolution No. 1177

Agenda Item 3L     Page 16Packet Page 177



K:\pldr\r-1st reading-palo parkway, 4525-2443.docx

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

xi. The Petition contains the affidavit of each circulator of such Petition, that each
signature therein is the signature of the person whose name it purports to be.

C. Four copies of an annexation map accompanied the Petition and contained the following
information:

i. A written legal description of the boundaries of the area proposed to be annexed;

ii. A map showing the boundary of the area proposed to be annexed;

iii. Within the annexation boundary map, a showing of the location of each
ownership tract in unplatted land and, if part or all of the area is platted, the
boundaries and the plat numbers of plots or of lots and blocks; and

iv. A drawing of the contiguous boundary of the City of Boulder next to the
boundary of the area proposed to be annexed and the contiguous boundary of any
other municipality abutting the area proposed to be annexed.

D. All signatures on the Petition have been dated no more than 180 days prior to the date of
filing the Petition with the City Clerk;

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER,

COLORADO, THAT: 

A hearing will be held to determine whether the requirements delineated in Sections 31-
12-104 and 31-12-105, C.R.S., as amended, have been met and whether an election is required
under subsection 31-12-107(2), C.R.S. The hearing will be held at 6:00 p.m. on January 5, 2016,
at 1777 Broadway, Boulder, Colorado.

INTRODUCED, READ, PASSED, AND ADOPTED this 1st day of December 2015. 

_____________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk  

Attachment B - Proposed Resolution No. 1177

Agenda Item 3L     Page 17Packet Page 178



K:\pldr\o-1st reading - palo parkway, 4525-2443.docx

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE NO. 9000 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING TO THE CITY OF BOULDER 
APPROXIMATELY 3.216 ACRES OF LAND GENERALLY 
LOCATED AT 4525 PALO PARKWAY, WITH AN INITIAL ZONING 
DESIGNATION OF RESIDENTIAL-MIXED 2 (RMX-2) AS 
DESCRIBED IN CHAPTER 9-5, "MODULAR ZONE SYSTEM," B.R.C. 
1981; AMENDING THE ZONING DESIGNATION DISTRICT MAP 
FORMING A PART OF SAID CHAPTER TO INCLUDE THE 
PROPERTY IN THE ABOVE-MENTIONED ZONING DISTRICT, 
AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO FINDS: 

A. Housing Authority of the City of Boulder, a Colorado housing authority, d/b/a

Boulder Housing Partners is the owner of the parcel, generally known as 4525 Palo Parkway and 

more particularly described as Outlot E, Palo Park Filing No. 4, County of Boulder, State of 

Colorado (the "Property"). 

B. The owner of 100% of the area proposed for annexation, excluding streets and

alleys, has petitioned for annexation of the Property with an initial zoning of Residential-Mixed 

2 (RMX-2); the Property is not embraced within any city, city and county, or incorporated town; 

and the Property abuts, and is contiguous to, the City of Boulder by at least one-sixth of its 

perimeter. 

C. A community of interest exists between the Property proposed for annexation and

the City of Boulder; the Property is urban or will be urbanized in the near future, and the 

Property is capable of being integrated into the City of Boulder. 

D. The Property does not include any area included in another annexation proceeding

involving a city other than the City of Boulder. 

E. This annexation will not result in the detachment of the area from one school

district and the attachment of same to another school district. 

Attachment C - Proposed Ordinance No. 9000

Agenda Item 3L     Page 18Packet Page 179



K:\pldr\o-1st reading - palo parkway, 4525-2443.docx

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

F. This annexation will not have the effect of extending the City of Boulder's 

boundaries any further than three miles from any point of the existing city boundaries. 

G. The Property does not include any area which is the same or substantially the 

same area in which an election for the annexation to the City of Boulder was held within twelve 

months preceding the filing of the above petition. 

H. The Planning Board duly proposed that the Property be annexed to the City of 

Boulder and that the zoning district map adopted by the City Council be amended to zone and 

include the Property in the Residential-Mixed 2 (RMX-2) zoning district, as provided in Chapter 

9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981. 

I. A public hearing on the proposed annexation and initial zoning of the Property 

annexed and zoned hereby was duly held before the City Council on January 5, 2016. 

J. The initial zoning designation of Residential-Mixed 2 (RMX-2) for the Property 

is consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan and bears a substantial relation to and 

will enhance the general welfare of the Property and of the residents of the City of Boulder. 

K. The City Council has jurisdiction and the legal authority to annex and zone the 

Property. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  The territory more particularly described as Outlot E, Palo Park Filing No. 4, 

County of Boulder, State of Colorado is hereby annexed to and included within the corporate 

boundaries of the City of Boulder. 

Attachment C - Proposed Ordinance No. 9000

Agenda Item 3L     Page 19Packet Page 180



K:\pldr\o-1st reading - palo parkway, 4525-2443.docx

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Section 2.  Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981, and the zoning district 

map forming a part thereof, be, and the same hereby are, amended to include the Property within 

the Residential-Mixed 2 (RMX-2) zoning district. 

Section 3.  The City Council adopts the recitals in this ordinance and incorporates them 

herein by this reference. 

Section 4.  The City Council approves any variations or modifications to the Boulder 

Revised Code or other City ordinances that are in the agreement associated with this annexation. 

Section 5.  The City Council authorizes the city manager to implement the terms of the 

agreements associated with this annexation. 

Section 6.  The annexation and zoning of the Property is necessary for the protection of 

the public health, safety, and welfare. 

Section 7.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

Section 8.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Attachment C - Proposed Ordinance No. 9000

Agenda Item 3L     Page 20Packet Page 181



K:\pldr\o-1st reading - palo parkway, 4525-2443.docx

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 1st day of December, 2015. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 5th day of January, 2016. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment C - Proposed Ordinance No. 9000

Agenda Item 3L     Page 21Packet Page 182



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 3L     Page 22Packet Page 183



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 3L     Page 23Packet Page 184



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 3L     Page 24Packet Page 185



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 3L     Page 25Packet Page 186



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 3L     Page 26Packet Page 187



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 3L     Page 27Packet Page 188



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 3L     Page 28Packet Page 189



Attachment E - Annexation Petition

Agenda Item 3L     Page 29Packet Page 190



Attachment E - Annexation Petition

Agenda Item 3L     Page 30Packet Page 191



Attachment E - Annexation Petition

Agenda Item 3L     Page 31Packet Page 192



Attachment E - Annexation Petition

Agenda Item 3L     Page 32Packet Page 193



Attachment E - Annexation Petition

Agenda Item 3L     Page 33Packet Page 194



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

AGENDA TITLE 

MEETING DATE: December 1, 2015 

Consideration of the following items: 

1. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8093 rezoning a
0.8 acre portion of property located at 385 Broadway, from Residential - Low 1 to Business
-Transitional 2, consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan land use designation
of Transitional Business.

2. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8094 amending
Sections 9-2-14, “Site Review,” and 9-9-2, “General Provisions,” B.R.C. 1981, to ensure
reasonable compatibility of the development of lots and parcels located in more than one
zoning district one of which is a low density residential district with neighboring land uses.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The City Council is asked to consider Ordinance No. 8093 (Attachment A) for a request from 
the property owner to rezone a 0.80  acre portion of the property located at 385 South Broadway 
from Residential - Low 1 (RL-1 ) to Business – Transitional 2 (BT-2). The City Council is also 
asked to consider Ordinance No.8094 amending Sections 9-2-14, “Site Review,” and 9-9-2, 
“General Provisions,” B.R.C. 1981, to ensure reasonable compatibility of the development of  
lots and parcels located in more than one zoning district one of which is a low density residential 
district with neighboring land uses. The code change is intended to clarify what can and cannot 
be built within the 25 foot buffer area that is the area proposed to remain as Low Density 
Residential on the west and north portion of the site. The code change also implements the intent 
behind the creation of parcels with more than one land use that are established for an appropriate 
transition between existing residential neighborhoods and future neighboring land uses that have 
a greater intensity of use. On Nov. 17, 2015, City Council approved the first reading of both

PRESENTER/S 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Planning, Housing & Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Planning, Housing & Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 1Packet Page 195



Ordinance No. 8093 and Ordinance No. 8094 by consent. There were two questions from City 
Council provided to staff at the time of the memo preparation. These issues are addressed under 
“Analysis.” 

On Sept. 17, 2015, the Planning Board unanimously recommended that City Council deny the 
application to rezone and, therefore, not adopt the ordinance. Planning Board’s findings of fact 
recommending denial of the application can be found in Attachment F.  

BACKGROUND 

BVCP Land Use Map Change. The rezoning request follows a 2008 approval of a Land Use 
Map change from Low Density Residential to Transitional Business requested by the property 
owner during the BVCP Mid-term review. The property owner at the time indicated that 
because the site had been developed with a non-conforming medical office building since 
1956, a Land Use Map change would bring the property into conformance. In 2008, the 
proposal was heard by the Planning Board but continued with direction to staff to develop 
alternative land use scenarios that would help to address concern raised by neighbors to the 
north and west.  Staff subsequently met with neighbors on two occasions and had several 
phone and email conversations to review land use alternatives. The April 17, 2008 staff memo 
to Planning Board included a letter signed by 26 neighbors who indicated support for the Land 
Use Map change for the 0.80 acre portion of the site only to Transitional Business, with a 25- 
foot area on the north and west of the property retained on the map as Low Density 
Residential, to create a “buffer” to the neighborhood. According to the staff memo, the 
neighbors supported the change but with two concerns: preventing access from Bluebell 
Avenue and protection of the residence at 2290 Bluebell Ave., which is adjacent to the west 
side of the subject property. 

City Council then adopted Ordinance 7662 for the Land Use Map change for just the 0.80 acre 
portion of the property to Transitional Business. A link to the Feb. 21, 2008 staff memo and 
minutes of the initial hearing are found here. A link to the staff memo and minutes of the 
continuation hearing of March 3, 2008 is found here and the staff memo and minutes of a 
subsequent continuation hearing of April 17, 2008 is found here. 

Planning Board Consideration of Rezoning.  On Aug. 27, 2015, the Planning Board 
considered a rezoning to be inconsistent with the BVCP Land Use Map, and the related 
ordinance to amend the Land Use Code. A link to the staff memo of the Aug. 27, 2015 Planning 
Board hearing is found at the following link: PB 8.27.2015. The draft ordinance to rezone is 
found in Attachment A and the draft ordinance to amend sections of the Boulder Revised Code 
is found in Attachment B. In the rezoning application, the applicant indicated a desire to 
redevelop the property as 16 townhomes although no plans were submitted nor required to be 
submitted for the rezoning. After public notification, staff received a number of letters from 
neighbors including a representative for the National Institutes of Standards (NIST) who 
indicated concerns about increased density and the viability of the existing access through the 
NIST property. While there was no indication a plan to extinguish the access easement from 
NIST, subsequent letters from residential neighbors indicated concerns about the potential for 
access to the property through the neighborhood. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 2Packet Page 196



Staff recommended approval of the rezoning to the Planning Board indicating the application met 
the criteria for a rezoning of Land Use Code section 9-2-18(e), B.R.C. 1981. At the Aug. 27, 
2015 hearing, the Planning Board did not agree with staff’s findings and instead voted 
unanimously (7-0) to direct staff to prepare findings for denial of the request to rezone the 
property and voted to deny amendments to portions of the Land Use Code that would address the 
25-foot buffer area. 

Subsequently, on Sept. 17, 2015 the Planning Board voted unanimously (7-0) that the applicant failed 
to demonstrate that application no. LUR2015-00047 meets the requirements of the   Boulder Revised 
Code and recommended that City Council deny the application. The board recommended City Council 
adopt the Sept. 17, 2015 Planning Board staff memorandum and its Attachment A as findings of fact 
and conclusions of law. The Planning Board memo of Sept. 17, 2015 with findings for denial is found 
at the following link: PB 9.17.2015. Planning Board’s findings of fact recommending denial of the 
proposed rezoning application can be found in Attachment F. 

Key Issue Identification 

1. Rezoning: Is the request to rezone a 0.80 acre portion of the property at 385 South
Broadway consistent with review criteria for rezoning?

2. Code Change: Does the proposed code change implement the Boulder Valley
Comprehensive Plan?

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
• Economic: Economic - Implementation of the BVCP Land Use Map will permit business

transitional uses that have occurred on the site since the late 1950s.  The proposed 
rezoning would allow for on-going sales tax generating land uses on the site. 

• Environmental: Consistent with the BVCP, the rezoning will allow for the potential for
uses that can serve, or be compatible with, the surrounding residential uses located west of 
the site in walkable distance, as has occurred on the site since the late 1950s. 

Motion to: 
1. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8093 rezoning a

0.8 acre portion of property located at 385 Broadway, from Residential - Low 1 to 
Business - Transitional 2, consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan land 
use designation of Transitional Business. 

2. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8094 amending
Sections 9-2-14, “Site Review,” and 9-9-2, “General Provisions,” B.R.C. 1981, to ensure
reasonable compatibility of the development of lots and parcels located in more than one
zoning district one of which is a low density residential district with neighboring land uses.

Agenda Item 5A     Page 3Packet Page 197



• Social: The rezoning would permit the potential continued use of the site for business
transition uses and/or permit redevelopment of the site for by-right residential uses
adjacent to existing residential uses.

OTHER IMPACTS 

• Fiscal: City services are existing and available to this site.
• Staff time: The applicant has submitted the required rezoning application fee to cover staff

review time of this application for a rezoning.

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 

Rezoning actions are subject to county referral and city Planning Board recommendation prior 
to City Council action. The Planning Board hearing was held on Aug. 27, 2015 and concluded 
with a motion by L. May that was seconded by C. Gray to recommend to City Council to 
deny (7-0) the request for a zoning change (pending staff to draft findings for consideration at 
a later date and to continue this discussion at a future Planning Board meeting). Further, on a 
motion by L. May, seconded by J. Putnam the Planning Board voted (7-0) to continue the 
Planning Board hearing to September 17, 2015 for staff to develop the findings for denial 
toward the prior motion. Further, at the continuation of the public hearing at the Planning 
Board of Sept. 17, 2015, the Planning Board voted unanimously on a motion by J. Putnam, 
seconded by C. Gray, that the applicant failed to demonstrate that application no. LUR2015- 
00047 meets the requirements of the Boulder Revised Code, and recommended that City 
Council deny the application, and adopt the findings dated Sept. 17, 2015 with the Attachment 
A as findings of fact and conclusions of law. 

Regarding the draft ordinance to amend sections of the Boulder Revised Code, the Planning 
Board voted unanimously (L. May moved, seconded by C. Gray) to recommend to City 
Council to not adopt the ordinance amending sections 9-2-14, “Site Review,” and 9-9-2, 
“General Provisions,” B.R.C. 1981 attached herein, to ensure reasonable compatibility of the 
development of lots and parcels located in more than one zoning district one of which is a low 
density residential district with neighboring land uses, and setting forth related details; and 
incorporating this staff memorandum as findings of fact. 

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 

Required public notice for the rezoning was given in the form of written notification mailed to 
all property owners within 600 feet of the subject site and a sign posted on the property for at 
least 10 days. In addition, in response to public comments received, additional public 
notification was given to property owners within 1,000 feet of the subject site as a meeting 
notice for the Planning Board hearing of Aug. 27, 2015; along with a public notification of the 
City Council meeting dates for the first and second readings of the proposed ordinance to 
rezone and the proposed ordinance for Land Use Code changes. All notice requirements of 
subsection 9-4-3(d), B.R.C. 1981 have been met. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 4Packet Page 198



Staff received a number of comments from members of the public via email and US Mail 
regarding this application along with a letter signed by 23 neighbors, residents of the 
“Community of Lower Bluebell” who provided addresses and signatures on the letter. The 
neighbors indicated their concerns about the property redeveloping upon rezoning to build 
“multi-family/high density student rental housing which would be comprised of 16 townhomes 
with 4 bedrooms each (potentially 64 residents).” Regarding the concerns articulated 
however, the applicant did not provide information that indicated student rental housing would 
be constructed. Among the neighbors concerns were those related to parking (and an 
indication from the property owners that they would request a parking reduction), light 
pollution, poorly maintained buffer zone, construction staging, pedestrian access, fire and life 
safety access, and solar access. Many of the letters indicated concerns about access to the site 
through the neighborhood.  At the request of some of the neighbors, staff responded to 
specific questions and comments and noted that if redevelopment of the property in the future 
requires a parking reduction that a Site Review application with approval by Planning Board 
would be required. The emails and letters are provided in Attachment C. Since the Planning 
Board hearing of Aug. 27, 2015, staff received additional letters most of which were sent 
directly to the City Council. 

At the Planning Board hearing on Aug. 27, 2015, there were 21 members of the public who 
spoke, including one person who pooled their time with two others in attendance. Of the 21 
who spoke, 20 indicated opposition to the proposed rezoning primarily citing concerns about 
the potential for redevelopment of the site into townhome units (potentially as student rentals) 
with access to the site potentially relocated from the current access easement with NIST to 
Bluebell Avenue. Concerns expressed were that an increase in traffic through the 
neighborhood via Baseline Avenue to 22nd Street to Bluebell Avenue would create safety, 
security, and other impacts on the existing quiet residential neighborhood. Some commentors 
also indicated concerns that the original land use change was represented by the property 
owner at that time as a means to improve and expand the existing medical and dental offices 
on the property. However, the rezoning application indicates an intent to redevelop the 
property as 16 townhome units, but does not provide any further information or plans. 

ANALYSIS 

Rezoning: The applicant requests to rezone an 0.80 acre portion of the property at 385 
Broadway from Residential – Low 1 (RL-1) to Business – Transitional 2 (BT-2) consistent 
with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Land Use designation of Transitional Business. 

The property was originally developed as an office building in 1957 and has functioned as a 
non-conforming commercial use in the Residential – Low 1 (RL-1) zoning district, making 
the existing commercial building difficult to expand, improve, or redevelop. In order to 
request a business zoning designation, the underlying BVCP land use designation first needed 
to be changed. As part of the 2008 Mid-Term review of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive 
Plan (BVCP), Ordinance 7662 was adopted by City Council which included approval of a 
request by the property owner of 385 South Broadway for a BVCP land use designation 
change for an 0.80 acre site from Low Density Residential to Transitional Business. At that 
time, a series of public hearings and neighborhood meetings concluded with a modification to 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 5Packet Page 199



the original request to change the entire property from a land use of Low Density Residential 
to Transitional Business to a request to change only a portion of the property to Transitional 
Business with a portion of the site to remain Low Density Residential. More specifically, a 
25- foot wide area on the north and west side of the property was left Low Density Residential. 
Shown in Figure 1 is the adopted Land Use Map for the site. 

As reflected in the minutes 
from the public hearings, 
the intent in maintaining a 
25-foot wide area of Low 
Density Residential land 
use on the property was to 
“provide a buffer to the 
adjacent low density 
Residential 
Neighborhood.” 

Below is an excerpt from 
the April 17, 2008 staff memo. 

Figure 1:  Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Land Use 

Change to Portions of the Land Use Code. To implement the intent of the 25-foot buffer, 
and to implement BVCP policies 2.13, Protection of Residential Neighborhoods Adjacent to 
Non-residential Zones, and 2.15, Compatibility of Adjacent Land Uses, an ordinance (see 
Attachment B) amending Sections 9-2-14, “Site Review,” and 9-9-2(d) “Zoning Standards 
for Lots in Two or More Zoning Districts,” B.R.C. 1981 is proposed for consideration 
simultaneously to the rezoning ordinance. This is discussed under “Key Issue: Code Change.” 

Existing Site and Surroundings. As shown in the photos in Figures 2 and 3 on the following 
page, the one acre site is located on Broadway and currently has a medical and dental office 
building with a surrounding parking lot. To the south of the site is the campus of the federal 
agency, the National Institutes of Standards (NIST); to the west and south is single family 
residential; to the east is Broadway, the Creekside Apartments; and an RTD Park and Ride; 
along with the Flatirons Medical/Dental Offices to the southeast. Further to the northeast is 
Basemar Shopping Center. The existing building on the property, shown in Figure 3, has been 
used as medical offices since 1957, and has been a non-conforming use since its construction. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 6Packet Page 200



Figure 2:  Aerial Photo of Site and Context 

Figure 3:  Existing Site Looking Northwest 

Review Process. Per Land Use Code subsection 9-2-18(d), “Hearing,” B.R.C. 1981, “the 
planning board shall hear a request for rezoning at a public hearing and shall make a 
recommendation for approval or denial to the city council. After considering the planning 
board’s recommendation, the city council shall make the final determination on a request for 
rezoning at a public hearing.” A draft rezoning ordinance is provided in Attachment A. 
Figure 4 shows the BVCP Land Use Map. 

The applicant’s written statement (provided in Attachment D) indicates the intent to 
redevelop the site as townhomes, a use permitted by right in Business Transitional (BT) 
zoning districts. The one-acre size of the site does not meet the threshold for mandatory Site 
Review in the BT zones of two acres. However, if the townhome development is larger than 
30,000 square feet, a mandatory Concept Plan and Site Review would be required. Similarly, 
a request for a residential parking reduction would also trigger a Site Review process. 

Basemar Shopping Ctr. 

Creekside Apartments 
Single Family Residential 

RTD 
Park and Ride 

Single Family Residential 

Flatirons Medical 
and 
Dental 
Offices 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 7Packet Page 201



As a part of the rezoning, staff has prepared an ordinance amending sections 9-2-14, “Site 
Review,” and 9-9-2, “General Provisions,” B.R.C. 1981, to ensure reasonable compatibility of 
the development of lots and parcels located in more than one zoning district one of which is a 
low density residential district with neighboring land uses. The code change is intended to 
clarify what can and cannot be built within the 25 foot buffer area that is the Low Density 
Residential area on the west and north portion of the site. The code change also implements 
the intent behind the creation of parcels with more than one land use that are established for an 
appropriate transition between existing residential neighborhoods and future  neighboring   
land uses that have a greater intensity of use. 

BVCP Land Use. As shown in Figure 4, the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan land use 
designation for the site is Transitional Business, defined on page 68 of the BVCP: 

“The Transitional Business designation is shown along certain major streets. These 
are areas usually zoned for less intensive business uses than in the General Business 
areas, and they often provide a transition to residential areas.” 

In 2008, as part of the mid-term review of the BVCP, the property owner was granted a land 
use designation map change from Low Density Residential to Transitional Business because 
the medical and dental office building on the property had been a non-conforming use since it 
was constructed in the 1950s and had also received two variances, one for expansion in 1964, 
and one for an expansion of uses in 1973. 

Existing Zoning. As shown on Figure 5, Zoning Map, the current zoning is Residential – 
Low 1 defined within the land use code section 9-5-2, “Zoning Districts,” B.R.C. 1981 as, 
“Single-family detached residential dwelling units at low to very low residential densities.” 

Requested Zoning. As shown on Figure 6 Proposed Zoning, on the following page, the 
applicant is proposing Business - Transitional 2 (BT-2) zoning, as shown in the map on the 
following page, which is defined in the section 9-5-2, “Zoning Districts,” B.R.C. 1981, 

“Transitional business areas which generally buffer a residential area from a major 
street and are primarily used for commercial and complementary residential uses, 
including without limitation, temporary lodging and office uses.” 

Note that under the Transitional Business Land Use, the two compatible zoning districts are 
BT-1 and BT-2. An overview of the distinctions between the two is provided in Table 1. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 8Packet Page 202



Figure 6:  Proposed Zoning 

BT-2 

Figure 4:  BVCP Land Use Map 

Figure 5:  Existing Zoning 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 9Packet Page 203



Figure 7 illustrates the precise location of the rezoning within the property, and illustrates how 
a 25-foot wide “buffer” of Residential - Low 1 (RL-1) would remain. 

35,361 S.F. 

Figure 7: 
Area within the 

Property Proposed for 
Rezoning to BT-2 

Business - Transitional 1 Business - Transitional 2 

PURPOSE “Transitional business areas which generally buffer a 
residential area from a major street and are primarily 
used for commercial and complementary residential 
uses, including without limitation, temporary lodging 
and office uses.” 
Detached and  Attached Dwelling Units, and 
Townhomes 
are by-right 

SAME 

RES. USE SAME 

INTENSITY 1,200 square feet of open space per dwelling unit 1,600 square feet minimum 
lot area per dwelling unit 
maximum 27.2 dwelling units 
per acre. 

MAXIMUM 
FLOOR 
AREA 
RATIO 
(FAR) 

No maximum 0.5 FAR MAXIMUM 

PARKING 1 for 1- or 2-bedroom dwelling unit 
1.5 for 3-bedroom dwelling unit 
2 for a 3-bedroom dwelling unit 
2 for a 4 or more bedroom dwelling unit 

SAME 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 10Packet Page 204



First Reading Question from Council: Density. A question was posed by the City Council 
just prior to the first reading of the ordinance that questioned whether the BT-2 zoning district 
may restrict density more than BT-1 zoning. Following is a response to that question. Note 
that under either BT-1 or BT-2 rezoning of the 0.8 acre area of the site, the density for the site 
cannot be calculated using any part of the area zoned as Residential - Low 1 (RL-1). Also note 
that the two zoning districts could generally produce the same number of dwelling units given 
that there are a number of variables for calculating density in both zoning districts including: 

• open space
• setback requirements (larger for BT-2)
• size of units and
• parking (at grade versus below grade)

The maximum build out in either zoning district may be most dependent on whether parking 
is above or below grade. For example, under a BT-2 density, the maximum build out on the 
site is limited to 0.5 FAR or 17,680 square feet of floor area. Therefore, in this case, the 
maximum density (with a unit size assumption) would be as follows: 

• 35,361 square feet x 0.5 FAR = 17,680 square feet of floor area
• Assumption: average unit size + hallway access = 1,200 square feet =

17,680/1,200 = 14 dwelling units
• This would be the case whether or not parking is above or below grade because

there is an FAR maximum that permits only 50 percent of the lot area (excluding
LR area) to be floor area.

• If units were built below grade, they don’t count as floor area. However, below
grade units would likely be less marketable, and would also likely be built within
the same overall foundation and footprint. Therefore, seven additional units could
be built in this scenario for a total of 21 units.

Under the BT-1 zoning, there is no maximum FAR. Therefore, if parking were placed 
entirely below grade, the maximum density could be calculated over the entire 35,361 square 
foot lot area minus the area covered by the building. Therefore, if the remaining area not 
covered by a building is designed to be useable open space then the following maximum 
scenario could result: 

• Assume that ¼ of the site is occupied by building footprint (this would produce the
most open space opportunity) = 35,361 x 0.25=8,840 sf

• Assume three stories by-right with 8,840 sf on each level
• Assume that the average unit size + hallway access is 1,200 square feet
• 8,840/1,200 sf = 7 units per level x 3 levels = 21 units

Note that under both examples above, elements such as staircases or other circulation are not 
factored in, and therefore, the maximum build out could be less for both. Also, under both 
scenarios, where parking is placed above ground, it is likely that the BT-1 zoning district is 
more restrictive because surface parking or drive aisles can’t be counted toward open space. 
In conclusion, the two densities are similar, however BT-2 has an FAR maximum and has 
greater setback requirements, however, it also has an allowance that below grade floor area 
doesn’t count toward density. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 11Packet Page 205



First Reading Question from Council: NIST Easement. Another question was received 
during the first reading consideration from a City Council member: “Is the access easement 
from Broadway to the site permanent?” 

A copy of the Access Easement is provided in Attachment E and it states the following in 
paragraph 6: 

The easement is granted subject to the following conditions and provisions: 

That all right, title, interest and estate hereby granted shall cease and terminate 
effective as of the date of written notice from the Government [United States] to the 
grantee, its successors or assigns that there has been (a) an unreasonable failure to 
comply with the terms and conditions of this grant, or (b)a nonuse of the easement or a 
consecutive two-year period for the purpose for which granted, or, (c) an  
abandonment of the easement. 

Paragraph 7 provides that, 

"Should the Government at any time determine that the continued maintenance and 
operation of the easement, or any portion thereof, as then located, constitutes an 
undue interference with any of the Governments activities, Grantee agrees to 
negotiation in good faith with the Government to eliminated such interference." 

In conclusion, it appears that there are three manners in which the easement can be 
terminated: unreasonable failure to comply with the easement terms, non-use, or 
abandonment. If use of the easement interferes with government activities, the grantee is 
bound to negotiate to eliminate such interference. Therefore, the burden by the easement is 
owned by the federal government who has eminent domain powers. 
Hotline Question from Council: Land Use Designation. Additional questions received 
after the first reading consideration from a City Council member: 

“1. Putting aside the understanding of how we got to where we are on the site with respect to the 
current land use designation and proposed compliant rezoning, if the parcel were vacant (as it would 
be after demolition of the current building), would Transitional Business remain the most logical land 
use designation? 

While a different land use was not analyzed during the rezoning application, nor have we analyzed if 
staff would have seen things differently if the parcel were vacant, staff notes that the comprehensive 
plan does support Transitional Business in a context such as this: 

“The Transitional Business designation is shown along certain major streets. These 
are areas usually zoned for less intensive business uses than in the General Business 
areas, and they often provide a transition to residential areas.” 

The site is located along Broadway, a major street and the site would provide a transition from NIST 
and Broadway to the adjacent single family residential neighborhood . In addition, if the applicant 
were to ultimately build townhomes on the site, the comprehensive plan also supports both infill 
development as well as higher 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 12Packet Page 206



density residential along major transit corridors such as Broadway. It’s also important to note that 
there may be other land uses that could be appropriate in this location, however, that was not part of 
the analysis for the request to change the land use in 2008 nor part of the current rezoning analysis. 

2. If not, why did staff not recommend a land use map change?

The staff analysis of why the land use map change was recommended along with minutes of the 
hearings in which the change was approved by City Council in 2008 are all provided in weblinks on 
page 2 of this memo. 

3. If not, what BVCP land use designation(s) would be more appropriate?
An analysis of what other land use designation would be more appropriate was not a part of the 
current rezoning analysis, as the land use was already in place since the 2008 BVCP update. This 
request is to bring the zoning of the property into conformance with Transitional Business land use 
that was placed on the property in 2008. 

The review criteria for rezoning property are found in subsection 9-2-18(e), “Criteria,” B.R.C. 
1981. Following is the review criteria checklist with analysis of the proposed rezoning to the 
review criteria: 

“The city's zoning is the result of a detailed and comprehensive appraisal of the city's 
present and future land use allocation needs. In order to establish and maintain sound, 
stable, and desirable development within the city, rezoning of land is to be discouraged and 
allowed only under the limited circumstances herein described. Therefore, the city council 
shall grant a rezoning application only if the proposed rezoning is consistent with the 
policies and goals of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan” 

Staff finds the most relevant and most directly applicable BVCP goal for this rezoning request 
to be the BVCP land use map that is a sketch plan of the desired land use pattern, in this case 
designating the site for the Transitional Business Land Use – which the zoning implements by 
assigning each parcel a zoning district.  The proposed rezoning would align the BVCP land 
use map and the zoning, which is currently inconsistent. 

In addition, the 25-foot wide area of Low Density Residential land use to remain as RL-1 
zoning on the site is intended to fulfill BVCP policy 2.13 “Protection of Residential 
Neighborhoods Adjacent to Non-Residential Zones” and BVCP Policy 2.15, “Compatibility 
of Adjacent Land Uses.” 

“For an application not incidental to a general revision of the zoning map, meets one of the 
following criteria:” 

√ “The applicant demonstrates by clear and convincing evidence that the proposed
rezoning is necessary to come into compliance with the Boulder Valley
Comprehensive Plan map;”

In the applicant’s written statement it was noted,

KEY ISSUE 1:  Is the rezoning request consistent with required review criteria for 
rezoning? 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 13Packet Page 207



“we are requesting rezoning the TB Land Use portion of the site to BT-2 zoning 
from the current RL-1 zoning. Doing so will bring the property into compliance 
with requirements of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Land Use Map.” 

  n/a     “The existing zoning of the land was the result of a clerical error;” 

This review criterion is not applicable. 

  n/a     “The existing zoning of the land was based on a mistake of fact;” 

Not applicable, the existing zoning was not based on a mistake of fact. 

  n/a “The existing zoning of the land failed to take into account the constraints on 
development created by the natural characteristics of the land, including but not 
limited to, steep slopes, floodplain, unstable soils, and inadequate drainage;” 

Not applicable, the existing zoning did not fail to take into account the constraints on 
development created by natural characteristics of the land. 

  n/a “The land or its surrounding environs has changed or is changing to such a degree 
that it is in the public interest to encourage a redevelopment of the area or to 
recognize the changed character of the area; or” 

Not applicable, the land or surrounding environs have not changed to a degree that it is 
in the public interest to encourage a redevelopment or to recognized the changed 
character of the area. 

  n/a “The proposed rezoning is necessary in order to provide land for a community need 
that was not anticipated at the time of adoption of the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan.” 

Not applicable, the rezoning is not necessary to provide land for a community need 
that was not anticipated at the time of the adoption of the BVCP. 

The land use code change proposed is intended to set forth standards for split zoned properties 
when one of the zoning districts is low density residential.  It is intended to specifically 
address the comprehensive plan policies related to compatibility and protection of residential 
neighborhoods adjacent to non-residential zones. Those policies are as follows. 

2.13 Protection of Residential Neighborhoods Adjacent to Non-residential Zones 
The city and county will take appropriate actions to ensure that the character and 
livability of established residential neighborhoods will not be undermined by spill- 

KEY ISSUE 2:  Is the code change consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive 
Plan? 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 14Packet Page 208



over impacts from adjacent regional or community business zones or by incremental 
expansion of business activities into residential areas. The city and county will protect 
residential neighborhoods from intrusion of non-residential uses by protecting edges 
and regulating the impacts of these uses on neighborhoods. 

2.15 Compatibility of Adjacent Land Uses 
To avoid or minimize noise and visual conflicts between adjacent land uses that vary 
widely in use, intensity or other characteristics, the city will use tools such as interface 
zones, transitional areas, site and building design and cascading gradients of density 
in the design of subareas and zoning districts. With redevelopment, the transitional 
area should be within the zone of more intense use. 

Specific to the proposed rezoning at 385 Broadway, the 2008 land use designation change for 
just an 0.80 acre portion of the property from Low Density Residential to Transitional 
Business was intended to create a 25-foot “buffer” area on the north and west side of the 
property. As noted, this was intended to ensure an “appropriate transition between the existing 
low density residential neighborhood and more intense uses allowed on the rezoned portion of 
the property.” 

To implement the intent of the 25-foot buffer of Low Density Residential Land Use, and to 
implement BVCP policies 2.13, and 2.15, the code change ordinance is being considered 
simultaneous to the rezoning ordinance to ensure that any structures, parking and other site 
improvements, other than landscaping and fences, have a setback that is the greater of the two 
zoning districts and not less than 25 feet from the property line. The ordinance allows for 
modifications of this standard if the proposed development is consistent with the use, form 
and intensity standards of the low density zoning district or if the project meets the site review 
criteria. 

The proposed BT-2 zoning district on the 0.8 acre portion of property will permit a variety of 
transitional business uses consistent with the existing use that has occupied the site for 
approximately 60 years along with consistency with the BVCP land use designation. The 
proposed ordinance to amend sections of the land use code is intended to implement the 
BVCP by providing standards for split zoned properties that include low density residential 
zoning that ensure compatibility between low density residential land use and other uses. 

Approved By: 

Jane S. Brautigam 
City Manager 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 15Packet Page 209



ATTACHMENTS: 
A: Proposed rezoning Ordinance No. 8093 
B: Proposed Ordinance No. 8094 to amend code sections 
C: Correspondence received 
D: Applicant’s written statement 
E: NIST Access Easement 
F: Planning Board’s Findings of Fact for Denial 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 16Packet Page 210



K:\pldr\0-8093-2nd reading-broadway, 385-2376.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE  NO. 8093 

AN ORDINANCE REZONING AN 0.8 ACRE PORTION OF LAND 
GENERALLY LOCATED AT 385 BROADWAY FROM THE RESIDENTIAL 
– LOW 1 (RL-1) TO THE BUSINESS – TRANSITIONAL 2 (BT-2) ZONING
DISTRICT AS DESCRIBED IN CHAPTER 9-5, “MODULAR ZONE
SYSTEM,” B.R.C. 1981, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS.

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO FINDS: 

A. An application has been filed with the City of Boulder seeking rezoning of an 0.8

acre portion of land that is a portion of a parcel generally located at 385 Broadway and more 

particularly described on Exhibit A attached to this ordinance (the “Property”) from Residential 

– Low 1 (RL-1) to Business – Transitional 2 (BT-2).

B. A public hearing before the Planning Board of the City of Boulder was duly held

on August 27, 2015, in consideration of said rezoning request for the Property. 

C. The Planning Board recommended that the City Council deny the request to

amend the zoning district map to include an 0.8 acre portion of the Property in the Business -

Transitional 2 (BT-2) zoning district as provided in Chapter 9-5, “Modular Zone System,” 

B.R.C. 1981.  

D. The City Council finds that the rezoning of the Property from Residential – Low 1

(RL-1) to Business - Transitional 2 (BT-2) is consistent with the policies and goals of the 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan and is consistent with Land Use Code criteria Section 9-2-

18(e)(1), B.R.C. “the applicant demonstrates by clear and convincing evidence that the proposed 

Attachment A - Rezoning Ordinance No. 8093

Agenda Item 5A     Page 17Packet Page 211



K:\pldr\0-8093-2nd reading-broadway, 385-2376.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

rezoning is necessary to come into compliance with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 

map.”  

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1. Chapter 9-5, “Modular Zone System,” B.R.C. 1981, and the zoning district 

map forming a part thereof are amended to include the Property within the Business - 

Transitional 2 (BT-2) zoning district. 

Section 2. The City Council finds that the rezoning of the Property from Residential – 

Low 1 (RL-1) to Business - Transitional 2 (BT-2) is consistent with the policies and goals of the 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, is necessary to bring the Property into compliance with the 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan map, and meets the criteria for rezoning as provided in 

Chapter 9-2, “Review Processes,” B.R.C. 1981.  The City Council adopts the recitals as a part of 

this ordinance.  

Section 3. The City Council has jurisdiction and legal authority to rezone the Property. 

Section 4.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern.  The rezoning of the Property bears 

a substantial relation to, and will enhance the general welfare of, the Property and of the 

residents of the City of Boulder. 

Section 5.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

Attachment A - Rezoning Ordinance No. 8093

Agenda Item 5A     Page 18Packet Page 212



K:\pldr\0-8093-2nd reading-broadway, 385-2376.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 17th day of November, 2015. 

Mayor 

Attest: 

City Clerk 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 1st day of December, 2015. 

Mayor 

Attest: 

City Clerk 

Attachment A - Rezoning Ordinance No. 8093

Agenda Item 5A     Page 19Packet Page 213



Attachment A - Rezoning Ordinance No. 8093

Agenda Item 5A     Page 20Packet Page 214



Attachment A - Rezoning Ordinance No. 8093

Agenda Item 5A     Page 21Packet Page 215



K:\plcu\o-8094-2nd reading-amend section 9-9-2(d)-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE NO. 8094 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTIONS 9-2-14, "SITE 
REVIEW," B.R.C. 1981, AND 9-9-2 "GENERAL 
PROVISIONS," B.R.C. 1981, TO ENSURE REASONABLE 
COMPATIBILITY OF THE DEVELOPMENT OF LOTS AND 
PARCELS LOCATED IN MORE THAN ONE ZONING 
DISTRICT ONE OF WHICH IS A LOW DENSITY 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH NEIGHBORING LAND 
USES, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Section 9-2-14. Site Review, B.R.C. 1981, is amended, and a new paragraph 

(c)(6) is added and subsequent paragraphs renumbered, to read: 

9-2-14. - Site Review.

. . . 

(b) Scope: The following development review thresholds apply to any development that
is eligible or that otherwise may be required to complete the site review process:

(1) Development Review Thresholds:

(A) Minimum Thresholds for Voluntary Site Review: No person may apply for a
site review application unless the project exceeds the thresholds for the
"minimum size for site review" category set forth in Table 2-2 of this section
or a height modification pursuant to Subsection (e) below on any lot is
requested.

(B) Minimum Thresholds for Required Site Review: No person may apply for a
subdivision or a building permit for a project that exceeds the thresholds for
the "concept plan and site review required" category set forth in table 2-2 of
this section until a site review has been completed.

. . . 

(E) Height Modifications: A development which exceeds the permitted height
requirements of Section 9-7-5, "Building Height," or 9-7-6, "Building Height,
Conditional," B.R.C. 1981, is required to complete a site review and is not
subject to the minimum threshold requirements. No standard other than height

Attachment B - Ordinance No. 8094 to Amend Code Sections

Agenda Item 5A     Page 22Packet Page 216



K:\plcu\o-8094-2nd reading-amend section 9-9-2(d)-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

may be modified under the site review unless the project is also eligible for 
site review. 

(F) New Development on Lots in Two or More Zoning Districts:  A development
which does not meet the standards of Section 9-9-2(d)(2), "Development of 
New Structures on Lots in Two or More Zoning Districts," B.R.C. 1981, is 
required to complete a site review and is not subject to the minimum threshold 
requirements.  No standard other than Section 9-9-2(d)(2), B.R.C. 1981, may 
be modified under the site review unless the project is also eligible for site 
review. 

. . . 

(c) Modifications to Development Standards: The following development standards of
B.R.C. 1981 may be modified under the site review process set forth in this section:

. . . 

(5) 9-9-2(b), "Maximum Permitted Buildings on a Lot."

(6) Standards for new structures and other new site improvements for lots and parcels
in two or more zoning districts one of which is a RE, RR, or RL zoning district to 
the extent permitted by Paragraph 9-9-2(d)(2), B.R.C. 1981. 

. . . 

Section 2.  Section 9-9-2. General Provisions, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

9-9-2. - General Provisions.

No person shall use or develop any land within the city except according to the following 
standards, unless modified through a use review under Section 9-2-15, "Use Review," B.R.C. 
1981, or a site review, Section 9-2-14, "Site Review," B.R.C. 1981, or a variance granted under 
Section 9-2-3, "Variances and Interpretations," B.R.C., 1981. 

. . . 

(d) Zoning Standards for Lots in Two or More Zoning Districts: The following standards
apply to lots and parcels in two or more zoning districts:

(1) Existing buildings located in more than one zoning district shall be regulated
according to the applicable use standards for the zoning district in which the
majority of the existing building is located. Any building additions or site
improvements shall be regulated according to the zoning district in which such
additions or improvements are located. In the event that an existing building is
split in half between two zoning districts, the city manager shall determine which
use standards shall apply based upon the historic use of the building and the
character of the surrounding area.

Attachment B - Ordinance No. 8094 to Amend Code Sections

Agenda Item 5A     Page 23Packet Page 217



K:\plcu\o-8094-2nd reading-amend section 9-9-2(d)-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

(2) Development of New Structures on Lots in Two or More Zoning Districts:

(A) Purpose:  The purpose of this paragraph is to ensure reasonable compatibility
of the development of lots and parcels located in more than one zoning district 
one of which is a RE, RR, or RL zoning district with neighboring land uses. 

(B) Standard: Any new structure, parking area or other site improvements except
fences and landscaping on lots or parcels located in more than one zoning 
district one of which is RR-1, RR-2, RE, RL-1, or RL-2 shall meet the greater 
of the following: 

(i) The setback standards applicable in the zoning district the improvement or
part thereof is located in; 

(ii) The setback standards of the adjacent zoning district; or

(iii) A twenty-five foot setback from the property line that is generally parallel
to a zoning district boundary. 

(C) Administrative Modification:  The requirements of this paragraph may be
modified by the city manager if the applicant demonstrates that the proposed 
development of the area is consistent with the standards of Chapters 9-6, "Use 
Standards, " 9-7, "Form and Bulk Standards, " and 9-8, "Intensity Standards, " 
applicable to the lower intensity zoning district of the two or more zoning 
districts of the lot or parcel.  

(D) Site Review Modification:  The requirements of this paragraph may be
modified under the provisions of Section 9-2-14, “Site Review,” B.R.C. 1981. 

. . . 

Section 3.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern and implements the intent of the 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan. 

Section 4.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

Attachment B - Ordinance No. 8094 to Amend Code Sections

Agenda Item 5A     Page 24Packet Page 218



K:\plcu\o-8094-2nd reading-amend section 9-9-2(d)-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this17th day of November, 2015. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 1st day of December, 2015. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment B - Ordinance No. 8094 to Amend Code Sections

Agenda Item 5A     Page 25Packet Page 219



From: ps angerer [mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com] 
Sent: Monday, June 01, 2015 4:05 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Re: 385 Broadway 

Dear Elaine, 
The information you shared this morning in our phone conversation clarified many of my questions regarding the re-
zoning request for 385 Broadway, (LUR2015-00047).  Thank you for sending the BVCP link. 
My understanding of the BVCP is that it is a general statement meant to guide decisions?   
Is it necessary that re-zoning occur to bring a property into compliance with the BVCP land use?  Or does current 
zoning and usage carry weight? 

In the memorandum from SopherSparn Architects regarding Rezoning dated May 1, 2015, the argument is made that 
“rezoning is necessary to come into compliance with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan map.” This implies that 
re-zoning must occur because compliance is mandatory. Is this a true assumption on my part? 
I appreciate any clarity that you can bring to these questions. 

Regards, 
Patty 

From: "McLaughlin, Elaine" <McLaughlinE@bouldercolorado.gov> 
To: "'psangerer@yahoo.com'" <psangerer@yahoo.com>  
Sent: Monday, June 1, 2015 12:07 PM 
Subject: 385 Broadway 

Hi Patty- 

It was nice to talk with you this morning.  Following is a link to the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan for your use: 
https://bouldercolorado.gov/planning/2010-boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan 

Please feel free to call or email with any additional questions, and as you noted, I will look for your comment letter by 
the end of the week. 

Kind Regards- 
Elaine 

Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 
Department of Community Planning + Sustainability 
City of Boulder 
1739 Broadway, 3rd Floor 
Boulder, CO  80306-0791 

303-441-4130 (phone)
303-441-3241 (fax)

http://www.boulderplandevelop.net 
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/ 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 26Packet Page 220

mailto:McLaughlinE@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
https://bouldercolorado.gov/planning/2010-boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan
http://www.boulderplandevelop.net/
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/1jWVIe3zqb3ba9EVspKyrKruKMUCMCruKMUC-CrjKOMOMqekQkjqtS73hO-eoppdGSfRIyjfB3MkgGSuxYrlfH7kaYhGpdAaJDEv6RjWNR2L4qCjtHzAbefLZvCn7XIEzKLsKCC-qeu78K3C1OfbnhIyyHtxzBgY-F6lK1FJ4SUrLOoVcsCej79zztPpesRG9pxjDtJV2JiLbUgGSuxYrlfH7kaYhGpdHkS17U_455J9RHOVJAQsLIICMnWhEwpuvd40P6KE6db6Qn3sOeyZSQ6r7Ln
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/2DRPoQ721J5xBB4QsKcThdTdLnosjojdLnosjvjdFTpopod7aqa9JeX3xEVv7ccICRr7WSh9DOxUa8lrfg-dGDRzG5u8RcCO5mPQfzqFZoWxnydj9KRNO5D7T-LPbzZSkhTnKnjjvd7f3An1P0V7BHEShhlKMNOEuvkzaT0QSCrsdTVcsCej79zANNKVIDeqR4IOpykV_7BY8lrfg-dGDRzG5jqRdwh-fN1hritqYKrpd7bXb9I5-Aq86nDPh0cNHG1ziNJ5MTQzWWsU1
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/5fHCN0SyMOOyqen6rECXCTHIe9I9CTHIe9LFCQXIIcI6zBd54SDtxMQsLzC6mjqJzZr8APVgY54aJDEv6RjWNR2L4qCjp2HpW7NJk-ItgHN6FATqUV2PzX_nVBN-Xa8XHTbFFLCzDxObwVwszORQr8EGTooVkffGhBrwqrpdK6XYCej79zANOoUTsSjDdqymopAHZunONfogY-C4aJDEv5USJjo4vzYgkmQDmLbCSjhO-OOr1vF6y1BVYQg3cqWwoQIrhsdOJrd7wWWjiJi
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/FZsS93gA91NJ5xBB4QsKcThdTdLnosjojdLnosjvjdFTpopod7aqa9JeX3xEVv7ccICRr7WSh9DOxUa8lrfg-dGDRzG5u8RcCO5mPQfzqFZoWxnydj9KRNO5D7T-LPbzZSkhTnKnjjvd7f3An1P0V7BHEShhlKMNOEuvkzaT0QSMrsdTVcsCej79zANNKVI04mGTdIx_bUgGSuxYrlfH7kaAqCjqRdwh-fN1hritqYKrpd7bXb9I5-Aq86nDPh0cNHG1ziNJ5MSkPJuMScYD1
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/FZsS86Qm6mkjhOUPt4TsSZtxNdxcSZtxNdZcSDtBxBwQsFEECQXIe6zBYsMOOrlIvHp4Cva7wExlIZ3USGvmeElUzkOr8lrfg-dGDRzG5u8RcCXn78msvvW_cKfTph7tuVtddYQsYehs7c3AumKzp55mX37axVZicHs3jrVJMTvANOoVcsCej76XCM0jFYH5oYLyNeIWQMxlIZ3USGvmeElMSJjo4vzYgkmQDmLbCSjhO-OOr1vF6y1BVYQg3cqWwoQIrhsdS-kTqpEEcvqR


From: ps angerer [mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com] 
Sent: Monday, June 01, 2015 4:05 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Re: 385 Broadway 

Dear Elaine, 
The information you shared this morning in our phone conversation clarified many of my questions regarding the re-
zoning request for 385 Broadway, (LUR2015-00047).  Thank you for sending the BVCP link. 
My understanding of the BVCP is that it is a general statement meant to guide decisions?   
Is it necessary that re-zoning occur to bring a property into compliance with the BVCP land use?  Or does current 
zoning and usage carry weight? 

In the memorandum from SopherSparn Architects regarding Rezoning dated May 1, 2015, the argument is made that 
“rezoning is necessary to come into compliance with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan map.” This implies that 
re-zoning must occur because compliance is mandatory. Is this a true assumption on my part? 
I appreciate any clarity that you can bring to these questions. 

Regards, 
Patty 

From: "McLaughlin, Elaine" <McLaughlinE@bouldercolorado.gov> 
To: "'psangerer@yahoo.com'" <psangerer@yahoo.com>  
Sent: Monday, June 1, 2015 12:07 PM 
Subject: 385 Broadway 

Hi Patty- 

It was nice to talk with you this morning.  Following is a link to the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan for your use: 
https://bouldercolorado.gov/planning/2010-boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan 

Please feel free to call or email with any additional questions, and as you noted, I will look for your comment letter by 
the end of the week. 

Kind Regards- 
Elaine 

Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 
Department of Community Planning + Sustainability 
City of Boulder 
1739 Broadway, 3rd Floor 
Boulder, CO  80306-0791 
303-441-4130 (phone)
303-441-3241 (fax)

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 27Packet Page 221

mailto:McLaughlinE@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
https://bouldercolorado.gov/planning/2010-boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan


http://www.boulderplandevelop.net 
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/ 

From: McLaughlin, Elaine  
Sent: Thursday, June 04, 2015 3:48 PM 
To: 'ps angerer' 
Subject: RE: Lower Bluebell Response to LUR2015-00047 

Hi Patty- 
The applicant will need to respond to staff comments, which we’re still putting together, and resubmit a response to 
our comments for a three week review track (beginning the first and third Monday of the month). Among the 
comments is to ask for any recent communications between the applicant and NIST regarding their access 
agreement and proposed rezoning.  Our City Attorney’s Office has a copy of the private access easement between 
the two property owners.  I can check to see if you could have a copy of the easement. It may be somewhat 
proprietary given that it’s for the Federal Labs, but I can certainly check. 
Elaine 

From: ps angerer [mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com]  
Sent: Thursday, June 04, 2015 3:41 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Re: Lower Bluebell Response to LUR2015-00047 

Thank you Elaine, 
Once June 5 passes, what is the timeline for this application? 
I have a question about the easement with NIST.  Do the applicants have to contact NIST and if so, may I have a 
copy of their communication? 
Regards 
Patty 

From: "McLaughlin, Elaine" <McLaughlinE@bouldercolorado.gov> 
To: 'ps angerer' <psangerer@yahoo.com>  
Sent: Thursday, June 4, 2015 1:00 PM 
Subject: RE: Lower Bluebell Response to LUR2015-00047 

Hi Patty- 
Thanks very much for your letter. I’ll ensure that it is provided to the applicant and becomes part of the public record 
for Planning Board and City Council. 
Kind Regards- 
Elaine 

Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 
Department of Community Planning + Sustainability 
City of Boulder 
1739 Broadway, 3rd Floor 
Boulder, CO  80306-0791 

303-441-4130 (phone) 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 28Packet Page 222

http://www.boulderplandevelop.net/
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
mailto:McLaughlinE@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/1jWVIe3zqb3ba9EVspKyrKruKMUCMCruKMUC-CrjKOMOMqekQkjqtS73hO-eoppdGSfRIyjfB3MkgGSuxYrlfH7kaYhGpdAaJDEv6RjWNR2L4qCjtHzAbefLZvCn7XIEzKLsKCC-qeu78K3C1OfbnhIyyHtxzBgY-F6lK1FJ4SUrLOoVcsCej79zztPpesRG9pxjDtJV2JiLbUgGSuxYrlfH7kaYhGpdHkS17U_455J9RHOVJAQsLIICMnWhEwpuvd40P6KE6db6Qn3sOeyZSQ6r7Ln
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/2DRPoQ721J5xBB4QsKcThdTdLnosjojdLnosjvjdFTpopod7aqa9JeX3xEVv7ccICRr7WSh9DOxUa8lrfg-dGDRzG5u8RcCO5mPQfzqFZoWxnydj9KRNO5D7T-LPbzZSkhTnKnjjvd7f3An1P0V7BHEShhlKMNOEuvkzaT0QSCrsdTVcsCej79zANNKVIDeqR4IOpykV_7BY8lrfg-dGDRzG5jqRdwh-fN1hritqYKrpd7bXb9I5-Aq86nDPh0cNHG1ziNJ5MTQzWWsU1
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/5fHCN0SyMOOyqen6rECXCTHIe9I9CTHIe9LFCQXIIcI6zBd54SDtxMQsLzC6mjqJzZr8APVgY54aJDEv6RjWNR2L4qCjp2HpW7NJk-ItgHN6FATqUV2PzX_nVBN-Xa8XHTbFFLCzDxObwVwszORQr8EGTooVkffGhBrwqrpdK6XYCej79zANOoUTsSjDdqymopAHZunONfogY-C4aJDEv5USJjo4vzYgkmQDmLbCSjhO-OOr1vF6y1BVYQg3cqWwoQIrhsdOJrd7wWWjiJi
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/FZsS93gA91NJ5xBB4QsKcThdTdLnosjojdLnosjvjdFTpopod7aqa9JeX3xEVv7ccICRr7WSh9DOxUa8lrfg-dGDRzG5u8RcCO5mPQfzqFZoWxnydj9KRNO5D7T-LPbzZSkhTnKnjjvd7f3An1P0V7BHEShhlKMNOEuvkzaT0QSMrsdTVcsCej79zANNKVI04mGTdIx_bUgGSuxYrlfH7kaAqCjqRdwh-fN1hritqYKrpd7bXb9I5-Aq86nDPh0cNHG1ziNJ5MSkPJuMScYD1
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/FZsS86Qm6mkjhOUPt4TsSZtxNdxcSZtxNdZcSDtBxBwQsFEECQXIe6zBYsMOOrlIvHp4Cva7wExlIZ3USGvmeElUzkOr8lrfg-dGDRzG5u8RcCXn78msvvW_cKfTph7tuVtddYQsYehs7c3AumKzp55mX37axVZicHs3jrVJMTvANOoVcsCej76XCM0jFYH5oYLyNeIWQMxlIZ3USGvmeElMSJjo4vzYgkmQDmLbCSjhO-OOr1vF6y1BVYQg3cqWwoQIrhsdS-kTqpEEcvqR


303-441-3241 (fax)

http://www.boulderplandevelop.net 
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/ 

From: ps angerer [mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com]  
Sent: Thursday, June 04, 2015 12:55 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Lower Bluebell Response to LUR2015-00047 

Elaine, 
Attached you will find the Bluebell neighborhood response letter including signatures to LUR2015-00047. 
Please keep us informed as the application proceeds. 
Thank you 
Patty  

The Community of Lower Bluebell in Boulder, Colorado 

6.1.2015 

Ms. Elaine McLaughlin 
Senior Planner 
Department of Community Planning + Sustainability 
City of Boulder 
1739 Broadway, 3rd Floor 
Boulder, CO 80306-0791 

RE: Application for re-zoning  
#LUR2015-00047 
385 Broadway/High Density Student Housing 

Dear Ms. Elaine McLaughlin, 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 29Packet Page 223

http://www.boulderplandevelop.net/
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/5fHCMUSyMOOM-NsQsECXCTHIe9I9CTHIe9LFCQXIIcI6zBd54SDtxMQsLzC6mjqJzZr8APVgY54aJDEv6RjWNR2L4qCjp2HpW7NJk-ItgHN6FASeKVqUVZ_HYOeuKMeLRXBQnD6u73DCnPhONORQX8FGTupVkffGhBrwqrhdLCXYCej79zANOoUTsSjDdqymokVTrugHkHO-4aJDEv6RjWNR2L4qCjqRdwh-fN1hritqYKrhd7arPxI5-Aq80HkNYjh0cDJ-gYYYQg0LWblxjPh1eFEw2Ej1qtQnOZXTo76S63oZiK
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/5fHCN0idEIcIIfInd7a9KVJWX3yr2pJWX3yrWpJeXb3b1EVjhhdFTosd7bUVxBASHo_mO9c-kf1h2HpW7NJk-ItgHN6FASgGSuxYrlfH7kaYhGpdzHKmKevvW_czDHI3HZuVt5VNDxMVVBYQsIsJteOaqJTCul3PWApmU6CQPrVK_9zANOoVcsCedTdAVPmEBCjciDfUYLx2HpW7NJk-ItgGrmFI2fN-8abqjHnBPq9EVjusdwLQzh05qCfyq81AZLO7DDCy05_hqIauq89Rd40l2objKy-nLuX0USMMrAA9a
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/avndygAczgwrhoppovoKqekjtPrRS74S4PrRS74TQPqtSm6m3hOCyyrjKMUqenNP3b9JmN-JAipYEu2y5mPQfzqFZoWxnydj9IxlIZ3USGvmeElUzkOr7nsJss-_R-p7fno7nWZOWbPzf3xPPbVEVoVqWtAkRrLcYG7DR8OJMddICTPt-j79zANOoVcsrKr9PCJhbccOl-LbVoDI8uvj25mPQfyYrmFI2fN-8abqjHnBPq9EVjusdwLQzh05qCfyq81AZLO7DDCy05_hqIauq89Rd40l2objKy-nLuX0USMMroU9JnYjD
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/FZsScygw86Qm6mm7SbCzB4TsSZtxNdxcSZtxNdZcSDtBxBwQsFEECQXIe6zBYsMOOrlIvHp4Cva7wExlIZ3USGvmeElUzkOr8lrfg-dGDRzG5u8RcCNRTbn7fLZvChPRS1R-LsKyYUPMUsYO-qememKDp5dmXPfaxVZicHs3jr1JYTvANOoVcsCej76XCM0hqHsSO7YLx2HpW7NJk-ItgGhGpdHkS17U_455J9RHOVJ4QsFLe6MnWhEw2Jj7Nd40OuTV3PPPh02_EJm5fd44WCy0axc5FThvbTLtwsroodAdDx3OPq
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/avndzhJ5xBBxZyVEVhdTdLnosjojdLnosjvjdFTpopod7aqa9JeX3xEVv7ccICRr7WSh9DOxUa8lrfg-dGDRzG5u8RcCO5mPQfzqFZoWxnydj9IttORNPX_nVAsZtwtvHTbELecYe7fcLCzBzBHFShjlKYPOEuvkzaT0QS-rvdTVcsCej79zANNKVI04WvaNmfbUIjHeJc8lrfg-dGDRzG5sdHkS17U_455J9RHOVJ4QsFLe6MnWhEw2Jj7Nd40OuTV3PPPh02_EJm5fd44WCy0axc5FThvbTLtwsrood_LfTdJ-HdRjw


 
The undersigned represent the community of Lower Bluebell who are vigorously opposed to the 
zoning change request, #LUR2015-00047, for 385 Broadway, Boulder. 
 
We live in a low-density residential neighborhood that has maintained its character for 58 years. We 
are a strong, diverse community committed to caring for the fabric of the neighborhood and for one 
another. One half of the homes have been occupied by the same families for over 30 years, one third 
of the homes have been occupied for over 50 years by the original builders of the houses. 
 
In 2008, the owner of 385 Broadway requested a land use map change.  As a neighborhood we 
worked with the then owner and the city to come to an agreement that would allow for expansion or 
redevelopment of the site for continued business use while maintaining a buffer from the impacts of 
the proposed increase in business uses the owner was proposing.  We were told he wanted to 
increase the square footage of office space and that a change in zoning would remove the need to 
request variances as was done in the past to allow for a business use in a residential zone.  City Staff 
proposed the 25 foot RL-1 buffer on the west and north sides of the property and a zoning change to 
BT-2 for the remainder of the property to allow for the improvements.  The neighbors agreed to the 
staff’s proposal, the buffer was put into place and the BVCP land use was changed. However, the 
owner did not pursue the zoning change for the majority of the site and instead chose to list the 
property for sale. 
 
The property was sold in 2014 and the current request for re-zoning is being requested by the new 
owners of the property.  Unlike the previous owner’s stated intent of increasing square footage of 
office space, the current owner’s stated intent, found in their Project Fact Sheet, is to build multi-
family/high density student rental housing which would be comprised of 16 townhomes with 4 
bedrooms each (potentially 64 residents).  They intend a reduction in off street parking spaces from 
the required 48 to 36, building code occupancy classification B and $119,000 Cash-in-Lieu of 4 
dedicated permanently affordable housing units on site. This project would require the demolition of a 
building that is over 50 years old, which would require a historic landmark review. 
The current proposal states that a change in zoning is required by the Boulder Valley Comprehensive 
Plan and that the property zoning must be in compliance with the BVCP Land Use Map. We disagree, 
and recognize that the BVCP guides land use decisions, provides a general statement of communities 
desires for future development but does not regulate city zoning.   
 
We strongly oppose the proposed change in zoning. Should rezoning occur, the owners would have 
“by-right” development opportunities. And therefore, could build anything allowed in that zoning, 
which is unacceptable. We insist on maintaining the residential zoning allowing for development with 
special review only. 
 
The current project proposed by Matt Johnke Realty & Heritage Title Co., Sopher Sparn Architects LLC, 
Adrian Sopher and Erin Bagnall, exemplifies the potential scope of a project which could be developed 
by-right. 
 
Our concerns specific to the above mentioned project are: 
 
1. Parking: Requires review 
The developers have requested a reduction in permitted parking spaces of 25%. With a potential of 64 
residents and 36 parking spaces those without a space in the complex would have no alternative but 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 30Packet Page 224



to park on Bluebell or Mariposa, which is not acceptable.  While Bluebell is part of the Columbine 
Parking Zone, an increase of up to 28 permits is not sustainable. 
 
2. Light Pollution: Compliance with “Dark Skies” requires a review 
Two 3-story buildings housing 16 units and perched on a hill will produce unwelcomed light pollution. 
 
3. Buffer Zone: 
Both the 25 foot buffer zones, north which is in the required set back and west which abuts a 
residence, have historically been ill maintained. 
 
4. Construction Staging: Requires review 
Construction Staging is problematic in that there is no venue for staging.  
 
6. Pedestrian Access: 
The pedestrian access on the new development should go directly east from the developed property 
onto the bike/pedestrian path on Broadway, avoiding Bluebell Avenue altogether.  
 
7. Fire and Life Safety: Requires Review 
Access from Bluebell is non-existent. There is an existing fire truck access to the cul de sac at the end 
of Bluebell Ave through a chained gate which must remain exclusively dedicated to emergency 
vehicles. 
  
8. Solar Access: Requires Review 
The elevation of the site and the proposed height of the buildings suggest an infringement on access 
to sunlight on the property at 2290 Bluebell Avenue.   
 
Thank you, 
The undersigned neighbors  

 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 31Packet Page 225



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 32Packet Page 226



 

 
                

 
 
 
 
 
Contact:   Patty Angerer 
  2225 Bluebell Ave. 
  Boulder, CO 80302 
  303-449-0968 
  psangerer@yahoo.com 
   
From: ps angerer [mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com]  
Sent: Thursday, June 04, 2015 3:41 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Re: Lower Bluebell Response to LUR2015-00047 
 
Thank you Elaine, 
Once June 5 passes, what is the timeline for this application? 
I have a question about the easement with NIST.  Do the applicants have to contact NIST and if so, may I have a 
copy of their communication? 
Regards 
Patty 
__________________ 
From: McLaughlin, Elaine  
Sent: Thursday, June 04, 2015 3:48 PM 
To: 'ps angerer' 
Subject: RE: Lower Bluebell Response to LUR2015-00047 
 
Hi Patty- 
The applicant will need to respond to staff comments, which we’re still putting together, and resubmit a response to 
our comments for a three week review track (beginning the first and third Monday of the month). Among the 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 33Packet Page 227

mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com


comments is to ask for any recent communications between the applicant and NIST regarding their access 
agreement and proposed rezoning.  Our City Attorney’s Office has a copy of the private access easement between 
the two property owners.  I can check to see if you could have a copy of the easement. It may be somewhat 
proprietary given that it’s for the Federal Labs, but I can certainly check. 
Elaine 

From: ps angerer [mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com]  
Sent: Thursday, June 04, 2015 4:48 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Re: Lower Bluebell Response to LUR2015-00047 
 
Thank you, I would appreciate a copy if it is available to the public. 
Patty 
__________________________ 
From: McLaughlin, Elaine  
Sent: Friday, June 05, 2015 10:58 AM 
To: 'ps angerer' 
Subject: RE: Lower Bluebell Response to LUR2015-00047 
 
Hi Patty-  
Please see the attachments of the NIST agreements with the property owners. 
Elaine 

 
 

From: dhh1056@gmail.com [mailto:dhh1056@gmail.com] On Behalf Of David Holloway 
Sent: Thursday, June 04, 2015 3:08 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Proposed Bluebell Student Housing Project at 385 Broadway, #LUR2015-00047 
 
Dear Ms. McLaughlin, 
 
I have an interest in property on lower Bluebell Avenue and am writing to express my alarm and 
opposition to the proposed student housing project for 385 Broadway. 
 
It is stunning that planning and zoning would even consider such a proposal, given its scale and mass, 
when compared to the contiguous low density single family area of lower Bluebell. 
 
As you know, the proposed student housing project triggers multiple reviews including parking, fire and 
life safety, and historical. 
 
Moreover, the proposed project submitted by Mr. Johnke, et. al., raises serious questions about your 
department's position and record on FAR regulations and enforcement. 
 
The Bluebell neighborhood has already experienced unfavorable development accommodations and 
mangling of FAR guidelines with several area redevelopment projects, including the recent (within the 
last several years) redevelopment of 2131 Bluebell.  The 2131 Bluebell redevelopment more 
closely resembles a zero-lot-line project as the structure stretches north and east touching two alley 
boundaries!  How could that have possibly been approved?  Worse, after multiple assurances to the 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 34Packet Page 228

mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
mailto:dhh1056@gmail.com
mailto:dhh1056@gmail.com


contrary, the "single family" at 2131 Bluebell appears to be operating as a rental property, along with 
numerous other non-conforming rentals within a five block radius. 
 
I have also been in contact with the GSA (General Services Administration), the federal government's 
property manager at NIST, and have asked them for their position on this student housing project. 
Among the questions for GSA is the issue of access to 385 Broadway - which essentially runs the length 
of the NIST main entrance - and how that access squares with their current and future security 
demands. 
It seems inconsistent with their ongoing security concerns that the GSA would lock down their south and 
west entries (Dartmouth and King streets), and open up their front door to student housing. 
 
The proposed parking scheme for 385 Broadway is a also total non-starter.  The property won't 
accommodate the required 48 surface spaces, and it barely accommodates the current 36 spaces with a 
building one-third the mass of the proposed structure. So, as a result of the unfavorable access to the 
property, combined with the dearth of parking spaces, tenants (students) of this proposed project would 
be inclined to park on Bluebell - especially given the projects proposed orientation - facing Broadway 
and Bluebell.   
 
In addition, though I have not yet received it, I have ordered a litigation report (title report) on 385 
Broadway.  There seem to be questions about a former or current leasehold estate in the chain of title,  
which wouldn't surprise me given that all of South Oak Park was essentially re-platted due to surveying 
errors.  Plus, current use - commercial, conflicts with current zoning - low density residential; and the 
proposed zoning - business, seems to be in contravention of proposed use - high density student 
housing?  Is student housing in Boulder zoned business? 
 
Given the myriad entanglements with this project it is my hope that reason and common sense prevail 
and the proposed zoning request is denied forthwith. 
Please know that if the project planning is allowed to continue, I will use - without limitation - all 
available methods and resources to block any further activity on this project. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
David Holloway 

From: McLaughlin, Elaine  
Sent: Thursday, June 04, 2015 4:18 PM 
To: 'David Holloway' 
Subject: RE: Proposed Bluebell Student Housing Project at 385 Broadway, #LUR2015-00047 
 
Hi David- 
 
Thanks very much for your thoughtful comment letter, I’ll ensure that the applicant receives a copy and 
that it becomes part of the public record when Planning Board and City Council consider the rezoning.  
 
A few quick points of clarification:  we’ve not received any plans by the applicant, only a statement of 
intent to build 16 townhomes.  Therefore we don’t yet know if the 16 townhomes would be marketed as 
student housing or not.  We are requesting that the applicant submit an application for Site Review 
application to accompany the rezoning, although they are not required to do so, as having the plans 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 35Packet Page 229



upfront will provide a better understanding of the purpose of the rezoning for the benefit of the 
neighbors, staff, and the decision makers.   

Secondly, while the city does not consider rezoning requests very often the application must meet one 
of the five rezoning criteria (found here). In this case, the applicant is requesting to bring the property 
into compliance with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Land Use for the site which is designated 
Transitional Business.  In the requested BT-1 zoning, townhomes of up to 35 feet in height are a use by-
right.  However, as you’ve pointed out to build the 16 units, the applicant would need to request a 
residential parking reduction which can only be approved through the more extensive Site Review 
process which would provide greater information about the project, the access and the number of 
planned vehicular trips per day.   

Please feel free to contact me with any additional questions or comments. 
Kind Regards- 
Elaine 

Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 
Department of Community Planning + Sustainability 
City of Boulder 
1739 Broadway, 3rd Floor 
Boulder, CO  80306-0791 
303-441-4130 (phone)
303-441-3241 (fax)

From: Tom Van Zandt [mailto:vanzandt70@gmail.com] 
Sent: Friday, June 12, 2015 8:54 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: 385 Broadway 

Elaine, 

Thanks for you memo about 385 Broadway.  We and our neighbors will respond to the memo.  In the 
meantime, I have a couple of comments about the memo itself.   

First, you give directions for accessing Title 9.  But what then?   In Title 9 how does a layperson find 
information such as density limits, setbacks, height limits, etc., etc.?  Is there an index to Title 9? 

Second, the map in the memo is about 40 years out of date.  27th Way was extended to Broadway in the 
'70's.  This is relevant to the proposal because the intersection of 27th Way and Broadway is adjacent to 
385 Broadway.  The maps in the application as well as flood maps of the area are all up to date.  The City 
should be able to do just as well. 

Thanks for your attention. 

Tom Van Zandt 
2255 Bluebell Avenue 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 36Packet Page 230

https://www.municode.com/library/co/boulder/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT9LAUSCO_CH2REPR_9-2-18RE&showChanges=true


303-499-6395    

From: McLaughlin, Elaine  
Sent: Monday, June 15, 2015 8:49 AM 
To: 'vanzandt70@gmail.com' 
Subject: RE: 385 Broadway  
 
Hi Tom-  
 
Could you refer me to the specific memo you are addressing?  I’ve prepared a staff comment letter that 
was sent to the applicant a couple of weeks ago and about a month ago I sent a public notice to the 
neighbors that Planning had received the application. That notice was intended to provide notification 
to the neighborhood only and not intended to be a memorandum.  I’ve attached the staff comments 
that went to the applicant that could assist you in your questions about Title 9.  If you do have questions 
beyond what the comment letter addresses, I’m happy to assist you with specific questions. 
 
Kind Regards- 
Elaine 
 
Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 
Department of Community Planning + Sustainability 
City of Boulder 
1739 Broadway, 3rd Floor 
Boulder, CO  80306-0791 
 
303-441-4130 (phone) 
303-441-3241 (fax) 
 
http://www.boulderplandevelop.net 
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/ 
 

  

 

From: Tom Van Zandt [mailto:vanzandt70@gmail.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, June 17, 2015 3:29 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Re: 385 Broadway 
 
Elaine, 
 
The memo I referred to is dated May 21. 
 
Thanks for all the valuable information you included in the attachments. 
 
I do have a few specific questions and comments. 
 
How is "Dwelling Unit" defined?   

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 37Packet Page 231

http://www.boulderplandevelop.net/
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/
https://www.facebook.com/bouldercolorado.gov
https://twitter.com/bouldercolorado
https://vimeo.com/channels/boulder8
http://www.youtube.com/bouldercoloradogov
http://www.flickr.com/photos/bouldercolorado/


How many beds are permitted in a bedroom?  How is the limit enforced?  (It's my impression that 
enforcement is very difficult, so that violations of occupancy limits are common.) 
 
These questions are related to the parking requirements. 
 
I don't believe that the Federal government would ever agree to any condition "in perpetuity".  Even if 
they did agee, they could always change their mind!    
 
Thank you very much. 
 
Tom Van Zandt 
2255 Bluebell Ave. 

 
----- Forwarded Message ----- 
From: Helen <hgoldman@colorado.edu> 
To: angerer ps <psangerer@yahoo.com>  
Sent: Thursday, June 4, 2015 3:53 PM 
Subject: Finaldraft.docx 
 
Dear Ms. McLaughlin,  
My husband Martin and I have lived at 2275 Bluebell Ave. since 1972.  It has been a quiet 
residential street where our children grew up, and it continues to be a street with many 
youngsters playing outside.  We are distressed to hear of the proposed changes to the property 
on Broadway that would inevitably turn it into a densely populated area.   
Our names would have been added to the letter sent to you by the neighborhood's close knit 
residents, had we not been traveling in France.  We would like to add our voices to those 
strongly opposed to the zoning changes.  
We have asked Patty Angerer to forward this letter to you. 
 
Yours truly,  
Helen and Martin Goldman 
 

From: Holtzman-Bell, Virginia K. [mailto:virginia.holtzman-bell@nist.gov]  
Sent: Friday, June 05, 2015 12:18 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Cc: Salber, Stephen S. 
Subject: LUR 2015-00047: 385 Broadway 
 
Ms. McLaughlin: 
 
Please find attached the Department of Commerce’s input to the City’s consideration of the rezoning 
request for 385 Broadway. 
 
Virginia Holtzman-Bell 
Deputy Director for Facilities Design and Construction/ 
Boulder Laboratories Site Manager 
Office of Facilities and Property Management 
National Institute of Standards and Technology 
325 Broadway,  Rm. 05-1101, Mail Stop-194.00 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 38Packet Page 232

mailto:hgoldman@colorado.edu
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
mailto:virginia.holtzman-bell@nist.gov


Boulder CO 80305-3328 
  303-497-6673 (phone) 
  303-356-6911 (mobile) 
 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 39Packet Page 233



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 40Packet Page 234



 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 41Packet Page 235



From: "Ferro, Charles" <FerroC@bouldercolorado.gov> 
To: "psangerer@yahoo.com" <psangerer@yahoo.com>  
Cc: "McLaughlin, Elaine" <McLaughlinE@bouldercolorado.gov> 
Sent: Monday, July 13, 2015 2:35 PM 
Subject: 385 Broadway Rezoning 

Hi Patty, 
Please note that the rezoning hearing has been tentatively scheduled for Planning Board’s consideration on August 27, 2015 at 
6:00pm. 
The Planning Board meeting will be held in chambers on the second floor of City Hall located at 1777 Broadway. Staff will send out a 
written notification to property owners within 600’ of the site as a courtesy in early August. Please feel free to contact me with any 
questions. 
Best, 
Charles 

Charles Ferro, AICP 
Development Review Manager  
City of Boulder - Department of Community Planning + Sustainability 
303.441.4012 - Direct 
303.441.3241 - Fax 
ferroc@bouldercolorado.gov 
www.bouldercolorado.gov 

 Facebook |  Twitter |  YouTube |  RSS 

P Please consider the environment before printing this email. 

From: ps angerer <psangerer@yahoo.com> 
Date: July 13, 2015 at 5:37:09 PM MDT 
To: "Ferro, Charles" <FerroC@bouldercolorado.gov> 
Subject: Re: 385 Broadway Rezoning 
Reply-To: ps angerer <psangerer@yahoo.com> 

Hi Charles, 
Thank you for the notification of the calendar scheduling. 
I have a couple of questions: 
1. What is the entire process for changing zoning?
2. What is the entire process for changing land use?
Pretty broad questions, but I am a little confused as to how many boards and how many times in front of those
boards.
Thanks
Patty

Hi Patty, 
Apologies for the delayed response. 
The processes are a bit complex but, I’ve done my best to summarize them. 
Please feel free to call me (or Elaine) with any additional questions. 
Best, 
Charles  

Charles Ferro, AICP 
Development Review Manager 
City of Boulder - Department of Community Planning + Sustainability 
303.441.4012 - Direct 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 42Packet Page 236

mailto:FerroC@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
mailto:McLaughlinE@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:ferroc@bouldercolorado.gov
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/2DRPowd38ArhopsupKUOyrKruKMUCMCruKMUC-CrjKOMOMqekQkjqtShPzybRPhOrt-cqS1h2HpW7NJk-ItgHN6FASgGSuxYrlfH7kaYhGpdKqgooRZ_HYOMOev79ZuVt4QszD-svpKqemn-EyCJtdmZSul3PWApmU6CQjrVK_8K6zBV55BeXNKVI04XJL8lGlVv25mPQfzqFZoWxnydj9JqCM8_7UwEJFeJundEKf3CjobZ8QgcLfCy0pznk36Bzh02_5aMB0yrjvdXULN
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/k-Kr3wUp418SyMOUYPtNB4TsSZtxNdxcSZtxNdZcSDtBxBwQsFEECQXIzD74nHCzASXYoRI2y5mPQfzqFZoWxnydj9IxlIZ3USGvmeElUzkOrsQwMNHX_nVBxAs-ejWZOW9EV7fYU-PsQsILZh5dqWqJXIYG7DR8OJMddFCTPt-hsd7bOabatTztPo0epykV_7BY8lrfg-dGDRzG5jqRdwh-fN1hritqYKrhsu7cCMnWhEwpuvd40P6KE6db6y05-alxa14SC-rlm5p
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/2DRPoQd1MwrhopsupKUOyrKruKMUCMCruKMUC-CrjKOMOMqekQkjqtShPzybRPhOrt-cqS1h2HpW7NJk-ItgHN6FASgGSuxYrlfH7kaYhGpdKqgooRZ_HYOMOev79ZuVt4QszD-svpKqemn-EyCJtdmZSul3PWApmU6CSjrVK_8K6zBV55BeXNKVI04mGTdIx_bUgGSuxYrlfH7kaAqCjqRdwh-fN1hritqYKrhsu7cCMnWhEwpuvd40P6KE6db6y05-alxa14SC-r9oAP
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=6658&Itemid=28
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
mailto:FerroC@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com


303.441.3241 - Fax 
ferroc@bouldercolorado.gov 
www.bouldercolorado.gov 

 Facebook |  Twitter |  YouTube |  RSS 

P Please consider the environment before printing this email.

From: ps angerer [mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com] 
Sent: Monday, July 13, 2015 5:37 PM 
To: Ferro, Charles 
Subject: Re: 385 Broadway Rezoning 

Hi Charles, 
Thank you for the notification of the calendar scheduling. 
I have a couple of questions: 
1. What is the entire process for changing zoning?
After the applicant submits an official application and the fee, staff then reviews the application & makes a
recommendation to Planning Board based on the review criteria found in Section 9-2-18(e) B.R.C. 1981. Planning
Board makes a recommendation to the City Council regarding whether or not a rezoning should be approved based
on aforementioned criteria. This occurs at a public hearing (the public is welcome to address the board). City Council
then considers the Planning Board’s recommendation via an ordinance. Typically there are two reading of an
ordinance. The first reading is an opportunity for council and the public to review a proposal and ask questions of
staff and or the applicant. The second reading is another public hearing (the public is welcome to address council)
and this is typically when approval or denial would occur. All public hearings are published in the Daily Camera at
least 10 days in advance of a hearing.

2. What is the entire process for changing land use?
The standards and processes are outlined here.
There are land use plan changes that require only the approval of the City Planning Board and the City Council only
and those that require the approval of the City Planning Board and the City Council in addition to the County Planning
Commission and the County Board of Commissioners. There are individual changes that may be considered at any
time as well as those that occur through the “mid term” update period or the “5 year or major update” period.

In this case, the land use map designation was changed in accordance with the last “mid term” update that was 
approved in 2008 (refer to my email from 7/7/15 for the approval documentation). 

Pretty broad questions, but I am a little confused as to how many boards and how many times in front of those 
boards. 
Thanks 
Patty 

From: lyalts@aol.com [mailto:lyalts@aol.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, August 19, 2015 9:43 AM 
To: boulderplanningboard 
Subject: LUR2015-00047 

Subject:  Proposed rezoning of 385 Broadway, Boulder. 
LUR2015-00047  

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 43Packet Page 237

mailto:ferroc@bouldercolorado.gov
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/
http://www.facebook.com/bouldercolorado.gov
http://twitter.com/bouldercolorado
http://www.youtube.com/bouldercoloradogov
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=6658&Itemid=28
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
https://www.municode.com/library/co/boulder/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT9LAUSCO_CH2REPR_9-2-18RE
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan-2010-1-201410091122.pdf
mailto:lyalts@aol.com
mailto:lyalts@aol.com


I wish to address only one of the many aspects of the impact of the proposed rezoning on the 
2200 block of Bluebell Avenue: A safe zone for children to live in and play. 

My wife and I bought our home at 2250 Bluebell Avenue in 1965--50 years ago, and occupied it 
with our three children.  It was ideal for children: A no-through-traffic cul-de-sac lined exclusively 
with one-family homes.  Children could safely play on the street and ride their tricycles or 
bicycles on the block.  This has not changed.  Kids still play and ride up and down the block with 
or without parents.  Further, I have often noted that only drivers that do not live here, who 
mistakenly try to drive through our block, drive so much faster through it than we residents.   

Any rezoning that would increase traffic or parking by outside groups would impair this 
wonderful quality of the 2200 block of Bluebell. 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 44Packet Page 238



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 45Packet Page 239



_________________ 

August 18, 2015 
To: Boulder Planning Board 
Re: LUR2015-00047, Zoning Change request for 385 Broadway 
From: Shirley Keller, 2240 Bluebell Ave, Boulder, CO 

My husband was one of the original occupants of the Medical/Dental building at 385 Broadway where 
he practiced dentistry from 1957 until he retired in 1987.  We built our house, just five lots west of my 
husband’s office in 1964; our house on Bluebell Avenue has been our family home for the last fifty years. 
The site on which 385 Broadway was built has been zoned residential low density since it platting.  A 
variance was granted which allowed the construction of this non-conforming one story medical dental 
building.  Over the years additional variances were granted for the expansion of the building.  The 
medical/dental use has been long accepted by the neighborhood as it developed to the west and north.   
It has had adequate parking, continuous access off of Broadway and a buffer of dense growth that has 
protected the neighborhood from noise and light pollution.  In addition it has been a welcome source of 
medical and dental services for the extended area, accessible by foot traffic, bicycle and public 
transportation.  In the way this building has served the community, it has been an asset and a good fit 
not only for the immediate area but for all of this part of Boulder.  

 In 2008 Mr. Tenenbaum requested the land use designation be changed from Low Residential to 
Transitional Business because, “Office and medical usage have been the historical use of this property 
since 1956.  It is an extremely busy and important center serving the Boulder community.”  He further 
stated, “. . . it seems unlikely that it would ever be desirable for residential use, and will better serve the 
people of Boulder by insuring that it remains in its current capacity.”   (Planning Board Agenda, February 
21, 2008, Agenda Item#5A Page#C-17).  We believed Mr. Tenenbaum when he said he only wanted to 
improve the building. 

Now a new owner is requesting a zoning change to Business Transitional 2.  It is difficult to imagine that 
any one of the 32 uses listed as “by-right” possibilities under BT2 would meet the same criteria or be in 
any way complementary to this area.  Neither I nor any of my neighbors have any interest in a zoning 
change that would allow any of the possible uses to be established at the Broadway end of our street.   
We have no assurance which of these uses would be considered but the history of the real-estate 
investor who purchased the property suggests that he specializes in student housing. 

This request for rezoning 385 Broadway from RL1 to BT2 is unacceptable to me and I strongly urge that 
the request be denied. 

Matt Ludemann 
2290 Bluebell Ave. 
Boulder, CO 80302 
720-233-6976

August 19, 2015 

Re: Rezoning request at 385 Broadway 

Dear Boulder Planning Board Members, 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 46Packet Page 240



I am writing to you in opposition of the rezoning request to ‘high residential’ of the property at 385 
Broadway in Boulder.  For the past 5 ½ years, I have lived with my wife and two small children at 2290 
Bluebell Ave, the house bordering the Broadway property directly to the west.  I can tell you 
unequivocally that this is a single family neighborhood.  The house across the Bluebell cul-de-sac from 
385 Broadway, the house across Bluebell from our property, and our next door neighbors to the west all 
have small children ages 1-8.  Many of the other owners on the block are original owners and elderly.  
There are no college rentals on the block.  As evidenced by our community block parties, and the “Lower 
Bluebell” stone sign and neatly maintained flower bed at the top of the block, the owners on this block 
take great pride in the quiet, family-friendliness of the neighborhood. 

I have several concerns about allowing the rezoning of the property at 385 Broadway to ‘high 
residential’.  First and foremost, a high residential property would greatly compromise the quiet, single 
family nature of the block.  Currently, there are very few college student residences west of Broadway 
and south of Baseline, and none on our block of Bluebell.  This would presumably change abruptly with 
many college students living in the proposed four bedroom apartments if the rezoning was approved.  
Noise would be disruptive on the block.  My children’s bedtime is 8pm.  Having been a college student 
once upon a time, I know that most of their bedtimes are quite a bit later.  I would expect there to be 
tensions between the families in the neighborhood and the ‘high residential’ tenants regarding evening 
noise levels.  We do not want college students loitering around the neighborhood cul-de-sac. 

Secondly, additional vehicle traffic on Bluebell is a big concern.  Currently, the access to 385 Broadway is 
off of Broadway through the NIST government property to the south.  The original proposal for the 385 
Broadway property is asking for fewer parking spaces on the property than is traditionally allowed.  Even 
if parking is adequate for this facility, I would expect residents to try to park on Bluebell because of its 
close proximity and easy access off of Broadway and Baseline.  This would make our quiet street much 
busier and louder.  Also, Bluebell is a major bike route off of the Broadway bike path that feeds all of 
Lower Chautauqua including King and Mariposa.   Our family uses Bluebell frequently for bike access to 
the Broadway path, as do many families and bike commuters in the area.  Additional vehicle traffic on 
Bluebell would potentially make bike traffic unsafe.  I also worry that because the primary pedestrian 
access to 385 from Broadway may be indirect for some residents, residents would be inclined to cut 
through the Bluebell cul-de-sac and create a path off of the cul-de-sac.  To take that a step further, the 
385 Broadway developer could create formal pedestrian or vehicle access to Bluebell.  Creating any kind 
of access directly to Bluebell from 385 Broadway would further disrupt the neighborhood. 

Student neighborhoods and single family neighborhoods are both tremendous assets to our Boulder 
Community.  While it is in Boulder’s development plans to expand ‘high residential’ housing, it is neither 
in Boulder’s plans nor in Boulder’s best interest to compromise additional long-standing single family 
neighborhoods with ‘high residential’ property geared toward students.  Rather than having ‘high 
residential’ student property spread into our single family neighborhoods, of which there are precious 
few, let’s work to expand housing in areas that are already student neighborhoods, and keep the 
wonderful single family neighborhoods of Boulder, single family.   

For the above reasons, my family and I strongly oppose the zoning change on 385 Broadway to ‘high 
residential’.  If the unfortunate decision to rezone the 385 Broadway property is made, please do 
everything you can to minimize its impact on our neighborhood.  Thank you very much for your 
consideration in this matter, and thank you for your dedicated service to our great community! 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 47Packet Page 241



Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Matt Ludemann 

  

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 48Packet Page 242



From: orentaft@comcast.net [mailto:orentaft@comcast.net]  
Sent: Monday, August 17, 2015 8:23 AM 
To: boulderplanningboard 
Subject: Proposed zoning change to 385 Broadway, Boulder, CO 
 

8/17/15 
RE: Rezoning & Site Review Processes - LUR2015-00047 (385 Broadway Ave.) 
  
Dear City of Boulder, Staff, Planning Board and City Council 
  
We are Oren and Helen Taft, 485 Sunnyside Lane, Boulder, CO. We are 50 year 
residents of Boulder and have lived at this address since 1991.  Due to the proximity of 
our residence and 385 Broadway, we received a notice from the city of the proposed 
zoning change to the above subject property.  We thank you for this notification and for 
our chance to respond to this proposal.  We are NOT in favor of this re-zoning proposal. 
  
Our main concern is a potential increase in vehicle traffic and parking congestion in our 
neighborhood.  If zoning is changed from RL-1 to BT-1 or 2, a “By-Right” development 
would result, increasing the density of the subject site, beyond its’ carrying capacity. 
None of the long list of BT-1 or 2, by-right development options fit with the current 
neighborhood. (Please see: Boulder Comprehensive Plan, Para. 2.10)   
 
Our residence sits on a corner lot and Mariposa fronts our house. While lower Mariposa 
is a permitted parking block, we already have many transient, non-permitted vehicles 
parking here.  Permit monitoring seems spotty at best and an increase in out of area 
parked cars will only compound this problem.   
  
 385 Broadway is a small site and should zoning increase the density the natural 
alternative will be an increase in neighborhood parking on lower Columbine, Mariposa 
and Bluebell. Among other potentials, Baseline Ave. would experience a negative 
impact into our neighborhood.  The current weekday mass exodus from upper Baseline 
slows the normal flow of traffic.  When the Broadway light stops eastbound Baseline 
traffic, vehicles moving west from Broadway, must sometimes bypass 22nd and drive to 
the light on 20th to be able to turn left and into the neighborhood.  A resultant increase in 
this neighborhood traffic attempting to turn left onto 22nd, will most certainly cause a 
back-up past a busy fire station and even onto the Baseline/Broadway intersection.   
  
We do not wish to dwell on the traffic that already exists in front of our address, but want 
to offer a short review.  Having been subject to the Skunk Creek Underpass Project, 
without much recourse, we now live amid a virtual sea of human transportation.  We’ve 
lost our street in front of our house (Sunnyside Lane) yet through the kindness of the 
postmaster we were able to keep our address.  Sunnyside Lane was a buffer from 
Broadway and we experienced little pedestrian traffic. We lost another buffer when 3 of 
our mature trees died due to project digging in front of our property.  The city did plant 
evergreens outside of our property, in front of the tunnel, but that has only led to 
homeless people dragging items over from the Goodwill Store boxes, to use behind the 
evergreens as sleeping mats.  This is all against our front yard fence and we constantly 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 49Packet Page 243

mailto:orentaft@comcast.net
mailto:orentaft@comcast.net


are placing these items in our trash cans.  We often contact the police to shepherd 
these campers along their way.  Most annoying as a result of the underpass, the 
Broadway roadbed was raised above our fence level and now focuses a higher decibel 
vehicle noise across our property and into our home.   

We had little chance of changing the outcome of the Skunk Creek Underpass project 
and its impact to our home.  We hope this letter will help Staff, Planning Board and City 
Council decide to maintain the current zoning at 385 Broadway Avenue.  
By keeping 385 Broadway currently zoned RL-1, (low density residential), the future of 
our neighborhood will remain mostly as it exists today and should any changes be 
contemplated down this road, the by-right development list is shorter and much more 
acceptable. For other proposed uses, the review process will still be an option, one that 
does not exist if zoning is changed to BT-1 or 2.   

Respectfully Submitted 

Oren and Helen Taft 
485 Sunnyside Lane 
Boulder, CO 80302 

From: Beth Fleming [mailto:bflemingca@hotmail.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, August 19, 2015 12:58 PM 
To: boulderplanningboard 
Subject: Rezoning & Site Review Processes - LUR2015-00047 (385 Broadway Ave.) 

RE: Rezoning & Site Review Processes - LUR2015-00047 (385 Broadway Ave.) 
Dear City of Boulder, Staff, Planning Board and City Council 
Executive Summary: NO to zoning change to 385 Broadway Ave 

I am the owner of 2285 Bluebell Ave, Boulder, CO which is directly across Bluebell from the 385 
Broadway lot in question.  I live in my home with my husband and 2 small children.  I am strongly 
opposed to the 385 Broadway Rezoning Change from RL-1 to TB-2.   The 2008 decision to change 
BVCP Land Use for  the lot on 385 Broadway Ave was based on misinformation, false statements and 
conflicts of interest.   Our neighborhood association plans to fight the BVCP land use designation for this 
lot as business transitional based on this misinformation.  If the City of Boulder rushes to make a decision 
on this lot’s zoning during the BVCP 2015 revision period, they will be cutting off our neighborhood 
associations’ ability to work through the issues with the BVCP. 

The number 1 concern to me is the developer’s push to get the zoning changed before discussing issues of 
access to the 385 Bluebell lot if it becomes a transition business zone.   In the definition of the BVCP 
Land Use Descriptions,  “The  Transitional  Business  designation  is  shown along certain major streets. 
These  are  areas usually zoned for less intensive business uses than the General Business areas, and they 
often  provide a transition to residential areas.”    The BVCP land use designation change in 2008 was 
allowed at a time when the access to 385 Broadway came through NIST with an easement.  Since then, 
NIST has heightened it’s security in many ways and has stated in its recent letter to the planning board 
that they do not plan to support the continuation of their easement to the lot if the lot becomes BT-2.   My 
understanding is that there is no other access point from Broadway into the property.   The developer is 
trying to delay the conversations about planning and property access until after the zoning decision has 
been made.    

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 50Packet Page 244

mailto:bflemingca@hotmail.com


But I would argue that, by the nature of BVCPs zones descriptions, a transitional business zone lot should 
and must have access from the major street.   If not through NIST or directly from Broadway, the only 
other access to the property would be through Bluebell Ave which is a dead end quiet residential street 
with no access to Broadway.  This means that any BT-2 building traffic would need to access the business 
through the residential neighborhood entering from Baseline and 22nd, driving down 22nd ave and driving 
down Bluebell Ave.   If you do not understand the planned access to the lot from Broadway, then
you should not approve rezoning.  

The 385 Broadway property has always been one of non-conforming use.   It changed ownership in 2006.  
Then the owner requested the change be made to the BVCP Land Use to allow for minor improvements to 
the existing non-conforming single-story office building.   The property owner did not make the 
improvements but instead put the property up for sale as TB-2 Zoned lot in 2014.  It was a total 
misrepresentation of the plans for the lot.  The property was marketed by the seller as a TB-2 zoned 
property with the potential to build up to a 18K sq ft building.   

On Broadway between University and Greenbriar (@ 3.5 miles), there are no lots with business 
transitional zoning - ZERO.   In addition, our entire lower Chautauqua neighborhood (From Baseline to 
King and from 15th to broadway ) is 100% low density residential.   The proposed rezoning to BT-2 
zoning is totally inappropriate for this historic residential area.   

The fact that the current old commercial building has remained out of conformity with its designated land 
use without much argument from the neighbors is because it was low impact to the neighborhood.  It had 
access from Broadway through NIST.  As a dentist and optical office, it has very low car, foot and bike 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 51Packet Page 245



traffic.   It has a large parking lot with ample parking for the needs of the current businesses.  Most of the 
development possibilities in an BT-2 zone would have a huge impact on the neighborhood: 

- construction staging
- car, foot and bike traffic on Bluebell
- backed up traffic on Baseline (West of Broadway) in front of the fire station waiting to turn onto 22nd

- increased parking on Bluebell

As noted in the BVCP Plan’s charter “The Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan policies guide decisions 
about growth, development, preservation, environmental protection, economic development,  affordable 
housing, culture and the arts, urban design, neighborhood character and transportation. The policies also 
inform decisions about the manner in which services are provided, such as police, fire, emergency 
medical services, water utilities, flood control and human services.”  It is intended as a guide, not legally 
binding document for local land use decisions  

Please do not rezone this lot without allowing us the opportunity to fight the BVCP’s incorrect change to 
Business Transitional in 2008.  Also, do not rezone this lot without understanding access from 
Broadway.   A lot cannot be described as a way to create a buffer from a busy street to a residential 
neighborhood if the only access is through that neighborhood.  No Rezoning of 385 Broadway.   

Thanks, 
Beth Fleming 
2285 Bluebell Ave, Boulder, CO.   

To: Boulder Planning Board 

Re: LUR2015-00047 

Location: 385 Broadway 

Description:  Proposal to rezone from RL-1 to BT-1 

From: Tom Van Zandt and Natalie Hedberg 
2255 Bluebell Avenue,  
Boulder 80302 
303-499-6395

Date: Aug. 18, 2015 

The only reason the proponents give for rezoning from RL-1 to BT-2 is to make the City zoning 
agree with the BVCP.   But there isn't any requirement, in either the City Zoning regs or the 
BVCP, that the City zoning and BVCP uses agree in detail.  The BVCP is advisory to the City, 
not regulatory.     

We are very concerned that BT-2 zoning allows much more intensive uses that are not 
compatible with the neighborhood (but greatly increases the value of the property for the 
applicant!).   Some of the allowed uses are: Fraternities, Sororities, Dormitories, Boarding 
houses, Town houses, and Congregate care facilities.  Such uses are in direct contradiction to 
BVCP Neighborhoods policies. 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 52Packet Page 246



For example, BVCP Policy 2.10, Preservation and Support for Neighborhoods, says "the city will 
work with neighborhoods to protect and enhance neighborhood character and livability".   These 
allowed, by right, uses would certainly degrade the livability of the 2200 block of Bluebell 
Avenue as well as the larger neighborhood to the west and north.  Imagine the intrusion of a 
fraternity or student housing on this quiet residential neighborhood!  Nighttime uses are 
particularly objectionable.  Note that next to 385 Broadway there are eight children up to the age 
of 11 in the residences at 2280, 2285, 2290 Bluebell, and 415 Sunnyside Lane.   

Also, BVCP Policy 2.15, Compatibility of Adjacent Land Uses, requires that adjacent widely 
varying uses be separated by "interface zones, transitional areas … and cascading gradients of 
densities," and "the transitional area should be within the zone of more intense use".  It's 
obvious that a one-acre property is much too small to include an effective transitional area 
especially when you consider that the parcel less the 25-foot buffers on the north and west 
sides leave only 0.8 of an acre for development.  Such a buffer would do nothing to minimize 
noise and light pollution.     

The foregoing paragraphs present clear and convincing evidence that the proposed rezoning is 
NOT consistent with either the policies or goals of the BVCP or with  
BRC 9-2-18(a).  For this reason we strongly oppose the proposed zoning change. 

From: Helen <hgoldman@colorado.edu> 
Date: August 19, 2015 at 9:54:03 AM MDT 
To: boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov 
Subject: Fwd: 385 Broadway LUR2015-00047 

Dear Planning Board Members: 

My husband and I live at 2275 Bluebell Avenue, nearly opposite the property requesting a zoning 
change.  We have lived on this quiet residential street since 1972, and raised our two children here.  I 
invite you to actually take a stroll down our street to see what we are in danger of losing.  

If the proposal is accepted, our neighborhood is about to undergo a drastic and destructive change, 
which will undermine a family centered neighborhood where young children play safely, especially in 
the lower part of our street and the cul-de-sac.    It has been a haven that substitutes for a local 
playground, which we do not have.   

A bit of history:  when we moved in, city planners included a playground in every other residential 
neighborhood, close enough for children to walk or ride bikes to, with no intervening major streets to 
cross, like Broadway.  I was curious why we were not so blessed.  So I called the city offices and their 
response was that when the city gave the land next door to the federal government for the Bureau of 
Commerce, there was an agreement between the city and the federal government that the local 
residents could use the unbuilt part of the land there to "play."  Hah!  Some playground, with limited 
access and no facilities.  

So our little haven of peace and quiet, broken only by the laughter of the children at play will be 
shattered by traffic, parked cars and extremely dense population.  There could be as many as 64 cars 
and as many or more unrelated people using our street.  We feel that the original 2008 zoning change 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 53Packet Page 247

mailto:hgoldman@colorado.edu
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov


was a Trojan Horse, meant to undermine our right to live quietly on our lovely residential street.   Please 
do not do this to us.   

Yours truly,  
Helen Goldman 

Sent from my iPad 

From: lyalts@aol.com [mailto:lyalts@aol.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, August 19, 2015 3:35 PM 
To: boulderplanningboard 
Subject: LUR2015-00047 

Subject:  Proposed rezoning of 385 Broadway, Boulder. 
LUR2015-00047  

I wish to address only one of the many aspects of the impact of the proposed rezoning on the 
2200 block of Bluebell Avenue: A safe zone for children to live in and play. 

My wife and I bought our home at 2250 Bluebell Avenue in 1965--50 years ago, and occupied it 
with our three children.  It was ideal for children: A no-through-traffic cul-de-sac lined exclusively 
with one-family homes.  Children could safely play on the street and ride their tricycles or 
bicycles on the block.  This has not changed.  Kids still play and ride up and down the block with 
or without parents.  Further, I have often noted that only drivers that do not live here, who 
mistakenly try to drive through our block, drive so much faster through it than we residents.   

Any rezoning that would increase traffic or parking by outside groups would impair this 
wonderful quality of the 2200 block of Bluebell. 

Sincerely, 

Helmut Altschuler 
2250 Bluebell Avenue 
Boulder, CO 
303-442-8769

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 54Packet Page 248

mailto:lyalts@aol.com
mailto:lyalts@aol.com


  

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 55Packet Page 249



From: Julianna Bellipanni [mailto:romanwu@yahoo.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, August 19, 2015 7:51 PM 
To: boulderplanningboard 
Subject: LUR2015-00047 (385 Broadway Ave.) NO to zoning change to 385 Broadway Ave 
 
RE: Rezoning and Site Review Processes LUR2015-00047 (385 Broadway Ave.) 
NO to zoning change to 385 Broadway Ave 
- 
Dear City of Boulder, Staff, Planning Board and City Council: 
  
I have lived with my brother’s family for 4 years at 2290 Bluebell Ave, which is directly adjacent to 385 
Broadway.  I rely completely on my bike for transportation in and around Boulder.  This location has 
offered me complete convenience and accessibility to the bike path and safe roads to get around.  I am 
concerned that re-zoning of 385 Broadway will increase traffic and parking on Bluebell Ave and inhibit 
safe bike riding on this street.  Bluebell is a major though fare for bikes as it connects directly with the 
bike path.  When cars are parked along both sides of the street, a bike and a single car cannot pass safely.  
Last week, cars were parked on each side of the street, a car was traveling eastbound on Bluebell, and I 
was riding westbound.  There was no room for the car to move over and he couldn’t pass me safely.  I had 
to dismount in order to avoid being hit by the car.  I have serious concerns that rezoning 385 Broadway 
will lead to more traffic and parking on Bluebell and it will no longer serve it’s function of allowing bike 
accessibility from western neighborhoods onto the Broadway bike path.  This has the potential to affect 
all biking residents of Boulder, regardless of where they live.  No to rezoning of 385 Broadway Ave 
  
  
Sincerely, 
  
  
Robert Ludemann 
 
From: julianna bellipanni <juliannaroma@yahoo.com> 
To: "boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov" 
<boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov>  
Sent: Wednesday, August 19, 2015 7:45 PM 
Subject: LUR2015-00047 (385 Broadway Ave.) NO to zoning change to 385 Broadway Ave 
 
RE: Rezoning and Site Review Processes - LUR2015-00047 ( 385 Broadway Ave. ) 
NO to zoning change to 385 Broadway Ave 
  
Dear City of Boulder , Staff, Planning Board and City Council: 
  
I was born and raised in Boulder and currently I am the owner and occupant of   2290 Bluebell Avenue , directly adjacent to 385 
Broadway.  When my husband, young child and I moved into this house almost 6 years ago, we chose this neighborhood, this 
street and this house based on the particular characteristics it offered:  a dead end street, a residential community, at a distance 
from student rentals; views out all the windows of mature vegetation (not looking into any other properties’ backyard).  At that 
time, it appeared the Boulder city council and staff had an interest in preserving open space, parks and the character of 
neighborhoods by limiting excessive development and inappropriate re-development within the city limits.   
  
The current medical/dental clinic at 385 Broadway seemed a curious neighbor within our residential neighborhood, but has 
proved to be a wonderful one as it is unobtrusive and has very minimal traffic--Much less than is typical of this type of building.  
The developer’s lawyer argues “a “Medical-Dental Office” use generates 36.13 trips per day per 1000 square feet of office 
space.  Given the existing 17,600 square foot medical office, that is 636 trips/day.  On the other hand, a “Residential 
Condo/Townhome” use generates 5.81 trips per day per unit.  In the case of 16 units, that results in a total of only 93 trips/day.  In 
other words, the specific use about which NIST expresses concern would result in 543 fewer trips per day.”  This is completely 
erroneous.  I hear the amount of cars that come in and out of that building daily and it is at most maybe 30 and is not disruptive at 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 56Packet Page 250

mailto:juliannaroma@yahoo.com
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov


all.  A Residential Condo/Townhome seemingly designed for college students who drive to and from class, activities and 
downtown multiple times a day and have many guests would lead to exceedingly more traffic and parking concerns. In addition, 
the proposal suggests 4 students per unit which equals 64 people, drastically increasing the traffic trips per day.   

A business-transitional 2 (BT-2) zoning change would allow the creation of a building that would significantly affect my house:  
It would inhibit my access to natural light; flood my house with artificial lights at night; increase noise and trash, and potentially 
damage or destroy the mature vegetation along my eastern property line.   

I understand the developer needs to demonstrate “by clear and convincing evidence that the proposed rezoning is necessary to 
come into compliance with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan map”.  Rezoning 385 Broadway is not necessary for
compliance with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Map.  It seems one of the most important tenants of the 
Comprehensive Plan is 2.10 Preservation and Support for Residential Neighborhoods.  Rezoning this land is completely
contradictory to this point of the Comprehensive Plan.  Not supporting the rezoning would be in compliance with this 
tenant, as it would demonstrate “the city will work with neighborhoods to protect and enhance neighborhood character and 
livability.”  Because of this issue of access to the property (NIST has said they will not allow a large development to use the 
access road) and what the redevelopment would look like in a business transitional zone (The developer has stated an intent to 
build high-density condominiums suitable for student use), the character and livability of our neighborhood would be irrevocably 
changed for the worst:  If NIST refuses access through their property and access is through Bluebell, the numerous speeding cars 
would not allow my children to be safe playing outside in what is now a cul-de-sac.  If the developer is granted the rezoning 
change and continues with their plan to build condominiums tailored for students, instead of having quiet evenings filled with ice 
cream street parties we will be subject to late loud parties, marijuana smoking and college drinking.   

I understand the developer is pushing through rezoning so they don’t have to discuss their redevelopment plans which they know 
will significantly harm the neighborhood.  It is clear from their letter dated June 17, 2015, they have no interest in neighborhood 
or NIST input into their re-development plans and would like to have ultimate freedom in deciding what to build with no 
deference to the community, which would be granted to them by a rezoning decision. (Again, allowing this goes against the 
comprehensive plan to preserve and support residential neighborhoods)  However, it is also clear from their June 17, 2015 letter 
they intend to build a high density condominiums (as they erroneously argue about the traffic patterns for this sort of 
establishment).  The developer is well-known for the construction of high-density student housing in other parts of Boulder .  It 
can only be assumed this is his intent and if rezoning is granted, this will happen.  Besides ruining the community, this type of 
development would necessitate increased police response.  Because student housing does not fit into our neighborhood and our 
concerns have been dismissed by the developer, the neighbors will not tolerate any late night noise, parties, drinking or marijuana 
smoking nearby.  When this occurs, unfortunately we will be forced to call the police to respond and manage these issues, 
diverting their presence and time away from areas already notorious for dealing with student life.   

There are plenty of places in Boulder more suitable for this type of development—such as that proposed for 27th way/Broadway 
(where the old Wendy’s used to be), which can be developed appropriately.  Spot-zoning a single parcel of residential land into 
business transitional is not appropriate, ruins our neighborhood , disrupts my family’s way of living, and negates all the reasons 
we chose to live in this house. 

Please join with the Boulder citizens and choose to protect and defend our neighborhood and community against the bullying of a 
single developer.  No Rezoning of 385 Broadway. 

Thank you. 

Sincerely, 

Julianna Bellipanni 

ATTACHMENTS:  A copy of this letter in Microsoft Word; PDF file with NIST's concerns (p. 12); Developer's letter indicating 
dismissal of neighborhood and NIST concerns 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 57Packet Page 251



-----Original Message----- 
From: Dan Olson [mailto:danolson1@gmail.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, August 19, 2015 11:43 PM 
To: boulderplanningboard 
Subject: NO on rezoning 385 Broadway 

Hello, please see the attached letter regarding the proposed rezoning of 385 
Broadway. 

We urge the planning board to VOTE NO on the rezoning, as it is done without 
complete information and would be ruinous to the character of the Lower Bluebell 
neighborhood. 

Thanks, 

Dan Olson 
2285 Bluebell Ave 

From: Jennifer Lancaster [mailto:jenn_lancaster@hotmail.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, August 19, 2015 9:35 PM 
To: boulderplanningboard 
Subject: Regarding the rezoning of 385 Broadway Ave 

Please see the attached letter.  

Regarding:   Rezoning & Site Review Processes - LUR2015-00047 (385 Broadway Ave.) 

Dear City of Boulder, Staff, Planning Board and City Council, 

Executive summation:  Please vote no to zoning change to 385 Broadway Avenue 

My family and I live at 415 Sunnyside Lane, Boulder CO; directly across the street (Bluebell Avenue) from 
385 Broadway Avenue.  We have owned our home since 2003 (and I am a CO native).  I have 3 young 
children ages, 11, 9 and 9.   

I purchased my home because of the neighborhood, the cul-de-sac, the schools, the community and the 
quietness of our neighbors and neighborhood.  I am requesting that you decline the request to rezone 
385 Broadway Avenue because it would change the tenor of our lower Bluebell community, the 
quietness of our street and would devalue our homes.  Most importantly (to me); it would greatly 
increase vehicle traffic which would impact my family’s quality of life.  (The developer has implied they 
would build high density condominiums).  

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 58Packet Page 252



We LOVE our neighborhood because it safe.  My children feel comfortable riding their bikes up and 
down Bluebell, running over to our neighbors to play with their children, and we have ice cream socials 
in our cul-de-sac.  If 385 Broadway were rezoned it is unclear how the numerous tenants would access 
the property (given NIST’s statements) and undoubtedly they would drive and park on Bluebell, given 
the easy access (and possibly the only access).  I would no longer feel comfortable having my children 
outside with numerous cars driving on Bluebell; and with high turn-over tenants who are not vested in 
our community, nor our children.  I understand people want to make money and utilize under-
developed space, but I ask you to consider the impact that has on our children and our community.   

I moved to Boulder and to Lower Chautauqua because of the family centric neighborhood and quality of 
life.  I specifically chose not to live on the Hill because of the high traffic, high turn-over population and 
how these influences would impact my children.  

I ask that we keep the zoning as it stands on 385 Broadway Avenue and maintain the integrity of our 
neighborhood. 

Thank you for your consideration. 

Regards, 

Jennifer Lancaster Alexander 

415 Sunnyside Lane Boulder, CO  80302 

720-301-6129

From: Tom Angerer [mailto:tkpaper@msn.com]  
Sent: Thursday, August 20, 2015 2:48 PM 
To: boulderplanningboard 
Subject: Opposition to Zoning Change for 385 South Broadway (LUR2015-00047) 

As a homeowner at 2225 Bluebell Avenue since 1978, I strongly oppose the proposed Zoning Change to 
the property at 385 South Broadway. 

When the original request for a specific variance to construct a specific medical/dental building at 385 
South Broadway was made (sometime in the late 1950’s), I am confident that the request seemed 
reasonable to the neighborhood and the city.  After all, the variance represented a benefit to the 
neighborhood in that the building would house low-impact dental and eye-doctor businesses, thus 
making access for the neighborhood to obtain dental and optometry care readily  available.  It was a 
variance specifically for a medical/dental facility, not a range of facilities that a "zoning change" would 
allow the developer to construct.  

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 59Packet Page 253

mailto:tkpaper@msn.com


In 2008 we were asked by the building’s owner, Mr. Tenenbaum, to agree to a zoning change for his 
property, because it would make it easier to upgrade and repair the building.  Perhaps we were naive to 
believe that a zoning change was necessary, especially when the owner never proceeded with any of 
those repairs and upgrades.  However, as a result of his request, a “land use” change to the Boulder 
Valley Comprehensive Plan was moved by the Planning Board and ultimately approved by City Council. 
 Planning Staff did try to help and thus recommended that the land use change be accompanied by a 25’ 
buffer on the North and West sides of the property.  However, following City Council's vote to approve 
the land use change, we learned that a “a condition” (i.e. the buffers) could not be attached to the land 
use change as had been originally recommended by City Staff.  Also, we never learned what could or 
could not be done in a “buffer”, but it turned out that a buffer was not allowed at the time of the land 
use change. 
 
Now, we are again faced with an untenable situation.  If we agree to a zoning change to the property, 
we agree to a “by right” change of the property by a developer who initially asked for a permit to build 
multi-unit residences on the site along with a variance request for a reduced parking requirement.  The 
consequences of such a development would be dire to our neighborhood.  Since access to the site is 
relatively inconvenient from Broadway, we would see increased hazardous traffic conditions on Bluebell, 
Mariposa, 22nd, 21st and 20th Streets.  The young children of our neighborhood would certainly be 
exposed to additional risk when playing in the street as children are prone to do on a “dead end” street 
like Bluebell. 
 

 Is it not the City Council’s and Planning Board’s goal to preserve the character and stability of 
neighborhoods which are classified as residential (RL-1)? 

 Is it not the City Council’s and Planning Board’s goal to conserve property values by encouraging 
the most appropriate uses of land within zoning districts? 

 Is it not the City Council’s and Planning Board’s goal to protect the peace, comfort, convenience 
and welfare of those citizens of an area that is zoned residential (RL-1)? 

 
A zoning change for 385 South Broadway, would actually impede the City Council’s and Planning Board’s 
ability to fulfill those goals for the Lower East Chautauqua neighborhood. 
 
Please do NOT allow a zoning change from Residential Low Density (RL-1) to Business Transitional (BT-1 
or BT-2) for the property at 385 South Broadway.  If there are changes that need to be made to this 
building and property, let them be initiated as a non-conforming use variance request to the original 
zoning of Residential Low Density. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Tom Angerer 
2225 Bluebell Avenue 
 
 

 
 
 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 60Packet Page 254



From: Paul Cheng [mailto:pacheng@gmail.com]  
Sent: Thursday, August 20, 2015 3:10 PM 
To: boulderplanningboard 
Subject: LUR2015-00047 
 
Planning Board, 
 
    We have attached a letter that we have written regarding concerns we have about the proposed 
rezoning of 385 Broadway (LUR2015-00047). 
 
Thank you for your consideration! 
 
Paul Cheng and Crystal Lee 
 
 

From: Trina Rioux [mailto:tarioux@j-rlaw.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, June 17, 2015 2:58 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Cc: Brad Curl; asopher@sophersparn.com; Pannewig, Hella; mattjohnke@gmail.com; Gehr, 
David 
Subject: 385 Broadway– Application for Rezoning (LUR2015-00047)  
 
Ms. McLaughlin: 
 
Please see the attached correspondence from Brad Curl in connection with the above-referenced 
matter. 
 
 

Trina Rioux, Legal Assistant 
Johnson & Repucci LLP 
2521 Broadway St., Ste A 
Boulder, Colorado 80304 
Phone: 303-442-1900 
Fax: 303-442-0191 
E-mail: tarioux@j-rlaw.com  
  
This email message is for the exclusive use of the intended recipient(s) and may contain confidential, privileged and nondisclosable 
information. Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure or distribution is prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact the 
sender by reply email immediately and destroy any and all copies of the message.   
 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 61Packet Page 255

mailto:pacheng@gmail.com
mailto:tarioux@j-rlaw.com


Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 62Packet Page 256



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 63Packet Page 257



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 64Packet Page 258



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 65Packet Page 259



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 66Packet Page 260



From: Ferro, Charles  
Sent: Tuesday, June 30, 2015 6:06 PM 
To: Brad R. Curl 
Cc: Gehr, David; Pannewig, Hella; McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject:  

Mr. Curl, 
Please find the attached letter related to 385 Broadway. 
Best, 
Charles 

Charles Ferro, AICP 
Development Review Manager  
City of Boulder - Department of Community Planning + Sustainability 
303.441.4012 - Direct 
303.441.3241 - Fax 
ferroc@bouldercolorado.gov 
www.bouldercolorado.gov 

 Facebook |  Twitter |  YouTube |  RSS 
P  Please consider the environment before printing this email. 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 67Packet Page 261

mailto:ferroc@bouldercolorado.gov
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/
http://www.facebook.com/bouldercolorado.gov
http://twitter.com/bouldercolorado
http://www.youtube.com/bouldercoloradogov
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=6658&Itemid=28


From: lyalts@aol.com

To: boulderplanningboard

Subject: LUR2015-00047

Date: Wednesday, August 19, 2015 3:35:08 PM

 
Subject:  Proposed rezoning of 385 Broadway, Boulder. 
LUR2015-00047
 
I wish to address only one of the many aspects of the impact of the proposed rezoning on the 2200
block of Bluebell Avenue: A safe zone for children to live in and play.
 
My wife and I bought our home at 2250 Bluebell Avenue in 1965--50 years ago, and occupied it with
our three children.  It was ideal for children: A no-through-traffic cul-de-sac lined exclusively with one-
family homes.  Children could safely play on the street and ride their tricycles or bicycles on the block. 
This has not changed.  Kids still play and ride up and down the block with or without parents.  Further,
I have often noted that only drivers that do not live here, who mistakenly try to drive through our block,
drive so much faster through it than we residents. 
 
Any rezoning that would increase traffic or parking by outside groups would impair this wonderful quality
of the 2200 block of Bluebell.
 
Sincerely,
 
Helmut Altschuler
2250 Bluebell Avenue
Boulder, CO
303-442-8769
 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 68Packet Page 262

mailto:lyalts@aol.com
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov


 August 25, 2015 

To: Boulder Planning Board, City of Boulder Department of Planning and Development Services 
CC: Boulder City Council,   
 Boulder City Manager, Jane Brautigam 
 Boulder City Attorney, Thomas Carr 
  Deputy City Attorney, David Gehr 
  
From: Patty Angerer, 2225 Bluebell Ave. Boulder 
 
RE: LUR2015-00047, Rezoning Application for 385 (South) Broadway 
 

In the most recent documents received from the city (Notice of Upcoming Planning Board Hearing, 
undated) it becomes clear what we suspected was true. The land use change of 2008 promising a buffer 
of RL-1 had no basis in code.  Planning Board and City Council knew or should have known that a split 
designation of land use was not supported by ordinance at the time of the approval of the land use 
change for 385 (South) Broadway. 

In 2008, Bluebell Neighbors originally opposed the idea of a land-use change from Residential to 
Business for the property at 385 (South) Broadway.   We were led to believe that if we dropped our 
opposition and compromised with the land owner our concern about access to the site from Bluebell 
would be taken away by a buffer, which would inhibit vehicle access from the Bluebell Avenue cul-de-
sac to the Property.   As it turns out no restrictions could be applied to the land use designation and no 
buffer can be applied to the current zoning request without a new ordinance being written to allow for 
such a split use designation.  At this point there are no guarantees that Planning Board will recommend 
or City Council will adopt the proposed ordinance, amending sections 9-2-14, “Site Review,” B.R.C 1981, 
and 9-9-2, “General Provisions,” B.R.C. 1981, prior to the approval of the rezoning.   

Since NIST has stated that they cannot support the increased traffic that would cross the easement in 
front of their building it appears that we have been set up for vehicular access from Bluebell to the 
Property.  (“NIST does not express an opinion at this time on the merits of the applicants rezoning 
request …However, NIST wishes to express its serious reservations regarding the acceptability to NIST of 
the access to the subject property via the existing easement, if the subject property is rezoned. . . .If 
rezoning is granted by the City, NIST requests the City’s support and engagement of the property owner 
to vacate the current easement and reconfigure vehicular access to the subject property.” (NIST letter to 
Elaine McLaughlin, City of Boulder, Department of Planning and Development Services, June 5, 2015)) 

Because the promised buffer does not exist and because NIST has indicated that they wish the current 
easement be vacated if rezoning occurs, we request that the recommendation to rezone the property at 
385 (South) Broadway from Low 1 (RL-1) to Business- Transitional 2 (BT-2) be denied. 

 

 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 69Packet Page 263



From: Tom Angerer

To: boulderplanningboard

Subject: Opposition to Zoning Change for 385 South Broadway (LUR2015-00047)

Date: Thursday, August 20, 2015 2:48:14 PM

As a homeowner at 2225 Bluebell Avenue since 1978, I strongly oppose the 
proposed Zoning Change to the property at 385 South Broadway.

When the original request for a specific variance to construct a specific 
medical/dental building at 385 South Broadway was made (sometime in the late 
1950’s), I am confident that the request seemed reasonable to the neighborhood 
and the city.  After all, the variance represented a benefit to the neighborhood in 
that the building would house low-impact dental and eye-doctor businesses, thus 
making access for the neighborhood to obtain dental and optometry care readily  
available.  It was a variance specifically for a medical/dental facility, not a range of 
facilities that a "zoning change" would allow the developer to construct. 

In 2008 we were asked by the building’s owner, Mr. Tenenbaum, to agree to a 
zoning change for his property, because it would make it easier to upgrade and 
repair the building.  Perhaps we were naive to believe that a zoning change was 
necessary, especially when the owner never proceeded with any of those repairs and 
upgrades.  However, as a result of his request, a “land use” change to the Boulder 
Valley Comprehensive Plan was moved by the Planning Board and ultimately 
approved by City Council.  Planning Staff did try to help and thus recommended that 
the land use change be accompanied by a 25’ buffer on the North and West sides of 
the property.  However, following City Council's vote to approve the land use 
change, we learned that a “a condition” (i.e. the buffers) could not be attached to 
the land use change as had been originally recommended by City Staff.  Also, we 
never learned what could or could not be done in a “buffer”, but it turned out that a 
buffer was not allowed at the time of the land use change.

Now, we are again faced with an untenable situation.  If we agree to a zoning 
change to the property, we agree to a “by right” change of the property by a 
developer who initially asked for a permit to build multi-unit residences on the site 
along with a variance request for a reduced parking requirement.  The consequences 
of such a development would be dire to our neighborhood.  Since access to the site 
is relatively inconvenient from Broadway, we would see increased hazardous traffic 
conditions on Bluebell, Mariposa, 22nd, 21st and 20th Streets.  The young children 
of our neighborhood would certainly be exposed to additional risk when playing in 
the street as children are prone to do on a “dead end” street like Bluebell.

Is it not the City Council’s and Planning Board’s goal to preserve the character 
and stability of neighborhoods which are classified as residential (RL-1)?
Is it not the City Council’s and Planning Board’s goal to conserve property 
values by encouraging the most appropriate uses of land within zoning 
districts?
Is it not the City Council’s and Planning Board’s goal to protect the peace, 
comfort, convenience and welfare of those citizens of an area that is zoned 
residential (RL-1)?

A zoning change for 385 South Broadway, would actually impede the City Council’s 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 70Packet Page 264

mailto:tkpaper@msn.com
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov


and Planning Board’s ability to fulfill those goals for the Lower East Chautauqua 
neighborhood.

Please do NOT allow a zoning change from Residential Low Density (RL-1) to 
Business Transitional (BT-1 or BT-2) for the property at 385 South Broadway.  If 
there are changes that need to be made to this building and property, let them be 
initiated as a non-conforming use variance request to the original zoning of 
Residential Low Density.

Sincerely,

Tom Angerer
2225 Bluebell Avenue

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 71Packet Page 265



RE: Rezoning and Site Review Processes - LUR2015-00047 (385 Broadway Ave.) 
NO to zoning change to 385 Broadway Ave 
 
Dear City of Boulder, Staff, Planning Board and City Council: 
 
I was born and raised in Boulder and currently I am the owner and occupant of  2290 
Bluebell Avenue, directly adjacent to 385 Broadway.  When my husband, young child 
and I moved into this house almost 6 years ago, we chose this neighborhood, this street 
and this house based on the particular characteristics it offered:  a dead end street, a 
residential community, at a distance from student rentals; views out all the windows of 
mature vegetation (not looking into any other properties’ backyard).  At that time, it 
appeared the Boulder city council and staff had an interest in preserving open space, 
parks and the character of neighborhoods by limiting excessive development and 
inappropriate re-development within the city limits.   
 
The current medical/dental clinic at 385 Broadway seemed a curious neighbor within our 
residential neighborhood, but has proved to be a wonderful one as it is unobtrusive and 
has very minimal traffic--Much less than is typical of this type of building.  The 
developer’s lawyer argues “a “Medical-Dental Office” use generates 36.13 trips per day 
per 1000 square feet of office space.  Given the existing 17,600 square foot medical 
office, that is 636 trips/day.  On the other hand, a “Residential Condo/Townhome” use 
generates 5.81 trips per day per unit.  In the case of 16 units, that results in a total of only 
93 trips/day.  In other words, the specific use about which NIST expresses concern would 
result in 543 fewer trips per day.”  This is completely erroneous.  I hear the amount of 
cars that come in and out of that building daily and it is at most maybe 30 and is not 
disruptive at all.  A Residential Condo/Townhome seemingly designed for college 
students who drive to and from class, activities and downtown multiple times a day and 
have many guests would lead to exceedingly more traffic and parking concerns. In 
addition, the proposal suggests 4 students per unit which equals 64 people, drastically 
increasing the traffic trips per day.   
 
A business-transitional 2 (BT-2) zoning change would allow the creation of a building 
that would significantly affect my house:   It would inhibit my access to natural light; 
flood my house with artificial lights at night; increase noise and trash, and potentially 
damage or destroy the mature vegetation along my eastern property line.   
 
I understand the developer needs to demonstrate “by clear and convincing evidence that 
the proposed rezoning is necessary to come into compliance with the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan map”.  Rezoning 385 Broadway is not necessary for compliance 
with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Map.  It seems one of the most 
important tenants of the Comprehensive Plan is 2.10 Preservation and Support for 
Residential Neighborhoods.  Rezoning this land is completely contradictory to this 
point of the Comprehensive Plan.  Not supporting the rezoning would be in 
compliance with this tenant, as it would demonstrate “the city will work with 
neighborhoods to protect and enhance neighborhood character and livability.”  Because 
of this issue of access to the property (NIST has said they will not allow a large 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 72Packet Page 266



development to use the access road) and what the redevelopment would look like in a 
business transitional zone (The developer has stated an intent to build high-density 
condominiums suitable for student use), the character and livability of our neighborhood 
would be irrevocably changed for the worst:  If NIST refuses access through their 
property and access is through Bluebell, the numerous speeding cars would not allow my 
children to be safe playing outside in what is now a cul-de-sac.  If the developer is 
granted the rezoning change and continues with their plan to build condominiums tailored 
for students, instead of having quiet evenings filled with ice cream street parties we will 
be subject to late loud parties, marijuana smoking and college drinking.   

I understand the developer is pushing through rezoning so they don’t have to discuss their 
redevelopment plans which they know will significantly harm the neighborhood.  It is 
clear from their letter dated June 17, 2015, they have no interest in neighborhood or NIST 
input into their re-development plans and would like to have ultimate freedom in 
deciding what to build with no deference to the community, which would be granted to 
them by a rezoning decision. (Again, allowing this goes against the comprehensive plan 
to preserve and support residential neighborhoods)  However, it is also clear from their 
June 17, 2015 letter they intend to build a high density condominiums (as they 
erroneously argue about the traffic patterns for this sort of establishment).  The developer 
is well-known for the construction of high-density student housing in other parts of 
Boulder.  It can only be assumed this is his intent and if rezoning is granted, this will 
happen.  Besides ruining the community, this type of development would necessitate 
increased police response.  Because student housing does not fit into our neighborhood 
and our concerns have been dismissed by the developer, the neighbors will not tolerate 
any late night noise, parties, drinking or marijuana smoking nearby.  When this occurs, 
unfortunately we will be forced to call the police to respond and manage these issues, 
diverting their presence and time away from areas already notorious for dealing with 
student life.   

There are plenty of places in Boulder more suitable for this type of development—such 
as that proposed for 27th way/Broadway (where the old Wendy’s used to be), which can 
be developed appropriately.  Spot-zoning a single parcel of residential land into business 
transitional is not appropriate, ruins our neighborhood , disrupts my family’s way of 
living, and negates all the reasons we chose to live in this house. 

Please join with the Boulder citizens and choose to protect and defend our neighborhood 
and community against the bullying of a single developer.  No Rezoning of 385
Broadway. 

Thank you. 

Sincerely, 

Julianna Bellipanni 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 73Packet Page 267



Bradley R. Curl
brcurl@j-rlaw.com

June 17, 2015

{00316875 / 1 }

Via E-Mail (McLaughlinE@bouldercolorado.gov)
Ms. Elaine McLaughlin
Senior Planner
City of Boulder
1739 Broadway, 3rd Floor
Boulder, Colorado  80306

Re: 385 Broadway (the “Property”) – Application for Rezoning (LUR2015-00047) (the 
“Rezoning Application”)

Dear Elaine:

As you know, this firm represents the owner of the above-referenced Property (the 
“Owner”) with respect to various land use issues, including the above-referenced Rezoning 
Application.  In that regard, thank you for the City of Boulder’s (the “City”) June 5, 2015 Land 
Use Review Results and Comments regarding the Rezoning Application (the “Comments”).  
This letter responds to the Comments and expresses Owner’s serious concerns related thereto.  In 
particular, 

 Owner’s site review application, to the extent required, will be separate and apart
from the pending Rezoning Application;

 as such, a “Good Neighbor” meeting is not required; and

 the National Institute of Standards and Technology (“NIST”) is improperly
interfering with the Rezoning Application process and, as a result, the City’s
conditioning of rezoning upon receipt of access approval from NIST is without
basis.

I. THE CITY MUST CONSIDER THE REZONING APPLICATION ON ITS OWN MERITS.

The Comments require that Owner prepare a site review application and submit that
application, along with a resubmittal of the Rezoning Application, so that the City may consider 
the two applications concurrently.  The City’s requirement in this regard is unfounded.

Although it is true that Owner is considering constructing a future project on the Property 
that includes townhomes, the scope and nature of that project may change, or the project may not 
proceed at all.  In any event, the type of review that will be required in connection with the final 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 74Packet Page 268



Ms. Elaine McLaughlin
June 17, 2015
Page 2

{00316875 / 1 }

version of the proposed development of the Property, if any, is entirely separate and distinct 
from, and has no bearing upon, simply rezoning the Property to bring it in to compliance with the 
Comprehensive Plan land use map.  

The list of relevant criteria that the City may consider in connection with review of a 
rezoning application is relatively short and does not include concurrent approval of any 
particular possible development of the subject property.  Code, §9-2-18(e).  Owner therefore 
requires that the City (a) withdraw its condition that Owner submit a site plan application; and 
(b) move forward with processing the Rezoning Application.

II. A GOOD NEIGHBOR MEETING IS NOT REQUIRED.

The Comments also require that Owner conduct a Good Neighbor meeting.  However, as
noted above, the only application before the City as of this date is the Rezoning Application, 
which simply is the vehicle pursuant to which the zoning will be made consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan land use map, as was contemplated when the City revised the map in 2008.  
Owner has not submitted a development application and, as such, the actual use of the Property 
is not yet known.  A Good Neighbor meeting is therefore at best premature at this point, and may 
never be triggered pursuant to the Code, depending upon the ultimate use of the Property.  
Owner therefore requests that the City delete the requirement for a Good Neighbor meeting as a 
condition to its merely processing the Rezoning Application.    

III. NO NIST APPROVAL REQUIRED.

The Comments also condition the processing of the Rezoning Application upon Owner
securing consent from NIST with respect to access issues.  For the reasons set forth below, such 
a condition is patently improper.  

A. NIST does not Oppose the Rezoning Application.

As an initial matter, and as noted above, the only application that is currently pending 
with respect to the Property is the Rezoning Application.  In that regard, we have reviewed a 
copy of NIST’s June 5, 2015 letter to the City.  In relevant part, the letter states that “NIST does 
not express an opinion at this time on the merits of the applicant’s rezoning request” (emphasis 
added).  Simply put, that is the only comment in the letter that is germane to the pending 
Rezoning Application.  

The NIST correspondence admittedly raises a number of other issues, but all of those 
issues are related to the redevelopment, not rezoning, of the Property.  Owner has not submitted 
an application for redevelopment.  Accordingly, in light of NIST not expressing an opinion 
regarding the Rezoning Application, the City’s requirement that Owner secure consent from 
NIST in connection with the Rezoning Application is misplaced.

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 75Packet Page 269



Ms. Elaine McLaughlin
June 17, 2015
Page 3

{00316875 / 1 }

B. NIST has no Basis to Oppose the Rezoning Application.

Even if NIST’s comments were correctly provided in connection with a pending 
development application, for the reasons set forth below, NIST simply has no basis for its 
position.  

1. The Access Rights are without Restriction.

As you are aware, access to and from the Property is currently via an easement across the 
NIST property to the south of the Property (the “Easement”).  A copy of the relevant Deed of 
Easement is enclosed for your reference.  

In its correspondence, NIST expresses “. . . its serious reservations regarding the 
acceptability to NIST of access to the [Property] via the [Easement], if the [Property] is rezoned” 
and “. . . requests the City’s support and engagement of the [Owner] to vacate the [Easement] . . 
.”  NIST goes on to indicate that it “. . . could not rule out taking action to terminate the 
[E]asement because of this new, materially different use. . .”

Notwithstanding the content of its correspondence, NIST simply has no right to terminate 
the Easement or otherwise restrict the rights pursuant to the Deed of Easement, which rights 
NIST granted without restriction.  In particular, the Deed of Easement provides as follows:

[NIST] does hereby grant and convey . . . an easement and right-of-way for 
vehicular ingress and egress, together with all rights and privileges as are 
necessary or incidental to the reasonable and proper use of such easement . . . over 
and across that portion of the existing roadway . . . as is reasonably necessary to 
allow for ingress and egress to the [Property] . . . said easement shall be 
appurtenant to and for the use and benefit of [the Property]. 

In other words, Owner’s access rights pursuant to the Easement Deed are absolute – the 
Deed of Easement simply grants the rights of ingress and egress to and from the Property, 
without distinction as to the purpose for the allowed access.  NIST therefore has no basis 
whatsoever for making the claims in its letter.

Accordingly, NIST inserting itself into the Rezoning Application process by asserting 
rights that it does not possess and soliciting the City’s assistance in terminating rights that it is 
incapable of terminating, is entirely inappropriate and raises serious legal concerns.  We have 
communicated as much to NIST.

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 76Packet Page 270



Ms. Elaine McLaughlin
June 17, 2015
Page 4

{00316875 / 1 }

2. Independent of the Absolute Nature of the Access Rights across the Easement,
NIST’s Stated Objections are Without Merit.

The NIST correspondence touches on various other issues, but stops short of specifically 
arguing that those issues somehow give rise to rights that NIST does not otherwise have to 
terminate the Easement or restrict the access over and across the same.  For example, the NIST 
letter merely invokes 9/11 in what amounts to no more than a red herring.  Parties have been 
accessing the Property across the NIST property since at least 1995 and for nearly 14 years since 
9/11.  Driving the same car across the same Easement to access a residence, rather than a 
medical/dental office, does not implicate the sort of security concerns about which the 
correspondence muses.  

In addition, NIST refers to the fact that elimination of the Easement would help it comply 
with its stormwater permit obligations.  However, NIST’s required compliance with respect to 
stormwater matters is completely independent of, and frankly subject to, its obligation to provide 
access pursuant to the Easement Deed.

Finally, NIST appears to base its position upon the purported “increased number” of trips 
that would result and the correspondingly “materially different” use of the Easement.  However, 
the number of daily trips over the Easement will be substantially less if, for example, the 
Property were rezoned and developed into townhomes.  In particular, according to the ITE Trip 
Generation Manual, a “Medical-Dental Office” use generates 36.13 trips per day per 1000 square 
feet of office space.  Given the existing 17,600 square foot medical office, that is 636 trips/day.  
On the other hand, a “Residential Condo/Townhome” use generates 5.81 trips per day per unit.  
In the case of 16 units, that results in a total of only 93 trips/day.  In other words, the specific use 
about which NIST expresses concern would result in 543 fewer trips per day.

*     *     *     *     *     *     *     *     *     *

We have copied your counsel on this correspondence and encourage you to seek their 
input.  The City cannot delay the rezoning process by requiring submittal of a concurrent site 
review application or requiring a Good Neighbor meeting with respect to a use that is as yet 
unknown.  Neither can the City require that Owner secure the consent of a third party that has 
asserted claims that have no basis in fact or law, and in any event, have nothing to do with 
simply causing the zoning of the Property to comply with the Comprehensive Plan land use map.  

Based upon the forgoing, we strongly encourage the City to (a) withdraw its conditions 
that Owner (i) submit for site review; (ii) hold a Good Neighbor meeting; and (iii) secure NIST 
consent; and (b) move forward with processing the Rezoning Application in accordance with the 
Code.

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 77Packet Page 271



Ms. Elaine McLaughlin
June 17, 2015
Page 5

{00316875 / 1 }

Thank you for your attention to this matter.

Sincerely,

Brad R. Curl

Enclosure

cc: David Gehr, Esq. (via e-mail)
Hella Pannewig, Esq. (via e-mail)
Mr. Matthew Johnke (via e-mail)
Adrian Sopher, AIA (via e-mail)

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 78Packet Page 272



Address: 385 Broadway Page 3 

The Community of Lower Bluebell in Boulder, Colorado

6.1.2015

Ms. Elaine McLaughlin 
Senior Planner
Department of Community Planning + Sustainability
City of Boulder
1739 Broadway, 3rd Floor
Boulder, CO 80306-0791

RE: Application for re-zoning   
#LUR2015-00047
385 Broadway/High Density Student Housing

Dear Ms. Elaine McLaughlin,

The undersigned represent the community of Lower Bluebell who are vigorously opposed to the zoning change request, 
#LUR2015-00047, for 385 Broadway, Boulder.

We live in a low-density residential neighborhood that has maintained its character for 58 years. We are a strong, 
diverse community committed to caring for the fabric of the neighborhood and for one another. One half of the homes 
have been occupied by the same families for over 30 years, one third of the homes have been occupied for over 50 years 
by the original builders of the houses.

In 2008, the owner of 385 Broadway requested a land use map change.  As a neighborhood we worked with the then 
owner and the city to come to an agreement that would allow for expansion or redevelopment of the site for continued 
business use while maintaining a buffer from the impacts of the proposed increase in business uses the owner was 
proposing.  We were told he wanted to increase the square footage of office space and that a change in zoning would 
remove the need to request variances as was done in the past to allow for a business use in a residential zone.  City Staff 
proposed the 25 foot RL-1 buffer on the west and north sides of the property and a zoning change to BT-2 for the 
remainder of the property to allow for the improvements.  The neighbors agreed to the staff’s proposal, the buffer was 
put into place and the BVCP land use was changed. However, the owner did not pursue the zoning change for the 
majority of the site and instead chose to list the property for sale.

The property was sold in 2014 and the current request for re-zoning is being requested by the new owners of the 
property.  Unlike the previous owner’s stated intent of increasing square footage of office space, the current owner’s 
stated intent, found in their Project Fact Sheet, is to build multi-family/high density student rental housing which would 
be comprised of 16 townhomes with 4 bedrooms each (potentially 64 residents).  They intend a reduction in off street 
parking spaces from the required 48 to 36, building code occupancy classification B and $119,000 Cash-in-Lieu of 4 
dedicated permanently affordable housing units on site. This project would require the demolition of a building that is 
over 50 years old, which would require a historic landmark review.
The current proposal states that a change in zoning is required by the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan and that the 
property zoning must be in compliance with the BVCP Land Use Map. We disagree, and recognize that the BVCP 
guides land use decisions, provides a general statement of communities desires for future development but does not 
regulate city zoning.  

We strongly oppose the proposed change in zoning. Should rezoning occur, the owners would have “by-right” 
development opportunities. And therefore, could build anything allowed in that zoning, which is unacceptable. We 
insist on maintaining the residential zoning allowing for development with special review only.

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 79Packet Page 273



Address: 385 Broadway Page 4 

The current project proposed by Matt Johnke Realty & Heritage Title Co., Sopher Sparn Architects LLC, Adrian Sopher 
and Erin Bagnall, exemplifies the potential scope of a project which could be developed by-right.

Our concerns specific to the above mentioned project are:

1. Parking: Requires review
The developers have requested a reduction in permitted parking spaces of 25%. With a potential of 64 residents and 36
parking spaces those without a space in the complex would have no alternative but to park on Bluebell or Mariposa,
which is not acceptable.  While Bluebell is part of the Columbine Parking Zone, an increase of up to 28 permits is not
sustainable.

2. Light Pollution: Compliance with “Dark Skies” requires a review
Two 3-story buildings housing 16 units and perched on a hill will produce unwelcomed light pollution.

3. Buffer Zone:
Both the 25 foot buffer zones, north which is in the required set back and west which abuts a residence, have historically 
been ill maintained.

4. Construction Staging: Requires review
Construction Staging is problematic in that there is no venue for staging.

6. Pedestrian Access:
The pedestrian access on the new development should go directly east from the developed property onto the 
bike/pedestrian path on Broadway, avoiding Bluebell Avenue altogether. 

7. Fire and Life Safety: Requires Review
Access from Bluebell is non-existent. There is an existing fire truck access to the cul de sac at the end of Bluebell Ave
through a chained gate which must remain exclusively dedicated to emergency vehicles.

8. Solar Access: Requires Review
The elevation of the site and the proposed height of the buildings suggest an infringement on access to sunlight on the
property at 2290 Bluebell Avenue.

Thank you,
The undersigned neighbors 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 80Packet Page 274



Address: 385 Broadway   Page 5 

  

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 81Packet Page 275



Address: 385 Broadway Page 6 

Contact: Patty Angerer
2225 Bluebell Ave.
Boulder, CO 80302
303-449-0968
psangerer@yahoo.com

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 82Packet Page 276



Address: 385 Broadway Page 7 

From: dhh1056@gmail.com [mailto:dhh1056@gmail.com] On Behalf Of David Holloway 
Sent: Thursday, June 04, 2015 3:08 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Proposed Bluebell Student Housing Project at 385 Broadway, #LUR2015-00047 

Dear Ms. McLaughlin, 

I have an interest in property on lower Bluebell Avenue and am writing to express my alarm and opposition to the 
proposed student housing project for 385 Broadway. 

It is stunning that planning and zoning would even consider such a proposal, given its scale and mass, when compared to 
the contiguous low density single family area of lower Bluebell. 

As you know, the proposed student housing project triggers multiple reviews including parking, fire and life safety, and 
historical. 

Moreover, the proposed project submitted by Mr. Johnke, et. al., raises serious questions about your department's position 
and record on FAR regulations and enforcement. 

The Bluebell neighborhood has already experienced unfavorable development accommodations and mangling of FAR 
guidelines with several area redevelopment projects, including the recent (within the last several years) redevelopment of 
2131 Bluebell.  The 2131 Bluebell redevelopment more closely resembles a zero-lot-line project as the structure stretches 
north and east touching two alley boundaries!  How could that have possibly been approved?  Worse, after multiple 
assurances to the contrary, the "single family" at 2131 Bluebell appears to be operating as a rental property, along with 
numerous other non-conforming rentals within a five block radius. 

I have also been in contact with the GSA (General Services Administration), the federal government's property manager at 
NIST, and have asked them for their position on this student housing project. 
Among the questions for GSA is the issue of access to 385 Broadway - which essentially runs the length of the NIST main 
entrance - and how that access squares with their current and future security demands. 
It seems inconsistent with their ongoing security concerns that the GSA would lock down their south and west entries 
(Dartmouth and King streets), and open up their front door to student housing. 

The proposed parking scheme for 385 Broadway is a also total non-starter.  The property won't accommodate the required 
48 surface spaces, and it barely accommodates the current 36 spaces with a building one-third the mass of the proposed 
structure. So, as a result of the unfavorable access to the property, combined with the dearth of parking spaces, tenants 
(students) of this proposed project would be inclined to park on Bluebell - especially given the projects proposed 
orientation - facing Broadway and Bluebell.   

In addition, though I have not yet received it, I have ordered a litigation report (title report) on 385 Broadway.  There 
seem to be questions about a former or current leasehold estate in the chain of title,  
which wouldn't surprise me given that all of South Oak Park was essentially re-platted due to surveying errors.  Plus, 
current use - commercial, conflicts with current zoning - low density residential; and the proposed zoning - business, 
seems to be in contravention of proposed use - high density student housing?  Is student housing in Boulder zoned 
business? 

Given the myriad entanglements with this project it is my hope that reason and common sense prevail and the proposed 
zoning request is denied forthwith. 
Please know that if the project planning is allowed to continue, I will use - without limitation - all available methods and 
resources to block any further activity on this project. 

Sincerely, 

David Holloway 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 83Packet Page 277

mailto:dhh1056@gmail.com
mailto:dhh1056@gmail.com


Address: 385 Broadway Page 8 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 84Packet Page 278



Address: 385 Broadway   Page 9 

 
 
 
 
  
 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 85Packet Page 279



Address: 385 Broadway Page 10 

Attachment B:  2008 Comp. Plan Land Use Change Parcel Report and 
 Planning Board Hearing Minutes 

(refer to attached PDFs) 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 86Packet Page 280



On Aug 25, 2015, at 10:13 PM, Brett Walker MSCRP wrote: 
Lois and Stan,  
 
Here are a few words I think might help. You should forward them on to Dan Olsen and 
Patty: 
 
Inconvenient zoning is not considered a taking. Completely denying access to adjacent 
ROW from private property is. 
 
If the City and applicant do not sort out the access issues with NIST (that is, guarantee 
the access to Broadway that the site has enjoyed for decades), yet go ahead and 
approve a rezone (that is, give the owner an entitlement) to allow for higher density 
and/or more intensive use (especially speculatively), the City will set the neighborhood 
up for some big problems. 
 
The City will be forced into providing access onto Bluebell should NIST be able to 
somehow rescind the access easement or whatever arrangement they have. 
 
If I were a cynical person, I would think the planners/decision makers are counting on 
this situation as it takes a hard decision out of their hands: "if we don't allow it, we'll be 
sued for a Takings". And indeed they would be. 
 
I say this because while a Comprehensive Plan gives some legitimacy to the City's 
Police Power to regulate land uses (that is, to create and change zoning districts or other 
land use regulation), the Plan is much more than just a Future Land Use 
recommendation map. It contains goals and visions for growth that are more complex 
than a color on a piece of paper. The planners and decision makers should read those 
before making a decision on this.  
 
For the planning staff to say their hands are tied to supporting a zone change for a single 
acre of land SOLELY because of the color on a recommending future land use map is 
indicative that their professional judgment and expertise (that is, the very thing we are 
paying them to utilize for our community's betterment) is either suspect or irrelevant. In 
short, they don't want to make the tough, but right, decision (that is, recommend as staff 
that the governing body make the tough, but right, decision). 
 
No court in the country would say that just because a Future Land Use recommendation 
(color on a map) says "business", the owner is thus automatically entitled to a business 
zone (indeed that is why the Council is required to make a decision and hold a public 
hearing). 
 
Every court in the country would say that if a City doesn't provide access to existing, 
adjacent ROW for private property, the City has thus deprived the owner of such 
reasonable use that it would indeed be considered a Taking. 
 
Brett 
 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 87Packet Page 281



To: City of Boulder Staff, Planning Board, and City Council 
RE: Rezoning of 385 Broadway (LUR2015-00047) 

We are writing to express our concern with the proposed zoning change of 385 Broadway from 
residential (RL-1) to Business Transitional (BT2).  LUR2015-00047 

We live at 2280 Bluebell with our 6 year old daughter and we are located two lots away from 
385 Broadway. 

We are very concerned that changing the zoning to Business Transitional will have a highly 
detrimental impact on the residential area of 2200 Bluebell and the surrounding blocks. 

The access to 385 Broadway includes a very long driveway from the south off Broadway (across 
the bike path) by NIST. 

Here are our concerns: 

 Traffic
o Because vehicle access is difficult (because of the very long driveway),

visitors to 385 Broadway will use residential streets including Bluebell,
22nd St and 20th Street to get to 385 Broadway

o Bluebell, 22nd St, and 20th St are quiet residential streets and are not
designed for business access. There are many children and other
pedestrians in the area. We anticipate that there will be speeding vehicles
using those roads to get to 385 Broadway. It will be a safety risk
especially as there are many children (including our child) who play in the
area and rely on the fact that it is a quiet street.

o The intersection of 22nd and Baseline is a congested area  (with a
Firehouse). Adding traffic here will worsen the congestion.

 Parking
o 385 Broadway does not have much space for parking and we anticipate

that users of the site will park heavily on the 2200 block of Bluebell and
Mariposa. This will negatively impact the quiet nature of those streets and
the larger area of Lower Chautauqua

 Noise
o Since 385 South Broadway is adjacent to a quiet residential area we feel

that there will be noise and light pollution issues. The developer has
proposed a plan for building 16 condo units and this sort of density is in
our opinion too intense for this area of Lower Chautauqua.

We are in favor of maintaining the RL1 zoning.  We believe that rezoning to BT will have a 
significant negative impact on the quality of life on 2200 Bluebell and surrounding streets. 

Our understanding is that the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan is just a guideline and that it is 
not a rule of law. It is subject to errors and inaccuracies, like any large scope plan.  Thusly we 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 88Packet Page 282



feel that each zoning change should be considered by many factors and not just what is 
recommended in the BVCP 
 
In addition, we believe that our stance is supported by the statement in the BVCP that one of its 
primary goals is to preserve the character of existing neighborhoods. This particular proposed 
zoning change is diametrically opposed to that goal. 
 
We ask that the Planning Board consider these factors (keeping in mind the the BVCP is just a 
guideline and not a rule) and recommend against the zoning change. 
 
Thank you for your efforts and consideration in this matter. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Paul Cheng & Crystal Lee 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 89Packet Page 283



From: Sarah Chesnutt

To: boulderplanningboard

Subject: Rezoning for 385 Broadway

Date: Thursday, August 27, 2015 3:14:30 PM

Dear Boulder Planning Board,
I strongly oppose the zoning change at 385 Broadway. The Baseline and Broadway 
intersection is one of the most congested in the city and is a location of frequent 
accidents already. The proposed use of the land parcel for a 16-unit complex of four 
bedrooms each would add way, way too much traffic to the area around Broadway 
and Baseline. There is also a fire station that needs to get through for emergencies 
(and also adds to the existing congestion when they are answering a call), and a 
bus stop that is heavily used and uses a lane of traffic. 

I just can’t see how anyone would consider it good planning to put high density 
housing on that parcel.

Thank you for your time,
Sarah Chesnutt

Sarah Chesnutt
1421 Bluebell Avenue
Boulder, CO 80302
sarah@sarahchesnutt.com
cell: 720-840-9594

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 90Packet Page 284

mailto:sarah@sarahchesnutt.com
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:sarah@sarahchesnutt.com


From: Michael P. Dominick

To: boulderplanningboard

Cc: PS Angerer

Subject: 385 Broadway LUR2015-00047

Date: Friday, August 14, 2015 3:47:51 PM

Dear Planning board and staff

I am a long time home owner (2265 Bluebell) in the lower Bluebell neighborhood.
I (along with all the neighbors) are strongly opposed to any rezoning of the 385
Broadway property adjacent to our neighborhood. 

One of my concerns with rezoning that parcel from low density residential to
transitional business is that it would inevitably generate increased traffic and severe
parking issues. The BVCP of 2008 was dead wrong in designating this property as
appropriate for the uses allowed under transitional business zoning.

Related to the increased traffic and parking issues, the existing underpass beneath
Broadway between Bluebell and Mariposa Avenues facilitates many walkers and
bikers who go back and forth to the neighboring stores in the Basemar complex.
This street (Bluebell) and the adjacent pathway to the Broadway underpass is part
of the Skunk Creek Greenway corridor that was established by the City to encourage
biking, walking, and sustainability.  Significant increased traffic and parking in the
immediate area will cause safety risks to the walkers, bikers, and young children on
what is and has been for decades a very quiet and low traffic cul de sac.

 I have more to say in opposition and will supplement this later as time allows.

Thank you for your attention and consideration.

Law Offices of Michael P. Dominick
Michael P. Dominick
250 Arapahoe Ave., Suite 301
Boulder, Colorado 80302
O: 303 447 2644
F: 303 447 1685
E: mpdominick@gmail.com

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 91Packet Page 285

mailto:mpdominick@gmail.com
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
tel:303%20447%202644
tel:303%20447%201685
mailto:mpdominick@gmail.com


As noted in the BVCP Plan’s charter “The Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan policies guide decisions about growth, development,
preservation, environmental protection, economic development,  affordable housing, culture and the arts, urban design, neighborhood
character and transportation. The policies also inform decisions about the manner in which services are provided, such as police, fire,
emergency medical services, water utilities, flood control and human services.”  It is intended as a guide, not legally binding document for
local land use decisions

Please do not rezone this lot without allowing us the opportunity to fight the BVCP’s incorrect change to Business Transitional in 2008.  Also,
do not rezone this lot without understanding access from Broadway.   A lot cannot be described as a way to create a buffer from a busy
street to a residential neighborhood if the only access is through that neighborhood.  No Rezoning of 385 Broadway.  

Thanks,
Beth Fleming
2285 Bluebell Ave, Boulder, CO. 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 92Packet Page 286



From: Elizabeth Garfield

To: boulderplanningboard

Subject: 385 Broadway

Date: Friday, August 28, 2015 2:41:50 PM

Hello,
I am writing to express my opposition to rezoning the property at 385 Broadway and putting in a large
apartment building with limited parking. This change would have dire consequences for a very quiet,
low-traffic neighborhood. 
Thank you for your consideration.
Elizabeth Garfield
205 Devon Place
Boulder, CO  80302

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 93Packet Page 287

mailto:eagboulder@aol.com
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov


From: Helen

To: boulderplanningboard

Subject: Re: 385 Broadway LUR2015-00047

Date: Wednesday, August 19, 2015 3:12:44 PM

Sent from my iPad

From: Helen <hgoldman@colorado.edu>
Date: August 19, 2015 at 9:54:03 AM MDT
To: boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov
Subject: Fwd: 385 Broadway LUR2015-00047

Dear Planning Board Members:

My husband and I live at 2275 Bluebell Avenue, nearly
opposite the property requesting a zoning change.  We have
lived on this quiet residential street since 1972, and raised our
two children here.  I invite you to actually take a stroll down
our street to see what we are in danger of losing. 

If the proposal is accepted, our neighborhood is about to
undergo a drastic and destructive change, which will
undermine a family centered neighborhood where young
children play safely, especially in the lower part of our street
and the cul-de-sac.    It has been a haven that substitutes for
a local playground, which we do not have.  

A bit of history:  when we moved in, city planners included a
playground in every other residential neighborhood, close
enough for children to walk or ride bikes to, with no
intervening major streets to cross, like Broadway.  I was
curious why we were not so blessed.  So I called the city
offices and their response was that when the city gave the
land next door to the federal government for the Bureau of
Commerce, there was an agreement between the city and the
federal government that the local residents could use the
unbuilt part of the land there to "play."  Hah!  Some
playground, with limited access and no facilities. 

So our little haven of peace and quiet, broken only by the
laughter of the children at play will be shattered by traffic,
parked cars and extremely dense population.  There could be
as many as 64 cars and as many or more unrelated people
using our street.  We feel that the original 2008 zoning
change was a Trojan Horse, meant to undermine our right to

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 94Packet Page 288

mailto:hgoldman@colorado.edu
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:hgoldman@colorado.edu
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov


live quietly on our lovely residential street.   Please do not do
this to us.  

Yours truly, 
Helen Goldman 

Sent from my iPad

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 95Packet Page 289



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 96Packet Page 290



From: Cynthia Holloway

To: boulderplanningboard

Cc: bluebell22@comcast.net; psangerer@yahoo.com

Subject: Re-zoning Request for 385 Broadway

Date: Thursday, August 20, 2015 11:15:59 AM

Elevations Law Group
330 South Lincoln Avenue, Suite 222
Steamboat Springs, CO 80477
Phone 970.879.4389
counselors@ElevationLawGroup.com

August 5, 2015

City of
Boulder Planning Department
Via email delivery

Re:       Re-zoning request for 385 Broadway

The applicant’s zone change request for
385 Broadway should be denied. The zoning should
stay as residential low density, and eventually the use (now
non-conforming) will revert
to conform to the
rest of the immediate vicinity and neighborhood.

My family has lived
at
2222 Bluebell for almost six (6) decades.  My father, a
former city councilman and Mayor of Boulder, was
adamantly opposed to spot zoning (so
am I),
which is in essence what the applicant
is requesting. I believe that
spot zoning is undesirable and unacceptable in these circumstances. The
applicant’s
zone change request
should be denied. The
existing medical office
building was originally built and used/occupied by several doctors
and dentists who lived within

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 97Packet Page 291

mailto:cmholloway28@optimum.net
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:bluebell22@comcast.net
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com


a block of two of their offices. In
those days kids walked to school and many
of parents
walked to work. The non-conforming use was and
has been tolerated
for these many years
because it didn’t negatively affect the
residential nature of the
neighborhood. The requested
zone change would substantially and negatively impact
the neighborhood.
As kids,
we walked
to our dentist and doctor’s appointments
which were just at the
end of Bluebell. Continued
use as a medical office
building is OK.  Changing the zoning,
and thus the future uses, is
unacceptable and should NOT be
allowed.

I respectfully request
that the applicant’s zone change request
be denied.
Sincerely,

John P. Holloway,
Jr.

http://cp.mcafee.com/d/2DRPoA920w96Qm6bTd7dPhO-YrKruKMUCMCruKMUC-CrjKOMOMqekQkjqtQhMVAsOUOr8lrfg-aN-
Mxa14xnoE0ExlIZ3USGvmeElUzkOr8lrfg-dGDRzG5u8RcCQ625T47T-LPxEVv79IZuVtdBAtOb2pEVuuvVqWdAklrK8YG7DR8OJMddECQjt-
jhphho7fI8CXCOD3h_CtDaI0HFw9hGSJOVKOFeFVZj6BATwllqsBmRu1FJBBUQsCMnVskH2k29Ew1vyPvQCq87qNd43bPVEw6oRR0NFoSOMraAV4

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 98Packet Page 292



From: Spence, Cindy

To: Spence, Cindy

Subject: RE: Rezoning 385 Broadway LUR205-00047

Date: Thursday, August 27, 2015 10:31:42 AM

From: Lois Kruschwitz [mailto:eco@earthnet.net] 
Sent: Thursday, August 27, 2015 9:17 AM
To: Meschuk, Chris <MeschukC@bouldercolorado.gov>
Subject: Rezoning 385 Broadway LUR205-00047

Lois and Stan Kruschwitz,  2190 Bluebell Ave.  Boulder CO 80302

I AM WRITING WITH GREAT CONCERN REGARDING THE POSSIBLE REZONING
OF 385 BROADWAY FROM RESIDENTIAL TO BUSINESS TRANSITIONAL:

To give some context, we already see congestion issues related to students, NIST, and bus
stop parking.  Adding business or student housing with up to 64 residents
would have devastating impacts.

CURRENT SITUATION AT CORNER OF 22ND AND BLUEBELL AVE:

-Students park in front and to the side of our house and walk to class.

-NIST employees park on 22nd  Street between King and Bluebell.  The back gate is no
longer open since 9/11 for NIST employees to enter.  We inquired and NIST
employees said that it is more convenient to use the street for parking than to use the NIST
parking lots.

-It is sometimes difficult to maneuver our cars out of the driveway with cars parked on both
sides of the street.

-Evidently some people park in this area to catch busses.  The bus stop is in front of NIST on
Broadway.  Sometimes cars are left for days.

-Our daughter, especially in winter, has problems accessing the house with young children.

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 99Packet Page 293

mailto:/O=COB/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=SPENC1EAA
mailto:SpenceC@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:eco@earthnet.net
mailto:MeschukC@bouldercolorado.gov


August 18, 2015 

Regarding:   Rezoning & Site Review Processes - LUR2015-00047 (385 Broadway Ave.) 

Dear City of Boulder, Staff, Planning Board and City Council, 

Executive summation:  Please vote no to zoning change to 385 Broadway Avenue 

My family and I live at 415 Sunnyside Lane, Boulder CO; directly across the street (Bluebell Avenue) from 

385 Broadway Avenue.  We have owned our home since 2003 (and I am a CO native).  I have 3 young 

children ages, 11, 9 and 9.   

I purchased my home because of the neighborhood, the cul-de-sac, the schools, the community and the 

quietness of our neighbors and neighborhood.  I am requesting that you decline the request to rezone 

385 Broadway Avenue because it would change the tenor of our lower Bluebell community, the 

quietness of our street and would devalue our homes.  Most importantly (to me); it would greatly 

increase vehicle traffic which would impact my family’s quality of life.  (The developer has implied they 

would build high density condominiums).   

We LOVE our neighborhood because it safe.  My children feel comfortable riding their bikes up and 

down Bluebell, running over to our neighbors to play with their children, and we have ice cream socials 

in our cul-de-sac.  If 385 Broadway were rezoned it is unclear how the numerous tenants would access 

the property (given NIST’s statements) and undoubtedly they would drive and park on Bluebell, given 

the easy access (and possibly the only access).  I would no longer feel comfortable having my children 

outside with numerous cars driving on Bluebell; and with high turn-over tenants who are not vested in 

our community, nor our children.  I understand people want to make money and utilize under-

developed space, but I ask you to consider the impact that has on our children and our community.   

I moved to Boulder and to Lower Chautauqua because of the family centric neighborhood and quality of 

life.  I specifically chose not to live on the Hill because of the high traffic, high turn-over population and 

how these influences would impact my children.   

I ask that we keep the zoning as it stands on 385 Broadway Avenue and maintain the integrity of our 

neighborhood. 

Thank you for your consideration. 

Regards, 

Jennifer Lancaster Alexander 

415 Sunnyside Lane Boulder, CO  80302 

720-301-6129

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 100Packet Page 294



From: lyalts@aol.com

To: boulderplanningboard

Subject: LUR2015-00047

Date: Wednesday, August 19, 2015 9:43:01 AM

Subject:  Proposed rezoning of 385 Broadway, Boulder. 
LUR2015-00047

I wish to address only one of the many aspects of the impact of the proposed rezoning on the 2200
block of Bluebell Avenue: A safe zone for children to live in and play.

My wife and I bought our home at 2250 Bluebell Avenue in 1965--50 years ago, and occupied it with
our three children.  It was ideal for children: A no-through-traffic cul-de-sac lined exclusively with one-
family homes.  Children could safely play on the street and ride their tricycles or bicycles on the block. 
This has not changed.  Kids still play and ride up and down the block with or without parents.  Further,
I have often noted that only drivers that do not live here, who mistakenly try to drive through our block,
drive so much faster through it than we residents. 

Any rezoning that would increase traffic or parking by outside groups would impair this wonderful quality
of the 2200 block of Bluebell.

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 101Packet Page 295

mailto:lyalts@aol.com
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov


Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 102Packet Page 296



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 103Packet Page 297



MARCIA WEESE     2265 Bluebell Ave    Boulder, CO 80302     773.908.9009 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.12.15 
 
 
RE: #LUR2015-00047 
 
 
 
Dear Boulder Planning Board, 
 
 
 
 
I live in a quiet, lovely neighborhood called Lower Bluebell—across the street 
and 3 houses west of the lot that is requesting a zoning change for 385 
Broadway, Case #LUR2015-‐00047. 
 
Our neighborhood cherishes its planted island to the west and cul de sac to the 
east, which slows traffic and keeps it at a minimum. 
Children play, families commune, and pedestrians and cyclists float by. 
 
This will radically change if the city allows the requested rezoning from RL-1 to 
BT2. 
 
It takes years to weave together a neighborhood. It takes one vote to rip it 
asunder. I vote to keep this lot zoned as RL-1. 
 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
 
 
Marcia Weese, LEED AP 
 
 
 
 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 104Packet Page 298



From: Dan Olson

To: boulderplanningboard

Subject: NO on rezoning 385 Broadway

Date: Wednesday, August 19, 2015 11:43:05 PM

Attachments: NO to 385 Broadway Rezoning!.pdf

Hello, please see the attached letter regarding the proposed rezoning
of 385 Broadway.

We urge the planning board to VOTE NO on the rezoning, as it is done
without complete information and would be ruinous to the character of
the Lower Bluebell neighborhood.

Thanks,

Dan Olson
2285 Bluebell Ave

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 105Packet Page 299

mailto:danolson1@gmail.com
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov


To:  City of Boulder, Staff, Planning Board, and City Council 
RE: Rezoning & Site Review Processes - LUR2015-00047 (385 Broadway Ave.) 
Executive Summary: NO to zoning change to 385 Broadway Ave 
 
Hello,  
 
My wife and I own the house at 2285 Bluebell Ave, in Boulder, CO and live there with our two young children (ages 
4 and 2).   Our property is directly across from the lot at 385 Broadway, which is currently under consideration for 
a Rezoning Change from RL-1 to BT-2.  We and the other members of the Lower Bluebell Block Improvement 
Association strongly oppose the rezoning of this lot and urge you to vote NO on this issue. 
 
The proposed rezoning is entirely out of character with the rest of neighborhood.   
Our neighborhood is a quiet, close-knit community, with several families with small children, and others who have 
lived there since the neighborhood was developed over 50 years ago.  Our houses are historic and mid-modern, 
well-built, with interesting architectural details and lots of character.  We take care of our property, we look out 
for each other, and we cherish the quiet streets and cul-de-sac that allow us to socialize with our friends and 
neighbors, and allow our children to play safely in the streets and yards at the end of the block. Although we live in 
proximity to the University, it is quiet - there is no student housing within at least four blocks of our street, and 
because we are on a cul-de-sac, the traffic is low and generated only by the residents.   
 
And it is not just Bluebell Ave that enjoys its residential status.  The entire Bluebell neighborhood (from Baseline 
to King and from Broadway to 15th St) every single property is designated Low Density Residential.  Furthermore, 
there is not a single other BT-2 zoned property on the west side of Broadway from Greenbriar to University Ave! 
 
The property at 385 Broadway was built in the 50’s, and has always been non-conforming Low Density Residential.  
It is currently a low-impact, low-traffic professional office, housing a dentist’s office and an optometrist.  The non-
conforming nature is acceptable to the neighborhood because access comes from Broadway (through an easement 
from NIST), the building is one-story (and not very visible from the neighboring properties, there is ample parking 
for the type of business (and thus no overflow parking onto Bluebell Ave), and because the foot and car traffic is 
low.  
 
The 2008 change to the BVCP was made under false pretenses 
In 2006, the property changed ownership, and the owner petitioned the City to designate the property BT-2 on the 
BVCP, with the express purpose of making repairs and improvements to the existing building.   The neighborhood 
agreed to this because the existing building is not obtrusive, making basic repairs would not alter the character of 
the neighborhood, and also because the previous owner (and proprietor of the dentist’s office) lived on Bluebell 
Ave and was a part of the Bluebell community.  However, under the new owner, the repairs were never made 
(and were likely never intended to be made).  Instead, the owner put the property up for sale in 2014, falsely 
representing the site as zoned BT-2, which given the fact that we are conducting this hearing, it is not.   It is under 
these false pretenses that the change was made to the BVCP and it is under those false pretenses that the City 
now considers this zoning change.   
 
Further obfuscating the issue is that the developer has not only refused the City’s strong recommendation to 
conduct a Good Neighbor meeting to discuss the proposed site change, but has also withdrawn the original site 
proposal (from June 17, 2015) for high-density student condominiums from the record, claiming that the end use 
is irrelevant to the rezoning process.  I’m not an attorney, but I find it bewildering and absurd that the end use of 
the property would not be material to the discussion of its zoning status.   Are we to pretend that despite 
thoughtful documents like the BVCP, which speak to nothing but the careful and deliberate planning of our 
community, that the end usage of a property has no relevance to the zoning decision making process?   Clearly, 
student housing is the least desirable outcome for the neighborhood, but even if that is not the ultimate usage, the 
other options available to a developer in a BT-2 zone are equally unacceptable:  fraternity and sorority houses, 
indoor amusement facility, hostels, motels, shelters, etc etc – NONE of which are remotely compatible with the 
character of our quiet, residential, child-friendly neighborhood. 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 106Packet Page 300



Furthermore, there has been no consideration of the access to the property.  Currently the property is accessed 
via Broadway, through an easement granted by NIST.  NIST has already indicated that it opposes any more intense 
usage for the site, and would likely rescind the easement if a zoning change is passed.  Since there is no other 
obvious access point on Broadway (the property abuts the bike path), the only other access would be from 
Bluebell Ave, via 22nd St from Baseline.   Not only would the markedly increased traffic flow cause serious safety 
concerns for us and our children, it would completely and thoroughly destroy the quiet character of the 
neighborhood.   Besides the safety issues, under the BVCP, the purpose of a BT-2 zone is to provide a transition 
from commercial use to residential use.  Without access from a major street (Broadway), a BT-2 zoning 
designation would drive traffic through a residential neighborhood - the exact opposite of its intention!  It is 
deeply concerning that the City would fail to consider this critical point prior to a zoning change.  

The City is not compelled by the BVCP to make this change 
It is also crucial to note that the BVCP is not a legally binding document, and thus, the City is no way compelled to 
make the zoning change based on the current map.  The charter of the BVCP Plan is clear “The Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan policies guide decisions about growth, development, preservation, environmental protection, 
economic development, affordable housing, culture and the arts, urban design, neighborhood character and 
transportation. The policies also inform decisions about the manner in which services are provided, such as police, 
fire, emergency medical services, water utilities, flood control and human services.”  It is intended as a guide, not 
legally binding document for local land use decisions  

Beyond the charter, Section 2.10 of the BVCP states that “the City will work with neighborhoods to protect and 
enhance neighborhood character and livability”.   A zoning change to BT-2 certainly does nothing to protect or 
enhance our neighborhood character – in fact it almost certainly degrades it.   The developer has already failed to 
work with the neighborhood, and if the City were to allow a zoning change in the face of such vehement 
homeowner opposition, it would seem that the City would be failing to work with the neighborhoods as well. 

Furthermore, Section 2.12 of the BVCP states that “the City will encourage the preservation or replacement in-
kind of existing, legally established residential uses in non-residential zones. Non-residential conversions in 
residential zoning districts will be discouraged, except where there is a clear benefit or service to the 
neighborhood”  On this point the neighborhood has spoken loud and clear – there is absolutely no clear benefit or 
service to the neighborhood with the proposed rezoning.   

And lastly, Section 2.13 of the BVCP states “The city and county will take appropriate actions to ensure that the 
character and livability of established residential neighborhoods will not be undermined by spill-over impacts 
from adjacent regional or community business zones or by incremental expansion of business activities into 
residential areas. The city and county will protect residential neighborhoods from intrusion of non-residential 
uses by protecting edges and regulating the impacts of these uses on neighborhoods.  It’s difficult to imagine 
something more intrusive than a BT-2 designated property, with its noise, traffic, and nuisance directly across the 
street from our home.   

Our desire is to preserve the essential character of our residential neighborhood and to protect the safety of our 
children and the value of our property.  The proposed zoning change is absolutely incompatible with the existing 
neighborhood, and a BT-2 property would provide no benefit or service whatsoever to the residents of Lower 
Bluebell.  I strongly urge the City to consider the opinions of the property owners in the Lower Bluebell Block 
Improvement Association and to vote NO on the rezoning of 385 Broadway. 

Sincerely, 

Dan Olson 
2285 Bluebell Ave 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 107Packet Page 301



RE: Rezoning & Site Review Processes - LUR2015-00047 (385 Broadway Ave.)  

Dear City of Boulder, Staff, Planning Board and City Council

Executive Summary: NO to zoning change.

I live 3 doors west of the requested zoning change and have lived here since 1989.  The existing 
property has always been a good, useful and discreet part of the neighborhood.  Having a professional / 
medical office so close to our residence has been convenient. With normal business hours (8a-5p), the 
quiet activity on the property and traffic to and from the property has never been an issue.  No one or 
few people have ever parked on Bluebell since adequate parking is provide on site and driving access 
to the property is from Broadway.  This has all been very compatible with our RL-1 Low Density 
Residential neighborhood.

In 2007 Bruce Tenenbaum requested BVCP Land Use change from Residential to Business 
Transitional.  At that time, he inform the neighbors that the goal of the BVCP change was to support 
updating “the aging building and can not be reasonably updated .. due to the current residential 
zoning.”  He also said: “The lot and entry are adjacent to … NIST. … would deem my land less 
desirable for residential use.”  “The lot sits directly on Broadway... Once again, this will make the 
property less appropriate for residential usage.”  “... access was re-done in 2007, still over Federal land 
… The further diminishes desirability to ever use this property for residential development.”

All this led us to BELIEVE HIM.  We were fooled.  BAIT AND SWITCH.

We had several conversations with city staff dealing with this Land Use change.  The staff 
recommended the “residential buffer.”  We though that the future would be a new and improve Medical
and/or Professional office building that would compliment the neighborhood.

Maybe we were naive but we then gave our support to the Business Transitional BVCP change.  We 
were WRONG.  We should have become City Code experts and had a book reading group to study the 
BVCP.  We should not have listened to the staff or owner.  I have now learned that the staff originally 
recommended against this Land Use change to the BVCP, but by a motion of a Planing Board person, 
A. Sopher, the staff was directed “to consider a split land use designation of the property.”  I now
understand that Mr. A. Sopher is now the current owners architect.  This smells of conflict of interest.

Fool us once …   We now understand that changing BVCP to Business Transitional could lead to City 
Zoning change to BT-1 or BT-2 which would lead to  BY RIGHT development of:

Detached dwelling units
Duplexes
Townhouses
Congregate care facility
Fraternities
Sororities
Dormitories
Boarding houses
Arts and crafts studio space less than 2,000 s.f.
Arts and craft studio space greater than 2,000 s.f.
Daycare center with less than 50 children or adults
Daycare center with more than 50 children or adults

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 108Packet Page 302



Essential municipal and public utility facilities
Government facilities
Private elementary, junior and senior schools
Public elementary, junior and senior schools
Public colleges and universities
Adult education facilities less than 20,000 s.f.
Adult education facilities greater than 20,000 s.f.
Religious assemblies
Data processing facilities or offices
Addiction recovery facilities
Medical or dental clinics
Offices administrative
Offices professional
Offices technical less than 5,000 s.f.
Offices technical greater than 5,000 s.f.
Offices other, park and recreation uses
Indoor recreation or athletic facilities
Broadcast and recording facilities
Personal service uses
Computer design and development facilities
Telecommunication facilities
Accessory buildings to the above

Where the current zoning of RL-1 only allows BY RIGHT (other uses with review):
Detached dwelling units
Daycare home
Private elementary, junior and senior schools
Public elementary, junior and senior schools
Religious assemblies
Park and recreation uses
Crop production
Accessory buildings to the above

But all the verbal and written reasons for the need to change the BVCP was a fib.  No need to change  
the BVCP – leave it Residential.  The past owner or current owner could apply for rezoning to RL-2 
and request a Use Review for “Office, Professional.”  RL-2 would also limit the number of dwelling 
units via Table 8-1 to something reasonable.

The change of the BVCP was wrong and we intend to get it corrected back to Residential.  The reason 
for the BVCP change was a lie.  The proposed use as presented to us did NOT “need” a BVCP change 
and the change goes against the BVCP:

2.10 Preservation and Support for Residential Neighborhoods  
The city will work with neighborhoods to protect and enhance neighborhood 
character and livability and preserve the relative affordability of existing housing
stock. The city will seek appropriate building scale and compatible character in new
development or redevelopment, appropriately sized and sensitively designed streets 
and desired public facilities and mixed commercial uses.  The city will also 
encourage neighborhood schools and safe routes to school. 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 109Packet Page 303



The BY RIGHT use of BT-2 is TOOOOO intense of a use for our RL-1 neighborhood.  
NO TO ZONING CHANGE.

Chuck Palmer
2270 Bluebell Ave
Boulder, CO  80302
303-786-8502

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 110Packet Page 304



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 111Packet Page 305



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 112Packet Page 306



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 113Packet Page 307



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 114Packet Page 308



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 115Packet Page 309



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 116Packet Page 310



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 117Packet Page 311



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 118Packet Page 312



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 119Packet Page 313



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 120Packet Page 314



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 121Packet Page 315



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 122Packet Page 316



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 123Packet Page 317



From: Beth Pommer

To: boulderplanningboard

Subject: 385 Broadway

Date: Tuesday, August 25, 2015 7:02:55 PM

Planning Board ,
     Having called the city of Boulder my permanent residence for over 50 years, and having served as a
past member of the City of Boulder's Planning Board for 12 and a half years, I am compelled to address
an issue with you.
     It is my contention that the property located at 385 Broadway should NOT be re zoned.  Particularly
if the major reason to support such a change is because the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan
designation of this site was changed in 2008.
     A primary rationale in that discussion was that the medical and dental offices historically on the site,
were nonconforming uses.  I believe that the historic nonconforming use of low impact should simply
have remained nonconforming. 
     While financing an expansion of the use, and sale of the property might be made more difficult for
the owner of the property, that is irrelevant to the decision of the underlying zoning, and the long term
desired use of the property.                      I would assert that the primary point of a zoning designation
is to proscribe the most desired uses on properties, not necessarily to match a nonconforming use or
the Comp Plan designation, both of which can change overtime.
     The current, nonconforming uses at 385 Broadway will be going away, and the existent building
undoubtly torn down.  Hence, there will no longer be a nonconforming use on the site which needs to
be matched to the Comp Plan change of 2008.     
     Timely, as I would suggest a proposed Comp Plan revision for this year's Comp Plan update...Go
back to this properties original designation, not a Transitional Business designation of any sort.
     If the re zoning of this property moves forward, all of the uses allowed under the new zoning
designation would be just that, allowed.      
     Looking carefully at those uses, it is clear that there are many of them which are not at all suited to
the site, nor its existing context, the low density residential neighbors as well as the federal labs.  There
is no buffer zone for these neighboring properties.  A real necessity, given some of the potential allowed
uses.
     If the zoning designation being requested alters the most desired uses for a property, or provides
the allowance of undesirable uses by right, it should be summarily rejected.  The existent and historic
uses, the context of the property, should be respected.  The underlying zoning should stand
unchanged. 
     This long standing neighborhood should not have to police the multiple unwelcome uses that this
zoning change would allow.
      This is precisely the type of planning change and developer manipulation which has the
neighborhoods and citizenry aggravated at this point.  There are no solid grounds presented, nor sound
reason for this change, whatsoever.
      Thanks for your careful consideration of this ill advised zoning change, as well as your time
commitment to all that being on Planning Board entails.

Sincerely,
Beth Geesaman Pommer

Sent from my iPhone

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 124Packet Page 318

mailto:pommerco@aol.com
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov


RE: Rezoning and Site Review Processes - LUR2015-00047 (385 Broadway Ave.) 
NO to zoning change to 385 Broadway Ave 

Dear City of Boulder, Staff, Planning Board and City Council: 

I have lived with my brother’s family for 4 years at 2290 Bluebell Ave, which is directly 
adjacent to 385 Broadway.  I rely completely on my bike for transportation in and around 
Boulder.  This location has offered me complete convenience and accessibility to the bike 
path and safe roads to get around.  I am concerned that re-zoning of 385 Broadway will 
increase traffic and parking on Bluebell Ave and inhibit safe bike riding on this street.  
Bluebell is a major though fare for bikes as it connects directly with the bike path.  When 
cars are parked along both sides of the street, a bike and a single car cannot pass safely.  
Last week, cars were parked on each side of the street, a car was traveling eastbound on 
Bluebell, and I was riding westbound.  There was no room for the car to move over and 
he couldn’t pass me safely.  I had to dismount in order to avoid being hit by the car.  I 
have serious concerns that rezoning 385 Broadway will lead to more traffic and parking 
on Bluebell and it will no longer serve it’s function of allowing bike accessibility from 
western neighborhoods onto the Broadway bike path.  This has the potential to affect all 
biking residents of Boulder, regardless of where they live.  No to rezoning of 385
Broadway Ave

Sincerely, 

Robert Ludemann 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 125Packet Page 319



From: Trina Rioux

To: boulderplanningboard

Cc: Brad Curl

Subject: Application for Rezone regarding 385 Broadway - Correspondence from Brad Curl

Date: Wednesday, August 26, 2015 2:09:39 PM

Attachments: 385 Bway Johnke mem 150824 rezoning BVCP compliance.pdf
JOHNKE - 385 Broadway - Ltr to Planning Board (00322942x9F71D).pdf

Dear Planning Board Members:

Please see the attached correspondence and related memorandum in relation to the 385 Broadway project.  If
you have any questions or comments, please contact Brad Curl is copied on this email.

Trina Rioux, Legal Assistant
Johnson & Repucci LLP
2521 Broadway St., Ste A
Boulder, Colorado 80304
Phone: 303-442-1900
Fax: 303-442-0191
E-mail: tarioux@j-rlaw.com

This email message is for the exclusive use of the intended recipient(s) and may contain confidential, privileged and nondisclosable
information. Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure or distribution is prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact
the sender by reply email immediately and destroy any and all  copies of the message. 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 126Packet Page 320

mailto:tarioux@j-rlaw.com
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:brcurl@j-rlaw.com
mailto:tarioux@j-rlaw.com


	   	    	   	  

385	  Bway	  Johnke	  mem	  150824	  rezoning	  BVCP	  compliance.docx  	  
  

S o p h e r    S p a r n    A r c h i t e c t s    |    1 7 3 1    1 5 t h    S t r e e t ,    S u i t e    2 5 0          |    B o u l d e r ,    C o l o r a d o    8 0 3 0 2          |   
  3 0 3 . 4 4 2 . 4 4 2 2         

	  

1	  

	  
	  
	  
	  

	  
MEMORANDUM	  
	  
	  

To:	   Planning	  Board	  	  
From:	   Adrian	  Sopher	  -‐	  SOPHER	  SPARN	  ARCHITECTS	  LLC	  
Project:	   385	  BROADWAY	  
Date:	   26	  August	  2015	  
	  
Re:	  	  Key	  Issue:	  385	  Broadway	  rezoning	  compliance	  with	  Boulder	  Valley	  Comprehensive	  Plan	  
	  
The	  applicant	  has	  identified	  the	  following	  ways	  the	  proposed	  rezoning	  will	  comply	  with	  the	  Boulder	  Valley	  
Comprehensive	  Plan.	  
	  
In	  Support	  of	  the	  buffer:	  
	  

The	  buffer	  zone	  of	  RL-‐1	  zoning	  along	  the	  north	  and	  west	  property	  lines	  provides	  adequate	  separation	  
uses,	  as	  provided	  in	  the	  Land	  Use	  Map	  change	  in	  2008,	  and	  supported	  by	  the	  neighbors	  at	  that	  time.	  	  This	  
is	  in	  compliance	  with	  the	  following	  BVCP	  Policies…	  
	  

2.13	  Protection	  of	  Residential	  Neighborhoods	  Adjacent	  to	  Non-‐residential	  Zones	  The	  city	  and	  county	  will	  take	  
appropriate	  actions	  to	  ensure	  that	  the	  character	  and	  livability	  of	  established	  residential	  neighborhoods	  will	  not	  be	  
undermined	  by	  spill-‐over	  impacts	  from	  adjacent	  regional	  or	  community	  business	  zones	  or	  by	  incremental	  
expansion	  of	  business	  activities	  into	  residential	  areas.	  The	  city	  and	  county	  will	  protect	  residential	  neighborhoods	  
from	  intrusion	  of	  non-‐residential	  uses	  by	  protecting	  edges	  and	  regulating	  the	  impacts	  of	  these	  uses	  on	  
neighborhoods.	  
	  
2.15	  Compatibility	  of	  Adjacent	  Land	  Uses	  To	  avoid	  or	  minimize	  noise	  and	  visual	  conflicts	  between	  adjacent	  land	  
uses	  that	  vary	  widely	  in	  use,	  intensity	  or	  other	  characteristics,	  the	  city	  will	  use	  tools	  such	  as	  interface	  zones,	  
transitional	  areas,	  site	  and	  building	  design	  and	  cascading	  gradients	  of	  density	  in	  the	  design	  of	  subareas	  and	  zoning	  
districts.	  With	  redevelopment,	  the	  transitional	  area	  should	  be	  within	  the	  zone	  of	  more	  intense	  use.	  	  
	  
	  
In	  support	  the	  mixed-‐use	  transitional	  zoning	  of	  the	  BT	  districts,	  as	  opposed	  to	  keeping	  the	  site	  as	  RL-‐1:	  
	  

The	  BT-‐2	  zone	  in	  this	  location	  provides	  a	  transition	  from	  the	  single	  family	  RL-‐1	  neighborhood	  to	  the	  higher	  
intensity	  of	  uses	  and	  activity	  along	  Broadway.	  	  The	  existing	  use	  and	  the	  previous	  Land	  Use	  Map	  change	  
supported	  such	  an	  appropriate	  transition	  as	  the	  rezoning	  provides.	  	  The	  following	  BVCP	  Policies	  supported	  
such	  a	  change	  when	  the	  Land	  Use	  was	  modified	  in	  2008,	  and	  in	  compliance	  with	  those	  same	  policies,	  the	  
rezoning	  of	  the	  site	  completes	  the	  process	  begun	  at	  that	  time…	  

	  
2.14	  Mix	  of	  Complementary	  Land	  Uses	  The	  city	  and	  county	  will	  strongly	  encourage,	  consistent	  with	  other	  land	  use	  
policies,	  a	  variety	  of	  land	  uses	  in	  new	  developments.	  In	  existing	  neighborhoods,	  a	  mix	  of	  land	  use	  types,	  housing	  
sizes	  and	  lot	  sizes	  may	  be	  possible	  if	  properly	  mitigated	  and	  respectful	  of	  neighborhood	  character.	  Wherever	  land	  
uses	  are	  mixed,	  careful	  design	  will	  be	  required	  to	  ensure	  compatibility,	  accessibility	  and	  appropriate	  transitions	  
between	  land	  uses	  that	  vary	  in	  intensity	  and	  scale.	  	  

	  
2.16	  Mixed	  Use	  and	  Higher	  Density	  Development	  The	  city	  will	  encourage	  well-‐designed	  mixed	  use	  and	  higher	  

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 127Packet Page 321



	   	   	    	   	  
	  

2        
S o p h e r    S p a r n    A r c h i t e c t s    |    1 7 3 1    1 5 t h    S t r e e t ,    S u i t e    2 5 0          |    B o u l d e r ,    C o l o r a d o    8 0 3 0 2          |   

  3 0 3 . 4 4 2 . 4 4 2 2      

	  

density	  development	  that	  incorporates	  a	  substantial	  amount	  of	  affordable	  housing	  in	  appropriate	  locations,	  
including	  in	  some	  commercial	  centers	  and	  industrial	  areas	  and	  in	  proximity	  to	  multimodal	  corridors	  and	  transit	  
centers.	  The	  city	  will	  provide	  incentives	  and	  remove	  regulatory	  barriers	  to	  encourage	  mixed	  use	  development	  
where	  and	  when	  appropriate.	  This	  could	  include	  public-‐private	  partnerships	  for	  planning,	  design	  or	  development;	  
new	  zoning	  districts;	  and	  the	  review	  and	  revision	  of	  floor	  area	  ratio,	  open	  space	  and	  parking	  requirements.	  	  

	  
2.17	  Variety	  of	  Activity	  Centers	  The	  city	  and	  county	  support	  a	  variety	  of	  regional,	  subcommunity	  and	  
neighborhood	  activity	  centers	  where	  people	  congregate	  for	  a	  variety	  of	  activities	  such	  as	  working,	  shopping,	  going	  
to	  school	  or	  day	  care,	  accessing	  human	  services	  and	  recreating	  Activity	  centers	  should	  be	  located	  within	  walking	  
distance	  of	  neighborhoods	  and	  business	  areas	  and	  designed	  to	  be	  compatible	  with	  surrounding	  land	  uses	  and	  
intensity	  and	  the	  context	  and	  character	  of	  neighborhoods	  and	  business	  areas.	  Good	  multimodal	  connections	  to	  
and	  from	  activity	  centers	  and	  accessibility	  for	  people	  of	  all	  ages	  and	  abilities	  will	  be	  encouraged.	  	  
	  
2.21	  Commitment	  to	  a	  Walkable	  and	  Accessible	  City	  The	  city	  and	  county	  will	  promote	  the	  development	  of	  a	  
walkable	  and	  accessible	  city	  by	  designing	  neighborhoods	  and	  business	  areas	  to	  provide	  easy	  and	  safe	  access	  by	  
foot	  to	  places	  such	  as	  neighborhood	  centers,	  community	  facilities,	  transit	  stops	  or	  centers,	  and	  shared	  public	  
spaces	  and	  amenities.	  The	  city	  will	  consider	  additional	  neighborhood-‐serving	  commercial	  areas	  where	  appropriate	  
and	  supported	  by	  the	  neighbors	  they	  would	  serve.	  	  

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 128Packet Page 322



Brad R. Curl
brcurl@j-rlaw.com

August 26, 2015

{00322942 / 1 }

Via E-mail (boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov)
Mr. Aaron Brockett, Chair
Mr. Leonard May
Mr. John Putnam
Mr. John Gerstle
Ms. Crystal Gray
Ms. Elizabeth Payton
Mr. Bryan Bowen

Re: Application for Rezone (the “Rezoning Application”) regarding 385 Broadway (the 
“Property”)

Dear Planning Board Members:

My office is assisting 385 Broadway LLC (the “Owner”) in connection with its ownership of 
the above-referenced Property.  In that regard, we are in receipt of staff’s memorandum concerning 
the above-referenced Rezoning Application.  This letter expresses support for staff’s 
recommendation of approval of the Rezoning Application, and in connection therewith, provides 
information that may be helpful in connection with your discussions regarding the same at the 
Board’s August 27th hearing.

I. NATURE OF REZONING APPLICATION.

As an initial matter, and as staff has confirmed, the scope of the Rezoning Application
extends simply to rezoning the Property to be consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive 
Plan (the “Comp Plan”).  There are no applications or permits pending with respect to any sort of 
development of the Property in particular.  

Previously, and in connection with investigating possible redevelopment scenarios, Owner’s 
pre-application submittal solicited input from staff concerning the potential development of attached 
housing on the Property.  As the Board is aware, the pre-application process allows property owners 
the opportunity to gather information regarding potential scenarios so that those owners can make an 
informed decision regarding whether they would actually like to proceed with a formal application.  
Of course, for a variety of reasons, many owners decide to abandon the ideas discussed during the 
pre-application process.  In this particular case, Owner continues to evaluate its options and has not 
yet determined whether or how it would like to proceed.  As a result, it has not submitted a formal 
application.

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 129Packet Page 323



City of Boulder Planning Board
August 26, 2015
Page 2

{00322942 / 1 }

Therefore, although we certainly understand the legitimate interest expressed by neighbors 
regarding the future development of this Property, Owner simply does not know what that is going to 
look like at this point.  For now, Owner is merely seeking to rezone the Property so that it is
consistent with the Comp Plan Land Use Map (the “Map”) designation.

II. THE REZONING APPLICATION SIMPLY CONTINUES THE PROCESS BEGUN IN 2008.

A. Prior Recommendation of BT-2 Zoning.  As the Board is aware, in 2008, the City 
amended the Map to designate the vast majority of the Property as “Transitional Business,” with a 
25’ buffer of a “Low Density Residential” designation remaining along the western and northern 
edges of the Property.  As the parties involved in that process at the time can confirm, the City 
undertook extensive neighborhood outreach in connection with the Map revision and actually 
implemented the buffer at the request of the neighbors and to address their concerns. 

As a result of the City’s efforts, twenty-seven of the neighbors penned a letter to the City 
stating, in part:

[w]e are agreeable to the proposed [Map] change from Low Density Residential to 
Transitional Business for the bulk of the [P]roperty, leaving the Low Density 
Residential designation on a 25-foot buffer on the west and north sides of the 
[Property], as recommended by Staff.

We understand that this change to the [Map] will allow the property owner(s) of 385 
Broadway to request zoning change to either BT-1 or BT-2.  We favor the BT-2
zoning because it has an FAR limit (emphasis added). 

Most, if not all, of the concerns that the neighbors have recently expressed to staff are related 
to a specific potential development of the Property that may not even occur, and in any event, is not
the subject of the Rezoning Application or any other pending application.  At this point in the 
process, Owner is simply seeking to rezone the Property consistent with the neighbors’ prior 
recommendation.  That rezoning is the sole issue currently before the Board.

B. The Proposed Rezoning is required by the Comp Plan and Boulder Revised Code 
(the “Code”).

Rezonings are governed by Section 9-2-18 of the Code.  As set forth in staff’s memo, the 
Rezoning Application satisfies the requirements of the Code.  In particular, the proposed rezoning is 
necessary to come into compliance with the Map.  Specifically, as noted above, in 2008, a large 
portion of the Property was designated on the Map as “Transitional Business.”  As staff has correctly 
pointed out, the only two zone districts consistent with that land use designation are BT-1 and BT-2.  
The neighbors have recommended, and Owner is pursuing, a rezone of the Property to BT-2 to bring 
it into compliance with the Map.

The proposed rezone is also otherwise consistent with the policies and goals of the Comp 
Plan.  For example, see the enclosed memorandum from Owner’s architect detailing various Comp 
Plan policies and goals specifically addressed by the Rezoning Application.  In addition, pursuant to 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 130Packet Page 324



City of Boulder Planning Board
August 26, 2015
Page 3

{00322942 / 1 }

its terms, the policies and goals of the Map include defining the “desired land use pattern for the 
Boulder Valley” and “desired future uses in the Boulder Valley.”  Comp Plan, Introduction.  
Approval of the Rezoning Application would implement those desires and goals as is required by 
Section 9-1-1(f) of the Code (supporting and implementing the goals of the Comp Plan is one of the 
purposes that the Code is intended to accomplish).

*     *     *     *     *     *     *     *

Owner appreciates staff’s work with respect to the Rezoning Application.  Owner has taken a 
careful look at the potential redevelopment of this Property, which has included participating with 
staff in the pre-application and Rezoning Application process, along with meetings related thereto.  

Owner further understands and appreciates the concerns raised by neighbors.  Owner 
continues to evaluate its options and looks forward to receiving staff’s input and working with the 
neighbors if and when this matter progress to the point of an actual development proposal.

Thank you for your consideration of the Rezoning Application.

Very truly yours,

Brad R. Curl

Enclosure.

cc: Ms. Elaine McLaughlin (via e-mail)
Ms. Susan Richstone (via e-mail)
Mr. David Driskell (via e-mail)
Mr. Charles Ferro (via e-mail)

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 131Packet Page 325



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 132Packet Page 326



August 19, 2015 

Attn:  Boulder Planning Board, Staff and City Council 
Re: Rezoning of property at 385 Broadway should be DENIED 

LUR2015-00047 

The Property Owners on the 2200 block of Bluebell Avenue have huge, LONG-TERM investments in their 
residences, as opposed to a probable, short- term, in-and-out developer at the 385 Broadway site.  
There are no business sites from Broadway West to Chautauqua or from Baseline South to Green 
Mountain Cemetery and beyond. 

Many of us are long time Citizens of Boulder who have worked together to keep our neighborhood 

beautiful and desirable, at our own expense. 

The subject property should not be granted a zoning change for any reason, Spot Zoning being one. 

I respectfully request that the Board support its long time Citizens and neighborhoods by keeping the 

original RL1 zoning of the 385 Broadway property.  

SALLY C. HOLLOWAY 

2222 BLUEBELL AVENUE 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 133Packet Page 327



From: Mho Salim

To: boulderplanningboard

Cc: Mho Salim

Subject: Objection rezoning property at 385 broadway

Date: Wednesday, August 19, 2015 4:57:06 PM

Attachments: 385 Broadway rezoning objection.pdf

Hello, Attached please find my letter indicating strong objection to rezoning the property at 385 
Broadway. Please find my phone number and address below should you need to contact me.

Best regards
Mho Salim
2211 Bluebell Ave
Boulder, CO 80302 
303 449 3365

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 134Packet Page 328

mailto:mho@corybant.com
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:mho@corybant.com


Date%:%August%19,%2015%
To:%City%of%Boulder%City%council,%Planning%Board%and%Staff%%
Subject:%Rezoning%&%Site%Review%Process%F%LUR2015F00047%(385%Broadway%Ave.)%
Executive%Summary:%Opposing%the%proposal%to%rezone%property%at%385%Broadway%

My%wife%and%I%have%lived%at%2211%Bluebell%Avenue%since%1981%when%we%moved%to%
Boulder%to%raise%our%two%children.%Our%property%is%on%the%north%side%and%close%to%the%
west%end%of%the%22nd%block%of%Bluebell.%%

I%am%writing%this%letter%along%with%and%on%behalf%of%our%neighbors%who%unanimously%
and%strongly%oppose%rezoning%the%property%at%385%Broadway%from%RL1%to%TB2%
without%considering%its%intended%use%and%access.%%

My%purpose%in%writing%this%letter%is%to%bring%to%your%attention%that%certain%uses%of%
this%property,%although%within%the%guidelines%of%TB2%zoning%classification,%will%have%
disastrous%consequences%for%the%neighborhood.%%

NIST%has%stated%that%it%will%not%allow%continued%access%to%this%property%under%the%
new%zoning%classification.%It%appears%that%attorneys%for%the%new%owner%of%the%
property%have%used%a%procedural%loophole%to%put%a%request%to%rezone%this%property%
on%the%agenda%without%specifying%its%intended%use,%and%more%specifically,%without%
telling%the%City%how%the%property%will%be%accessed.%%

In%addition%to%exposing%our%neighborhood%and%the%City%to%disastrous%consequences,%
accepting%this%request%without%knowing%what%they%plan%to%do%with%the%property%and%
how%they%plan%to%access%the%property%is%contrary%to%your%responsibility%to%protect%
and%enhance%the%interest%of%the%community%and%the%city.%%

I%am%requesting%that%you%deny%this%rezoning%request.%The%owner%must%work%with%the%
neighborhood%and%the%City%to%find%agreeable%options%and%if%there%is%a%need%for%
rezoning,%the%City%can%decide,%with%all%facts%on%the%table,%if%it%is%appropriate.%

Respectfully%

%

Mho%Salim%
August%19,%2015%

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 135Packet Page 329



August 18, 2015 

To: Boulder Planning Board 
Re: LUR2015-00047, Zoning Change request for 385 Broadway 
From: Shirley Keller, 2240 Bluebell Ave, Boulder, CO 

My husband was one of the original occupants of the Medical/Dental building at 385 Broadway where 

he practiced dentistry from 1957 until he retired in 1987.  We built our house, just five lots west of my 

husband’s office in 1964; our house on Bluebell Avenue has been our family home for the last fifty years. 

The site on which 385 Broadway was built has been zoned residential low density since it platting.  A 

variance was granted which allowed the construction of this non-conforming one story medical dental 

building.  Over the years additional variances were granted for the expansion of the building.  The 

medical/dental use has been long accepted by the neighborhood as it developed to the west and north.   

It has had adequate parking, continuous access off of Broadway and a buffer of dense growth that has 

protected the neighborhood from noise and light pollution.  In addition it has been a welcome source of 

medical and dental services for the extended area, accessible by foot traffic, bicycle and public 

transportation.  In the way this building has served the community, it has been an asset and a good fit 

not only for the immediate area but for all of this part of Boulder.  

 In 2008 Mr. Tenenbaum requested the land use designation be changed from Low Residential to 

Transitional Business because, “Office and medical usage have been the historical use of this property 

since 1956.  It is an extremely busy and important center serving the Boulder community.”  He further 

stated, “. . . it seems unlikely that it would ever be desirable for residential use, and will better serve the 

people of Boulder by insuring that it remains in its current capacity.”   (Planning Board Agenda, February 

21, 2008, Agenda Item#5A Page#C-17).  We believed Mr. Tenenbaum when he said he only wanted to 

improve the building. 

Now a new owner is requesting a zoning change to Business Transitional 2.  It is difficult to imagine that 

any one of the 32 uses listed as “by-right” possibilities under BT2 would meet the same criteria or be in 

any way complementary to this area.  Neither I nor any of my neighbors have any interest in a zoning 

change that would allow any of the possible uses to be established at the Broadway end of our street.   

We have no assurance which of these uses would be considered but the history of the real-estate 

investor who purchased the property suggests that he specializes in student housing. 

This request for rezoning 385 Broadway from RL1 to BT2 is unacceptable to me and I strongly urge that 

the request be denied. 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 136Packet Page 330



From: Beret Strong

To: boulderplanningboard

Subject: AGAINST rezoning of 385 Broadway

Date: Thursday, August 27, 2015 11:14:17 AM

Dear Planning Board Members,

As a Lower Chautauqua / Floral Park resident and alumna of CU-Boulder, I respectfully request that
you do NOT grant  the rezoning petition for 385 Broadway.  Ours is a historic neighborhood and this
incursion of multi-unit housing and significant accompanying demand for parking places – not to
mention additional traffic – is a very bad idea.  It is a bad idea whether or not NIST allows an
easement for future residents to use its frontage road to access the property.  Once done, it can’t
be undone. 

I note that the architect’s proposal cites 16 4-bedroom units.  Yet, the site is quite small.  How does
that work?  And is the city really going to enforce the law about no more than 3 “unrelated adults”
living in a single residential unit?  If so, what’s the enforcement plan? 

Furthermore, the architect’s proposal includes several drawings, but omits the most important one
– where the 2 proposed buildings are to be placed on the small lot and what the site would really
look like if it were built as proposed.   It’s not helpful to the community evaluating the proposal to
get a lot of verbiage but no actual drawing to scale.   Where would the parking be?  Where would
the headlights of the residents’ vehicles shine as they drove in and out in the middle of the night?
What about noise impact?

Please preserve one of the few quiet, historic neighborhoods left in our city.  I welcome
communication on this subject.

Thank you for the work that you do. 

Sincerely,

Beret E. Strong
1505 Mariposa Ave.
Boulder, CO  80302
Tel: 303-440-5499

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 137Packet Page 331

mailto:berets@earthlink.net
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov


From: orentaft@comcast.net

To: boulderplanningboard

Subject: Proposed zoning change to 385 Broadway, Boulder, CO

Date: Monday, August 17, 2015 8:23:29 AM

8/17/15
RE: Rezoning & Site Review Processes - LUR2015-00047 (385 Broadway Ave.)

Dear City of Boulder, Staff, Planning Board and City Council

We are Oren and Helen Taft, 485 Sunnyside Lane, Boulder, CO. We are 50 year residents of
Boulder and have lived at this address since 1991.  Due to the proximity of our residence and
385 Broadway, we received a notice from the city of the proposed zoning change to the
above subject property.  We thank you for this notification and for our chance to respond to
this proposal.  We are NOT in favor of this re-zoning proposal.

Our main concern is a potential increase in vehicle traffic and parking congestion in our
neighborhood.  If zoning is changed from RL-1 to BT-1 or 2, a “By-Right” development
would result, increasing the density of the subject site, beyond its’ carrying capacity. None of
the long list of BT-1 or 2, by-right development options fit with the current neighborhood.
(Please see: Boulder Comprehensive Plan, Para. 2.10) 
 Our residence sits on a corner lot and Mariposa fronts our house. While lower Mariposa is a
permitted parking block, we already have many transient, non-permitted vehicles parking
here.  Permit monitoring seems spotty at best and an increase in out of area parked cars will
only compound this problem. 

 385 Broadway is a small site and should zoning increase the density the natural alternative
will be an increase in neighborhood parking on lower Columbine, Mariposa and Bluebell.
Among other potentials, Baseline Ave. would experience a negative impact into our
neighborhood.  The current weekday mass exodus from upper Baseline slows the normal
flow of traffic.  When the Broadway light stops eastbound Baseline traffic, vehicles moving
west from Broadway, must sometimes bypass 22nd and drive to the light on 20th to be able to
turn left and into the neighborhood.  A resultant increase in this neighborhood traffic
attempting to turn left onto 22nd, will most certainly cause a back-up past a busy fire station
and even onto the Baseline/Broadway intersection. 

We do not wish to dwell on the traffic that already exists in front of our address, but want to
offer a short review.  Having been subject to the Skunk Creek Underpass Project, without
much recourse, we now live amid a virtual sea of human transportation.  We’ve lost our street
in front of our house (Sunnyside Lane) yet through the kindness of the postmaster we were
able to keep our address.  Sunnyside Lane was a buffer from Broadway and we experienced
little pedestrian traffic. We lost another buffer when 3 of our mature trees died due to project
digging in front of our property.  The city did plant evergreens outside of our property, in
front of the tunnel, but that has only led to homeless people dragging items over from the
Goodwill Store boxes, to use behind the evergreens as sleeping mats.  This is all against our
front yard fence and we constantly are placing these items in our trash cans.  We often
contact the police to shepherd these campers along their way.  Most annoying as a result of
the underpass, the Broadway roadbed was raised above our fence level and now focuses a
higher decibel vehicle noise across our property and into our home. 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 138Packet Page 332

mailto:orentaft@comcast.net
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov


We had little chance of changing the outcome of the Skunk Creek Underpass project and its
impact to our home.  We hope this letter will help Staff, Planning Board and City Council
decide to maintain the current zoning at 385 Broadway Avenue.
By keeping 385 Broadway currently zoned RL-1, (low density residential), the future of our
neighborhood will remain mostly as it exists today and should any changes be contemplated
down this road, the by-right development list is shorter and much more acceptable. For other
proposed uses, the review process will still be an option, one that does not exist if zoning is
changed to BT-1 or 2.  

Respectfully Submitted

Oren and Helen Taft
485 Sunnyside Lane
Boulder, CO 80302

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 139Packet Page 333



To:   Boulder Planning Board 

Re:        LUR2015-00047 

Location:  385 Broadway 

Description:  Proposal to rezone from RL-1 to BT-1 

From:  Tom Van Zandt and Natalie Hedberg 
2255 Bluebell Avenue, 
Boulder 80302 
303-499-6395 

Date:  Aug. 18, 2015 

The only reason the proponents give for rezoning from RL-1 to BT-2 is to make the City 
zoning agree with the BVCP.   But there isn't any requirement, in either the City Zoning 
regs or the BVCP, that the City zoning and BVCP uses agree in detail.  The BVCP is 
advisory to the City, not regulatory.     

We are very concerned that BT-2 zoning allows much more intensive uses that are not 
compatible with the neighborhood (but greatly increases the value of the property for the 
applicant!).   Some of the allowed uses are: Fraternities, Sororities, Dormitories, 
Boarding houses, Town houses, and Congregate care facilities.  Such uses are in direct 
contradiction to BVCP Neighborhoods policies. 

For example, BVCP Policy 2.10, Preservation and Support for Neighborhoods, says 
"the city will work with neighborhoods to protect and enhance neighborhood character 
and livability".   These allowed, by right, uses would certainly degrade the livability of the 
2200 block of Bluebell Avenue as well as the larger neighborhood to the west and 
north.  Imagine the intrusion of a fraternity or student housing on this quiet residential 
neighborhood!  Nighttime uses are particularly objectionable.  Note that next to 385 
Broadway there are eight children up to the age of 11 in the residences at 2280, 2285, 
2290 Bluebell, and 415 Sunnyside Lane.   

Also, BVCP Policy 2.15, Compatibility of Adjacent Land Uses, requires that adjacent 
widely varying uses be separated by "interface zones, transitional areas … and 
cascading gradients of densities," and "the transitional area should be within the zone of 
more intense use".  It's obvious that a one-acre property is much too small to include an 
effective transitional area especially when you consider that the parcel less the 25-foot 
buffers on the north and west sides leave only 0.8 of an acre for development.  Such a 
buffer would do nothing to minimize noise and light pollution.     

The foregoing paragraphs present clear and convincing evidence that the proposed 
rezoning is NOT consistent with either the policies or goals of the BVCP or with  
BRC 9-2-18(a).  For this reason we strongly oppose the proposed zoning change. 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 140Packet Page 334



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 141Packet Page 335



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 142Packet Page 336



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 5A     Page 143Packet Page 337



Attachment D - Applicant's Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 144Packet Page 338



Attachment D - Applicant's Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 145Packet Page 339



Attachment D - Applicant's Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 146Packet Page 340



Attachment D - Applicant's Written Statement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 147Packet Page 341



Attachment E - NIST Access Easement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 148Packet Page 342



Attachment E - NIST Access Easement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 149Packet Page 343



Attachment E - NIST Access Easement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 150Packet Page 344



Attachment E - NIST Access Easement

Agenda Item 5A     Page 151Packet Page 345



Attachment F - Planning Board's Findings of Fact for Denial

Agenda Item 5A     Page 152Packet Page 346



Attachment F - Planning Board's Findings of Fact for Denial

Agenda Item 5A     Page 153Packet Page 347



Attachment F - Planning Board's Findings of Fact for Denial

Agenda Item 5A     Page 154Packet Page 348



Attachment F - Planning Board's Findings of Fact for Denial

Agenda Item 5A     Page 155Packet Page 349



Attachment F - Planning Board's Findings of Fact for Denial

Agenda Item 5A     Page 156Packet Page 350



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: December 1, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE 
Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8095 amending 
subsection 9-12-2(b), “Prohibition of Sale Before Plan Approval,” B.R.C. 1981 to allow the 
owner of the property at 2180 Violet Ave. to sell a portion of the unplatted parcel to Habitat for 
Humanity of Boulder Valley, Inc. for the purposes of developing affordable housing. 

Applicant: Habitat for Humanity of Boulder Valley, Inc. 
Owner:  2145 Upland LLC 

PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Bob Eichem, Finance Director /Acting Executive Director of Administrative Services 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Planning, Housing & Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Planning, Housing & Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
Sloane Walbert, Planner I 
Beth Roberts,  Housing Planner  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The City Council is asked to consider on second reading an ordinance to amend subsection 9-12-
2(b), B.R.C. 1981, which prohibits the sale of any parcel of land that has not been subdivided in 
accordance with the city’s subdivision regulations. The ordinance will enable the property owner 
(2145 Upland LLC) to sell a portion of the property located at 2180 Violet Ave. to Habitat for 
Humanity of Boulder Valley, Inc. before January 1, 2016. Per Habitat for Humanity’s attached 
written statement (Attachment C), if they do not own the property by that time, they will lose 
eligibility for Community Development Block Grant Disaster Recovery (CDBG-DR) grants for 
the planned low-income housing development on the property. The proposed ordinance can be 
found in Attachment B.  

While this request only involves the allowance to sell a portion of property prior to subdivision 
in order to meet a federal funding deadline, a subsequent Concept Plan, Site Review, subdivision 
review with Preliminary and Final Plats and an Annexation Agreement Amendment (approved 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 1Packet Page 351



by City Council at a public hearing) would be required in order to develop the property as 
proposed by Habitat for Humanity. The result of the proposed ordinance would only allow for a 
fee simple portion of the property at 2180 Violet to be sold in order to meet a federal funding 
deadline. 

On November 17, 2015, City Council approved first reading of the draft ordinance and asked for 
the following information. 

First reading questions: 
1. Please provide a graphic of the connections for the overall Crestview East

neighborhood required by the North Boulder Subcommunity Plan. 

A map of the subject area showing the connections required by the North Boulder 
Subcommunity Right-of-Way and Bike/Ped Improvements Plan is included as Attachment 
H.  (The various annexation agreements in Attachments D, E, F, & I also include maps of 
the various connections required by the North Boulder Subcommunity plan on the subject 
properties). 

2. Please explain how the infrastructure in the Crestview East neighborhood will be
installed over time.

The properties located at 2180 Violet Ave., 2145 Upland Ave. and 1917 Upland Ave.
annexed about 10 years prior to the larger Crestview East neighborhood annexation. The
annexation agreements for these properties were structured so that the installation of
infrastructure is required at time of redevelopment to serve the individual properties only.
Refer to Attachments D, E and F for the annexation agreements.  In contrast, the
requirement to install infrastructure for properties within the larger Crestview East
neighborhood annexation is triggered when the first lot included in the annexation redevelops
(refer to Attachment I).  Reimbursement of a “fair share” of the infrastructure would then
occur over time from other redeveloping property owners. Figure 1 below shows the subject
properties in relation to the properties included in the Crestview East neighborhood
annexation. Note that areas outlined in red were annexed simultaneously in 1997 and areas
outlined in blue were annexed simultaneously in 2009.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 2Packet Page 352



Figure 1: Subject Properties (red) and Crestview East Annexation (blue) 

Based on all of the annexation agreements within the neighborhood, property owners may 
petition the city to establish a Local Improvement District (LID) per Section 8-1-1, B.R.C. 
1981 of the city’s code. The purpose of the district is to provide a financing option (rather 
than requiring one property owner to “front” the installation of infrastructure and be 
reimbursed by subsequent property owners over time) offered by the city for the installation 
of required infrastructure. To date no action has been taken to create a district. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Suggested Motion Language: 

Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8095 amending subsection 9-12-2(b), B.R.C. 1981 to 
allow the owner of the property at 2180 Violet Ave. to sell a portion of the unplatted 
parcel to Flatirons Habitat for Humanity Community Housing Development, Inc. for the 
purposes of developing affordable housing. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
• Economic – This project will provide up to 15 new units of workforce housing serving

to support competitive and quality businesses. Development of the housing will also 
create construction jobs. 

• Environmental – Potential environmental impacts will be evaluated through the
development review process.

• Social – This project is anticipated to provide up to 15 units of permanently affordable,
family-friendly for-sale homes. Note that per the written statement Habitat for
Humanity intends to ask for additional density beyond the underlying zoning through
an annexation amendment to allow 17 units of permanently affordable units
(Attachment C).

Agenda Item 5B     Page 3Packet Page 353

https://www.municode.com/library/co/boulder/codes/municipal_code?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22Local%20Improvement%20District%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:fa


OTHER IMPACTS 
• Fiscal – No impact.

• Staff time – The request was not processed through the provisions of a standard
subdivision application process and was processed outside of normal staff work plans.

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
Notification was sent to the Planning Board on November 23, 2015 in conformance with 
Section 79 of the Boulder City Charter.  

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
The request was processed outside of the provisions of the standard subdivision process. 
However, the proposal has been noticed to the public in accordance with the requirements 
found in section 9-4-3, “Public Notice Requirements,” B.R.C. 1981 have. Public notice of this 
proposal was sent to property owners within 600 feet of the property at 2180 Violet Ave. on 
November 4, 2015. A posting sign was also placed on the property.  

BACKGROUND 
The subject property is located at 2180 Violet Ave. at the southwest corner of 22nd Street and 
Violet Avenue (refer to Figure 2 below). The property was annexed into the city in 1997 and is 
subject to the requirements of the attached annexation agreement (Attachment D). As part of 
annexation, the northern portion of the property was assigned a zoning designation of 
Residential - Medium 2 (RM-2) (previously referred to as Medium Density Residential – 
Established (MR-E)) and the southern portion of the property was zoned Residential - Low 1 
(RL-1) (previously Low Density Residential – Established (LR-E)). Refer to Figure 3 on the 
following page. The zoning districts that were assigned to the area in the mid 1990’s are 
consistent with planned land uses in the North Boulder Subcommunity Plan. 

The annexation agreement contains very specific affordable housing requirements for the 
property including size-restricted units affordable to the first purchaser of the unit. This means 
that subsequent sales of each property would allow the affordability restrictions to be 
terminated over time. (As a note, the Restricted Unit Housing Program did not meet the city’s 
affordable housing goals and was discontinued in 2002.) In addition to the required restricted 
units, the agreement requires the applicant to provide eight permanently affordable units, 
affordable in perpetuity, to households earning between 60% and 120% of the area median 
income (AMI), with an average income of 90% of AMI.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 4Packet Page 354



The owner also annexed two other properties simultaneously in 1997, located at 2145 Upland 
Ave. and 1917 Upland Ave., each of which has an annexation agreement including restricted 
units provisions. The 2145 Upland Ave. agreement’s affordable housing requirement is based 
on the development potential of the property resulting in either one permanently affordable unit 
for households earning up to 90% of AMI or one size restricted unit initially affordable to 
households earning up 110% of AMI. The 1917 Upland Ave. agreement requires two units that 
are permanently affordable to households earning between 60% to 120% of the area median 

Figure 3: City Zoning Districts 

Figure 2: Vicinity Map 

2180 Violet Ave. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 5Packet Page 355



income (AMI), and one size-restricted unit initially affordable to households earning up 110% 
of AMI. Refer to Figure 4 for a vicinity map and Attachments E and F for the annexation 
agreements. 

Figure 4: Vicinity Map 
ANALYSIS 
As indicated in the attached written statement, it is the current property owner’s and Habitat for 
Humanity’s ultimate goal to amend the annexation agreements that affect the three properties 
to transfer all of the affordable housing provisions required by the respective annexation 
agreements to the property at 2180 Violet Ave., absolving the properties at 2145 Upland Ave. 
and 1917 Upland Ave. of any future affordable housing requirements or contributions.   

More specifically, under the current annexation agreement for 2180 Violet, the owner is 
required to provide eight permanently affordable units and five restricted units. With this 
proposal, Habitat will provide 15 permanently affordable for-sale units on the 2180 Violet 
property.1 Through the annexation agreement amendment, Habitat for Humanity intends to ask 
for additional density beyond the underlying zoning on the property to allow 17 units of 
permanently affordable units. Any proposed amendments to the annexation agreements will be 
considered by City Council at that time. 

The three annexation agreements require a total of 17 affordable units, 11 permanently 
affordable units affordable to households with incomes ranging from 60% to 120% of AMI and 
six restricted units that are only made affordable to the first purchaser; subsequent sales can be 
made to a market rate buyer and at market rate pricing as noted above. Habitat for Humanity’s 
mission is to provide permanently affordable housing to households earning up to 60% of 
AMI; in Boulder, the range of incomes for households purchasing homes through Habitat for 
Humanity is 40% - 60% of AMI. Allowing Habitat to provide the required affordable housing 

1 Note that the first reading memo referred to 14 units on the subject property. On further inspection, 15 units are 
possible on the property, based on RM-2 zoning. 

2180 Violet Ave. 

2145 Upland Ave. 

1917 Upland Ave. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 6Packet Page 356



results in a deeper and permanent level of affordable housing. Refer to Attachment G for an 
analysis of the current development potential on the subject properties and proposed affordable 
housing. 

Per Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan policy 1.24, applications for annexation are required 
to demonstrate a special opportunity or benefit to the city with emphasis given to the provision 
of permanently affordable housing. In 1997 when the three properties were annexed, the 
affordable housing provisions included in the respective annexation agreements were 
determined to provide such a benefit. However, staff finds that facilitating a proposal that 
would allow the exploration of a development plan that could result in 15 permanently 
affordable units represents a much greater permanent housing benefit than what was required 
in 1997. Community benefit would be fully explored in the context of subsequent review 
processes. The subject ordinance would only allow for Habitat for Humanity to secure the 
property and meet their funding deadline.    

Agenda Item 5B     Page 7Packet Page 357

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan-2010-1-201410091122.pdf


ATTACHMENTS  
A. Survey of Proposed Parcel (2180 Violet Ave.) 
B. Ordinance No. 8095 
C. Written Statement 
D. Annexation Agreement – 2180 Violet Ave. 
E. Annexation Agreement – 2145 Upland Ave. 
F. Annexation Agreement – 1917 Upland Ave. 
G. Estimated Development Potential 
H. North Boulder Subcommunity Right-of-Way and Bike/Ped Improvements Map 
I. Crestview East Neighborhood Annexation Agreement 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 8Packet Page 358



Attachment A - Survey of Proposed Parcel (2180 Violet Ave.)

Agenda Item 5B     Page 9Packet Page 359



Attachment A - Survey of Proposed Parcel (2180 Violet Ave.)

Agenda Item 5B     Page 10Packet Page 360



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE NO. 8095 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SUBSECTION 9-12-2(b), 
B.R.C. 1981, TO ALLOW THE OWNER OF THE PROPERTY 
GENERALLY LOCATED AT 2180 VIOLET AVENUE TO 
SELL A PORTION OF AN UNPLATTED, PROPOSED 
SUBDIVISION TO HABTITAT FOR HUMANITY OF THE 
BOULDER VALLEY, INC. UNDER CERTAIN CONDITIONS, 
AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO FINDS: 

A. 2145 Upland LLC, a Colorado limited liability company, is the owner  (the

“Owner”) of an approximately 1.2 acre parcel of land (the “Property”), a legal

description of the Property is attached hereto as Exhibit A, which constitutes the

northern portion of a larger parcel of land generally located at 2180 Violet

Avenue (the “Larger Parcel), a legal description of the Larger Parcel is attached

hereto as Exhibit B;

B. Habitat for Humanity of Boulder Valley, Inc., a Colorado nonprofit corporation,

intends to purchase the Property to build and maintain permanently affordable

housing;

C. Habitat for Humanity of Boulder Valley, Inc. must acquire ownership of the

Property prior to January 1, 2016 to be eligible for CDBG-DR grants for the

planned low-income housing development on the Property.

D. The Property has not yet been subdivided from the Larger Parcel;

E. The subdivision process will require several months to be completed; and

F. Subsection 9-12-2(b), B.R.C 1981, prohibits, among other things, the sale of any

portion of a proposed subdivision until a plat thereof has been recorded.

Attachment B - Ordinance No. 8095

Agenda Item 5B     Page 11Packet Page 361



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Subsection 9-12-2(b), B.R.C. 1981, is hereby amended to allow the Owner to 

sell the Property to Habitat for Humanity of Boulder Valley, Inc. prior to the recording of a plat 

of a subdivision creating a separate lot for the Property, provided, however, that (1) the Property 

is not resold, nor is construction commenced thereon, prior to the time of a plat of the 

subdivision creating a lot for the Property and consistent with the requirements of Chapter 9-12, 

Subdivision, B.R.C. 1981, has been recorded, and (2) a concept plan review and site review 

approval shall be completed for the Larger Parcel prior to application for said subdivision 

consistent with the requirements of Subsection 9-2-14(b), B.R.C. 1981, as those requirements 

would apply in the absence of this ordinance and a sale of the Property prior to recording of a 

plat. 

Section 2. This ordinance shall be considered an amendment to Chapter 9-12, 

“Subdivision,” B.R.C. 1981.  To the extent that this ordinance conflicts with any other ordinance 

of the city, such ordinance shall be suspended for the limited purpose of implementing this 

ordinance.  Nothing in this ordinance shall be construed as a waiver of the City’s police power. 

Section 3.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, is consistent with the goals and policies of the Boulder Valley 

Comprehensive Plan, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 4.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

Attachment B - Ordinance No. 8095

Agenda Item 5B     Page 12Packet Page 362



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 17th day of November, 2015. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 1st day of December, 2015. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment B - Ordinance No. 8095

Agenda Item 5B     Page 13Packet Page 363



Attachment B - Ordinance No. 8095

Agenda Item 5B     Page 14Packet Page 364



Attachment B - Ordinance No. 8095

Agenda Item 5B     Page 15Packet Page 365



Attachment B - Ordinance No. 8095

EXHIBIT B

Agenda Item 5B     Page 16Packet Page 366



Attachment C - Written Statement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 17Packet Page 367



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement - 2180 Violet Ave

Agenda Item 5B     Page 18Packet Page 368



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement - 2180 Violet Ave

Agenda Item 5B     Page 19Packet Page 369



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement - 2180 Violet Ave

Agenda Item 5B     Page 20Packet Page 370



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement - 2180 Violet Ave

Agenda Item 5B     Page 21Packet Page 371



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement - 2180 Violet Ave

Agenda Item 5B     Page 22Packet Page 372



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement - 2180 Violet Ave

Agenda Item 5B     Page 23Packet Page 373



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement - 2180 Violet Ave

Agenda Item 5B     Page 24Packet Page 374



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement - 2180 Violet Ave

Agenda Item 5B     Page 25Packet Page 375



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement - 2180 Violet Ave

Agenda Item 5B     Page 26Packet Page 376



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement - 2180 Violet Ave 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 27Packet Page 377



Attachment E - Annexation Agreement - 2145 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 28Packet Page 378



Attachment E - Annexation Agreement - 2145 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 29Packet Page 379



Attachment E - Annexation Agreement - 2145 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 30Packet Page 380



Attachment E - Annexation Agreement - 2145 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 31Packet Page 381



Attachment E - Annexation Agreement - 2145 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 32Packet Page 382



Attachment E - Annexation Agreement - 2145 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 33Packet Page 383



Attachment E - Annexation Agreement - 2145 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 34Packet Page 384



Attachment E - Annexation Agreement - 2145 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 35Packet Page 385



Attachment E - Annexation Agreement - 2145 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 36Packet Page 386



Attachment F - Annexation Agreement - 1917 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 37Packet Page 387



Attachment F - Annexation Agreement - 1917 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 38Packet Page 388



Attachment F - Annexation Agreement - 1917 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 39Packet Page 389



Attachment F - Annexation Agreement - 1917 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 40Packet Page 390



Attachment F - Annexation Agreement - 1917 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 41Packet Page 391



Attachment F - Annexation Agreement - 1917 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 42Packet Page 392



Attachment F - Annexation Agreement - 1917 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 43Packet Page 393



Attachment F - Annexation Agreement - 1917 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 44Packet Page 394



Attachment F - Annexation Agreement - 1917 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 45Packet Page 395



ATTACHMENT G 

Estimated Development Potential on Subject Properties 

Address Zoning Approximate 
Area 

# Residential Units 
Permitted per Zoning 

Current Annexation Housing Requirements Proposed Affordable 
Housing 

Permanently Affordable Size Restricted* Permanently Affordable 

2180 Violet Ave. 22 8 15**

RM-2 53,764 sf 15 4

RL-1 49,118 sf 7 1

2145 Upland Ave. 3

RL-1 16,650 sf 2 1

RE 19,050 sf 1

1917 Upland Ave. 6 2

RL-1 37,228 sf 5 1

RE 21,450 sf 1

Total  31 11 6 15

* Size-restricted units are affordable to the first purchaser of the unit. Subsequent sales of each property would allow the affordability
restrictions to be terminated over time.

** Note that Habitat for Humanity intends to ask for additional density beyond the underlying zoning through an annexation amendment to
allow 17 units of permanently affordable units.

Attachment G - Estimated Development Potential

Agenda Item 5B     Page 46Packet Page 396



Attachment H - North Boulder Subcommunity Right-of-Way and Bike/Ped Improvements Map

Agenda Item 5B     Page 47Packet Page 397



1 of 39II II II III I IIII I VIII IIII IIII IIVIII III II O3049079
1212212009 1004 AM RF 19600 DF 000
Boulder County Clerk CO

ANNEXATION AGREEMENT

THIS ANNEXATION AGREEMENT made this day of y1V 2001
by and between the City of Boulder a Colorado home rule city City and the property owners

of 1937 Upland Ave 2005 Upland Ave 2010 Upland Ave 2075 Upland Ave 2090 Upland
Ave 2125 Upland Ave 2130 Upland Ave 2135 Upland Ave 2155 Upland Ave 2160 Upland
Ave 1938 Violet Ave 1960 Violet Ave 2066 Violet Ave and 2114 Violet Ave individually
referred to as Property Owner and collectively referred to as Applicant The City and the

Applicant are referred to as the Parties

RECITALS

WHEREAS the Parties recite the following facts related to the annexation of the

Property described in this Annexation Agreement under Exhibit A

A The Applicant is the owner of the real property described in the attached Exhibit A

Crestview East Addition No 1A Annexation Property A Property Owner owns an

individual property Property within the Crestview East Addition No 1 A Annexation Property
including 1937 Upland Ave 2005 Upland Ave 2010 Upland Ave 2075 Upland Ave 2090

1plard Ave 2125 Upland Ave 2130 Upland Ave 2135 Upland Ave 2155 Upland Ave 2160

Upland Ave 1938 Violet Ave 1960 Violet Ave 2066 Violet Ave and 2114 Violet Ave Each

address represents a separate Property and Property owner

B The Applicant is interested in obtaining approval from the City for annexation of
each PopL ty in order to provide adequate urban services to said area particularly City water

drainage and sewer utilities with initial zoning designations as follows

RM2 for the northern 140 feet and RL1 for the southern 140 feet of 1938 Violet Ave
1960 Violet Ave 2066 Violet Ave and 2114 Violet Ave
RL1 for the northern 140 feet and RE for southern 140 feet of 1937 Upland Ave 2005

Upland Ave 2075 Upland Ave 2125 Upland Ave 2135 Upland Ave 2155 Upland
Ave and

RE for 2010 Upland Ave 2090 Upland Ave 2130 Upland Ave and 2160 Upland
Ave

C Consistent with Policy 127 b of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan the City
finds it desirable to actively pursue annexation of county enclaves in order to provide adequate
urban services to the Crestview East Addition No 1 A Annexation Property and

D The City is interested in insuring that certain terms and conditions of annexation be

met by the Applicant in order to protect the public health safety and welfare and prevent the

OFFICIAL CENTRAL RECORDS COPY 1

200912015323

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 48Packet Page 398



placement of an unreasonable burden on the physical social economic or environmental

resources of the City

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the recitals promises and covenants herein set

forth and other good and valuable consideration herein receipted for the Parties agree as follows

COVENANTS

1 Definitions

Floor area means the total square footage of all levels measured to the outside surface

of the exterior framing or to the outside surface of the exterior walls if there is no

exterior framing of a building or portion thereof which includes stairways elevators the

portions of all exterior elevated above grade corridors balconies and walkways that are

required for primary or secondary egress by chapter 105 Building CodeBRC 1981
storage and mechanical rooms whether internal or external to the structure but excluding
an atrium on the interior of a building where no floor exists a courtyard the stairway
opening at the uppermost floor of a building and floor area that meets the definition of

uninhabitable space Basements below grade shall be exempt from floor area calculations

and garages up to 500 square feet shall be exempt from floor area calculations

Newly Constructed Unit means either a new dwelling unit constructed on a vacant

parcel or a redeveloped dwelling unit that is greater than3000 square feet of total floor

area for inclusionary zoning as defined by Section 916 Definitions BRC 1981

Redevelopment means the subdivision of a Property to create a new lot or the addition

of a dwelling unit to an existing lot

Redevelopment Improvements means the improvements which are fully described and

shown on Exhibits B C and D

2 Requirements Prior to First Reading of the Annexation Ordinance

a Thirty days prior to scheduling the first reading of the annexation ordinance each

Property Owner shall

i Provide title work current to within 30 days of signing the Annexation

Agreement

ii File an application and pay the applicable fees for inclusion of each Property
in the Boulder Municipal Subdistrict of the Northern Colorado Water

Conservancy District

2

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 49Packet Page 399



iii Pay the fees and convey the Property specified on Exhibit E Fees can be

paid at the time of first reading or at the time of redevelopment If a Property
Owner desires to defer payment of fees until the time of redevelopment the

property owner shall submit such request with this Agreement prior to first

reading of the annexation ordinance Rates will be based on the fees current

at the time of redevelopment

iv Provide a written description of anynonconforming use or structure existing
on each Property ifany

V Submit individual warranty deeds for each individual property owner

dedicating new right of way as required by Exhibit E

vi Submit legal descriptions in a form acceptable to the Director of Public

Works for any right of way to be vacated pursuant to this Agreement

b Regarding interests in the Silver Lake Reservoir and Ditch Company the

Applicant shall

i Prior to first reading of the annexation ordinance sell to the City at its fair

market value any and all water and ditch rights except for rights associated

with wells available for use on each Property including all shares in the

Silver Lake Reservoir and Ditch Company Applicant shall abandon and

transfer to the City all shares of the Silver Lake Reservoir and Ditch

Company associated with the Property at the price of2500 per share or

ii Execute an agreement to abide by the outcome of the pending negotiations
and mediation between the City and the Silver Lake Reservoir and Ditch

Company The Applicant shall then execute all documents required to be a

party to such an outcome within 30 days after a request by the City In the

event that the City declares an impasse in the negotiations and mediation if

the Applicant fails to join in the outcome of the negotiation and mediation
or at the Applicants discretion the Applicant shall sell said shares to the

City as provided above within 30 days of a request by the City

4 City Responsible for Construction of Water and Sewer Utilities on Upland and Violet and

Detached Sidewalk on the North Side of Upland Avenue The Applicant agrees that water

and sewer main improvements and the detached sidewalk on the north side of Upland
Avenue will provide a special benefit to the Property The City will initially fund
installation of the water and sewer mains Each Applicant is required to comply with the

following

a The Applicant agrees to

3

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 50Packet Page 400



i Pay when billed its proportionate share of the cost of such improvements
or

ii Enter into a repayment agreement with the City and pay its proportionate
share of the City utility improvements The repayment amount will be

based on each property frontage on the improvements and the actual

construction costs incurred by the City The repayment plan will require
ten 10 equal annual payments over a ten 10 year period at an annual

interest rate of Five and a half55 percent Payments will begin one

1 year after the date of connection to City water andor sewer Full

repayment of an individual landowners share of the costs shall occur

within thirty 30 days prior to the recording a final plat for subdivision or

sale of the Property
iii Accept and acknowledge that the existing Upland Avenue drainage

facilities and street sections are not and will not meet the rural residential

street standards in City of Boulder Design and Construction Standards

once the utility installation detached sidewalk construction and street

restoration are completed

b In the alternative to paragraph 4a above if the City determines that it is

appropriate to create a local improvement district for the purpose of assessing the

costs of the abovereferenced public improvements the Applicant agrees to join
in a petition to establish a local improvement district to construct such

improvements and not to dissent therefrom or oppose or remonstrate against the

establishment of such a district

5 Water and Sewer Connection Requirements Within 90 days of the installation of water

and sewer stubs by the City to each property the Applicant agrees to perform the following as is

applicable to each Property

a Connect all existing structures to the Citys water and sewer system as required
by the Boulder Revised Code

b Submit an application that meets the requirements of Chapters 111 Water

Utility and 112 Wastewater UtilityBRC 1981 and obtain City approval to

connect to the Citys water and sewer mains

C The Applicant is responsible for all costs and installation associated with the

connection of a service line from the utility mains to the building
d The property owners shall pay applicable fees and charges associated with a

service line connection to a water and sewer main including right of way water
and waste water fees for permits inspection fees installation fees tap fees and

all plant investment fees associated with the Property prior to connection to the

Citys water or sewer system The property owners shall be subject to the Water

and Wastewater Plant Investment Fees effective January 5 2009 for dwelling
units in existence at time of annexation if connection is made prior to December

31 2010

4

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 51Packet Page 401



e Notwithstanding the provisions of this section 2135 Upland Ave may defer

connection the city sanitary sewer utility until such time as the septic system fails

or when the property redevelops The Property owner of 2135 Upland agrees to

pay such connection plant investment fees and other fees at the rates in place at

the time of connection to the Citys waste water utility

6 Septic System Abandonment Upon connection to the Citys sewer system each Property
Owner shall abandon the existing septic system in accordance with Boulder County
Health Department and State of Colorado regulations

7 Floor Area Ratios The parties agree that nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as

any type of waiver of any regulations adopted or associated with the Cityspending study
regarding Compatible Development in Single Family Neighborhoods

8 Calculating Density

N Areas dedicated as rightofway by a Property Owner to serve as area for new

streets shared drainage ponds emergency or pedestrian connections may be

included in the overall lot size for the purposes of calculating density by such

Property Owner

b At the time of redevelopment the Property shall be developed and planned to

accommodate the maximum practical density that is consistent with the zoning
Subdivision of the Property may not reduce the density below that allowed by the

Propertys square footage

9 Dcsign Guidelines The Applicant agrees that the following design guidelines will be

aplhed to each Property

a Front doors and front yards shall face the street

b Garages shall be alley loaded where an alley exists or is proposed Where alleys do

not exist structures should be designed so that garage doors do not dominate the

frcnt facade of the building Garage doors shall be located no less than 20 feet

behind the principal plane of the building
C Properties located at 2105 2125 2155 Upland Ave may reduce the front yard

setback of the rear lots that front Vine St from 25 feet to 15 feet to accommodate

an offset in the Vine Street design If a straight road alignment is proposed for Vine

St subsequent to annexation but before building permits for structures are obtained
the required front yard setback shall meet the requirements of the zone district

10 Requirements Prior to Subdivision At the time of applying for the first subdivision of

each Property the individual property owner shall be eligible to pay the minor

subdivision application fee Any group subdivision application involving more than one

property thereafter shall pay the fee prescribed in the Boulder Revised Code for the

application type

5

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 52Packet Page 402



II Requirements Prior to Redevelopment for 1937 2005 2075 2125 2135 and 2155 Upland

Ave Each Property generally described as 1937 2005 2075 2125 2135 and 2155

Upland Ave has specific requirements that will need to be satisfied prior to redevelopment
as shown on Exhibit B

12 Requirements Prior to Redevelopment for RL portion of 1938 1960 2066 and 2114

Violet Ave Subdivision Requirements Each Property generally described as 1938 1960
2066 and 2114 Violet Ave has specific requirements that will need to be satisfied prior to

redevelopment as shown on Exhibit B

Upon subdivision a Property Owner may develop two units accessed directly from Vine

Street without constructing the alley or North 20 Street as required by the

redevelopment requirements shown in Exhibit C In the event a Local Improvement
District is formed and the alley is installed prior to construction access is to be taken

from the alley

13 Requirements Prior to Redevelopment for RM portion of 1938 1960 2066 and 2114

Violet Ave Subdivision Requirements Each Property generally described as 1938 1960
2066 and 2114 Violet Ave has specific requirements that will need to be satisfied prior to

redevelopment as shown on Exhibits B and C

14 Requirements Prior to Redevelopment for 2010 2090 2130 and 2160 Upland Ave Each

Property generally described as 2010 2090 2130 and 2160 Upland Ave has specific
requirements that will need to be satisfied prior to redevelopment as shown on Exhibit D

15 ExistingNonconforming Uses Existing legalnonconforming uses will be allowed to

continue to be operated in the City of Boulder as legal nonconforming uses and to be

modified and expanded under the provisions of Chapter910NonConformance

Standards BRC 1981 as that section may be amended from time to time The only
nonconforming uses that will be recognized by the City will be those reported to the City
pursuant to Paragraph 2 of this Annexation Agreement

16 Rental Property Requirements Any Property that is used as rental property at the time of

annexation shall be brought into compliance with Chapter 103 Rental LicensesBRC

1981 within 90 days ofthe effective date of the annexation ordinance

17 Existing Wells The City agrees that it will not prohibit Property Owners from using
existing wells for irrigation purposes Under no circumstances may existing wells be used

for domestic water purposes No person shall make any cross connections to the Citys
municipal water supply system

6

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 53Packet Page 403



18 Lease of Ditch Shares The Property Owners selling abandoning or transferring ditch

rights pursuant to Paragraph2bi may lease these ditch rights from the City on an

annual basis subject to the following terms

a Property Owner shall notify the City by April 1 st of each year of its desire to lease

the water for the upcoming year

b The determination regarding availability of the water for lease shall be solely in

the Citys discretion and may be communicated to the Property Owner by April
15th of any year in which the City has been properly notified of a desire to lease

water

C The cost of the lease shall be equal to the ditch company annual assessment plus
10 plus any special assessments or fees of any kind of the ditch company

assessed by the ditch company during the tern of the water lease

d No future leasing of the water to the Property Owner will occur following any

year in which the lease option is not exercised or following the closure of the

lateral

e No leasing of the water to the Property Owner will occur following subdivision or

redevelopment of the property subject to the lease

19 Ditch Lateral Property Owners shall not relocate modify or alter the ditch or lateral

vithout obtaining any necessary approvals from ditch companies or lateral users or through
judicial approval

20 1ennanently Affordable Housing The Applicant agrees that the following requirements
shall apply to the Property and that no additional dwelling units shall be approved for any
individual parcel unless the following requirements have been met

a Required Documents and Payments Prior to the application of a building permit
for any newly constructed dwelling unit on the Property the applicant shall

provide the following to the city manager

i Covenants or deed restrictions in a form acceptable to the city manager to

secure the permanent affordability of dwelling units shall be signed and

recorded with the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder prior to application for

any residential building permit
ii Any applicable cashinlieu of permanently affordable housing payments The

city manager may delay such payments to a time prior to the issuance of such

building pennit

7

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 54Packet Page 404



b Properties with RM Zoning RM portions of each property generally described as

1938 1960 2066 and 2114 Violet Ave shall provide 50 of the total newly
constructed dwelling units as permanently affordable No permanently affordable

units shall be accepted until the location size type fixtures finish and other

features are approved by the city manager The distribution of unit types for the

permanently affordable units shall reflect the distribution of the market rate unit

types The city manager is permitted at the managers sole discretion to accept
alternate distributions and locations of permanently affordable units if such

alternatives result in additional pennanently affordable housing benefits to the

City The following conditions shall apply

i At least twentyfive percent 25 of any newly constructed dwelling units on

the Property shall be permanently affordable consistent with Chapter913

Inclusionary ZoningBRC 1981 If a fraction results from multiplying
twentyfive percent 25 times the total number of permitted new dwelling
units on the Property the total number of such permanently affordable units

shall be rounded up to the nearest whole number

ii At least twentyfive percent 25 of any newly constructed dwelling units on

the Property shall be permanently affordable to middle income households

consistent with the following

A Detached single family units shall be permanently affordable to

households earning between the Department of Housing and Urban

DevelopmentsHUD Low Income Limit for the City of Boulder and

40 more than the HUD Low Income Limit for and shall be distributed

such that the average price of the single family detached units is based

upon a household income that is 30 more than the HUD Low Income

Limit

B Duplex or townhome style units shall be permanently affordable to

households earning between the HUD Low Income Limit and 30 more

than the HUD Low Income Limit for and distributed such that the average

price of the duplex or townhome style units is based upon a household

income that is 25 more than the HUD Low Income Limit

C A permanently affordable middle income dwelling unit shall be either a

detached dwelling unit duplex unit or townhouse unit

D If a fraction results from multiplying twentyfive percent 25 times the

total number of permitted new dwelling units on the Property the total

number of required middle income permanently affordable dwelling units

shall be rounded down to the nearest whole number

8

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 55Packet Page 405



C Properties with RL and RE Zoning Each property generally described as 1937

Upland Ave 2005 Upland Ave 2010 Upland Ave 2075 Upland Ave 2090

Upland Ave 2125 Upland Ave 2130 Upland Ave 2135 Upland Ave 2155

Upland Ave 2160 Upland Ave and RL portions of each property generally
described as 1938 1960 2066 and 2114 Violet Ave shall pay a cashinlieu of

permanently affordable housing for each newly constructed dwelling unit on the

Property The payment will be a percentage of the cashinlieu payment required
by the Citys inclusionary zoning program or an equivalent amount determined by
the city manager at the time ofbuilding permit application The payment amount

will be based upon the total floor area of the dwelling unit as follows

i 2499 square feet or less of floor area the cashinlieu payment shall be equal
to that required by Chapter 913BRC 1981

ii 2500 square feet to 3499 square feet of floor area the cashinlieu payment
shall be 50 more required by Chapter913 BRC 1981

iii 3500 square feet to 3999 square feet of floor area the cashinlieu payment
shall be 100 more than that required by Chapter 913 BRC 1981

iv 4000 square feet to4499 square feet of floor area the cashinlieu payment
shall be 150 more than that required by Chapter913 BRC 1981

v 4500 square feet to 4999 square feet of floor area the cashinlieu payment
shall be 200 more than that required by Chapter 913 BRC 1981

vi 5000 square feet to 5499 square feet of floor area the cashinlieu payment
shall be 250 more than that required by Chapter 913 BRC 1981 and

vii 5500 square feet of floor area or greater the cashinlieu payment shall be

300 more than that required by Chapter913BRC 1981

d Exceptions Bonuses and Alternatives

i Energy Efficient Homes Newly constructed dwelling units that have a Home

Energy Rating System HERS rating of 0 zero and which incur a cashinlieu

of permanently affordable housing payment may have that cashinlieu payment
reduced by fifty percent 50

ii Current Owner Occupants The following conditions apply to the following
existing Property Owners that are owneroccupying an existing dwelling unit on

the following Properties 1938 Violet Ave 2075 Upland Ave 2125 Upland
Ave 2135 Upland Ave 2010 Upland Ave 2130 Upland Ave and 2160

Upland Ave Each such property owner may use one of the provisions below

one time only

A An existing property owner occupant whose household income does not

exceed forty 40 percentage points more than the US Department of

Housing and Urban Developments HUD Low Income Limit for the City

9

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 56Packet Page 406



of Boulder may construct and occupy a deed restricted permanently
affordable dwelling unit constructed under this Agreement

B An existing property owner occupant who converts an existing dwelling
unit to a newly constructed dwelling unit and owneroccupies the converted

dwelling unit for at least one year following the final inspection for that unit

shall be exempt from the requirements for a newly constructed dwelling
unit in this Agreement

C An existing property owner occupant who owns constructs and owner

occupies a newly constructed dwelling unit that is subject to a cashinlieu

ofpermanently affordable housing payment may defer that payment for a

period of time not to exceed ten years or until the title to the property is

transferred whichever is less This deferred payment shall be secured by a

deed of trust and promissory note with an interest rate equal to the average
of the past increases in the cashinlieu amounts as determined per Chapter
913 Inclusionary ZoningBRC 1981

iii Density Bonus for Permanently Affordable Dwelling Units A duplex
dwelling unit shall be permitted on an RL zoned parcel where only one

dwelling unit would be allowed as long as one of the duplex dwelling units is

permanently affordable to low income households as defined above and the

second duplex dwelling unit is permanently affordable to middle income

households as defined above If such permanently affordable units are to be

rented the Applicant agrees to execute any agreements necessary to have rent

controlled units that meet state law requirements prior to the rental of such

units or an application for a rental license

iv Conversion of Middle Income Permanently Affordable Units On an RM

zoned parcel on the Property where two 2 middle income permanently
affordable dwelling units would be required a property owner may substitute
one time only a single permanently affordable low income single family
detached dwelling unit for two permanently affordable middle income

dwelling units

v Concurrent Construction On an RM zoned parcel on the Property the first

newly constructed dwelling unit may be a market rate dwelling unit

Thereafter the second newly constructed dwelling unit shall be a permanently
affordable dwelling unit and all subsequent permanently affordable dwelling
units shall be constructed concurrently with the market rate dwelling units

10

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 57Packet Page 407



e Standard Conditions

i Any permanently affordable units produced under this Agreement may not

be used to satisfy other permanently affordable housing requirements
located on property other than the Property

ii Permanently affordable dwelling units shall be constructed at least

concurrently with the market rate dwelling units except as described in

paragraph 18dv above

iii Any newly constructed dwelling unit produced under this Agreement and

subject to a cashinlieu ofpermanently affordable housing payment that is

constructed with less than 5500 square feet of floor area and subsequently
increases the original floor area shall be subject to a cashinlieu of

permanently affordable housing payment that is equal to the difference

between the previous cashinlieu payment and the applicable cashinlieu

payment for the new total floor area of the dwelling unit

21 Deeds other Documents and Public Improvements All deeds and other documents that

are required by this Annexation Agreement are subject to the prior review and approval
of the city manager to ensure consistency with this Annexation Agreement and City
standards All public improvements shall be constructed to City standards applicable at

the time of construction and shall be subject to the review approval and acceptance of

the Director of Public Works

22 New Construction Rules and Fees All new construction commenced on the Property
after annexation shall comply with all City of Boulder laws taxes and fees except as

modified by this Annexation Agreement All conditions contained in this Agreement are

n addition to any and all requirements of the City of Boulder Except as expressly
provided herein all City ordinances regulations codes policies and procedures shall be

applicable to the use and development of the Property Nothing contained in this

Annexation Agreement shall constitute or be interpreted as a repeal of existing codes or

ordinances or as a waiver or abrogation of the Citys legislative governmental or police
powers to promote and protect the health safety and general welfare of the City or its

inhabitants

23 Conveyance of Drainage Each Property Owner shall convey drainage from each

Property in an historic manner that does not materially and adversely affect abutting
Property Owners

24 Waiver of Vested Rights The Applicant waives any vested property rights that may have

arisen under Boulder County jurisdiction This Annexation Agreement shall replace any
such rights that may have arisen under Boulder County jurisdiction The Applicant
acknowledges that nothing contained herein may be construed as a waiver of the Citys

Zi

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 58Packet Page 408



police powers or the power to zone and regulate land uses for the benefit of the general
public

25 Binding Agreement If an individual Applicant or a Property Owner breaches this

Annexation Agreement in any respect the City may withhold approval of any building
permits and other development applications requested for the respective property within

the Crestview East Addition No IA Annexation until the breaches have been cured This

remedy is in addition to all other remedies available to the City at law and equity

26 Breach of Agreement In the event that the Property Owner breaches or fails to perform
any required action under or fails to pay any fee specified under the Covenants of this

Annexation Agreement the Property Owner acknowledges that the City may take all

reasonable actions to cure the breach including but not limited to the filing of an action

for specific performance of the obligations herein described In the event the Property
Owner fails to pay any monies due under this Annexation Agreement or fails to perform
any affirmative obligation hereunder the Property Owner agrees that the City may collect

the monies due in the manner provided for in Section2212 City Manager May
Certify Taxes Charges and Assessments to County Treasurer for Collection BRC

1981 as amended as if the said monies were due and owing pursuant to a duly adopted
ordinance of the City or the City may perform the obligation on behalf of the Property
Owner and collect its costs in the manner herein provided The Property Owner agrees to

waive any rights he may have under Section 3120105CRS based on the Citys lack

of an enabling ordinance authorizing the collection of this specific debt or acknowledges
that the adopting of the annexation ordinance is such enabling ordinance

27 Future Interests The agreements and covenants as set forth herein shall run with the land

and shall be binding upon the Applicant its heirs successors representatives and assigns
and all persons who may hereafter acquire an interest in the Crestview East Addition No 1

Annexation Property or any part thereof If it shall be determined that this Annexation

Agreement creates an interest in land that interest shall vest if at all within the lives of the

undersigned plus twenty years and three hundred and sixtyfour days
28 Annual Appropriations The Citys financial obligations under this Agreement in future

fiscal years are subject to annual appropriation by the Boulder City Council in accordance

with Colorado law

29 Right to Withdraw A Property Owner retains the right to withdraw from this Agreement
up until the time that final legislative action has been taken on the ordinance that will cause

the Property to be annexed into the City The final legislative action will be the vote of the

City Council after the final reading of the annexation ordinance The Property Owners

right to withdraw shall terminate upon the City Councils final legislative action approving
the annexation If one or more Property Owner withdraws from this Annexation the city
manager may in the discretion of the Boulder City Council terminate annexation

proceedings on this Annexation In the event that a Property Owner withdraws from this

Agreement in the manner described above this Agreement shall be null and void and shall

have no effect regarding such Property Owner The City agrees within thirty 30 days of

12

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 59Packet Page 409



a request by a Property Owner after a withdrawal to return all previously submitted

stormwaterflood management PIF NCWCD fees and application and easement andor

rights of way dedication documents which the Property Owner submitted pursuant to this

Agreement to the Property Owner

30 The Parties agree to fully execute any and all documents necessary to accomplish the

annexation of the Properties set forth in this Agreement including but not limited to deeds

ofvacation deeds of dedication of rights of way and grants of easements All such

documents shall be executed within thirty 30 days of the effective date of the annexation

ordinance

EXECUTED on the day and year first above written

SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW

CITY OF BOULDER COLORADO

Bkl5Q
City Manager

v

City Clerk on be If o t e

Director of Finance and Record

Approved as to form

City Attorney
Dated 17e 701 Exhibits

Exhibit A Legal Descriptions
ExhibitB Redevelopment Improvements for Properties on North Side of Upland Ave and the

RL Zoned Portions Properties on the South Side of Violet Ave

Exhibit C Redevelopment Improvements for RM Properties on South Side of Violet Ave

Exhibit D Redevelopment Improvements for Properties on South Side of Upland Ave

Exhibit E Additional Dedication Improvements and Requirements for Individual Lots Prior

to Annexation

13

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 60Packet Page 410



OWNER 1938 Violet Ave

J
BY X

rika C Bemykalter G BeAA 1i E

State of Colorado

ss

County of Boulder

e oregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this day of

200 by Walter G Bemyk and Enka C Bemyk

Witness my Hand and Seal

My Commission Expires lb

a ENNIFER KKZUUIKER
NOTARY PUBLIC

STATE OF COLORADO

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES 511M2013
Notary ubh

14

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 61Packet Page 411



OWNERS 1960 Violet Ave

1960 Violet LLC a Colorado limited liability corporation

BY

Gary Calderon

Title i Z

1970 Violet LLC a Colorado Limited Liability Corporation

arkV Young
Title

State of Colorado

ss

County of Boulder

The regoing instrument was acknowledged before me this a day of

200 by L4cconi as na for the 1960 Violet

Corporation a Colorado limited liability corporation andvG Iloxi as

jgy4rL for the 1970 Violet Corporation a Colorado limited liability corporation

Witness my Hand and Seal

My Commission Expires 7aS3

Seal

A Notary Public

c4e

15

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 62Packet Page 412



OWNER 2066 Violet Ave

BYyt
Michael Marez as Tru e f e Toby J Marez Revocable Trust

State of Colorado

ss

County of Boulder

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this q day of

CYjj 200 l by Michael Marez Trustee for the Toby J Marez Revocable Trust

Witness my Hand and Seal

My Commission Expires q 25 201 D

Seal

Notary Public

NpRpRy

pusuC

r w
sv ys w10

16

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 63Packet Page 413



OWNER 2114 Violet Ave

B

Bs m ro

State of Colorado

ss

County of Boulder

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this day of

200 by Betsy Imig Broyles

Witness my Hand and Seal d tiN
ra yE fS

My Commission Expires D o

OTAo
t s

Seal
NV

o

f C6

a

My
Rant xraP114

17

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 64Packet Page 414



OWNER 11937 Upland Ave

BYXitiv W
Christine Foley Adams

State of Colorado

ss

County of Boulder

Th fore oing instrument was acknowledged before me this day of

2009 by Christine Foley Adams

Witness my Hand and Se 1
I

My Commission Expires t7

AW
17 r

x Notary Public

is

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 65Packet Page 415



OWNER 2005 Upland Ave

BY

G oward Calderon

State of Colorado

ss

County of Boulder

The re oing instrument was acknowledged before me this day of

200 by Gary Howard Calderon

Witness my Hand and Seal

My Commission Expires S ZtJIj

Seal

Notary ublic

WAitY

RUC
ACq 2S 2013Vkft

19

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 66Packet Page 416



OWNER 2075 Upland Ave

BY

J M rzel

State of Co rado

ss

County of Boulder

T e f reg ng instrument was acknowledged before me this V day of

200L by Jan Morzel

Witness my Hand and Seal

My Commission Expires a4 tQ a a 1

Seal

VEYyv
pTAp pro k

i Z
Notary Public

OF COQ

20

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 67Packet Page 417



OWNER 2 and Ave

B

Robert D echt Joan E Kn cht

State of Colora

ss

County of Boulder

The f egojng instrument was acknowledged before me thisZ day of

200q by Robert D Knecht and Joan E Knecht

Witness my Hand and Seal c

My Commission Expires

Seal

rr Notary Public

WN 2570
3

21

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 68Packet Page 418



OWNER 2155 Upland Ave

BY

Rodrigo B Moraga Shari Moraga

State of Colorado

ss

Comity of Boulder

The foregoin instrument was acknowledged before me this day of

1U 200 by Rodrigo B Moraga and Shari Moraga
01

Witness my Hand and Seal

My Commission Expires
J

Seal

Otis
Notary Public

11p9I1111111111111111
sueia

22

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 69Packet Page 419



OWNER 2135 Upland Ave

BYE

Andrew J Malkiel Maryrg Mal cie

State of Colorado

ss

County of Boulder

Th ore oin instrument was acknowledged before me this day of

200q by Andrew J Malkiel and Mary Berg Malkiel

Witness my Hand and Seal

My Commission Expires

Seal

Notary Public J
h

23

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 70Packet Page 420



OWNER 2010 Upland Ave

BY

Ellen A Stark Anne Hockmeyer

State of Colorado

ss

County of Boulder

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this 2 day of

SPpf0jht 2009 by Ellen A Stark and Anne Hockmeyer

Witness my Hand and Seal

My Commission Expires 1 U

Seal

W

Notary Public

Vf 4

of

4

24

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 71Packet Page 421



OWNER 2090 Upland Ave

c

James G Eddleman Barbara K Eddleman

State of Colorado

ss

County of Boulder

The f regoing instrument was acknowledged before me this day of

200f by James G Eddleman and Barbara K Eddleman

Witness my Hand and Seal

My Commission Expires S ze 3

Seal

NOTARY
Notary P lic

UC

Mr
Apq 25 2oi

25

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 72Packet Page 422



OWNER

21300
Upland Ave

Rachel Cahn

State of Colorado

ss

County of Boulder

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this day of

9pCm be i 200I by Rachel Cahn

Witness my Hand and Seal

My Commission Expires 9 25 2L v

Seal

Notary Public

L

NMARY

PUBLIC

sPt2 2D1UWk

26

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 73Packet Page 423



OWNER 2160 Upland Ave

ALBY

Stephen D Ford Mar ret L Pilcher

State of Colorado
ss

County of Boulder

The re ping instrument was acknowledged before me this C day of

2007 by Stephen D Ford and Margaret L Pilcher

Witness my Hand and Seal

My Commission Expires

Seal

NOTARY N ary Public

MJBUC

Apo 25 Z0TIIe

27

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 74Packet Page 424



EXHIBIT A

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

Refer to the Legal Description on the Next two Pages

28

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 75Packet Page 425



EXHIBIT A

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
OF A PARCEL OF LAND LOCATED IN THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF

SECTION 18 TOWNSHIP 1 NORTH RANGE 70 WEST OF THE 6TH PM
COUNTY OF BOULDER STATE OF COLORADO

SHEET 1 OF 2

PARCEL DESCRIPTION

A PARCEL OF LAND LOCATED IN THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 18 TOWNSHIP 1 NORTH RANGE
70 WEST OF THE 6TH PM BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS

CONSIDERING THE NORTHSOUTH CENTERLINE OF SAID SECTION 18 TO BEAR NORTH 000530 EAST
WITH ALL BEARINGS CONTAINED HEREIN RELATIVE THERETO

COMMENCING AT THE CENTER 14 CORNER OF SAID SECTION 18 THENCE ALONG SAID NORTHSOUTH

CENTERLINE NORTH 000530 EAST A DISTANCE OF 130224 FEET THENCE DEPARTING SAID LINE

NORTH 895300 EAST A DISTANCE OF 3000 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE PROPERTY
DESCRIBED IN DOCUMENT RECORDED AT REC NO 1005904 IN THE RECORDS OF BOULDER COUNTY SAID
POINT ALSO BEING ON THE SOUTH RIGHTOFWAY LINE OF VIOLET AVENUE SAID POINT ALSO BEING
THE POINT OF BEGINNING
THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHTOFWAY LINE NORTH 895300 EAST A DISTANCE OF 58070 FEET
TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN DOCUMENT RECORDED AT REC NO 059876
IN THE RECORDS OF BOULDER COUNTY THENCE ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID PROPERTY SOUTH

000340 WEST A DISTANCE OF 1040 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN
DOCUMENT RECORDED AT REC NO 059876 IN THE RECORDS OF BOULDER COUNTY THENCE ALONG

THE NORTH LINE OF SAID PROPERTY NORTH 895300 EAST A DISTANCE OF 14000 FEET TO THE
NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID PROPERTY THENCE ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID PROPERTY SOUTH

000340 WEST A DISTANCE OF 26195 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF THAT PROPERTY
DESCRIBED IN DOCUMENT RECORDED AT REC NO 668732 IN THE RECORDS OF BOULDER COUNTY
THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE NORTH 895144 EAST A DISTANCE OF 13993 FEET TO A POINT ON
THE WEST LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN DOCUMENT RECORDED AT REC NO 2830344 IN THE

RECORDS OF BOULDER COUNTY THENCE ALONG SAID WEST LINE SOUTH 000430 WEST A DISTANCE
OF 3033 FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID PROPERTY THENCE ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF

SAID PROPERTY NORTH 895119 EAST A DISTANCE OF 27911 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF
THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN DOCUMENT RECORDED AT REC NO 2791386 THENCE ALONG THE EAST
LINE OF SAID PROPERTY SOUTH 000341 WEST A DISTANCE OF 33099 FEET TO A POINT ON THE
CENTERLINE OF UPLAND AVENUE THENCE ALONG SAID CENTERLINE SOUTH 895000 WEST A
DISTANCE OF 14000 FEET TO A POINT ON THE EAST LINE EXTENDED OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN
DOCUMENT RECORDED AT REC NO 610371 IN THE RECORDS OF BOULDER COUNTY THENCE ALONG
SAID EAST LINE EXTENDED AND SAID EAST LINE SOUTH 000340 WEST A DISTANCE OF 31800 FEET

TO THE CENTERLINE OF TAMARACK AVENUE THENCE ALONG SAID CENTERLINE SOUTH 895000 WEST
A DISTANCE OF 28000 FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE EXTENDED OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED
IN DOCUMENT RECORDED AT REC NO 2130866 THENCE ALONG SAID WEST LINE EXTENDED AND SAID
WEST LINE NORTH 000340 EAST A DISTANCE OF 25800 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH
RIGHTOFWAY LINE OF UPLAND AVENUE THENCE ALONG SAID RIGHTOFWAY SOUTH 895000 WEST
A DISTANCE OF 14000 FEET TO A POINT ON THE EAST LINE EXTENDED OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED
IN DOCUMENT RECORDED ON FILM NO 0817 AT REC NO 065713 IN THE RECORDS OF BOULDER

COUNTY THENCE ALONG SAID EAST LINE EXTENDED AND SAID EAST LINE SOUTH 000340 WEST A
DISTANCE OF 25800 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID PROPERTY SAID POINT ALSO BEING A
POINT ON THE CENTERLINE OF TAMARACK AVENUE THENCE ALONG SAID CENTERLINE SOUTH 895000
WEST A DISTANCE OF 28000 FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN
DOCUMENT RECORDED ON FILM NO 1318 AT REC NO 643030 IN THE RECORDS OF BOULDER COUNTY
THENCE ALONG THE WEST LINE AND WEST LINE EXTENDED OF SAID PROPERTY NORTH 000340 EAST
A DISTANCE OF 34800 FEET TO A POINT ON THE NORTH RIGHTOFWAY LINE OF UPLAND AVENUE

Flatirons Inc
SarveyIng Engineering Geomalas

3825 IRIS A6NC 00 655 FOURTH ALENUE
BOULDER Co 80301 LONGMONT CO 80501
W 303 4437001 PH O3 7617M

REVISED 091409
FAX 303 u39M FAX

wwwFla own

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 76Packet Page 426



EXHIBIT A

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
OF A PARCEL OF LAND LOCATED IN THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF

SECTION 18 TOWNSHIP 1 NORTH RANGE 70 WEST OF THE 6TH PM
COUNTY OF BOULDER STATE OF COLORADO

SHEET 2 OF 2

PARCEL DESCRIPTION CONT

SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN DOCUMENT RECORDED

AT REC NO 1301652 IN THE RECORDS OF BOULDER COUNTY THENCE ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF

SAID PROPERTY SOUTH 895000 WEST A DISTANCE OF 13935 FEET TO THE SOUTHWESTERLY MOST

CORNER OF SAID PROPERTY THENCE ALONG A WESTERLY LINE OF SAID PROPERTY NORTH 001647
WEST A DISTANCE OF 20311 FEET TO A POINT ON A NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID PROPERTY THENCE

ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE NORTH 891720 EAST A DISTANCE OF 3019 FEET TO A POINT ON A

WESTERLY LINE OF SAID PROPERTY THENCE ALONG SAID WESTERLY LINE NORTH 001828 WEST A

DISTANCE OF 10034 FEET TO A NORTHWESTERLY CORNER OF SAID PROPERTY SAID POINT ALSO BEING

A SOUTHWESTERLY CORNER OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN DOCUMENT RECORDED AT REC NO
1830871 IN THE RECORDS OF BOULDER COUNTY SAID POINT HEREIN DESCRIBED AS POINT A THENCE

ALONG A WESTERLY LINE OF SAID PROPERTY NORTH 001937 WEST A DISTANCE OF 10002 FEET TO

A POINT ON A SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID PROPERTY THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY LINE AND THE

SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN DOCUMENT RECORDED AT REC NO 1005904 SOUTH

895700 WEST A DISTANCE OF 18814 FEET TO A POINT ON THE EAST RIGHTOFWAY LINE OF

NORTH 19TH STREET THENCE ALONG SAID RIGHTOFWAY NORTH 000530 EAST A DISTANCE OF
20033 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHERLY RIGHTOFWAY LINE OF VIOLET AVENUE SAID POINT

ALSO BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING

EXCEPTING THEREFROM THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED PARCEL OF LAND COMMENCING AT POINT A
THENCE N895144E A DISTANCE OF 39101 FEET THENCE S0003400W A DISTANCE OF 2952 FEET
TO A POINT BEING THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN DOCUMENT RECORDED

AT RECEPTION NO 1301950 SAID POINT BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING THENCE ALONG THE WEST

LINE OF SAID PROPERTY S000340W A DISTANCE OF 27253 FEET THENCE ALONG THE NORTH

RIGHTOFWAY LINE OF UPLAND STREET N895000E A DISTANCE OF 14000 FEET TO A POINT ON

THE EAST LINE OF THE PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN DOCUMENT RECORDED AT REC NO 1301950 THENCE

NOOb340E ALONG SAID EAST LINE A DISTANCE OF 27246 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID

PROPERTY THENCE ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID PROPERTY S895144W A DISTANCE OF 14000
FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID PROPERTY THE POINT OF BEGINNING

SAID PARCEL CONTAINS A NET AREA OF 631759 SO FT OR 1450 ACRES MORE OR LESS

1 JOHN B GUYTON A LICENSED LAND SURVEYOR IN THE STATE OF COLORADO DO HEREBY

STATE FOR AND ON BEHALF OF FLATIRONS INC THAT THIS PARCEL DESCRIPTION WAS

PREPARED BY ME OR UNDER MY RESPONSIBLE CHARGE AT THE REQUEST OF THE CLIENT
AND IS NOT INTENDED TO REPRESENT A MONUMENTED LAND SURVEY OR SUBDIVIDE LAND IN

VIOLATION OF STATE STATUTE

Fladrons Inc
et Geamas

J625 RlS AVE00 653 F01M7H AVENUE
0BOULDER CO 101N10N7 C 60501

PH 30J IIJ7001 P0 JOJ 776173J

REVISED 091409
FAZ 6w3 wi9aw FAX 303 7764M

www can

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 77Packet Page 427



EXHIBIT B

Redevelopment Improvements for Properties on North Side of Upland Ave and South Side

of Violet Ave

1 Vine St to be constructed as a 22 foot wide pavement section and a 5 foot wide sidewalk

on the north side

2 Any drainage and utility improvements as necessary to meet City standards

3 Install a 12 foot wide concrete multiuse path and fire access lane in the existing 20 foot

wide rightofway located on the west side of 2145 Upland Ave

Refer to Exhibit B Map on Next Page

29

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 78Packet Page 428



Exhibit B Redevelopment Improvements for Properties on the North Side of Upland Ave
and RL Zoned Portions of Properties on the South Side of Vine St

Violet Ave
Any drainage or utility improvementsJasnecessary to meet City Standards

1914 936 1960 2066 2114 2020Luna Beni Calderon Higbee Imig Pellochoud 21
NdYmO

Vine Street Improvement
22 ft wide pavement section and a N
5 ft wide sidewalk on the north site N

VineStIRG
12 path located

f1

within a 20 easement

46 2005 2135 2145

U 1917
937 Calderon

2075 2105 2125 2155
Malkiel Naumann

Adams
Morzel Rea Knecht Small

Naumann

it

r

Upland Ave

4306
Dean

260
0 200 2090 2110 2130 PilchedFord Legend
o Eddleman Hasenack Cahn
3r

Stark
Detachetl Sidewalk

P

P 4220 12 Multi Use Path Fire Access

o Schuman
Vine Street Improvement

APf Annexation Parcels

Tamarack Ave City Limits

Location Crestview Area Neighborhood
City of

Project Name Crestview East Addition 2 Boulder t
Review Type Annexation Initial Zoning NORTH rneinformationmpaeeothis mewapmxaes

m erepnmy reprmersarun enh me ury a eouuer

pmraes nowren expresses or implai se w

Review Number LUR200800080 eeresoarrollorn

aene0epmsr

1 inch 183 feet mnreree nerep

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 79Packet Page 429



EXHIBIT C

Redevelopment Improvements for RM zoned portions of Properties on South Side of Violet

Ave

1 A 5 foot bike lane beyond the existing 11 foot eastbound travel lane 2 foot curb and

gutter 8 foot landscape buffer and 6 foot wide sidewalk on the south side ofViolet

Ave for the entire frontage

2 12 foot wide alley between Violet and Upland Avenue

3 North 20 St to be constructed as an access street per City standards Table 212

Design Construction Standards with 5 foot wide sidewalks

4 Any drainage and utility improvements as necessary to meet City standards

Refer to Exhibit C Map on Next Page

31

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 80Packet Page 430



Exhibit C Redevelopment Improvements for RIM Zoned Properties on the South Side of Violet Ave

Violet Street Improvement
A 5 ft wide bike lane south of the

16
existing 11 ft eastbound travel lane
2 foot curb and gutter 8 ft landscape
buffer 6 foot wide sidewalk on the
south side of Violet Ave

North 20th Street Improvement with 5 sidewalk

Access Street per City Standards

io a ve

Alley will be a 12 paved section within

1914 1938 1960
a 16 public access easement

2066 2114

f Luna Bemyk Calderon Higbee Imig Pellochoud 2180

V Naumann

Q7 N
r

VineStROW

2005 2075 2105 2125 2155 2135 2145

Vine Street Improvement Calderon Morzel Rea Knecht Small Mallc l Naumann

22 ft wide pavement section and a

5 ft wide sidewalk on the north side Legend

I
Detached Sidewalk

May

20th

rUgIandtAlveL
Street Improvement

Violet Street Improvement
4306
Dean Utility and drainage improvements as D Annexation ParcelsA Stark

2010 2090 2110 necessary to meet City Standards F City Limits

Eddleman Hasena

Location Crestview Area Neighborhood
Civ of 11

Project Name Crestview East Addition 2 Boulder 4i
Review Type Annexation Initial Zoning NORTH The mrmmzuom depided

onam map a mwM

gem hKa represemaho The chr of Booker

poi es anent expressed orimpied sm

Review Number LUR20080080 linch183feet raneepersmmfm

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 81Packet Page 431



EXHIBIT D

Redevelopment Improvements for Properties on South Side of Upland Ave

1 Tamarack Avenue to be constructed as a 30foot wide and 60 foot wide rightofway as

generally shown on the 1997 North Boulder Subcommunity Plan amendment to include a

turnaround as generally shown on the attached exhibit map The 30 foot wide section must meet

the access lane standard in209D5 of the City of Boulder Design and Construction Standards

including a turnaround and drainage improvements within the Tamarack Avenue right of way

2 A sewer main extension within Tamarack Avenue right of way from the existing sewer main

near 22nd Street to the required turnaround on the western end of Tamarack Avenue

3 A fire hydrant and an extension of the existing water main near 22d Street in the Tamarack

right of way to 19h Street

4 Any drainage and utility improvements as necessary to meet City standards

5 Construct north 20th Street upon annexation of 4270 19 St and dedication of the appropriate
rightofway prior to subdivision

Refer to Exhibit D Map on Next Page

33

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 82Packet Page 432



Exhibit D Redevelopment Improvements for Properties on the South Side of Upland Ave

1 1937 2005 2075 2105 2125 2155 2135 2145

C Adams Calderon Motel Rea Knecht Small Makiel Naumann
0

r

U land Ave

2010 2090 2110 2130 2160

nStark Eddleman Hasenack Cahn Pilcherlford LJ
Approximate location of Turnaround I Sewer main extension

to be built per City Standards
N
N

as

A
01

pppoaaa Flre

Tamarack Ave
Hydrant

2020 Water main extension

Upland 30 ROW Width

4240 60 ROW Width
19th

Cn F4aie 9 Legend

Coyyob
9

Annexation Panels

CeeF Utilities

L Sewer

Water

Utility and drainage improvements as
Tamarack Street Improvements

necessary to meet City Standards City Limits

Location Crestview East Neighborhood City or 4
Project Name Crestview East Addition 2 Boulder S
Review Type AnnexationInitial Zoning

NORTH tifiamaeaKned on ma is prenrad

prepmw repraaapmnon NTM pukar

proaaeo no wanamy ucreasan orimprw as to

Review Number LUR200800080 finch200 feet ersor
nM m

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 83Packet Page 433



EXHIBIT E

ADDITIONAL DEDICATIONS IMPROVEMENTS AND REQUIREMENTS
PERTAINING TO INDIVIDUAL LOTS PRIOR TO ANNEXATION

Dedication of theunannexed portion of Upland Ave to create a complete 60 foot wide right
ofway between 19h St and 22d St

In instances where path easements split property lines the first property redeveloping is

required to escrow one half of the construction costs of the multiuse path The development
of the second property shall be the trigger for path construction and that development shall

use the escrowed monies and their own to construct the path

1937 Upland Ave

1 Dedicate the northern 20 feet of the Property as public rightofway for Vine Avenue

2 Pay a Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Plant Investment Fee for 1470

square feet

2005 Upland Ave

1 The City will vacate the southern 952 feet of unneeded Vine Avenue rightofway to

Property
2 Pay a Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Plant Investment Fee for2900

square feet

2010 Upland Ave

1 Pay a Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Plant Investment Fee for3400

square feet

2 Dedicate the western 15 feet of the Property as public rightofway for the future

North 201h Street

3 At the time of annexation whenl5 feet of right of way is obtained from property
located 4270 19h Street a 30 foot access lane known as North 20h Street can be

constructed between Tamarack and Upland Whichever property owner along the 30

foot wide North 20 Street access lane or Tamarack Ave first makes an application
for subdivision that property owner will be responsible for constructing the 30 foot

access lane when feasible and required by city staff andor regulations
4 2010 Upland Ave will be allowed to subdivide without North 201h Street if accessed

from Tamarack In the event North 20i St is installed prior to subdivision of 2010

Upland Ave access will be taken from North 201h St

2075 Upland Ave

1 The City will vacate the southern 952 feet of unneeded Vinerightofway to

Property
2 Pay a Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Plant Investment Fee for4850

square feet

35

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 84Packet Page 434



Exhibit E

2090 Upland Ave

1 Pay a Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Plant Investment Fee for3660
square feet

2125 Upland Ave

1 Dedicate the western 5 feet of the Property as a public access easement for a 5 foot

wide concrete path to meander as necessary to preserve existing mature landscaping
2 Pay a Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Plant Investment Fee for3450

square feet

3 If the property at 2020 Violet Ave annexes dedicates rightofway and realigns Vine

Avenue to a straight alignment the southern 952 feet of Vine rightofway can be

vacated and returned to the property through the administrative utility easement

vacation process

2130 Upland Ave

1 Dedicate the western 5 feet of the Property as a public access easement for a 5 foot

wide concrete path to meander as necessary to preserve existing mature landscaping
2 Pay a Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Plant Investment Fee for2398

square feet

2135 Upland Ave

1 Pay a Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Plant Investment Fee for2154
square feet

2 Dedicate the northern 20 feet of the Property as public rightofway for Vine Avenue

3 Connect to the City wastewater system at the property owneras expense prior to the

issuance of an building permit not associated with wastewater connection or when the

existing septic system fails whichever comes first

2155 Upland Ave

1 Pay a Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Plant Investment Fee for2398
square feet

2 If the property at 2020 Violet Ave annexes dedicates rightofway and realigns Vine

St to a straight alignment the southern 952 feet of Vine rightofway can be vacated

and returned to the property through the administrative utility easement vacation

process

2160 Upland Ave

1 Pay a Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Plant Investment Fee for2610
square feet

1938 Violet Ave

1 Dedicate the southern 20 feet of the Property as public rightofway for Vine Avenue

2 Dedicate a 16 foot wide access easement running eastwest and northsouth through
the Property as shown on the 1997 North Boulder Subcommunity Plan amendment

for a future alley A dead end alley extending to the western property line with a

36

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 85Packet Page 435



Exhibit E

turnaround meeting City standards its associated easement and no connection to Vine

is acceptable as well

3 Pay a Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Plant Investment Fee for3196

square feet

1960 Violet Ave

1 Vacate northern 952 feet of unneeded Vine St rightofway to property
2 Dedicate a 16 foot wide access easement running eastwest through the Property as

shown on the 1997 North Boulder Subcommunity Plan amendment for a future alley
3 Dedicate the eastern 20 feet of the Property as rightofway for North 20h Street

4 Pay a Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Plant Investment Fee for 1950
square feet

2066 Violet Ave

1 The City will vacate the northern 952 feet of unneeded Vine rightofway to

Property
2 Dedicate a 16 foot wide access easement running eastwest through the Property as

shown on the 1997 North Boulder Subcommunity Plan amendment for a future alley
3 Dedicate the western 20 feet of the Property as rightofway for North 20h St

4 Pay a Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Plant Investment Fee for2200
square feet

5 Pay a Development Excise Tax DET based on the existing development on the

Property of 64380

2114 Violet Ave

1 Dedicate the southern 20 feet of the Property as public rightofway for Vine Avenue

2 The City will vacate the southern 10 feet of unneeded Violet Avenue rightofway to

Property owner

3 Dedicate a 16 foot wide access easement running eastwest through the property as

shown on the 1997 North Boulder Subcommunity Plan amendment for a future alley
4 Pay a Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Plant Investment Fee for 828

square feet

37

Attachment I - Master Crestview East Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5B     Page 86Packet Page 436



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: December 1, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE: Public hearing and consideration of a motion to accept the 
Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan. 

PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works  
Jeff Arthur, Director of Public Works for Utilities 
Annie Noble, Acting Principal Engineer for Flood and Greenways 
Katie Knapp, Engineering Project Manager 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The city has a comprehensive floodplain management program designed to identify flood 
risks, mitigate the risks of flooding, and support community recovery following a major 
flood.  For additional information about the city’s floodplain management program, 
floodplain regulations and flood insurance, read the Flood Management Program 
Overview.   

The purpose of this memorandum is to provide a summary of the Gregory Canyon Creek 
Flood Mitigation Plan, including the study recommendation and to request a motion to 
accept the study.  

The September 2013 flood greatly impacted the Gregory Canyon Creek watershed.  
Following the flood, the community expressed a strong desire for flood mitigation 
improvements along Gregory Canyon Creek; therefore, a new mitigation study was 
initiated by the City of Boulder and the Urban Drainage and Flood Control District 
(UDFCD).  The Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan (Attachment A) was 
developed to analyze the existing drainage conditions within the Gregory Canyon Creek 
floodplain, develop alternative drainageway planning concepts and create conceptual 
design drawings for the recommendations in the plan. 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 1Packet Page 437

https://bouldercolorado.gov/links/fetch/22563
https://bouldercolorado.gov/links/fetch/22563


A draft of the plan was presented to the Water Resources Advisory Board (WRAB) on 
April 27, 2015; WRAB unanimously recommended that the Gregory Canyon Creek 
Flood Mitigation Plan be finalized based on the recommended plan and then presented to 
City Council for acceptance.  Following the recommendation from WRAB, conceptual 
design drawings were developed and the mitigation plan was completed.  The mitigation 
plan is now being presented to City Council for acceptance.  If accepted by council, the 
Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan would help guide flood mitigation projects 
within the mitigation plan area and be a planning tool to help identify projects for future 
funding through the Capital Improvement Program (CIP), grants, UDFCD funding 
requests and other funding opportunities.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
following motion: 

Motion to accept the Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
• Economic – Floodwaters can damage homes and businesses, interrupt utility

services, wash-out streets and disrupt people’s everyday lives and livelihoods.  In
September of 2013, Gregory Canyon Creek experienced severe flooding.  The
Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan was developed to identify flood
mitigation measures that will help reduce flood risks and the losses due to
flooding.  The benefit cost analysis estimates that the benefits of the
recommended flood mitigation measures (estimated by calculating losses
avoided) will outweigh the costs of the proposed flood mitigation by a ratio of
2.82 to 1.

• Environmental – Floods can result in damage or destruction to buildings and
corresponding release of man-made contaminants. Floodwaters can also cause
erosion and damage to areas of the natural environment that are not capable of
conveying high-velocity stormwater.  Flood mitigation can help reduce these
environmental damages.  The mitigation plan also includes recommendations for
sediment traps to improve water quality and the assessment and enhancement of
riparian habitat.  The construction of flood mitigation projects can result in
temporary or permanent impacts to streams, wetlands and riparian areas.  These
impacts would need to be mitigated to the greatest extent possible.

• Social – Flood hazards include significant risk to life, property and business, and
have far-reaching impacts on the city’s transportation and utility infrastructure.
While construction of flood mitigation projects causes disruption to local
residents, businesses and transportation routes, mitigating flood hazards advance
the city’s social sustainability goals and benefit a diverse set of community
stakeholders by reducing the number of structures impacted by flood events,
protecting critical infrastructure and reducing the number of people at risk from
dangerous flooding.

Agenda Item 5C     Page 2Packet Page 438



OTHER IMPACTS 
• Fiscal – The total cost of the plan recommendations is approximately $20 million.

Funding in the 2015-2020 Department of Public Works Utilities Division CIP
budget for this project includes $100,000 in 2016 and $500,000 in 2017.  Staff
will evaluate opportunities for additional funding for projects along Gregory
Canyon Creek as part of the 2017-2022 Capital Improvement Program.  Staff will
also explore additional funding opportunities through grants, UDFCD funding
requests and other funding options.

• Staff Time – The time needed for completing the master plan is included in
existing work plans.  However, implementation of the recommendations in the
plan may require additional staff time from Public Works staff, depending on the
total number of flood mitigation projects moving forward and the availability of
funding for those projects.  Additional staff time would also be required to
maintain any improvements that are constructed.

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
The Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan was presented to WRAB as an 
information item on Oct. 20, 2014, where the approach being taken and the alternatives 
under consideration were discussed.  On April 27, 2015, the draft Gregory Canyon Creek 
Flood Mitigation Plan was presented to WRAB; WRAB unanimously recommended that 
the Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan be finalized based on the Staff 
Recommended Plan and then be presented to City Council for acceptance. 

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
This flood mitigation planning study was initiated after the September 2013 flood event, 
when many neighborhood members requested flood mitigation improvements for 
Gregory Canyon Creek.  Public feedback has included information about flooding 
observations, mitigation suggestions, and comments on the proposed recommendations.  
This feedback has been encouraged throughout the planning process and has helped 
shape the final plan under consideration.   
Opportunities for public involvement included: open houses, WRAB meetings, online 
comment forms, neighborhood site walks and meetings with individuals and small 
groups.  A variety of methods were used to notify the public about the project and various 
public meetings, including: postcards, posters, emails, letters, the Flatirons Elementary 
School newsletter and the project website: (https://bouldercolorado.gov/flood/gregory-
canyon-creek-flood-mitigation-study).   

The following table summarizes the public process: 

Date Meeting 
Oct. 14, 2013 Post-Flood Open House 
Feb. 6, 2014 Pennsylvania Avenue Open House 
May 22, 2014 Pennsylvania Avenue GAC Public Hearing 
June 12, 2014 Flood Mitigation Plan Open House 
Oct. 20, 2014 Flood Mitigation Plan Open House and WRAB Public Hearing 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 3Packet Page 439

https://bouldercolorado.gov/flood/gregory-canyon-creek-flood-mitigation-study
https://bouldercolorado.gov/flood/gregory-canyon-creek-flood-mitigation-study


Feb. 2015 Flood Mitigation Plan Group Site Walks 
Mar. 30, 2015 Flood Mitigation Plan Open House 
April 27, 2015 Flood Mitigation Plan WRAB Public Hearing 
July-Sept. 2015 Flood Mitigation Plan Individual Property Owner Meetings 
Dec. 1, 2015 Flood Mitigation Plan City Council Public Hearing 

In general, the community has expressed support for the Gregory Canyon Creek Flood 
Mitigation Plan, but there have also been concerns raised from a few property owners 
about potential impacts to private property and the dedication of easements.   

Additional information about the planning process is included in Section 1 of the 
Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan (Attachment A). 

BACKGROUND 
Residential development along Gregory Canyon Creek began as early as 1890, so the 
existing creek corridor is heavily encroached upon, with existing development providing 
limited opportunities for mitigating a 100-year storm.  Therefore, a comprehensive 
mitigation study for Gregory Canyon Creek was not a part of the Utilities work program 
until after the September 2013 flood.  Because of the flood, there was increased 
community support for infrastructure improvements in the area.  Following the storm, 
minor improvements (such as improvements to trash racks) were implemented as part of 
the flood recovery efforts.  

The city requested and received funding from the UDFCD for flood mitigation planning 
assistance for both Gregory Canyon Creek and Bear Canyon Creek.  Mitigation studies 
were initiated to identify opportunities to improve flood conveyance, enhance water 
quality, improve riparian habitat and facilitate routine maintenance. 

Additional information about the history of the project area, existing land uses, previous 
floodplain mapping and mitigation studies, and applicable master planning policies is 
included in Section 2 of the Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan (Attachment 
A). 

ANALYSIS 
The engineering consultant team, CH2M, was selected to help with the development of 
the Gregory Canyon Creek flood mitigation alternatives, perform hydraulic analysis and 
develop conceptual design drawings for the improvements recommended in the plan.  A 
hydrologic analysis was not performed as part of this master plan.  The information used 
in this master plan was derived from the previous hydrologic analysis performed for 
Gregory Canyon Creek.  Information about the hydrologic analysis is included in Section 
3 of the Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan (Attachment A).   

An alternatives analysis was conducted to evaluate potential alternatives to help alleviate 
future flooding along Gregory Canyon Creek.  The analysis identified various types of 
improvements along the creek corridor and assessed the costs and benefits associated 
with each improvement.  The alternatives analysis is included in Section 4 of the Gregory 
Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan (Attachment A). 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 4Packet Page 440



Currently, the Gregory Canyon Creek channel does not have adequate capacity to contain 
a 10-year event.  Flood mitigation plans are typically developed with the intent to 
adequately convey a 100-year storm event.  Due to the existing residential development, 
channel mitigation to convey a 100–year event would not be feasible unless many of the 
existing homes along the creek corridor were removed.  The property acquisition costs 
needed for 100-year improvements were estimated to be around $55 million.  Under the 
analysis, it was determined that improvements along the creek could be constructed, 
which would facilitate flows from a 10-year event.  Culverts were evaluated for existing 
conditions, the size required to convey a 10-year event, and the maximum size that could 
feasibly be constructed without impacting existing buildings. 

Since the topographical and development constraints along Gregory Canyon Creek 
prevent modification, which would convey flows that are greater than a 10-year event, it 
was recognized that the streets in the neighborhoods could be modified to better convey 
floodwaters in larger events.  During the September 2013 event, floodwaters were 
observed in various roadways, with the primary conveyance paths being Sixth, Seventh 
and Eighth streets.  Thus, street improvements that would facilitate drainage to Boulder 
Creek were considered.    

The alternatives analysis included a benefit cost analysis (BCA) to help assess the 
different alternatives.  The following table summarizes the results of the BCA: 

Locations for detention ponds and sediment traps were also evaluated.  Detention was 
determined to not be a viable option for this watershed because any feasible detention 
pond would fill quickly, overtop and provide little impact on peak flows.  Two areas were 
identified for potential sediment traps: upstream of Willowbrook Rd. and upstream of 
Seventh St.  In this drainageway, due to the steep grade, sediment traps provide primarily 
a water quality benefit and are not required for flood mitigation, so these are shown as 
optional improvements to be further considered if the plan is implemented. 

The city also has a program in place to purchase properties located in flood prone areas, 
and particularly in the high hazard flood zone when there is a willing seller.  The property 
acquisition program, in conjunction with flood mitigation improvements has been very 
successful over the years and has resulted in over one hundred structures no longer being 
in the high hazard floodplain.  Through this flood mitigation planning effort, several 
Gregory Canyon Creek high hazard zone properties were identified as a priority for 
purchase.   

Benefit Cost Analysis Summary 
Alternative Benefit Cost Ratio 
10-year culvert improvements 2.67 
10-year culvert improvements with 
street conveyance improvements 1.52 

Maximum size culvert improvements 1.78 
Maximum size culvert improvements 
with street conveyance improvements 1.28 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 5Packet Page 441



A recommended plan was developed from the alternatives analysis with public input and 
consideration by WRAB.  The recommended plan is included in Section 6 of the Gregory 
Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan (Attachment A) and includes the following 
elements: 

Recommendation Cost 
1. Culvert and Channel Improvements: Replace culverts to

convey the 10-year storm.  Provide a pedestrian bridge at
Pennsylvania Avenue and a vehicular bridge at the Highland
City Club entrance.  Provide a sediment trap upstream of
Seventh Street.

$9,924,400 

2. Road Improvements:  Implement flood conveyance 
modifications in conjunction with other roadway construction. $2,102,200

3. Provide in-line sediment trap structure upstream of Culvert C1
(Willowbrook Road). $86,100 

4. Assess stream and riparian areas and implement habitat
improvements. TBD 

5. Pipe the Anderson Ditch to the east of Seventh Street. $43,400 
6. Relocate the sanitary sewer manhole and pipes currently

located within the “Gregory Gulch.” $164,600 

7. Add new storm drainage inlets on Willowbrook Road to help
capture floodwaters that overtop the culvert. $147,600 

8. Investigate installing grates above culverts. TBD 
9. Property Acquisition: Continue acquiring high hazard zone

properties, focusing on the properties identified as priority
structures.

$7,631,100 

10. Evaluate additional flood mitigation opportunities with the
development of the Civic Area Plan. TBD 

11. Non-Structural Methods: Continue to implement non-
structural measures and encourage property owners to prepare
for floods to protect their properties and themselves.

N/A 

Total: $20,099,400 
Conceptual design drawings were developed based on the recommended plan with input 
from individual property owners.  The benefit cost ratio was updated to incorporate 
refinements through the development of the conceptual design drawings.  The resulting 
benefit cost ratio of the recommended improvements is 2.82. 

The conceptual design drawings are intended to depict a long-range plan for future flood 
mitigation projects and show the general extent and nature of the proposed 
improvements.  The drawings are not intended for construction use.  Prior to the 
construction of any improvements, a complete design will be required, including the 
development of construction documents.  The conceptual design drawings are included as 
Appendix E of the Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan (Attachment A).   

Agenda Item 5C     Page 6Packet Page 442



NEXT STEPS 
The Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan will help guide flood mitigation 
projects within the master plan area.  It will be a long term planning tool to help identify 
projects for future funding through the CIP, grants, UDFCD funding requests and other 
funding opportunities.  Funding in the 2015-2020 Department of Public Works Utilities 
Division CIP budget for this project includes $100,000 in 2016 and $500,000 in 2017, 
which will allow for the design and construction of an initial project at the downstream 
reach of Gregory Canyon Creek, as recommended in the plan.  Staff will evaluate 
opportunities for additional funding for projects along Gregory Canyon Creek as part of 
the 2017-2022 Capital Improvement Program, recognizing that there are multiple flood 
mitigation needs throughout the city.  Construction of the plan recommendations would 
require work on private property and in most situations, easements would need to be 
acquired from the property owners. 

ATTACHMENTS  
Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 7Packet Page 443



Gregory Canyon Creek 
Flood Mitigation Plan

Project Sponsors 

November 18, 2015 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 8Packet Page 444



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Executive Summary ........................................................................................................................................................................................ 1 

Purpose and Objective .............................................................................................................................................................................. 1 

Project Area Description .......................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Alternative Analysis ................................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Recommended Plan ................................................................................................................................................................................... 2 

Conceptual Design ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 2 

Section 1–Introduction .................................................................................................................................................................................. 3 

Planning Process ......................................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Mapping and Surveys ................................................................................................................................................................................ 4 

Data Collection ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 4 

Acknowledgements .................................................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Section 2–Study Area Description ............................................................................................................................................................ 5 

Project Area ................................................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Soils .................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 6 

Land Use ......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 7 

Flood History ................................................................................................................................................................................................ 9 

Environmental Assessment ................................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Previous Studies and Master Plans .................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Section 3-Hydrologic Analysis ................................................................................................................................................................ 13 

Previous Studies ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 13 

Summary of Peak Discharges.............................................................................................................................................................. 13 

Section 4-Hydraulic Analysis ................................................................................................................................................................... 14 

Evaluation of Existing Facilities ......................................................................................................................................................... 14 

Flood Hazards ........................................................................................................................................................................................... 15 

Section 5-Alternative Analysis ................................................................................................................................................................ 16 

Alternative Development Process .................................................................................................................................................... 16 

Alternative Categories ........................................................................................................................................................................... 16 

Alternative Costs ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 30 

Alternative Plans ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 30 

Qualitative Evaluation Procedure ..................................................................................................................................................... 34 

Section 6-Recommended Plan................................................................................................................................................................. 35 

Plan Description ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 35 

Section 7-Conceptual Design .................................................................................................................................................................... 40 

Overview ...................................................................................................................................................................................................... 40 

Prioritization and Phasing.................................................................................................................................................................... 40 

Benefit Cost Analysis .............................................................................................................................................................................. 40 

Section 8-References ................................................................................................................................................................................... 41 

Appendices ...................................................................................................................................................................................................... 41 

Appendix A-Alternative Analysis Memorandum ........................................................................................................................ 41 

Appendix B-Conceptual Design Memorandum ........................................................................................................................... 41 

Appendix C-Public Comments ............................................................................................................................................................ 41 

Appendix D-Wetland and Habitat Evaluations ............................................................................................................................ 41 

Appendix E-Conceptual Design Drawings ..................................................................................................................................... 41 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 9Packet Page 445



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

1 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVE 
The purpose of this study is to analyze the existing drainage conditions within the Gregory Canyon Creek 

floodplain, develop alternative drainageway planning concepts to mitigate flood damages, and prepare a 

conceptual design of the recommended flood mitigation plan selected by the Project Sponsors.   

The information in this plan will support the City of Boulder and others in the prioritization and 

implementation of improvements to reduce potential damages due to flooding and improve the condition of 

Gregory Canyon Creek.  It will also be beneficial in completing grant applications and securing funding for 

future projects. 

PROJECT AREA DESCRIPTION 
The study area, shown on the Vicinity Map, extends from the confluence of Gregory Canyon Creek and Boulder 

Creek to the upstream city limits just south of Flagstaff Road. The study is located in part of Section 36, 

Township 1 North, Range 71 West, and a small part of Section 1 Township 1 South, Range 71 West.  

ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS 
The city retained CH2M to evaluate potential alternatives to help alleviate future flooding along Gregory 

Canyon Creek.  CH2M’s Alternative Analysis Memorandum is included as Appendix A.  This analysis contains a 

detailed description of the data and models used to determine the improvements which would help flood 

conveyance along Gregory Canyon Creek.  Culverts were evaluated for existing conditions, the size required to 

convey a 10-year event, and the maximum size that could feasibly be constructed without impacting existing 

buildings.  The intent of the analysis was to identify various types of improvements which could be constructed 

along the creek corridor, assess the costs and benefits associated with each improvement, and include an 

engineer’s recommendation.   

The alternatives analysis also includes a benefit cost analysis (BCA) along with a detailed description of the 

methodologies used to determine the benefit cost ratios associated with the improvements.  The following 

table summarizes the results of the BCA completed to assess the different alternatives: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Benefit Cost Analysis Summary 

Alternative Benefit Cost Ratio 

10-year culvert improvements 2.67 

10-year culvert improvements with 

street conveyance improvements 
1.52 

Maximum size culvert improvements 1.78 

Maximum size culvert improvements 

with street conveyance improvements 
1.28 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 10Packet Page 446



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

2 

RECOMMENDED PLAN 
The Recommended Plan is depicted in the image to the right, with a more detailed illustration in Section 6.  

The following elements are included: 

Recommendation Cost 

1. Culvert and Channel Improvements: Replace culverts to convey the 
10-year storm.  Provide a pedestrian bridge at Pennsylvania Ave. 
and a vehicular bridge at the Highland City Club entrance.  Provide a 
sediment trap upstream of 7th St. 

$9,924,400 

2. Road Improvements:  Implement flood conveyance modifications in 
conjunction with other roadway construction. 

$2,102,200 

3. Provide in-line sediment trap structure upstream of Culvert C1 
(Willowbrook Rd.) 

$86,100 

4. Assess stream and riparian areas and implement habitat 
improvements 

TBD 

5. Pipe the Anderson Ditch to the east of 7th St. $43,400 

6. Relocate the sanitary sewer manhole and pipes currently located 

within the “Gregory Gulch”. 
$164,600 

7. Add new storm drainage inlets on Willowbrook Rd. to help capture 
floodwaters that overtop the culvert 

$147,600 

8. Investigate installing grates above culverts  TBD 

9. Property Acquisition: Continue acquiring high hazard zone 
properties, focusing on the properties identified as priority 
structures. 

$7,631,100 

10. Evaluate additional flood mitigation opportunities with the 
development of the Civic Area Plan. 

TBD 

11. Non-Structural Methods: Continue to implement non-structural 
measures and encourage property owners to prepare for floods and 
protect their properties and themselves. 

N/A 

Total: $20,099,400 

CONCEPTUAL DESIGN 
Conceptual design drawings were developed based on the Recommended Plan and are included as Appendix 

E.  These drawings are intended to depict a long-range plan for future flood mitigation projects and show the 

general extents and nature of the proposed improvements.  The conceptual design drawings are not intended 

for construction use.  Prior to the construction of any improvements, a complete design will be required and 

construction documents developed.  In addition to the conceptual design drawings, CH2M completed a 

Conceptual Design Memorandum to document design criteria, the results of the hydraulic analysis and the 

refinement of the benefit cost analysis.  The Conceptual Design Memorandum is included as Appendix B.   

 

Recommended Plan 

  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 11Packet Page 447



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

3 

SECTION 1–INTRODUCTION 

PLANNING PROCESS 
The September 2013 flood greatly impacted the Gregory Canyon Creek watershed.  A post-flood open house 

was held on October 14, 2013 to provide flood recovery information and gather public comments about the 

extent of the floodwaters and the damages sustained.  The community expressed a strong desire for flood 

mitigation improvements along Gregory Canyon Creek, so this mitigation plan was initiated by the City of 

Boulder and the Urban Drainage and Flood Control District.   

One area that was severely damaged by the 

September 2013, was Pennsylvania Ave., 

where flood waters washed out the roadway 

around the existing culvert.  Prior to repairing 

the roadway, different repair options were 

considered and presented to the public for 

input: 

Alternative 1: Replace the existing culvert 

and rebuild the roadway. 

Alternative 2: Remove the culvert and 

damaged roadway above the creek, close 

the road to through traffic, and build a 

pedestrian bridge over the creek. 

Alternative 3: Remove the culvert and                                          Pennsylvania Ave. Flood Damage      

construct a new roadway with a significantly  

larger culvert or a vehicular bridge over the creek. 

An open house was held on February 6, 2014 and a website was created with an online survey to gather input 

on the Pennsylvania Ave. repair alternatives.  Alternative 2, replacing the culvert with a pedestrian bridge 

received a high level of public support.  On May 22, 2014 the Greenways Advisory Committee considered the 

Pennsylvania Ave. flood repair alternatives and recommended the immediate implementation of Alternative 1 

with further evaluation of the other alternatives as part of this Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan.  

The public input received about the Pennsylvania Ave. alternatives is included in the public comments 

(Appendix C).  

The engineering consultant team, CH2M, was selected to help with the development of the flood mitigation 

alternatives and mitigation plan.  An open house to officially “kick-off” the flood mitigation planning process 

was held on June 12, 2014.  The purpose of this public open house was to identify problem areas and collect 

ideas for future flood mitigation projects.   

After reviewing previous studies, master plans and policies, flood mitigation alternatives were developed and 

assessed.  Due to the existing development along the creek, it was determined that improvements to 

accommodate a 100-year flood event would not be feasible, but improvements along the creek could be 

constructed which would facilitate flows from a 10-year event.  Improvements to culverts that could convey 

events greater than a 10-year event were also assessed.  Each culvert was evaluated for existing conditions, the 

size required to convey a 10-year event, and the maximum size that could feasibly be constructed without 

impacting existing buildings.  The primary categories of alternatives initially evaluated included: 

 Improvements along the creek channel 

 Improvements to facilitate flow outside of the creek channel (roadway conveyance) 

 Property acquisition 

 Detention facilities 

On October 20, 2014, a public open house was held to present the potential alternatives, or categories of 

improvements, that had been developed.  On that same day, the first public meeting with the Water Resources 

Advisory Board (WRAB) was held.  Comments received at the open house and the WRAB meeting were 

assimilated and the mitigation plan was further refined based on these comments, where feasible and practical.  

The WRAB recommended that city staff facilitate the organization of smaller neighborhood groups to help 

identify and discuss mitigation options for more localized areas of the creek.   

In February of 2015, staff conducted three site walks along the Gregory Creek Drainage.  The first of these 

walks included city staff from the Stormwater, Road Maintenance and Drainageway Maintenance departments.  

Two walks with residents in the area were then conducted in order to obtain their feedback and suggestions 

related to the proposed alternatives.  The comments received from city staff and residents were assimilated 

and reviewed and then submitted to the consultants to incorporate suggestions, where feasible.   

A benefit cost analysis was performed to analyze the alternatives. The following four primary alternatives were 

analyzed: 

 10-year culvert improvements 

 10-year culvert improvements with street conveyance improvements 

 Maximum size culvert improvements 

 Maximum size culvert improvements with street conveyance improvements 

An Engineer’s Recommended Plan was developed by CH2M based on the benefit cost analysis, feedback from 

public meetings, project stakeholders, staff input and preliminary discussions with WRAB.  The Engineer’s 

Recommended Plan to minimize the identified flooding issues along Gregory Canyon Creek includes 

improvements that would accommodate a 10-year storm event.  The complete Alternative Analysis 

Memorandum with the Engineer’s Recommended Plan is included in Appendix A. 

City of Boulder staff assessed the Engineer’s Recommended Plan and developed a Staff Recommended Plan, 

incorporating input from the public, maintenance considerations and observations from the 2013 flood event.  

The Staff Recommended Plan included the 10-year culvert improvements included in the Engineer’s 

Recommended Plan, but modified some of the recommendations for channel improvements, eliminating some 

of the improvements between Euclid and College and including continuous channel improvements between 

University and Arapahoe.  The Staff Recommended plan also included roadway improvements, recommending 

that they be incorporated with future roadway construction projects in order to be more cost effective.  In 

addition, a pedestrian bridge was recommended at Pennsylvania Ave. instead of a box culvert and a vehicular 

bridge was recommended at the entrance to the Highland School property.  The Staff Recommended Plan also 

included sediment traps to enhance water quality, habitat improvements, piping a section of the Anderson 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 12Packet Page 448



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

4 

Ditch, a sanitary sewer relocation, new drainage inlets, possible grates installed over culverts, a prioritization 

for property acquisition and non-structural methods such as emergency warning systems, flood education and 

private property flood protection.   

An open house was held on March 30, 2015 to present the alternatives, the Engineer’s Recommended Plan and 

a draft of Staff’s Recommended Plan.  Feedback from the open house was used to refine the staff 

recommendations.  The Staff Recommended Plan was presented to WRAB on April 27, 2015.  WRAB 

unanimously recommended that the Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan be finalized based on the 

Staff Recommended Plan and then presented to City Council for acceptance.   

Following the recommendation from WRAB, draft conceptual design drawings were developed based on the 

Staff Recommended Plan.  All property owners directly impacted by the proposed improvements were 

contacted and city staff met with individuals and small groups of property owners to discuss the plans and 

receive feedback on the draft conceptual design drawings.  The draft conceptual design drawings were revised 

to incorporate the comments and concerns received from property owners, to the greatest extent 

possible.  Input from property owners and the additional engineering analysis conducted during the 

development of the conceptual design drawings resulted in additional refinements to the Staff Recommended 

Plan, including: 

 A proposed sediment trap at Smith Park was eliminated because existing site grades are too steep to 

make it feasible. 

 A proposed sediment trap upstream of Aurora Ave. was eliminated because the existing channel is 

much lower than the existing street elevation, so maintenance would be difficult. 

 The replacement of the private culvert at 705 Willowbrook was removed from the recommended plan 

because private property improvements were being implemented in this area to protect properties 

against flood damages and therefore the replacement would provide little benefit. 

The Final Recommended Plan incorporates these revisions and is included in Section 6.  This plan is being 

presented to the Boulder City Council On Dec. 1, 2015 for consideration of acceptance. 

The following table summarizes the public process: 

Date Meeting 

Oct. 14, 2013 Post-Flood Open House 

Feb. 6, 2014 Pennsylvania Ave. Open House 

May 22, 2014 Pennsylvania Ave. GAC Public Hearing  

June 12, 2014 Flood Mitigation Plan Open House 

Oct. 20, 2014 Flood Mitigation Plan Open House and WRAB Public Hearing 

Feb. 2015 Flood Mitigation Plan Group Site Walks 

Mar. 30, 2015 Flood Mitigation Plan Open House 

April 27, 2015 Flood Mitigation Plan WRAB Public Hearing 

July-Sept. 2015 Flood Mitigation Plan Individual Property Owner Meetings 

Dec. 1, 2015 Flood Mitigation Plan City Council Public Hearing 

 A compilation of public comments is included in Appendix C. 

MAPPING AND SURVEYS  
Elevation data for the Study Area was provided by the City of Boulder.  The topographic mapping included 

2013 Light Detection and Ranging (LiDAR) data that was sponsored by FEMA and collected after the 

September 2013 flood event.  In addition, survey collected as part of previous hydraulic studies or as-built 

construction drawings was also incorporated in the analysis.  No new mapping or survey was performed as 

part of this analysis. 

DATA COLLECTION 
In addition to GIS data and other City resources, recent studies were analyzed during the process of developing 

this mitigation plan. The following is a list of these studies: 

 Major Drainageway Planning Study - Boulder and Adjacent County Drainageways “Phase A”, Greenhorne 
and O’Mara, 1984. 

 Major Drainageway Planning Study - Boulder and Adjacent County Drainageways “Phase B”, Greenhorne 
and O’Mara, 1987. 

 Flood Hazard Area Delineation Boulder and Adjacent County Drainageways Greenhorne and O’Mara, 
1987  

 Hydraulic Mitigation Analysis - Gregory Canyon Creek High Hazard Zone Reanalysis – Mini ‐ Master Plan, 
Belt Collins West, 2009. 

 LOMR Determination - Gregory Canyon Creek LOMR Determination Data Reconciliation (Approved by 
FEMA, 2010), Belt Collins West, 2010. 

 Hydraulic Mitigation Analysis - Gregory Canyon Creek Mitigation Analysis, WH Pacific, 2012. 
 Alternative Analysis - Pennsylvania Avenue Flood Repair / Improvement Alternative Analysis, City of 

Boulder, 2014.  

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
This report was completed with the support and input from various individuals at the City of Boulder, the 

Urban Drainage and Flood Control District (UDFCD) and CH2M.  The key participants in the development of 

this plan are shown in the following table: 

  
Project Contributors 

Project Team 

Members 

Affiliation Role 

Katie Knapp City of Boulder  Project Manager 

Annie Noble City of Boulder Principle Engineer for Flood and Greenways 

Christin Shepherd City of Boulder Civil Engineer I / GIS Analyst 

Laurel Olsen-Horen City of Boulder Flood and Greenways Specialist 

Kristin Dean City of Boulder Utilities Planner 

Shea Thomas UDFCD Sr. Project Engineer 

Alan Turner CH2M  Project Manager 

Morgan Lynch CH2M  Project Engineer 

Frans Lambrechtsen CH2M  Staff Engineer 

 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 13Packet Page 449



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

5 

SECTION 2–STUDY AREA DESCRIPTION 

PROJECT AREA  
Gregory Canyon Creek originates in City of Boulder Open Space.  From the city limits at Flagstaff Road to its 

confluence with Boulder Creek, Gregory Canyon Creek is approximately 1.8 miles in length and ranges in 

elevation from approximately 5727 feet to 5360 feet USGS.  The watershed associated with this creek is 

approximately 1.9 square miles.   

The upper part of the watershed is south of the city limits.  Upslope areas are covered with a variety of rock 

outcroppings, thick residual soils on bedrock, and thicker debris, alluvium, and slope wash deposits that are 

vegetated with grasses, trees, and shrubs.  Deeper soils and wetland vegetation are found on alluvial deposits 

adjacent to streams.  A well-defined channel is visible upstream of Flagstaff Road.  The Gregory Canyon trail is 

located along this section of the creek.   

 

Gregory Canyon Creek Upstream of City Limits 

Within the city limits, the creek generally flows to the northeast through developed neighborhoods, crossing 

both public and private land.  Throughout this area, the creek is mostly confined in narrow channels, due to 

fairly dense residential development, and conveyed under streets through culverts.   

 

Gregory Canyon Creek North of University Ave. 

Residential development along Gregory Canyon Creek began as early as 1890 in areas closer to the center of 

the city and peaked between the 1950’s and 1960’s as development moved closer to Baseline Rd.  Development 

has altered historic channels, stormwater flow paths, runoff characteristics, and surface water quality.  Most of 

the development within the Gregory Canyon Creek floodplain occurred prior to the city’s adoption of floodplain 

regulations and drainage system requirements, and therefore does not conform to current development 

standards.  There are currently only a few drainage and flood control easements across the private properties 

located along this creek.   

 

  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 14Packet Page 450



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

6 

SOILS 
According to the Soil Survey of Boulder County Area, Colorado (United States Department of Agriculture Soil 

Conservation Service in cooperation with Colorado Agriculture Experiment Station (1975)), the land within the  

Gregory Canyon Creek watershed is comprised of the following soil classifications: Fern Cliff-Allens Park-Rock 

Outcrop Complex (FcF), Juget-Rock Outcrop Complex (JrF), Rock Outcrop (Ro), Payton-Juget (PgE), Godvale 

Rock Outcrop Complex (Gfr), Colluvial Land (Cu), Baller Stony Sandy Loam (BaF), Nederland Series (NdD), and 

the Niwot Series (Nh).   

The upper portion of the watershed is predominantly Fern Cliff-Allens Park-Rock Outcrop Complex (FcF) and 

Juget-Rock outcrop complex (Jrf).  These soils, consist of stony sandy loam, gravely sandy loam and rock 

outcrops on mountain side slopes.  The runoff potential is medium to rapid and the erosion potential is high.  

The central part of the watershed contains Rock Outcrop (Ro), Payton-Juget (PgE), and Godvale Rock Outcrop 

Complex (Gfr).  Steep rock outcrops with exposed bedrock dominate. Pockets of gravely, loamy sand allow 

roots to penetrate to depths of 40 to 60 inches or more.  These areas provide prime habitat for wildlife.   

Further down in the watershed, where Gregory Canyon Creek crosses Flagstaff Road, Colluvial Land (Cu) is the 

predominant soil type until transitioning into the NdD soils at the Columbia Cemetery and Flatirons School.  Cu 

soils vary widely in depth, texture, color, and stoniness due to the runoff from adjacent slopes that these lands 

receive. Most area of Colluvial land have stones and cobbles on the surface. The erosion hazard associated with 

Cu soils is high.  The Nederland series (NdN) is made up of deep, well-drained soils that formed on old high 

terraces and alluvial fans.  The soils developed on loamy alluvium that contains many cobblestones and other 

stones.  These soils have moderate permeability and roots can penetrate to a depth of 60 inches or more. These 

areas have many stones and cobblestones on the surface.  Runoff is slow to medium on this soil and the hazard 

is slight. A band of Baller Stony Sandy Loam (BaF) exists along the western city limits in the lower watershed.  

These soils are shallow and well drained with rapid permeability, high erosion hazard and rapid runoff 

potential 

Niwot Series (Nh) soils are located at the confluence with Boulder Creek. The Niwot series is made up of deep, 

somewhat poorly drained soils that are shallow over gravelly sand.  These soils formed on low terraces and 

bottom lands in loam alluvium.  Niwot soils have moderate permeability.  Roots can penetrate to a depth of 60 

inches or more and the seasonal high water table is at a depth of between 6 and 18 inches.  Niwot soils are 

typically found on stream terraces and bottoms. Runoff is slow on these soils and the erosion hazard is slight 

except for back cutting near channels.  Because of their position in the landscape, these soils are frequently 

flooded and have seasonal high water table.  

 

Soils Map 

  

Gregory Canyon Creek 

Watershed 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 15Packet Page 451



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

7 

LAND USE  
Upstream of the city limits, the lands within the Gregory Canyon Creek watershed have been preserved as city 

Open Space.  Within the city limits, the majority of the property within the watershed is comprised of low 

density, residential zoning districts (RE and RL-1).  Density intensifies at approximately 6th St. and Marine 

where property is zoned RMX-1 (Residential-Mixed 1).  The land areas zoned Public (P) contain the Columbia 

Cemetery and the East Senior Center. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Zoning Map 

 

Notable landmarks within the watershed include the Highlands School, Hannah Barker House, Columbia 

Cemetery, Anderson Ditch, Flatirons Elementary School, and Smith Park. 

HIGHLANDS SCHOOL 
Built in 1891, the Highlands School (885 Arapahoe 

Ave.) was Boulder’s fourth permanent school. 

Situated at the confluence of Gregory Canyon 

Creek and Boulder Creek, the school was 

constructed on an elevated area to protect it from 

flooding.  During the 100-year flood of 1894, the 

school was unscathed while much of the town was 

substantially damaged.   The school closed in the 

1960’s due to the opening of numerous other 

schools in the Boulder Valley School District. The 

school was placed on the National Register of 

Historic Places in December of 1978.  That same 

year, the new owners set a course to restore and 

preserve the exterior while creating a luxurious 

interior space.  The building is now home to high-

end offices and the Highland City Club.      Highlands School 

HANNAH BARKER HOUSE 
One of the oldest buildings in Boulder, the Hannah 

Barker House, is located across the street from the 

historic Highlands School at 800 Arapahoe Ave.   The 

house was originally built in 1875 by Caleb and Carrie 

Stowell, and is historically significant because of its 

association with Hannah Connell Barker, a prominent 

pioneer woman, civic leader, philanthropist and 

business woman.  She was also one of the first female 

teachers in Boulder.  The house is currently being 

restored by Historic Boulder, Inc., who purchased the 

property in 2010.  

 

  Hannah Barker House 

  

Gregory Canyon Creek 

Watershed 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 16Packet Page 452



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

8 

COLUMBIA CEMETERY 
Columbia Cemetery is located west of 9th St. between Pleasant St. and College Ave.  The ten-acre tract of land 

was bought in 1870 by the Columbia Lodge #14 A.F. & A.M. (“Ancient Free and Accepted Masons”) from 

Marinus G. Smith and his wife, Anna.  Marinus Smith was also instrumental in constructing the Anderson Ditch 

which flows through the northerly portion of the cemetery.  After many years of financial difficulty and various 

owners, the cemetery became the responsibility of the City of Boulder Parks and Recreation Department in 

1966.  The cemetery was placed on the National Register of Historic Places in 1997.  Today, approximately 

6,500 people are interred in the cemetery.   

 

Columbia Cemetery 

THE ANDERSON DITCH 
In 1860, Jonas Anderson and Marinus Smith 

dug the Anderson Ditch, which diverted water 

from Boulder Creek and then wound through 

the neighborhoods west of Broadway, over 

University Hill, and past Green Mountain 

Cemetery.  Anderson and Smith were 

instrumental in bringing the university to 

Boulder and raised more than $16,000 in 

1876 for this endeavor.  This was the same 

year that that territory of Colorado became a 

state.  Today, one-third of the Anderson Ditch 

rights are owned by CU Boulder and almost 

all of the remaining two-thirds are owned by 

the City of Boulder.  

         Anderson Ditch at 7th St. 

FLATIRONS ELEMENTARY SCHOOL 
Flatirons Elementary School is located at 1150 7th St. on 

a 4.26 acre parcel bordered to the east by Columbia 

Cemetery, to the west by 7th St., to the south by College 

Ave. and to the north by Pleasant St.  The Anderson 

Ditch runs along with northerly edge of the school 

property and Gregory Canyon Creek is to the west, on 

the opposite side of 7th St.  Aside from the cemetery, the 

school is surrounded by single-family homes.  The 

school was first constructed in 1956 and is a 43,857 

square foot facility.  The school has classes for students 

in kindergarten through 5th grade. 

 

      Flatirons Elementary School 

SMITH PARK 
Smith Park is a 1.12 acre neighborhood park located on the east 

side of Gilbert St.  This land was donated to the City of Boulder in 

1963 by Mildred Cromley Smith as a memorial for her late 

husband, Edward Sell Smith, for whom the park was later 

named.  The park includes a small play structure, picnic tables 

and seating areas.  Natural areas surround the park providing 

areas for wildlife.  An unnamed tributary stream flows through 

the park and joins Gregory Canyon Creek immediately 

downstream of the park.   

 

                      Smith Park 

 

  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 17Packet Page 453



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

9 

FLOOD HISTORY 
Boulder is highly susceptible to flash flooding because it sits near the mouths of canyons in the foothills.  In 

1894, damaging floods were experienced in late May, during the time of spring runoff, when a heavy and 

constant spring rain was pinned against the western mountains by an upslope wind condition, dropping 5 to 

8.54 inches of rain during that period (Floods in Boulder County, Colorado, A Historical Investigation; Sherry D. 

Oaks; 1982).  During this event, the crest of the water on Sixth Street reached twelve feet and nearly every 

bridge along Boulder Creek was washed out. Historical accounts of the 1894 flood attribute flood damage near 

the Highlands School to Gregory Creek, which had also caused significant damage to homes and property many 

upstream locations. It is estimated that discharge in Boulder Creek was between 12,000 and 13,600 cfs during 

this event.  

Significant flooding has also occurred in Boulder in 1896, 1906, 1909, 1916, 1921, 1938, 1969, and most 

recently, in September of 2013. Peak discharges during the major flood events have ranged from 2,500 cfs to 

13,000 cfs, and most of the storms occurred in either May or June.   Flooding in Boulder County typically occurs 

as a result of snowmelt combined with heavy spring rainfall.  However, record setting rains were widespread 

across Boulder from Sept. 9 to 13, 2013 due to a moist tropical air mass from the Gulf of Mexico that was 

displaced into the region by air coming in from the south.  An upper-level high-pressure system locked this 

storm against the mountains to the west, and rain fell for about a week.  17.6 inches of rain fell over a three day 

period, making 2013 the wettest year on record in Boulder.   

During the September 2013 event, NOAA/NWS reported that ‘worst case’ 24-hour, 72-hour, and 7 day 

precipitation totals in many parts of the Boulder Creek watershed had annual exceedance probabilities on the 

order of 1/1,000 (0.1 percent), which is a 1,000-year rainfall event.  The precipitation lasted from September 9 

to September 15, 2013, with the most intense rainfall in the watershed occurring on September 11 and 13, 

when more than 6 inches of rain fell over a 24-hour period in many locations, including downtown Boulder (A 

September to Remember; Urban Drainage and Flood Control District, 2014).   

During the 2013 storm, channels and culverts along Gregory Canyon Creek were filled with rocks and debris 

which had been transported from erosion in the steep, mountainous portions of the watershed, thus 

significantly reducing the conveyance capacity.  Due to the undersized main channel and the plugged culverts, 

the streets served as the major drainage flow paths for Gregory Canyon Creek.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sept. 2013 Approximate Flooding Extents 

Street flooding 

at 7th St. and 

Arapahoe Ave., 

Sept. 2013 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 18Packet Page 454



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

10 

According to A September to Remember, “…the maximum 24-hour rainfall was approximately 8 inches within 

the Gregory Canyon Creek watershed.  The rainfall was greater in the lower part of the watershed, with a 

maximum 24-hour rainfall return period between 500 and 1,000 years.  There are no stream gages on Gregory 

Canyon Creek, so a peak flow was not estimated…Damages to property and transportation and drainage 

infrastructure in the watershed were severe…Gregory Canyon Creek dramatically demonstrated the urban 

drainage principle that every urban area has an initial and major drainage system whether or not actually 

planned and designed”.  

Wright Water Engineers prepared a “Rainfall-Runoff Analysis for the September 2013 Flood in the City of 

Boulder, Colorado”, which was publicly released in Sept. of 2014.  According to this study, during the 2013 

flood, precipitation depths and intensities generally increased from west to east with total rainfall from Sept. 

11-13 ranging 9.8 inches to 10.3 inches.  It is estimated that the rainfall return periods the Gregory Canyon 

Creek drainage way ranged from a 40-50 year event for the worst case 2-hour duration.   However, according 

to the Wright Water report, while the short-duration intensities reported are lower than those assumed in the 

100-year design storm, “the rocky soils and shallow bedrock in the upper sub-watersheds limit infiltration, and 

intense periods of rainfall later in the event, when soils were saturated, produced significant runoff and debris 

flows.”  Because of the significant amount of rocks, sediment and debris blocking the culverts along Gregory 

Canyon Creek, the extent of flooding in September 2013 was beyond what would be normally mapped for a 25-

50-year “clear water” flood.   

To determine runoff during the September 2013 event, Wright Water analyzed the city’s inundation mapping.  

According to the inundation maps, the runoff during the event was generally contained with the 100-year 

floodplain boundary, with the following notable exceptions:  

 The culvert at Willowbrook Rd. was clogged with debris, causing floodwaters to run down the roadway 

and “Gregory Gulch” to Aurora St. 

 Smith Park, which is outside of the 100-year floodplain saw flooding due to the flood flows along the 

unnamed tributary that crosses Gilbert St. and flows through the park. 

 West of the intersection of Aurora and 6th St., hillside flows ran down Aurora Ave., Circle Dr. and Park 

Lane. 

 At the intersection of College Ave. and 6th St., flood waters went north along 6th St. and then turned east 

and flowed along Pleasant St.   

 Downstream of Pleasant St., flood waters continued north down 7th St. to Boulder Creek and spread 

throughout the area between 7th St. and 9th St.    

The Anderson Ditch also runs across the Gregory Canyon Creek watershed and may have also contributed to 

the widespread flooding along Gregory Canyon Creek downstream of Pleasant St.  

Along the creek, many culverts became partially or mostly clogged with rocks, sediment, and debris which 

forced the floodwaters to leave the stream banks and flow down the streets. A landslide occurred below 

Flagstaff Rd. and sent rocks and debris downhill.  The storm sewer system and sanitary sewer systems were 

also overwhelmed due to the flood waters and elevated groundwater.   

DAMAGE ANALYSIS FROM THE 2013 FLOOD 
After the September 2013 flood, the city commissioned a study to analyze the source of and amount of damage 

caused by the flood.  The results are a compilation of data obtained via an online survey and also of claims 

submitted for FEMA for reimbursement.  In the Gregory Canyon Creek watershed, it is estimated that the total 

amount of damages exceeded just over $7,000,000.  The primary sources of damage we a result of major 

drainageway flooding, groundwater infiltration, and local drainage flooding.  It is estimated that approximately 

$1,941,000 in damage was caused in the 100 year floodplain, $2,473,800 in damage was caused in the 500 year 

floodplain, and the remainder was outside of the designated floodplains.   

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT 
A survey was completed in 2010 along many of the Boulder Creek tributary reaches to update the aquatic 

habitat inventory.  This inventory found the aquatic habitat along Gregory Canyon Creek to be in fair to poor 

condition.  From Boulder Creek to College Ave., the native plant habitat was evaluated as being poor, but the 

overall vegetative structure was found to be excellent to good.  Bird species richness in this stream reach were 

determined to be poor to very poor.  South of College Ave. to the city limits at Baseline Rd., native plants are 

considered to be in good condition, with the vegetative structure being very good.  Bird species richness is very 

good to good within this stream reach. The survey data sheet is included in Appendix C. 

WETLANDS 
Gregory Creek is a steep, rocky intermittent stream that flows northward along the eastern edge of a Pierre 

shale bedrock formation and drains into Boulder Creek.  According to the city’s “Functional Evaluation 

Summaries for Individual Wetlands”, included in Appendix C, the wetlands located along Gregory Creek east of 

Mountain Parks and south of Boulder Creek are characterized by a generally narrow active channel with a 

fairly steep gradient. Precipitation in the foothills to the west supports seasonal flows in the creek.   

The maximum water depth is approximately 1.5 feet. Ninety percent of this wetland is covered by vegetation 

with five percent comprised of bare ground and five percent in water.  The wetland vegetation is fairly dense 

along the creek and consists of narrowleaf cottonwood and mixed herbaceous trees and shrubs.  

The geohydrologic map indicates groundwater recharge or discharge are possible.  The effectiveness of the 

function is limited by impermeable bedrock near the surface, the narrow channel, and intermittent flows.   

PREVIOUS STUDIES AND MASTER PLANS 
The Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP), the Comprehensive Flood and Stormwater Utility Master Plan 

(“CFS”),  the Urban Drainage and Flood Control District (UDFCD) Drainage Criteria Manual and the Greenways 

Master Plan all contain policies related to floodplain preservation, development, and mitigation.  These 

documents guide flood mitigation master planning.  Previous master plans, floodplain mapping studies and 

mitigation planning documents were also reviewed for this mitigation plan as described below. 

  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 19Packet Page 455



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

11 

BOULDER VALLEY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
The following applicable policies are included in the BVCP: 

3.19 Preservation of Floodplains  

Undeveloped floodplains will be preserved or restored where possible through public land acquisition of high 

hazard properties, private land dedication and multiple program coordination. Comprehensive planning and 

management of floodplain lands will promote the preservation of natural and beneficial functions of 

floodplains whenever possible.  

3.20 Flood Management  

The city and county will protect the public and property from the impacts of flooding in a timely and cost-

effective manner while balancing community interests with public safety needs. The city and county will 

manage the potential for floods by implementing the following guiding principles: a) Preserve floodplains b) Be 

prepared for floods c) Help people protect themselves from flood hazards d) Prevent unwise uses and adverse 

impacts in the floodplain e) Seek to accommodate floods, not control them. The city seeks to manage flood 

recovery by protecting critical facilities in the 500-year floodplain and implementing multi hazard mitigation 

and flood response and recovery plans.  

 3.21 Non-Structural Approach  

The city and county will seek to preserve the natural and beneficial functions of floodplains by emphasizing 

and balancing the use of non-structural measures with structural mitigation. Where drainageway 

improvements are proposed, a non-structural approach should be applied wherever possible to preserve the 

natural values of local waterways while balancing private property interests and associated cost to the city.  

 3.22 Protection of High Hazard Areas  

The city will prevent redevelopment of significantly flood-damaged properties in high hazard areas.  The city 

will prepare a plan for property acquisition and other forms of mitigation for flood-damaged and undeveloped 

land in high hazard flood areas. Undeveloped high hazard flood areas will be retained in their natural state 

whenever possible. Compatible uses of riparian corridors, such as natural ecosystems, wildlife habitat and 

wetlands will be encouraged wherever appropriate. Trails or other open recreational facilities may be feasible 

in certain areas.  

 3.23 Larger Flooding Events  

The city recognizes that floods larger than the 100-year event will occur resulting in greater risks and flood 

damage that will affect even improvements constructed with standard flood protection measures. The city will 

seek to better understand the impact of larger flood events and consider necessary floodplain management 

strategies including the protection of critical facilities.  

COMPREHENSIVE FLOOD AND STORMWATER UTILITY MASTER PLAN 
The CFS contains the following guiding principles for flood management: 

1. Preserve Floodplains (Preservation);  
2. Be Prepared for Floods (Preparedness);  
3. Help People Protect Themselves from Flood Hazards (Education);  
4. Prevent Adverse Impacts and Unwise Uses in the Floodplain (Regulation);  
5. Seek to Accommodate Floods, Not Control Them (Mitigation). 

 
More detail about each of these guiding principles can be found in Chapter 3 of the CFS.  The fifth principal, as 

listed above, is directly related to mitigation and, in the CFS, more completely states: 

 Seek to accommodate floods, not control them through planned and monitored system maintenance, 
nonstructural flood proofing, opening non-containment corridors, overbank land shaping to train flood 
waters, and limited structural measures at constrained locations. Possible tools for implementation 
include: 

o Update mitigation master plans to emphasize nonstructural measures.  
o Re-evaluate mitigation priorities to eliminate bottlenecks, acquire land to avoid channel 

improvements, provide non-structural overbank grading, target limited flood protection 
improvements for high hazards, and research alternative mitigation approaches.   

o Assess any need for structural improvements with evaluation of multiple alternatives.  
o Focus on mitigating high hazard locations citywide and give priority to areas of the greatest 

risk. 

URBAN DRAINAGE AND FLOOD CONTROL DISTRICT (UDFCD) DRAINAGE CRITERIA MANUAL 
The UDFCD Drainage Criteria Manual contains the following basic policies: 

 The major drainageway system shall be capable of conveying water without flooding buildings and 
shall remain relatively stable during a 100-year flood.   

 Public safety is fundamental to the major drainageway system. 
 Public acceptance of the major drainageway system depends on a multitude of factors such as public 

perception of flood protection, channel aesthetics, right-of-way, open space preservation, and channel 
maintenance. 

 Identify areas with potential for recreational use. 
 Consider environmental impacts and benefits and examine the advantages and disadvantages. 
 Open channels are more desirable than underground conduits in urban areas because they are closer in 

character to natural drainageways and offer multiple use benefits. 
 Consider two-stage channels.  In some cases, it may be desirable to balance the 100-year flow between 

a formal channel and the adjacent floodplain. 

GREENWAYS MASTER PLAN 
The Greenways Program in the City of Boulder was an outgrowth of the Boulder Creek Corridor Project.  It was 

created on the basis of recognition that stream corridors are a vital link in the larger environmental system and 

that each stream is a natural and cultural resource.  The purpose of the Greenways Program is to extend the 

stewardship of the City of Boulder to the important riparian areas along the tributaries of Boulder Creek. The 

objects of the Greenways Program include: 

 Protect and restore riparian, floodplain and wetland habitat; 

 Enhance water quality; 

 Mitigate storm drainage and floods; 

 Provide alternative modes of transportation routes or trails for pedestrians and bicyclists; 

 Provide recreation opportunities; 

 Protect cultural resources. 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 20Packet Page 456



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

12 

To date, there have been few improvements along Gregory Canyon Creek which facilitate the Greenways 

Program purpose and objectives.  Considering the narrow channel of the creek and the development 

constraints, there have been no opportunities to construct pedestrian or bicycle facilities within the city limits 

along this stream reach.  Recreationally, there is a trail that follows this tributary up a fairly steep incline 

through Chautauqua Park and then beyond and which is located within the Boulder Open Space and Mountain 

Parks lands.  Additionally, Smith Park is located to the west of the main Gregory Canyon Creek Channel, but it 

has a small tributary that runs through it and which connects to the creek just below Euclid Ave. and 6th St.   

Implementation of the recommendations included in this flood mitigation plan will aid in mitigating storm 

drainage and floods and help to restore riparian, floodplain, and wetland habitat in certain areas along with 

creek. 

MAJOR DRAINAGEWAY MASTER PLAN 
A Major Drainageway Master Plan was developed in 1987 by Greenhorn & O’Mara that identified flood 

mitigation improvements for Gregory Canyon Creek.  Following the Master Plan, the following channel and 

culvert improvement projects were constructed: 

 Culvert replacement at Willowbrook Rd. (1996) 

 Channel widening, drop structure installation and rip-rap protection upstream of Aurora Ave. (1995)  

 Culvert replacement at Aurora Ave. (1995) 

 Culvert replacement at Pleasant St. (1995) 

 Channel grading, tree removal and drop structures installed between Pleasant St. and University Ave. 

(1995) 

 Channel grading and drop structure installation between Pennsylvania Ave. and 7th St. 

FLOODPLAIN MAPPING STUDY  
The floodplain maps for Gregory Canyon Creek were updated in 2010 (Belt Collins West, 2010).  The updated 

floodplain mapping established base flood elevations using detailed methods and incorporated improvements 

and changes along Gregory Canyon Creek. The figure to the right shows the 100-year floodplain, conveyance 

zone and high hazard zone delineated by the mapping study.   The number of structures located in each 

floodplain zone are shown in the table below: 

Flood Zone Number of Structures 

100-year Floodplain 98 

Conveyance Zone 63 

High Hazard Zone  32 

 

 

Floodplain Map   

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 21Packet Page 457



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

13 

GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION STUDIES 
During the floodplain mapping analysis in 2010, several properties were newly identified as being within the 

high hazard flood zone.  Prior to the adoption of the floodplain maps, a Mini-Master Plan was conducted to 

investigate the feasibility of mitigation options to remove the newly identified high hazard zone properties 

from the high hazard zone. None of the proposed projects identified in the Mini-Master Plan were implemented 

because the benefit to cost ratios did not justify moving forward and funding was allocated to other projects. 

A Mitigation Analysis was conducted in 2012 to further investigate improvement options to remove structures 

from the high hazard zone.  This analysis focused solely on high hazard zone modifications and did not assess 

improvements to reduce flood damages from more frequent storm events.  The analysis did not identify any 

improvements that would be financially feasible compared to the benefits of the proposed work and concluded 

that purchasing properties, deconstructing structures and converting property to open space would be the best 

policy for flood mitigation along Gregory Canyon Creek.  

BOULDER CIVIC AREA PLAN 
In July of 2015, Boulder City Council adopted a new Civic Area Master Plan for the Boulder Civic Area (BCA).  A 

phased implementation of the plan is taking place concurrent with the Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation 

Plan.  The existing flood risks to the West Senior Center site have been recognized and an evaluation of 

potential flood mitigation work has been recommended as part of the BCA planning process.   

SECTION 3-HYDROLOGIC ANALYSIS  
A hydrologic analysis was not performed as part of this master plan.  The information used in this master plan 

was derived from the previous hydrologic analysis performed for Gregory Canyon Creek.  To date, one report 

has been published documenting the hydrology of Gregory Canyon Creek.  The hydrologic study is described in 

detail in the following subsections and is referenced in the current Boulder County Flood Insurance Study (FIS) 

as the source for the FEMA effective hydrology. 

PREVIOUS STUDIES 
In accordance with an agreement with Urban Drainage and Flood Control District (UDFCD), the City of Boulder, 

and Boulder County, Greenhorne & O’Mara, Inc., completed a Major Drainageway Planning Study – Boulder and 

Adjacent County Drainageways for 11 drainageways in the Boulder area, including Gregory Canyon Creek, 

dated May 1987.  As a part of the study, Greenhorne & O’Mara completed future conditions hydrology for the  

2-, 5-, 10-, 50-, and 100-year storm events.  The Colorado Urban Hydrograph Procedure (CUHP) was used to 

determine the runoff hydrographs for each storm event.  These hydrographs were then routed through the US 

Army Corp of Engineers (USACE) Hydrologic Engineering Center (HEC) model, HEC-1.  It was documented in 

the report that the rainfall data reflected the 1982 guidelines stated in the Urban Storm Drainage Criteria 

Manual.  The study watershed for Gregory Canyon Creek was approximately 2.29 square miles with a 100-year 

peak discharge of 2,092 cfs at the confluence with Boulder Creek.  The peak discharges from this study are 

documented in the current FEMA FIS, dated December 18, 2012, and have been the basis for each subsequent 

study completed for the City of Boulder for Gregory Canyon Creek. 

SUMMARY OF PEAK DISCHARGES 
Hydrographs from the CUHP and HEC-1 analysis (Greenhorne & O’Mara, 1987) were extracted from output for 

use in the two – dimensional hydraulic analysis that was performed as part of this study.   

 

The FEMA effective flows identified in the 2010 Letter of Map Revision (LOMR) (Belt Collins West, 2010) were 

used for the one – dimensional Hydrologic Engineering Center River Analysis System (HEC-RAS) hydraulic 

modeling.  A summary of the discharges used in this study are shown below:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

D
is

ch
ar

ge
 (

cf
s)

Time (min)

Gregory Canyon Creek at Confluence with Boulder Creek

10-yr 50-yr 100-yr

Peak Discharge for Gregory Canyon Creek (cfs) 

Location  10-yr  50-yr  100-yr  500-yr  

Confluence with Boulder Creek (XS 10 – XS 180)  673  1672  2092  3700  

University Ave (XS 190 – XS 318)  600  1504  1900  3300  

College Ave (XS 330 – XS 455)  495  1286  1700  3000  

Willowbrook Road (XS 460 – XS 600)  400  1060  1450  2600  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 22Packet Page 458

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/Civic_Area_Masterplan_2015_FINAL-1-201507011615.pdf


GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

14 

SECTION 4-HYDRAULIC ANALYSIS  

EVALUATION OF EXISTING FACILITIES 
The existing conveyance infrastructure within the project area was evaluated using the HEC-RAS version 4.1.0 

and FLO-2D to determine the capacity of the infrastructure.  In addition, EPA-SWMM version 5.0 was used to 

evaluate the capacity of the 7th Street culvert and to analyze the storm drain system on Willowbrook Road 

The FEMA effective HEC-RAS hydraulic model was used as the baseline hydraulic condition for this analysis.  

This model was updated based on crossing information that was gathered on a site walk performed on July 17, 

2014.  The topography of Gregory Canyon Creek had been altered slightly by the storm event in September 

2013, however it was agreed that the topography reflected in the 2010 LOMR was the best information 

available.  City of Boulder Staff collected measurements for each public crossing.  The majority of crossing 

infrastructure gathered in the field was reflected in the baseline study, however several crossings were 

updated to reflect current field conditions.   

The geometry for the crossings was updated in the HEC-RAS model to reflect the conditions identified in the 

field maintaining the blockage assumption that was applied to the baseline hydraulic model.  This was done by 

reducing the area of the crossing by the assumed percent blockage.  These changes to the crossings had 

negligible impacts to the split flow reach and the model as a whole.  A comparison between the Effective Model 

(2010 Floodplain Study Geometry) and the updated Existing Conditions Models (Updated Geometry) is 

depicted in the table to the right.  No other changes were made to the baseline model to create the existing 

conditions HEC-RAS model for the purpose of this analysis. 

FLO-2D Evaluation 

 During the September 2013 storm event, many residents along the Gregory Canyon Creek corridor witnessed 

flows along streets adjacent to Gregory Canyon Creek.  To get a better understanding of the flow distribution 

outside the limits of the channel corridor, CH2M HILL developed a two-dimensional hydraulic model, using the 

FLO-2D V2009 model.  A grid was built using 2013 LiDAR data provided by the City of Boulder for the project 

area.  Manning’s N values were adjusted based on the surrounding land use as recommended by the 

documentation in the FLO-2D reference, see the table below for all Manning’s N assumptions for the FLO-2D 

hydraulic model. 

Location 

Percent 

Blockage 

Assumption 

2010 Floodplain Study 

Geometry  
Updated Geometry 

Flagstaff Rd 50% 73.2” diameter 54” diameter 

Private Drive at Old Baseline Road 100% 23” diameter -- 

Pedestrian Bridge at Willowbrook 

Road Cul-de-sac  
0% Not Modeled 

-- 

Private Drive at NW Corner of 

Willowbrook Road Cul-de-sac (705 

Willowbrook Road) 

50% 52.8” diameter 

-- 

Private Drive at West Side of 

Willowbrook Road (777 Willowbrook 

Road) 

50% 120” x 60” bridge 

-- 

Willowbrook Road 50% 108” x 60” box culvert -- 

Pedestrian Bridge at Willowbrook 

Road  
0% Not Modeled 

-- 

Private Drive 550 Aurora 0% 192” x 84” box culvert -- 

Aurora Crossing #1 0% 36” diameter -- 

Aurora Crossing #2 0% 60” x 120” box culvert -- 

Euclid Avenue 100% 48” diameter -- 

College Avenue 50% 62.4 “x 72” arch culvert 72” x 78” arch culvert 

Private Drive Wood Bridge DS of 

College Avenue 
75% Open Area = 77.4 sq. ft. 

-- 

Pennsylvania Avenue 50% 56.4” x 36” arch culvert -- 

7th Street 50% 48” diameter -- 

Weir Split Flow Box DS of Anderson 

Ditch 
0% Not Modeled 

-- 

704 Pleasant Street Patio 30% 66” x 34.8” arch culvert -- 

Pleasant Street 20% 96” x 48” arch culvert -- 

University Avenue 50% 72” x 60” arch culvert -- 

8th street and Alley 50% 66” x 38.4” arch culvert -- 

810 Marine Street 50% 48” x 36” box culvert 75” x 54” box culvert 

Marine Street 50% 96” x 48” box culvert 104” x 48” box culvert 

Alley Between Marine and Arapahoe 50% 62.4” x 42”  arch culvert -- 

Arapahoe Avenue 50% 120” x 36” box culvert 108” x 36” box culvert 

Private Driveway To Old School 50% 42” diameter 48” diameter 

Manning’s N Documentation 

Land use Description Manning’s N 

Value 

Developed, Medium Intensity 0.7 

Developed, Low Intensity 0.8 

Open Space 0.6 

Grassland 0.35 

Forested Area 0.4 

Developed Open Space 0.25 

Streets 0.02 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 23Packet Page 459



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

15 

A summary of the HEC- 1 peak discharges and their approximate location in the two – dimensional analysis are 

located in the table below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Once the FLO-2D geometry was created, the hydrographs from the HEC-1 Model (Greenhorne & O’Mara, 1987) 

were distributed at the appropriate flow change locations for the 2-, 5-, 10-, 50-, and 100-year storm events as 

documented in the figure to the right.  The results of the existing 100-year storm event are shown in the figure 

to the right.  The results of the FLO-2D analysis generally confirmed what was observed during the September 

2013 storm event.  Additional FLO-2D results including velocity vectors and a comparison to the September 

2013 event is included in the Alternatives Analysis Memorandum (Appendix A). 

FLOOD HAZARDS 
The City of Boulder and CH2M HILL staff conducted a site walk on July 17, 2014.  City staff was able to convey 

to CH2M HILL observations during the flood event of September 2013 and identify potential areas for 

improvements.  Some of the properties that had been damaged by flood waters had already been restored to 

pre-flood conditions or had improvements constructed such as flood walls to help prevent future flooding.  The 

objective during the site walk was to identify alternatives to help mitigate flooding.  In addition to the proposed 

improvements identified during the site walk, CH2M HILL noticed other deficiencies along Gregory Creek 

Canyon through detailed hydraulic modeling.  The channel geometry between Euclid Avenue and College 

Avenue was identified as one of the existing sections that is unable to convey the 10–year storm event without 

causing infrastructure damage.  Another section is the channel upstream of Euclid Avenue for approximately 

200-feet.  In addition, the crossing at Arapahoe Road is unable to convey the 10–year storm event that is being 

conveyed from the upstream channel section. These three areas were also considered for potential 

improvements during the alternative analysis. The alternatives are discussed in detail in the subsequent 

sections. 

 

   100-Year 2-D Analysis Flow Depths 

  

Peak Discharge Summary 

Location 

Return Interval (years), Peak 

Discharge (cfs) 

2-yr 5-yr 
10-

yr 

50-

yr 

100-

yr 

Approximately 150’ upstream of 

Flagstaff Rd 
32 168 328 937 1270 

1/3 of discharge at Aurora Ave, with 

2/3 placed on the local highpoint 
168 269 485 959 1179 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 24Packet Page 460



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

16 

SECTION 5-ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS 

ALTERNATIVE DEVELOPMENT PROCESS 
Typically, flood mitigation plans are developed with the intent to adequately convey a 100-year storm event, 

consistent with the policies of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, the Comprehensive Flood and 

Stormwater Utility Master Plan and the UDFCD Drainage Criteria Manual. 

Due to the existing residential development, channel mitigation to convey a 100–year event would not be 

feasible unless many of the existing homes along the creek corridor were removed.  Currently, the Gregory 

Canyon Creek channel does not have adequate capacity to contain a 10-year event.  During the development of 

the alternatives, it was determined that improvements along the creek could be constructed which would 

facilitate flows from a 10-year event.  Each culvert was evaluated for existing conditions, the size required to 

convey a 10-year event, and the maximum size that could feasibly be constructed without impacting existing 

buildings. 

Since the topographical and development constraints along Gregory Canyon Creek prevent modification which 

would convey flows that are greater than a 10-year event, it was recognized that the streets in the 

neighborhoods could be modified to better convey floodwaters in larger events.   

During the September 2013 event, floodwaters were observed in various roadways, with primary conveyance 

paths being 6th Street, 7th Street and 8th Street.  The flood did significant damage to these roads and left behind 

large amounts of debris.  Thus, street improvements were considered which would direct and retain water 

within the streets, protecting private properties.   

Sept. 2013 Flood Damage at 7th St. and Pleasant St. 

Additionally, areas for sediment traps and habitat improvements were evaluated as well as opportunities to 

implement other improvements based on observations from the 2013 Flood, such as a sanitary sewer main 

relocation and additional drainage inlets. 

ALTERNATIVE CATEGORIES 

The alternatives analysis includes the following categories: 

1. Channel and Culvert Improvements 

2. Improvements Outside of the Channel 

3. Property Acquisition 

4. Detention 

5. Other Improvements 

CHANNEL AND CULVERT IMPROVEMENTS 
The Gregory Canyon Creek channel was assessed between the Boulder city limits on the upstream end to the 

confluence with Boulder Creek.  Opportunities for culvert and channel improvements were identified from the 

culvert on private property at 705 Willowbrook Rd. to the culvert under the private drive leading to the 

historic Highlands School just north of Arapahoe Ave. Each culvert was evaluated for existing conditions, the 

size required to convey a 10-year event, and the maximum size that could feasibly be constructed without 

impacting existing buildings. Most culvert replacements would necessitate work in the channel directly 

upstream and directly below stream and in most situations, easements would need to be acquired from the 

property owners.  The tables below summarize the evaluation of each culvert including the channel work 

required.  Following is a brief discussion about each culvert and the recommendations for replacement. 

 

  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 25Packet Page 461



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

17 

Culvert C1-A:  Private Culvert at 705 Willowbrook Road 

Improvement Size 

Total 

Width Shape 

Length of 

culvert  (ft) 

Upstream 

Grading (ft) 

Downstream 

Grading (ft) CFS 

Storm 

Eq. Cost 

Existing 4.4' 4.4 Circular 34   337 <10  

10-yr 8' x 6' 8 Box 34 14 4 400 10 $114,814 

Max (2) 8' x 8' 16 Box 34 42 11 1,060 50 $233,313 

 

The existing culvert is one of the smallest along Gregory Canyon Creek.  During the September 2013 flood, 

there was significant scour across the southern (upstream) side of the culvert, resulting in sediment and rocks 

being carried downstream.  The limited capacity of the culvert also resulted in floodwaters spilling out of the 

creek channel, across Willowbrook Court and then back into the Gregory Canyon Creek channel.   

Sept. 2013 Flood Damage 

 

 

 

A reinforced concrete headwall was built at the upstream end of the culvert shortly after the flood.  Although 

replacing the culvert with a larger culvert could increase the capacity, it was determined that this improvement 

would not provide significant benefit, since overtopping flood waters return to the creek channel.  Due to the 

topography and other development surrounding this culvert, access for maintenance would be difficult.  An 

easement would be required for any improvements since the culvert is located on private property.   

 

Post-Flood Repair 

  

  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 26Packet Page 462



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

18 

Culvert C1:  Willowbrook Rd. 

Improvement Size Width Shape 

Length of 

culvert  (ft) 

Upstream 

Grading (ft) 

Downstream 

Grading (ft) CFS 

Storm 

Eq. Cost 

Existing 9' x 5' 9 Box        337  <10   

10-yr 9' x 7' 9 Box 140 24 6  400  10  $338,314  

Max (2) 9' x 7' 18 Box 140 36 9  1,187  50-100  $642,815  

 

The existing culvert conveys slightly less than a 10- year storm.  The culvert is 140 feet in length and was 

constructed in 1997.  

The trash rack at the upstream end of this culvert 

clogged with debris during the September 2013 

event, and flood waters overtopped Willowbrook 

Rd., onto private property, and ultimately into the 

usually dry Gregory Gulch, located between 860 and 

870 Willowbrook Rd.  The flood waters caused 

damage to property and structures and scoured a 

significant amount of sediment and rocks.   

                 Sept. 2013 Flood Damage 

 

After the flood, the trash rack was redesigned and 

replaced with one that meets current design standards 

and could be better maintained during a flood.   

 

 

     New Trash Rack 

Rather than replace this culvert with one only slightly larger, it is recommended that drainage inlets be 

installed to help control water in the event the culvert capacity is exceeded.  Additionally, adding grates over 

the culvert could aid in directing flood waters directly into the culvert and should be further evaluated, 

although due to existing utilities in the roadway this may not be feasible.

 

In order to accommodate future flood waters along “Gregory Gulch”, the property owners at 860 and 870 

Willowbrook Rd. have made landscaping improvements incorporating flood walls and other measures that will 

help protect their properties from future flood damage.  

Sept. 2013 Flood Damage                Post-Flood Repair (Upper Gregory Gulch) 

The feasibility of installing a pipe along Gregory Gulch was also analyzed.  The pipe could convey about 240 cfs 

and would cost approximately $165,000 to construct.  Since both property owners have already made 

modifications to their properties to better direct the floodwaters away from their homes, the installation of this 

pipe is not recommended.   

  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 27Packet Page 463



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

19 

Culvert C2:  6th and Aurora 

Improvement Size Width Shape 

Length of 

culvert  (ft) 

Upstream 

Grading (ft) 

Downstream 

Grading (ft) CFS 

Storm 

Eq. Cost 

Existing (2) 10' x 5' 20 box 80   495 10   

10-yr         495     

Max (4) 10' x 6' 40 box 80 80 20 1,696 50-100  $ 764,142  

 

The existing culvert in this location 

was constructed in 1995.  It is 

designed to convey the 10-year event 

at 495 cfs.  

 During the 2013 flood, the east side of 

this culvert filled with debris. A 

chained-link fence/gate on the 

downstream side of the culvert failed 

to swing open and collected debris.  

The fence/gate has since been 

removed.   

  

 

    Sept. 2013 Flood Damage  

Because this culvert is 

designed to pass the 10-

year event, it is not 

recommended that it be 

replaced. In order to 

accommodate water that 

may come onto Aurora Ave. 

from Gregory Gulch, it is 

recommended that 

improvements to the road 

be constructed which 

would direct flows across 

the roadway into the creek 

channel.  

    Existing Culvert 

Culvert C3:  Euclid Ave. at 6th St.  

Improvement Size Width Shape 

Length of 

culvert  (ft) 

Upstream 

Grading (ft) 

Downstream 

Grading (ft) CFS 

Storm 

Eq. Cost 

Existing 4' 4 circular       - <10   

10-yr (2) 8' x 6' 16 box 65 44 11    495                        10  $291,126 

Max (3) 10' x 6' 31 box 65 108 27 1,268                          50   $529,778  

 

There are actually two drainages at 6th and Euclid; the formal Gregory Canyon Creek drainage, and a tributary 

that flows off of Smith Park and through the property at 580 Euclid before it passes through a small culvert 

under Euclid into Gregory Canyon Creek.  There was significant flooding in 2013 in this area, but much of it was 

reported to have come from the Smith Park area, and not from the main Gregory Canyon Creek channel. 

 

Existing Culvert 

It is recommended that the Gregory Canyon Creek culvert be replaced with two 8’ x 6’ box culverts in order to 

convey the 10-year storm.  In order to preserve existing trees in the area, it is recommended that alternate 

culvert alignments be investigated.  It is also recommended that an alternate alignment of the creek channel 

downstream of the culvert be considered in order to better protect the homes on the north side of Euclid.   

  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 28Packet Page 464



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

20 

Culvert C4:  College Ave. and 6th St. 

Improvement Size Width Shape 

Length of 

culvert  (ft) 

Upstream 

Grading (ft) 

Downstream 

Grading (ft) CFS 

Storm 

Eq. Cost 

Existing 6' x 6.5' 6 arch       125  <10   

10-yr (2) 7' x 6' 14 Box 55 32 8 495 10  $250,168 

Max (3) 11' x 6' 33 box 55 108 27 1,286 50  $500,731  

  

This culvert was constructed in 1920 and, as designed, conveys 125 cfs.  Where the culvert outlets to Gregory 

Canyon Creek, the creek makes a sharp turn to the east and then flows between two residential structures.  

 

Existing Culvert 

It is recommended that this culvert be replaced with two 7’ x 6’ box culverts and be re-aligned to where flows 

are directed further to the east and not directly toward the existing house.  This would also result in a better 

alignment with the creek channel from that point north and eliminate a sharp turn in the channel alignment, 

which can cause scour and erosion.   

 

The property where the culvert outlets is located within the High Hazard Zone and the September 2013 flood 

did impact this property. The bridge, which serves as the driveway and main access to the home, was damaged 

and is in need of repair.  

 

Damaged Bridge 

  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 29Packet Page 465



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

21 

Culvert C5:  Pennsylvania Ave. 

Improvement Size Width Shape 

Length of 

culvert  (ft) 

Upstream 

Grading (ft) 

Downstream 

Grading (ft) CFS 

Storm 

Eq. Cost 

Existing 4.75' x 3' 4.75 arch       42  <10   

10-yr (2) 9' x 6' 18 box 45 53 13    600  10  $235,896 

Max  (3) 12' x6' 36 box 45 121 30  1,469  10-50  $464,895 

Pedestrian Bridge 

30' bridge span / 10' deck 

width / 30" deck thickness /    

4' handrails / 18' wide 

channel 18   53 13     600  10  $ 90,000 

The road across Gregory Canyon Creek at Pennsylvania Ave. was completely washed out during the 2013 

flood, exposing a culvert that that was severely damaged.  The roadway was not immediately repaired 

because it looked like there was an opportunity to increase the flood conveyance capacity and improve the 

riparian habitat for what was initially considered to be a similar cost to replace the culvert pipe and repair the 

roadway.  Therefore, prior to making repairs to the roadway, three different options were assessed: 

Option 1: Replace the existing culvert and rebuild the roadway. 

Option 2: Remove the culvert and damaged roadway above the creek, close the road to through traffic, 

and build a pedestrian bridge over the creek. 

Option 3: Remove the culvert and construct a new roadway with a significantly larger culvert or a 

vehicular bridge over the creek. 

An open house was held on Feb. 6, 2014 to obtain public input regarding these options.  The public 

overwhelmingly supported Option 2; removing the culvert and building a pedestrian bridge over the creek.  

Closing the road to thru traffic on both sides of the bridge was also very much supported by the public.  These 

options were then presented to the Greenways Advisory Committee (GAC).  Due to the urgency of repairing the 

road in order to prevent more erosion and the accumulation of trash in the area, the GAC and utilities staff 

recommended that the culvert be replaced and the road repaired immediately and that Option 2 be further 

evaluated with the Gregory Canyon Creek Mitigation study.   

Constructing a 30-foot long bridge across the creek, and maintaining an open channel under the bridge would 

convey 600 cfs, equivalent to conveying the 10-year event.  Considering the public support of building the 

pedestrian bridge, and the fact that this is the least costly of the other alternatives, it is recommended that the 

bridge be considered the preferred alternative.    

 

 

 

 

Sept. 2013 Flood Damage 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Post Flood Repair  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 30Packet Page 466



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

22 

Culvert C6: 7th St. by Flatirons Elementary School 

Improvement Size Width Shape 

Length of 

culvert  (ft) 

Upstream 

Grading (ft) 

Downstream 

Grading (ft) CFS 

Storm 

Eq. Cost 

Existing 8' x 4.25' 8 circular 153  <10 

10-yr (2) 10' x 6' 20 box 50 44 11 600  10  $278,764  

Max (2) 13' x 6' 26 box 50 72 18 1,339  10-50 $347,319  

The trash rack at the upstream end of 

this culvert clogged with debris during 

the September 2013 event, and flood 

waters flowed south, down 7th St., 

damaging the roadway and properties 

in the area.  During the flood, the trash 

rack was removed in order to help 

alleviate the flooding conditions, but 

the culvert filled with rocks and debris 

and flood waters continued to run 

down the street. Additionally, 

Anderson Ditch overtopped and filled 

with sediment. 

Sept. 2013 Flood Damage 

After the flood, the trash rack was redesigned 

and replaced with one that meets current 

design standards and could be better 

maintained during a flood.  

New Trash Rack 

The upstream end of this culvert is located on 637 Pennsylvania Ave. and the city holds a drainage easement on 

this property.  Constructing a sediment trap upstream of this culvert has been identified as an additional 

alternative to help capture debris before it reaches the trash rack. The existing culvert only conveys 153 cfs.  To 

convey the 10-year event (600 cfs) the culvert would need to be replaced with two 10’ x 6’ box culverts.   

The downstream end of this culvert runs under the Anderson Ditch before it outlets at 704 Pleasant St. The 

creek then drains through a separate private culvert on this property before passing through an open channel 

until meeting Pleasant St. 

Sept. 2013 Flood Damage (7th St. and Anderson Ditch) 

The recommendation for this culvert is to replace it with the two 10’ x ‘6 box culverts to convey the 10-year 

storm (600 cfs), but to also realign it more to the west before it outlets onto 704 Pleasant into an open channel, 

eliminating the need for the private culvert. 

The feasibility of putting Anderson Ditch in a pipe from the point it currently daylights on the west side of 7th to 

the cemetery was also evaluated.  The decreed and maintained water right flow for the ditch is 25 cfs.  

According to the city’s stormwater agreement with the Anderson Ditch Company, the city has the right to use 

all of the excess capacity of the Anderson Ditch for the conveyance of storm water from lands within the 

corporate limits of the city.  This agreement also states that the city has a right to make improvements to the 

Anderson Ditch, but that all such improvements must be constructed to convey a minimum of 25 cfs.  A 36” RCP 

(Reinforced Concrete Pipe) is recommended and would cost approximately $43,400 to construct.  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 31Packet Page 467



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

23 

Culvert C6-B:  Private Culvert on 704 Pleasant 

Improvement Size Width Shape 

Length of 

culvert  (ft) 

Upstream 

Grading (ft) 

Downstream 

Grading (ft) CFS 

Storm 

Eq. Cost 

Existing 5.5' x 2.9' 5.5 arch 11  <10 

10-yr (2) 8' x 6' 16 box 180 62 16 600  10  $260,062  

Max (2) 12' x 6' 23 box 180 78 74 1,310  10-50  $307,347  

As noted above, 704 Pleasant has a private culvert, along with the Anderson Ditch running along the southern 

edge of the property.  This culvert only conveys 11 cfs.  During the 2013 flood, this culvert filled with sediment.  

If this culvert were to be replaced instead of eliminated as recommended above, it could be replaced with two 

8’x6’ box culverts that would convey the 10-year storm (600 cfs).   

2013 Flood Damage 

Culvert C7:  Pleasant St. 

Improvement Size Width Shape 

Length of 

culvert  (ft) 

Upstream 

Grading (ft) 

Downstream 

Grading (ft) CFS 

Storm 

Eq. Cost 

Existing 8' x 4.25' 8 arch 153 <10 

10-yr (2) 10' x 6' 20 box 50 44 11 600 600 $295,163 

Max (2) 13' x 6' 26 box 50 72 18 1,339 10-50 $347,470 

This culvert is located at Pleasant St., just east of 7th St.  The properties just downstream of this culvert were 

impacted by flood waters in 2013.  While this culvert was replaced in 1995, as designed, it has the capacity to 

only pass 153 cfs.  It is recommended that this culvert be replaced with two 10’ x 6’ box culverts, totaling a 

width of 20 feet, to facilitate the passage of the 10-year storm (600 cfs).   

Existing Culvert 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 32Packet Page 468



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

24 

Culvert C8:  University Ave. at 8th St.   

Improvement Size Width Shape 

Length of 

culvert  (ft) 

Upstream 

Grading (ft) 

Downstream 

Grading (ft) CFS 

Storm 

Eq. Cost 

Existing 6' x 5' 6 arch       104  <10   

10-yr (2) 9' x 6' 18 box 105 48 12 600  10  $475,753 

Max (2) 10' x 6' 20 box 105 56 14 1,237  10-50  $528,261 

 

While flooding in 2013 was widespread throughout this drainage, the flooding extents became significantly 

more spread-out in this location and continued downstream, to the north until reaching Boulder Creek. In 2013 

flooding spanned almost 950 feet down University (from 7th to 9th St.). This was also in large part due to the 

extreme crown on University that barred water from easily passing further north to Boulder Creek.   

It was calculated that this culvert is only capable of conveying 104 cfs.  It is recommended that this culvert be 

replaced with two 9’x 6’ culverts with a combined width of 18-feet to facilitate the passage of the 10-year storm 

(600 cfs).  Additionally, should any road improvements be considered for this section of University Ave., then it 

is recommended that improvements be made, such as removing the crown, to better facilitate drainage to the 

north, into Boulder Creek.   

 

Existing Culvert 

Culvert C9: 8th St. and the Alley 

Improvement Size Width Shape 

Length of 

culvert  (ft) 

Upstream 

Grading (ft) 

Downstream 

Grading (ft) CFS 

Storm 

Eq. Cost 

Existing 6' x 3.25' 6 arch       64  <10   

10-yr (2) 9' x 6' 18 box 170 48 12 673  10  $278,520  

Max (2) 10' x 6' 20 box 170 56 14 1,092  10-50  $797,915 

 

This culvert is located partially on private property between 745 University Ave. and 765 University Ave. The 

culvert was constructed in 1940 and can only convey 64 cfs.   The culvert dog-legs across the alley, across 744 

Marine, and then diagonally across 8th St. where it outlets onto 1544 8th St.  Like much of the Gregory Canyon 

Creek corridor, the city does not currently hold any easements in this area. 

During the 2013 flood event, flood waters were widely spread-out in this area and not contained within the 

main creek channel.  Because of that, there were no specific issues with culvert blockage or overtopping. It is 

recommended that the culvert be replaced with two 9’ x 6’ culverts which will enable the passage of the 10-

year storm (673 cfs).  Replacing this culvert would require easements from all intervening property owners.   

 

Existing Culvert 

  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 33Packet Page 469



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

25 

Culvert C10:  Marine St. between 8th St. and 9th St.  

Improvement Size Width Shape 

Length of 

culvert  (ft) 

Upstream 

Grading (ft) 

Downstream 

Grading (ft) CFS 

Storm 

Eq. Cost 

Existing 8 x 5'4' 8.5 box       155  <10   

10-yr (2) 9' x 6' 18 box 70 38 10 673  10  $342,101 

Max (3) 9' x 6' 27 box 70 74 19 1,576  10-50  $500,520  

 

As with the majority of culverts along Gregory Canyon Creek, the existing culvert at Marine St. between 8th and 

9th St. conveys far less than the 10-year event. In order to convey the 10-year storm (673 cfs), it is 

recommended that two 9’x 6’ box culverts be constructed and higher capacity inlets be installed along the 

curbs over the new culvert.   

 

Existing Culvert 

Culvert C11:  Alley between Marine and Arapahoe 

Improvement Size Width Shape 

Length of 

culvert  (ft) 

Upstream 

Grading (ft) 

Downstream 

Grading (ft) CFS 

Storm 

Eq. Cost 

Existing 5' x 3.5' 5 arch       45  <10    

10-yr (2) 10' x 6' 20 box 45 60 15 673  10  $278,520  

Max (2) 10' x 6' 20 box 45 60 15 673 10  $280,871  

 

This alley provides vehicular access to several multi-family units.  During the 2013 flood, a portion of the road 

at the downstream (north) side the culvert was washed out.  This culvert was constructed in 1940 and was not 

replaced after the flood, although it was noted to be in very poor condition.  It is recommended that the culvert 

be replaced with two 10’ x 6’ culverts which would convey the 10-year storm (673 cfs).  

 

Existing Culvert 

  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 34Packet Page 470



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

26 

Culvert C12:  Arapahoe Ave. just west of 9th St.  

Improvement Size Width Shape 

Length of 

culvert  (ft) 

Upstream 

Grading (ft) 

Downstream 

Grading (ft) CFS 

Storm 

Eq. Cost 

Existing 9' x 3' 9 box       141  <10   

10-yr (2) 11' x 5' 21 box 65 48 12 673  10  $340,761  

Max (3) 12' x 5' 37 box 65 112 28 1,350     $543,292  

 

Arapahoe Ave. also has a high crown, but not to the extent as University Ave.  The culvert under Arapahoe was 

built in 1930 and is far too undersized for the attenuation that occurs during even a 10-year event at this point 

along Gregory Creek.  It is recommended that this culvert be replaced with two 11’ x 5’ culverts in order to 

convey the 10-year storm (673 cfs).  

 

Existing Culvert 

Culvert C13: Drive to the Highlands School 

Improvement Size Width Shape 

Length of 

culvert  (ft) 

Upstream 

Grading (ft) 

Downstream 

Grading (ft) CFS 

Storm 

Eq. Cost 

Existing 4' 4 circular        7  <10   

10-yr 15' x 6' 15 box 25 44 11 673  10  $146,625  

Max (2) 15' x 6' 30 box 25 104 26 1,447  10-50  $290,877 

Bridge:  

30' Bridge span/ 26'deck 

width/30" deck thickness      830  10-50  $108,675  

 

This culvert was constructed in 1970, and only conveys 7 cfs.  Considering that this is the last culvert before 

Gregory Canyon Creek’s confluence with Boulder Creek, and thus attenuation will be at its highest at this 

location, increasing the capacity at this location should be a priority.  Installing a 15’ x 6’ culvert would convey 

the 10-year storm (673 cfs).  However, constructing a bridge at this location was determined to be a more cost 

effective solution and could present opportunities to create an entrance that reflects the history and character 

of Boulder as well as offering opportunities to work in partnership with the owner of this historic property.  

Doing so would allow the creek to pass through in an open channel rather than a culvert and thus 830 cfs could 

then be conveyed.   

 

Existing Culvert 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 35Packet Page 471



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

27 

CHANNEL MODIFICATIONS  
In order to achieve better capacity along the creek, channel modifications were considered.  Improvements to 

achieve a 100-year design capacity were determined to be infeasible due to the existing development along the 

creek corridor, but improvements could be constructed to achieve a 10-year design capacity.  Culvert 

replacements would also require a certain amount of channel improvements both on the upstream end and the 

downstream end, as noted in the tables associated with each culvert.   

Through the engineering evaluation, the following areas were identified as requiring channel improvements in 

order to achieve 10-year design capacity: 

 Upstream of Euclid (200-foot reach) 

 Between Euclid and College (200-foot reach) 

 Between Marine and 8th St. (65-foot reach) 

Based on qualitative field observations of the existing conditions, the following additional areas were identified 

for potential channel improvements: 

 Downstream of Euclid (100-foot reach) 

 Unnamed tributary across Smith Park to Euclid (450-foot reach) 

 Between Pennsylvania Ave. and 7th St. (200-foot reach) 

 Four creek sections between University Ave. and Arapahoe Ave. (four different 200-foot reaches) 

In most of these locations, easements would be needed to construct and maintain the improvements.  

IMPROVEMENTS OUTSIDE OF THE CHANNEL 

Since the topographical and development constraints along 

Gregory Canyon Creek prevent modifications to the channel 

which would convey flows that are greater than a 10-year storm, 

it was recognized that the streets in the neighborhoods could 

potentially be modified to convey floodwaters for larger storm 

events.  During the September 2013 event, floodwaters were 

observed in various roadways, with primary conveyance paths 

being 6th Street, 7th Street and 8th Street.  

In some locations, such as along University Ave., crossing 

roadways acted as barriers to flood flows due to the high crown 

of the street.  Therefore, potential street improvements were 

considered to help direct and retain water within the streets.   

 

Existing Roadway Crown of University Ave. at 7th St. 

The flow modeling used to formulate the mitigation measures showed that overflows from Gregory Canyon 

Creek onto the road system during a 100-year event could exceed 350 cfs for the roads identified for 

conveyance.  Near Boulder Creek, the maximum achievable flow is 193 cfs which is approximately 50% of the 

modeled 100-year flows in the street.  Street improvements would help to lessen flood damage during more 

frequent storm events.    

PROPERTY ACQUISITION 
The city has a program in place to purchase properties located in flood prone areas, and particularly in the high 

hazard flood zone when there is a willing seller.  Opportunity-based property acquisition is a key element of 

the floodplain management program given the city’s interest in working with a willing seller.  The property 

acquisition program, in conjunction with flood mitigation improvements has been very successful over the 

years and has resulted in over one hundred structures no longer being in the high hazard floodplain.  

The property at 810 Marine St., which is located along Gregory Canyon Creek, was purchased by the city and 

the structure was removed in 2012 (see photographs next page).  Along this creek, there are 32 structures 

located in the high hazard zone.  Purchasing certain properties in the high hazard zone would not only remove 

the life-safety risk, but would also open up additional opportunities to improve flood conveyance in these 

areas.   

  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 36Packet Page 472



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

28 

810 Marine Before Acquisition  

810 Marine Before Acquisition  

 

810 Marine After Deconstruction  

810 Marine After Deconstruction 

  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 37Packet Page 473



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

29 

Through this flood mitigation planning effort, the city has identified several properties in the high hazard zone 

along Gregory Canyon Creek which should be prioritized for purchase.  There properties are along the 

downstream section of Gregory Canyon Creek, in close proximity to each other and to the recently purchased 

810 Marine St. property, and therefore could facilitate a more consolidated and comprehensive flood 

mitigation planning effort.  The properties identified for prioritization are listed in the table below: 

Property Acquisition Priority Properties 

Address Assessed Value 

704 Pleasant St. $676,000  

755 Pleasant St. $863,000  

744 University $520,000  

765 University $585,900  

1544 8th $398,600  

802 Marine St. $429,400  

818 Marine St. $450,000  

833 Marine St. $570,600  

1655 9th St. $1,400,000  

1639 9th St. #1 $289,600  

1641 9th St. #2 $289,600  

1643 9th St. #3 $289,600  

1645 9th St. #4 $289,600  

1647 9th St. #5 $289,600  

1649 9th St. #6 $289,600  

Total $7,631,100  

Note: 755 Pleasant St. includes two properties under the same ownership.  One property has a residential 

structure and the other is vacant.  

These properties were prioritized due to the following factors: 

 Amount of the structure located within the high hazard zone 

 Proximity to the creek channel/opportunities for additional flood mitigation measures 

 Age and condition of the structure 

In addition to removing the life safety risks associated with properties in the high hazard zone, purchasing 

these properties and removing the structures could open up opportunities for better channel maintenance, 

additional flood mitigation measures and the potential of neighborhood pocket parks.   

Considering the complexities involved in purchasing a multi-unit/multiple owner condominium building (Units 

#1-6 at 1647 9th St.), if these units were not included as a priority, the remaining value of the prioritized 

properties is $5,729,500.   

Since the high hazard acquisition program purchases properties that are on the market, the ability to purchase 

these properties is limited.  Thus, the ability to plan a comprehensive mitigation plan that incorporates 

property acquisition is not currently feasible.  It is acknowledged, though, that should one or more of these 

properties become available and there is a willing seller to the city, then mitigation planning should commence.   

DETENTION 
An evaluation of detention along Gregory Canyon Creek was performed to identify possible areas where 

detention facilities could help improve flows by attenuation or other means.  The following areas were 

reviewed for potential detention: 

 Immediately upstream of Flagstaff Rd.  

 Smith Park  

 Flatirons Elementary School 

Detention upstream of Flagstaff Rd. would hold .42 acre-feet.  Significant impacts associated with detention in 

this location could include excavation on Open Space and Mountain Park’s property, potential reconstruction of 

Flagstaff Rd. to act as a dam.  Flagstaff Rd. is greater than 10 feet above Gregory Canyon Creek which would 

cause the detention facility to be classified a jurisdictional dam and subject to the regulation of the Colorado 

State Engineers Office (SEO).  This would require the completion of a hazard Classification Report to classify 

the hazard of the structure and increased regulatory approval and oversight though all phases of the dam 

design, construction and operation which would significantly increase the cost of the design, construction and 

ongoing operations and maintenance for a facility that would provide limited benefit to reducing peak flows 

downstream.  Due to these consideration, detention upstream of Flagstaff Rd. is not recommended. 

Detention at Smith Park could provide approximately 1.59 acre feet of storage, but this would fill in 

approximately three minutes in a ten year storm.  The detention would necessitate excavation at depths 

ranging from 10-feet to 18-feet.  Due to the relative cost for construction and earthwork and the minimal 

benefits this facility would provide, detention at Smith Park is not recommended.  

The open fields on the south west corner of the Flatirons Elementary School were suggested for detention.  

This site could potentially provide 2.89 acre-feet of storage at a depth of 6-feet. During a 10-year storm, this 

pond would fill in approximately six minutes and hold flows for up to 48 hours after an event. This site would 

require approximately 400 feet of RCP pipes to deliver flow from Gregory Canyon Creek to the pond and up to 

450 feet of pipe to return the flow to Gregory Canyon Creek.   

The site could be continued to be used for the school playground, but as noted, once the pond fills, it would be 

full for up to 48 hours in a flooding situation and could pose a flash flood hazard to the school.  Considering the 

safety issues, costs of excavation and piping and the limited benefits that this pond would provide, this site is 

not recommended for detention.  

In summary, options for detention along Gregory Canyon Creek did not appear viable and therefore were not 

carried forward as feasible alternatives.  

  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 38Packet Page 474



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

30 

OTHER IMPROVEMENTS 
Additionally, areas for sediment traps and habitat improvements were evaluated as well as opportunities to 

implement other improvements based on public input and observations from the 2013 Flood, such as a 

sanitary sewer main relocation and additional drainage inlets and possible grates. 

Sewer Manhole Damage - Sept. 2013 

Sediment Traps 

The watershed contains natural areas with highly erodible soils.  The 2013 flood resulted in unstable areas 

with loose rocks and debris.  In order to better manage sediment, rocks and debris, sediment traps were 

considered.  Areas identified for potential sediment traps include: 

 Upstream of Culvert C1 (Willowbrook Rd.) 

 Upstream of Culvert C2 (Aurora Ave.) 

 Upstream of Culvert C6 (7th St. across from Flatirons School) 

 Smith Park 

These sites were selected because they were observed to have significant debris during the Sept. 2013 flood 

and they are adjacent to existing streets or public land, providing for adequate maintenance access.   During the 

conceptual design the sediment traps proposed at Aurora Ave. and Smith Park were eliminated from the 

recommended plan because existing site conditions made them infeasible or very difficult to maintain.  

Habitat Improvements 

Protecting streams and enhancing wildlife habitat are important values of the community.  Therefore, habitat 

improvements should be considered in addition to flood mitigation measures.  Within the city limits, the 

majority of the Gregory Canyon Creek channel is located on private property.  Property owners can work on 

their own or in conjunction with city staff to assess stream and riparian areas and identify habitat 

improvements such as: 

 Removal of noxious weeds and non-native species 

 Removal of hazardous trees 

 Addition of native plants 

 Water quality enhancements 

Storm Drain and Sanitary Sewer Improvements 

Although this is a major drainageway mitigation plan and is not focused on storm drainage system 

improvements or the sanitary sewer system, a few areas were highlighted where improvements could be 

beneficial during a major storm event: 

 Additional storm drainage inlets on Willowbrook Dr. to help capture floodwaters that overtop the 

culvert 

 Relocation of the sanitary sewer manhole and pipes currently located within the “Gregory Gulch”, 

which washed-out during the Sept. 2013 flood. 

 Installation of grates above culverts  

Civic Area Redevelopment 

Flood hazards are a significant issue in the current planning efforts for the Civic Area, which includes portions 

of the Gregory Canyon Creek floodplain.  The existing West Senior Center sustained damages from Gregory 

Canyon Creek during the September 2013 flood event.  The Civic Area planning efforts have committed to 

being proactive about planning for and educating about floods that support sustainable and resilient 

development.  As the Civic Area plan is developed, further evaluation of potential flood mitigation work is being 

undertaken.   

ALTERNATIVE COSTS 
Five alternatives were examined during the development of this mitigation plan, with four being developed by 

the consultant and one by the City.  The first alternative included an upgrade of infrastructure for the 10-year 

storm event, which included adjacent channel grading to allow for proper expansion and contraction around 

the culvert; additionally, channel improvements through the corridor were included in this alternative.  The 

second alternative examined what was termed as the maximum upgrade to infrastructure which included 

culvert sizes capable of handling flow between a 10-year and 50-year storm event, with similar channel 

grading for expansion and contraction; similarly, channel improvements through the reach were included as 

well.  The third and fourth alternatives added additional improvements to the first and second alternatives by 

considering street conveyance enhancements throughout the corridor.  The first alternative of 10-year 

infrastructure improvements was recommended by the consultant and City staff built upon this 

recommendation to develop their own recommended plan, or fifth alternative. This alternative includes select 

street conveyance improvements examined in the third and fourth alternatives, with additional work including 

sediment traps, habitat improvement, piping of Anderson ditch, and others.  Cost estimates for the proposed 

alternatives are included in Appendix A.  

ALTERNATIVE PLANS  
The following figures graphically represent the alternatives considered in the analysis.  The complete 

Alternative Analysis Memorandum with the Engineer’s Recommended Plan is included in Appendix A. 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 39Packet Page 475



K

K

!

!

!

?

C1
Exst: (1) 9' x 5' box culvert
with new storm inlets
10Yr: (1) 9' x 7' box culvert
Max: (2) 9' x 7' box culverts

C1-A
Exst: (1) 4.4' diameter pipe
10Yr: (1) 8' x 6' box culvert
Max: (2) 8' x 8' box culverts

Gregory Canyon Creek

Potential storm pipe and 
sanitary sewer relocation

Gregory Gulch

650

785

770

550

815 825

839

715

845835

711

555

845

530

840

601

520

700

801

505

819

755

440

613

851

740

805

705

700

730

854

701

430

595

421

840 850770 600

800

405

711

885

855

875

440

860

626

412

707

485

725

475

400

850740
840

870

880

780

425

840

760

415

730

815

720

860

860756

450 420

890

710

750

430

865

777

405

820

850

700

868

709

879755 771

705

863

770

675 815

880

700

875

707736 814

865

744 888

835

722 750

845

868

825

855

824 834

772

595

445

435 885

611
617

6TH

7TH

BA
SE

LIN
E

FLAGSTAFF

PARK

CA
SC

AD
E

CIRCLE

GREGORY

WILLOWBROOK

CH
RI

ST
MA

S 
TR

EE

Gregory Canyon Creek
Alternative Analysis Plan

City Limits

Creek

! Existing Sanitary Sewer

Channel Improvements

Existing Culverts
Culvert Improvement

Overflow Path

Street Improvements

10Yr Channel Grading

Max Channel Grading

Potential Storm Inlet

KPotential Sediment Trap

?Proposed Detention Pond

0 100 20050 Feet

Infrastructure Improvement
Dimensions are width x height 
Recommended Plan in Bold

Channel Improvement

LEGEND

Map 1 of 3³

© 2015 City of Boulder, CO Subject to Revision - Revised: 4/17/2015

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 40Packet Page 476

knapk1
Typewritten Text

knapk1
Typewritten Text
31



K

K

K

?

?

ANDERSON DITCH

C7
Exst: (1) 8' x 4.25' box culvert
10Yr: (2) 10' x 6' box culverts
Max: (2) 13' x 6' box culverts

Lower invert by 2-ft

C5
Exst: (1) 4.75' x 4' CMP arch
10Yr: (2) 9' x 6' box culverts
Max: (3) 12' x 6' box culverts
10' wide pedestrian bridge

C4
Exst: (1) 6' x 6.5' box culvert
10Yr: (2) 7' x 6' box culverts
Max: (3) 11' x 6' box culverts
or culvet realignment

C3
Exst: (1) 4' diameter pipe
10Yr: (2) 8' x 6' box culverts
Max: (3) 10' x 6' box culverts

Lower invert 1.7-ft

Lower invert by 3-ft

C8
Exst: (1) 6' x 5' box culvert
10Yr: (2) 9' x 6' box culverts
Max: (2) 10' x 6' box culverts

C6-B
Exst: (1) 5.5' x 2.9' box culvert
10Yr: (2) 8' x 6' box culverts
Max: (2) 12' x 6' box culverts
or remove culvert, realign creek

C6
Exst: (1) 4.5' diameter pipe
10Yr: (2) 8' x 6' box culverts
Max: (2) 12' x 6' box culverts
or culvert realignment

C2
Exst: (2) 10' x 5' box culvert
10Yr: flows pass through existing structure
Max: (4) 10' x 6' box culverts

5-ft channel bottom
Adjust right bank 9' to the east
2H: 1V side slopes

6-ft channel bottom
Increase top width by 8'
2H: 1V side slopes

Gregory Canyon Creek
Anderson D

itch

Pipe Anderson Ditch

0

0

1150

595

950

633

637

701

650

1025

580

963

745

977

1001

971

990

550

525

925 985

630

1015

946
520

1020

530

525

1005

505

921907

502504

1077

990

941

475

973

1030

985

403

612

650

888

999

998

1060

1103

801

505

1041

516

997

903

617
628

505

525

1040

704

700

804968

910

879

1115

949

840

1058

927

810

941

880

1052

1035

1035

712

501

651

500

540

917

1025

901

961

680

501

735

1089

1212

5021099

1000

1045

928

495

1010

1070900

1150

942

841

726

485 1111

1002

873

654

638

855
500

658

834

945

1065

1066

656

513

504

550

505

519

560

1133

508

1160

400 500

1003

540

580

1081

959

520

989

530

960

911

964

1155

1078

965

934 954

953951

924904 920

925

944

975

1154

954

917

780955

960

927

1074

826

1135

1006

633

1145

1001

807

973

1076

1145

1161

1210

875

1344

883

1056

12011141

1028

1228

1055

1219 13271153

1224

1223

845

1026

715

1123

865

520

868

1218

1047

1055

1231

1021

1230

504

1061 108510731035

1057

1010 1020

1075

851

1036

1027

508

1042

1043

13301320 1340

845875

1208631

921

1025

1228

610 1100

1055

1030

1043

1046

951

875

888

10251033947 405 428933 1085

870

513

511

501

470955

10011001

8TH

GRANT

AU
RO

RA

6TH

CO
LL

EG
E

PL
EA

SA
NT

7TH

GILBERT

5TH

EU
CL

ID

DE
AN

JAY

HA
PG

OO
D

ROSE HILL

GE
NE

VA

PARK

CL
EV

EL
AN

D

6TH

7TH

EU
CL

ID

JAY

Gregory Canyon Creek
Alternative Analysis Plan

City Limits

Creek

! Existing Sanitary Sewer

Channel Improvements

Existing Culverts
Culvert Improvement

Overflow Path

Street Improvements

10Yr Channel Grading

Max Channel Grading

Potential Storm Inlet

KPotential Sediment Trap

?Proposed Detention Pond

0 100 20050 Feet

Infrastructure Improvement
Dimensions are width x height 
Recommended Plan in Bold

Channel Improvement

LEGEND

Map 2 of 3³

© 2015 City of Boulder, CO Subject to Revision - Revised: 4/17/2015

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 41Packet Page 477

knapk1
Typewritten Text

knapk1
Typewritten Text
32



C9
Exst: (1) 6' x 3.25' box culvert
10Yr: (2) 9' x 6' box culverts
Max: (2) 10' x 6' box culverts

C10
Exst: (1) 8' x 5' box culvert
10Yr: (2) 9' x 6' box culverts
Max: (3) 9' x 6' box culverts

C12
Exst: (1) 9' x 3' box culvert
10Yr: (2) 11' x 5' box culverts
Max: (3) 12' x 5' box culverts

Lower invert by 1-ft

Lower invert by 2-ft

Lower invert by 3.5-ft

Lower invert by 0.5-ft

Lower invert by 1.5-ft

Lower invert by 2-ft

C11
Exst: (1) 5' x 3.5' box culvert
10Yr: (2) 10' x 6' box culverts
Max: (2) 10' x 6' box culverts

Lower invert by 2-ft

Lower invert by 1-ft

Lower invert by 1-ft

C7
Exst: (1) 8' x 4.25' box culvert
10Yr: (2) 10' x 6' box culverts
Max: (2) 13' x 6' box culverts

Bank Stabilization
General Maintenance

C13
Exst: (1) 4' diameter pipe
10yr: (1) 15' x 6' box culverts
Max: (2) 15' x 6' box culverts
26' wide driveway bridge

C8
Exst: (1) 6' x 5' box culvert
10Yr: (2) 9' x 6' box culverts
Max: (2) 10' x 6' box culverts

Create open channel
9-ft bottom width
2H: 1V side slopes

Boulder C
reek

Gregory Canyon Creek

0

0

0

0

0

0 0

951

0

0

0

1777

0

0

0

0

0

556

725

1777

0
0

701

0

700

636

905

938

0

0

624

635

635

0

811

631

0

728

854

1881

559

775

575

600

645

927

555

715

1150

542 549

563

1655

717

610619

560

636

618621

625

646

612

949

632

848

745

558561

710

900

545

640

568

555

544

550

650

572

925

845

619

552

616

765

604

1621

551

562

816

649

735

1727
574

725

543

1615

944

611

585

625

715

769

1515

882

1517

755

860

902

912

744

870

920

842

740

1639

925

654 655

576

755

602

926

609

544535

611

833

874

569

829

821

704 1580

921

1725

838

1504

628

560

712

540

580
1521

576

619

705

1607

1516

0

836

701

1680

709

1530

812

660

541

620

824

790

811

932

1544

601

1520

1634

1730

905

907

1501

1301

603

1615

1315

1631

623

900

1321

654

638

658
658

609

656

600

614

542537

611

704

530

610

1616

1515

1551

1705

1638

810

952

812

1645

1521
1505

1648

1544

1635

1616

1636

1526

1650

1575

916 1001

523

627 625

1650

931

1518

885828

803

742

655

745

744

865

836

709

1525

801

802

818

541 532

932

537

915 1625

595

715
715

836

824

812

600

848

856

626

854

780

600
600

600

625

745

624

624

715

626

626

812

627

836

16471641

1634

6TH

9TH

7TH

MA
RI

NE

CA
NY

ON

PL
EA

SA
NT

AR
AP

AH
OE

UN
IV

ER
SI

TY

8TH

GRANDVIEW

CA
NY

ON

7TH

Gregory Canyon Creek
Alternative Analysis Plan

City Limits

Creek

! Existing Sanitary Sewer

Channel Improvements

Existing Culverts
Culvert Improvement

Overflow Path

Street Improvements

10Yr Channel Grading

Max Channel Grading

Potential Storm Inlet

KPotential Sediment Trap

?Proposed Detention Pond

0 100 20050 Feet

Infrastructure Improvement
Dimensions are width x height 
Recommended Plan in Bold

Channel Improvement

LEGEND

Map 3 of 3³

© 2015 City of Boulder, CO Subject to Revision - Revised: 4/17/2015

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 42Packet Page 478

knapk1
Typewritten Text
33



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

34 

QUALITATIVE EVALUATION PROCEDURE 
Typically, flood mitigation plans for the City of Boulder are developed with the intent to adequately convey a 

100-year storm event.  Due to the existing residential development along Gregory Canyon Creek, channel 

mitigation to convey a 100–year event would not be feasible unless many of the existing homes along the creek 

corridor were removed.  Therefore, the following alternatives were assessed: 

DO NOTHING 
This alternate maintains the existing floodplains and channel configurations.  Debris cleanup and routine 

maintenance in the floodplain would be required at regular intervals and following flood events.  Maintaining 

the existing floodplain is the alternative that is used for comparison against all other alternatives.  

10-YEAR IMPROVEMENTS 
Currently, the Gregory Canyon Creek channel does not have adequate capacity to contain a 10-year storm 

event.  While assessing mitigation alternatives, it was determined that improvements along the creek could be 

constructed which would facilitate flows from a 10-year event.   

GREATER THAN 10-YEAR IMPROVEMENTS 
This alternate includes improvements to culverts that could convey greater than the 10-year storm, the 

majority of which could convey 50- to 100-year storm events.  While sections of the creek channel cannot be 

improved to convey an event greater than 10 years without the removal of existing houses, there are locations 

where culverts could be improved to convey 50- to 100-year events. 

IMPROVEMENTS OUTSIDE OF THE CHANNEL 
Since the topographical and development constraints along Gregory Canyon Creek prevent modification which 

would convey flows that are greater than a 10-year event, it was recognized that the streets in the 

neighborhoods could be modified to better convey floodwaters in larger events.  Therefore, the alternatives 

analysis also includes street improvements to direct and retain flood waters within the streets in order to 

protect private properties. 

PROPERTY ACQUISITION 

This alternate identifies structures located in hazardous areas with high flood damage potential. The city’s 

current property acquisition program, in conjunction with flood mitigation improvements has been very 

successful over the years and has resulted in a significant decrease in the number of structures within the High 

Hazard Zone.  Removing structures in the high hazard zone also allows for additional channel improvements in 

selected areas.  Acquisition of all flood prone properties was rejected because of the high costs.  The plan does 

identify priority properties for acquisition. 

DETENTION 
This alternate would provide flood storage to reduce the peak discharge of floodwaters and related flood 

damages downstream of the facility. A flood storage facility can also be designed to be multi-purpose with park 

lands, open space, and playing fields located within it. 

The alternatives analysis investigated the following locations for detention facilities: 

 Immediately upstream of Flagstaff Rd.  

 Smith Park  

 Flatirons Elementary School 

It was determined that detention facilities along Gregory Canyon Creek would provide little benefit in 

attenuating peak flows, and would result in increased safety risks and/or significant environmental impacts.  

Therefore detention was determined to be an infeasible alternative for the basin and was not further evaluated. 

IMPLEMENT NON-STRUCTURAL METHODS 
This alternate includes items currently implemented as part of the city’s floodplain management program and 

flood preparation activities and includes: 

 flash flood forecasting and warning systems  

 flood hazard education programs 

 development of evacuation plans 

 flood insurance  

 floodproofing of structures 

 floodplain regulation enforcement 

Non-structural methods should be considered as an interim solution (until the mitigation plan is implemented) 

and as a sub-alternate of every other alternate, not a “stand alone” alternate. 

Evaluation  

The alternatives were evaluated based on the cost of improvements, hydraulic calculations and benefits 

provided. They were also evaluated on qualitative aspects, including constructability, existing land use 

constraints, habitat impacts, public safety, public acceptance, and maintenance considerations. The feasibility 

of each alternative was also evaluated. The recommended alternative provides the highest benefit when 

considering quantitative and qualitative aspects of the project.  

The first screening process of alternatives was the constructability, feasibility and overall benefit. If the 

improvements could not be feasibly constructed or would not result in any significant benefit, then there was 

no need for further investigation. Upon completion of the initial hydraulic analysis, the alternatives were 

evaluated based on how the costs compared to the benefits, and how well they could be implemented into the 

existing conditions. The remaining qualitative aspects were evaluated to develop the recommended plan. Each 

alternative and the corresponding advantages and disadvantages are included in the table below: 

  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 43Packet Page 479



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

35 

 

Comparison of Alternatives 

Description Advantages Disadvantages 

Do Nothing 

- No construction impacts to 

wetlands and wildlife habitat 

- No land acquisition required 

- No construction costs 

- No flood mitigation benefit 

- Aging infrastructure not replaced 

prior to failure 

 

10-Year Improvements 

- Increased drainage capacity 

- Greatest benefit/cost ratio 

- Minimal impacts to private 

property 

- Requires work on private property 

- Requires easement acquisition 

- Wetland and wildlife habitat 

impacts 

- Does not provide 100-year flood 

protection 

Greater than 10-Year 

Improvements 

- Maximizes drainage capacity 

- Positive benefit/cost ratio 

 

- Requires significant work on 

private property 

- Requires easement acquisition 

- Wetland and wildlife habitat 

impacts 

- Does not provide 100-year flood 

protection 

Improvements Outside 

Of Channel 

- Provides additional flood protection 

to private properties 

- Does not require work on private 

property 

- No construction impacts to 

wetlands and wildlife habitat 

- No land acquisition required*  

- Low benefit cost ratio 

- Increased flood risk along streets 

- Does not provide 100-year flood 

protection 

Property Acquisition 

- Removes structures with highest 

flood risk 

- Provides opportunities for 

additional mitigation measures 

- Provides open space 

- Provides opportunities to enhance 

wetlands and wildlife habitat 

- Low benefit cost ratio 

- Does not provide flood mitigation 

benefits to other properties 

- Requires private property 

acquisition 

 

*Some land or easement acquisition could be beneficial in select locations. 

 

SECTION 6-RECOMMENDED PLAN  

PLAN DESCRIPTION 
The Recommended Plan includes the following elements: 

10-YEAR IMPROVEMENTS 
The following channel and culvert/bridge improvements would facilitate flows from a 10-year design storm.  

These channel and culvert improvements are considered to be interrelated and necessary for the cohesive 

conveyance of Gregory Canyon Creek.  To facilitate the phasing of future construction, the culvert and channel 

improvements have been divided into reaches that should be constructed from downstream to upstream in 

order to minimize adverse impacts to downstream property owners.  The different reaches are illustrated on 

both the Recommended Plan and the conceptual design drawings (Appendix E).  

Reach: Cost 

R1 – Private Drive to Highland School property  $248,900  

R2 – Arapahoe Ave.  $471,200  

R3 – Alley between Arapahoe Ave. and Marine St. $1,725,300  

R4 – Marine St. $1,065,500  

R5 – 8th Street $1,513,600  

R6 – University Ave. $1,149,000  

R7 – Pleasant St.  $487,900  

R8 – 7th St. $1,686,500  

R9 – Pennsylvania Ave. $452,000  

R10 – College Ave. $505,500  

R11 – Euclid Ave. $619,000  

Total: $9,924,400 

STREET CONVEYANCE 
It is recommended that flood mitigation street improvements be constructed in concert with other street 

construction projects.  The street improvements proposed for 7th St. and Pleasant Ave. should be constructed 

that the time that the culverts in this area are replaced.  The following street conveyance improvements are 

included in the Recommended Plan:   

Street Conveyance Cost 

1. Lowering the intersection of University Ave. and 7th St. by 1.5 feet $343,700 

2. Lowering the intersection of Arapahoe Ave. and 7th St. by 2 feet $343,700 

3. Lowering the intersection of University and 6th St. by 1.5 feet $330,500 

4. Lower the intersection of Arapahoe Ave. and 6th St by 2 feet $310,600 

  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 44Packet Page 480



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

36 

5. Increase the crown to 2% in the following locations:  

a. 6th and Anderson Ditch $62,100 

b. 7th and Anderson Ditch $101,800 

c. 6th, between Geneva and Euclid $217,300 

d. 6th , between Euclid and Aurora $372,500 
6. Install a concrete gutter pan on the west side of the culvert at 6th and Aurora 

(C2) to better convey any street flows back into Gregory Canyon Creek $20,000 

Total: $2,102,200 

PROPERTY ACQUISITION 
Continue acquiring high hazard zone properties, focusing on the properties identified as priority structures: 
 

Property Acquisition Priority Properties 

Address Assessed Value 

704 Pleasant St. $676,000  

755 Pleasant St. $863,000  

744 University $520,000  

765 University $585,900  

1544 8th $398,600  

802 Marine St. $429,400  

818 Marine St. $450,000  

833 Marine St. $570,600  

1655 9th St. $1,400,000  

1639 9th St. #1 $289,600  

1641 9th St. #2 $289,600  

1643 9th St. #3 $289,600  

1645 9th St. #4 $289,600  

1647 9th St. #5 $289,600  

1649 9th St. #6 $289,600  

Total $7,631,100  

 

CIVIC AREA PLAN RECOMMENDATIONS 
Flood hazards are a significant issue in the current planning efforts for the civic area, which includes portions 

of the Gregory Canyon Creek floodplain.  The civic area planning efforts have committed to being proactive 

about planning for and educating about floods that support sustainable and resilient development.  The 

existing West Senior Center sustained damages from Gregory Canyon Creek during the September 2013 flood 

event and options for the redevelopment of this site are under evaluation.  As the Civic Area plan is further 

developed, potential flood mitigation options will be further evaluated.  This planning effort is shown on the 

recommended plan.   

OTHER IMPROVEMENTS 
Additional improvements included in the recommended plan are listed below. 

Other Improvements Cost 

1. Pipe the Anderson Ditch to the east of 7th St. $43,400 

2. Assess stream and riparian areas and identify habitat improvements TBD 

3. Provide sediment traps at the following locations:  

a. Upstream of Culvert C1 (Willowbrook Rd.) $86,100 

b. Upstream of Culvert C6 (7th St. across from Flatirons School) See note* 

4. Add new storm drainage inlets on Willowbrook Rd. to help capture 
floodwaters that overtop the culvert $147,600 

5. Relocate the sanitary sewer manhole and pipes currently located within the 
“Gregory Gulch”. $164,600 

6. Investigate installing grates above culverts TBD 

Total: $441,700 
*Note: This cost is included with the channel grading for Reach 8. 

IMPLEMENT NON-STRUCTURAL METHODS 
Continue to implement non-structural measures and encourage property owners to prepare for floods and 
protect their properties and themselves. 
 
The recommended plan is graphically depicted on the following pages: 

 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 45Packet Page 481



K
C2
Exst: (2) 10' x 5' box culvert  

C1
Exst: (1) 9' x 5' box culvert 

C1-A
Exst: (1) 4.4' diameter pipe  

Gregory Canyon Creek

Potential sanitary sewer
 relocation

Install new concrete 
gutter pan

New storm inlets

Gregory Gulch

650

770

550

785

715

815 845
825 835

711
785

555

845

530

601

520

700

801

505

819755 595

440

613

851

740

854

805

705

700

730

701

430

595

421

840 850770 600

800

405

711

840

875

885

855

445

440

500 860

865

626

412

709 700

707

435
485

725

475

400

850
740

870

880

885

425

840

760

415

730

815

720

860

860

770

756

450
420

890

710

750

780

430

777

405

820

863

850

868

845

707 700

879755

736

771

705

675 815

744

880

814722 888750

875

868

865

839

855

835

845

824

825

834

835750767757 761727707 865737 853 873845815 857 861

772

865

800

611
607

6th St

7th St

Ba
se

lin
e R

d

Ca
sc

ad
e A

v

Park Ln

Flagstaff Rd

Circle Dr

Willowbrook Rd

Gregory Ln

Ch
ris

tm
as

 Tr
ee

 D
r

Flagstaff Rd

Gregory Canyon Creek
Recommended Plan

© 2015 City of Boulder, CO Subject to Revision - Revised: 11/24/2015

City Limits
Creek
Ditch

!Existing Sanitary Sewer
Priority HHZ Property Aquisition
Channel Improvements
Existing Culverts
Culvert/Bridge Improvement
Street Improvements
Flood Mitigation Opportunity 
Habitat Improvements
Proposed Storm Inlet

KPotential Sediment Trap

0 100 20050 Feet

Culvert/Bridge Improvement
Dimensions are width x height 

Other Improvement

LEGEND

Map 1 of 3³
Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 46Packet Page 482

knapk1
Typewritten Text
37



K

C5
10' wide pedestrian bridge 

C4
10Yr: (2) 7' x 6' box culverts 

C3
10Yr: (2) 8' x 6' box culverts 

C6-B
Remove culvert, realign creek
and pipe Anderson Ditch

C6
10Yr: (2) 8' x 6' box culverts 

C2
Exst: (2) 10' x 5' box culvert  

Gregory Canyon Creek

Anderson Ditch

Install new concrete 
gutter pan

Gregory Gulch

Weed management
Channel improvements
Path overflow

0

0

1150

595

950 0

633

637

701

650

1025

550

580

963

745

977

1001

971

520

990

525

925

530

985

923

630

980

1015

644

946

960

1020

525

1005

555

505

921907

502
504

1077

990

941

973

1030

985

403

612

650

840

888

999

998

1060

575
1103

801

505

1041

516

997

903

617
628

505

525

1025

1040

704

700

804968

910

879

1115

949

1058

927

810

941

522

880

1052

1035

1035

712

1228

501

640

540

917

868

1025

901

961

735

475

630

1089

621

865

1212

5021099

1000

1045

928

495

1010

1070
900

1150

942

841

726

485 1111

1002

873

654

638

500

658

834

855

945

1065

1066

656

513

610

504

550

505

519

1100

560

1133

620

508

1160

845

1003

540

580

1081

959

520

989

530

960

1110

911883

964

1155

1078

965

934 954

953951

924

1116

904 920

925

944

975

1154

954

917

780955

960

927

1074

826

1135

1006

633

1001

807

973

1076

501

1170

1055

1145

1161

1210

875

1344

1056

12011141

1028

1228

875

1055

1219

888

13271153

1224

1223

10301026

715

520

1218

1047

1055

1231

1021

1230

504

1061 10851073

500

1035

1057

1010

1043

1020

1075

851

1036

1027

508

1042

1043

13301320

400

1340

870

1208631

950

1046

875

885

1084 1090107610701060982 10401036 1054978 1030

890

970 1020

1001

1004 1010964956944936930920902 912860

1001

8th St

Grant Pl

Au
ro

ra
 A

v

Co
lle

ge
 Av

6th St

Gilbert St

7th St

Eu
cli

d A
v

De
an

 P
l

Ha
pg

oo
d S

t

5th St

Rose Hill Dr

Jay St

Ge
ne

va
 Av

Pe
nn

sy
lva

nia
 A

v

Park Ln

Cl
ev

ela
nd

 P
l

7th St

Eu
cli

d A
v

6th St

Jay St

Gregory Canyon Creek
Recommended Plan

© 2015 City of Boulder, CO Subject to Revision - Revised: 11/2/2015

City Limits
Creek
Ditch

!Existing Sanitary Sewer
Priority HHZ Property Aquisition
Channel Improvements
Existing Culverts
Culvert/Bridge Improvement
Street Improvements
Flood Mitigation Opportunity 
Habitat Improvements
Proposed Storm Inlet

KPotential Sediment Trap

0 100 20050 Feet

Culvert/Bridge Improvement
Dimensions are width x height 

Other Improvement

LEGEND

Map 2 of 3³
Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 47Packet Page 483

knapk1
Typewritten Text

knapk1
Typewritten Text
38



C9
10Yr: (2) 9' x 6' box culverts 

C10
10Yr: (2) 9' x 6' box culverts 

C12
10Yr: (2) 11' x 5' box culverts 

C11
10Yr: (2) 10' x 6' box culverts 

C7
10Yr: (2) 10' x 6' box culverts 

C13
26' wide driveway bridge 

C8
10Yr: (2) 9' x 6' box culverts 

Boulder C
reek

Gregory Canyon Creek

Anderson Ditch

Evaluate Flood Mitigation Opportunity
with Civic Area Plan 

0

0

0

0

0

951

0

0

0

1777

0

0

0

0

0

0

725

0

0

701

0

949

1001

636

1777

905

700

938

0

0

624

716

635

635

0

556

811

631

0

1150

804

728

775

733

802

575

600

645

927

715

1655

612 610619

854

560

952

636

618621

742

931

625

655 646642

632

745

723

1881

710

900

640

568

743

650

572

925

945

845

619

616

765

604

1621

816

649

744

812

1727
574

1615

944

611

585

848

625

715

1515

704

800

628

882

1517

904

818

708

836

755

712

860

926

902

912

744

870

920

842

740

1639

704

925

654 655

812

576

911

905

828

755

932

580

602609

716

802

611

908

1625

833

874

569

829

964

821

1580

1725

838

1504

648

1366

1521
576

619

705

1607 0

836

563

751

701

1680

709

812

660

654

638

620

658

656

824

811

912

1304

1544

925910

915

601

1634
1310

1730

905

933

907

560

1501

1301

603

1615

944

1312

1315

1314

1631

623

561

932

558

1321

559

658

609

1305

600

614

948

611

704

1617

916

610

1616

1313

1515

1750

1551

1705

1317

1638

810

812

1645

15211505

1648

1544

928

1635

1616
1526

1575

1630

790

627 625

1650

1529

1425

1518

0885
828

730

745 865753

921

1567

1530

1525 1537

720

932

801

802

818

1650

562

1344

900

1327

950918920
964
964

964955

715
715

824

745

836

600

812

626

854

745

715

627

626

854

625

600

600

745

812

626

856

624

624

733
733

733
733

16471641

1634

955

6th St

9th St

7th St

Ma
rin

e S
t

Pl
ea

sa
nt

 S
t

Ar
ap

ah
oe

 Av

Ca
ny

on
 B

vUn
ive

rs
ity

 Av

8th St

Lincoln Pl

Streamside Ln

Grandview Av

7th St

Lincoln Pl

Gregory Canyon Creek
Recommended Plan

© 2015 City of Boulder, CO Subject to Revision - Revised: 11/2/2015

City Limits
Creek
Ditch

!Existing Sanitary Sewer
Priority HHZ Property Aquisition
Channel Improvements
Existing Culverts
Culvert/Bridge Improvement
Street Improvements
Flood Mitigation Opportunity 
Habitat Improvements
Proposed Storm Inlet

KPotential Sediment Trap

0 100 20050 Feet

Culvert/Bridge Improvement
Dimensions are width x height 

Other Improvement

LEGEND

Map 3 of 3³
Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 48Packet Page 484

knapk1
Typewritten Text
39



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

40 

SECTION 7-CONCEPTUAL DESIGN  

OVERVIEW 
Conceptual design drawings were developed based on the Recommended Plan and are included as Appendix 

E.  These drawings are intended to depict a long-range plan for future flood mitigation projects and show the 

general extents and nature of the proposed improvements.  The conceptual design drawings are not intended 

for construction use.  Prior to the construction of any improvements, a complete design will be required and 

construction documents developed.  In addition to the conceptual design drawings, CH2M completed a 

Conceptual Design Memorandum to document design criteria and the results of the hydraulic analysis.  The 

Conceptual Design Memorandum is included as Appendix B. 

During the development of the conceptual design drawings, city staff met with individuals and small groups of 

property owners directly impacted by the proposed improvements to discuss the proposed plans and receive 

feedback on the conceptual design drawings.  The conceptual design drawings were revised to incorporate the 

comments and concerns received from property owners, to the greatest extent possible.   

Input from property owners and the additional engineering analysis conducted during the development of the 

conceptual design drawings resulted in additional refinements to the Recommended Plan, including: 

 A proposed sediment trap at Smith Park was eliminated because existing site grades are too steep to 

make it feasible. 

 A proposed sediment trap upstream of Aurora Ave. was eliminated because the existing channel is 

much lower than the existing street elevation, so maintenance of the sediment trap would be difficult. 

 The replacement of the private culvert at 705 Willowbrook was removed from the recommended plan 

because private property improvements were being implemented in this area to reduce flood risks and 

therefore the replacement would provide little benefit. 

PRIORITIZATION AND PHASING 
The proposed improvements have been divided into reaches, as depicted on the Recommended Plan and the 

conceptual design drawings.  The channel and culvert/bridge improvements required to convey the 10-year 

design storm were assigned a high priority while inlet and sediment trap construction was regarded as low 

priority.  To minimize adverse impacts to downstream property owners, the improvements should be 

constructed from downstream, R-1, to upstream, R-11.  The proposed piping of the Anderson Ditch should 

occur with the construction of the culvert C6 at 7th Street (R-8).  The following table summarizes the 

prioritization and phasing the different improvements: 

 

Prioritization and Phasing 

High Priority Low Priority 

 
Culvert / Bridge 
Improvements 

Channel Improvements  
Sediment 

Trap 
Inlet 

Improvements 

U
p

st
re

a
m

   
   

  C
o

n
st

ru
ct

io
n

 P
h

a
si

n
g

   
   

 D
o

w
n

st
re

a
m

 

R-1 – Private Drive    

R-2– Arapahoe Avenue x   

R-3 – Alley Way x   

R-4 – Marine Street x   

R-5 – 8th Street x   

R-6 – University Avenue x   

R-7 – Pleasant Street    

R-8 – Anderson Ditch (Construct with 7th St. Improvements)   

R-8 – 7th Street x x  

R-9 – Pennsylvania Avenue x   

R-10 – College Avenue x   

R-11 – Euclid Avenue x   

Willowbrook Road  x x 

 

BENEFIT COST ANALYSIS 
The benefit cost analysis conducted during the alternative analysis was updated for the conceptual design.  The 

conceptual design included additional channel improvements, with a more structurally constructed channel 

and several drop structures to achieve a stable slope.  Although this resulted in increased costs, the calculated 

benefits also increased.  The resulting BCR of the proposed improvements is 2.82.  Detailed benefit cost 

analysis information is included in Appendix B. 

  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 49Packet Page 485



GREGORY CANYON CREEK MITIGATION PLAN 

41 

SECTION 8-REFERENCES 
A September to Remember; Urban Drainage and Flood Control District, 2014. 

Alternative Analysis - Pennsylvania Avenue Flood Repair / Improvement Alternative Analysis; City of Boulder, 
2014.  

The Anderson Ditch: http://bcn.boulder.co.us/basin/ditchproject/?Our_Ditches:Anderson_Ditch 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan; 2010; https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/boulder-valley-
comprehensive-plan-2010-1-201410091122.pdf 

City of Boulder-Comprehensive Flood and Stormwater Utility Master Plan; 2004; 
https://bouldercolorado.gov/flood/comprehensive-flood-and-stormwater-master-plan 

City of Boulder-Greenways Master Plan; 2010; https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/2011-greenways-
master-plan-update-1-201304221316.pdf 

The Columbia Cemetery:  https://bouldercolorado.gov/parks-rec/columbia-cemetery 

Floods in Boulder County, Colorado, A Historical Investigation; Sherry D. Oaks; 1982. 

Flood Hazard Area Delineation- Boulder and Adjacent County Drainageways; Greenhorne and O’Mara, 1987.  

Hannah Barker House: http://www.historicboulder.org/the_hannah_barker_house.html 

Highlands School:  http://historichighland.com/building-grounds/history/ 

Hydraulic Mitigation Analysis - Gregory Canyon Creek High Hazard Zone Reanalysis – Mini ‐ Master Plan; Belt 
Collins West, 2009. 

Hydraulic Mitigation Analysis - Gregory Canyon Creek Mitigation Analysis; WH Pacific, 2012. 

LOMR Determination - Gregory Canyon Creek LOMR Determination Data Reconciliation; Belt Collins West, 2010 
(Approved by FEMA, 2010). 

Major Drainageway Planning Study - Boulder and Adjacent County Drainageways ‘Phase A’; Greenhorne and 
O’Mara, 1984. 

Major Drainageway Planning Study - Boulder and Adjacent County Drainageways ‘Phase B’; Greenhorne and 
O’Mara, 1987. 

Rainfall-Runoff Analysis for the September 2013 Flood in the City of Boulder, Colorado; Prepared by Wright 
Water Engineers for the City of Boulder and released in Sept. of 2014. 

Soil Survey of Boulder County Area, Colorado, United States Department of Agriculture Soil Conservation Service 
in cooperation with Colorado Agriculture Experiment Station, 1975 

Summary Report of Private Property and Resident Flood Impact Survey and Analysis, September 2013 Flood 
Disaster prepared by the City of Boulder-Utilities Division; Dec. 3, 2014:  https://www-
static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/summary-report-private-property-resident-september-2013-flood-impact-
survey-analysis-1-201412031729.pdf 

APPENDICES 

APPENDIX A-ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

APPENDIX B-CONCEPTUAL DESIGN MEMORANDUM 

APPENDIX C-PUBLIC COMMENTS 

APPENDIX D-WETLAND AND HABITAT EVALUATIONS 

APPENDIX E-CONCEPTUAL DESIGN DRAWINGS   
 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 50Packet Page 486

http://bcn.boulder.co.us/basin/ditchproject/?Our_Ditches:Anderson_Ditch
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan-2010-1-201410091122.pdf
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan-2010-1-201410091122.pdf
https://bouldercolorado.gov/flood/comprehensive-flood-and-stormwater-master-plan
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/2011-greenways-master-plan-update-1-201304221316.pdf
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/2011-greenways-master-plan-update-1-201304221316.pdf
https://bouldercolorado.gov/parks-rec/columbia-cemetery
http://www.historicboulder.org/the_hannah_barker_house.html
http://historichighland.com/building-grounds/history/
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/summary-report-private-property-resident-september-2013-flood-impact-survey-analysis-1-201412031729.pdf
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/summary-report-private-property-resident-september-2013-flood-impact-survey-analysis-1-201412031729.pdf
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/summary-report-private-property-resident-september-2013-flood-impact-survey-analysis-1-201412031729.pdf


 

20150415_ALTERNATIVEANALYSISMEMO_FINAL/ 1 

M E M O R A N D U M   

Alternative Analysis Memorandum 
City of Boulder

Urban Drainage and Flood
Control District

PREPARED BY: CH2M HILL

DATE: March 18, 2015

PROJECT NUMBER: 482330

In September 2013, the City of Boulder experienced an intense rainfall event between September 9 and
September 18, approximately 10 days. This rainfall event generated flooding in and around the City of
Boulder, including the area along and adjacent to Gregory Canyon Creek. Gregory Canyon Creek is a right
bank tributary that enters Boulder Creek west of Broadway. During the storm event of 2013, many residents
experienced damage to their property due to high flood waters as well as observed flooding in public
roadways. The extents of the observed flooding is documented in Figure 1.

CH2M HILL was retained by the City of Boulder to evaluate potential alternatives to help alleviate flooding
along Gregory Canyon Creek. The purpose of this Alternative Analysis Memorandum for the Gregory Canyon
Creek Major Drainageway Plan (Study) is to present the findings of the hydraulic analysis, define problem
areas, and develop preliminary categories to mitigate flood hazards within the basin.

Project Location 
Gregory Canyon Creek watershed is located in the City of Boulder (City) and Boulder County. Gregory Canyon
Creek originates in Boulder County Open Space in Boulder Mountain Park. As flow becomes more
concentrated a well defined channel is visible upstream of Flagstaff Road. At Flagstaff Road, Gregory Canyon
Creek is conveyed into the City of Boulder via 60 inch RCP that is lined with a 54” PVC liner. From here,
Gregory Canyon Creek is located entirely within the City of Boulder and is bounded by residential development
until the confluence with Boulder Creek. The project watershed and study area are depicted in Figure 2.

Gregory Canyon Creek generally flows to the northeast direction through developed neighborhoods. The
creek is conveyed through many crossings, both publically and privately constructed. Very few easements are
dedicated to the City of Boulder throughout the channel corridor, with a number of crossings being owned
and maintained by private property owners. In addition, as Gregory Canyon Creek exists on private property,
homeowners are responsible for the channel maintenance. The lower portions of the channel are bounded
by more dense residential housing, including multi family development. Downstream of Arapahoe Road, the
channel has recently been improved and appears to be stable prior to the confluence with Boulder Creek.

Description of Data Obtained 
The City of Boulder provided CH2M HILL with current GIS data, topography information, reports, and as built
plans for Gregory Canyon Creek and surrounding areas. This information was used in the analysis presented
in the memorandum. For a complete list of data provided please see Table 1 in the attached technical
appendix.

Acknowledgements 
This memorandum was completed with the support and input from various individuals at the City of Boulder
and Urban Drainage and Flood Control District (UDFCD). The key participants in the development of this
memorandum are shown in Table 2.

PREPARED FOR: 

COPY TO: 

ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

2 GREGORY CANYON CREEK ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

TABLE 2
Project Contributors

Project Team Members Affiliation Role

Katie Knapp City of Boulder Project Manager

Annie Noble City of Boulder Stakeholder

Kristin Dean City of Boulder Stakeholder / Utilities Planner

Christin Shepard City of Boulder Stakeholder / GIS Analyst

Shea Thomas UDFCD Stakeholder

Alan Turner CH2M HILL Project Manager

Morgan Lynch CH2M HILL Project Engineer

Frans Lambrechtsen CH2M HILL Staff Engineer

Hydrology 
A hydrologic analysis was not performed by CH2M HILL as part of this master plan. The information used in
this master plan was derived from the previous hydrologic analysis performed for Gregory Canyon Creek. To
date, one report has been published documenting the hydrology of Gregory Canyon Creek. The hydrologic
study is described in detail in the following subsections and is referenced in the current Boulder County Flood
Insurance Study (FIS) as the source for the FEMA effective hydrology.

Previous Studies 
In accordancewith an agreement with Urban Drainage and Flood Control District (UDFCD), the City of Boulder,
and Boulder County, Greenhorne & O’Mara, Inc., completed a Major Drainageway Planning Study – Boulder
and Adjacent County Drainageways for 11 drainageways in the Boulder area, including Gregory Canyon Creek,
dated May 1987. As a part of the study, Greenhorne & O’Mara completed future conditions hydrology for the
2 , 5 , 10 , 50 , and 100 year storm events. The Colorado Urban Hydrograph Procedure (CUHP) was used to
determine the runoff hydrographs for each storm event. These hydrographs were then routed through the
US Army Corp of Engineers (USACE) Hydrologic Engineering Center (HEC) model, HEC 1. It was documented
in the report that the rainfall data reflected the 1982 guidelines stated in the Urban Storm Drainage Criteria
Manual. The study watershed for Gregory Canyon Creek was approximately 2.29 square miles with a 100
year peak discharge of 2,092 cfs at the confluence with Boulder Creek. The peak discharges from this study
are documented in the current FEMA FIS, dated December 18, 2012, and have been the basis for each
subsequent study completed for the City of Boulder for Gregory Canyon Creek.

Summary of Peak Discharges 
Hydrographs from the CUHP and HEC 1 analysis (Greenhorne & O’Mara, 1987) were extracted from output
for use in the two – dimensional hydraulic analysis that was performed as part of this study. The FEMA
effective flows identified in the 2010 Letter of Map Revision (LOMR) (Belt Collins West, 2010) were used for
the one – dimensional Hydrologic Engineering Center River Analysis System (HEC RAS) hydraulic modeling.

Hydraulics 
For this memorandum, it was concluded that a detailed look at the hydraulic function of Gregory Canyon
Creek was needed to better understand the natural flow paths. Through this understanding the City of
Boulder formulates and CH2MHILL analyzed improvement elements into categories to decrease the flood risk
to properties as part of the deliverable for the this analysis. These categories are described in detail in
subsequent sections.

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 51Packet Page 487



ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

GREGORY CANYON CREEK ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 3 

Previous Studies 
In addition to the hydrologic analysis documented in the Major Drainageway Planning Study – Boulder and
Adjacent County Drainageways, six other studies have been done along Gregory Canyon Creek. The most
recent hydraulic analysis was completed by Belt Collins West (2007) to analyze the 100 year floodplain, the
0.5 ft rise floodway, and the high hazard zone for the City of Boulder. The study was based on the 1987
hydrology completed by Greenhorne & O’Mara as part of the Major Drainageway Planning Study – Boulder
and Adjacent County Drainageways. The original hydraulic study was performed using HEC 2 but was never
adopted by FEMA. Belt Collins West (2007) used HEC RAS version 3.1.3 to update the floodplains along
Gregory Canyon Creek. This analysis incorporated updated topography, dated 2007. Debris blockage at
bridges and culverts were applied to the hydraulic analysis and a model for the split flow reach that was
identified at Marine Street was developed to better define the floodplain in this area. This study was later
updated in 2009 to define the structures in or adjacent to the high hazard zone with additional cross sections
and 1 ft ground survey. Alternatives to remove seven structures from the high hazard zone were documented
in the 2009 report. The floodplain and floodway identified by Belt Collins Gregory Canyon Creek LOMR
Determination Data Reconciliation in the 2010 analysis reflects the effective conditions published in the
Boulder County FIS, dated December 18, 2012. The effective studies as well as the other studies performed
along Gregory Canyon Creek are documented in Table 3.

TABLE 3
Previous Studies

Document Type Source Description

Major Drainageway Planning Study Greenhorne and O’Mara, 1984 Boulder and Adjacent County Drainageways “Phase A”

Major Drainageway Planning Study Greenhorne and O’Mara, 1987 Boulder and Adjacent County Drainageways “Phase B”

Flood Hazard Area Delineation Greenhorne and O’Mara, 1987 Boulder and Adjacent County Drainageways

Hydraulic Mitigation Analysis Belt Collins West, 2009 Gregory Canyon Creek High Hazard Zone Reanalysis – Mini
Master Plan

LOMR Determination Belt Collins West, 2010 Gregory Canyon Creek LOMR Determination Data
Reconciliation (Approved by FEMA, 2010)

Hydraulic Mitigation Analysis WH Pacific, 2012 Gregory Canyon Creek Mitigation Analysis

Alternative Analysis City of Boulder, 2014 Pennsylvania Avenue Flood Repair / Improvement Alternative
Analysis

Evaluation of Existing Facilities 
The existing conveyance infrastructure within the project area was evaluated using the HEC RAS version 4.1.0
and FLO 2D to determine the capacity of the infrastructure. In addition, EPA SWMM version 5.0 was used to
evaluate the capacity of the 7th Street culvert and to analyze the storm drain system on Willowbrook Road

The FEMA effective HEC RAS hydraulic model was used as the baseline hydraulic condition for this analysis.
This model was updated based on crossing information that was gathered on a site walk performed on July
17, 2014. The topography of Gregory Canyon Creek had been altered slightly by the storm event in September
2013, however it was agreed that the topography reflected in the 2010 LOMR was the best information
available. City of Boulder Staff collected measurements for each public crossing. The majority of crossing
infrastructure gathered in the field was reflected in the baseline study, however several crossings were
updated to reflect current field conditions. A summary of the existing crossings are located in Table 4. The
geometry for the crossings was updated in the HEC RAS model to reflect the conditions identified in the field
maintaining the blockage assumption that was applied to the baseline hydraulic model. This was done by
reducing the area of the crossing by the assumed percent blockage. These changes to the crossings had
negligible impacts to the split flow reach and the model as a whole. A comparison between the Effective
Model and the updated Existing Conditions Models is located in Table 5 in the technical appendix. No other

ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

4 GREGORY CANYON CREEK ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

changes were made to the baseline model to create the existing conditions HEC RAS model for the purpose
of this analysis.

Table 4
Existing Crossing Summary

Location Percent Blockage

Assumption
Belt Collins Geometry,
2010

Updated Geometry

Flagstaff Rd 50% 73.2” diameter 54” diameter

Private Drive at Old Baseline
Road

100% 23” diameter

Pedestrian Bridge at
Willowbrook Road Cul de sac

0% Not Modeled

Private Drive at NW Corner of
Willowbrook Road Cul de sac
(705 Willowbrook Road)

50% 52.8” diameter

Private Drive at West Side of
Willowbrook Road (777
Willowbrook Road)

50% 120” x 60” bridge

Willowbrook Road 50% 108” x 60” box culvert

Pedestrian Bridge at
Willowbrook Road

0% Not Modeled

Private Drive 550 Aurora 0% 192” x 84” box culvert

Aurora Crossing #1 0% 36” diameter

Aurora Crossing #2 0% 60” x 120” box culvert

Euclid Avenue 100% 48” diameter

College Avenue 50% 62.4 “x 72” arch culvert 72” x 78” arch culvert

Private Drive Wood Bridge DS
of College Avenue

75% Open Area = 77.4 sq. ft.

Pennsylvania Avenue 50% 56.4” x 36” arch culvert

7th Street 50% 48” diameter

Weir Split Flow Box DS of
Anderson Ditch

0% Not Modeled

704 Pleasant Street Patio 30% 66” x 34.8” arch culvert

Pleasant Street 20% 96” x 48” arch culvert

University Avenue 50% 72” x 60” arch culvert

8th street and Alley 50% 66” x 38.4” arch culvert

810 Marine Street 50% 48” x 36” box culvert 75” x 54” box culvert

Marine Street 50% 96” x 48” box culvert 104” x 48” box culvert

Alley Between Marine and
Arapahoe

50% 62.4” x 42” arch culvert

Arapahoe Avenue 50% 120” x 36” box culvert 108” x 36” box culvert

Private Driveway To Old
School

50% 42” diameter 48” diameter

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 52Packet Page 488



ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

GREGORY CANYON CREEK ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 5 

Detention Evaluation 
An evaluation of detention along Gregory Canyon Creek was performed to identify possible areas where
detention facilities could help improve flows by attenuation or other means. The following areas were
reviewed for potential detention:

Immediately upstream of Flagstaff Road;

Smith Park;

and Flatirons Elementary School.

Detention Upstream of Flagstaff Road

One foot contours from the 2013 LiDAR set were utilized to develop an Area Storage relationship for this
location. Figure 7 in the technical appendix shows the Area Storage curve. The proposed detention pond
would hold 0.42 acre feet. Using this curve and detention volume, a SWMM model was developed using the
existing culvert as pipe conduit at the invert, and an overflow weir elevation that matched the road elevation.
This minor attenuation in flows is the result of storage volume upstream of Flagstaff Road being filled on the
rising limb of the hydrograph prior to the peak discharge arriving at Flagstaff Road, at which point the peak
flows overtopped the road. To achieve additional attenuation, earth work would need to be completed
including excavation upstream on Open Space and Mountain Parks property which is not desired.

Additional consideration for this site includes the requirement of a geotechnical analysis and potential
reconstruction of Flagstaff Road to act as a dam. Flagstaff road is greater than 10 feet above Gregory Canyon
Creek thalweg which would cause the detention facility to be classified a jurisdictional dam and subject to the
regulation of the Colorado State Engineers Office (SEO). This would require the completion of a Hazard
Classification Report to classify the hazard of the structure and increased regulatory approval and oversight
through all phases of the dam design, construction and operation which would significantly increase the cost
of the design, construction and ongoing operations and maintenance for a facility that would provide limited
benefit to reducing peak flows down stream

Detention at Smith Park

The slope of Smith Park drops approximately 30 feet from Gilbert Street on the west to the Gregory Canyon
Creek Channel. To accommodate an offline detention facility at Smith Park, a 10 foot excavation would be
required to provide storage volume. This would extend to 18’ deep on the west sides of the detention
facility. This area would provide approximately 1.59 ac ft. of storage and would fill during a 10 year storm in
approximately 3 minutes providing very little attenuation to flow rates in the downstream direction. Figure
8 in the technical appendix shows the Area Storage curve. Due to the relative cost for construction and
earthwork and the minimal benefits this facility would provide it was not moved forward for further
consideration.

Detention at Flatirons Elementary School

The open fields on the south west corner of the school were suggested as a potential site for detention of
flows from Gregory Canyon Creek. This site could potentially provide a maximum of 2.89 ac ft of storage on
the school open space at a depth of 6 feet deep. Figure 9 in the technical appendix shows the Area Storage
curve. This pond would fill in approximately 6 minutes during a 10 year event and hold flows for up to 48
hours after an event. This would again provide very little attenuation of the peak flows down the mainstem
of Gregory Canyon Creek as the pond would fill during the rising limb of the hydrograph. In addition, this site
would require approximately 400 feet of RCP pipes to deliver flow from Gregory Canyon Creek to the pond
and up to 450 feet of pipe to return the flow to Gregory Canyon Creek.

This site could continue to be used for a playground for the school but would fill and be full for up to 48 hours
in a flooding situation and could pose a flash flood hazard to the school due to the proximity of the pond to

ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

6 GREGORY CANYON CREEK ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

the school. Due to the potential safety issues, cost of excavation and piping and limited benefits from the
pond, this pond alternative was not considered further.

Due to the relative expense and limited impacts of full detention on the peak flows along Gregory Canyon
Creek, detention was determined to be an infeasible alternative for the basin. However, these sites and other
small open areas can provide opportunities for sediment and debris traps which are discussed below.

Sediment Traps 
One of the issues seen during the 2013 storm event was significant amounts of sediment and debris being
transported by flood waters. The City requested that an analysis be performed to determine the feasibility of
sediment traps being installed along the channel corridor. Potential locations for sediment traps include:

Upstream of the Willowbrook Rd. culvert

Upstream of Aurora Avenue culvert

Between Pennsylvania Ave. and 7th St.

The open area at the corner of 7th Street and Pennsylvania Avenue was analyzed to determine the
effectiveness of a sediment trap.

A sedimentation study prepared by Moser & Associates, in the nearby Fourmile Canyon, was conducted in
2008 for UDFCD title Sediment Analysis Report – Four Mile Canyon Creek Downstream of 30th Street. This
report along withMuller’s report Evaluation of Fourmile Canyon Creek Sediment Basin Alternatives completed
in 2012 for the City of Boulder are the foundation for this analysis. According to these reports, sediment basins
are useful for 2 year flows when sediment loads are the greatest. When considering a sediment basin,
potential impacts to the floodplain should always be kept in mind so as to avoid increases in the regulatory
floodplain.

Moser & Associates, in their 2008 report, stated that sediment loads for Fourmile Canyon were on the
magnitude of 100 tons per square mile per year. While the study was developed for Fourmile Canyon Creek,
Gregory Canyon Creek is located in a similar geographic region and may see similar loads. Under this
assumption, 100 tons per square mile per year for Gregory Canyon Creek equaled a sediment load of 229 tons
per year. This equates to 116 cubic yards.

With approximately 10,000 square feet available three sediment trap alternatives are proposed. One inline
basin of 1,100 square feet, and two offline basins of 1,700 and 2,500 square feet. The efficiency of the basin
is a function of the 2 year peak flow and the surface area of the basin; large flat basins are more efficient. The
efficiencies, amount of sediment trapped, and estimated costs are shown for the 2 year peak flow of 161 cfs
in Table 6. Cost assumptions came from Muller’s report as an average cost per cubic yard of approximately
$898.00 per cubic yard trapped. The Gregory Canyon Creek Master Plan contingency used for other costs
developed in this study was applied and increased the cost per cubic yard to $1,616.00. Note that cost for
sediment basins are a function of their overall efficiency. A consideration for impacts to property should also
be considered. If space or easement acquisition is limited, an inline basin may be more effective. Figure 10 in
the technical appendix shows these proposed alternatives at this location.

TABLE 6

Sediment Trap Analysis

Alternate 7th St Alt 1 7th St Alt 2 7th St Alt 3 Euclid Avenue Willowbrook
Road

Surface Area 2500 1100 1700 1700 1200

n (1 = inline, 2 = offline) 2 1 2 2 1

Vs (settlement velocity,
fine sand)

0.059 0.059 0.059 0.059 0.059

R (efficiency) 0.53 0.29 0.42 0.42 0.31

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 53Packet Page 489



ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

GREGORY CANYON CREEK ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 7 

TABLE 6

Sediment Trap Analysis

Alternate 7th St Alt 1 7th St Alt 2 7th St Alt 3 Euclid Avenue Willowbrook
Road

Sediment Trapped
(Ton)

121 66 96 96 70

Sediment Trapped (CY) 90 49 71 71 52

Estimated Cost ($) $80,677.01 $43,762.94 $63,765.36 $63,765.36 $46,526.23

FLO-2D Evaluation 
During the storm event that occurred in September 2013, many residents along the Gregory Canyon Creek
corridor witnessed flows along streets adjacent to Gregory Canyon Creek. To get a better understanding of
the flow distribution outside the limits of the channel corridor, CH2M HILL developed a two dimensional
hydraulic model, using the FLO 2D V2009 model, to better understand the flow paths of larger storm events.
A grid was built using 2013 LiDAR data provided by the City of Boulder for the project area. Manning’s N
values were adjusted based on the surrounding land use as recommended by the documentation in the FLO
2D reference, see Table 7 for all Manning’s N assumptions for the FLO 2D hydraulic model. A summary of the
HEC 1 peak discharges and their approximate location in the two – dimensional analysis are located in Table
8.

TABLE 8
Peak Discharge Summary

Location
Return Interval (years), Peak Discharge (cfs)

2 yr 5 yr 10 yr 50 yr 100 yr

Approximately 150’ upstream of Flagstaff Rd 32 168 328 937 1270

1/3 of discharge at Aurora Ave, with 2/3 placed on the
local highpoint 168 269 485 959 1179

Once the FLO 2D geometry was created, the hydrographs from the HEC 1 Model (Greenhorne & O’Mara,
1987) were distributed at the appropriate flow change locations for the 2 , 5 , 10 , 50 , and 100 year storm
events as documented in Table 8. The results of the existing 100 year storm event are shown in Figure 3 in
the technical appendix. The results of the FLO 2D analysis confirmed what was observed by homeowners

TABLE 7
Manning’s N Documentation

Landuse Description Manning’s N Value

Developed, Medium Intensity 0.7

Developed, Low Intensity 0.8

Open Space 0.6

Grassland 0.35

Forested Area 0.4

Developed Open Space 0.25

Streets 0.02

ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

8 GREGORY CANYON CREEK ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

during the September 2013 storm event. A comparison to the September 2013 event is also shown in Figure
4.

Flood Hazards 
The City of Boulder and CH2M HILL staff conducted a site walk on July 17, 2014. City staff was able to convey
to CH2M HILL observations during the flood event of September 2013 and identify potential areas for
improvements. Some of the properties that had been damaged by flood waters had already been restored to
pre flood conditions or had improvements constructed such as flood walls to help prevent future flooding.
The objective during the site walk was to identify alternatives to help mitigate flooding. These alternatives
are discussed in detail in the subsequent sections. The potential improvements identified during the site walk
are located in Table 9.

TABLE 9
Potential Improvement Summary

Location Proposed Improvement Number of Properties Impacted

Upstream of Willowbrook Road Cul de Sac Bank Stabilizations 3

Private Crossing on 711 Willowbrook Road Culvert Improvements 2

Crossing at Willowbrook Road Trash Rack / Culvert Entrance 0

Willowbrook Road at Gregory Gulch Reconfigure Drainage Inlets 3

Crossing at Aurora Avenue Culvert / Channel Improvements 3

Adjacent to 6th Street Channel Improvements 1

6th Street North of Aurora Avenue Increase Roadway Conveyance Varies Residential Drives

Euclid Avenue Culvert Improvements 2

7th Street Past Rose Hill Drive Increase Roadway Conveyance Varies – Residential Drives

Crossing at College Avenue Maximize Culvert Capacity / Alignment 4

1100 6th Street Sidewalk Repair 1

Crossing at Pennsylvania Avenue Culvert Repair / Removal Varies – Potential Reroute of
Traffic

7th Street at Anderson Ditch Maximize Roadway Conveyance and
Pipe Irrigation Ditch

Multiple with Street
construction / Located adjacent
to school

Between Pleasant Street and University
Avenue

Bank Stabilization 2

University Avenue to Marine Street Increase Culvert Capacity / Channel
Improvements

Multiple

Alley Between Arapahoe Road and Marine
Street

Increase Channel Capacity / Replace
Aging Culvert

5

North of Arapahoe Road Upsize Culvert / Construct Bridge 1

7th Street at Arapahoe Avenue Increase Roadway Conveyance Varies Residential Drives

In addition to the proposed improvements identified during the site walk, documented in Table 9, CH2M HILL
noticed other deficiencies along Gregory Creek Canyon through detailed hydraulic modeling. The channel
geometry between Euclid Avenue and College Avenue is one of the existing sections that is unable to convey
the 10 – year storm event without causing infrastructure damage. Another section is the channel upstream

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 54Packet Page 490



ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

GREGORY CANYON CREEK ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 9 

of Euclid Avenue for approximately 200 feet. In addition, the crossing at Arapahoe Road is unable to convey
the 10 – year storm event that is being conveyed from the upstream channel section. These three areas were
also considered for potential improvements during the alternative analysis.

Alternative Analysis 
Flood hazards within the Gregory Canyon Creek watershed are primarily due to undersized channel geometry
and culvert crossings. The watershed is considered to be fully developed with the channel corridor located
almost entirely on private property. The narrow channel corridor, lack of drainage easements, and narrow
right of way, limits the flood control elements that can be proposed. Knowing these constraints, the City of
Boulder directed CH2M HILL to look at categories of improvements that could mitigate flooding risks while
working within the horizontal constraints of the existing channel. In addition to these constraints, criteria that
were considered while developing the proposed alternatives are documented in Table 10.

 
 
 
 

Due to the horizontal and vertical constraints along Gregory Canyon Creek proposed improvements will likely
require easements and impact adjacent property owners. The City of Boulder staff requested that CH2M HILL
evaluate two different categories of elements

Category One – Channel and Culvert Improvements;

Category Two –Improvements Outside of the Channel.

The intent of the proposed categories is to mitigate flooding risk with Category One being confined along the
main channel corridor and Category Two including improvements to accommodate spill flows that escape the
channel. It is recommended that the City of Boulder work with the residents and property owners along
Gregory Canyon Creek to clear channel brush and debris located in the floodway and stabilize channel banks.
The following describes the categories of elements that were evaluated. Design Criteria and assumptions for
the development and analysis of the alternatives and categories can be found in TABLE 17 in the technical
appendix.

Category One – Channel and Culvert Improvements. This category was envisioned to provide
recommendations for improvements along the creek centerline along with brush and debris clearing. The
existing culvert infrastructure was reviewed to recommend replacements and improvements to the aging
infrastructure along Gregory Canyon Creek to ensure that the culvert crossings could pass flow contained
within the Gregory Canyon Creek channel and identify required modifications to the channel. Due to the
current condition of these culverts, it is assumed that culvert replacement along Gregory Canyon Creek may
occur to replace any damaged or aging infrastructure. Hydraulically the channel capacity is limited to
approximately the 10 year flow rate. Culverts were sized in this category to pass the ten year flow rate.
Channel improvements in the immediate vicinity of new culverts would be needed to accommodate the larger
culvert size, and are included in the project scope of each individual culvert. In addition, channel deficiencies
were noted in areas with severely reduced capacity that did not meet the 10 year criteria by the majority of
the channel or the surrounding infrastructure. In addition, if a larger culverts could be constructed based on

TABLE 10
Design Criteria

Source Document

City of Boulder Design and Construction Standards – Storm Water
Design, 2005

City of Boulder Design and Construction Standards –
Transportation Design, 2009

Urban Drainage and Flood Control District Urban Storm Drainage Criteria Manual – Volume 2,
2008

ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

10 GREGORY CANYON CREEK ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

visual horizontal and vertical constraints these larger culvert sizes were analyzed. These maximum culvert
sizes and constraints are in Table 11 in the technical appendix. The improvements associated with Category
One are illustrated in Figure 5 in the technical appendix.

Category Two –Improvements Outside of the Channel. For the purposes of this analysis, Category Two builds
on the channel optimization of the Gregory Canyon Creek channel presented in Category One and seeks to
maximize the flood conveyance of the major overflow paths while adhering to the local criteria and
constraints. Category Two includes proposed roadway sections to proactively convey floodwater that exceed
the Gregory Canyon Creek channel in identified roadways. During the storm event in September 2013,
floodwaters were observed in various roadways with primary conveyance paths being 6th Street, 7th Street
and 8th Street. These flow paths were identified as potential options for conveying larger storm events in
places where Gregory Creek is physically constrained by adjacent structures. A FLO 2D model was developed
to understand how the streets conveyed flow during larger storm events. These flow paths are shown in
Figure 3. Based on these models, 6th Street, 7th Street, 8th Street and Willowbrook were identified as major
water courses and were then formalized and optimized as drainage routes. It became clear that the overflows
fromGregory Canyon Creek into the road system during the 100 year event could exceed 350 cfs for the roads
identified for conveyance. As 6th Street, 7th Street and 8th Street approach Boulder Creek, the grades of the
roads flatten from almost 6% grade in the upper watershed to closer to 1% in the lower watershed. The flatter
slope was used to understand the maximum flow that could be achieved in the street sections without
exceeding the city’s 12 – inches maximum flood criteria. Near Boulder Creek the maximum achievable flow is
193 cfs which is approximately 50% of the modeled 100 year flows in the street. This conveyance capacity is
achieved by installing 30 foot wide roads, 6 inch curb and gutter, a four foot sidewalk with an additional 6
inch curb on the back end. This category, while not solving the 100 year flooding problem could go a long way
to help alleviate flood damage.

It is recommended that the City work with local emergency agencies to identify safety and access issues along
these routes during flood events and to provide signage to indicate that the roads are designed as flood
conveyance facilities. The roadway flood conveyance was assumed to have a typical gutter depth of 6 inches
for each residential street. Flows were not allowed to exceed the City’s 12 inch maximum requirement of
depth of flow in the street. The improvements associated with Category Two are located in Figure 6 in the
technical appendix.

After the Public Open House and WRAB meeting on October 20, 2014 which provided public input on the
categories, the city staff organized the elements into 15 alternatives. These alternatives are identified in Table
12 below. The alternatives were used to develop benefit/cost relationships to help understand the most cost
effective alternative in the basin to help improve public health and safety and minimize flood damages. Of the
15 alternatives the following alternatives were analyzed for the benefit cost analysis because they reflected
the effects of all the infrastructure improvements on the Gregory Canyon Creek System.

10 Year Culvert and Channel Improvements.

Includes 10 Year culvert and channel improvements from Category 1

Maximum Culvert Improvements with localized channel improvements.

Includes maximum culverts and channel improvements from Category 1 10 Year Culvert and Channel
Improvements with overflow path improvements

Includes 10 year culvert and channel improvements from Category 1, with roadway and overflow
path improvements from category 2

Maximum Culvert Improvements with localized channel improvements and roadway conveyance

Includes maximum culverts and localized channel improvements from Category 1, with roadway
and overflow path improvements from category 2

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 55Packet Page 491



ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

GREGORY CANYON CREEK ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 11 

The remainder of the alternatives identified by city staff are intended to reflect phasing of the alternatives
to further analyze the system.

TABLE 12

Gregory Canyon Creek Alternatives

Lower Reach Middle Reach Upper Reach

Culvert and
Channel

Improvements
Street
Conv.

Culvert and
Channel

Improvements
Street
Conv.

Culvert and
Channel

Improvements
Street
Conv.

10 yr Max 10 yr Max 10 yr Max

Alternative 1 x

Alternative 2 x

Alternative 3 x x

Alternative 4 x x

Alternative 5 x x

Alternative 6 x x

Alternative 7 x x x x

Alternative 8 x x x x

Alternative 9 x x x

Alternative 10 x x x

Alternative 11 x x x x x x

Alternative 12 x x x x x x

Alternative 13 Gregory Gulch Pipe

Alternative 14 Piping Anderson Ditch

All of the defined alternatives were built into the effective HEC RAS models to determine the depth of flow
throughout the system which was used to determine benefits. All figures and tables in the technical appendix
have been updated to capture the revised alternatives. Table 13 is a summary of the alternatives and their
respective costs. Line items for Gregory Gulch Pipe at Willowbrook Road and the piping of Anderson Ditch are
included separately.

ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

12 GREGORY CANYON CREEK ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

TABLE 13    
Summary of Alternative Costs

Alternative Cost Notes

10 year $ 4,692,167.00 Includes: 10 year culvert improvements, adjacent channel
improvements for culverts, and channel improvements in
other areas to increase to 10 year capacity.

10 year With Overflow
Conveyance

$ 8,505,643.00

Includes: 10 year culvert improvements, adjacent channel
improvements for culverts, channel improvements in
other areas to increase to 10 year capacity, and street
conveyance in critical areas. Also includes the Gregory
Gulch pipe.

Maximum $ 7,876,974.00
Includes:Maximum culvert improvements, adjacent
channel improvements for culverts, and channel
improvements in other areas to increase to 10 year
capacity.

Max With Overflow
Conveyance

$ 11,690,450.00

Includes:Max culvert improvements, adjacent channel
improvements for culverts, channel improvements in
other areas to increase to 10 year capacity, and street
conveyance in critical areas. Also includes the Gregory
Gulch pipe.

Anderson Ditch Pipe $ 23,450.00 Includes: Piping of Anderson Ditch.

Benefit Cost Analysis 
A benefit cost analysis was performed to analyze the alternatives as outlined above. The following four
primary alternatives were analyzed:

10 year culvert improvements

10 year culvert improvements with street conveyance improvements

Maximum culvert improvements

Maximum culvert improvements with street conveyance improvements

Data Collection 
The primary resource for allocating data to develop the benefit cost analysis was the Federal Emergency
Management Agency (FEMA) HAZUS –MH computer program and the FEMA BCA tool. A HAZUS MH database
produced by FEMA that categorized the structures, foundation types, first floor elevation identification
number, structure value and contents value created in response to the 2013 flood, provided the base
information to determine benefits for each of the alternatives. This data included information on the first
floor elevation value, foundation, type, structure type, and the number of stories. Additional data included
assessor data from Boulder County which included a descriptor of the basement type to help identify how to
modify the lowest adjacent grade to compute first floor elevation.

Methodology 
In order to determine the benefit costs to the proposed alternatives, an analysis was performed using water
surface elevations based on the HEC RAS models developed for each alternative. Lowest adjacent grades for

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 56Packet Page 492



ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

GREGORY CANYON CREEK ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 13 

the homes were interpolated from a surface based on 1 ft contours using ArcGIS, and first floor elevations
were assigned based on the county assessor information with specific attention given to basement type. The
lowest adjacent grades were modified based on basement type using the values in Table 18 in the Appendix.
If a basement type was “unfinished” then the structure was assumed to act as a slab on grade structure. This
elevation was compared against the water surface elevations for the 10 , 50 , 100 , and 500 yr recurrence
interval storms to develop the depth of flooding relative to the first floor elevation of all impacted structures.
This analysis resulted in a list of structures within the floodplain for each storm event, and each alternative.

Depth damage functions were pulled from the BCA Tool 5.1 program developed by FEMA. These functions
provide a damage percentage of both the structure value and contents value of a structure based on the depth
of flooding experienced at the structure. Both structure and contents values were included in the BCA analysis.
The structure information acquired from FEMA included differing categories of structures. These included

Structure type

Residential

Commercial

Industrial

Governmental

Education

Number of stories

Foundation Type

Basement

Crawl space

Slab on grade

Basement Type

Walk out (finished/unfinished)

Subterranean (finished/unfinished)

Garden (finished/unfinished)

These structure categories formed a unique identifier that corresponded to a specific depth – damage function
from the BCA Tool model. A separate depth damage function was created separately for Garden and
Subterranean basements to modify when damage began to occur. A lookup table was setup to match
structure, with the assigned water depth, to determine the percentage of damage for each return period and
alternative. Damages for each alternative were compared to existing conditions damages to determine the
benefits of each alternative.

Average annual damages were determined for each alternative by multiplying the damages by the probability
of recurrence. In addition, all costs for the alternatives were converted average annual costs. This was done
by taking a 7% amortization rate and assuming a fifty year project lifespan per the guidance from the FEMA
BCA guidance.

Table 14 presents a summary of the damages calculated for existing conditions and the alternatives. Table 15
presents a summary of the benefit cost ratios. Table 16, in the technical appendix, provides a more detailed
view of the damages per alternative.

ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

14 GREGORY CANYON CREEK ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

TABLE 14      
Summary of Damages (Structure and Contents) for Existing Conditions and Alternatives

Probability Storm
Event

Damage from Storm Event

Existing 10 yr 10 yr w/ Street Max Max w/ Street

0.2 5 yr $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

0.1 10 yr $39,885,504 $28,624,736 $28,624,736 $26,807,549 $26,532,135

0.02 50 yr $44,871,121 $36,296,256 $35,953,292 $35,388,630 $34,657,034

0.01 100 yr $45,713,907 $37,709,166 $36,703,945 $36,511,272 $35,407,533

0.002 500 yr $50,081,200 $41,610,872 $41,289,544 $41,132,626 $39,726,175

TABLE 15      
Summary of Annualized Damage Costs, Benefits, Alternative Costs, and Benefit Cost Ratios

Conditions Existing 10 yr 10 yr w/ Street Max Max w/ Street

Annualized damage $4,430,766.00 $3,521,538.00 $3,492,949.00 $3,415,439.00 $3,345,260.00

Benefit $909,228.00 $937,817.00 $1,015,327.00 $1,085,506.00

Annualized Alternative Cost (7%
Amortization, 50 yr Life Span) $339,994.00 $616,318.00 $570,764.00 $847,088.00

Benefit Cost Ratio 2.67 1.52 1.78 1.28

Engineers Recommended Plan 
Introduction 
The Engineer’s Recommended Plan to minimize the identified flooding issues along Gregory Canyon Creek is
the 10 year alternative (Recommended Plan). This Recommended Plan is offered for consideration based on
feedback from public meetings, project stakeholders, staff input and preliminary discussions with WRAB.

The Engineer’s Recommended Plan is only the first step in the adoption process. Several additional
endorsement or approvals must be secured before any implementation is initiated. At each step, adjustments
to the Recommended Plan may be identified that address specific concerns expressed by the reviewing entity
or the Recommended Plan can be dismissed in favor of another alternative. At the end of the process, the city
may choose to adopt a single plan that consolidates the refinements or selects an entirely different option,
either studied as part of this Mitigation Planning Study or developed based on other criteria.

The Engineer’s Recommended Plan has been presented to city staff. Comments by the group have been
addressed and refinements incorporated into the Recommended Plan as necessary. The Recommended Plan,
once reviewed and approved by city staff, is now ready to be presented to WRAB. It is also expected that a

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 57Packet Page 493



ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

GREGORY CANYON CREEK ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 15 

presentation will be made to the public and other stakeholders that describes the planning process and the
elements of the Recommended Plan. In addition to these presentations, the team intends to present the
Recommended Plan to City Council for formal consideration and adoption. Once the plan has been adopted,
City Public Works Utilities staff will incorporate the recommendations into a long term Capital Improvements
Program.

Plan Description 
The Recommended Plan focuses on alleviating flooding along Gregory Canyon Creek, without affecting
adjacent structures, minimizing Right – of – way takes while providing the greatest level of service
throughout the corridor in the most cost effective way possible. This alternative focuses on making channel
improvements to convey the 10 year storm event and replacing culverts along the channel to also convey
the 10 year storm event. These improvements will provide additional protection from more frequent
flooding events but will not eliminate the 100 year flood hazard. Additional options could be included at the
City’s discretion including sediment and debris traps, improvements to irrigation facilities or improvements
to roads that could help contain and convey higher flow events along the roads within the basins.

Other Features of the Recommended Plan

The Recommended Plan also recognizes the City’s considerable efforts to manage and control flood hazards.
The City has an extensive body of floodplain and floodway protections built into the zoning, land use and
development regulations. Physical infrastructure to warn citizens of an impending flood threat exists
through sirens and other warning mechanisms and an impressive body of master planning exists for many of
the city’s drainageways.

In addition, the City also has regulations that are in place to protect the environmental values the
community finds so valuable. Stormwater quality regulations have been adopted to assure that future
construction activities do not create adverse environmental impacts. Existing stormwater discharge permits
issued under the State’s Stormwater NPDES program also include programs that promote public education
and control other sources of pollution. These are intended to remain in place and are implicitly incorporated
into the Recommended Plan.

Basis for Selection 
The primary objective defined at the outset of the study was to reduce the flood impacts on properties
along Gregory Canyon Creek with as little disturbance to private properties as possible. The Recommended
Plan does reduce the flood hazard throughout the watershed for 40 structures for the 10 yr condition and
18 structures for the 100 yr condition. This reduced hazard provides much better access for emergency
vehicles during flood events.

The Recommended Plan has the highest benefit cost ratio among the plans evaluated. This means that the
City’s investment in infrastructure to address flooding generates a favorable return by reducing the average
annual flood damages by a factor of 2.67 over the investment cost.

The Recommended Plan does create some unavoidable impacts to private properties. However, the
elements of the Recommended Plan have been laid out to minimize these impacts.

 

 

List of Figure and Tables 
Figures .................................................................................................................................................... 17
Figure 1: September 2013 Flood Extents ........................................................................................................... 18
Figure 2: Area of Interest............................................................................................................................... .... 19
Figure 3: Existing 100 – year 2 D Analysis Floodplain ....................................................................................... 20
Figure 4: Comparison to September 2013 Event ............................................................................................... 21
Figure 5: Category One – Channel and Culvert Improvements .................................................................... 22 24
Figure 6: Category Two – Improvements Outside of the Channel................................................................ 25 27
Figure 7: Flagstaff Road Detention Stage Storage Curve .................................................................................. 28
Figure 8: Smith Park Stage Storage Curve ......................................................................................................... 29
Figure 9: Flatirons Elementary School Stage Storage Curve.............................................................................. 30
Figure 10: 7th Street Sediment Trap Alternatives............................................................................................... 31
Figure 11: Flowmaster Output – Tiered Curb .................................................................................................... 32

Tables .................................................................................................................................................... 33
Table 1: Data Received From City of Boulder .................................................................................................... 34
Table 5: Effective and Existing Hydraulic Output .............................................................................................. 36
Table 11: Culvert Improvements....................................................................................................................... 42
Table 16: Damage Assessment......................................................................................................................... 44
Table 17: Design Criteria and Assumptions ....................................................................................................... 45
Table 18: Lowest Adjacent Grade Basement Type Modifier Values .................................................................. 46

Acronyms and Abbreviations ................................................................................................................... 47

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 58Packet Page 494



 

 

Technical Appendix 

Figures

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 59Packet Page 495



FIGURE 1
Spetember 2013 Flood Extents
Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation

UNK G:\498924_GREGORY_CREEK\03_GIS\MAPFILES\GREGORY CANYON SEPTEMBER FLOODING MAP.MXD MLYNCH7 8/27/2014 3:26:08 PM

VICINITY MAP

Notes:
1.  Area of interest subject to change.

9th St

Canyon Bv

11th St

10th St

13th St

12th St

14th St

C
ol

le
ge

 A
v

8th St

A
ur

or
a 

Av

Pl
ea

sa
nt

 S
t

M
ar

in
e 

St

B
as

el
in

e 
R

d

W
alnut St

C
as

ca
de

 A
v

6th St

Grant Pl

Lincoln Pl

7th St

U
ni

ve
rs

ity
 A

v

5th St

Flagstaff Rd Pearl St

Spruce St

Broadway

Gilbert St

15th St

Kinnikinic Rd

4th St

Park Ln

Bellevue Dr

M
ar

ip
os

a 
Av

C
ol

um
bi

ne
 A

v

Circle Dr

G
ra

nd
vi

ew
 A

v

A
ra

pa
ho

e 
Av

Eu
cl

id
 A

v

B
lu

eb
el

l A
v

Chautauqua Res Rd

D
ea

n 
Pl

Goldenrod Dr

Willowbrook Rd

C
lem

atis D
r

H
ap

go
od

 S
t

Gregory Ln

Gregory Canyon Rd

M
ou

nt
ai

n 
Vi

ew
 R

d

Rose Hill Dr

Jay St

Stream
side Ln

Pe
nn

sy
lv

an
ia

 A
v

Marshall St

Arapahoe Ln W

Beacon Ct

G
randview

 Av

11th St

11th St

4th St

9th St

Spruce St

7th St

Pearl St

A
ra

pa
ho

e 
Av

U
ni

ve
rs

ity
 A

v

11th St

Jay St

M
arine St

Eu
cl

id
 A

v

5th St

8th St

6th St

8th St

14th St

Flagstaff Rd

5th St

8th St

13th St

Lincoln Pl

7th St

5th St

4th St

8th St

5th St

6th St

15th St

Arapahoe Av

LEGEND
Creeks and Streams
Gregory Creek
September 2013 Flood Extents
City Limits

$

0.15 0 0.150.075
Miles

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 60Packet Page 496



FIGURE 2
Area of Interest
Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation

UNK G:\498924_GREGORY_CREEK\03_GIS\MAPFILES\LOCATION FIGURE.MXD MLYNCH7 8/27/2014 3:22:21 PM

VICINITY MAP

Notes:
1.  Area of interest subject to change.

9th St

11th St10th St

13th St
12th St

Flagstaff Rd

15th St

Canyon Bv

Aurora Av

Pleasant St

14th St

Baseline Rd
Cascade Av

College Av

8th St

M
arine St

Br
oa

dw
ay

6th St

Grant Pl

Linco
ln Pl

7th St

University Av

16th St

17th St

5th St

State Hwy 119

Pearl St

Gilbert S
t

Spruce St

Colum
bine Av

18th St

M
ariposa Av

Kinnikinic Rd

4th St

Arapahoe Av

Park Ln

Euclid Av

Circle Dr

Bellevue Dr

Dean Pl

Willo
wbrook RdGregory Ln

Rose Hill Dr

Jay St

Euclid Av

6th St

10
th

 S
t

Arapahoe Av
LEGEND

Creeks and Streams
Gregory Creek
Area of Interest
City Limits
Gregory Creek Watershed

$

0.25 0 0.250.125
Miles

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 61Packet Page 497



FIGURE 3
Existing 100-year 2-D Analysis Floodplain
Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation

UNK W:\498924_GREGORY_CREEK\03_GIS\MAPFILES\2015.01.27 UPDATED FIGURES\FIGURE3_FLO2D.MXD FLAMBREC 2/12/2015 1:54:29 PM

VICINITY MAP

Notes:
1. Velocity in street is represented by velocity vectors.

FLO-2D Loading Point for 
312 Combined Hydrograph
from HEC-1

FLO-2D Loading Point for 2/3 of
313 Hydrograph from HEC-1

FLO-2D Loading Point for 
1/3 of 313 Hydrograph 
from HEC-1

9t
h 

St

11
th

 S
t

10
th

 S
t

8t
h 

St

Marine St

College Av

6t
h 

St G
ra

nt
 P

l

Li
nc

ol
n 

Pl

Aurora Av

7t
h 

St
Pleasant St

Canyon Bv

Baseline Rd

University Av

Cascade Av

5t
h 

St

G
ilb

er
t S

t

Flagstaff Rd

Grandview Av

Pa
rk

 L
n

4th St
3rd St

Ci
rc

le
 D

r

Euclid Av

Clematis Dr

Arapahoe Av

Dean Pl

W
ill

ow
br

oo
k 

R
d

Hapgood St

Greg
or

y L
n

Rose Hill D
r

Ja
y 

St

Streamside Ln

Pennsylvania Av

M
ar

sh
al

l S
t

7t
h 

St

6t
h 

St

8th St
8th St

Lincoln Pl

11th StArapahoe Av

0 50 10025

Feet

LEGEND
Gregory Canyon Creek
Streets

Flow Depth at Cell
Depth (ft)

0.5- 1
1 - 2
2 - 3
3 - 4
4 - 5
5 - 6
6 - 7
7 - 8
8 - 9
9 - 10
> 10

$

9t
h 

St

10
th

 S
t

8t
h 

St

Marine St

College Av

6t
h 

St

G
ra

nt
 P

l

Li
nc

ol
n 

Pl

7t
h 

St

Aurora Av

Pleasant St

Canyon Bv

11
th

 S
t

Baseline Rd

University Av

Cascade Av
5t

h 
St

G
ilb

er
t S

t

Fl
ag

st
af

f R
d

Grandview Av

Pa
rk

 L
n

4th St
3rd St

Ci
rc

le
 D

r

Euclid Av

Arapahoe Av

Dean Pl

W
ill

ow
br

oo
k 

R
d

Hapgood St

Ja
y 

St

Geneva Av

Streamside Ln

Pennsylvania Av

M
ar

sh
al

l S
t

Euclid Av

Lincoln Pl

5t
h 

St

11th St

6t
h 

St

10
th

 S
t

8th St

Arapahoe Av

7t
h 

St
Flagstaff Rd

8th St

Velocity at Cell (Vectors)
Velocity Vectors (fps)

1 - 2

2 - 3

3 - 4

4 - 5

5 - 6

6 - 7

7 -8

8 - 9

9 - 10

> 10

Velocity VectorsFlow Depth

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 62Packet Page 498



FIGURE 4
Comparison to September 2013 Event
Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation

UNK G:\498924_GREGORY_CREEK\03_GIS\MAPFILES\FIGURE4_COMPARISON.MXD MLYNCH7 8/28/2014 11:27:18 AM

VICINITY MAP

9t
h 

St

11
th

 S
t

10
th

 S
t

13
th

 S
t12

th
 S

t

Baseline Rd

Pleasant St

Aurora Av

Cascade Av

15
th

 S
t

14
th

 S
t

College Av

8t
h 

St

Marine St

17
th

 S
t

6t
h 

St

G
ra

nt
 P

l

Li
nc

ol
n 

Pl

7t
h 

St

18
th

 S
t

University Av

16
th

 S
t

Broadway

5t
h 

St

Canyon Bv

Fl
ag

st
af

f R
d

Columbine Av

Mariposa Av

G
ilb

er
t S

t

20
th

 S
t

Athens St

Pa
rk

 L
n

4t
h 

St

Euclid Av

Pearl St

Ci
rc

le
 D

r

Grandview Av

K
innikinic R

d

Hillside Rd

Arapahoe Av

19
th

 S
t

Dean Pl

W
ill

ow
br

oo
k 

R
d

C
le

m
at

is
 D

r

Hapgood St

Greg
or

y L
n

Rose Hill D
r

M
ac

ky
 D

r

Ja
y 

St

Geneva Av

Streamside Ln

Pennsylvania Av
M

ar
sh

al
l S

t

Arapahoe Ln W

Grandview Av

10
th

 S
t

Euclid Av

13
th

 S
t

11th St

18
th

 S
t

5t
h 

St

18
th

 S
t

19
th

 S
t

17
th

 S
t

Arapahoe Av

8th St

18
th

 S
t

8th St

University Av

Lincoln Pl

7t
h 

St

16
th

 S
t

Marine St

6t
h 

St

Flagstaff Rd

0 50 10025

Feet

LEGEND
Sept2013_UrbanFloodExtents
Gregory Canyon Creek
Streets

Flow Depth at Cell
Depth (ft)

0.5- 1
1 - 2
2 - 3
3 - 4
4 - 5
5 - 6
6 - 7
7 - 8
8 - 9
9 - 10
> 10

$

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 63Packet Page 499



FIGURE 5 (1 of 3)
Category One - Culvert and Channel Improvements
Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation

UNK G:\498924_GREGORY_CREEK\03_GIS\MAPFILES\2015.02.12 UPDATED FIGURES\FIG5_ALTERNATE1A.MXD FLAMBREC 2/12/2015 5:38:39 PM

VICINITY MAP

a

a

a
a

a

a

Install (2) 10' x 6' box culverts

Install a (3) 9' x 6' box culverts

Install (3) 12' x 5' box culverts

Lower invert by 1-ft
Grade channel to accomodate 
larger culvert

Lower invert by 2-ft
Grade channel to accomodate 
larger culvert

Lower invert by 3.5-ft
Grade channel to accomodate 
larger culvert

Lower invert by 0.5-ft
Grade channel to accomodate 
larger culvert

Lower invert by 1.5-ft
Grade channel to accomodate 
larger culvert

Grade channel to accomodate 
larger culvert

Lower invert by 2-ft
Grade channel to accomodate 
larger culvert

Install (2) 10' x 6' box culverts

Lower invert by 2-ft
Grade channel to accomodate 
larger culvert

Lower invert by 1-ft
Grade channel to accomodate 
larger culvert

Grade channel to accomodate 
larger culvert

Install (2) 10' x 6' box culverts

Bank Stabilization
General Maintenance

Install (2) 15' x 6' box culverts

Grade channel to accomodate 
larger culvert

Grade channel to accomodate 
larger culvert

Create open channel
9-ft bottom width
2H: 1V side slopes

BOULDER CREEK

9TH

6T
H

MARINE

ARAPAHOE

CANYON

UNIVERSITY

8TH

7T
H

10TH

GRANDVIEW

LIN
C

O
LN

5TH

LIN
C

O
LN

8TH

7T
H

CANYON

LIN
C

O
LN

0 200 400100

Feet

LEGEND
Existing Easements
Culvert Improvements

a a Channel Improvements
Channel Grading

$

Infrastructure

Channel

General Note

CALLOUT LEGEND

Notes:
   1. Culvert dimensions are
   width x height (span x rise)

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 64Packet Page 500



FIGURE 5 (2 of 3)
Category One - Culvert and Channel Improvements
Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation

UNK G:\498924_GREGORY_CREEK\03_GIS\MAPFILES\2015.02.12 UPDATED FIGURES\FIG5_ALTERNATE1B.MXD FLAMBREC 2/12/2015 5:42:26 PM

VICINITY MAP

a
a

a
a

a
a

a
a

a
a

a
a

a
a

a

a
a

a
a

a

a
a

a
a

a
a

a
a

a
a

Lower invert by 1-ft
Grade channel to accomodate 
larger culvert

Install (2) 13' x 6' box culverts

Grade channel to accomodate 
larger culvert

Lower invert by 2-ft
Grade channel to accomodate 
larger culvert

Install (2) 12' x 6' box culverts
and realign to remove bend

Grade channel to accomodate 
larger culvert

Install (3) 12' x 6' box culverts

Install (3) 11' x 6' box culverts

Channel grading to 
accomodate larger culvert

Channel grading to 
accomodate larger culvert

Install (3) 10' x 6' box culverts

Channel grading to 
accomodate larger culvert

Lower invert 1.7-ft
Channel grading to 
accomodate larger culvert

Potential Debris 
Trap

Lower invert by 3-ft
Grade channel to accomodate 
larger culvert

Install (2) 12' x 6' box culverts

Grade channel to accomodate 
larger culvert

6-ft channel bottom
Lower invert of channel by 4'
Adjust right bank 8' to the east
2H: 1V side slopes

5-ft channel bottom
Lower invert of channel by 1'
Adjust right bank 2' to the east
2H: 1V side slopes

5-ft channel bottom
Lower invert of channel by 2'
Adjust right bank 9' to the east
2H: 1V side slopes

5-ft channel bottom
Lower invert of channel by 1-4'
Adjust left bank 12' to the west
2H: 1V side slopes

1.5' Boulder Drop to dissipate
energy and tie into existing channel

ANDERSON DITCH

G
R

EG
O

RY
 C

R
EE

K

9T
H

6T
H

7T
H

COLLEGE

8T
H

PLEASANT

G
R

A
N

T

G
IL

B
ER

T

EUCLID

DEAN

JA
Y

HAPGOOD

5T
H

RO
SE

 H
IL

L

GENEVA

M
A

R
SH

A
LL

EUCLID

7T
H

8T
H

6T
H

JA
Y

0 200 400100

Feet

LEGEND
a a Channel Improvements

Existing Easements
Culvert Improvements
Channel Grading

$

Infrastructure

Channel

General Note

CALLOUT LEGEND

Notes:
   1. Culvert dimensions are
   width x height (span x rise)

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 65Packet Page 501



FIGURE 5 (3 of 3)
Category One - Culvert and Channel Improvements
Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation

UNK G:\498924_GREGORY_CREEK\03_GIS\MAPFILES\2015.02.12 UPDATED FIGURES\FIG5_ALTERNATE1C.MXD FLAMBREC 2/12/2015 6:03:52 PM

VICINITY MAP

Install (2) 9' x 7' box culverts

Trash Rack 

Install (4) 10' x 6' box culverts

Channel grading to 
accomodate larger culvert

Channel grading to 
accomodate larger culvert

Channel grading to 
accomodate larger culvert

Channel grading to 
accomodate larger culvert

Install (2) 8' x 8' box culverts

Channel grading to 
accomodate larger culvert

Channel grading to 
accomodate larger culvert

G
R

EG
O

RY
 C

R
EE

K

6T
H

7T
H

8T
H

G
R

A
N

T

AURORA

BASELINE

CASCADE

PA
R

K

5T
H

C
IR

C
LE

FLAGSTAFF

GREGORY

W
IL

LO
W

B
R

O
O

K

G
IL

B
ER

T

CHRISTMAS TREE

KINNIKINIC

CLEVELAND

CLEMATIS

B
LU

EB
EL

L

FL
AG

ST
AF

F

0 200 400100

Feet

LEGEND
a a Channel Improvements

Existing Easements
Culvert Improvements
Channel Grading

$

Notes:
   1. Culvert dimensions are 
   width x height (span x rise)

Infrastructure

Channel

General Note

CALLOUT LEGEND

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 66Packet Page 502



UNK G:\498924_GREGORY_CREEK\03_GIS\MAPFILES\2015.02.12 UPDATED FIGURES\FIG6_ALTERNATE3A(FIG7).MXD FLAMBREC 2/12/2015 6:14:51 PM

VICINITY MAP

Lower Arapahoe and 7th Avenue
Intersection by 2 feet to 5382'
To force flow down 7th.
Max Flow = 193 cfs
Min Slope= 1%

Existinng Capacity
Max Flow = 193 cfs
Min Slope= 1%
Intersection Improvements 
to Ensure Flow Stays in 7th Street

Lower University and 7th Avenue
Intersection by 1.5 feet to 5421.5'
To force flow down 7th.
Max Flow = 193 cfs
Min Slope= 1%

Modify 8th street ditch
Trapazoidal Section 
5-ft bottom width
2H:1V Side slopes
3 - ft depth
Max Flow = 200 cfs

Bank Stabilization
General Maintenance

Intersection improvements
To force flow from 9th 
Street down 9th Street
Max Flow = 193 cfs
Min Slope= 1%

Intersection improvements
To force flow from Arapahoe 
Culvert down 9th Street to 
Boulder Creek.
Max Flow = 193 cfs
Min Slope= 1%

Intersection improvements
To keep flow on 6th Street
Max Flow = 193 cfs
Min Slope= 1%

Intersection improvements
To keep flow on 6th Street
Max Flow = 193 cfs
Min Slope= 1%

Intersection improvements
To keep flow on 6th Street
Max Flow = 193 cfs
Min Slope= 1%

BOULDER CREEK

GREGORY C
REEK

G
R

EG
O

RY C
R

EEK

9TH

6T
H

MARINE

CANYON

ARAPAHOE

UNIVERSITY

8TH

7T
H

10TH

LIN
C

O
LN

GRANDVIEW

5TH

7T
H

CANYON
CANYON

8TH

LIN
C

O
LN

LIN
C

O
LN

0 200 400100

Feet

LEGEND
Easements
Street Improvements
Street Overflows

$

FIGURE 6 (1 of 3)
Category Three - Improvements Outside of the Channel
Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation

Infrastructure

Channel

General Note

CALLOUT LEGEND

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 67Packet Page 503



FIGURE 6 (2 of 3)
Category Three - Improvements Outside of the Channel
Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation

UNK G:\498924_GREGORY_CREEK\03_GIS\MAPFILES\2015.02.12 UPDATED FIGURES\FIG6_ALTERNATE3B(FIG7).MXD FLAMBREC 2/12/2015 6:11:00 PM

VICINITY MAP

Modify 7th over Anderson Ditch
to restore 2% crown and to maintain
a minimum 1% slope
Max Flow = 193 cfs
Min Slope= 1%

Modify 6th over Anderson Ditch
to restore 2% crown and to maintain
a minimum 1% slope
Max Flow = 193 cfs
Min Slope= 1%

Add Inlets and 48" Cross Culvert 
to new Trapazoidal Channel
5-ft channle bottom
2 foot depth
2H:1V side slopes
Max Flow = 75 cfs

Modify Pleasant East of 7th
REdo road to provide Curb and Gutter 
and 2% crown 
Max Flow = 193 cfs
Min Slope= 1.5%

Max Flow = 200 cfs

Potential Debris 
Trap

Modify 6th Street and College Ave
Intersection to keep flow on 6th
Max Flow = 193 cfs
Min Slope= 1%

G
R

EG
O

RY
 C

R
EE

K ANDERSON DITCH

6T
H

7T
H

COLLEGE

8T
H

PLEASANT

G
R

A
N

T

G
IL

B
ER

T

EUCLID

DEAN

JA
Y

HAPGOOD
5T

H

ROSE HILL

GENEVA

PENNSYLVANIA

M
A

R
SH

A
LL

EUCLID

7T
H

8T
H

6T
H

JA
Y

0 200 400100

Feet

LEGEND
Easements
Street Overflows
Storm_Inlets
Street Improvements

$

Infrastructure

Channel

General Note

CALLOUT LEGEND

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 68Packet Page 504



FIGURE 6 (3 of 3)
Category Three - Improvements Outside of the Channel
Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation

UNK W:\498924_GREGORY_CREEK\03_GIS\MAPFILES\2015.02.12 UPDATED FIGURES\FIG6_ALTERNATE3C(FIG7).MXD FLAMBREC 2/12/2015 6:46:25 PM

VICINITY MAP

Modify Street to maintain 2% Crown
East side of the Curb and Sidewalk
needs to be raised to maintian 1.5-ft of 
Depth at Gutter line
Max Flow = 193 cfs
Slope = 1.0%

Proposed Pipe Alignment
Outfall North of Aurora at
Existing Headwall
Maximize Inlet Alignment
Along Willowbrook

Trash Rack

Maintain 2% Crown
Max Flow = 193 cfs

G
R

EG
O

RY
 C

R
EE

K

6T
H

7T
H

8T
H

G
R

A
N

T

AURORA

BASELINE

CASCADE

PA
R

K

FL
AG

ST
AF

F

5T
H

C
IR

C
LE

GREGORY

W
IL

LO
W

B
R

O
O

K

G
IL

B
ER

T

CHRISTMAS TREE

CLEVELAND

KINNIKINIC

B
LU

EB
EL

L

FLAGSTAFF

0 200 400100

Feet

LEGEND
Easements
Street Overflows
Storm_Inlets
Sediment Trap Locations

$

Infrastructure

Channel

General Note

CALLOUT LEGEND

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 69Packet Page 505



0123456789

0
10

00
20

00
30

00
40

00
50

00
60

00
70

00
80

00

Stage(ft)

Ar
ea

(s
q.

ft
.)

St
ag
e
Ar
ea

Cu
rv
e

U
ps
tr
ea
m

of
Fl
ag
st
af
fR

oa
d

024681012

0
20

00
40

00
60

00
80

00
10

00
0

12
00

0

Stage(ft)

Ar
ea

(S
F)

St
ag
e
Ar
ea

Cu
rv
e

Sm
ith

Pa
rk

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 70Packet Page 506



01234567

0
50

00
10

00
0

15
00

0
20

00
0

25
00

0

Stage(ft)

Ar
ea

(S
F)

St
ag
e
Ar
ea

Cu
rv
e

Fl
at
iro

ns
El
em

en
ta
ry

Sc
ho

ol

Sediment Trap Analysis (DRAFT)
Gregory Canyon Creek MDP

UNK G:\498924_GREGORY_CREEK\03_GIS\MAPFILES\2015.02.12 UPDATED FIGURES\FIG10_ SEDIMENT TRAP ALTERNATIVES.MXD FLAMBREC 2/12/2015 6:52:46 PM

Source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics,
CNES/Airbus DS, USDA, USGS, AEX, Getmapping, Aerogrid, IGN,
IGP, swisstopo, and the GIS User Community, Esri, HERE,
DeLorme, MapmyIndia, © OpenStreetMap contributors

0 50 10025

Feet

LEGEND
Creek Centerline
1' Contours (2013)
CountyParcels

Sediment Trap Alternatives
Alt 1 - Offline
Alt 2 - Inline
Alt 3 - Offline

$

Gregory Canyon Creek Drainage Area = 2.29 sq. miles
2-year Q = 161 cfs
Sediment Load = 229 Tons (116 CY)

Alt 1 Area - 2500 sq. ft, 2' deep, 53% Efficiency (Fine Sand)
Alt 2 Area - 1150 sq. ft, 3' deep, 29% Efficiency (Fine Sand)
Alt 3 Area - 1700 sq. ft, 2' deep, 42% Efficiency (Fine Sand)

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 71Packet Page 507



Project Description

Friction Method Manning Formula

Solve For Discharge

Input Data

Channel Slope 0.01000 ft/ft

Normal Depth 1.00 ft

Discharge 193.06 ft³/s

Cross Section Image

Cross Section for Tiered Curb - Irregular Section - 1

2/12/2015 2:40:31 PM
Bentley Systems, Inc.  Haestad Methods Solution CenterBentley FlowMaster V8i (SELECTseries 1)  [08.11.01.03]

27 Siemons Company Drive Suite 200 W  Watertown, CT 06795 USA  +1-203-755-1666 1of1Page

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 72Packet Page 508



 

 

Technical Appendix 

Tables

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 73Packet Page 509



Table 1: Data Received From City of Boulder
Gregory Creek Master Plan
CH2M Hill
Location: W:\498924_Gregory_Creek\02_Recievables

Description Filename From File Type Location/Folder No. of Files Date Received
Master Plan Calendar Master Plan Calendar City of Boulder PDF 2014.07.22_FromBoulder 7/22/2014
Instructions for Scanning Form Instructions for Scanning Form City of Boulder PDF Historic Documents 7/22/2014
Asbuilt of 7th street up to Pleasant St 7th_st City of Boulder TIFF As builts 7/22/2014
Asbuilt of trash rack replacement from 800 Block of Willobrook
Rd to 16th St and Iris Ave

2014 04 08_COBTrashRacks_Stamped_Final
Submittal

City of Boulder PDF As builts 7/22/2014

Asbuilt of culvert and pipe work along Gregory Creek (1977) 09461 City of Boulder PDF As builts 7/22/2014
Asbuilt of Willowbrook Rd culvert replacement and sewer
replacement

22804_22811 GregoryCanyon WillbrookRd City of Boulder PDF As builts 7/22/2014

Asbuilt of culvert installations for Aurora Ave, creek
improvements along 8th street from university to pleasant

Gregory Aurora to University City of Boulder PDF As builts 7/22/2014

Flood Hazard Area Delineation Report for Boulder Creek Boulder Creek FHAD 1983 City of Boulder PDF Mapping 7/22/2014
Letter to Mayor of Boulder and Chair of Boulder County Board of
Commissioners regarding LOMR

FEMA Approval Final City of Boulder PDF GCC Final As Approved 7/22/2014

Letter to City of Boulder Utilities reconciling LOMR with LOD
from FEMA Also the request for letter of map revision

Final LOMR Report Rectified to LOD City of Boulder PDF GCC Final As Approved 7/22/2014

Topo survey from XXXX ACAD SURVEY City of Boulder AutoCAD DWG CAD 7/22/2014
Topo survey from 2004 ACAD SURVEY_2004 City of Boulder AutoCAD DWG CAD 7/22/2014
Floodway, 100yr, 500yr firm ANNO FIRM REV 032210 City of Boulder AutoCAD DWG CAD 7/22/2014
Floodplain map with HHZ, Floodway, 100yr, 500yr layers FLOODPLAIN LAYERS FINAL 091510 City of Boulder AutoCAD DWG CAD 7/22/2014
Floodplain map with HHZ, Floodway, 100yr, 500yr layers
contours are added along with Boulder Creek confluence and
floodplain

LOMR BASEMAP FINAL 091510 City of Boulder AutoCAD DWG CAD 7/22/2014

Main reach profile with 10yr, 50yr, 100yr, 500yr profiles MAIN REACH PROFILE City of Boulder AutoCAD DWG CAD 7/22/2014
Spill reach profile with 10yr, 50yr, 100yr, 500yr profiles SPILL REACH PROFILE City of Boulder AutoCAD DWG CAD 7/22/2014
Boulder Creek Effective model Bldr Crk Effective City of Boulder HEC RAS HEC RAS\Bldr Crk Effective 2 7/22/2014
Flood Hazard Area Delineation model FHAD Model City of Boulder HEC RAS HEC RAS\FHAD Model 2 7/22/2014
Main channel post project floodway analysis (including HEC RAS
files, text files, and microstation reference file)

MAIN FW City of Boulder HEC RAS POST PROJECT MODELS\MAIN FW 7 7/22/2014

Main channel post project multi profile analysis (including HEC
RAS files, text files, and microstation reference file)

MAIN MP City of Boulder HEC RAS POST PROJECT MODELS\MAIN MP 11 7/22/2014

Spill channel post project floodway analysis (including HEC RAS
files, text files, and microstation reference file)

SPILL FW City of Boulder HEC RAS POST PROJECT MODELS\SPILL FW 12 7/22/2014

Spill channel post project multi profile analysis (including HEC
RAS files, text files, and microstation reference file)

SPILL MP City of Boulder HEC RAS POST PROJECT MODELS\SPILL MP 14 7/22/2014

FHAD versus Post Project cross sections and water surface
elevations

FHAD vs Revised City of Boulder PDF POST PROJECT MODELS\Supplemental Models&Tables 7/22/2014

FlowMaster report of rectangular channels showing hydraulic
information

FlowMaster Report City of Boulder PDF POST PROJECT MODELS\Supplemental Models&Tables 7/22/2014

Flow path delineation for water that leaves the main the channel
and flows through streets, etc.

Flow Path Delineations City of Boulder PDF POST PROJECT MODELS\Supplemental Models&Tables 7/22/2014

Table of shallow flooding areas with cross section and location Shallow Flooding Table City of Boulder PDF POST PROJECT MODELS\Supplemental Models&Tables 7/22/2014

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 74Packet Page 510



Flowmaster shallow flooding sections file SHALLOW FLOOD SECTIONS.FM2 City of Boulder Flowmaster (.FM2) POST PROJECT MODELS\Supplemental Models&Tables 7/22/2014
High Hazard Zone ReAnalysis prepared by Belt Collins West in
2010

HHZ Final as Approved City of Boulder PDF HHZ 7/22/2014

Spreadsheet for older High Hazard Zone Analysis for downstream
end performed by Love & Associates, Inc. (Belt Collins West)

HHZ Cross Section Output Gregory Main
Channel DS Half 2 2 9

City of Boulder Excel (XLSX) HHZ\OLD HHZ 2 2 9 7/22/2014

Spreadsheet for older High Hazard Zone Analysis for upstream
end performed by Love & Associates, Inc. (Belt Collins West)

HHZ Cross Section Output Gregory Main
Channel US Half 2 2 9

City of Boulder Excel (XLSX) HHZ\OLD HHZ 2 2 9 7/22/2014

Spreadsheet for older High Hazard Zone Analysis for spill channel
performed by Love & Associates, Inc. (Belt Collins West)

HHZ Cross Section Output Gregory Spill 2 2 9 City of Boulder Excel (XLSX) HHZ\OLD HHZ 2 2 9 7/22/2014

Major Drainageway Planning Phase A from July 1984 performed
by Greenhorne & O'Mara, Inc.

Boulder Adj County MDP Ph A 1984 City of Boulder PDF Master planning documents 7/22/2014

Major Drainageway Planning Phase B from May 1987 performed
by Greenhorne & O'Mara, Inc.

Boulder Adj County MDP Ph B 1987 City of Boulder PDF Master planning documents 7/22/2014

Flood Hazard Area Delineation for Boulder and Adjacent County
Drainageways from May 1987 performed by Greehorne &
O'Mara Inc.

Boulder and Adjacent County Drainageways
FHAD 1987

City of Boulder PDF Master planning documents 7/22/2014

Creek Mitigation Analysis for Gregory Creek performed by
WHPacific in July 2012

Gregory Canyon Creek Mitigation Analysis City of Boulder PDF Master planning documents 7/22/2014

Mini Master Plan performed by Belt Collins West in March 2009 HHZ Mini Master Plan Final as Approved City of Boulder PDF Master planning documents 7/22/2014

Pennsylvania Avenue Flood Repair/Improvement Alternative
Analysis performed by XXXXX in April 2014

Penn Ave Alt Analysis City of Boulder PDF Master planning documents 7/22/2014

Field verification of culvert structures along Gregory Creek
provided by City of Boulder

BoulderFieldChecks City of Boulder Shapefile (.shp) Culvert Verification 8 8/4/2014

LiDar data in CAD format 328 City of Boulder AutoCAD DWG LiDAR 8/5/2014
LiDar data in CAD format 349 City of Boulder AutoCAD DWG LiDAR 8/5/2014
LiDar data in CAD format 350 City of Boulder AutoCAD DWG LiDAR 8/5/2014
LiDar data in CAD format 371 City of Boulder AutoCAD DWG LiDAR 8/5/2014
LiDar data in CAD format 372 City of Boulder AutoCAD DWG LiDAR 8/5/2014
Lidar data in GIS format 328 City of Boulder Shapefile (.shp) LiDAR 10 8/5/2014
Lidar data in GIS format 349 City of Boulder Shapefile (.shp) LiDAR 10 8/5/2014
Lidar data in GIS format 350 City of Boulder Shapefile (.shp) LiDAR 10 8/5/2014
Lidar data in GIS format 371 City of Boulder Shapefile (.shp) LiDAR 10 8/5/2014
Lidar data in GIS format 372 City of Boulder Shapefile (.shp) LiDAR 10 8/5/2014
LiDar data in Digital Elevation Model (DEM) format 328 City of Boulder DEM LiDAR 10 8/5/2014
LiDar data in Digital Elevation Model (DEM) format 349 City of Boulder DEM LiDAR 10 8/5/2014
LiDar data in Digital Elevation Model (DEM) format 350 City of Boulder DEM LiDAR 10 8/5/2014
LiDar data in Digital Elevation Model (DEM) format 371 City of Boulder DEM LiDAR 10 8/5/2014
LiDar data in Digital Elevation Model (DEM) format 372 City of Boulder DEM LiDAR 10 8/5/2014
Gregory Creek Colorado Urban Hydrograph Procedure (CUHP)
developed in 1986

Gregory Creek CUHP 1986 UDFCD PDF 8/6/2014

HEC1 input and output for the Gregory Creek CUHP model Gregory Creek HEC1 1986 UDFCD PDF 8/6/2014
Hydrographs pulled from HEC1 model used for Gregory Creek HEC1 1986 Hydrographs UDFCD Excel (XLSX) 8/6/2014
Notes from the site walk with City of Boulder, UDFCD and CH2M
HILL examining the structures and discussing potential solutions
for alternatives

Site walk notes City of Boulder PDF 8/11/2014

September 2013 flood extents Sept2013_UrbanFloodExtents City of Boulder Shapefile (.shp) 6 8/19/2014

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 75Packet Page 511



HEC-RAS  Plan: Multi-profil   River: RIVER-1   Reach: Reach-1    Profile: 100-year
Reach River Sta Profile Q Total Min Ch El W.S. Elev Crit W.S. E.G. Elev E.G. Slope Vel Chnl Flow Area Top Width Froude # Chl

(cfs) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft/ft) (ft/s) (sq ft) (ft)
Reach-1 600     100-year 1450.00 5750.20 5756.85 5756.85 5758.45 0.038880 10.98 175.50 60.17 0.82
Reach-1 590     100-year 1450.00 5718.23 5735.87 5730.31 5735.92 0.000876 2.53 973.97 161.14 0.11
Reach-1 585     Culvert
Reach-1 580     100-year 1450.00 5717.80 5729.90 5729.90 5735.89 0.040251 19.64 73.82 88.34 1.00
Reach-1 560     100-year 1450.00 5684.47 5694.47 5693.18 5694.75 0.011242 5.70 419.85 133.66 0.36
Reach-1 555     Culvert
Reach-1 550     100-year 1450.00 5683.10 5690.53 5690.53 5693.07 0.009648 14.73 168.71 48.50 1.02
Reach-1 540     100-year 1450.00 5660.98 5668.23 5668.23 5669.92 0.024603 11.70 156.41 46.95 1.04
Reach-1 530     100-year 1450.00 5652.10 5660.01 5660.01 5661.83 0.018625 10.93 141.55 46.24 0.94
Reach-1 520     100-year 1450.00 5645.52 5658.50 5657.66 5658.86 0.003028 6.00 528.70 144.84 0.31
Reach-1 515     Culvert
Reach-1 510     100-year 1450.00 5643.57 5654.01 5654.01 5654.54 0.003467 6.31 339.68 80.77 0.36
Reach-1 508     100-year 1450.00 5640.03 5646.62 5646.62 5648.30 0.037649 10.49 146.30 49.62 0.98
Reach-1 507     100-year 1450.00 5639.21 5645.29 5645.29 5646.87 0.033230 10.35 158.98 54.52 0.95
Reach-1 505     100-year 1450.00 5638.27 5644.00 5644.00 5645.41 0.032480 10.18 185.63 75.13 0.94
Reach-1 500     100-year 1450.00 5625.60 5635.37 5634.97 5636.39 0.022416 9.78 276.81 125.14 0.55
Reach-1 495     Bridge
Reach-1 490     100-year 1450.00 5624.40 5634.00 5634.00 5635.06 0.026436 9.96 264.01 125.71 0.57
Reach-1 470     100-year 1450.00 5607.68 5621.07 5614.06 5621.42 0.003823 5.22 439.53 128.91 0.26
Reach-1 465     Culvert
Reach-1 460     100-year 1450.00 5603.33 5612.65 5612.65 5617.29 0.020842 17.28 83.92 96.84 1.00
Reach-1 455     100-year 1700.00 5596.39 5604.21 5604.21 5606.38 0.028299 11.84 148.33 39.92 0.98
Reach-1 450     100-year 1700.00 5590.81 5599.19 5599.19 5600.78 0.026792 10.27 182.25 106.22 0.93
Reach-1 440     100-year 1700.00 5587.69 5593.97 5593.97 5595.25 0.023836 9.76 254.43 136.04 0.89
Reach-1 436     100-year 1700.00 5578.63 5584.23 5584.23 5585.08 0.016562 9.62 410.40 224.64 0.78
Reach-1 431     100-year 1700.00 5571.70 5581.24 5578.80 5581.77 0.006021 6.76 494.40 217.07 0.40
Reach-1 425     Culvert
Reach-1 420     100-year 1700.00 5571.10 5578.20 5578.20 5581.68 0.022498 14.97 113.58 124.36 0.99
Reach-1 410     100-year 1700.00 5565.61 5573.36 5570.92 5573.99 0.007520 6.39 266.98 59.28 0.50
Reach-1 405     Culvert
Reach-1 400     100-year 1700.00 5563.35 5568.13 5566.97 5569.13 0.012078 8.04 211.36 59.64 0.67
Reach-1 398     100-year 1700.00 5563.39 5566.67 5566.67 5568.18 0.055920 12.44 216.26 89.81 1.33
Reach-1 395     100-year 1700.00 5555.00 5560.98 5560.98 5562.73 0.037266 10.61 161.08 48.30 1.01
Reach-1 390     100-year 1700.00 5551.40 5556.73 5556.73 5557.87 0.035820 10.19 257.62 108.50 0.98
Reach-1 389     100-year 1700.00 5550.00 5554.69 5554.69 5555.84 0.040472 10.35 249.04 105.65 1.04
Reach-1 385     100-year 1700.00 5537.75 5541.85 5541.85 5542.85 0.082417 11.83 240.83 115.58 1.35
Reach-1 380     100-year 1700.00 5529.50 5537.31 5536.86 5537.73 0.011916 6.26 389.63 203.44 0.56
Reach-1 375     Culvert
Reach-1 370     100-year 1700.00 5527.68 5534.13 5534.13 5534.57 0.006855 5.88 465.53 213.82 0.46
Reach-1 360     100-year 1700.00 5511.80 5518.90 5518.90 5520.81 0.034722 11.20 162.13 49.18 0.95
Reach-1 352     100-year 1700.00 5507.30 5515.91 5514.42 5516.76 0.009700 8.62 308.02 138.43 0.56
Reach-1 351     100-year 1700.00 5506.80 5513.84 5513.84 5516.23 0.038249 12.41 140.01 63.47 0.97
Reach-1 350     100-year 1700.00 5503.40 5510.38 5510.38 5512.43 0.036908 11.49 147.99 36.51 1.01
Reach-1 342     100-year 1700.00 5494.95 5501.69 5501.69 5503.95 0.039860 13.71 182.40 53.93 1.08
Reach-1 340     100-year 1700.00 5493.14 5500.02 5500.02 5500.92 0.021112 8.73 341.61 219.50 0.75
Reach-1 334     100-year 1700.00 5488.11 5496.03 5497.34 0.017928 9.62 232.16 85.62 0.72
Reach-1 330     100-year 1700.00 5485.84 5495.23 5495.07 5496.17 0.018433 8.72 331.63 179.63 0.66
Reach-1 325     Culvert
Reach-1 318     100-year 1900.00 5485.27 5493.73 5493.73 5494.51 0.024436 10.31 420.16 211.85 0.70
Reach-1 304     100-year 1900.00 5484.40 5491.10 5489.24 5491.69 0.007839 6.33 357.61 178.90 0.48
Reach-1 303     Bridge
Reach-1 302     100-year 1900.00 5483.05 5487.95 5487.95 5489.29 0.032033 10.47 254.27 90.82 0.93
Reach-1 301     100-year 1900.00 5479.08 5484.81 5484.81 5486.17 0.022681 9.81 258.28 121.68 0.82
Reach-1 300     100-year 1900.00 5475.10 5479.93 5479.93 5480.86 0.031059 8.66 318.58 168.21 0.90
Reach-1 295     100-year 1900.00 5470.26 5474.88 5474.88 5475.76 0.039266 8.31 314.26 211.21 0.98
Reach-1 291     100-year 1900.00 5468.09 5472.49 5472.49 5473.34 0.026610 9.41 396.31 222.86 0.87
Reach-1 290     100-year 1900.00 5464.32 5470.48 5470.48 5471.36 0.018903 9.14 411.06 248.01 0.75
Reach-1 285     Culvert
Reach-1 280     100-year 1900.00 5461.70 5467.89 5467.89 5468.21 0.009471 6.37 578.03 218.68 0.53
Reach-1 270     100-year 1900.00 5451.44 5458.04 5458.04 5459.11 0.012260 9.60 381.62 187.38 0.72
Reach-1 265     Culvert
Reach-1 260     100-year 1900.00 5438.86 5447.50 5444.67 5448.11 0.004071 6.42 361.09 113.91 0.43
Reach-1 255     Culvert
Reach-1 250     100-year 1900.00 5438.24 5446.48 5445.29 5447.11 0.006830 6.86 400.50 154.29 0.53
Reach-1 231     100-year 1900.00 5434.97 5444.40 5444.40 5445.82 0.032961 12.40 287.97 99.55 0.73
Reach-1 230     100-year 1900.00 5434.90 5443.56 5443.56 5444.92 0.026172 11.89 302.12 99.93 0.74
Reach-1 225     Culvert
Reach-1 220     100-year 1900.00 5433.65 5440.67 5440.67 5441.57 0.029064 10.50 376.40 177.34 0.80
Reach-1 219     100-year 1900.00 5431.60 5437.71 5437.71 5438.59 0.041552 9.33 318.30 162.35 0.99
Reach-1 200     100-year 1900.00 5420.59 5427.24 5427.24 5428.76 0.039580 9.91 192.75 66.66 1.01
Reach-1 190     100-year 1900.00 5414.10 5423.33 5420.31 5423.54 0.004739 3.67 596.46 310.94 0.36
Reach-1 185     Culvert
Reach-1 180     100-year 2092.00 5410.57 5420.01 5420.01 5420.11 0.003214 3.18 1217.59 674.14 0.30
Reach-1 175     100-year 2092.00 5408.70 5415.83 5415.83 5416.40 0.030651 7.26 483.53 374.88 0.85
Reach-1 170     100-year 2092.00 5404.97 5411.47 5409.06 5411.71 0.003619 4.38 828.55 481.65 0.34
Reach-1 165     Culvert
Reach-1 160     100-year 2092.00 5398.60 5404.81 5405.04 0.003637 4.21 732.13 281.54 0.34
Reach-1 152     100-year 2092.00 5396.42 5403.72 5403.72 5404.48 0.027475 8.45 435.92 262.55 0.84
Reach-1 151     Culvert

HEC-RAS  Plan: Multi-profil   River: RIVER-1   Reach: Reach-1    Profile: 100-year (Continued)
Reach River Sta Profile Q Total Min Ch El W.S. Elev Crit W.S. E.G. Elev E.G. Slope Vel Chnl Flow Area Top Width Froude # Chl

(cfs) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft/ft) (ft/s) (sq ft) (ft)
Reach-1 150     100-year 2092.00 5393.63 5401.77 5401.77 5402.53 0.029509 10.54 468.31 242.77 0.67
Reach-1 130     100-year 2092.00 5393.48 5401.19 5401.19 5401.77 0.015732 8.97 667.32 476.01 0.60
Reach-1 125     Culvert
Reach-1 120     100-year 2092.00 5389.00 5398.53 5398.53 5399.54 0.025696 8.70 358.11 229.03 0.80
Reach-1 119.9   Lat Struct
Reach-1 110     100-year 2092.00 5387.39 5394.36 5394.36 5395.46 0.027042 10.34 365.31 167.32 0.88
Reach-1 100     100-year 2078.55 5383.00 5390.52 5390.52 5391.42 0.020586 10.43 454.21 234.73 0.73
Reach-1 95      Culvert
Reach-1 90      100-year 2078.55 5383.14 5388.97 5388.97 5389.95 0.025933 10.61 392.68 183.54 0.86
Reach-1 89.9    Lat Struct
Reach-1 60      100-year 1020.47 5374.50 5381.27 5379.67 5381.81 0.008189 6.30 241.21 135.42 0.48
Reach-1 55      Culvert
Reach-1 50      100-year 1020.47 5372.70 5378.87 5378.87 5379.49 0.013344 7.46 235.74 97.87 0.56
Reach-1 49.9    Lat Struct
Reach-1 45      100-year 883.31 5369.49 5375.46 5375.46 5376.58 0.025955 8.72 124.72 75.98 0.82
Reach-1 40      100-year 866.48 5363.57 5372.92 5370.77 5373.14 0.004936 4.09 303.93 153.24 0.36
Reach-1 35      Culvert
Reach-1 30      100-year 866.48 5362.31 5370.77 5370.77 5370.93 0.002204 3.22 308.31 130.74 0.26
Reach-1 10      100-year 866.48 5356.30 5361.42 5360.20 5362.11 0.011073 6.77 141.35 44.00 0.58

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 76Packet Page 512



HEC-RAS  Plan: MP Exist 072014   River: RIVER-1   Reach: Reach-1    Profile: 100-year
Reach River Sta Profile Q Total Min Ch El W.S. Elev Crit W.S. E.G. Elev E.G. Slope Vel Chnl Flow Area Top Width Froude # Chl

(cfs) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft/ft) (ft/s) (sq ft) (ft)
Reach-1 600     100-year 1450.00 5750.20 5756.85 5756.85 5758.45 0.038880 10.98 175.50 60.17 0.82
Reach-1 590     100-year 1450.00 5718.23 5735.89 5730.31 5735.94 0.000868 2.52 977.51 161.26 0.11
Reach-1 585     Culvert
Reach-1 580     100-year 1450.00 5717.80 5729.90 5729.90 5735.89 0.040251 19.64 73.82 88.34 1.00
Reach-1 560     100-year 1450.00 5684.47 5694.47 5693.18 5694.75 0.011242 5.70 419.85 133.66 0.36
Reach-1 555     Culvert
Reach-1 550     100-year 1450.00 5683.10 5690.54 5690.54 5693.07 0.009615 14.71 169.00 48.60 1.01
Reach-1 540     100-year 1450.00 5660.98 5668.23 5668.23 5669.92 0.024603 11.70 156.41 46.95 1.04
Reach-1 530     100-year 1450.00 5652.10 5660.01 5660.01 5661.83 0.018610 10.92 141.60 46.25 0.94
Reach-1 520     100-year 1450.00 5645.52 5658.56 5657.67 5658.90 0.002927 5.91 537.13 145.29 0.31
Reach-1 515     Culvert
Reach-1 510     100-year 1450.00 5643.57 5654.01 5654.01 5654.54 0.003470 6.31 339.48 80.69 0.36
Reach-1 508     100-year 1450.00 5640.03 5646.63 5646.63 5648.30 0.037525 10.48 146.46 49.64 0.98
Reach-1 507     100-year 1450.00 5639.21 5645.29 5645.29 5646.87 0.033293 10.36 158.87 54.52 0.95
Reach-1 505     100-year 1450.00 5638.27 5644.00 5644.00 5645.41 0.032480 10.18 185.63 75.13 0.94
Reach-1 500     100-year 1450.00 5625.60 5635.37 5634.97 5636.39 0.022426 9.78 276.75 125.14 0.55
Reach-1 495     Bridge
Reach-1 490     100-year 1450.00 5624.40 5634.00 5634.00 5635.06 0.026436 9.96 264.01 125.71 0.57
Reach-1 470     100-year 1450.00 5607.68 5621.13 5614.06 5621.46 0.003719 5.16 446.33 129.14 0.25
Reach-1 465     Culvert
Reach-1 460     100-year 1450.00 5603.33 5612.65 5612.65 5617.29 0.020842 17.28 83.92 96.84 1.00
Reach-1 455     100-year 1700.00 5596.39 5604.21 5604.21 5606.38 0.028330 11.85 148.27 39.91 0.98
Reach-1 450     100-year 1700.00 5590.81 5599.19 5599.19 5600.78 0.026792 10.27 182.25 106.22 0.93
Reach-1 440     100-year 1700.00 5587.69 5593.98 5593.98 5595.25 0.023797 9.75 254.63 136.18 0.89
Reach-1 436     100-year 1700.00 5578.63 5584.23 5584.23 5585.08 0.016562 9.62 410.40 224.64 0.78
Reach-1 431     100-year 1700.00 5571.70 5581.24 5578.80 5581.77 0.006021 6.76 494.40 217.07 0.40
Reach-1 425     Culvert
Reach-1 420     100-year 1700.00 5571.10 5578.20 5578.20 5581.68 0.022498 14.97 113.58 124.36 0.99
Reach-1 410     100-year 1700.00 5565.61 5573.36 5570.92 5573.99 0.007520 6.39 266.98 59.29 0.50
Reach-1 405     Culvert
Reach-1 400     100-year 1700.00 5563.35 5568.13 5566.97 5569.13 0.012078 8.04 211.36 59.64 0.67
Reach-1 398     100-year 1700.00 5563.39 5566.67 5566.67 5568.18 0.055920 12.44 216.26 89.81 1.33
Reach-1 395     100-year 1700.00 5555.00 5560.98 5560.98 5562.73 0.037266 10.61 161.08 48.30 1.01
Reach-1 390     100-year 1700.00 5551.40 5556.74 5556.74 5557.87 0.035761 10.19 257.78 108.53 0.98
Reach-1 389     100-year 1700.00 5550.00 5554.69 5554.69 5555.84 0.040472 10.35 249.04 105.65 1.04
Reach-1 385     100-year 1700.00 5537.75 5541.85 5541.85 5542.85 0.082357 11.82 240.89 115.59 1.34
Reach-1 380     100-year 1700.00 5529.50 5537.37 5536.86 5537.76 0.010956 6.07 401.46 203.84 0.54
Reach-1 375     Culvert
Reach-1 370     100-year 1700.00 5527.68 5534.13 5534.13 5534.57 0.006872 5.88 465.00 213.79 0.46
Reach-1 360     100-year 1700.00 5511.80 5518.90 5518.90 5520.81 0.034734 11.20 162.11 49.18 0.95
Reach-1 352     100-year 1700.00 5507.30 5515.91 5514.42 5516.76 0.009700 8.62 308.02 138.43 0.56
Reach-1 351     100-year 1700.00 5506.80 5513.84 5513.84 5516.23 0.038249 12.41 140.01 63.47 0.97
Reach-1 350     100-year 1700.00 5503.40 5510.38 5510.38 5512.43 0.036908 11.49 147.99 36.51 1.01
Reach-1 342     100-year 1700.00 5494.95 5501.69 5501.69 5503.95 0.039860 13.71 182.40 53.93 1.08
Reach-1 340     100-year 1700.00 5493.14 5500.02 5500.02 5500.92 0.021216 8.74 340.76 219.42 0.75
Reach-1 334     100-year 1700.00 5488.11 5496.05 5495.56 5497.35 0.017688 9.58 233.71 86.02 0.72
Reach-1 330     100-year 1700.00 5485.84 5495.16 5495.07 5496.17 0.019843 8.97 319.14 178.29 0.68
Reach-1 325     Culvert
Reach-1 318     100-year 1900.00 5485.27 5493.73 5493.73 5494.51 0.024523 10.32 419.54 211.79 0.70
Reach-1 304     100-year 1900.00 5484.40 5491.10 5489.24 5491.69 0.007839 6.33 357.61 178.90 0.48
Reach-1 303     Bridge
Reach-1 302     100-year 1900.00 5483.05 5487.95 5487.95 5489.29 0.032033 10.47 254.27 90.82 0.93
Reach-1 301     100-year 1900.00 5479.08 5484.81 5484.81 5486.17 0.022681 9.81 258.28 121.68 0.82
Reach-1 300     100-year 1900.00 5475.10 5479.93 5479.93 5480.86 0.031059 8.66 318.58 168.21 0.90
Reach-1 295     100-year 1900.00 5470.26 5474.88 5474.88 5475.76 0.039266 8.31 314.26 211.21 0.98
Reach-1 291     100-year 1900.00 5468.09 5472.49 5472.49 5473.34 0.026536 9.40 396.74 222.91 0.87
Reach-1 290     100-year 1900.00 5464.32 5470.48 5470.48 5471.36 0.018903 9.14 411.06 248.01 0.75
Reach-1 285     Culvert
Reach-1 280     100-year 1900.00 5461.70 5467.89 5467.89 5468.21 0.009494 6.37 577.50 218.60 0.53
Reach-1 270     100-year 1900.00 5451.44 5458.04 5458.04 5459.11 0.012260 9.60 381.62 187.38 0.72
Reach-1 265     Culvert
Reach-1 260     100-year 1900.00 5438.86 5447.50 5444.67 5448.11 0.004070 6.42 361.15 113.91 0.43
Reach-1 255     Culvert
Reach-1 250     100-year 1900.00 5438.24 5446.48 5445.29 5447.11 0.006830 6.86 400.50 154.29 0.53
Reach-1 231     100-year 1900.00 5434.97 5444.40 5444.40 5445.82 0.032961 12.40 287.97 99.55 0.73
Reach-1 230     100-year 1900.00 5434.90 5443.56 5443.56 5444.92 0.026172 11.89 302.12 99.93 0.74
Reach-1 225     Culvert
Reach-1 220     100-year 1900.00 5433.65 5440.67 5440.67 5441.57 0.029030 10.49 376.58 177.36 0.80
Reach-1 219     100-year 1900.00 5431.60 5437.71 5437.71 5438.59 0.041552 9.33 318.30 162.35 0.99
Reach-1 200     100-year 1900.00 5420.59 5427.24 5427.24 5428.76 0.039499 9.90 192.91 66.70 1.01
Reach-1 190     100-year 1900.00 5414.10 5423.33 5420.31 5423.53 0.004766 3.67 594.82 307.97 0.36
Reach-1 185     Culvert
Reach-1 180     100-year 2092.00 5410.57 5420.01 5420.01 5420.11 0.003225 3.19 1215.94 673.86 0.30
Reach-1 175     100-year 2092.00 5408.70 5415.83 5415.83 5416.40 0.030651 7.26 483.53 374.88 0.85
Reach-1 170     100-year 2092.00 5404.97 5411.47 5409.06 5411.71 0.003619 4.38 828.55 481.65 0.34
Reach-1 165     Culvert
Reach-1 160     100-year 2092.00 5398.60 5404.81 5405.04 0.003637 4.21 732.13 281.54 0.34
Reach-1 152     100-year 2092.00 5396.42 5403.72 5403.72 5404.48 0.027475 8.45 435.92 262.55 0.84
Reach-1 151     Culvert

HEC-RAS  Plan: MP Exist 072014   River: RIVER-1   Reach: Reach-1    Profile: 100-year (Continued)
Reach River Sta Profile Q Total Min Ch El W.S. Elev Crit W.S. E.G. Elev E.G. Slope Vel Chnl Flow Area Top Width Froude # Chl

(cfs) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft/ft) (ft/s) (sq ft) (ft)
Reach-1 150     100-year 2092.00 5393.63 5401.77 5401.77 5402.53 0.029509 10.54 468.31 242.77 0.67
Reach-1 130     100-year 2092.00 5393.48 5401.26 5401.26 5401.82 0.015066 8.84 701.86 486.33 0.59
Reach-1 125     Culvert
Reach-1 120     100-year 2092.00 5389.00 5398.53 5398.53 5399.54 0.025696 8.70 358.11 229.03 0.80
Reach-1 119.9   Lat Struct
Reach-1 110     100-year 2092.00 5387.39 5394.36 5394.36 5395.46 0.027028 10.34 365.40 167.33 0.88
Reach-1 100     100-year 2078.55 5383.00 5390.52 5390.52 5391.42 0.020586 10.43 454.21 234.73 0.73
Reach-1 95      Culvert
Reach-1 90      100-year 2078.55 5383.14 5388.97 5388.97 5389.95 0.025933 10.61 392.68 183.54 0.86
Reach-1 89.9    Lat Struct
Reach-1 60      100-year 1016.68 5374.50 5381.29 5379.62 5381.81 0.008006 6.24 243.47 136.79 0.48
Reach-1 55      Culvert
Reach-1 50      100-year 1016.68 5372.70 5378.87 5378.87 5379.48 0.013277 7.44 235.50 97.86 0.56
Reach-1 49.9    Lat Struct
Reach-1 45      100-year 878.35 5369.49 5375.45 5375.45 5376.57 0.026049 8.71 123.76 75.73 0.82
Reach-1 40      100-year 864.89 5363.57 5372.90 5370.77 5373.12 0.005008 4.11 301.39 152.95 0.36
Reach-1 35      Culvert
Reach-1 30      100-year 864.89 5362.31 5370.77 5370.77 5370.92 0.002200 3.21 307.99 130.67 0.26
Reach-1 10      100-year 864.89 5356.30 5361.42 5360.20 5362.11 0.011033 6.76 141.35 44.00 0.58

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 77Packet Page 513



HEC-RAS  Plan: Multi-profil   River: RIVER-1   Reach: Reach-1    Profile: 100-year
Reach River Sta Profile Q US Q Leaving Total Q DS Q Weir Q Gates Wr Top Wdth Weir Max Depth Weir Avg Depth Min El Weir Flow E.G. US. W.S. US. E.G. DS W.S. DS

(cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft)
Reach-1 119.9   100-year 2092.00 13.45 2078.55 13.45 18.51 0.94 0.47 5389.58 5399.54 5398.53 5391.42 5390.52
Reach-1 89.9    100-year 2078.55 1061.02 1020.47 1061.02 192.00 2.97 1.92 5380.40 5389.95 5388.97 5381.81 5381.27
Reach-1 49.9    100-year 1020.47 153.44 866.48 153.44 175.57 2.17 0.44 5372.50 5379.49 5378.87 5373.14 5372.92

HEC-RAS  Plan: MP Exist 072014   River: RIVER-1   Reach: Reach-1    Profile: 100-year
Reach River Sta Profile Q US Q Leaving Total Q DS Q Weir Q Gates Wr Top Wdth Weir Max Depth Weir Avg Depth Min El Weir Flow E.G. US. W.S. US. E.G. DS W.S. DS

(cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft)
Reach-1 119.9   100-year 2092.00 13.46 2078.55 13.46 18.52 0.94 0.47 5389.58 5399.54 5398.53 5391.42 5390.52
Reach-1 89.9    100-year 2078.55 1066.95 1016.68 1066.95 192.00 2.97 1.93 5380.40 5389.95 5388.97 5381.81 5381.29
Reach-1 49.9    100-year 1016.68 150.41 864.89 150.41 175.57 2.17 0.43 5372.50 5379.48 5378.87 5373.13 5372.90

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 78Packet Page 514



Channel and Culvert Improvements

Size Shape Capacity (cfs) Blockage (%) Storm Eq (Year) Size Length
Easements Needed

per Culvert
Material Shape Capacity (cfs) ** Blockage (%) Storm Eq (Year)

Total Cost (Engineering,
Legal, Management,

Contingency)
Size Length

Easements
Needed per
Culvert

Material Shape Capacity (cfs) ** Blockage (%) Storm Eq (Year)
Total Cost (Engineering,
Legal, Management,

Contingency)
Notes

C13 15' x 6' 25 1 RCBC Box 673 20% 10 yr 161,657.82$ (2) 15' x 6' 25 1 RCBC Box 1,447 20% 10 50yr 290,877.27$
Culvert upstream has less capacity and may not convey all 1,400 cfs.
Additionally, the channel upstream cannot convey all of the 1,400
cfs.

Bridge 108,675.00$ 3 Steel Bridge 830 0% 10 50yr 108,675.00$
Bridge to replace culvert crossing. Possibily converted to a covered
bridge at expense of property owner.

Arapahoe Avenue C12 9' x 3' Box 141 50% < 10 yr (2) 11' x 5' 65 2 RCBC Box 673 20% 10 yr 340,760.70$ (3) 12' x 5' 65 2 RCBC Box 1,350 20% 10 50yr 543,291.99$
Culvert upstream has less capacity and may not convey 1,200 cfs.
The channel cannot convey1,200 cfs as well, which may cause
flooding on nearby properties.

Alley between Marine
Street and Arapahoe

C11 5' x 3.5' Arch 45 50% < 10 yr (2) 10' x 6' 45 3 RCBC Box 673 20% 10 yr 278,519.58$ (2) 10' x 6' 45 3 RCBC Box 673 20% 10 yr 280,871.26$
Culvert is limited due to nearby homes. The channel may not be able
to contain greater than a 10yr flow, and nearby homes may
experience flooding.

Marine Street C10 8.5' x 4' Box 155 50% < 10 yr (2) 9' x 6' 70 2 RCBC Box 673 20% 10 yr 342,101.19$ (3) 9' x 6' 70 2 RCBC Box 1,576 20% 10 50yr 500,520.18$
Culvert upstream cannot convey all 1,462 cfs and is limiting. Channel
also cannot convey all 1,462 cfs to culvert. Nearby homes may
experience flooding.

8th Street and Alley C9 6' x 3.25' Arch 64 50% < 10 yr (2) 9' x 6' 170 5 RCBC Box 673 20% 10 yr 717,874.74$ (2) 10' x 6' 170 5 RCBC Box 1,092 20% 10 50yr 797,915.33$
Culvert is limited due to nearby homes. Channel cannot convey all
915 cfs and nearby properties may experience flooding.

University Avenue C8 6' x 5' Arch 104 50% < 10 yr (2) 9' x 6' 105 2 RCBC Box 600 20% 10 yr 475,753.14$ (2) 10' x 6' 105 2 RCBC Box 1,237 20% 10 50yr 528,260.93$
Culvert is limited due to location between structure and road.
Channel may not be able to contain all 1,078 cfs; nearby homes may
experience flooding.

Pleasant Street C7 8' x 4.25' Arch 153 20% < 10 yr (2) 10' x 6' 50 2 RCBC Box 600 20% 10 yr 295,163.10$ (2) 13' x 6' 50 2 RCBC Box 1,339 20% 10 50yr 374,740.00$
Culvert upstream may not be able to convey all 1,227 cfs. Channel
may also not be able to contain greater than a 10yr flow. Nearby
properties may experience flooding.

704 Pleasant Street
Patio

C6 B 5.5' x 2.9' Arch 65 30% < 10 yr (2) 8' x 6' 42 3 RCBC Box 600 20% 10 yr 260,061.51$ (2) 12' x 6' 42 3 RCBC Box 982 20% 10yr 50yr 307,347.24$
Culvert is located on private property and should be replaced to fully
optimize the 7th Street culvert. Easements will need to be obtained
by nearby property owners and the Anderson Ditch company.

7th Street C6 4.5' Circular 11 50% < 10 yr (2) 8' x 6' 180 4 RCBC Box 600 20% 10 yr 675,699.33$ (2) 12' x 6' 180 4 RCBC Box 1,310 20% 10yr 50yr 973,871.58$

Culvert is limited due to nearby infrastructure and homes. The
broken style culvert is limiting the capacity, so to achieve full
efficiency the culvert should be re aligned. Channel capacity cannot
convey all 1,165 cfs. Flooding may be experienced by nearby
homes/properties. Utilities to be considered. Possible sediment
basin upstream of culvert.

C5 4.75' x 3' Arch 42 50% < 10 yr (2) 9' x 6' 45 3 RCBC Box 600 20% 10 yr 253,896.01$ (3) 12' x 6' 45 3 RCBC Box 1,469 20% 10 50yr 464,894.90$
Culvert downstream cannot convey same capacity of 1,203 cfs.
Channel capacity is less than 1,203 cfs and nearby homes and
properties may experience flooding.

Pedestrian Bridge* 4.75' x 3' Arch 42 50% < 10 yr 3 Wood / Steel Box / Arch 600 0% 10 yr 90,000.00$
Cost estimate from Pennsylvania Avenue Flood Repair/Improvement
Alternative Analysis report (2014)

College Avenue C4 6' x 6.5' Arch 125 50% < 10 yr (2) 7' x 6' 55 3 RCBC Box 495 20% 10 yr 250,167.85$ (3) 11' x 6' 55 3 RCBC Box 1,286 20% 50 yr 500,731.35$
Channel upstream does not convey the 10yr flow but may flow
within the overbanks. Homes/properties may experience flooding.

Euclid Avenue C3 4' Circular 0 100% < 10 yr (2) 8' x 6' 65 0 RCBC Box 495 20% 10 yr 291,125.52$ (3) 10' x 6' 65 0 RCBC Box 1,286 20% 50 yr 529,777.95$

Culvert size is limited due to nearby properties and homes. Channel
capacity may not convey 1,286 cfs to culvert; nearby
properties/homes may see flooding. Proposed channel
improvements extend 250' upstream of the culvert to accommodate
new flow. A 1.5' drop structure is proposed 20' upstream of the
channel to dissipate energy.

Aurora Avenue C2 (2) 10' x 5' Box 495 0% < 50 yr (4) 10' x 6' 80 2 RCBC Box 1,696 20% 50 100yr 794,609.26$
Culvert upstream may not pass all 1,700 cfs. Additionally, channel
capcity is limited and cannot convey 1,700 cfs.

Willowbrook Road C1 9' x 5' Box 337 50% < 10 yr 9' x 7' 140 3 RCBC Box 400 20% 10 yr 338,314.14$ (2) 9' x 7' 140 3 RCBC Box 1,187 20% 50 100yr 642,814.91$
Culvert is limited due to nearby properties. Channel upstream is
limited in capacity and cannot convey 1,450 cfs. Nearby properties
and homes may experience flooding. Utilities to be considered.

705 Willowbrook Court
Private

C1 A 4.4' Circular 125 50% < 10 yr 8' x 6' 34 1 RCBC Box 400 30% 10 yr 114,814.47$ (2) 8' x 8' 34 1 RCBC Box 1,060 20% 50 yr 233,312.53$
Culvert is limited due to nearby properties. Channel upstream is
limited in capacity and cannot convey 1,450 cfs. Nearby properties
and homes may experience flooding. Utilities to be considered.

* Cost estimate based on information fromBig R Bridge Total Improvement Costs for 10 yr Culverts: 4,579,030.00$ Total Improvement Costs for Max Culverts: 7,763,837.00$
** Capacity is potential capacity and may not experience stated capacity during a storm event

Notes:
Culvert sizes will need to be confirmed during final design/construction
Culvert sizes have been increased to their maximum limits without adversely affecting homes/properties
Where culvert inverts have been lowered, utilities will need to be verified to identify possible relocation
Channels adjacent to culverts will require alterations to transition to new culvert size

Location ID

CMP

Existing

CMP 30' bridge span / 6' deck width /
30" deck thickness / 4' handrails

CMP

RCBC

Max Proposed10 yr Proposed

Pennsylvania Avenue

Material

RCBC

RCBC

CMP

RCBC

RCBC

RCP

CMP

Brick

RCP

CMP

RCBC

30' bridge span / 26' deck
width / 30" deck thickness

Drive to School (North of
Arapahoe Avenue)

4' RCP Circular 7.4 50% < 10 yr

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 79Packet Page 515



Improvements Outside of Public Right of Way
Cost

Channel Improvements
Location (Length) Width Slopes (L / R) Width Depth Slopes (L / R) Quantity Unit Unit Cost Notes

997 6th St & 580 Euclid
Ave (200')

2 3 / 1.3 < 10 yr 5 5 2 495 10 yr 99000 L.F. / Q 0.26$

Altering channel by creating
5 6' bottom width, lowering
channel inverts by 1 4',
pushing west bank further
west by 12', with 2H:1V side
slopes.

1010 N to 1030 N 6th
Street (200')

3 4 < 10 yr 5 4.5 2 495 10 yr 99000 L.F. / Q 0.26$

Altering channel by creating
5 6' bottom width, lowering
channel inverts by 1 4',
pushing east bank further
east by 2 9', with 2H:1V side
slopes.

810 Marine Street (65') 6 1.5 < 10 yr 9 4.5 2 673 10 yr 43745 L.F. / Q 0.26$
Create open channel with 9'
bottom width and 2H:1V side
slopes.

113,137.00$

Other Improvements Size Material Type Capacity (cfs) Size Material Type Capacity (cfs) Quantity Unit Unit Cost Quantity Unit Unit Cost

Anderson Ditch 6' x 2' RCBC Box 36 36 inch RCP Circular 25 64 L.F. 139.00$ 2 EA 2,066.00$
Piping Anderson Ditch
alternative. Slope is 0.102%.

Gregory Gulch Pipe
Alignment

48 inch RCP Circular 240 480 L.F. 185.00$ 1 EA 2,643.00$
Storm sewer pipe alignment.
Slope is 7%.

Size Type Capcity Quantity Type Capacity (cfs) Quantity Length Unit Unit Cost
Willowbrook Rd Storm
Sewer Inlets

Denver No. 13
Combination

240 20 60 L.F. 1,475.50$

Notes:
Existing channel dimensions are represented as a trapezoidal channel for simplification
Unit cost for channel improvements is based on a cost per linear foot, per design flow (Q)

Improvements to Street Conveyance

Location From To Storm Eq (Year) Quantity Unit Area (SF) CY Unit Cost Cost Area (SF) CY Unit Cost Cost Area (SY) Unit Cost Cost Notes

Cul de sac Willowbrook
Road

Gregory Gulch 10 yr / 50 yr 820 L.F. 2.81 171 770.00$ 131,425.00$ 15 460 40.00$ 18,400.00$ 2735 63.65$ 174,083.00$ 323,908.00$

To carry street flow from
overtopping of private drive
located in the cul de sac of
Willowbrook Road.

Euclid Ave (6th Street) Boulder Creek 10 yr / 50 yr 1351 L.F. 2.81 281 770.00$ 216,530.00$ 15 757 40.00$ 30,262.00$ 4503 63.65$ 286,637.00$ 533,429.00$

To carry street flow from
overtopping of 6th Street
culvert due to backwater
occurring at Euclid Ave.

7th Street Culvert Boulder Creek 10 yr / 50 yr 1521 L.F. 2.81 317 770.00$ 243,777.00$ 15 960 40.00$ 38,400.00$ 5745 63.65$ 365,669.00$ 647,846.00$

To carry street flow from
overtopping of 7th Street
culvert due to backwater
effects occurring because of
the private culvert on the
property of 714 Pleasant
Street.

Pleasant Street 8th Street 50 yr 408 L.F. 2.81 85 770.00$ 65,392.00$ 15 230 40.00$ 9,200.00$ 1360 63.65$ 86,564.00$ 161,156.00$
To carry street flow from
overtopping of Pleasant
Street culvert.

8th Street Marine Street Culvert 50 yr 675 L.F. 2.81 141 770.00$ 108,185.00$ 15 375 40.00$ 15,000.00$ 2250 63.65$ 143,213.00$ 266,398.00$
To carry street flow from
overtopping of Univeristy
Avenue culvert.

9th Street at Alley b/w
Arapahoe and Marine

Arapahoe Road 10 yr / 50 yr 470 L.F. 2.81 98 770.00$ 75,329.00$ 15 265 40.00$ 10,600.00$ 1570 63.65$ 99,931.00$ 185,860.00$

To carry street flow from
overtopping of the culvert at
the alley between Arapahoe
and Marine.

Subtotal Street Conveyance Improvements Cost: 2,118,597.00$
Notes: Engineering: 15% 317,790.00$

Storm equivalent is based on when the designated street will likely see significant street conveyance Legal/Administrative: 5% 105,930.00$
Costs reflect street conveyance improvements of 12 inches of depth Contract/Construction Management: 10% 211,860.00$
Street improvements include a 6" curb, 4' sidewalk, and 6" curb for a total of 12" Contingency: 50% 1,059,299.00$

Total Improvement Costs: 3,813,476.00$

3

Curb and Gutter Excavation

Reinforced Concrete Pipe

Channel Dimensions (Typ.)
Existing Proposed

Capacity (cfs) Storm Eq
(Year)

Channel Dimensions
Capacity (cfs) Storm Eq (Year)

Asphalt

Cost

46,332.00$

20,473.00$

Cost Summary

23,450.00$

Flared End Section
Cost

4

4

Depth

Existing Proposed

164,597.00$

3' x 2' 159,354.00$ Inlets located at the North end of
Willowbrook road.

Cost NotesSize

46,332.00$

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 80Packet Page 516



Cost Benefit Analysis
Gregory Canyon Creek Master Plan
March 13th, 2015

Alternative Cost 10yr 50yr 100yr 500yr 10yr 50yr 100yr 500yr 10yr 50yr 100yr 500yr
10yr $4,692,167 $28,624,736 $36,296,256 $37,709,166 $41,610,872 $11,260,768 $8,574,865 $8,004,741 $8,470,328

10yr w/ Streets $8,505,643 $28,624,736 $35,953,292 $36,703,945 $41,289,544 $11,260,768 $8,917,829 $9,009,962 $8,791,656
Max $7,876,974 $26,807,549 $35,388,630 $36,511,272 $41,132,626 $13,077,955 $9,482,491 $9,202,635 $8,948,574

Max w/ Streets $11,690,450 $26,532,135 $34,657,034 $35,407,533 $39,726,175 $13,353,369 $10,214,087 $10,306,375 $10,355,025
0.1 0.02 0.01 0.002

Existing 10yr 10yr w/ Street MAX MAX w/ Streets
0.2 5yr 0 0 0 0 0
0.1 10yr $39,885,504 $28,624,736 $28,624,736 $26,807,549 $26,532,135
0.02 50yr $44,871,121 $36,296,256 $35,953,292 $35,388,630 $34,657,034
0.01 100yr $45,713,907 $37,709,166 $36,703,945 $36,511,272 $35,407,533
0.002 500yr $50,081,200 $41,610,872 $41,289,544 $41,132,626 $39,726,175

Existing 10yr 10yr w/ Street MAX MAX w/ Streets
$4,430,765.96 $3,521,537.92 $3,492,949.38 $3,415,438.65 $3,345,259.57

$909,228.04 $937,816.58 $1,015,327.31 $1,085,506.39

$339,993.71 $616,317.61 $570,764.35 $847,088.25

2.67 1.52 1.78 1.28

Rate 0.07

Storm Event

Damage Costs Under Existing Conditions Damage Costs Under Proposed Alternative Difference in Damages under Proposed Alternative

$39,885,504 $44,871,121 $45,713,907 $50,081,200

Annualized damage
Benefit

Annualized Alternative Cost (7% Amortization, 50
yr Life Span)

Benefit Cost Ratio

Damage from Storm EventProbability

$0

$10,000,000

$20,000,000

$30,000,000

$40,000,000

$50,000,000

$60,000,000

0 0.05 0.1 0.15 0.2 0.25

Da
m
ag
e
($
)

Exceedence Probability

Existing 10yr 10yr with Streets MAX MAX with Streets

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 81Packet Page 517



Gregory Canyon Creek Criteria and Assumptions
Gregory Canyon Creek
Table 17

Criteria / Assumption

Flow depth
Per the City's criteria, maximum allowable depth is 12" at
the deepest point.

Improvement Location

Street improvements, where proposed, were only deemed
necessary at intersections where the slope was greater
than 4%. Street improvements for the length of the street
were proposed for slopes less than 4%.

Slope
The most conservative slope of 1% found in the basin was
used to determine the maximum safe street conveyance

Culverts
Costs for culvert and pipes were developed using the Urban
Drainage Master plan cost estimation spreadsheet.

Channel
A unit cost of $0.26 per length of channel per discharge was
used for channel improvements.

Streets
Cost for street improvements were developed using unit
rates pulled from Urban Drainage's Bid Tabs.

Culvert Blockage
Per the City's direction, a blockage assumption of 20% was
used to model the culvert improvements.

Flow rates
Flow rates for the FLO 2D model were pulled from the HEC
1 data provided for basins 212 and 213.

Terrain
Terrain data used for the 2D modeling was developed from
the 2013 LiDAR data provided by the City.

Manning's n
Roughness values for the 2D modeling were developed
using a combination of land use and street locations.

Cost
The cost for the sediment traps is an average of the costs
provided in Muller's Site Source report on Fourmile
Canyon.

Sediment
Trap

Modeling
The modeling of the detention upstream of Flagstaff Road
used the blockage assumption for the Flagstaff culvert from
the Effective FEMA model of 50%.

Detention Widths

The width of channel grading improvements was assumed
to be the width of proposed culverts. It is assumed that
retaining wall/wingwalls would be used to limit the
encroachment on adjacent properties.
Channel improvement lengths were based on the following
assumptions:
1. Upstream of Culvert barrels an expansion of 4:1 was
used to transition from the existing channel to the
2. Downstream of the culverts a contradiction of 1:1 was
used to move from the culvert barrels to the existing
channel.

These ratios were taking from HEC RAS modeling guidance.

Expansion and Contraction
Channel
Grading

Co
st

St
re
et

FLO 2D

Parameter

ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM 

GREGORY CANYON CREEK ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS MEMORANDUM  

Acronyms and Abbreviations 
BCA Benefit Cost Analysis

cfs cubic feet per second

CUHP Colorado Urban Hydrograph Procedure

FEMA Federal Emergency Management Agency

FIS Flood Insurance Study

HAZUS MH Hazards United States (FEMA)Multi Hazard

HEC Hydrologic Engineering Center

HEC RAS Hydrologic Engineering Centers River Analysis System

LOMR Letter of Map Revision

UDFCD Urban Drainage and Flood Control District

USACE U.S. Army Corps of Engineers

WRAB Water Resources Advisory Board

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 82Packet Page 518



T E C H N I C A L  M E M O R A N D U M  

EN0716151039DEN  1 

 

Conceptual Design Memorandum 
PREPARED FOR:  City of Boulder 

COPY TO:  Urban Drainage and Flood Control District 

PREPARED BY:  CH2M HILL (CH2M) 

DATE:  October 23, 2015 

PROJECT NUMBER:  498924 

 
The purpose of this Conceptual Design Memorandum for the Gregory Canyon Creek Major Drainageway Plan (Study) is 
to document design criteria and hydraulic results for the City of Boulder’s (City’s) Recommended Plan that was 
presented to and approved by the City’s Water Resources Advisory Board (WRAB) on April 27, 2015. 

Design Criteria 
The design of the conceptual alternative was based on the criteria contained in the Urban Drainage and Flood Control 
District (UDFCD) Urban Storm Drainage Criteria Manual (USDCM), the City of Boulder Design and Construction 
Standards, and as directed by the City where applicable. Gregory Canyon Creek is designated as a major drainageway by 
the City of Boulder and, due to right‐of‐way constraints, was classified as a Lined Artificial Channel as defined by City 
criterion. Relevant criteria are shown in Table 1.  

Table 1. Criteria for Sizing Storm Drainage Facilities 

  Author  Criteria 

Culvert 
Crossing 

City of Boulder   Assume culverts are 20 percent blocked with debris during storm events. 

Convey the 10‐year storm capacity with no roadway overtopping. 

Minimum culvert velocity of 2 feet per second (fps). 

Channel 
Improvements 

City of Boulder  Convey the 10‐year storm event without adverse impacts to existing structures. 

Channels to include a reinforced channel bottom consisting of soil riprap and grouted 
boulder drops. Channel banks will be protected with boulder walls and soil riprap. 

Velocities of 7 fps or less with a Froude number of 0.8 or less for unlined artificial 
drainageways, unless greater velocities given under existing conditions. Manning’s N 
values represent unmaintained channel conditions for capacity. 

1‐foot minimum depth of freeboard. 

  UDFCD 

 

 

 

 

Natural Resources 
Conservation Service 

Manning’s N values for lined or built‐up channels, minimum 0.03 for velocity 
calculations / maximum 0.04 for freeboard capacity. 

Minimum 2.5:1 reinforced side slopes. 

Maximum height of 3 feet for boulder drop structures. 

Less than 1% slope for reinforced channels. Unless additional analysis is complete. 

Allowable shear stress for 36‐inch boulders ‐ 9.3 lb/sq ft. 

Allowable shear stress for Type M Riprap ‐ 4.7 lb/sq ft; vegetated coir mat ‐ 6 lb/sq ft. 

Inlets  City of Boulder  Type R inlets are permitted on all street types for continuous grade. 

 

 

 

As part of the conceptual design process, project stakeholders were consulted to refine the design criteria based on the 
constraints in the basin that would impact the conceptual design, as identified in the following list. 

 Due to the horizontal constraints to private structures and property, reinforced vertical, 1H: 1V or 2H: 1V side 
slopes were considered appropriate for design to minimize impacts to structures and property. Freeboard may be 
less than 1 foot. 

 Steeper channel slopes are permissible with technical documentation supporting the design slope. 

 For soil riprap‐lined channels, Froude number and velocities can be increased due to the greater resistance of the 
bed material to erosion. 

 Structural improvements, such as boulder walls, were preferred over impacting adjacent properties. 

 Drop structures may be closely spaced together to achieve the 1.5 percent stable slope. 

 A 10‐foot maintenance access will be identified where feasible. The access is intended to be a natural surface to 
blend into the existing landscaping. No hardened surfaces are being proposed. Routes to access the channel will be 
identified but will need to be formalized, including discussions with property owners during design. The access is 
necessary for UDFCD to maintain the improvements through their useful life.  

Plan Development Overview 
The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) Hydrologic Engineering Centers River Analysis System (HEC‐RAS) hydraulic 
model completed as part of the Alternative Analysis in March 2015 was updated with the improvements presented to 
and approved by WRAB on April 27, 2015. The conceptual improvements adhered to the design criteria outlined in 
Table 1 and are further described in the subsequent sections. Design was based on City of Boulder 2013 LiDAR 
contours; in areas where survey data were available from the development of the effective model, the existing profile 
was updated to reflect the survey information. These areas are documented in Appendix A. 

Changes from City’s Recommended Plan 
The City’s Recommended Plan was modified per residential comments and site limitations. The culvert improvements 
at Willowbrook Court and Willowbrook Road were omitted. At Willowbrook Road, low‐priority inlet and storm sewer 
improvements are suggested. The inlets would be designed for the 63‐cubic‐feet‐per‐second (cfs) flow that would 
overtop Willowbrook Road during a 10‐year storm event. UD‐INLET® was used to determine the inlets necessary along 
Willowbrook Road to capture the flow that will result in the undersized culvert during the 10‐year storm event. It was 
determined that 30 linear feet of Type R inlets would be necessary to capture the 63 cfs. These low‐priority 
improvements are not included in the benefit‐cost ratio.  

The City of Boulder included two inline sediment traps in the City’s Recommended Plan to help remove sediment from 
Gregory Canyon Creek during storm events. The traps are located near 637 Pennsylvania Avenue and upstream of 
Willowbrook Road. A third sediment trap was to be located near Smith Park per the City’s Recommended Plan. During 
conceptual design, the channel improvements at Smith Park were eliminated due to feasibility. As a result, the 
sediment trap at this location was omitted from the conceptual design. Street improvements were identified in the 
City’s Recommended Plan to convey spill from Gregory Canyon Creek in larger storm events. The conceptual design 
focused on culvert and channel improvements only, and no other analysis of street improvements will be performed as 
part of this Master Plan. All other elements identified in the City’s Recommended Plan for culvert and channel 
improvements are included in the conceptual design. 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 83Packet Page 519



 
Gregory Canyon Creek  

Flood Recovery Open House 
Summary Form 

 
Date:  10.23.13 
 
 
Meeting Location & Neighborhood: 
 

Flatirons Elementary library – Gregory Canyon Creek 
 
 
Number of Attendees:  67 
 
 
Staff in Attendance: 
 

Susan Richstone Dave Thacker  Chris Trice  Dean Paschall 
James Hewat LaDonna Eubanks Annie Noble Melinda Melton 
Jeff Hirt   Kurt Bauer   Russ Sands  Allison James 
Marie Zuzack Katie Knapp  Rod Rindal  Pieter Beyer 
Margaret Rogers (Populus) 
 
 
Summary of community comments: 
 

Many attendees would like another meeting with the city presenting a plan for 
clean-up and flood recovery efforts in the neighborhood. Members of the 
community would like the planners and engineers who will be working on the 
area to be there as well to answer any questions. It was also mentioned that 
the older homes were built much higher than the newer built homes, that the 
810 Marine Street drainage ditch needs clearing and for the city to be careful 
with culvert improvements so that they don’t cause more damage 
downstream and don’t conflict with the wetlands regulations. 
 

Pennsylvania Avenue Flood Repair  
February 6, 2014 Open House  
and On-Line Public Comments 

 
Purpose of Meeting 

Pennsylvania Avenue was damaged during the September 2013 flood and the City of 
Boulder is evaluating different options for repairs of the section of road between 6th and 7th 
streets, where Gregory Canyon Creek crosses the roadway. We asked members of the 
community to choose one of two alternatives or share another alternative with us.   
 
Alternative 1: Replace the existing culvert (drainage pipe) and rebuild the roadway to pre-
flood conditions. 
 
Alternative 2: Remove the culvert and roadway above the creek, close the road to through 
traffic and build a pedestrian bridge over the creek. 

 
Summary of Public Comments (Received through 2/14/14) 
 
General Comments 

Alternative 1: 3 in favor  
o Traffic on the road and school access is better mitigated on option 1. Option 2 looks 

like it would cause more blockage. 
o There would be through traffic, less congestion, a paved road, and less mud. School 

parking traffic will be decreased if back to pre-flood conditions. There would be less 
speeding traffic to suddenly stop at the closed road and dead end to turn around. 

 
Alternative 2: 56 in favor  

o Alternative two is much better for our neighborhood. 
o The culvert will continue to get clogged and spill over. 
o This has the greatest opportunity to mitigate future property damage from structure 

blockage and volume. 
o The culvert narrowing the creek bed at Pennsylvania caused the flooding west of the 

creek; Therefore if it is restored as it was there will be a problem of liability. It also 
seems that option two is less expensive. 

o Regardless of the alternative, the type of maintenance upstream to the head waters 
is critical for safety. The flood in September 2013 highlighted the limitations of 
culverts. Alternative two is consistent with City Council’s goals of encouraging 
pedestrian traffic as opposed to vehicular traffic. 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 84Packet Page 520



o I would like the peaceful space and green belt. There would be calmer traffic during 
school when kids are walking and a significant water flow improvement during flood 
episodes. 

o It’s very nice to see the creek again from the bridge. We can manage very well 
without this street and have been doing so since mid-September. Thank you for 
finding some funding to get started on the Gregory Creek flood plain mitigation. We 
know there are lots of mitigation needs elsewhere, but please don’t forget that 
Gregory Creek needs more attention sometime in the future. 

o Adequate access exists without Pennsylvania. Why rebuild it? 
o The chance of the road washing out again will be lessened. A pedestrian bridge 

would be nice for the neighborhood. We walk our dog in the neighborhood a lot. 
Option two is a safer alternative. The children at Flatiron Elementary will have to 
contend with less traffic on Pennsylvania. Option one would risk rocks getting caught 
in the culvert again. 

o If option two is selected, please move the west-side cul-de-sac further west. 
o Great for habitat/wildlife restoration and a safe route for bikes, pedestrians and 

flood mitigation. 
o Use the east side of the bridge area as a family meeting area for walking and cycling 

families. Pennsylvania can be a riding route to 6th. 6th should be a marked bike route 
to University and down to the Boulder Creek Path. Benches and bike racks should be 
provided. Thanks! 

o This will not eliminate future flooding. The culvert under 7th gets blocked every time 
we have a severe thunderstorm. The grate catches debris and blocks very quickly. 

o Pedestrian friendly. 
o Better neighborhoods. 
o This street hardly has any traffic to begin with.  The pedestrian bridge close to the 

school would be a great addition! 
o Option #2 sounds like a much better fit for the neighborhood! 
o This would be so nice for walking my kids to school! 
o This culvert caused my house to flood! Rebuilding it the same way is just plain 

stupid! Having a pedestrian bridge and cul-de-sac is the best idea I have heard from 
the city in years! 

o I think a pedestrian bridge here would be a great addition for no extra cost! These 
kinds of options continue to make Boulder the special place it is. 

o It seems like option 2 is clearly the right solution.  Why rebuild something that will 
be blown out again?  Let the stream run naturally as it was intended. Thanks for the 
opportunity to provide this input. 

o I visit the neighborhood often and would enjoy walking over the foot bridge and 
seeing the stream below.  There doesn't seem to be enough traffic to warrant 
rebuilding the road/culvert. 

o Having seen firsthand the devastation that the clogged culverts caused throughout 
Boulder with the floods in September, I'm inclined to say where there is an 
opportunity to allow water to flow in a more natural manner and still allow access to 
communities, this is the appropriate way to proceed. 

o I am a fan of anything to improve pedestrian access to our beautiful creek. 
o As someone who grew up in the neighborhood and still lives in town I like the 

second idea.  Seems to be a much better idea for flood control and the idea of an 
open creek bed through there seems kind of nice.  If it floods again you’re going to 
have the exact same problem if you build it back. 

o Let the stream flow! 
o The pedestrian bridge option is a great one for this neighborhood! 
o Pennsylvania Ave has a number of issues that make for an accident waiting to 

happen.  These issues include: Icy conditions - due to lack of snow removal and 
direct sunlight, steep grades - west side, blind corners - Dean Pl. Reducing the 
amount of traffic by replacing the culvert with a foot bridge would lessen the risk of 
an accident on this street. 

o I live on Pennsylvania and Gregory Creek goes under my deck.  I would LOVE Option 
2 with a pedestrian bridge.  I think it offers a safe route to school for students 
walking or biking as well as slows down and/or lessens the traffic impact before and 
after school.  In terms of emergency vehicles, since Pennsylvania only runs between 
6th and 7th, it is already confusing and difficult to find so improved mapping and 
signage could effectively bring attention as to how to reach us on the West side via 
6th or Dean Place.  I also really like that this option allows for better wildlife and 
habitat restoration along with flood mitigation, in particular for the folks 
downstream. 

o I am a big proponent of Alternative Two. I think any chance to restore a stream 
corridor should be capitalized on. There are ecological/habitat benefits, safety 
benefits regarding flood control and aesthetic benefits for those living there. I'm all 
for number 2! 

o Very hopeful that we can begin a small step of prioritizing people traffic over car 
traffic. 

 
Other options: 5 in favor 

o Reduce parking on east side of stream. Turn that area into a gathering place for kids 
and parents. Allow residents to access their drives, but reduce traffic and parking. 

o Car bridge or better yet, a draw bridge. 
o Square opening (rock wall exposed in flood) with roadway over (open to cars). 
o Build a vehicular/pedestrian bridge or street and keep flow way open. 
o Car bridge. 
o Re-engineer the culvert to convey flow consistent with expected flow from culverts 

above and open street to vehicle traffic as well as pedestrian traffic. Flatirons 
Elementary School has been open well over 50 years and will be most affected by 
the decision. It is considered by Flatirons staff that closing the street would have a 
negative effect on the traffic flow relative to school operations. 

o The biggest push to close the street thus far has come from a resident who moved in 
to the neighborhood 8 months ago and has stated he was "tired of having cars from 
the school park on Pennsylvania" and was going to try to get the street shut down. 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 85Packet Page 521



Pennsylvania Avenue Flood Repair  
May 22, 2014 

Greenways Advisory Committee and  
On-Line Public Comments 

 
Purpose of Meeting 

During the flood events of September 2013, Gregory Canyon Creek overtopped and 
severely damaged the Pennsylvania Avenue roadway.  The roadway was not immediately 
repaired because it looked like there was an opportunity to increase the flood conveyance 
capacity and improve the riparian habitat for what was initially considered to be a similar 
cost to replace the culvert pipe and repair the roadway.  Three different alternatives were 
assessed: 
 
Alternative 1: Replace the existing culvert and rebuild the roadway. 
 
Alternative 2: Remove the culvert and damaged roadway above the creek, close the road to 
through traffic, and build a pedestrian bridge over the creek. 
 
Alternative 3: Remove the culvert and construct a new roadway with a significantly larger 
culvert or a vehicular bridge over the creek. 
 
The GAC recommended 4:1, the implementation of Alternative 1 and further evaluation of 
alternatives as part of the Gregory Canyon Creek Mitigation project.  

 
Summary of Public Meeting Comments 

Why just this stretch? Within 100 yards of this area are the 7th St. culvert, the 
intersection of the Anderson Ditch and the school. A professional engineering firm 
needs to assist with evaluating the best solution for this area. What is presented seems 
like a piece meal approach. The entire section needs to be looked at. Water flow and 
flood safety for the students cannot be ignored.  
 
The downstream culvert must be addressed. A temporary repair is better than what is 
currently set up, but the pursuit of the pedestrian bridge would be the best option 
especially for the students accessing the elementary school. 

 
If you go uphill to 6th and Aurora there are two 5 x 10 culverts. These are old 
engineering. Alt. 3 has two options. Option one – a traffic bridge to span the creek with 
work done below. Option two – box culvert to go there. What is the real cost of 
Alternative three? Option three allows for all alternative modes to share the road.  
Keeping the road open in option one and three would be better for emergency 

personnel. The presentation and memo seem to be skewed toward option two. Only a 
few property owners would be benefitted by option two. Neighbors who live in the area 
should expect higher traffic densities due to the school.  Option two was originally one 
of two proposed options. Option three was added later. The school district feels like 
they have been excluded from public process. 

 
Why are the repairs taking so long? Each day the area gets worse. The neighbors would 
like to see a cul-de-sac situation. This needs to get fixed now. There is a big problem 
with the 7th St. culvert. The trash rack was replaced and the culvert is not large enough 
to convey the capacity needed for another event. 

 
We were heavily affected by the September 2013 flood.  We strongly encourage the 
board not to consider Option 1, and prefer Option 2, the pedestrian bridge over a full 
vehicle bridge.   Option 2 provides increased flood capacity, restores wetlands, increases 
pedestrian and bike access, increases safety for the school and results in minimal 
additional traffic on adjacent streets. 

 
Summary of Online Comments 

Online comments received prior to February 14, 2014 are included in the February 6, 
2014 Open House and on-line public comment summary.  The following comments were 
received between April 17, 2014 and April 23, 2014: 
 

o This is a really great opportunity to decrease flood risk while re-building!  The 
extra cost of a pedestrian bridge is absolutely worth it for the downstream flood 
reduction. 

o This seems like a great opportunity to increase multi-use pathways in Boulder.  I 
have been in this area often and agree that drivers often speed through, even 
though there is a school nearby.  It is such a beautiful area, would love to see it 
become more pedestrian friendly. 

o I live at 637 Pennsylvania Ave and would like the pedestrian bridge please 
o Given the proximity to the school building I think it makes sense to reduce some 

traffic in this area. 
o Option #2 would improve the pedestrian character of the neighborhood and 

provide important flood relief that could not easily be obtained by a culvert. 
o It seems like an option to take into account future flooding would be a good 

idea.  Does local traffic require a bridge? 
o Option 2 is a nice compromise.  Flood improvements for future storms but at 

more than half the cost of a vehicular bridge. 
o #2 has the most positive attributes. 
o great job with some good alternatives --thanks staff 
o Versus option 1, Option 2 seems like the better long-term compromise that's 

potentially a good investment capable of preventing damage otherwise in the 
future.  With flooding though, it's a zero-sum game---every link of the chain 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 86Packet Page 522



would need to be more robust in order to prevent problems.  Making one link 
stronger may have little net positive effect to the city.  If this is one of the 
weakest links, then by all means, please treat as such. 

o As a parent of students at Flatirons Elementary, I love the idea of closing this 
dangerous street to vehicles and walking my kids to school over a pedestrian 
bridge. 

o It is imperative to our neighborhood that Alternative TWO is implemented, since 
the pre-flood condition is the one which enabled the flooding in the first place.  
The cost to restore our home is now close to $50,000, and we know that others 
in our area have spent as much or more.  We are asking the city in good 
conscience and good faith to help us to keep this from happening again.   

o It is option number two which is most beneficial to our neighborhood, as it 
would allow more flood conveyance AND, very importantly, would interrupt the 
speeding and dangerous driving on Pennsylvania.  The school already has good 
access on nearby streets, and the pedestrian bridge would be available for 
everyone.   Thanks for your work on this. 

o I live adjacent to the existing culvert and am in strong support of increasing the 
flood conveyance capacity.  Option 2 is the most reasonable cost option that 
accomplishes this. 

o Alt. 2 has, by far, the strongest support from those effected by this problem - 
those who were directly flooded by the breech of Penn. Ave.  It does feel like the 
estimate for this repair could be greatly reduced by looking at simpler options 
for the bridge. Perhaps a use of pressure treated lumber beams instead of metal. 
The city cannot really choose Alt. 1 since that would put it in the position of 
intentionally creating a greater risk of flood and the possible liability. And since it 
is 7 months since the flood and nothing has been done, I see no value at this 
point of its being the fastest fix. That time is long past. It also seems the estimate 
for this job is way too low.  Alt. 3 is too expensive and there is no good reason to 
do it.  A final cheapest alternative would be to simply remove the ton of gravel 
that the city dumped in the hole, which raised the likelyhood of further flooding, 
and fence the whole creek gap off on both sides at Penn. Ave. and have no 
access. 

o Yes to a pedestrian bridge! 
o Pedestrian Bridge seems wonderful! 
o I hope this can still be received.  I live on Pennsylvania and think this option is the 

best solution; for pedestrian/bike safety and access, wildlife habitat and flood 
mitigation. 

o I actually prefer alternative 2 EXCEPT the fact that Flatirons Elementary School is 
located in the area. Students with special needs, combined with the occasional 
presence of bears and mountain lions, makes it critical for fast emergency 
response times. 

o I support alternative 3 because it is the most comprehensive and it is the best for 
the nearby elementary school due to the access for emergency vehicles (which is 
negatively impacted by alter #2).  This culvert was supposed to be replaced in 

1996, but the project ran out of money.  It is long overdue.  Also, given that 
mountain lions have begun to hunt around gregory creek in town, it is a bad idea 
to create an ""attractive"" environment for wildlife as suggested by alter. 2. Due 
to the school and the number of small children, we must put public safety first 
and select option 3. The price is commensurate with the benefits. 

o I'm not advocating for any particular solution, but do have the following concern:  
if the capacity at Pennsylvania is increased, does that just mean that the flooding 
as the Creek goes under 7th will be that much worse? Or further down, as it goes 
under Pleasant? Or University? Or Eighth?  It seems to me that having the creek 
top over and go sluicing down broad streets during a flood is not the worst 
solution -- it keeps the flood shallow enough not to drown anyone, or to cause 
major structural damage (just wet basements, which one can recover from.) 

o alternative 2 is probably best, but i would like a draw bridge. 
alternative two or alternative 3 with a drawbridge. 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 87Packet Page 523



Gregory Canyon Creek Mitigation Study 
June 12, 2014 Open House and  
Online Questionnaire Results 

June - October 2014 
 

Purpose of Meeting 
The purpose of the June 12, 2014 Open House was to inform the public about the Gregory 
Canyon Creek Mitigation Study, gather information about on problem areas, and hear 
suggestions on flood improvements.   

 
Summary of Open House Comments 

My entire lawn, front and back, was flooded. 
I need more details what an easement would involve before I would be willing to 
dedicate an easement.  My back yard has beautiful trees.  I would hate to see them 
uprooted.   

 
Purpose of Questionnaire 

The purpose of the online questionnaire was to gather information on flooding problem 
areas and receive suggestions on mitigation alternatives to be considered for the Gregory 
Canyon Creek Mitigation Plan. 
 

Questionnaire Results 
1. Please describe any areas where you have witnessed flooding problems along Gregory 

Canyon Creek. 
 My entire lawn, front and back, was flooded. 
1.    There was extensive flooding at the entrance to the culvert at the northeast corner 
of our property (745 University Ave.)  The water overtopped the culvert opening and 
flowed, swift and deep, over the surface, off in the direction of 8th and Marine. 
 
2.   There was water streaming over the surface along the property line that runs along 
the west side of our property, between our house and our neighbors to the west.    
 
3.  There was a lot of water running along University Ave and the adjacent sidewalk in 
front (south) of our house, flowing east.  As it passed our house it turned left (north) 
and flowed over  the property of our neighbor to the east, Stewart Machle,  and then 
along his foundation, damaging his yard and his house. 
I witnessed Gregory Creek at both Pennsylvania and College Ave... What a world of 
difference between the design of the two waterways... The people who built the College 
Bridge in the 40's had it ""right""... wide enough to not accumulate debris (would snap 
almost anything spanning the opening). High enough to handle all that came at it with 

room to spare (almost bank to bank in the channel)... At Pennsylvania, the two culverts 
simply collected debris and ""self destructed"". (Kudos to the engineers of days past for 
the College Ave bridge.  Too bad someone paved over the original storm drain within in 
the structure though)... Just an observation which you may wish to ponder... Thanks for 
all you do and for all the hard work!  Hal 
Pennsylvania Avenue and 7th street culverts were problem areas during past flood 
events. 
The Sept. flood and all of your maps come along the bottom of our driveway.  During 
the flood, the city diverted water down 6th St. and onto Rosehill Dr.  This flooded some 
of the houses below us on Rosehill.  I walked to 6th and Euclid and told the bulldozer 
driver that his efforts to prevent so much water going along Gregory Creek were 
creating additional problems along Rosehill. He didn't know what to do other than what 
he'd been told to do. 
Shallow flooding < 12"" during event. 
7th near pleasant 

 
 Do you have any suggestions for future flood mitigation projects? 

My main concern is that mitigation should proceed from Boulder Creek up, and not 
from Chautauqua Meadows down.   If you enlarge a bunch of culverts and broaden a 
bunch of channels upstream from University Ave before you do that for University Ave 
and downstream, the flood will hit the culvert under University Ave with explosive force 
and could cause major structural damage or loss of life in the houses nearby. 
I think you have plenty to do without additions... 
Pennsylvania Ave pedestrian bridge. 
"YES!!! 
Nowhere in this study dos t indicate an analysis of the predictive nature of the model 
wand the REALITY of what happened during the flood event.  Most residents could 
indicate depths of water during the flood at maximum height and approximate times.  
Didn't you ask to SEE IF THE MODEL WAS CORRECT???  This is a waste of money unless 
correlated with reality.  I cannot believe the statement on pg.4: "No other changes were 
made to the baseline model to create the existing conditions HEC-RAS model for the 
purpose of this analysis." 
Enlarge the culvert, and reshape 7th so water flows down the middle of the road, no 
just to the east side. 

2. Would you be willing to dedicate an easement to the city for flood control purposes?  
I would need more details.  My back yard has beautiful trees.  I would hate to see them 
uprooted.  But I need more details what an easement would involve. 
Yes.   I would want to see the plan before dedicating the easement, but I am very open 
to the idea. 
No 
Yes.  If flood improvements bring my house out of FEMA 100yr floodplain. 
No 
maybe depending on easement plans 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 88Packet Page 524



Yes 
 

3. Other comments 
Please pass on my thanks (to Jerry Weitzel amongst others) for the recent repairs to the 
alley on the south side of my house. The new entry across the sidewalk and the layer of 
blacktop look great.  
You should check to see if neighbors have increased the elevation of their property since 
the 1987 mapping to see if they increase or decrease risk of property damage to 
neighbors.    Since the flood I notice flood walls being erected.  What is that going to do 
to the model?  
I missed the open house but would request consideration of Gregory creek flowing out 
of its banks, running down 9th street, flowing into the historic church property (law 
office at 9th / Arapahoe) collections in the NE corner of the parking lot and then 
flooding 932 arapahoe 
It would be nice if the city encouraged neighbors to work together on mitigation issues.  
My neighbors who are attorneys at 9th and Arapahoe will not even speak to me 
concerning this ongoing flood problem generated from drainage issues in their parking 
lot. 

Gregory Canyon Creek Mitigation Study 
Open House and WRAB Meeting 

October 20, 2014 
Summary of Public Comments Received 

 
Purpose of Meeting 

The purpose of the October 20, 2014 Open House and Water Resources Advisory Board 
(WRAB) public hearing was to present the preliminary alternatives for the Gregory Canyon 
Creek Flood Mitigation Study and to receive feedback from the public and board members.  
City staff and the project consultants are assimilating the comments and suggestions 
received at these meetings, as well as additional comments received by the public, in order 
to continue to refine and identify the best alternatives. 

 
Summary of Open House Comments 

We live in a beautiful city. We are fortunate to live near running water, but everything 
has a price! I think we should start whatever we end by deciding to do from Boulder 
creek going south. The culvert on highland school land is 36"!! Since Canyon Blvd. is 
going to be impassable during a Boulder Creek 100 year flood, we need to ensure that 
Arapahoe is passable. Hence we need to expand the Arapahoe culvert first, and 
hopefully when we do others. As a stakeholder, I am willing to walk with City staff, grant 
an easement, be taxed or whatever it takes to finish the project & help the Civic Area 
designers glam our Gregory Creek is not going to be forgotten.  
 
I am current doctoral student at the University of Colorado at Boulder. My investigations 
lie in the nexus of construction materials, urban water management, and sustainability. I 
would like to contribute to reducing flooding risks by helping the city instal durable, 
sustainable, and novel pervious concrete materials. These materials have the ability to 
reduce flooding hazards in the local watershed if designed correctly. 

 
How are the alternatives going to be chosen? How will city decide when or how to 
purchase identified properties in hazard area? How does the city decide how big to 
make the different box culverts? 

 
The 31'x6' culvert at Euclid is a major concern to us. This is a major physical intervention 
that would impact us visually, aesthetically, and in the way we use our property in a 
significant way. 

 
I am concerned with the accuracy of the modeling. At no time was the culvert at 6th and 
Euclid, which is presently ~ 4ft diameter, at capacity in the 50-75 year event of 2013. 
Water flowed primarily down 6th and Euclid and down from Edward Smith Park. I don't 
see any attempt at mitigation of the Smith Park overflow. 

 
To truly utilize a 31' wide culvert at 6th and Euclid one would need to deepen the creek. 
That would destroy the deer/fox habitat along with removal of significant trees and 
vegetation. Occasional flooding would be preferred to this kind of destruction. 

 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 89Packet Page 525



BOTTOM LINE: the engineers have addressed lots of issues that I and neighbors have 
been thinking. Putting in large box culverts will be a big improvement and "buy 
insurance" against rock/vegetation clogs. Modifying road grades/crowns (eg directing 
flow down 7th street) is exactly right. 

 
Good job at making the effort to reach out and educate the neighborhoods. Consider 
the following financing proposal: There may be home owners who are retired and thus 
"asset rich" and "income poor". They may be willing to make improvements to their 
properties, but not be able to afford them from current income. This could be 
accommodated by a grant to the owner for the improvements and a lien on the 
property to be paid off when the owner moves or by their estate. This would fit in the 
philosophy of "public-private partnership". 

 
All three alternatives seem viable and reasonable. However no particular improvement 
has increased priority, nor do the recommendations align with the 2001 Belt Collins 
problem areas. The 2012 mitigation suggestions or the actual observations from Sept. 
2013. 

 
I missed the open house but would request consideration of Gregory creek flowing out 
of its banks, running down 9th street, flowing into the historic church property (law 
office at 9th / Arapahoe) collections in the NE corner of the parking lot and then 
flooding 932 arapahoe 

 
It would be nice if the city encouraged neighbors to work together on mitigation issues.  
My neighbors will not even speak to me concerning this ongoing flood problem 
generated from drainage issues in their parking lot. 

 
Summary of Open House Suggestions:   

The storm drains in front of 833 Marine are old, and are inadequate for the kind of 
debris that cover them up. We've been cleaning up the drains for 60 years because they 
are too small. 

 
It appears that the SECOND culvert under Euclid Ave, about 30'-40' to the west of the 
proposed 31'x6' culvert has been overlooked in the study. It likely should be considered 
as part of any flood mitigation- maybe two smaller culverts? 

 
What about the 100 year trees that border the creek? What care would the city take to 
maintain their health? 

 
A) The city should be aware that a high flow event down 7th street (Univ. - Arapahoe) 
will destroy the paving and curbs. This is not against doing the redirection, just a heads 
up on future repairs. 
 
B) As a property owner, I have invested in flood mitigation measures. The ones I did 
prior to 2013 worked well. I believe that this is a "private" or "public project" not just a 
city project. 

 

1.) Strongly suggest purchasing the property in the high hazard at 1655 9th street. There 
are 2 houses, one of which is 2ft from the creek channel and should be the highest 
priority. 
2.) The culvert enlargements should be considered at the same time as the up-and 
downstream channel enlargement. 

 
I liked the Pennsylvania roadway removal plan that was considered. 

 
Summary of WRAB Meeting Comments: 

Lives near Flatirons Elementary School, really appreciates where city is going with their 
plan and agrees that conveying a 100 year flood out of the question.  Read study in its 
entirety.  Alternatives proposed do not necessarily match what actually happened on 
the ground during the flood.  Problematic area during this event that may not 
adequately be addressed at 7th.  Does not have a strong feeling on option three in the 
roadway.  Feels that spending money to make the roads convey without hurting 
property is money well spent. People are open to having flood mitigation done on their 
properties, but there are possible challenges there.  Impressed with how accurately 
earlier studies match up with what was seen during the flood event. May be able to 
leverage earlier studies going forward.  

 
Lives midway on creek and has specific question regarding two maps and noticed there 
is a chart in attachment A that shows different culverts and what improvements would 
look like in a 10-year plan or maximum culvert (35x6). The 10 and 50 year maps only 
show maximum 50-year extent.  Comments were heard during open house questioning 
this finding showing 35 foot culverts on the 10-year map, which isn’t actual benchmark 
for 10-year event.  Requests clarification whether the maps reflect 10-year or maximum 
numbers and asks if maps need updating.    

 
Wants to thank the board for hearing the neighborhood last year and putting 
neighborhood’s name out there for potential for growth, which shows a lot of thought.  
Concerns about map showing 35-foot culvert and hopes that Board will take closer look 
at document from CH2M Hill to address and consider street conveyance. Appreciates 
Board taking a closer look at this creek and looks forward to the future.  

 
Didn’t have problems like University and 7th. Suggests putting energy into conveyance 
because Mother Nature is going to decide, not what planners decide.  Water went back 
into Gregory Creek because a car diverted it. This area is packed with cars and not 
enough parking.  

 
Lives on College and appreciates looking into this issue.  Mentioned culvert at College 
Avenue, which was filled with fences and BBQ grills that were piled into culvert, forcing 
water to run over the creek onto other properties. Suggests looking at this issue and 
better advising people not to put objects in the creek bed. Mentioned 22-foot wide 
culvert at Aurora and feels that a 35-foot culvert is too excessive. 

 
Lives on College, family built house in 1950. At height of flood, banks took all the flood 
waters, bank to bank and held a 1.5 – 2 feet of water before touching his foundation.  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 90Packet Page 526



Some of the street did have water conveying and he built diversion with 2x4’s which 
diverted water down College, past Flatiron Elementary School.  According to charts – 
what happened on College is being compared to what happened on Pennsylvania, which 
are not comparable. Stone bridge on his property has weathered 3 major storm events 
in his lifetime, which is a good model. 

 
Lives below Anderson Ditch.  Asks what kind of incentive programs are being considered 
for property owners to keep stream beds clean?  

 
Lives at 7th and Pleasant and thinks that street conveyance is a good idea.  With some 
work on 7th, a lot of the damage could have been avoided.  East side was severely 
damaged.  Could make a difference in the future with better street conveyance.   

 

Gregory Canyon Creek Mitigation Study 
Online Questionnaire Results 

March - April 2015 
 

Purpose of Questionnaire 
The purpose of the online questionnaire was to receive feedback on the recommendations 
under consideration for the Gregory Canyon Creek Mitigation Plan in order to make 
refinements prior to the April 28, 2015 Water Resources Advisory Board (WRAB) public 
hearing. 
 

Questionnaire Results 
1. Are you supportive of the City of Boulder Staff Recommended Plan? 

Yes, overall.  I am relieved to see channel improvements proposed in the lower creek, as 
well as prioritized HHZ properties to acquire.  I have lots of questions about the details, 
but I understand those are not well-defined yet.  
I think it is a well researched, well intentioned plan.  I support the efforts but 
understand that individual property owners (myself included) will draw conclusions 
based on impact to their own properties.  
The comments I made to the 15 people doing the walk were lost.  My idea is to make 
the storm intake across Willowbrook cover the same area north of the culvert as well as 
above the culvert.  
Yes. 
Yes.   
Yes.  
Yes.  
Yes. We attended the open house on March 30, and appreciated the opportunity to talk 
with staff about the draft proposal.  Since my home is next to the Anderson Ditch, I 
support making that a pipeline, running below ground. During the flood, it filled to the 
top with silt next to my home.  

 
2.  What other improvements do you suggest? 

Spoke to Christen Shepard and Franz to explain the idea (also on a blue sticky note).  
Signs on potential risk on streets where flow is likely to be high in 10 year or 100 year 
events.  
Continued vigilance of Willowbrook culvert.  
1. Bury overhead lines along 7th St. which would also prevent downed lines in big snow 
storms.   
2. Raise the retaining wall in the Flatirons School parking lot, north side next to my 
property.  

 
3.  Do you have comments about specific improvements proposed?  

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 91Packet Page 527



I would like personal feedback as to whether this idea will be considered and a detailed 
explanation of why or why not.  
I suggest contacting the owners of HHZ properties that the city desires to acquire, as 
they may not be aware of this.  Chances are a couple of them might be interested in 
selling to the city in the next couple of years, and that may open up more options in 
specific areas. 
I would like to point out that the property owner at the NW corner of 6th and Aurora has 
constructed a fence across the creek channel.  If this was permitted by the city, I would 
like to ask, why?  If it was not permitted, I would ask the city to investigate.  
Thank you for all your hard work.  Looks great.   
All makes sense.   
I continue to be impressed with the professionalism & creativity of the staff.   
I would be pleased to discuss sharing costs of retaining wall (or solid fencing) of the 
school parking lot on the property line.  
 

Gregory Canyon Creek Mitigation Study 
WRAB Meeting Summary 

April 28, 2015 
 

Purpose of Meeting 
The purpose of the April 28, 2015 Water Resources Advisory Board (WRAB) public hearing 
was to present the Gregory Canyon Creek Draft Flood Mitigation Plan for the WRAB’s 
consideration, input and recommendation to Council on acceptance. 
 
The WRAB unanimously recommended the Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan be 
finalized based on the Staff Recommended Plan and presented to City Council for 
acceptance. 

 
Summary of Public Meeting Comments 

Staff and Board have been very open and solicitous to the neighborhood concerns.  As 
the plan has developed, the landowners have some concerns, both on macro and micro 
scales. Inconsistencies lead to deep concern.  Glad that benefit-cost analysis has been 
addressed.  The value of the damages presented in the documents are inconsistent.  Has 
to be some sort of calibration to what actually happened. Understands that the 
damages are estimated, but this cannot be accurate.  No realistic assumptions about the 
value can be made based on these numbers.  Open to hearing explanation as to how 
these numbers were arrived at from CH2M Hill.  Landowners would appreciate if city 
and CH2M Hill could be more transparent about the cost to landowners.  If in fact 
properties gain or lose value, tell them how much and reflect this in the budget.  If 
easements will be given to the city for free, this may not be realistic, especially based on 
her experience throughout this process. 

 
Would like to thank city for all the help given to him since the flood.  Rock walls have 
been rebuilt.  Question about intersection of Anderson Ditch and Gregory Creek.  Heard 
comment about an overhead culvert or culvert separate from Gregory Creek and agrees 
they should be separated. Asks if a decision has been made about what is going to be 
done with this location, as this is a critical area. 

 
Asked why everyone is in favor with box culverts.  They are ugly.  Preference is for 
keeping Anderson Ditch open so children can play there.  Running water is aesthetically 
pleasing.  Based on personal experience, Anderson Ditch was actually shut off during the 
flood.  There was no more flow in Gregory Creek afterwards.  Something needs to be 
done. Asks if there is a reason for always having two box culverts and if it is more cost-
effective.   

 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 92Packet Page 528



Part of property is Anderson Ditch, which goes to the edge of property.  Flows stopped 
in Anderson Ditch, because it was filled to the top with silt during the flood.  Agrees that 
the area where Gregory Creek and Anderson Ditch come together is an issue because 
it’s at the edge of her property.   Appreciates that neighbors have been solicited and 
looking forward to working with city with regard to easements. 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 93Packet Page 529



CONCEPTUAL DESIGN MEMORANDUM 

2  EN0716151039DEN 

Channel Improvements 
Channel improvements downstream of University Avenue were incorporated into the HEC‐RAS model to stabilize the 
existing channel. The alternatives for channel improvements were limited in this area due to the horizontal proximity of 
adjacent structures. Based on the 2013 LiDAR information, the existing channel has an approximate bottom width 
between 5 and 10 feet in most locations with side slopes steeper than 2.5H: 1V. The proposed typical section for the 
channel improvements downstream of University Avenue consists of a 10‐foot bottom width with vertical side slopes. 
The larger bottom width will allow for slower channel velocities and maximize conveyance area. In addition, to protect 
the foundation of adjacent structures, vertical walls are proposed in the lower portion of Gregory Canyon Creek, north 
of University Avenue. The vertical side slopes shall be armored with boulder walls or edging. At most culvert / bridge 
crossings, the boulder edge will tie in directly to the proposed wingwalls. At Euclid Avenue, the proposed channel 
bottom has a 5‐foot bottom width; however, side slopes were determined based on existing side slopes of 2H: 1V. In 
these areas where the side slopes are not vertical and where shear stresses allow, soil lifts may be an option to protect 
against erosion and scour, in lieu of boulders. Examples of these materials are shown in Picture 1 and Picture 2. It was 
determined in the Alternative Analysis that the culverts were undersized for the 10‐year storm event and negatively 
impacting channel capacity during larger storm events. The culvert improvements are seen as critical to the conveyance 
of the entire system; therefore, the necessary size and inverts identified in the Alternative Analysis served as the tie‐in 
locations for the channel improvements. At some locations, the culvert invert had to be lowered to accommodate the 
larger culvert size.  

 
Sediment Traps 
As part of the City’s Recommended Plan, two sediment traps were identified, one between Pennsylvania Avenue and 
7th Street, and one upstream of Willowbrook Road. Downstream of Pennsylvania Avenue, adjacent to 637 South 
Pennsylvania Avenue, a step‐pool sediment trap is proposed offline to split larger flows and capture sediment from the 
watershed as well as to serve as a water amenity for the private residence (see Picture 3). During final design of any 
facilities, it is recommended that current property owners be consulted regarding the desired materials and finishes to 
complete the channel and sediment basin improvements and that a landscape architect be employed to blend 
improvements into the private residential properties. Boulder edging and boulder drop structures are recommended in 
the Master Plan and are included in the hydraulic model.  

The second sediment trap location is upstream of Willowbrook Road 
culvert. To minimize the disturbance to adjacent property, an inline 
sediment trap is proposed. The sediment trap will consist of a 
concrete Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT) Type D 
inlet structure with a 4‐foot‐deep sump. The grate of the inlet will 
be set at the channel flowline, with a drain and infiltration layer 
installed at the bottom of the inlet. Boulders may be used to 
transition grades around the inlet. As water and sediment are 
conveyed by Gregory Canyon Creek, the flow will enter the 
sediment trap through the grate (see Picture 4). If the amount of 
runoff exceeds the volume of the inlet, the water will fill the inlet 
and continue to flow towards Willowbrook Road. Once the runoff 
has receded, the water in the sediment trap will infiltrate the 
ground via the drain. It is recommended that the City of Boulder 
remove the sediment from the trap after each major flow event, 
estimated at two to four times annually.  

Stable Slope Analysis 
Gregory Canyon Creek is a steep mountain channel at the headwaters 
near Flagstaff Road; the creek flows towards the City of Boulder and 
the slope flattens out to the confluence with Boulder Creek. Due to 
the nature of the existing channel and soil types in the area, a 
permissible velocity approach was used to determine the stable slope 
for Gregory Canyon Creek. This approach reviews the underlying 
geology of the channel based in the Natural Resources Conservation 
Services (NRCS) soil classification and determines the maximum 
velocity that these materials can withstand prior to erosion occurring 
in the channel. The published permissible velocity values vary both 
with depth and soil type. The soil data were obtained from NRCS and 
are included in Appendix A. Table 2 below presents the permissible 
velocity values for the soil types found within the study area. 

Table 2. Permissible Velocities for Soil Types within the Study Area  

Soil Description 
by Fortier and 
Scobey (1926)  

Soil Types within Study Area  Permissible Velocities (fps) 

NRCS Soil 
Type 

Applied   NRCS Soil Description 
Clear 
Watera 

Water 
Transporting 
Colloidal Silta 

Flow Depth 
= 3 to 5 feetb

Flow Depth 
= 5 to 8 feetb

Flow Depth = 
8 to 10 feetb 

Grass Lined 
or Vegetatedc

Alluvial Silt      2.0 ‐ 3.8  3.5 ‐ 5  3.9  4.6  4.9  6.8 

Sandy Loam  BaF, Nh  Baller Stony Sandy 
Loam, Niwot 

1.75 ‐ 2.0  2.5 ‐ 3.5  3.9  4.6  4.9  6.8 

Graded Loam to 
Cobbles 
(noncolloidal) 

Cu, NdD, 
Ro, Te 

Colluvial Land, 
Nederland Cobbly Sandy 
Loam, Rock Outcrop, 
Terrace Escarpments 

3.8  5.0  5.3  5.5  6.0  6.8 

a Fortier and Scobey (1926). 
b Keown et al. (1977). 
c SCS (1954) and UDFCD (2006). 

Picture 1: Stacked Boulder Wall 

Picture 3: Inline Sediment Trap 

Picture 2: Soil Lifts 
Picture 4: Example Inline Sediment Trap 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 94Packet Page 530



CONCEPTUAL DESIGN MEMORANDUM 

EN0716151039DEN  3 

Typical cross‐sections from HEC‐RAS were selected from each reach, Lower, Middle, and Upper, to compute the normal 
depth and velocity using Manning’s Equation. Because Manning’s Equation presents velocity as a function of channel 
slope, a stable velocity was reached by adjusting the slope of the channel. Stable slopes were calculated using flow 
rates for the 2‐, 5‐, 10‐, and 100‐year storm events, and the results were averaged to determine the final stable slope 
for Gregory Canyon Creek. Cross‐sections directly upstream or downstream of culverts were not used due to the 
accelerating and decelerating nature of velocities around culverts. On the basis of this analysis, it was determined that a 
stable slope of 1.5 percent would be conservative based on the various soil conditions found for Gregory Canyon Creek, 
as shown in Table 3. 

Table 3. Calculated Stable Slopes by Reach and Cross‐Section 
   

2‐Yr Flow (cfs) 
Calculated Stable Slope (ft/ft) 

5‐Yr Flow (cfs) 
Calculated Stable 

Slope (ft/ft) 

10‐Yr Flow (cfs) 
Calculated Stable 

Slope (ft/ft) 

100‐Yr Flow (cfs) 
Calculated Stable 

Slope (ft/ft) Reach #  Cross‐Section # 

Upper  530  0.023  0.019  0.015  0.012 

Upper  508  0.035  0.034  0.032  0.023a 

Middle  385  0.039  0.031  0.036  0.073 

Middle  360  0.041  0.033  0.020  0.020 

Lower  173  0.031  0.024  0.024b  0.084a 

Lower  110  0.031  0.029  0.033b  0.069a 

a Does not meet minimum freeboard requirement. 
b Less than 1 foot of freeboard. 

To achieve this stable slope, grouted boulder drop structures are proposed throughout the project area. The desired 
maximum height for each drop structure is 3 feet. At Euclid Avenue, a 4‐foot drop structure is proposed to minimize the 
impact to the upstream property owner and tie into existing grade. In some areas, drop structures will need to be 
constructed in sequence to achieve the stable slope and maintain the 3‐foot maximum drop. Examples of these drops 
are shown in Picture 5 and Picture 6. 

Hydraulic Modeling 
The HEC‐RAS model delivered with the Alternative Analysis, dated April 2015, was updated with the channel 
improvements described in previous sections. Proposed culverts were updated to match the City’s Recommended Plan. 

At the alley way between Arapahoe Avenue and Marine Street, C‐11, the culvert was extended to protect access to the 
adjacent property. The majority of the channel improvements are being proposed in the lower portion of the Gregory 
Canyon Creek Watershed, downstream of University Avenue. Approximately 20 drop structures are needed to achieve 
the stable slope of 1.5 percent. To define these improvements, a cross‐section was added at the crest and toe of each 
drop structure. Cross‐sections at roadways were modified on an as‐needed basis, to accurately model any change in 
alignment or location. The cross‐sections were defined based on proposed grading within the channel and 
supplemented with the City of Boulder’s 2013 LiDAR along the overbanks. It should be noted that the existing 
conditions model was not updated with this Master Plan and was based on a different topography dataset. In areas 
where no changes were being proposed, the cross‐section reflected the existing conditions model. In addition, the 
proposed Manning’s roughness coefficient was adjusted to 0.03 within the channel, to better represent the proposed 
conditions of a rock‐lined channel section that has been cleared of brush and obstructions   

Results of Hydraulic Analyses 
The goal of the conceptual design was to safely convey the 10‐year storm event within Gregory Canyon Creek. The 
proposed culvert and channel improvements convey the 10‐year storm event and stabilize the channel in lower storm 
events. In areas where the drop structures are spaced to allow the flow regime in the channel to stabilize, the velocities 
are less than 7 fps and subcritical. Additional erosion and scour protection will be required at the proposed culverts to 
accommodate the increase in velocity at these locations. The channel bottom should be lined with Type M soil riprap to 
allow for vegetation to reestablish in the channel bottom. The riprap will protect against shear forces along the channel 
bottom.  

A split flow condition exists downstream of Marine Street. With the conceptual design, additional capacity is added to 
Gregory Canyon Creek, reducing the amount of flow diverted at this split location. As a result, additional flow stays in 
the Gregory Creek channel downstream of Marine Street, resulting in minor increases in the 100‐year water surface 
elevation. However, due to the channel and culvert improvements at these locations there is no adverse impacts to 
adjacent structures. The impacts to the 100‐year water surface elevation should be evaluated during final design. A 
master‐planned 100‐year floodplain delineation is shown in Figure 1 included in Appendix B. The hydraulic results for 
the 10‐ and 100‐year storm events are presented in Appendix B. 

Water Quality Improvements 
The Gregory Canyon Creek Watershed is predominately built out, which provides limited opportunities to enhance 
water quality. However, two inline sediment basins are being proposed along Gregory Canyon Creek. These facilities 
will assist in removing sediment from the channel, thereby helping to improve the health of the corridor. 

Throughout the watershed, opportunities exist to retrofit the storm sewer manholes and inlets to help improve water 
quality. We advise that these retrofits are included as funds and storm drain improvements are completed by the City. 
Various products are on the market to enhance water quality through the interception of floatable debris at inlets to oil 
and sand separators for manholes. In addition, the inverts of each manhole can be lowered to allow for trash and debris 
to separate from the water in the system. These retrofits will benefit water quality along Gregory Canyon Creek. 

Prioritization and Phasing of Improvements 
The items included in the Conceptual Design are required to convey the 10‐year storm event and meet the City of 
Boulder’s drainage criteria. The conceptual design contains improvements to alleviate flooding issues identified by the 
City and residents during the flooding event in September 2013. These improvements include culvert/ bridge 
improvements as well as channel improvements. The identified culvert and channel improvements are considered high 
priority, with inlet and sediment trap construction regarded as a low priority. The high‐priority improvements are 
considered to be interrelated and necessary for the cohesive conveyance of Gregory Canyon Creek. Therefore, the 
culvert improvements and channel work necessary to construct the culvert were divided into reaches. In all, 11 reaches 
are being proposed, R‐1 to R‐11, and are represented in Figure 2 in Appendix A. 

Picture 5: Grouted Boulder Drop Structure  Picture 6: Multiple Drop Structure 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 95Packet Page 531



CONCEPTUAL DESIGN MEMORANDUM 

4  EN0716151039DEN 

To minimize adverse impacts to downstream property owners, the improvements shall be constructed from 
downstream, R‐1, to upstream, R‐11. The proposed piping of Anderson Ditch will occur with the construction of the 
Culvert C6 at 7th Street, R‐8. The low‐priority improvements are considered independent of the overall system 
conveyance. However, the sediment trap proposed at 637 Pennsylvania Avenue is included with the costs for Reach 8, 
R‐8. The proposed improvements are identified in Table 4. 

Table 4. Gregory Canyon Creek Alternatives 
High Priority  Low Priority 

  Culvert / Bridge Improvements  Additional Channel Improvements Required  Sediment Trap  Inlet Improvements 

U
ps
tr
ea
m
   
   
   
  C
on

st
ru
ct
io
n 
Ph

as
in
g 
   
   
   
   
 D
ow

ns
tr
ea
m
  R‐1 – Private Drive       

R‐2– Arapahoe Avenue  x     

R‐3 – Alley Way  x     

R‐4 – Marine Street  x     

R‐5 – 8th Street  x     

R‐6 – University Avenue  x     

R‐7 – Pleasant Street       

R‐8 – Anderson Ditch  (Construct with 7th Street Improvements)     

R‐8 – 7th Street  x  x   

R‐9 – Pennsylvania Avenue  x     

R‐10 – College Avenue  x     

R‐11 – Euclid Avenue  x     

Willowbrook Road    x  x 

 

Updated Cost Estimate 
The associated costs were presented by reach as described in previous sections. During the conceptual design, it 
became clear that a more structured channel would be required to meet the horizontal constraints and convey the 
10‐year flow at the existing roadways. Additionally, multiple drop structures would be needed to allow for a stable 
slope of 1.5 percent. The addition of boulder walls, boulder drop structures, and soil riprap necessary to stabilize the 
channel will impact the cost for each reach of channel improvements. For proposed improvements that will impact 
existing landscaped areas, a line item has been added to restore extensive landscaping. Additional line items to protect/ 
relocate overhead electric and relocate utilities have also been included in the cost where appropriate. These updated 
costs are provided in Appendix C.  

The same methodology utilized in the alternative analysis to determine the benefit‐cost ratio (BCR) was updated for the 
conceptual design. Basement types and classification of structures were reviewed per the recommendations received 
and updated per FEMA’s guidance. Damage curves were also verified and updated as necessary. By increasing the 
overall channel capacity, the flooding risk associated with more frequent storm events was reduced with the 
conceptual design. The overall cost of the channel and culvert improvements was approximately $9,924,308.39 with a 
BCR of 2.82.

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 96Packet Page 532



 

 

 

Appendix A 
Technical Appendix 

  
   

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 97Packet Page 533



Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 98Packet Page 534



Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 99Packet Page 535



Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 100Packet Page 536



Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 101Packet Page 537



Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 102Packet Page 538



Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 103Packet Page 539



Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 104Packet Page 540



Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 105Packet Page 541



Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 106Packet Page 542



Existing Ground Vertical Adjustments

From To Source
4+80 3+61 Survey from 2009 Belt Collins Update
7+30 6+30 Survey from 2009 Belt Collins Update
12+50 9+05 Survey from 2009 Belt Collins Update
14+91 13+75 Survey from 2009 Belt Collins Update
19+75 18+50 Survey from 2009 Belt Collins Update
25+00 23+55 Survey from 2009 Belt Collins Update
28+55 27+80 Survey from 2009 Belt Collins Update
35+33 35+57 Survey from 997 Euclid Avenue
42+75 41+47 Survey from 2009 Belt Collins Update
50+00 47+50 Survey from 2009 Belt Collins Update
54+75 53+60 Survey from 2009 Belt Collins Update
* All other elevations are from 2013 LiDAR

Station

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 107Packet Page 543



 G:\498924_GREGORY_CREEK\03_GIS\MAPFILES\GREGORY CANYON REACH_MAP.MXD  JQUAN 10/22/2015 2:15:16 PM

VICINITY MAP

Reach 7

Reach 12

Reach 10

Reach 9

Reach 11

Reach 1

Reach 13

Reach 4

Reach 6 Reach 5
Reach 3

Reach 8

Reach 2

3rd St

G
randview

 Av

11th St

9th St

6th St

Eu
cl

id
 A

v

U
ni

ve
rs

ity
 A

v

Pe
nn

sy
lv

an
ia

 A
v

10th St

Jay St

Pen nsylvania
Av

Eu
cl

id
 A

v

C
hr

is
tm

as
Tr

ee
Dr

Lincoln Pl

H
ap

go
od

 S
t

10th St

8th St

7th St

Gilbert St

Rose
Hill Dr

5th St

4th St

D
ea

n 
P

l

6th St

7th St

8th St

Grant Pl

Park Ln

Lincoln Pl

7th St

Marshall St

C
anyon Bv

G
en

ev
a

Av

C
an

yo
n

B
v

Ar
ap

ah
oe

 A
v

Fla
gs

taf
fRd

Ar
ap

ah
oe

 A
v

Au
ro

ra
 A

v
Au

ro
ra

 A
v M
ar

in
e 

St

C
as

ca
de

 A
v

Coll
ege

Av

C
ol

le
ge

 A
v

P
le

as
an

t S
t

Pl
ea

sa
nt

 S
t

Willowbrook Rd

Circle Dr

Stream
side Ln

5th St

Boulder C
reek

Gregory Creek

Sunshine Creek

An
de

rs
on

Ditch

0 400200

Feet

LEGEND
Project Reach
Creeks and Streams
City Limits

FIGURE X
Project Reaches
Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 108Packet Page 544



 

 

 

Appendix B 
Hydraulic Results 

   

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 109Packet Page 545



HEC-RAS  Plan: PR10.15   River: RIVER-1   Reach: Reach-1    Profile: 10-year
Reach River Sta Profile Q Total Min Ch El W.S. Elev Crit W.S. E.G. Elev E.G. Slope Vel Chnl Flow Area Top Width Froude # Chl

(cfs) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft/ft) (ft/s) (sq ft) (ft)  
Reach-1 600     10-year 400.00 5750.20 5753.68 5753.68 5754.79 0.072296 8.48 48.02 24.17 0.97
Reach-1 590     10-year 400.00 5718.23 5733.09 5723.36 5733.10 0.000209 1.09 591.85 103.66 0.05
Reach-1 585     Culvert
Reach-1 580     10-year 400.00 5717.80 5722.94 5722.94 5725.47 0.053059 12.75 31.38 23.86 0.99
Reach-1 560     10-year 400.00 5684.47 5692.49 5689.18 5692.65 0.006768 3.66 175.47 106.85 0.26
Reach-1 555     Culvert
Reach-1 550     10-year 400.00 5683.10 5687.61 5687.61 5688.79 0.008159 9.12 59.63 31.70 0.85
Reach-1 540     10-year 400.00 5660.98 5665.75 5665.75 5666.71 0.027321 8.57 56.81 30.30 1.00
Reach-1 530     10-year 400.00 5652.10 5657.05 5657.05 5658.19 0.027142 8.57 46.67 20.54 1.00
Reach-1 520     10-year 400.00 5645.52 5656.89 5652.30 5657.07 0.001264 3.77 221.72 134.61 0.21
Reach-1 515     Culvert
Reach-1 510     10-year 400.00 5643.57 5650.39 5650.39 5653.73 0.027158 14.67 27.26 39.62 0.99
Reach-1 508     10-year 400.00 5640.03 5644.43 5644.43 5645.27 0.050904 7.35 54.39 32.40 1.00
Reach-1 507     10-year 400.00 5639.21 5642.99 5642.99 5643.84 0.048378 7.41 54.01 33.53 1.01
Reach-1 505     10-year 400.00 5638.27 5642.03 5642.03 5642.78 0.042710 7.03 61.26 46.95 0.95
Reach-1 500     10-year 400.00 5625.60 5634.33 5629.30 5634.51 0.003737 3.71 168.13 76.26 0.22
Reach-1 495     Bridge
Reach-1 490     10-year 400.00 5624.40 5628.10 5628.10 5629.92 0.069729 10.81 36.99 10.00 0.99
Reach-1 470     10-year 400.00 5607.68 5619.14 5611.66 5619.20 0.000731 2.05 220.79 58.95 0.11
Reach-1 465     Culvert
Reach-1 460     10-year 400.00 5603.33 5607.30 5607.30 5609.25 0.027243 11.19 35.76 14.56 0.99
Reach-1 455     10-year 495.00 5596.39 5601.20 5601.20 5602.43 0.036666 8.91 55.56 22.58 1.00
Reach-1 450     10-year 495.00 5590.81 5595.98 5595.98 5597.24 0.036236 9.02 54.87 21.23 0.99
Reach-1 440     10-year 495.00 5587.69 5591.62 5591.62 5592.64 0.036979 8.12 60.93 30.12 1.01
Reach-1 436     10-year 495.00 5578.63 5581.71 5581.71 5582.52 0.032149 8.12 90.76 68.33 0.95
Reach-1 431     10-year 495.00 5571.70 5576.47 5574.81 5577.12 0.007200 6.49 76.25 19.33 0.52
Reach-1 425     Culvert
Reach-1 420     10-year 495.00 5571.10 5574.21 5574.21 5575.75 0.029776 9.94 49.80 20.45 0.99
Reach-1 410     10-year 495.00 5565.61 5569.39 5567.95 5569.83 0.006518 5.29 93.55 33.18 0.48
Reach-1 405     Culvert
Reach-1 400     10-year 495.00 5563.35 5566.12 5565.18 5566.40 0.007466 4.25 116.47 54.94 0.48
Reach-1 398     10-year 495.00 5563.39 5564.94 5564.91 5565.63 0.094408 8.33 82.10 67.05 1.46
Reach-1 395     10-year 495.00 5555.00 5558.75 5558.73 5559.65 0.045916 7.65 64.72 36.03 1.01
Reach-1 390     10-year 495.00 5551.40 5555.11 5555.11 5555.75 0.034076 7.02 100.24 85.25 0.88
Reach-1 389     10-year 495.00 5550.00 5553.05 5553.00 5553.83 0.049733 7.79 90.92 84.99 1.05
Reach-1 385     10-year 495.00 5537.75 5540.73 5540.73 5541.19 0.070682 8.03 114.50 110.19 1.16
Reach-1 383     10-year 495.00 5532.68 5535.07 5535.07 5536.11 0.010908 8.17 60.63 38.63 0.99
Reach-1 382     10-year 495.00 5529.15 5533.45 5533.45 5534.82 0.011142 9.40 52.65 19.47 1.01
Reach-1 381     10-year 495.00 5529.15 5533.13 5533.13 5534.44 0.010871 9.17 53.99 20.85 1.00
Reach-1 380     10-year 495.00 5527.28 5531.27 5531.27 5532.53 0.010565 9.00 55.00 21.40 0.99
Reach-1 375     Culvert
Reach-1 370     10-year 495.00 5527.21 5529.88 5529.88 5531.07 0.009957 8.75 56.56 50.16 0.99
Reach-1 360     10-year 495.00 5511.80 5515.88 5515.88 5517.01 0.046086 8.54 57.99 25.76 1.00
Reach-1 352     10-year 495.00 5507.30 5511.34 5511.28 5512.43 0.031847 8.63 68.27 33.26 0.87
Reach-1 351     10-year 495.00 5506.80 5510.54 5510.54 5511.58 0.043604 8.16 60.63 29.33 1.00
Reach-1 350     10-year 495.00 5503.40 5507.38 5507.38 5508.55 0.042998 8.71 56.85 24.20 1.00
Reach-1 342     10-year 495.00 5494.95 5499.43 5499.43 5500.51 0.035572 8.73 68.70 33.41 0.92
Reach-1 340     10-year 495.00 5493.14 5497.17 5497.17 5498.40 0.047114 8.90 55.62 22.70 1.00
Reach-1 334     10-year 495.00 5488.11 5492.20 5492.20 5493.46 0.044410 9.02 54.89 22.22 1.01
Reach-1 330     10-year 495.00 5485.84 5490.99 5489.16 5491.66 0.007866 6.55 75.54 28.74 0.51
Reach-1 325     Culvert
Reach-1 318     10-year 600.00 5485.27 5489.04 5489.04 5490.89 0.033469 10.90 55.07 40.10 0.99
Reach-1 304     10-year 600.00 5484.40 5489.61 5487.32 5489.74 0.002484 2.91 219.98 75.75 0.26
Reach-1 303     Bridge
Reach-1 302     10-year 600.00 5483.05 5486.07 5486.07 5486.90 0.033333 7.55 97.77 71.83 0.88
Reach-1 301     10-year 600.00 5479.08 5482.02 5482.02 5483.13 0.043268 8.44 71.10 32.46 1.00
Reach-1 300     10-year 600.00 5475.10 5478.44 5478.44 5479.10 0.033229 6.62 105.83 111.08 0.87
Reach-1 295     10-year 600.00 5470.26 5473.62 5473.62 5474.21 0.035730 6.40 114.14 109.08 0.89
Reach-1 291     10-year 600.00 5468.09 5470.94 5470.94 5471.54 0.031183 6.98 132.14 118.87 0.86
Reach-1 290.5   10-year 600.00 5463.82 5469.36 5469.36 5470.25 0.005885 8.32 166.44 136.53 0.72
Reach-1 287     10-year 600.00 5460.82 5469.03 5466.57 5469.39 0.007520 5.24 199.53 162.11 0.40
Reach-1 285     Bridge
Reach-1 283     10-year 600.00 5460.46 5465.28 5465.28 5466.43 0.009916 8.78 85.71 50.16 0.94
Reach-1 282     10-year 600.00 5457.67 5461.87 5461.87 5463.55 0.012693 10.40 57.68 17.35 1.01
Reach-1 278     10-year 600.00 5456.63 5459.28 5459.28 5460.11 0.011932 7.30 82.16 50.48 1.01
Reach-1 276     10-year 600.00 5453.91 5457.72 5457.24 5458.42 0.006393 6.74 89.03 35.75 0.75
Reach-1 274     10-year 600.00 5454.04 5457.00 5457.00 5458.12 0.011773 8.50 70.57 31.93 1.01
Reach-1 272     10-year 600.00 5449.36 5454.50 5455.07 0.002918 6.07 98.83 20.11 0.48
Reach-1 271     10-year 600.00 5449.36 5454.21 5452.77 5455.00 0.004191 7.14 84.04 17.97 0.58
Reach-1 265     Culvert
Reach-1 250     10-year 600.00 5435.21 5440.23 5439.62 5441.62 0.008570 9.46 63.45 20.49 0.80
Reach-1 231     10-year 600.00 5434.26 5438.68 5438.68 5440.59 0.013180 11.07 54.21 14.34 1.00
Reach-1 230     10-year 600.00 5433.44 5438.05 5436.57 5438.75 0.003918 6.72 89.24 20.20 0.56
Reach-1 225     Culvert
Reach-1 220     10-year 600.00 5432.65 5436.00 5436.00 5437.64 0.012988 10.26 58.48 17.75 1.00

HEC-RAS  Plan: PR10.15   River: RIVER-1   Reach: Reach-1    Profile: 10-year (Continued)
Reach River Sta Profile Q Total Min Ch El W.S. Elev Crit W.S. E.G. Elev E.G. Slope Vel Chnl Flow Area Top Width Froude # Chl

(cfs) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft/ft) (ft/s) (sq ft) (ft)  
Reach-1 219     10-year 600.00 5431.60 5435.50 5435.50 5436.71 0.009614 8.85 74.49 57.35 0.94
Reach-1 200     10-year 600.00 5420.59 5424.84 5424.84 5425.88 0.012072 8.17 73.44 35.69 1.00
Reach-1 197     10-year 600.00 5419.10 5423.12 5423.12 5424.38 0.011133 9.01 66.61 26.56 1.00
Reach-1 195     10-year 600.00 5419.10 5422.75 5422.75 5424.18 0.011043 9.61 62.42 22.07 1.01
Reach-1 194     10-year 600.00 5416.10 5421.11 5420.47 5422.38 0.007689 9.02 66.53 16.62 0.79
Reach-1 193     10-year 600.00 5416.10 5420.36 5420.36 5422.04 0.011810 10.41 57.64 17.40 1.01
Reach-1 191     10-year 600.00 5413.10 5418.17 5418.88 0.003711 6.77 88.68 19.42 0.56
Reach-1 190.5   10-year 600.00 5413.10 5418.19 5416.33 5418.80 0.003580 6.27 95.75 19.57 0.50
Reach-1 185     Culvert
Reach-1 180     10-year 673.00 5410.57 5413.97 5413.97 5415.65 0.010667 10.42 64.60 19.81 1.00
Reach-1 177     10-year 673.00 5407.62 5412.38 5412.38 5414.41 0.013257 11.44 58.82 14.61 1.01
Reach-1 175     10-year 673.00 5407.01 5411.78 5411.78 5413.80 0.013122 11.42 58.94 14.73 1.01
Reach-1 173     10-year 673.00 5405.97 5410.90 5410.90 5412.69 0.011408 10.81 70.70 32.51 0.94
Reach-1 172     10-year 673.00 5403.83 5407.80 5407.80 5409.59 0.012147 10.73 62.74 17.78 1.01
Reach-1 171     10-year 673.00 5402.97 5408.48 5406.39 5409.12 0.001733 6.43 104.65 25.18 0.48
Reach-1 165     Culvert
Reach-1 161     10-year 673.00 5397.22 5400.65 5400.65 5402.31 0.008490 10.36 64.97 22.73 0.99
Reach-1 155     10-year 673.00 5394.73 5400.22 5399.32 5401.51 0.007588 9.11 73.91 17.30 0.78
Reach-1 152     10-year 673.00 5394.34 5399.12 5399.12 5401.16 0.013247 11.46 58.73 14.55 1.01
Reach-1 151     10-year 673.00 5392.99 5397.76 5397.76 5399.80 0.013255 11.46 58.71 14.58 1.01
Reach-1 150     10-year 673.00 5390.64 5396.90 5395.53 5398.07 0.006280 8.67 77.63 15.25 0.68
Reach-1 130     10-year 673.00 5390.64 5395.58 5395.58 5397.64 0.013552 11.53 58.37 13.87 0.99
Reach-1 125     Culvert
Reach-1 120     10-year 673.00 5389.74 5393.70 5392.94 5394.73 0.005345 8.13 82.73 22.03 0.73
Reach-1 119.9   Lat Struct
Reach-1 117     10-year 673.00 5389.74 5393.03 5393.03 5394.54 0.011224 9.88 68.10 22.58 1.00
Reach-1 113     10-year 673.00 5387.24 5391.95 5391.95 5393.92 0.012762 11.27 59.70 15.19 1.00
Reach-1 110     10-year 673.00 5386.36 5391.81 5391.56 5392.78 0.008654 8.03 97.89 44.75 0.86
Reach-1 108     10-year 673.00 5386.25 5391.27 5391.27 5392.59 0.007662 9.48 107.09 72.44 0.82
Reach-1 106     10-year 673.00 5384.61 5389.34 5389.34 5391.32 0.012710 11.27 59.69 15.23 1.00
Reach-1 104     10-year 673.00 5383.20 5387.96 5387.96 5389.96 0.012865 11.32 59.43 15.00 1.00
Reach-1 102     10-year 673.00 5381.00 5386.99 5387.41 0.001798 5.23 128.62 22.27 0.38
Reach-1 100     10-year 673.00 5381.00 5386.94 5384.26 5387.39 0.001952 5.39 124.95 22.07 0.40
Reach-1 95      Culvert
Reach-1 91      10-year 673.00 5377.55 5383.47 5381.03 5384.02 0.002484 5.95 113.06 19.99 0.44
Reach-1 89.9    Lat Struct
Reach-1 70      10-year 673.00 5377.04 5381.69 5381.69 5383.45 0.011796 10.63 63.28 18.20 1.01
Reach-1 65      10-year 673.00 5374.19 5379.00 5379.00 5381.04 0.013251 11.46 58.72 14.41 1.00
Reach-1 60      10-year 673.00 5373.01 5378.21 5376.03 5378.71 0.001476 5.71 117.89 25.61 0.44
Reach-1 55      Culvert
Reach-1 51      10-year 673.00 5372.70 5376.91 5375.72 5377.68 0.011928 7.05 95.47 56.39 0.61
Reach-1 49.9    Lat Struct
Reach-1 45      10-year 672.32 5369.49 5374.52 5374.52 5375.93 0.043677 9.51 70.70 26.16 1.02
Reach-1 40      10-year 672.32 5363.57 5366.58 5366.05 5367.41 0.025220 7.32 91.81 31.02 0.75
Reach-1 35      Bridge
Reach-1 30      10-year 672.32 5362.31 5364.69 5364.69 5365.78 0.044045 8.38 80.22 37.46 1.01
Reach-1 10      10-year 672.32 5356.30 5359.72 5359.72 5360.97 0.038709 9.00 76.00 32.82 0.99

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 110Packet Page 546



HEC-RAS  Plan: PR10.15   River: RIVER-1   Reach: Reach-1    Profile: 100-year
Reach River Sta Profile Q Total Min Ch El W.S. Elev Crit W.S. E.G. Elev E.G. Slope Vel Chnl Flow Area Top Width Froude # Chl

(cfs) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft/ft) (ft/s) (sq ft) (ft)  
Reach-1 600     100-year 1450.00 5750.20 5756.85 5756.85 5758.45 0.038880 10.98 175.50 60.17 0.82
Reach-1 590     100-year 1450.00 5718.23 5735.89 5730.31 5735.94 0.000868 2.52 977.51 161.26 0.11
Reach-1 585     Culvert
Reach-1 580     100-year 1450.00 5717.80 5729.90 5729.90 5735.89 0.040251 19.64 73.82 88.34 1.00
Reach-1 560     100-year 1450.00 5684.47 5694.47 5693.18 5694.75 0.011242 5.70 419.85 133.66 0.36
Reach-1 555     Culvert
Reach-1 550     100-year 1450.00 5683.10 5690.54 5690.54 5693.07 0.009615 14.71 169.00 48.60 1.01
Reach-1 540     100-year 1450.00 5660.98 5668.23 5668.23 5669.92 0.024603 11.70 156.41 46.95 1.04
Reach-1 530     100-year 1450.00 5652.10 5660.01 5660.01 5661.83 0.018610 10.92 141.60 46.25 0.94
Reach-1 520     100-year 1450.00 5645.52 5658.56 5657.67 5658.90 0.002927 5.91 537.13 145.29 0.31
Reach-1 515     Culvert
Reach-1 510     100-year 1450.00 5643.57 5654.01 5654.01 5654.54 0.003470 6.31 339.48 80.69 0.36
Reach-1 508     100-year 1450.00 5640.03 5646.63 5646.63 5648.30 0.037599 10.49 146.36 49.63 0.98
Reach-1 507     100-year 1450.00 5639.21 5645.29 5645.29 5646.87 0.033293 10.36 158.87 54.52 0.95
Reach-1 505     100-year 1450.00 5638.27 5644.00 5644.00 5645.40 0.032446 10.18 185.67 75.13 0.94
Reach-1 500     100-year 1450.00 5625.60 5635.37 5634.97 5636.39 0.022426 9.78 276.75 125.14 0.55
Reach-1 495     Bridge
Reach-1 490     100-year 1450.00 5624.40 5634.00 5634.00 5635.06 0.026436 9.96 264.01 125.71 0.57
Reach-1 470     100-year 1450.00 5607.68 5621.13 5614.06 5621.46 0.003722 5.16 446.07 129.13 0.25
Reach-1 465     Culvert
Reach-1 460     100-year 1450.00 5603.33 5612.65 5612.65 5617.29 0.020842 17.28 83.92 96.84 1.00
Reach-1 455     100-year 1700.00 5596.39 5604.21 5604.21 5606.38 0.028330 11.85 148.27 39.91 0.98
Reach-1 450     100-year 1700.00 5590.81 5599.19 5599.19 5600.78 0.026792 10.27 182.25 106.22 0.93
Reach-1 440     100-year 1700.00 5587.69 5593.98 5593.98 5595.25 0.023797 9.75 254.63 136.18 0.89
Reach-1 436     100-year 1700.00 5578.63 5584.23 5584.23 5585.08 0.016562 9.62 410.40 224.64 0.78
Reach-1 431     100-year 1700.00 5571.70 5581.24 5578.80 5581.77 0.006021 6.76 494.41 217.07 0.40
Reach-1 425     Culvert
Reach-1 420     100-year 1700.00 5571.10 5578.20 5578.20 5581.68 0.022498 14.97 113.58 124.36 0.99
Reach-1 410     100-year 1700.00 5565.61 5572.37 5570.92 5573.31 0.010388 7.76 219.09 40.34 0.59
Reach-1 405     Culvert
Reach-1 400     100-year 1700.00 5563.35 5568.13 5566.97 5569.13 0.012078 8.04 211.36 59.64 0.67
Reach-1 398     100-year 1700.00 5563.39 5566.67 5566.67 5568.18 0.055920 12.44 216.26 89.81 1.33
Reach-1 395     100-year 1700.00 5555.00 5560.98 5560.98 5562.73 0.037266 10.61 161.08 48.30 1.01
Reach-1 390     100-year 1700.00 5551.40 5556.74 5556.74 5557.87 0.035761 10.19 257.78 108.53 0.98
Reach-1 389     100-year 1700.00 5550.00 5554.69 5554.69 5555.84 0.040472 10.35 249.04 105.65 1.04
Reach-1 385     100-year 1700.00 5537.75 5541.87 5541.87 5542.85 0.079806 11.69 243.31 115.69 1.32
Reach-1 383     100-year 1700.00 5532.68 5537.60 5537.60 5538.68 0.005375 9.42 326.05 157.32 0.79
Reach-1 382     100-year 1700.00 5529.15 5537.25 5536.82 5538.36 0.003989 9.52 354.54 125.69 0.69
Reach-1 381     100-year 1700.00 5529.15 5536.61 5536.61 5538.24 0.005977 10.69 241.86 104.79 0.83
Reach-1 380     100-year 1700.00 5527.28 5534.55 5534.55 5536.81 0.009459 12.07 140.86 31.36 1.00
Reach-1 375     Culvert
Reach-1 370     100-year 1700.00 5527.21 5532.94 5532.94 5535.39 0.007933 12.57 137.02 176.13 0.98
Reach-1 360     100-year 1700.00 5511.80 5518.90 5518.90 5520.81 0.034722 11.20 162.13 49.18 0.95
Reach-1 352     100-year 1700.00 5507.30 5514.42 5514.42 5516.19 0.025142 11.95 210.93 100.66 0.86
Reach-1 351     100-year 1700.00 5506.80 5513.16 5513.16 5515.01 0.033116 10.99 163.09 50.58 0.97
Reach-1 350     100-year 1700.00 5503.40 5510.37 5510.37 5512.43 0.037198 11.52 147.56 36.46 1.01
Reach-1 342     100-year 1700.00 5494.95 5501.69 5501.69 5503.95 0.039860 13.71 182.40 53.93 1.08
Reach-1 340     100-year 1700.00 5493.14 5500.02 5500.02 5500.92 0.021195 8.74 340.88 219.44 0.75
Reach-1 334     100-year 1700.00 5488.11 5495.56 5495.56 5497.29 0.025662 10.85 194.47 76.92 0.85
Reach-1 330     100-year 1700.00 5485.84 5494.98 5493.18 5495.49 0.005647 5.97 392.74 170.04 0.38
Reach-1 325     Culvert
Reach-1 318     100-year 1900.00 5485.27 5491.90 5491.90 5492.81 0.023021 9.76 395.24 216.83 0.69
Reach-1 304     100-year 1900.00 5484.40 5491.10 5489.24 5491.69 0.007855 6.33 357.30 178.40 0.48
Reach-1 303     Bridge
Reach-1 302     100-year 1900.00 5483.05 5487.91 5487.91 5489.29 0.033327 10.62 250.54 90.55 0.95
Reach-1 301     100-year 1900.00 5479.08 5484.81 5484.81 5486.17 0.022682 9.81 258.27 121.67 0.82
Reach-1 300     100-year 1900.00 5475.10 5479.93 5479.93 5480.86 0.031059 8.66 318.58 168.21 0.90
Reach-1 295     100-year 1900.00 5470.26 5474.88 5474.88 5475.76 0.039266 8.31 314.26 211.21 0.98
Reach-1 291     100-year 1900.00 5468.09 5472.49 5472.49 5473.33 0.026948 9.37 394.76 222.72 0.87
Reach-1 290.5   100-year 1900.00 5463.82 5471.37 5471.37 5472.38 0.006200 11.10 633.36 310.57 0.79
Reach-1 287     100-year 1900.00 5460.82 5470.21 5470.21 5471.04 0.018395 9.39 443.34 240.83 0.65
Reach-1 285     Bridge
Reach-1 283     100-year 1900.00 5460.46 5468.83 5468.83 5469.85 0.003822 9.27 607.43 373.04 0.66
Reach-1 282     100-year 1900.00 5457.67 5465.80 5465.80 5467.83 0.008209 12.10 246.43 77.54 0.88
Reach-1 278     100-year 1900.00 5456.63 5461.24 5461.24 5462.65 0.009655 9.56 201.19 81.56 1.00
Reach-1 276     100-year 1900.00 5453.91 5459.82 5459.73 5461.55 0.009269 10.55 180.43 53.19 0.97
Reach-1 274     100-year 1900.00 5454.04 5459.67 5459.67 5461.21 0.008723 10.06 217.87 91.78 0.95
Reach-1 272     100-year 1900.00 5449.36 5457.02 5456.16 5459.46 0.008981 12.54 152.79 33.79 0.84
Reach-1 271     100-year 1900.00 5449.36 5457.82 5457.82 5458.97 0.005786 9.72 435.02 226.52 0.64
Reach-1 265     Culvert
Reach-1 250     100-year 1900.00 5435.21 5445.85 5443.60 5446.32 0.001851 5.54 398.15 136.91 0.44
Reach-1 231     100-year 1900.00 5434.26 5443.33 5443.33 5445.52 0.007911 12.21 219.31 83.05 0.86
Reach-1 230     100-year 1900.00 5433.44 5441.02 5440.16 5443.49 0.008603 12.62 153.54 38.39 0.83
Reach-1 225     Culvert
Reach-1 220     100-year 1900.00 5432.65 5440.54 5440.54 5442.00 0.005661 10.80 401.59 174.63 0.69

HEC-RAS  Plan: PR10.15   River: RIVER-1   Reach: Reach-1    Profile: 100-year (Continued)
Reach River Sta Profile Q Total Min Ch El W.S. Elev Crit W.S. E.G. Elev E.G. Slope Vel Chnl Flow Area Top Width Froude # Chl

(cfs) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft/ft) (ft/s) (sq ft) (ft)  
Reach-1 219     100-year 1900.00 5431.60 5437.88 5437.88 5439.07 0.008434 9.89 372.60 185.56 0.94
Reach-1 200     100-year 1900.00 5420.59 5427.11 5427.11 5428.64 0.010287 9.94 191.79 65.73 1.01
Reach-1 197     100-year 1900.00 5419.10 5425.97 5425.97 5427.63 0.008277 10.54 226.03 95.44 0.95
Reach-1 195     100-year 1900.00 5419.10 5425.81 5425.81 5427.17 0.009218 9.50 231.23 102.62 0.97
Reach-1 194     100-year 1900.00 5416.10 5425.02 5425.02 5426.43 0.010802 9.60 220.55 100.49 1.01
Reach-1 193     100-year 1900.00 5416.10 5424.32 5424.32 5425.75 0.009477 9.62 212.01 118.00 0.97
Reach-1 191     100-year 1900.00 5413.10 5422.32 5420.34 5423.98 0.008925 10.36 183.36 43.21 0.89
Reach-1 190.5   100-year 1900.00 5413.10 5422.57 5420.01 5423.70 0.007757 8.53 222.80 61.64 0.79
Reach-1 185     Culvert
Reach-1 180     100-year 2092.00 5410.57 5417.80 5417.80 5421.27 0.010595 14.94 139.99 115.90 0.99
Reach-1 177     100-year 2092.00 5407.62 5417.11 5417.11 5418.61 0.009096 9.85 233.41 180.07 0.93
Reach-1 175     100-year 2092.00 5407.01 5415.58 5415.58 5416.45 0.008278 7.93 448.20 352.76 0.88
Reach-1 173     100-year 2092.00 5405.97 5413.64 5413.64 5414.40 0.005475 9.79 859.62 507.53 0.69
Reach-1 172     100-year 2092.00 5403.83 5412.41 5412.41 5413.34 0.004440 9.19 716.99 445.31 0.64
Reach-1 171     100-year 2092.00 5402.97 5410.95 5410.95 5412.16 0.004092 9.37 496.81 373.06 0.60
Reach-1 165     Culvert
Reach-1 161     100-year 2092.00 5397.22 5404.79 5404.46 5405.63 0.006978 7.37 283.83 111.73 0.81
Reach-1 155     100-year 2092.00 5394.73 5403.64 5403.64 5405.17 0.009117 10.04 247.12 124.43 0.94
Reach-1 152     100-year 2092.00 5394.34 5403.26 5403.26 5404.47 0.006661 9.24 385.05 249.69 0.81
Reach-1 151     100-year 2092.00 5392.99 5402.83 5403.48 0.002831 7.01 550.33 227.35 0.55
Reach-1 150     100-year 2092.00 5390.64 5401.79 5401.79 5403.30 0.004744 10.82 454.03 217.63 0.63
Reach-1 130     100-year 2092.00 5390.64 5401.48 5401.48 5402.36 0.003637 9.04 817.90 557.72 0.56
Reach-1 125     Culvert
Reach-1 120     100-year 2092.00 5389.74 5397.45 5396.60 5399.65 0.007967 11.97 212.83 126.07 0.84
Reach-1 119.9   Lat Struct
Reach-1 117     100-year 2092.00 5389.74 5397.96 5396.96 5399.08 0.004276 8.65 334.33 168.68 0.68
Reach-1 113     100-year 2092.00 5387.24 5396.45 5396.45 5398.91 0.008361 12.75 209.99 86.89 0.91
Reach-1 110     100-year 2092.00 5386.36 5394.45 5394.45 5395.96 0.006606 10.80 390.61 168.30 0.83
Reach-1 108     100-year 2083.72 5386.25 5394.37 5394.37 5395.48 0.004925 10.75 646.16 327.82 0.71
Reach-1 106     100-year 2043.72 5384.61 5393.55 5393.55 5394.75 0.004946 10.58 592.68 300.27 0.69
Reach-1 104     100-year 1954.02 5383.20 5392.15 5392.15 5393.42 0.005048 10.56 536.27 266.25 0.69
Reach-1 102     100-year 1952.06 5381.00 5388.50 5387.41 5390.74 0.007680 11.99 163.85 28.97 0.79
Reach-1 100     100-year 1952.06 5381.00 5387.78 5387.78 5390.59 0.010566 13.49 156.74 39.91 0.93
Reach-1 95      Culvert
Reach-1 91      100-year 1952.06 5377.55 5385.12 5384.52 5387.88 0.010140 13.31 146.61 20.68 0.88
Reach-1 89.9    Lat Struct
Reach-1 70      100-year 1850.92 5377.04 5385.67 5385.67 5386.79 0.003888 9.70 546.87 347.43 0.65
Reach-1 65      100-year 1752.34 5374.19 5383.84 5383.84 5385.74 0.005858 11.66 272.99 115.94 0.71
Reach-1 60      100-year 1679.33 5373.01 5380.88 5378.51 5381.90 0.003104 8.22 270.89 100.28 0.53
Reach-1 55      Culvert
Reach-1 51      100-year 1679.33 5372.70 5378.28 5378.28 5381.01 0.029065 13.28 126.50 100.21 0.99
Reach-1 49.9    Lat Struct
Reach-1 45      100-year 1510.80 5369.49 5376.54 5376.54 5377.87 0.023963 10.03 217.20 93.11 0.82
Reach-1 40      100-year 1482.98 5363.57 5368.66 5367.76 5370.04 0.023774 9.44 157.02 31.72 0.75
Reach-1 35      Bridge
Reach-1 30      100-year 1482.98 5362.31 5366.24 5366.24 5367.93 0.038683 10.45 141.90 42.31 1.01
Reach-1 10      100-year 1482.98 5356.30 5361.52 5361.52 5363.45 0.029831 11.29 145.87 44.68 0.95

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 111Packet Page 547



0 1000 2000 3000 4000 5000 6000 7000
5300

5400

5500

5600

5700

5800

GREGORY CANYON CREEK CITY ALT       Plan: Proposed Conditions v10.15    10/22/2015 

Main Channel Distance (ft)

El
ev

at
io

n 
(ft

)

Legend

WS  100-year

WS  10-year

Ground

D
ow

ns
tre

am
 fa

ce
 o

...

C
ha

nn
el

 S
ur

ve
ye

d 
Ap

...
C

ha
nn

el
 S

ur
ve

ye
d 

Ap
r..

.
C

ul
ve

rt 
ID

 C
12

 - 
Ar

a.
..

D
ow

ns
tre

am
 fa

ce
 o

f a
l..

.

C
ul

ve
rt 

ID
 C

11
 - 

Al
le

y.
..

D
ow

ns
tre

am
 fa

ce
 o

f M
ar

in
e.

..
C

ul
ve

rt 
ID

 C
 1

0 
- M

ar
in

e 
...

D
ow

ns
tre

am
 fa

ce
 o

f C
ro

ss
in

g.
..

C
ul

ve
rt 

ID
 - 

C
9 

8t
h 

St
re

et
 a

...

D
ow

ns
tre

am
 fa

ce
 o

f U
ni

ve
rs

ity
 ..

.

C
ul

ve
rt 

ID
 C

8 
- U

ni
ve

rs
ity

 A
ve

n.
..

C
ro

ss
 s

ec
tio

n 
de

fin
ed

 u
si

ng
 2

00
8 

...

C
ha

nn
el

 S
ur

ve
ye

d 
Ap

ril
 2

00
5

C
ul

ve
rt 

ID
 C

7 
- P

le
as

an
t S

tre
et

D
ef

in
ed

 u
si

ng
 2

00
8 

su
rv

ey
 a

nd
 li

da
r c

...

C
ul

ve
rt 

ID
 C

6 
- 7

th
 S

tre
et

D
ow

ns
tre

am
 fa

ce
 o

f P
en

ns
yl

va
ni

a 
Av

e.
 C

ro
ss

i..
.

C
ha

nn
el

 S
ur

ve
ye

d 
Ap

ril
 2

00
5,

 U
ps

tre
am

 fa
ce

 o
f..

.

20
08

 s
ur

ve
ye

d 
ad

de
d 

fo
r a

re
a 

on
 le

ft 
ba

nk
 b

et
w

e.
..

C
ha

nn
el

 S
ur

ve
ye

d 
Ap

ril
 2

00
5

C
ha

nn
el

 S
ur

ve
ye

d 
Ap

ril
 2

00
5

C
ha

nn
el

 S
ur

ve
ye

d 
Ap

ril
 2

00
5,

 D
ow

ns
tre

am
 fa

ce
 o

f P
r..

.
C

ul
ve

rt 
ID

 C
4 

- C
ol

le
ge

 A
ve

nu
e,

Se
ct

io
n 

ad
de

d 
w

ith
 s

ur
ve

y 
fro

m
 1

2/
19

/0
8

C
ha

nn
el

 S
ur

ve
ye

d 
Ap

ril
 2

00
5

C
ha

nn
el

 S
ur

ve
ye

d 
Ap

ril
 2

00
5

C
ha

nn
el

 S
ur

ve
ye

d 
Ap

ril
 2

00
5

C
ha

nn
el

 S
ur

ve
ye

d 
Ap

ril
 2

00
5

C
ha

nn
el

 S
ur

ve
ye

d 
Ap

ril
 2

00
5,

 D
ow

ns
tre

am
 fa

ce
 o

f E
uc

lid
 A

ve
. C

r..
.

C
ul

ve
rt 

ID
 C

3 
- E

uc
lid

 A
ve

nu
e

D
ow

ns
tre

am
 fa

ce
 o

f A
ur

or
a 

C
ro

ss
in

g
C

ul
ve

rt 
ID

 C
2 

- A
ur

or
a 

Av
e 

- E
xi

st
in

g

D
ow

ns
tre

am
 fa

ce
 o

f W
illo

w
br

oo
k 

R
oa

d 
C

ro
ss

in
g

C
ul

ve
rt 

ID
 C

1 
- W

illo
w

br
oo

k 
R

oa
d 

- E
xi

st
in

g

D
ow

ns
tre

am
 fa

ce
 o

f P
riv

at
e 

D
riv

e 
cr

os
si

ng
 - 

w
es

t s
id

e 
of

 W
illo

w
br

oo
k 

R
d.

m
ai

n 
ch

an
ne

l o
f s

ec
tio

n 
up

da
te

d 
w

ith
 fi

el
d 

su
rv

ey
 d

at
ed

 9
/1

1/
09

.
C

ha
nn

el
 S

ur
ve

ye
d 

Ap
ril

 2
00

5,
 D

ow
ns

tre
am

 fa
ce

 o
f c

ul
-d

e-
sa

c 
N

E 
of

 W
illo

w
br

oo
k 

R
oa

d

C
ha

nn
el

 S
ur

ve
ye

d 
Ap

ril
 2

00
5

D
ow

ns
tre

am
 fa

ce
 o

f P
riv

at
e 

D
riv

e 
cr

os
si

ng
 a

t O
ld

 B
as

el
in

e 
R

oa
d

D
ow

ns
tre

am
 fa

ce
 o

f F
la

gs
ta

ff 
R

oa
d 

C
ro

ss
in

g

R
eg

ul
at

or
y 

se
ct

io
n 

60
0 

co
nv

er
te

d 
fro

m
 N

G
VD

29
 to

 N
AV

D
88

 b
y 

ad
di

ng
 3

.2
-ft

.

RIVER-1 Reach-1

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 112Packet Page 548



U
D

FC
D

 (S
ec

tio
ns

 4
.4

.2
.3

 a
nd

 4
.1

.6
.1

 P
g 

M
D-

63
 a

nd
 M

D-
47

, E
qn

s 
M

D-
13

 a
nd

 M
D-

10
 a

nd
 T

ab
le

 M
D-

10
)

V 
Ad

ju
st

ed
 If

 A
pp

lic

RI
PR

AP
 T

O
 

US
E

(c
fs

)
%

(ft
)

(ft
/s

)
(ft

)
XH

:1
V

(d
eg

)
(ft

)
(ft

/s
)

(ft
/s

)
(ft

/s
)

(ft
)

(ft
)

Ex
is

tin
g

60
0

40
0

11
%

3.
48

8.
48

0.
97

24
.1

7
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
8.

48
18

.4
5

8.
48

0.
98

M
0.

98
M

Ex
is

tin
g

59
0

40
0

1%
14

.8
6

1.
09

0.
05

10
3.

66
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
1.

09
2.

37
1.

09
0.

01
VL

0.
01

VL
Ex

is
tin

g
58

0
40

0
8%

5.
14

12
.7

5
0.

99
23

.8
6

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

12
.7

5
27

.7
4

12
.7

5
2.

02
G

ro
ut

ed
2.

02
G

ro
ut

ed
Ex

is
tin

g
56

0
40

0
4%

8.
02

3.
66

0.
26

10
6.

85
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
3.

66
7.

96
3.

66
0.

13
VL

0.
13

VL
Ex

is
tin

g
55

0
40

0
8%

4.
51

9.
12

0.
85

31
.7

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

9.
12

19
.8

5
9.

12
1.

03
H

1.
03

H
Ex

is
tin

g
54

0
40

0
8%

4.
77

8.
57

1
30

.3
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
8.

57
18

.6
5

8.
57

0.
89

M
0.

89
M

Ex
is

tin
g

53
0

40
0

7%
4.

95
8.

57
1

20
.5

4
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
8.

57
18

.6
5

8.
57

0.
87

M
0.

87
M

Ex
is

tin
g

52
0

40
0

6%
11

.3
7

3.
77

0.
21

13
4.

61
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
3.

77
8.

20
3.

77
0.

15
VL

0.
15

VL
Ex

is
tin

g
51

0
40

0
11

%
6.

82
14

.6
7

0.
99

39
.6

2
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
14

.6
7

31
.9

2
14

.6
7

2.
93

G
ro

ut
ed

2.
93

G
ro

ut
ed

Ex
is

tin
g

50
8

40
0

5%
4.

4
7.

35
1

32
.4

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

7.
35

15
.9

9
7.

35
0.

54
L

0.
54

L
Ex

is
tin

g
50

7
40

0
5%

3.
78

7.
41

1.
01

33
.5

3
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
7.

41
16

.1
2

7.
41

0.
56

L
0.

56
L

Ex
is

tin
g

50
5

40
0

7%
3.

76
7.

03
0.

95
46

.9
5

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

7.
03

15
.3

0
7.

03
0.

57
L

0.
57

L
Ex

is
tin

g
50

0
40

0
0%

8.
73

3.
71

0.
22

76
.2

6
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
3.

71
8.

07
3.

71
0.

00
VL

0.
00

VL
Ex

is
tin

g
49

0
40

0
11

%
3.

7
10

.8
1

0.
99

10
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
10

.8
1

23
.5

2
10

.8
1

1.
58

VH
1.

58
VH

Ex
is

tin
g

47
0

40
0

3%
11

.4
6

2.
05

0.
11

58
.9

5
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
2.

05
4.

46
2.

05
0.

04
VL

0.
04

VL
Ex

is
tin

g
46

0
40

0
7%

3.
97

11
.1

9
0.

99
14

.5
6

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

11
.1

9
24

.3
5

11
.1

9
1.

45
H

1.
45

H
Ex

is
tin

g
45

5
49

5
7%

4.
81

8.
91

1
22

.5
8

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

8.
91

19
.3

9
8.

91
0.

94
M

0.
94

M
Ex

is
tin

g
45

0
49

5
4%

5.
17

9.
02

0.
99

21
.2

3
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
9.

02
19

.6
3

9.
02

0.
81

M
0.

81
M

Ex
is

tin
g

44
0

49
5

5%
3.

93
8.

12
1.

01
30

.1
2

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

8.
12

17
.6

7
8.

12
0.

68
L

0.
68

L
Ex

is
tin

g
43

6
49

5
12

%
3.

08
8.

12
0.

95
68

.3
3

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

8.
12

17
.6

7
8.

12
0.

92
M

0.
92

M
Ex

is
tin

g
43

1
49

5
3%

4.
77

6.
49

0.
52

19
.3

3
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
6.

49
14

.1
2

6.
49

0.
37

VL
0.

37
VL

Ex
is

tin
g

42
0

49
5

20
%

3.
11

9.
94

0.
99

20
.4

5
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
9.

94
21

.6
3

9.
94

1.
66

VH
1.

66
VH

Ex
is

tin
g

41
0

49
5

3%
3.

78
5.

29
0.

48
33

.1
8

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

5.
29

11
.5

1
5.

29
0.

24
VL

0.
24

VL
Ex

is
tin

g
40

0
49

5
0%

2.
77

4.
25

0.
48

54
.9

4
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
4.

25
9.

25
4.

25
0.

05
VL

0.
05

VL
Ex

is
tin

g
39

8
49

5
9%

1.
55

8.
33

1.
46

67
.0

5
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
8.

33
18

.1
3

8.
33

0.
88

M
0.

88
M

Ex
is

tin
g

39
5

49
5

4%
3.

75
7.

65
1.

01
36

.0
3

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

7.
65

16
.6

5
7.

65
0.

55
L

0.
55

L
Ex

is
tin

g
39

0
49

5
4%

3.
71

7.
02

0.
88

85
.2

5
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
7.

02
15

.2
8

7.
02

0.
46

VL
0.

46
VL

Ex
is

tin
g

38
9

49
5

6%
3.

05
7.

79
1.

05
84

.9
9

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

7.
79

16
.9

5
7.

79
0.

66
L

0.
66

L
Ex

is
tin

g
38

5
49

5
7%

2.
98

8.
03

1.
16

11
0.

19
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
8.

03
17

.4
7

8.
03

0.
77

M
0.

77
M

M
38

3
49

5
15

%
2.

39
8.

17
0.

99
38

.6
3

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

8.
17

17
.7

8
8.

17
1.

00
H

1.
00

H
D

ro
p

38
2

49
5

0%
4.

3
9.

4
1.

01
19

.4
7

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

9.
40

20
.4

5
9.

40
0.

00
VL

0.
00

VL
D

ro
p

38
1

49
5

26
%

3.
98

9.
17

1
20

.8
5

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

9.
17

19
.9

5
9.

17
1.

53
VH

1.
53

VH
D

ro
p

38
0

49
5

0%
3.

99
9

0.
99

21
.4

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

9.
00

19
.5

8
9.

00
0.

23
VL

0.
23

VL
C

ul
ve

rt
37

0
49

5
11

%
2.

67
8.

75
0.

99
50

.1
6

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

8.
75

19
.0

4
8.

75
1.

04
H

1.
04

H
H

Ex
is

tin
g

36
0

49
5

5%
4.

08
8.

54
1

25
.7

6
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
8.

54
18

.5
8

8.
54

0.
75

L
0.

75
L

Ex
is

tin
g

35
2

49
5

2%
4.

04
8.

63
0.

87
33

.2
6

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

8.
63

18
.7

8
8.

63
0.

59
L

0.
59

L
Ex

is
tin

g
35

1
49

5
8%

3.
74

8.
16

1
29

.3
3

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

8.
16

17
.7

6
8.

16
0.

82
M

0.
82

M
Ex

is
tin

g
35

0
49

5
6%

3.
98

8.
71

1
24

.2
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
8.

71
18

.9
5

8.
71

0.
86

M
0.

86
M

Ex
is

tin
g

34
2

49
5

4%
4.

48
8.

73
0.

92
33

.4
1

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

8.
73

19
.0

0
8.

73
0.

71
L

0.
71

L
Ex

is
tin

g
34

0
49

5
7%

4.
03

8.
9

1
22

.7
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
8.

90
19

.3
7

8.
90

0.
92

M
0.

92
M

Ex
is

tin
g

33
4

49
5

4%
4.

09
9.

02
1.

01
22

.2
2

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

9.
02

19
.6

3
9.

02
0.

78
M

0.
78

M
Ex

is
tin

g
33

0
49

5
1%

5.
15

6.
55

0.
51

28
.7

4
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
6.

55
14

.2
5

6.
55

0.
25

VL
0.

25
VL

Ex
is

tin
g

31
8

60
0

6%
3.

77
10

.9
0.

99
40

.1
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
10

.9
0

23
.7

2
10

.9
0

1.
32

H
1.

32
H

Ex
is

tin
g

30
4

60
0

0%
5.

21
2.

91
0.

26
75

.7
5

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

2.
91

6.
33

2.
91

0.
00

VL
0.

00
VL

Ex
is

tin
g

30
2

60
0

6%
3.

02
7.

55
0.

88
71

.8
3

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

7.
55

16
.4

3
7.

55
0.

65
L

0.
65

L
Ex

is
tin

g
30

1
60

0
4%

2.
94

8.
44

1
32

.4
6

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

8.
44

18
.3

7
8.

44
0.

71
L

0.
71

L
Ex

is
tin

g
30

0
60

0
6%

3.
34

6.
62

0.
87

11
1.

08
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
6.

62
14

.4
1

6.
62

0.
49

VL
0.

49
VL

Ex
is

tin
g

29
5

60
0

3%
3.

36
6.

4
0.

89
10

9.
08

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

6.
40

13
.9

3
6.

40
0.

37
VL

0.
37

VL
Ex

is
tin

g
29

1
60

0
15

%
2.

85
6.

98
0.

86
11

8.
87

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

6.
98

15
.1

9
6.

98
0.

73
L

0.
73

L
D

ro
p

29
0.

5
60

0
12

%
5.

54
8.

32
0.

72
13

6.
53

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

8.
32

18
.1

0
8.

32
0.

96
M

0.
96

M
M

28
7

60
0

0%
8.

21
5.

24
0.

4
16

2.
11

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

5.
24

11
.4

0
5.

24
0.

00
VL

0.
00

VL
M

28
3

60
0

59
%

4.
82

8.
78

0.
94

50
.1

6
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
8.

78
19

.1
1

8.
78

1.
86

VH
1.

86
VH

D
ro

p
28

2
60

0
2%

4.
2

10
.4

1.
01

17
.3

5
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
10

.4
0

22
.6

3
10

.4
0

0.
79

M
0.

79
M

M
27

8
60

0
17

%
2.

65
7.

3
1.

01
50

.4
8

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

7.
30

15
.8

8
7.

30
0.

84
M

0.
84

M
D

ro
p

27
6

60
0

0%
3.

81
6.

74
0.

75
35

.7
5

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

6.
74

14
.6

7
6.

74
0.

00
VL

0.
00

VL
M

27
4

60
0

15
%

2.
96

8.
5

1.
01

31
.9

3
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
8.

50
18

.5
0

8.
50

1.
10

H
1.

10
H

D
ro

p
27

2
60

0
0%

5.
14

6.
07

0.
48

20
.1

1
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
6.

07
13

.2
1

6.
07

0.
00

VL
0.

00
VL

M
27

1
60

0
6%

4.
85

7.
14

0.
58

17
.9

7
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
7.

14
15

.5
4

7.
14

0.
57

L
0.

57
L

C
ul

ve
rt

25
0

60
0

1%
5.

02
9.

46
0.

8
20

.4
9

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

9.
46

20
.5

8
9.

46
0.

56
L

0.
56

L
M

23
1

60
0

15
%

4.
42

11
.0

7
1

14
.3

4
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
11

.0
7

24
.0

9
11

.0
7

1.
87

VH
1.

87
VH

D
ro

p
23

0
60

0
2%

4.
61

6.
72

0.
56

20
.2

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

6.
72

14
.6

2
6.

72
0.

33
VL

0.
33

VL
C

ul
ve

rt
22

0
60

0
2%

3.
35

10
.2

6
1

17
.7

5
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
10

.2
6

22
.3

3
10

.2
6

0.
86

M
0.

86
M

M
21

9
60

0
5%

3.
9

8.
85

0.
94

57
.3

5
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
8.

85
19

.2
6

8.
85

0.
83

M
0.

83
M

M
Ex

is
tin

g
20

0
60

0
3%

4.
25

8.
17

1
35

.6
9

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

8.
17

17
.7

8
8.

17
0.

55
L

0.
55

L
19

7
60

0
0%

4.
02

9.
01

1
26

.5
6

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

9.
01

19
.6

1
9.

01
0.

00
VL

0.
00

VL
D

ro
p

19
5

60
0

20
%

3.
65

9.
61

1.
01

22
.0

7
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
9.

61
20

.9
1

9.
61

1.
54

VH
1.

54
VH

D
ro

p
19

4
60

0
0%

5.
01

9.
02

0.
79

16
.6

2
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
9.

02
19

.6
3

9.
02

0.
00

VL
0.

00
VL

D
ro

p
19

3
60

0
17

%
4.

26
10

.4
1

1.
01

17
.4

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

10
.4

1
22

.6
5

10
.4

1
1.

72
VH

1.
72

VH
D

ro
p

19
1

60
0

0%
5.

07
6.

77
0.

56
19

.4
2

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

6.
77

14
.7

3
6.

77
0.

00
VL

0.
00

VL
D

ro
p

19
0.

5
60

0
2%

5.
09

6.
27

0.
5

19
.5

7
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
6.

27
13

.6
4

6.
27

0.
32

VL
0.

32
VL

C
ul

ve
rt

18
0

67
3

23
%

3.
4

10
.4

2
1

19
.8

1
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
10

.4
2

22
.6

7
10

.4
2

1.
91

VH
1.

91
VH

H
17

7
67

3
1%

4.
76

11
.4

4
1.

01
14

.6
1

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

11
.4

4
24

.8
9

11
.4

4
0.

89
M

0.
89

M
M

17
5

67
3

2%
4.

77
11

.4
2

1.
01

14
.7

3
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
11

.4
2

24
.8

5
11

.4
2

0.
99

M
0.

99
M

D
ro

p
17

3
67

3
13

%
4.

93
10

.8
1

0.
94

32
.5

1
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
10

.8
1

23
.5

2
10

.8
1

1.
67

VH
1.

67
VH

D
ro

p
17

2
67

3
5%

3.
97

10
.7

3
1.

01
17

.7
8

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

10
.7

3
23

.3
5

10
.7

3
1.

21
H

1.
21

H
H

17
1

67
3

3%
5.

51
6.

43
0.

48
25

.1
8

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

6.
43

13
.9

9
6.

43
0.

38
VL

0.
38

VL
C

ul
ve

rt
16

1
67

3
8%

3.
43

10
.3

6
0.

99
22

.7
3

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

10
.3

6
22

.5
4

10
.3

6
1.

31
H

1.
31

H
D

ro
p

15
5

67
3

1%
5.

49
9.

11
0.

78
17

.3
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
9.

11
19

.8
2

9.
11

0.
56

L
0.

56
L

M
15

2
67

3
3%

4.
78

11
.4

6
1.

01
14

.5
5

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

11
.4

6
24

.9
4

11
.4

6
1.

17
H

1.
17

H
H

15
1

67
3

9%
4.

77
11

.4
6

1.
01

14
.5

8
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
11

.4
6

24
.9

4
11

.4
6

1.
67

VH
1.

67
VH

D
ro

p
15

0
67

3
0%

6.
26

8.
67

0.
68

15
.2

5
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
8.

67
18

.8
7

8.
67

0.
00

VL
0.

00
VL

D
ro

p
13

0
67

3
1%

4.
94

11
.5

3
0.

99
13

.8
7

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

11
.5

3
25

.0
9

11
.5

3
0.

83
M

0.
83

M
C

ul
ve

rt
12

0
67

3
0%

3.
96

8.
13

0.
73

22
.0

3
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
8.

13
17

.6
9

8.
13

0.
00

VL
0.

00
VL

M
11

7
67

3
39

%
3.

29
9.

88
1

22
.5

8
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
9.

88
21

.5
0

9.
88

2.
05

G
ro

ut
ed

2.
05

G
ro

ut
ed

D
ro

p
11

3
67

3
2%

4.
71

11
.2

7
1

15
.1

9
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
11

.2
7

24
.5

2
11

.2
7

1.
04

H
1.

04
H

D
ro

p
11

0
67

3
1%

5.
45

8.
03

0.
86

44
.7

5
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
8.

03
17

.4
7

8.
03

0.
33

VL
0.

33
VL

M
10

8
67

3
13

%
5.

02
9.

48
0.

82
72

.4
4

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

9.
48

20
.6

3
9.

48
1.

29
H

1.
29

H
D

ro
p

10
6

67
3

3%
4.

73
11

.2
7

1
15

.2
3

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

11
.2

7
24

.5
2

11
.2

7
1.

15
H

1.
15

H
D

ro
p

10
4

67
3

13
%

4.
76

11
.3

2
1

15
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
11

.3
2

24
.6

3
11

.3
2

1.
83

VH
1.

83
VH

D
ro

p
10

2
67

3
0%

5.
99

5.
23

0.
38

22
.2

7
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
5.

23
11

.3
8

5.
23

0.
00

VL
0.

00
VL

D
ro

p
10

0
67

3
3%

5.
94

5.
39

0.
4

22
.0

7
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
5.

39
11

.7
3

5.
39

0.
26

VL
0.

26
VL

C
ul

ve
rt

91
67

3
1%

5.
92

5.
95

0.
44

19
.9

9
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
5.

95
12

.9
5

5.
95

0.
22

VL
0.

22
VL

M
70

67
3

11
%

4.
65

10
.6

3
1.

01
18

.2
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
10

.6
3

23
.1

3
10

.6
3

1.
56

VH
1.

56
VH

D
ro

p
65

67
3

2%
4.

81
11

.4
6

1
14

.4
1

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

11
.4

6
24

.9
4

11
.4

6
0.

97
M

0.
97

M
M

60
67

3
0%

5.
2

5.
71

0.
44

25
.6

1
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
5.

71
12

.4
2

5.
71

0.
15

VL
0.

15
VL

C
ul

ve
rt

51
67

3
4%

4.
21

7.
05

0.
61

56
.3

9
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
7.

05
15

.3
4

7.
05

0.
49

VL
0.

49
VL

M
45

67
2.

32
5%

5.
03

9.
51

1.
02

26
.1

6
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
9.

51
20

.6
9

9.
51

0.
94

M
0.

94
M

M
40

67
2.

32
0%

3.
01

7.
32

0.
75

31
.0

2
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
7.

32
15

.9
3

7.
32

0.
00

VL
0.

00
VL

C
ul

ve
rt

30
67

2.
32

7%
2.

38
8.

38
1.

01
37

.4
6

1
2.

5
39

.5
0

0.
00

8.
38

18
.2

3
8.

38
0.

82
M

0.
82

M
M

10
67

2.
32

2%
3.

42
9

0.
99

32
.8

2
1

2.
5

39
.5

0
0.

00
9.

00
19

.5
8

9.
00

0.
56

L
0.

56
L

M
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Ri
pr

ap
 T

yp
e

R c
/T

Ch
an

ne
l 

Ve
lo

ci
ty

Ad
ju

st
ed

 
Ve

lo
ci

ty
(M

D-
10

)

Ve
lo

ci
ty

 
U

se
d 

3

UD
FC

D
D5

0
(M

D-
13

)

Ri
pr

ap
 

Ty
pe

UD
FC

D
D5

0
(M

D-
13

)

Be
nd

 
Ra

di
us

 
(0

 if
 N

/A
)

Lo
ca

tio
n

Ri
ve

r S
ta

tio
n

Q
 T

ot
al

Ch
an

ne
l 

Sl
op

e
De

pt
h

Ch
an

ne
l 

Ve
lo

ci
ty

Fr
ou

de
 

Nu
m

be
r 1

Ch
an

ne
l 

To
p 

W
id

th

Ba
nk

 
Sl

op
e

Sp
ec

 
G

ra
vi

ty
(2

.5
 m

in
)

Ri
pr

ap
 

An
gl

e 
of

 
R

ep
os

e 
2

R
ip

ra
p 

Si
zi

ng

UD
FC

D 
Re

su
lts

IN
SI

DE
 B

EN
D

O
UT

SI
DE

 B
EN

D
Re

qu
ire

d 
In

pu
t

UD
FC

D 
Ca

lc
ul

at
io

ns
V 

No
t A

dj
us

te
d

Ba
nk

_R
ip

ra
p_

Si
zi

ng
V2

R
ip

ra
p 

Si
zi

ng
10

/2
3/

20
15

, 1
2:

57
 P

M

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 113Packet Page 549



 G:\498924_GREGORY_CREEK\03_GIS\MAPFILES\2015.10.23 GCC - MP_FP.MXD  MG016351 2015.10.23 11:45:56 AM

VICINITY MAP

91
20

90
0

54
0

600

990

53
0

580

398

30
2

30
4

46
0

47
0

34
0

51
0

960

903

39
0 385

29
5

287
23

0

31
8

20
0

44
045

0

35
1

30
0

41
0

40
0

36
0

60

91

21
9

10
6

3012
0

15
2

27
1

25
0

17
5

19
1

16
1

17
319
05

Ba
se

lin
e 

R
d

Pearl St

Kinnikinic Rd

C
anyon Bv

Pe
nn

sy
lv

an
ia

 A
v

6th St

3rd St

9th St

11th St

9th St

10th St

Eu
cl

id
 A

v

C
hr

is
tm

as
Tr

ee
Dr

Lincoln Pl

H
ap

go
od

 S
t

10th St

8th St

7th St

Beacon C
t

Gilbert St

Rose Hill Dr

5th St

4th St

Jay St

G
aillardia Ln

Dean

Pl

Park Ln

Marshall St

Lincoln Pl

10th St

G
en

ev
a

Av
7th St

Broadway

Gregory Ln

Gregory Canyon Rd

6th St

8th St

Ar
ap

ah
oe

 A
v

C
as

ca
de

 A
v

Au
ro

ra
 A

v

Eu
cl

id
 A

v

G
randview

 Av

C
ol

le
ge

 A
v

Pl
ea

sa
nt

 S
t

U
ni

ve
rs

ity
 A

v

Arapahoe Av

M
ar

in
e 

St

Flagstaff Rd

Circle Dr

Stream
side Ln

Willowbrook Rd

C
lem

at is
D

r

5th St

Boulder Creek

Gregory Creek

Sunshine Creek

An
der

son
Ditch

Farmers Ditch

LEGEND
Proposed Masterplan 100-year Floodplain
City 100 Year Floodplain
Structures Adjacent to the Floodplain
Cross Section
Creeks and Streams
City Limits

$

FIGURE 1
Proposed Master Plan100-YR Floodplain
Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation

0 600300 Feet

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 114Packet Page 550



 

 

 

Appendix C 
Updated Cost 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 115Packet Page 551



Reach Description
Culvert / Bridge 
Improvements Channel Improvements

Utility 
Relocation Landscaping

Engineering / 
Contingency Total

R ‐ 1 Install private bridge 96,525.00$                 Included with Bridge Cost 6,176.25$         27,000.00$  119,201.25$      248,902.50$        
R ‐ 2 Culvert improvements at Arapahoe Avenue and associated channel improvements 180,933.50$             Included with Culvert Cost 11,691.25$     52,890.65$ 225,641.25$      471,156.65$       

R ‐ 3
Culvert improvements at Alley Way and upstream and downstream drop structures / channel 
improvements 616,969.00$              190,461.00$                            52,811.50$      38,800.00$  826,264.50$      1,725,306.00$     

R ‐ 4
Culvert improvements at Marine Street and upstream drop structures / channel 
improvements 183,903.20$              319,960.98$                            26,438.20$      24,900.00$  510,256.40$      1,065,458.78$     

R ‐ 5 Culvert improvements at 8th Street and upstream channel improvements 374,322.20$             331,133.00$                           47,557.75$     35,700.00$ 724,864.75$      1,513,577.70$    
R ‐ 6 University Channel Improvements and upstream drop structures / channel improvements 257,765.20$             209,548.00$                           40,275.00$     57,100.00$ 584,309.00$      1,148,997.20$    
R ‐ 7 Culvert improvements at Pleasant Street and associated channel improvements 131,316.00$             89,446.00$                             22,105.60$     11,350.00$ 233,639.00$      487,856.60$       

R ‐ 8
Culvert improvements at 7th Street, upstream drop structures and downstream channel 
improvements 447,235.40$              341,546.96$                            51,849.00$      38,200.00$  807,687.20$      1,686,518.56$     

R ‐ 9 Pedestrian bridge crossing and drop structure improvements 125,654.20$             88,052.00$                             11,215.30$     10,600.00$ 216,455.50$      451,977.00$       
R ‐ 10 Culvert improvements at College Avenue and upstream drop structure 148,010.50$             80,711.00$                             22,546.00$     12,150.00$ 242,092.80$      505,510.30$       
R ‐ 11 Culvert improvements at Euclid Avenue and upstream drop structures 116,804.40$             165,915.00$                           25,360.95$     14,500.00$ 296,466.75$      619,047.10$       
Other Pipe Anderson Ditch to the east of 7th Street 23,450.00$                             1,172.50$   18,760.00$        43,382.50$         
Other Sediment Traps Upstream of Willowbrook Road (C‐1) 46,527.00$                             2,326.35$   37,221.60$        86,074.95$         

Total:  9,924,308.39$   

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 116Packet Page 552



 APPENDIX D

REACH INVENTORIES, PROJECTS AND OPPORTUNITIES 

 

 

  
Stream: 
Reach: 
Location: 

Gregory Canyon Creek
1 (GRC 05, 06, 07, 08, 09, 10) 
Boulder Creek to College Avenue 

Habitat conditions: 
 Vegetation structure: 

Native plant habitat: 
Bird habitat: 
Aquatic habitat: 

Excellent to good 
Poor 
Poor to very poor 
Fair to poor 

  Primary (streambed): 
Secondary (channel morphology): 
Tertiary (bank stabilization): 
Vegetative bank stability: 

Fair to poor 
Poor 
Fair 
Fair 

Other conditions: 
� Creek runs through residential yards 
� Creek is narrow and channelized 
� Most of reach is deeply entrenched with vertical walls 

Opportunities: 
 Flood Management: 

� Significant split flows occur at University Avenue and Marine Street causing 
several properties to be added to the floodplain. 

� Arapahoe Avenue, Marine Street, 8th Street, University Street, Pleasant Street, 
Pennsylvania Avenue and College Avenue are all overtopped by 100-year 
discharge. 

� Channel is small, incised and located on private property 
� Acquire properties in the High Hazard Zone according to the city’s pre-flood 

acquisition program. 
� Outreach to adjacent neighborhoods to raise awareness of flood hazards 

Habitat protection: 
� Low priority for restoration due to location in residential yards 
� Homeowner education to improve conditions for native species coupled with an 

incentive program or technical assistance 
� Revegetation / re-channelization downstream of University Avenue 

 
Water quality: 

� Develop and implement stream habitat improvement matching grant program for 
adjacent properties 

� Educate adjacent neighborhoods to encourage backyard management to protect 
habitat, wetlands and enhance water quality 

 
 

 APPENDIX D

REACH INVENTORIES, PROJECTS AND OPPORTUNITIES 

 

 

 
Stream: 
Reach: 
Location: 

Gregory Canyon Creek
2 (GRC 01, 02, 03) 
College Avenue to city limits 

Habitat conditions: 
 Vegetation structure: 

Native plant habitat: 
Bird habitat: 
Aquatic habitat: 

Very good 
Good 
Very good to good 
Fair to poor 

  Primary (streambed): 
Secondary (channel morphology): 
Tertiary (bank stabilization): 
Vegetative bank stability: 

Fair to poor 
Fair to poor 
Excellent to poor 
Excellent to poor 

Other conditions: 
� Creek runs through residential yards 
� Creek is narrow and channelized 
� Dyer’s Woad occurrence in Smith Park 

 
Opportunities: 
 Flood management: 

� Flagstaff Road, Willowbrook Road, Aurora Avenue and Euclid Avenue are 
overtopped by 100-year discharge. 

� 100-year floodplain has less split flow and is located in proximity to the channel in 
this reach. 

� There are a few structures in this reach that are highly impacted by the High 
Hazard Zone.  Acquire properties in the High Hazard Zone according to the city’s 
pre-flood acquisition program. 

� Outreach to adjacent neighborhoods to raise awareness of flood hazards 

Habitat protection: 
� Landowner and homeowner education about the threat of exotic ornamentals 

(Brunnera, Vinca minor, Vinca major) 
� Russian Olive removal 
� Eradicate Dyer’s Woad occurrence in Smith Park 
� Some planting of native cotton woods might restore the balance of species 

composition 
 
Water quality: 

� Develop and implement stream habitat improvement matching grant program for 
adjacent properties 

� Educate adjacent neighborhoods to encourage backyard management to protect 
habitat, wetlands and enhance water quality 

 
 

 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 117Packet Page 553

knapk1
Typewritten Text



Wetland Evaluation Wetland #: 40502 Former #: 14 T_R_S: T1NR71WS36

Investigator: A. Carpenter, C. Browne Date of Visit: 7/2/2004 Obs. Method: Viewed from property boundary
General Location: Gregory Creek east of Mountain Parks and south of Boulder Creek

D
Boulder Creek. Characterized by generally narrow active channel with fairly steep gradient. Precipitation in foothills to the west

escription: Steep, rocky intermittent stream  that flows  northward along eastern edge of a Pierre shale bedrock formation, draining into 

 supports seasonal flows in creek. (Includes tributary to Gregory Creek which flows in from the west along the north edge of 
Smith Park, between Aurora and Euclid Streets.)

Wetland Origin: Natural Primary Water Source: Creek
Hydroperiod: Intermittently flooded Max WaterDepth (ft): 1.5
Major plant communities present % of wetland area % Vegetated: 90
narrow leaf cottonwood/ mixe  herbacous 35 % Bare ground: 5d
urban tree/ mixed herbacous 60  % Water: 5
open water 5

FUNCTION  AND VALUE ASSESSMENT
Ratings: 5 = very high, 4 = high, 3 = medium, 2 = low, 1 = no Confidence in rating: c = high, b = medium, a = low
Groundwater 1 b Geohydrologic map indicates groundwater recharge or discharge are possible. Effectiveness of the 
recharge
Recharge function is limited by impermeable bedrock near surface, narrow channel, and intermittentflows. Uncertain 

eth
extent to which infiltration into fractures recharges water in deeper formations.

Groundwater 2 b Local discharge of rainwater infiltration into creek likely but the thin overburden limits opportunity.
Discharge 

Flood Storage / 2 b Rough streambed slows flows somewhat and small pools in lower section offer minor storage benefits.
Floodflow Alteration 

Shoreline Anchor. / 3 b Fairly dense understory and tree cover along banks, though rocks are significant factor in erosion control.
Stabilization 

Sediment Trapping / 2 b High velocity flows likely to transport sediments through the system, though small pockets of short 
residence
Retention sediments were observed in pockets along the bank and in pools.

Nutrient Retention 2 b Abundance of trees and understory
(long-term) 

Nutrient Retention 2 b
(short-term) 

Food Chain Support 3 b Good supply of leaf litter from overhanging vegetation and good export flows. Grates and control structures 
may 
(export) trap some of larger material.

Food Chain Support 3 b
(within basin) 

Fish Habitat / Aquatic 1 b
Diversity 

Wildlife 3 b deer observed and diversity of trees and understory offers food and shelter, but narrow buffer reduces 
Habitat effectiveness

Active 1 b
Recreation

Passive Rec /  3 b
Heritage Value 

C
(access to the creek was generally limited to where it intersected with city streets)

omments: Gregory Creek runs though residential back yards starting at edge of Mountain Parks and flows north to Boulder Creek 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 118Packet Page 554



5155

P
P
-5

0 200 400 600

Scale In Feet

N

A B
SECTION
SCALE

100-S-3001

DESIGNATION

DETAIL (NUMERAL)

SECTION (LETTER) OR

ON SAME SHEET)

IF TAKEN AND SHOWN

(REPLACED WITH A LINE

DRAWING NUMBER

IS SHOWN:

ON DRAWING WHERE SECTION

DRAWING NUMBER(S)

WHERE TAKEN

PP-1

PP-2

PP-3

PP-4

      

      

      

 

      

      

GC05-C-G001.dgn

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

M
 G

A
R

D
N

E
R

G-1

B
 S

C
H

A
F

R
O

T
H

498924

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC
 D

E
S
IG

N

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

K
E

Y
 M

A
P
 A

N
D
 L

E
G

E
N

D

G
R

E
G

O
R

Y
 C

A
N

Y
O

N
 C

R
E

E
K
  

M
A

S
T

E
R
 P

L
A

N

BB

EXTENDS THROUGHOUT ENTIRE SHEET

IS ON ANOTHER SHEET AND CUT

SECTION CALLOUT WHERE SECTION

C-1 C-1

CHANNEL CENTERLINE

10+00

VERTICAL WALLS

CONTOUR LINE5155

EASEMENTS

PROPERTY LINE

HIGH HAZARD

FLOODPLAIN 100-YR 

DRAINAGEWAY OR DITCH

EXST STORMDRAIN

EXST WATER LINE

EXST CULVERT

EXST SANITARY SEWER

CIVIL LEGEND

U
N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y
   A

V
E

F
L

A
G

S
T

A
F
F
 R

O
A

D
CULVERT C13

CULVERT C12

CULVERT C11

CULVERT C8

CULVERT C9

CULVERT 6B

CULVERT C6

CULVERT C1

CULVERT C1-A

CULVERT C3

CULVERT C4

CULVERT C10

KEY MAP

CULVERT C7

CULVERT C2

SECTION / DETAIL DESIGNATIONS

PP-X

DRAWING NUMBER

CORNER DWG

LOWER LEFT

SHEET LIMITS KEY

POTENTIAL 10’ ACCESS

BRIDGE C-5

0+00
1+00 2+00

3+00 4+00 5+00 6+00 7+0
0

8+00
9+00

10+00

11+00

12+
00 13+00

14+00 15+00 16+00

1
7
+
0
0

18+00

19+00

20+00

21+00

22+00

23+00

24+00

25+00

26+00
27+00

28+00

29+00

30+00
31+00

32+00

33+00
34+00

35+00 36+00
37

+0
0

38
+0

0

39+00 40+00

41+
00

42+00
43+00

4
4
+
0
0

4
5
+
0
0

46+00

47+00

48+00

49+00

50+00 51+00

5
2
+
0
0

53+00

54+
00

5
5
+
0
0

5
6
+
0
0

5
7
+
0
0

58+00

59+00

60+00

61+00

62+0
0

63+00

6
4
+
0
0

2
3
+
0
0

FILENAME: PLOT DATE: PLOT TIME:2015\11\06 5:57:12 AM

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 2

0
1
3
. 
 A

L
L
 R
IG

H
T
S
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

D
.

T
H
IS
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
, 

A
N

D
 T

H
E
 I

D
E

A
S
 A

N
D
 D

E
S
IG

N
S
 I

N
C

O
R

P
O

R
A

T
E

D
 H

E
R

E
IN
, 

A
S
 A

N
 I

N
S

T
R

U
M

E
N

T
 O

F
 P

R
O

F
E

S
S
IO

N
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
, 
IS
 T

H
E
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 O

F
R

E
U

S
E
 O

F
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
S
:

1 2 3 4 5 6

B

C

D

VERIFY SCALE

BAR IS ONE INCH ON

ORIGINAL DRAWING.

1"0

c

PROJ

DATE

D
A

T
E

N
O
.

D
S

G
N

D
R

R
E

V
IS
IO

N

C
H

K

A
P

V
D

B
Y

A
P

V
D

SHEET

DWG

A

of

$PWPATH

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 A

N
D
 I
S
 N

O
T
 T

O
 B

E
 U

S
E

D
, 
IN
 W

H
O

L
E
 O

R
 I

N
 P

A
R

T
, 
F

O
R
 A

N
Y
 O

T
H

E
R
 P

R
O
J
E

C
T
 W

IT
H

O
U

T
 T

H
E
 W

R
IT

T
E

N
 A

U
T

H
O

R
IZ

A
T
IO

N
 O

F
 C

H
2

M
 H
IL

L
.

$PWURL

      

      

      

      

      

E
N

G
L
E

W
O

O
D
, 

C
O
 8

0
1
1
2

C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

N
O

T
 F

O
R
 

P
R

E
L
IM

IN
A

R
Y
 

9
1
9
3
 S

O
U

T
H
 J

A
M

A
C
IA
 S

T

OCTOBER 2015

B
O

U
L

D
E

R
 C

R
E

E
K

A
R

A
P

A
H

O
E

A
V

E

5375

9TH S
T

5385

5390

5395

5395

M
A

R
IN

E
 S

T

5400

5410

5410

8TH S
T

5
4
3
5

P
L
E

A
S

A
N

T
   S

T

5455

P
E

N
N

S
Y

L
V

A
N
IA
 A

V
E G
E

N
E

V
A
 A

V
E

6TH STREET

C
O

L
L
E

G
E
 A

V
E

R
O

S
E

E
U

C
L
ID
 A

V
E

A
U

R
O

R
A
 A

V
E

6TH STREET

WILLOWBROOK ROAD

G
R
E
G

O
R

Y
 LA

N
E

7TH STREET

DRIVE

H
IL

L

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 119Packet Page 555



5
3
6
0

5
3
6
3

5
3
6
4

5
3
6
7

5
3
7
9

5
3
8
0

5
3
8
6

5390

5
3
9
1

5
3
9
2

5
4
0
5

5406

5
4
0
7

5340

5350

5360

5370

5380

5390

5400

5410

5420

5430

0+00 5+00 10+00
498924

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

  

 

 

 

5360

5340

5350

5370

5380

5390

5400

5410

5420

5430

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC
 D

E
S
IG

N

PP-1

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

S
T

A
 0

+
0
0
 T

O
 S

T
A
 1

3
+
0
0

P
L

A
N
 A

N
D
 P

R
O

F
IL

E

G
R

E
G

O
R

Y
 C

A
N

Y
O

N
 C

R
E

E
K
  

M
A

S
T

E
R
 P

L
A

N

GC05-C-PP01.dgn

N

0 50 100 150

Scale In Feet

M
A

T
C

H
L
IN

E
 S

T
A
 1

3
+
0
0
, 
S

E
E
 D

W
G
 P

P
-2

M
A

T
C

H
L
IN

E
 S

T
A
 1

3
+
0
0
, 
S

E
E
 D

W
G
 P

P
-2

11+00 12+00 13+001+00 2+00 3+00 4+00 6+00 7+00 8+00 9+00

B

C-1

B

C-1

C

C-1

C

C-1

A

C-1

A

C-1

M
 G

A
R

D
N

E
R

B
 S

C
H

A
F

R
O

T
H

100-YR FLOODPLAIN STRUCTURE

1.5 DROP

STRUCTURE

2.5 DROP

TYP
STRUCTURE, 
EXST 

STRUCTURE

2.5 DROP 

STRUCTURE

3’ DROP 

10’ ACCESS

POTENTIAL 

STRUCTURE

1.0’ DROP

CONSTRUCTION

IF DAMAGED DURING 

DRIVE RESTORE

PROTECT EXST 

STRUCTURE

3’ DROP 

BRIDGE

PROPOSED 

STRUCTURE

3’ DROP 

NOTE 2

AREA, SEE

LANDSCAPE

EXST EXTENSIVE

ZONE
HIGH HAZARD

EXST 100-YR FLOODPLAIN

    DURING FINAL DESIGN. 

    COORDINATION WITH UTILITY  COMPANIES WILL BE REQUIRED 

3. OVERHEAD ELECTRIC IS LOCATED ALONG GREGORY CREEK.

    BETTER.

    ENSURE PROPERTY IS RESTORED TO EXISTING CONDITIONS OR 

    LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND ADJACENT PROPERTY OWNERS TO 

    IMPROVEMENT, THE ENGINEER AND CITY SHALL WORK WITH A 

2. DURING THE FINAL DESIGN OF EACH MASTER PLANNED 

    RELOCATED BASED ON FIELD LOCATION.

    LOCATED PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION AND MAY NEED TO BE 

    AT 4.5 FT BELOW EXISTING GRADE.  EACH UTILITY SHALL BE 

    SHOWN AT 3 FT BELOW EXISTING GRADE, WATER LINES ARE SHOWN 

    THE CITY OF BOULDER CRITERIA.  SANITARY SEWER LINES ARE 

    WITHOUT ELEVATIONS ARE SHOWN AT THE MAXIMUM DEPTH PER 

1. UTILITIES ARE IDENTIFIED AT KNOWN ELEVATIONS. UTILITIES 

NOTES: STRUCTURE

2.5 DROP

900

744

742

730

828

810

802

1530

1537

1516

1520

806

845

812

800
865

885

1557

818

1544

1655

811

1621

816

802

765

745

1639

1649

833

1641

1647

0+00

1+00 2+00

3+00
4+00

5+00 6+00 7+0
0

8+00

9+00

10+00

11+00

12+
00

13+00

FILENAME: PLOT DATE: PLOT TIME:2015\11\06 5:59:52 AM

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 2

0
1
5
. 
 A

L
L
 R
IG

H
T
S
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

D
.

T
H
IS
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
, 

A
N

D
 T

H
E
 I

D
E

A
S
 A

N
D
 D

E
S
IG

N
S
 I

N
C

O
R

P
O

R
A

T
E

D
 H

E
R

E
IN
, 

A
S
 A

N
 I

N
S

T
R

U
M

E
N

T
 O

F
 P

R
O

F
E

S
S
IO

N
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
, 
IS
 T

H
E
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 O

F
R

E
U

S
E
 O

F
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
S
:

1 2 3 4 5 6

B

C

D

VERIFY SCALE

BAR IS ONE INCH ON

ORIGINAL DRAWING.

1"0

c

PROJ

DATE

D
A

T
E

N
O
.

D
S

G
N

D
R

R
E

V
IS
IO

N

C
H

K

A
P

V
D

B
Y

A
P

V
D

SHEET

DWG

A

of

$PWPATH

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 A

N
D
 I
S
 N

O
T
 T

O
 B

E
 U

S
E

D
, 
IN
 W

H
O

L
E
 O

R
 I

N
 P

A
R

T
, 
F

O
R
 A

N
Y
 O

T
H

E
R
 P

R
O
J
E

C
T
 W

IT
H

O
U

T
 T

H
E
 W

R
IT

T
E

N
 A

U
T

H
O

R
IZ

A
T
IO

N
 O

F
 C

H
2

M
 H
IL

L
.

$PWURL

E
N

G
L
E

W
O

O
D
, 

C
O
 8

0
1
1
2

9
1
9
3
 S

O
U

T
H
 J

A
M

A
C
IA
 S

T

C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

N
O

T
 F

O
R
 

P
R

E
L
IM

IN
A

R
Y
 

OCTOBER 2015

IN
V
 U

N
K

N
O

W
N

E
X

S
T
 6
" 

C
IP
 W

A
T

E
R

S
T

A
 3

+
8
1
.3
 +
/-

IN
V
 U

N
K

N
O

W
N

E
X

S
T
 8
" 

R
C

P
 S

A
N
 S

E
W

E
R

S
T

A
 3

+
9
5
.6
 +
/-

IN
V
 U

N
K

N
O

W
N

E
X

S
T
 1

2
" 

C
IP
 S

T
O

R
M
 S

E
W

E
R

S
T

A
 1

0
+
6
1
.2
 +
/-

IN
V
 E

L
 U

N
K

N
O

W
N

E
X

S
T
 1

2
" 

R
C

P
 S

T
O

R
M
 S

E
W

E
R

S
T

A
 3

+
0
0
.0
 +
/-

IN
V
 E

L
 5

3
7
2
.7

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 3

+
5
8
.2

2

IN
V
 E

L
 5

3
7
3
.0

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 4

+
2
2
.4

3

IN
V
 E

L
 5

3
8
1
.0

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 6

+
7
5
.9

7

IN
V
 E

L
 5

3
7
7
.5

5

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 5

+
7
5
.0

0

IN
V
 E

L
 U

N
K

N
O

W
N

E
X

S
T
 6
" 
P

V
C
 S

T
O

R
M
 S

E
W

E
R

S
T

A
 6

+
5
8
.9
 +
/-

IN
V
 E

L
 5

3
9
7
.6

0

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 1

0
+
5
3
.0

IN
V
 E

L
 5

4
0
2
.9

7

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 1

2
+
1
8
.0

IN
V
 E

L
 5

3
4
9
.0

+
/-

E
X

S
T
 6
" 

D
IP
 W

A
T

E
R

S
T

A
 1

+
5
7
.0
 +
/-

B
O

U
L

D
E

R
 C

R
E

E
K

C
O

N
F

L
U

E
N

C
E
 W

IT
H

IN
V
 E

L
 5

3
5
9
.8

+
/-

E
X

S
T
 8
" 
P

V
C
 S

A
N
 S

E
W

E
R

S
T

A
 1

+
3
3
.2
 +
/-

0
.3

9
%
 S

L
O

P
E

W
IT

H
 2
 -
 9
’x
6
’ 
R

C
B
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T
S

R
E

P
L

A
C

E
 8
.5
’x
4
’ 
R

C
B
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T

M
A

R
IN

E
 S

T
 C
-1

0

100-YR FHAD

0
.4

6
%
 S

L
O

P
E

W
IT

H
 2
 -
 1

1
’x
5
’ 
R

C
B

R
E

P
L

A
C

E
 9
’x
3
’ 
R

C
B
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T

A
R

A
P

A
H

O
E
 A

V
E
 C
-1

2
100, FHAD

Q                       =673 CFS

       =2,092 CFSQ      

Q                  =2,092 CFS

100, MP

10, FHAD/MP

S=1.5%

S=1.5%

S=1.5% S=1.5%

S=1.5%

S=1.5%

IN
V
 E

L
 5

3
8
9
.7

4

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 8

+
4
0
.8

0

IN
V
 E

L
 5

3
8
9
.9

8

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 9

+
0
7
.7

3

E
L
 5

3
7
7
.0

4

S
T

A
 5

+
3
0
.7

3
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T

E
L
 5

3
8
4
.0

S
T

A
 7

+
0
5
.9

7

3
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T E

L
 5

3
9
4
.2

3

S
T

A
 9

+
8
0
.7

6

1
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T

S=1.5%

E
L
 5

4
0
5
.9

7

S
T

A
 1

2
+
4
8
.0

0

3
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T

E
L
 5

4
0
7
.2

5

S
T

A
 1

3
+
0
0
.2

3

1
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T

GRADE

PROPOSED

GRADE

PROPOSED

GRADE

PROPOSED

C
H

A
N

N
E

L
 I

N
V

E
R

T
S

M
A
IN

T
A
IN
 E

X
IS

T
IN

G
 

B
R
ID

G
E
 C

R
O

S
S
IN

G

W
IT

H
 3

0
’ 
S

P
A

N
 x
 2

4
’ 

W
ID

E
 

R
E

P
L

A
C

E
 4

8
" 

R
C

P
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T

P
R
IV

A
T

E
 D

R
IV

E
 C
-1

3

E
L
 5

3
8
6
.2

5

S
T

A
 7

+
5
7
.5

2

1
.5
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T

E
L
 5

3
9
3
.0

S
T

A
 9

+
3
7
.7

3

2
.5
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T

E
L
 5

3
9
7
.6

0

S
T

A
 1

0
+
4
5
.2

0

2
.5
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T

E
L
 5

3
8
9
.7

4

S
T

A
 8

+
3
0
.8

0

2
.5
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T

IN
V
 E

L
 5

3
7
2
.7

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 3

+
3
0
.0

1

NTS
3
’-
7
’

24" OR 36" BOULDER

10’

SOIL RIPRAP

18" TYPE M

STA 13+00  

STA 4+22.43 TO

TYPICAL CROSS-SECTION

IN
V
 E

L
 5

3
9
1
.2

+
/-

T
O
 B

E
 R

E
L

O
C

A
T

E
D

E
X

S
T
 8
" 

V
C

P
 S

A
N
 S

E
W

E
R

S
T

A
 8

+
6
7
.6
 +
/-

IN
V
 U

N
K

N
O

W
N

T
O
 B

E
 R

E
L

O
C

A
T

E
D

E
X

S
T
 4
" 

C
IP
 W

A
T

E
R

S
T

A
 8

+
7
6
.3
 +
/-

IN
V
 E

L
 5

4
0
1
.7

+
/-

T
O
 B

E
 R

E
L

O
C

A
T

E
D

E
X

S
T
 8
" 

V
C

P
 S

A
N
 S

E
W

E
R

S
T

A
 1

1
+
7
4
.0
 +
/-

IN
V
 E

L
 5

3
9
8
.4

+
/-

T
O
 B

E
 R

E
L

O
C

A
T

E
D

E
X

S
T
 8
" 

R
C

P
 S

A
N
 S

E
W

E
R

S
T

A
 1

0
+
8
7
.8
 +
/-

IN
V
 U

N
K

N
O

W
N

T
O
 B

E
 R

E
L

O
C

A
T

E
D

E
X

S
T
 4
" 

C
IP
 W

A
T

E
R

S
T

A
 1

1
+
0
3
.6
 +
/-

100-YR MP

10YR MP

GROUND

EXST 

E
X

S
T
 O

H
 E

L
E

C
T

R
IC

3
.4

%
 S

L
O

P
E

W
IT

H
 2
 -
 1

0
’x
6
’ 
R

C
B
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T
S

R
E

P
L

A
C

E
 5
’x
3
.5
’ 
C

M
P
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T

A
L
L
E

Y
 W

A
Y
 C
-1

1

E
X

S
T
 O

H
 E

L
E

C
T

R
IC

3
.2

6
%
 S

L
O

P
E

W
IT

H
 2
 -
 9
’x
6
’ 
R

C
B
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T
S

R
E

P
L

A
C

E
 6
’x
3
.2

5
’ 
C

M
P
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T

8
T

H
 S

T
 C
-9

100, FHAD

100, MP

10, MP

10, FHAD
          =472 CFSQ

Q             =672 CFS

       =1,709 CFSQ      

Q                  =1,077 CFS

R-1

R-2

R-3
GRADE

PROPOSED 

R-4 R-5

B
O

U
L

D
E

R
 C

R
E

E
K

A
R

A
P

A
H

O
E
   A

V
E

5375

9TH S
T

5385

5390

539
5

5395

M
A

R
IN

E
 S

T

STRUCTURE

EXST 

PROTECT 

STRUCTURE

EXST 

PROTECT 

5400

5410

5410

8TH S
T

735

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 120Packet Page 556



N

15+00 20+00 25+00

5390

5400

5410

5420

5430

5440

5450

5460

5470

5480

5390

5400

5410

5420

5430

5440

5450

5460

5470

5480

0 50 100 150

Scale In Feet

498924

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

  

 

 

 

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC
 D

E
S
IG

N

PP-2

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

S
T

A
 1

3
+
0
0
 T

O
 S

T
A
 2

6
+
0
0

P
L

A
N
 A

N
D
 P

R
O

F
IL

E

G
R

E
G

O
R

Y
 C

A
N

Y
O

N
 C

R
E

E
K
  

M
A

S
T

E
R
 P

L
A

N

GC05-C-PP02.dgn

M
A

T
C

H
L
IN

E
 S

T
A
 1

3
+
0
0
, 
S

E
E
 D

W
G
 P

P
-1

M
A

T
C

H
L
IN

E
 S

T
A
 1

3
+
0
0
, 
S

E
E
 D

W
G
 P

P
-1

M
A

T
C

H
L
IN

E
 S

T
A
 2

6
+
0
0
, 
S

E
E
 D

W
G
 P

P
-3

M
A

T
C

H
L
IN

E
 S

T
A
 2

6
+
0
0
, 
S

E
E
 D

W
G
 P

P
-3

26+0024+0023+0022+0021+0019+0018+0017+0016+0014+0013+00

U
N
IV

E
R
S
IT

Y
   A

V
E

 

D

C-1

D

C-1

B
 S

C
H

A
F

R
O

T
H

M
 G

A
R

D
N

E
R

STRUCTURE

REMOVE EXST

DRIVEWAY

EXST

PROTECT

STRUCTURE

1’ DROP

EL=5447+/-

36" RCP 220LF, 

WITH PROPOSED

ANDERSON DITCH

CONNECT TO EXST

EXST STRUCTURE, TYP

36" RCP

PROPOSED

DITCH

ANDERSON

STRUCTURE

3’ DROP 

36" RCP, EL 5447+/-

END PROPOSED

THRU TRAFFIC

TO BE CLOSED TO 

PENNSYLVANIA AVE

STRUCTURE

3’ DROP

STRUCTURE
2.5’ DROP

STRUCTURE

3’ DROPSTRUCTURE

2’ DROP 

WITH FLOWFILL

ABANDONED 

 TO BE 

EXST CULVERT

STRUCTURE

3’ DROP

BRIDGE

PEDESTRIAN 

PROPOSED

INTO EXST BANK

PRESERVE, TIE

FLOODPLAIN

EXST 100-YR 

FLOODPLAIN

EXST 100-YR 
ZONE
HAZARD
HIGH 

SEE NOTE 2

LANDSCAPE AREA,

EXST EXTENSIVE

    DURING FINAL DESIGN. 

    COORDINATION WITH UTILITY  COMPANIES WILL BE REQUIRED 

3. OVERHEAD ELECTRIC IS LOCATED ALONG GREGORY CREEK.

    BETTER.

    ENSURE PROPERTY IS RESTORED TO EXISTING CONDITIONS OR 

    LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND ADJACENT PROPERTY OWNERS TO 

    IMPROVEMENT, THE ENGINEER AND CITY SHALL WORK WITH A 

2. DURING THE FINAL DESIGN OF EACH MASTER PLANNED 

    RELOCATED BASED ON FIELD LOCATION.

    LOCATED PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION AND MAY NEED TO BE 

    AT 4.5 FT BELOW EXISTING GRADE.  EACH UTILITY SHALL BE 

    SHOWN AT 3 FT BELOW EXISTING GRADE, WATER LINES ARE SHOWN 

    THE CITY OF BOULDER CRITERIA.  SANITARY SEWER LINES ARE 

    WITHOUT ELEVATIONS ARE SHOWN AT THE MAXIMUM DEPTH PER 

1. UTILITIES ARE IDENTIFIED AT KNOWN ELEVATIONS. UTILITIES 

NOTES:

BASIN

SEDIMENT

OPTIONAL

FILENAME: PLOT DATE: PLOT TIME:2015\11\20 1:32:28 PM

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 2

0
1
5
. 
 A

L
L
 R
IG

H
T
S
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

D
.

T
H
IS
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
, 

A
N

D
 T

H
E
 I

D
E

A
S
 A

N
D
 D

E
S
IG

N
S
 I

N
C

O
R

P
O

R
A

T
E

D
 H

E
R

E
IN
, 

A
S
 A

N
 I

N
S

T
R

U
M

E
N

T
 O

F
 P

R
O

F
E

S
S
IO

N
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
, 
IS
 T

H
E
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 O

F
R

E
U

S
E
 O

F
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
S
:

1 2 3 4 5 6

B

C

D

VERIFY SCALE

BAR IS ONE INCH ON

ORIGINAL DRAWING.

1"0

c

PROJ

DATE

D
A

T
E

N
O
.

D
S

G
N

D
R

R
E

V
IS
IO

N

C
H

K

A
P

V
D

B
Y

A
P

V
D

SHEET

DWG

A

of

$PWPATH

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 A

N
D
 I
S
 N

O
T
 T

O
 B

E
 U

S
E

D
, 
IN
 W

H
O

L
E
 O

R
 I

N
 P

A
R

T
, 
F

O
R
 A

N
Y
 O

T
H

E
R
 P

R
O
J
E

C
T
 W

IT
H

O
U

T
 T

H
E
 W

R
IT

T
E

N
 A

U
T

H
O

R
IZ

A
T
IO

N
 O

F
 C

H
2

M
 H
IL

L
.

$PWURL

E
N

G
L
E

W
O

O
D
, 

C
O
 8

0
1
1
2

9
1
9
3
 S

O
U

T
H
 J

A
M

A
C
IA
 S

T

C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

N
O

T
 F

O
R
 

P
R

E
L
IM

IN
A

R
Y
 

OCTOBER 2015S
E

W
E

R
, 
IN

V
 U

N
K

N
O

W
N

E
X

S
T
 2

4
" 

R
C

P
 S

T
O

R
M
 

S
T

A
 1

8
+
6
0
.0
 +
/-

IN
V
 E

L
 5

4
1
0
.5

7

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 1

3
+
7
1
.6

7

IN
V
 E

L
 5

4
1
3
.1

0

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 1

4
+
7
5
.0

IN
V
 E

L
 5

4
3
2
.6

5

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 1

8
+
8
0
.0

IN
V
 E

L
 5

4
3
3
.4

4

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 1

9
+
1
5
.7

9

IN
V
 E

L
 5

4
4
9
.3

6

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 2

2
+
4
8
.0

2

IN
V
 E

L
 5

4
3
5
.3

0

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 2

0
+
2
6
.0

8

IN
V
 E

L
 5

4
0
6
.0

+
/-

E
X

S
T
 8
" 

D
IP
 W

A
T

E
R

S
T

A
 1

4
+
0
5
.9
 +
/-

S
E

W
E

R
, 
IN

V
 E

L
 5

4
1
2
.3

+
/-

E
X

S
T
 1

8
" 
P

V
C
 S

T
O

R
M
 

S
T

A
 1

4
+
1
0
.9
 +
/-

IN
V
 U

N
K

N
O

W
N

E
X

S
T
 1

4
" 
S

T
 W

A
T

E
R

S
T

A
 1

8
+
8
2
.1
 +
/-

IN
V
 E

L
 5

4
2
8
.5

+
/-

E
X

S
T
 3

0
" 

D
IP
 W

A
T

E
R

S
T

A
 1

8
+
9
0
.6
 +
/-

IN
V
 E

L
 5

4
5
6
.0

+
/-

E
X

S
T
 8
" 

D
IP
 W

A
T

E
R

S
T

A
 2

4
+
4
1
.6
 +
/-

1
.8

3
%
 S

L
O

P
E

W
IT

H
 2
 -
 8
’x
6
’ 
R

C
B
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T
S

R
E

P
L

A
C

E
 5
.5
’x
2
.9
’ 
C

M
P
 C

R
O

S
S
IN

G

7
0
4
 P

L
E

A
S

A
N

T
 S

T
 C
-6

B

1
.2

4
%
 S

L
O

P
E

P
E

D
E

S
T

R
IA

N
 C

R
O

S
S
IN

G

R
E

P
L

A
C

E
 4
.7

5
’x
3
’ 
C

M
P

P
E

N
N

S
Y

L
V

A
N
IA
 A

V
E
 -
 C

5

100, FHAD

Q                       =600 CFS

Q              =1,900 CFS

Q                  =1,900 CFS

100, MP

10, FHAD/MP

IN
V
 E

L
 5

4
3
6
.2

2

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 2

0
+
8
2
.7

0

100-YR FHAD

EXST GROUND

IN
V
 E

L
 5

4
4
7
.0

+
/-

A
N

D
E

R
S

O
N
 D
IT

C
H
 P
IP

E
 3

6
" 

D
IA
 R

C
P

S
T

A
 2

0
+
7
5
.6

+
/-

100, FHAD

Q                       =673 CFS

Q              =2,092 CFS

Q                  =2,092 CFS

100, MP

10, FHAD/MP

SEE SHEET C-2

S=1.5%

S=1.0%

IN
V
 E

L
 5

4
5
8
.0

+
/-

E
X

S
T
 8
" 

V
C

P
 S

A
N
 S

E
W

E
R

S
T

A
 2

4
+
2
4
.5
 +
/-

S=1.5%

E
L
 5

4
0
7
.2

5

S
T

A
 1

3
+
0
0
.2

3

1
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T E

L
 5

4
1
6
.1

0

S
T

A
 1

5
+
0
5
.0

0

3
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T

E
L
 5

4
1
9
.1

0

S
T

A
 1

5
+
4
5
.0

0

3
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T

E
L
 5

4
3
4
.2

5

S
T

A
 1

9
+
3
4
.8

6

1
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T

E
L
 5

4
6
0
.6

7

S
T

A
 2

3
+
8
4
.9

4

3
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T

E
L
 5

4
5
7
.3

2

S
T

A
 2

3
+
2
1
.7

0

3
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
TE
L
 5

4
5
1
.2

5

S
T

A
 2

2
+
6
0
.7

4

2
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T

E
L
 5

4
5
4
.2

0

S
T

A
 2

2
+
8
2
.7

4

3
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T

E
L
 5

4
6
3
.8

2

S
T

A
 2

4
+
3
4
.7

1

3
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T

GRADE

PROPOSED

GRADE

PROPOSED

E
L
 5

4
1
0
.5

7

S
T

A
 1

3
+
6
1
.6

7

2
.5
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T

IN
V
 E

L
 5

4
3
2
.2

3

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 1

8
+
3
3
.3

7NTS

10YR MP

3
’-
7
’

24" OR 36" BOULDER

10’

SOIL RIPRAP

18" TYPE M

TO STA 13+00

STA 26+00 

TYPICAL CROSS-SECTION

GRADE

PROPOSED

IN
V
 E

L
 5

4
4
3
.5

+
/-

T
O
 B

E
 R

E
L

O
C

A
T

E
D

E
X

S
T
 8
" 

D
IP
 W

A
T

E
R

S
T

A
 2

1
+
1
5
.3
 +
/-

IN
V
 E

L
 5

4
4
2
.3

+
/-

T
O
 B

E
 R

E
L

O
C

A
T

E
D

E
X

S
T
 8
" 

V
C

P
 S

A
N
 S

E
W

E
R

S
T

A
 2

1
+
4
8
.9
 +
/-

SEDIMENT BASIN

PROPOSED

S=1.5%

S=1.5%

S=1.5%

E
L
 5

4
1
9
.1

0

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 1

5
+
5
5
.2

4

GRADE

PROPOSED

R-5 R-6

E
X

S
T
 O

H
 E

L
E

C
T

R
IC

2
.2

1
%
 S

L
O

P
E

W
IT

H
 2
 -
 1

0
’x
6
’ 
R

C
B
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T
S

R
E

P
L

A
C

E
 8
’x
4
.2

5
’ 
R

C
B
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T

P
L
E

A
S

A
N

T
 S

T
 -
 C

7

E
X

S
T
 O

H
 E

L
E

C
T

R
IC

2
.4

5
%
 S

L
O

P
E

2
 -
 9
’x
6
’ 
R

C
B
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T
S

R
E

P
L

A
C

E
 6
’x
5
’ 
R

C
B
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T

U
N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y
 A

V
E
 C
-8

100-YR MP

R-7

R-8 R-9

E
X

S
T
 O

H
 E

L
E

C
T

R
IC

7
.9

5
%
 S

L
O

P
E

W
IT

H
 2
 -
 8
’x
6
’ 
R

C
B
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T
S

R
E

P
L

A
C

E
 5

4
" 

R
C

B
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T

7
T

H
 S

T
R

E
E

T
 -
 C

6

811

801

745

769

740

1310

755

775

802

818

1314

638

656

1230

633

1231

712

1150

620

650

1145

711

704

744

755

812

1312

654

658

637

631

704

1228

630

680

1170

709

1366 637

13
+0

0

14+
00

15
+0

0

16+
00

1
7
+
0
0

18+00

19+0
0 20+00

21+00
22+00

24+00

25+00
26+0

0

23+00

5410

5
4
3
5

P
L
E

A
S

A
N

T
   S

T

7T
H 

STREET

5455

P
E

N
N
S

Y
L
V

A
N
IA
     A

V
E

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 121Packet Page 557



N

30+00 35+00

5460

5470

5480

5490

5500

5510

5520

5530

5540

5550

5460

5470

5480

5490

5500

5510

5520

5530

5540

5550

498924

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

  

 

 

 

0 50 100 150

Scale In Feet

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC
 D

E
S
IG

N

PP-3

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

S
T

A
 2

6
+
0
0
 T

O
 S

T
A
 3

8
+
6
0

P
L

A
N
 A

N
D
 P

R
O

F
IL

E

G
R

E
G

O
R

Y
 C

A
N

Y
O

N
 C

R
E

E
K
  

M
A

S
T

E
R
 P

L
A

N

GC05-C-PP03.dgn

M
A

T
C

H
L
IN

E
 S

T
A
 2

6
+
0
0
, 
S

E
E
 D

W
G
 P

P
-2

M
A

T
C

H
L
IN

E
 S

T
A
 2

6
+
0
0
, 
S

E
E
 D

W
G
 P

P
-2

M
A

T
C

H
L
IN

E
 S

T
A
 3

9
+
0
0
, 
S

E
E
 D

W
G
 P

P
-4

29+0028+0027+0026+00 31+00 32+00 33+00 34+00 36+00 37+00 38+00 39+00

M
ATCHLINE STA 38+60, SEE DW

G
 PP-4

B
 S

C
H

A
F

R
O

T
H

M
 G

A
R

D
N

E
R

ABANDONED

TO BE 

CULVERT

EXST 6’x6.5’ 

CHANNEL

REALIGN EXST

EXST STRUCTURE, TYP

STRUCTURE

3’ DROP

PRIVATE BRIDGE

REPLACE EXST

CHANNEL

REALIGN EXST

48" RCP CULVERT

ABANDON EXST

STRUCTURE

3’ DROP

EXST 100-YR FLOODPLAIN

HIGH HAZARD ZONE

2- 8’x6’ RCB

PROPOSED

REALIGN 

    DURING FINAL DESIGN. 

    COORDINATION WITH UTILITY  COMPANIES WILL BE REQUIRED 

3. OVERHEAD ELECTRIC IS LOCATED ALONG GREGORY CREEK.

    BETTER.

    ENSURE PROPERTY IS RESTORED TO EXISTING CONDITIONS OR 

    LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND ADJACENT PROPERTY OWNERS TO 

    IMPROVEMENT, THE ENGINEER AND CITY SHALL WORK WITH A 

2. DURING THE FINAL DESIGN OF EACH MASTER PLANNED 

    RELOCATED BASED ON FIELD LOCATION.

    LOCATED PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION AND MAY NEED TO BE 

    AT 4.5 FT BELOW EXISTING GRADE.  EACH UTILITY SHALL BE 

    SHOWN AT 3 FT BELOW EXISTING GRADE, WATER LINES ARE SHOWN 

    THE CITY OF BOULDER CRITERIA.  SANITARY SEWER LINES ARE 

    WITHOUT ELEVATIONS ARE SHOWN AT THE MAXIMUM DEPTH PER 

1. UTILITIES ARE IDENTIFIED AT KNOWN ELEVATIONS. UTILITIES 

NOTES:

TO REMAIN

CULVERT

EXST 3FT

FILENAME: PLOT DATE: PLOT TIME:2015\11\06 6:02:37 AM

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 2

0
1
5
. 
 A

L
L
 R
IG

H
T
S
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

D
.

T
H
IS
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
, 

A
N

D
 T

H
E
 I

D
E

A
S
 A

N
D
 D

E
S
IG

N
S
 I

N
C

O
R

P
O

R
A

T
E

D
 H

E
R

E
IN
, 

A
S
 A

N
 I

N
S

T
R

U
M

E
N

T
 O

F
 P

R
O

F
E

S
S
IO

N
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
, 
IS
 T

H
E
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 O

F
R

E
U

S
E
 O

F
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
S
:

1 2 3 4 5 6

B

C

D

VERIFY SCALE

BAR IS ONE INCH ON

ORIGINAL DRAWING.

1"0

c

PROJ

DATE

D
A

T
E

N
O
.

D
S

G
N

D
R

R
E

V
IS
IO

N

C
H

K

A
P

V
D

B
Y

A
P

V
D

SHEET

DWG

A

of

$PWPATH

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 A

N
D
 I
S
 N

O
T
 T

O
 B

E
 U

S
E

D
, 
IN
 W

H
O

L
E
 O

R
 I

N
 P

A
R

T
, 
F

O
R
 A

N
Y
 O

T
H

E
R
 P

R
O
J
E

C
T
 W

IT
H

O
U

T
 T

H
E
 W

R
IT

T
E

N
 A

U
T

H
O

R
IZ

A
T
IO

N
 O

F
 C

H
2

M
 H
IL

L
.

$PWURL

E
N

G
L
E

W
O

O
D
, 

C
O
 8

0
1
1
2

9
1
9
3
 S

O
U

T
H
 J

A
M

A
C
IA
 S

T

C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

N
O

T
 F

O
R
 

P
R

E
L
IM

IN
A

R
Y
 

OCTOBER 2015

S
T

A
 3

5
+
6
4
.7
 +
/-

E
X

S
T
 S

T
O

R
M
 S

E
W

E
R

IN
V
 U

N
K

N
O

W
N

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 2

7
+
7
5
.2

3

IN
V
 E

L
 5

4
8
5
.0

4

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 2

8
+
5
1
.5

3

IN
V
 E

L
 5

4
8
5
.8

4

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 3

4
+
9
2
.7

7

IN
V
 E

L
 5

5
2
7
.2

1

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 3

5
+
3
3
.2

1

IN
V
 E

L
 5

5
2
7
.2

8

S
T

A
 2

8
+
2
1
.1
 +
/-

E
X

S
T
 1

2
" 

C
IP
 W

A
T

E
R
 

IN
V
 E

L
 5

4
8
3
.0

+
/-

S
T

A
 3

5
+
2
7
.5
 +
/-

E
X

S
T
 3

6
" 

R
C

P
 S

T
O

R
M
 S

E
W

E
R

IN
V
 U

N
K

N
O

W
N

S
T

A
 3

5
+
6
0
.3
 +
/-

E
X

S
T
 8
" 

D
IP
 W

A
T

E
R

IN
V
 U

N
K

N
O

W
N

S
T

A
 2

8
+
2
2
.2
 +
/-

8
" 

V
C

P
 S

A
N
 S

E
W

E
R

IN
V
 U

N
K

N
O

W
N

100, FHAD
Q                  =1,900 CFS

Q              =1,900 CFS

Q                       =600 CFS

100, MP

10, FHAD/MP

S
T

A
 3

5
+
4
6
.7

+
/-

1
8
" 

R
C

P
 S

T
O

R
M
 S

E
W

E
R

IN
V
 E

L
 5

5
2
6
.2

+
/-

S
T

A
 3

5
+
4
6
.7

+
/-

E
X

S
T
 8
" 

D
IP
 W

A
T

E
R

IN
V
 E

L
 5

5
2
1
.0

+
/-

100, FHAD
Q                  =1,700 CFS

Q              =1,700 CFS

Q                       =495 CFS

100, MP

10, FHAD/MP

100-YR FHAD

SEE SHEET C-3
REALIGN CHANNEL

EXST GROUND

S
T

A
 2

8
+
1
5
.7
 +
/-

E
X

S
T
 1

8
" 

R
C

P
 

S
T

O
R

M
 S

E
W

E
R

IN
V
 U

N
K

N
O

W
N

3
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T

S
T

A
 2

8
+
6
6
.5

3

E
L
 5

4
8
8
.8

4

3
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T

S
T

A
 3

5
+
5
7
.8

3

E
L
 5

5
3
0
.0

0

4
’ 
D

R
O

P
 C

R
E

S
T

S
T

A
 3

5
+
8
7
.4

6

E
L
 5

5
3
3
.9

3

PROPOSED

GRADE

   2

1

5’

TYPICAL CROSS-SECTION

NTS

2

   1

18" TYPE M

SOIL RIPRAP

STA 36+00 TO VPI 33+70

24" AND 36" 
BOULDER

3
’

PROPOSED

GRADE

100-YR MP

10YR MP

R-10

C
O

L
L
E

G
E
 A

V
E
 -
 C

4

R
E

P
L

A
C

E
 6
’x
6
.5
’ 
C

U
L

V
E

R
T
 

W
IT

H
 2
 -
 7
’x
6
’ 
R

C
P
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T
S

0
.9

2
%
 S

L
O

P
E

R
E

P
L

A
C

E
 E

X
S

T
 

P
R
IV

A
T

E
 D

R
IV

E
/B

R
ID

G
E

E
X

S
T
 O

H
 E

L
E

C
T

R
IC

R-11

E
U

C
L
ID
 A

V
E
 -
 C

3
, 

S
E

E
 S

H
E

E
T
 C
-7
 &
 C
-8

R
E

P
L

A
C

E
 4

8
" 

R
C

P
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T
 

W
IT

H
 2
 -
 8
’x
6
’ 
R

C
B
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T
S

0
.1

8
%
 S

L
O

P
E
 E

X
S

T
 O

H
 E

L
E

C

1123

633

1100

1025

1035

540

997

961

1010

1015

960

1002

640

610

1030

651

617

630

580

971

1
0
5
5

1006

990

595

1020

1026

26+00
27+00

28+00 29+
00 30+0

0
31+0

0 32+
00 33+00

34+00 35+00

36+0
0

37
+0

0

38
+0

0

A
V

E
G

E
N

E
V

A

6TH S
TREET

C
O

L
L
E

G
E
 A

V
E

ROSE H
ILL 

DRIV
E

1003

E
U

C
L
ID
 A

V
E

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 122Packet Page 558



498924

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

  

 

 

 

0 50 100 150

Scale In Feet

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC
 D

E
S
IG

N

PP-4

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

P
L

A
N
 A

N
D
 P

R
O

F
IL

E

G
R

E
G

O
R

Y
 C

A
N

Y
O

N
 C

R
E

E
K
  

M
A

S
T

E
R
 P

L
A

N

40+00 45+00 50+00

5540

5550

5560

5570

5580

5590

5600

5610

5620

5630

5540

5550

5560

5570

5580

5590

5600

5610

5620

5630

S
T

A
 3

8
+
6
0
 T

O
 S

T
A
 5

1
+
6
0

GC05-C-PP04.dgn

M
A

T
C

H
L
IN

E
 S

T
A
 3

9
+
0
0
, 
S

E
E
 D

W
G
 P

P
-3

M
A

T
C

H
L
IN

E
 S

T
A
 5

2
+
0
0
, 
S

E
E
 D

W
G
 P

P
-5

39+00 41+00 42+00 43+00 44+00 46+00 47+00 48+00 49+00 51+00 52+00

M
ATCHLI

NE 
STA 

51
+6

0,
 S

EE 
DW

G
 P

P-
5

M
ATCHLINE STA 38+60, SEE DW

G
 PP-3

B
 S

C
H

A
F

R
O

T
H

M
 G

A
R

D
N

E
R

N

SS

SANITARY SEWER

RELOCATE EXST

    DURING FINAL DESIGN. 

    COORDINATION WITH UTILITY  COMPANIES WILL BE REQUIRED 

3. OVERHEAD ELECTRIC IS LOCATED ALONG GREGORY CREEK.

    ENSURE PROPERTY IS RESTORED TO EXST CONDITIONS OR BETTER.

    THE ENGINEER SHALL WORK WITH A LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT TO 

2. DURING THE DESIGN OF EACH MASTER PLANNED IMPROVEMENT, 

    FIELD LOCATION.

    CONSTRUCTION AND MAY NEED TO BE RELOCATED BASED ON 

    EXISTING GRADE.  EACH UTILITY SHALL BE LOCATED PRIOR TO 

    EXISTING GRADE, WATER LINES ARE SHOWN AT 4.5 FT FROM 

    CRITERIA.  SANITARY SEWER LINES ARE SHOWN AT 3 FT FROM 

    SHOWN AT THE MAXIMUM DEPTH PER THE CITY OF BOULDER 

1. BASED ON KNOWN UTILITY ELEVATIONS, UNKNOWN UTILITIES ARE 

NOTES:

EXST 100-YR FLOODPLAIN, TYP

HIGH HAZARD ZONE

SEE DETAIL C-1

SEDIMENT TRAP,

OPTIONAL 4’ X 4’ 

900

950

960

868

595

845

530

740

840

860

440

445

865

595

621

923

9
8
0

860880

819

550

500800

850

870

39+0
0

40+0
0

41+00

42+
00

43+
00

44+00

45+00

46+00

47+00

48+00

49+00

50+00

51+
00

FILENAME: PLOT DATE: PLOT TIME:2015\11\20 1:34:39 PM

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 2

0
1
5
. 
 A

L
L
 R
IG

H
T
S
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

D
.

T
H
IS
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
, 

A
N

D
 T

H
E
 I

D
E

A
S
 A

N
D
 D

E
S
IG

N
S
 I

N
C

O
R

P
O

R
A

T
E

D
 H

E
R

E
IN
, 

A
S
 A

N
 I

N
S

T
R

U
M

E
N

T
 O

F
 P

R
O

F
E

S
S
IO

N
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
, 
IS
 T

H
E
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 O

F
R

E
U

S
E
 O

F
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
S
:

1 2 3 4 5 6

B

C

D

VERIFY SCALE

BAR IS ONE INCH ON

ORIGINAL DRAWING.

1"0

c

PROJ

DATE

D
A

T
E

N
O
.

D
S

G
N

D
R

R
E

V
IS
IO

N

C
H

K

A
P

V
D

B
Y

A
P

V
D

SHEET

DWG

A

of

$PWPATH

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 A

N
D
 I
S
 N

O
T
 T

O
 B

E
 U

S
E

D
, 
IN
 W

H
O

L
E
 O

R
 I

N
 P

A
R

T
, 
F

O
R
 A

N
Y
 O

T
H

E
R
 P

R
O
J
E

C
T
 W

IT
H

O
U

T
 T

H
E
 W

R
IT

T
E

N
 A

U
T

H
O

R
IZ

A
T
IO

N
 O

F
 C

H
2

M
 H
IL

L
.

$PWURL

E
N

G
L
E

W
O

O
D
, 

C
O
 8

0
1
1
2

9
1
9
3
 S

O
U

T
H
 J

A
M

A
C
IA
 S

T

C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

N
O

T
 F

O
R
 

P
R

E
L
IM

IN
A

R
Y
 

OCTOBER 2015

S
T

A
 4

2
+
2
1
.5
 +
/-

E
X

S
T
 1

2
" 
S

T
O

R
M
 S

E
W

E
R

IN
V
 U

N
K

N
O

W
N

S
T

A
 4

2
+
2
1
.5
 +
/-

E
X

S
T
 1

2
" 
S

T
O

R
M
 S

E
W

E
R

IN
V
 U

N
K

N
O

W
N

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 4

7
+
9
5
.1

2

IN
V
 E

L
 5

6
0
3
.3

3

S
T

A
 4

2
+
2
0
.0
 +
/-

E
X

S
T
 8
" 

C
IP
 W

A
T

E
R

IN
V
 E

L
 5

5
5
9
.5

+
/-

S
T

A
 4

8
+
8
4
.6
 +
/-

E
X

S
T
 8
" 

V
C

P
 S

A
N
 S

E
W

E
R

IN
V
 E

L
 5

5
9
8
.2

+
/-
 

A
N

D
 6
" 

C
IP
 W

A
T

E
R

IN
V
 E

L
 5

6
0
1
.2

+
/-

E
X

S
T
 A

U
R

O
R

A
 A

V
E
 C
-2

2
 -
 1

0
’x
5
’ 
R

C
B
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T
S
 

A
N

D
 3

6
" 

R
C

P
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T

T
O
 R

E
M

A
IN

E
X

S
T

W
IL

L
O

W
B

R
O

O
K
 R

O
A

D
 C
-1

9
’x
5
’ 
R

C
B
 C

U
L

V
E

R
T

100, FHAD
Q                  =1,700 CFS

Q              =1,700 CFS

Q                       =495 CFS

100, MP

10, FHAD/MP

E
X

S
T
 P

R
IV

A
T

E
 D

R
IV

E

T
O
 R

E
M

A
IN

EXST PRIVATE DRIVE

TO REMAIN

EXST GROUND

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 4

9
+
2
3
..
0
3

IN
V
 E

L
 5

6
0
7
.6

8

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 4

1
+
7
1
.7

8

IN
V
 E

L
 5

5
6
4
.6

4

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 4

2
+
2
3
.3

0

IN
V
 E

L
 5

5
6
5
.6

2

10YR MP

100-YR FHAD=
100-YR MP

A
U

R
O

R
A
 A

V
E

6TH S
TREET

WIL
LOWBROOK ROAD

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 123Packet Page 559



FILENAME: PLOT DATE: PLOT TIME:2015\11\06 8:13:30 AM

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 2

0
1
5
. 
 A

L
L
 R
IG

H
T
S
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

D
.

T
H
IS
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
, 

A
N

D
 T

H
E
 I

D
E

A
S
 A

N
D
 D

E
S
IG

N
S
 I

N
C

O
R

P
O

R
A

T
E

D
 H

E
R

E
IN
, 

A
S
 A

N
 I

N
S

T
R

U
M

E
N

T
 O

F
 P

R
O

F
E

S
S
IO

N
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
, 
IS
 T

H
E
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 O

F
R

E
U

S
E
 O

F
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
S
:

1 2 3 4 5 6

B

C

D

VERIFY SCALE

BAR IS ONE INCH ON

ORIGINAL DRAWING.

1"0

c

PROJ

DATE

D
A

T
E

N
O
.

D
S

G
N

D
R

R
E

V
IS
IO

N

C
H

K

A
P

V
D

B
Y

A
P

V
D

SHEET

DWG

A

of

$PWPATH

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 A

N
D
 I
S
 N

O
T
 T

O
 B

E
 U

S
E

D
, 
IN
 W

H
O

L
E
 O

R
 I

N
 P

A
R

T
, 
F

O
R
 A

N
Y
 O

T
H

E
R
 P

R
O
J
E

C
T
 W

IT
H

O
U

T
 T

H
E
 W

R
IT

T
E

N
 A

U
T

H
O

R
IZ

A
T
IO

N
 O

F
 C

H
2

M
 H
IL

L
.

$PWURL

E
N

G
L
E

W
O

O
D
, 

C
O
 8

0
1
1
2

9
1
9
3
 S

O
U

T
H
 J

A
M

A
C
IA
 S

T

C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

N
O

T
 F

O
R
 

P
R

E
L
IM

IN
A

R
Y
 

OCTOBER 2015

N

5610

5620

5630

5640

5650

5660

5670

5680

5690

5700

55+00 60+00 65+00

5660

5670

5680

5690

5700

5710

5720

5730

5740

5750

0 50 100 150

Scale In Feet

498924

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

  

 

 

 

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC
 D

E
S
IG

N

PP-5

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

S
T

A
 5

1
+
6
0
 T

O
 S

T
A
 6

5
+
0
0

P
L

A
N
 A

N
D
 P

R
O

F
IL

E

G
R

E
G

O
R

Y
 C

A
N

Y
O

N
 C

R
E

E
K
  

M
A

S
T

E
R
 P

L
A

N

GC05-C-PP05.dgn

M
A

T
C

H
L
IN

E
 S

T
A
 5

2
+
0
0
, 
S

E
E
 D

W
G
 P

P
-4

54+0053+0052+00 56+00 57+00 58+00 59+00 61+00 62+00 63+00 64+00

FLAGSTAFF ROAD

GREGORY LANE

R
O

AD

W
ILLO

W
BR

O
O

K

M
A

T
C

H
L
IN

E
 S

T
A
 5

1
+
6
0
, 
S

E
E
 D

W
G
 P

P
-4

B
 S

C
H

A
F

R
O

T
H

M
 G

A
R

D
N

E
R

    DURING FINAL DESIGN. 

    COORDINATION WITH UTILITY  COMPANIES WILL BE REQUIRED 

3. OVERHEAD ELECTRIC IS LOCATED ALONG GREGORY CREEK.

    ENSURE PROPERTY IS RESTORED TO EXST CONDITIONS OR BETTER. 

    THE ENGINEER SHALL WORK WITH A LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT TO 

2. DURING THE DESIGN OF EACH MASTER PLANNED IMPROVEMENT, 

    FIELD LOCATION.

    CONSTRUCTION AND MAY NEED TO BE RELOCATED BASED ON 

    EXISTING GRADE.  EACH UTILITY SHALL BE LOCATED PRIOR TO 

    EXISTING GRADE, WATER LINES ARE SHOWN AT 4.5 FT FROM 

    CRITERIA.  SANITARY SEWER LINES ARE SHOWN AT 3 FT FROM 

    SHOWN AT THE MAXIMUM DEPTH PER THE CITY OF BOULDER 

1. BASED ON KNOWN UTILITY ELEVATIONS, UNKNOWN UTILITIES ARE 

NOTES:

EXST 100-YR FLOODPLAIN, TYP

HIGH HAZARD ZONE

772

711

430

777

715

720

700

485

421

440

450705 405

710

475

52+00

53+0
0

54+00 55+00

56+00

57+00

58+00

59
+0

0

60
+0

0

61+00

62+00

6
3
+
0
0

64+00
65

+0
0

S
T

A
 5

5
+
1
3
.3
 +
/-

E
X

S
T
 1

2
" 

C
O

N
C
 S

T
O

R
M
 S

E
W

E
R

IN
V
 U

N
K

N
O

W
N

S
T

A
 5

9
+
2
6
.3
 +
/-

E
X

S
T
 6
" 

D
IP
 W

A
T

E
R

IN
V
 U

N
K

N
O

W
N

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 5

3
+
6
1
.2

6

IN
V
 E

L
 5

6
4
3
.5

7

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 5

4
+
0
5
.0

IN
V
 E

L
 5

6
4
5
.5

2 V
P
I 
S

T
A
 5

8
+
7
8
.3

2

IN
V
 E

L
 5

6
9
1
.0

V
P
I 
S

T
A
 5

8
+
9
3
.7

7

IN
V
 E

L
 5

6
9
1
.0

0

S
T

A
 5

5
+
9
4
.5
 +
/-

E
X

S
T
 S

A
N
IT

A
R

Y
 S

E
W

E
R

IN
V
 E

L
 5

6
5
4
.8

7
+
/-

100, FHAD
Q                  =1,700 CFS

Q              =1,700 CFS

Q                       =495 CFS

100, MP

10, FHAD/MP

E
X

S
T
 P

R
IV

A
T

E
 D

R
IV

E

EXST GRADE

10YR MP

7
0
5
 W

IL
L

O
W

B
R

O
O

K
 C

O
U

R
T
 

E
X

S
T
 5

3
" 

C
M

P
 

100-YR FHAD=
100-YR MP

S
T

A
 6

3
+
3
0
.8

8
+
/-

IN
V
 E

L
 5

7
1
7
.8

+
/-

S
T

A
 6

3
+
6
7
.6

6
+
/-

IN
V
 E

L
 5

7
1
8
.2

3
+
/-

100, FHAD
Q                  =1,450 CFS

Q              =1,450 CFS

Q                       =400 CFS

100, MP

10, FHAD/MP

S
T

A
 6

4
+
0
0
.0

0

F
L

A
G

S
T

A
F
F
 R

O
A

D

S
T

U
D

Y
 L
IM

IT
S

E
X

S
T
 4

8
" 

C
M

P

T
O
 R

E
M

A
IN

10YR MP

EXST GRADE

100-YR FHAD=
100-YR MP

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 124Packet Page 560



 

      

      

 

  
      

 

 

      

      

GC05-C-C001.dgn

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

M
 G

A
R

D
N

E
R

C-1

B
 S

C
H

A
F

R
O

T
H

498924

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC
 D

E
S
IG

N

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

S
E

C
T
IO

N
S

G
R

E
G

O
R

Y
 C

A
N

Y
O

N
 C

R
E

E
K
  

M
A

S
T

E
R
 P

L
A

N

A
1"=5’-0"

B
1"=5’-0"

C
1"=5’-0"

D
1"=5’-0"

SECTION 5+20

PP-1

SECTION 7+60

PP-1

SECTION 12+60

PP-1

SECTION 19+80

STRUCTURE

EXST 

STRUCTURE

EXST 

EXST GROUND

STRUCTURE

PROTECT EXST 

100YR MP

100YR FHAD

EXST GROUND

100YR FHAD
100YR MP

STRUCTURE

PROTECT EXST 

100YR FHAD

100YR MP

10YR MP

100YR MP

100YR FHAD

10YR MP

GRADE

PROPOSED 

EXST GROUND

16’

10’

GRADE

PROPOSED 

10’

GRADE

PROPOSED 

10’

EXST GROUND

RIPRAP 18" THICK

TYPE M SOIL 

STABILIZATION

PROPOSED BANK

BOULDER WALL

INSTALL 60" TALL 

FOR BOULDER EDGE

36" DIA BOULDER

16.2’

EDGE

BOULDER 

INSTALL

10’

GRADE

PROPOSED 

EDGE

BOULDER

INSTALL 

EDGE

BOULDER

INSTALL 

RIPRAP 18" THICK 

TYPE M SOIL

STABILIZATION 

PROPOSED BANK

16’ EDGE

FOR BOULDER

36" DIA BOULDER

INSTALL 

10YR MP

16’

RIPRAP 18" THICK 

TYPE M SOIL

STABILIZATION 

PROPOSED BANK

SEDIMENT TRAP DETAIL
NTS

10YR MP

5370

5380

53905390

5370

5380

53905390

0+00 0+60

5380

5390

54005400

5380

5390

54005400

0+00 0+60

5400

5410

54205420

5400

5410

54205420

0+00 0+60

5430

5440

54505450

5430

5440

54505450

0+00 0+60

FILENAME: PLOT DATE: PLOT TIME:2015\11\06 6:06:27 AM

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 2

0
1
3
. 
 A

L
L
 R
IG

H
T
S
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

D
.

T
H
IS
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
, 

A
N

D
 T

H
E
 I

D
E

A
S
 A

N
D
 D

E
S
IG

N
S
 I

N
C

O
R

P
O

R
A

T
E

D
 H

E
R

E
IN
, 

A
S
 A

N
 I

N
S

T
R

U
M

E
N

T
 O

F
 P

R
O

F
E

S
S
IO

N
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
, 
IS
 T

H
E
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 O

F
R

E
U

S
E
 O

F
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
S
:

1 2 3 4 5 6

B

C

D

VERIFY SCALE

BAR IS ONE INCH ON

ORIGINAL DRAWING.

1"0

c

PROJ

DATE

D
A

T
E

N
O
.

D
S

G
N

D
R

R
E

V
IS
IO

N

C
H

K

A
P

V
D

B
Y

A
P

V
D

SHEET

DWG

A

of

$PWPATH

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 A

N
D
 I
S
 N

O
T
 T

O
 B

E
 U

S
E

D
, 
IN
 W

H
O

L
E
 O

R
 I

N
 P

A
R

T
, 
F

O
R
 A

N
Y
 O

T
H

E
R
 P

R
O
J
E

C
T
 W

IT
H

O
U

T
 T

H
E
 W

R
IT

T
E

N
 A

U
T

H
O

R
IZ

A
T
IO

N
 O

F
 C

H
2

M
 H
IL

L
.

$PWURL

 

   

E
N

G
L
E

W
O

O
D
, 

C
O
 8

0
1
1
2

C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

N
O

T
 F

O
R
 

P
R

E
L
IM

IN
A

R
Y
 

9
1
9
3
 S

O
U

T
H
 J

A
M

A
C
IA
 S

T

OCTOBER 2015

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 125Packet Page 561



7
T

H
 S

T
R

E
E

T

PENNSYLVANIA AVENUE

REALIGN BOX CULVERT

N

Scale In Feet

0 10 20 30

 

      

      

 

  
      

 

 

      

      

GC05-C-C002.dgn

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

M
 G

A
R

D
N

E
R

C-2

B
 S

C
H

A
F

R
O

T
H

498924

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC
 D

E
S
IG

N

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

6
3
7
 P

E
N

N
S

Y
L

V
A

N
IA
 A

V
E
 G

R
A

D
IN

G

G
R

E
G

O
R

Y
 C

A
N

Y
O

N
 C

R
E

E
K
  

M
A

S
T

E
R
 P

L
A

N

637

637

23
+
00

2
4
+
0
0

VEGETATION

PROTECT EXST
BOULDER DROP

INSTALL 3’

BOULDER DROP

INSTALL 3’

BOULDERS

EXST

PROTECT 

INSTALL HEADWALL

BRIDGE

PEDESTRIAN

INSTALL 

EXST WEST BANK

TO EXTEND BEYOND

CONSTRUCTION NOT 

PROTECT EXST BANK

SWALE

VEGETATED 

PROPERTY LINE, TYP

BOULDERS

EXST

PROTECT 

BOULDER DROP

INSTALL 3’

EASEMENT

EASEMENT

637

2. MAINTENANCE ACCESS PROVIDED BY 7TH STREET AND PENNSYLVANIA AVENUE

    TO ENSURE PROPERTY IS RESTORED TO EXISTING CONDITIONS OR BETTER.

    AND CITY SHALL WORK WITH A LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND ADJACENT PROPERTY OWNERS 

1. DURING THE FINAL DESIGN OF EACH MASTER PLANNED IMPROVEMENT, THE ENGINEER 

NOTES:

VEGETATION

PROTECT EXST

EXST STRUCTURE

ZONE
HAZARD
HIGH 

EXST 100-YR FLOODPLAIN

EASEMENT

EASEMENT

EASEMENT

FILENAME: PLOT DATE: PLOT TIME:2015\11\20 1:30:57 PM

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 2

0
1
3
. 
 A

L
L
 R
IG

H
T
S
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

D
.

T
H
IS
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
, 

A
N

D
 T

H
E
 I

D
E

A
S
 A

N
D
 D

E
S
IG

N
S
 I

N
C

O
R

P
O

R
A

T
E

D
 H

E
R

E
IN
, 

A
S
 A

N
 I

N
S

T
R

U
M

E
N

T
 O

F
 P

R
O

F
E

S
S
IO

N
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
, 
IS
 T

H
E
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 O

F
R

E
U

S
E
 O

F
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
S
:

1 2 3 4 5 6

B

C

D

VERIFY SCALE

BAR IS ONE INCH ON

ORIGINAL DRAWING.

1"0

c

PROJ

DATE

D
A

T
E

N
O
.

D
S

G
N

D
R

R
E

V
IS
IO

N

C
H

K

A
P

V
D

B
Y

A
P

V
D

SHEET

DWG

A

of

$PWPATH

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 A

N
D
 I
S
 N

O
T
 T

O
 B

E
 U

S
E

D
, 
IN
 W

H
O

L
E
 O

R
 I

N
 P

A
R

T
, 
F

O
R
 A

N
Y
 O

T
H

E
R
 P

R
O
J
E

C
T
 W

IT
H

O
U

T
 T

H
E
 W

R
IT

T
E

N
 A

U
T

H
O

R
IZ

A
T
IO

N
 O

F
 C

H
2

M
 H
IL

L
.

$PWURL

      

      

      

      

      

E
N

G
L
E

W
O

O
D
, 

C
O
 8

0
1
1
2

C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

N
O

T
 F

O
R
 

P
R

E
L
IM

IN
A

R
Y
 

9
1
9
3
 S

O
U

T
H
 J

A
M

A
C
IA
 S

T

OCTOBER 2015

BASIN

SEDIMENT

OPTIONAL 

BASIN

SEDIMENT

OPTIONAL 

5
4
5
5

BOULDER DROP

INSTALL 2’

3:1

THRU TRAFFIC

TO BE CLOSED TO 

PENNSYLVANIA AVENUE 

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 126Packet Page 562



5485

5
4
8
6

5487

5
4
8
8

5
4
8
9

5
4
9
0

5491

5492

5493
5494

5495

5496

5
4
9
7

5
4
9
8

5
4
9
9

5500

5
5
0
1

 

      

      

 

  
      

 

 

      

      

GC05-C-C003.dgn

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

M
 G

A
R

D
N

E
R

C-3

B
 S

C
H

A
F

R
O

T
H

498924

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC
 D

E
S
IG

N

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

G
R

E
G

O
R

Y
 C

A
N

Y
O

N
 C

R
E

E
K
  

M
A

S
T

E
R
 P

L
A

N

0 10 20 30

Scale In Feet

N

COLLEGE AVENUE

100-YR FLOODPLAIN

STORM SEWER

EXTEND EXST

INSTALL HEADWALL

BOULDER DROP

INSTALL 3’

REMOVE EXST CULVERT

C
O

L
L
E

G
E
 A

V
E
 G

R
A

D
IN

G

633

1100

610

617

2
7
+
0
0

2
8
+
0
0

REALIGN CULVERT

EXST UTILITY POLE

REMOVE AND REPLACE

ZONE

HAZARD

HIGH 

PROPERTY LINE, TYP

INSTALL HEADWALL

LOCATION

(APPROXIMATE 

BRIDGE/DRIVE

REPLACE EXST 

BRIDGE

UNDER 

TIE-IN

GRADING

BRIDGE

DRIVEWAY

PAST EXST 

EXTENDED 

HEADWALL 

FILENAME: PLOT DATE: PLOT TIME:2015\11\06 6:09:02 AM

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 2

0
1
3
. 
 A

L
L
 R
IG

H
T
S
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

D
.

T
H
IS
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
, 

A
N

D
 T

H
E
 I

D
E

A
S
 A

N
D
 D

E
S
IG

N
S
 I

N
C

O
R

P
O

R
A

T
E

D
 H

E
R

E
IN
, 

A
S
 A

N
 I

N
S

T
R

U
M

E
N

T
 O

F
 P

R
O

F
E

S
S
IO

N
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
, 
IS
 T

H
E
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 O

F
R

E
U

S
E
 O

F
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
S
:

1 2 3 4 5 6

B

C

D

VERIFY SCALE

BAR IS ONE INCH ON

ORIGINAL DRAWING.

1"0

c

PROJ

DATE

D
A

T
E

N
O
.

D
S

G
N

D
R

R
E

V
IS
IO

N

C
H

K

A
P

V
D

B
Y

A
P

V
D

SHEET

DWG

A

of

$PWPATH

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 A

N
D
 I
S
 N

O
T
 T

O
 B

E
 U

S
E

D
, 
IN
 W

H
O

L
E
 O

R
 I

N
 P

A
R

T
, 
F

O
R
 A

N
Y
 O

T
H

E
R
 P

R
O
J
E

C
T
 W

IT
H

O
U

T
 T

H
E
 W

R
IT

T
E

N
 A

U
T

H
O

R
IZ

A
T
IO

N
 O

F
 C

H
2

M
 H
IL

L
.

$PWURL

      

      

      

      

      

E
N

G
L
E

W
O

O
D
, 

C
O
 8

0
1
1
2

C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

N
O

T
 F

O
R
 

P
R

E
L
IM

IN
A

R
Y
 

9
1
9
3
 S

O
U

T
H
 J

A
M

A
C
IA
 S

T

OCTOBER 2015

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 127Packet Page 563



 

      

      

 

  
      

 

 

      

      

GC05-C-C004.dgn

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

M
 G

A
R

D
N

E
R

C-4

B
 S

C
H

A
F

R
O

T
H

498924

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC
 D

E
S
IG

N

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
 I

M
A

G
E

S

G
R

E
G

O
R

Y
 C

A
N

Y
O

N
 C

R
E

E
K
  

M
A

S
T

E
R
 P

L
A

N

 1
TYPICAL BOULDER DROP STRUCTURE
 

 

2
TYPICAL BOULDER DROP STRUCTURE
 

 

3
TYPICAL BOULDER DROP STRUCTURE
 

 

4
BOULDER DROP STRUCTURE IN SERIES
 

 

FILENAME: PLOT DATE: PLOT TIME:2015\11\06 6:09:43 AM

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 2

0
1
3
. 
 A

L
L
 R
IG

H
T
S
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

D
.

T
H
IS
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
, 

A
N

D
 T

H
E
 I

D
E

A
S
 A

N
D
 D

E
S
IG

N
S
 I

N
C

O
R

P
O

R
A

T
E

D
 H

E
R

E
IN
, 

A
S
 A

N
 I

N
S

T
R

U
M

E
N

T
 O

F
 P

R
O

F
E

S
S
IO

N
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
, 
IS
 T

H
E
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 O

F
R

E
U

S
E
 O

F
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
S
:

1 2 3 4 5 6

B

C

D

VERIFY SCALE

BAR IS ONE INCH ON

ORIGINAL DRAWING.

1"0

c

PROJ

DATE

D
A

T
E

N
O
.

D
S

G
N

D
R

R
E

V
IS
IO

N

C
H

K

A
P

V
D

B
Y

A
P

V
D

SHEET

DWG

A

of

$PWPATH

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 A

N
D
 I
S
 N

O
T
 T

O
 B

E
 U

S
E

D
, 
IN
 W

H
O

L
E
 O

R
 I

N
 P

A
R

T
, 
F

O
R
 A

N
Y
 O

T
H

E
R
 P

R
O
J
E

C
T
 W

IT
H

O
U

T
 T

H
E
 W

R
IT

T
E

N
 A

U
T

H
O

R
IZ

A
T
IO

N
 O

F
 C

H
2

M
 H
IL

L
.

$PWURL

      

      

      

      

      

E
N

G
L
E

W
O

O
D
, 

C
O
 8

0
1
1
2

C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

N
O

T
 F

O
R
 

P
R

E
L
IM

IN
A

R
Y
 

9
1
9
3
 S

O
U

T
H
 J

A
M

A
C
IA
 S

T

OCTOBER 2015

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 128Packet Page 564



 

      

      

 

  
      

 

 

      

      

GC05-C-C005.dgn

498924

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

M
 G

A
R

D
N

E
R

C-5

B
 S

C
H

A
F

R
O

T
H

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC
 D

E
S
IG

N

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
 I

M
A

G
E

S

G
R

E
G

O
R

Y
 C

A
N

Y
O

N
 C

R
E

E
K
  

M
A

S
T

E
R
 P

L
A

N

1
SCULPTED CONCRETE DROP STRUCTURE
 

 

2
TYPICAL BOULDER WALL

 

4
TYPICAL HEADWALL

 

3
TYPICAL BOULDER WALL

 

FILENAME: PLOT DATE: PLOT TIME:2015\11\06 6:10:18 AM

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 2

0
1
3
. 
 A

L
L
 R
IG

H
T
S
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

D
.

T
H
IS
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
, 

A
N

D
 T

H
E
 I

D
E

A
S
 A

N
D
 D

E
S
IG

N
S
 I

N
C

O
R

P
O

R
A

T
E

D
 H

E
R

E
IN
, 

A
S
 A

N
 I

N
S

T
R

U
M

E
N

T
 O

F
 P

R
O

F
E

S
S
IO

N
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
, 
IS
 T

H
E
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 O

F
R

E
U

S
E
 O

F
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
S
:

1 2 3 4 5 6

B

C

D

VERIFY SCALE

BAR IS ONE INCH ON

ORIGINAL DRAWING.

1"0

c

PROJ

DATE

D
A

T
E

N
O
.

D
S

G
N

D
R

R
E

V
IS
IO

N

C
H

K

A
P

V
D

B
Y

A
P

V
D

SHEET

DWG

A

of

$PWPATH

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 A

N
D
 I
S
 N

O
T
 T

O
 B

E
 U

S
E

D
, 
IN
 W

H
O

L
E
 O

R
 I

N
 P

A
R

T
, 
F

O
R
 A

N
Y
 O

T
H

E
R
 P

R
O
J
E

C
T
 W

IT
H

O
U

T
 T

H
E
 W

R
IT

T
E

N
 A

U
T

H
O

R
IZ

A
T
IO

N
 O

F
 C

H
2

M
 H
IL

L
.

$PWURL

      

      

      

      

      

E
N

G
L
E

W
O

O
D
, 

C
O
 8

0
1
1
2

C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

N
O

T
 F

O
R
 

P
R

E
L
IM

IN
A

R
Y
 

9
1
9
3
 S

O
U

T
H
 J

A
M

A
C
IA
 S

T

OCTOBER 2015

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 129Packet Page 565



 

      

      

 

  
      

 

 

      

      

GC05-C-C006.dgn

498924

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

M
 G

A
R

D
N

E
R

C-6

B
 S

C
H

A
F

R
O

T
H

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC
 D

E
S
IG

N

M
 L

Y
N

C
H

R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
 I

M
A

G
E

S

G
R

E
G

O
R

Y
 C

A
N

Y
O

N
 C

R
E

E
K
  

M
A

S
T

E
R
 P

L
A

N

1
TYPICAL HEADWALL
 

 

2
TYPICAL SOIL RIPRAP BANK PROTECTION
 

 

3
INLINE SEDIMENT BASIN
 

 

4
 

 

INLINE SEDIMENT BASIN

FILENAME: PLOT DATE: PLOT TIME:2015\11\06 6:10:57 AM

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 2

0
1
3
. 
 A

L
L
 R
IG

H
T
S
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

D
.

T
H
IS
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
, 

A
N

D
 T

H
E
 I

D
E

A
S
 A

N
D
 D

E
S
IG

N
S
 I

N
C

O
R

P
O

R
A

T
E

D
 H

E
R

E
IN
, 

A
S
 A

N
 I

N
S

T
R

U
M

E
N

T
 O

F
 P

R
O

F
E

S
S
IO

N
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
, 
IS
 T

H
E
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 O

F
R

E
U

S
E
 O

F
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
S
:

1 2 3 4 5 6

B

C

D

VERIFY SCALE

BAR IS ONE INCH ON

ORIGINAL DRAWING.

1"0

c

PROJ

DATE

D
A

T
E

N
O
.

D
S

G
N

D
R

R
E

V
IS
IO

N

C
H

K

A
P

V
D

B
Y

A
P

V
D

SHEET

DWG

A

of

$PWPATH

C
H

2
M
 H
IL

L
 A

N
D
 I
S
 N

O
T
 T

O
 B

E
 U

S
E

D
, 
IN
 W

H
O

L
E
 O

R
 I

N
 P

A
R

T
, 
F

O
R
 A

N
Y
 O

T
H

E
R
 P

R
O
J
E

C
T
 W

IT
H

O
U

T
 T

H
E
 W

R
IT

T
E

N
 A

U
T

H
O

R
IZ

A
T
IO

N
 O

F
 C

H
2

M
 H
IL

L
.

$PWURL

      

      

      

      

      

E
N

G
L
E

W
O

O
D
, 

C
O
 8

0
1
1
2

C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

N
O

T
 F

O
R
 

P
R

E
L
IM

IN
A

R
Y
 

9
1
9
3
 S

O
U

T
H
 J

A
M

A
C
IA
 S

T

OCTOBER 2015

Attachment A: Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 130Packet Page 566



Packet Page 567



Packet Page 568



City of Boulder
2015 Work Plan
 (Tentative as of December 16, 2014)

Project 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

CC: Open Access Transmission Tariff    

SS: Power Supply 
SS (2): Rates, Energy Services, Power 

Supply
Project update  Project update

 Budget update  Budget update  Budget update  Budget update
Staff Activities Municipalization Transition Plan Municipalization Transition Plan Municipalization Transition Plan Municipalization Transition Plan

Council 
SS: Review interim goals, targets and 

strategies

Staff Activities Launch action plan 
Energy system transformation; blue 

print convening Implementation based on action plan Implementation based on action plan

Council Briefing SS (2)

Staff Activities
Housing Matters launch event, 

engagement activities 
Draft strategy development

Implementation based on adopted 
strategy

Implementation based on adopted 
strategy

SS: Direction of preferred scenario SS : Draft plan and action plan

Next Corridor - 30th St or Colorado

Staff Activities Develop East Arapahoe action plan
Council SS Direction or IP Direction or IP Direction or IP

Staff Activities Develop scoping plan Strategy analysis and development Strategy analysis and development Strategy analysis and development
Council SS Direction or IP Direction or IP

Staff Activities Issues identification Strategy analysis and development Strategy analysis and development Strategy analysis and development
Council Update and coordinate with BVCP Update and coordinate with BVCP

Staff Activities

Council Briefing Briefing
Staff Activities

SS : Review options & Update; 
including recommendations for TDM 

tool kit for new development

Council action on TDM Tool Kit for 
new development

Recommendations including planning 
code changes

SS: Review options and update 
Ongoing work plan in 7 focus areas Ongoing work plan Ongoing work plan Ongoing work plan
Alternatives analysis and specific 

option development

Specific option 

development/refinements
Joint Board workshop & public 

engagement
Joint Board workshop & public 

engagement

Council

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan

Sustainable Streets and Centers/ East Arapahoe

Council 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

C
li

m
a

te
 a

n
d

 
E

n
er

g
y

 Comprehensive Housing Strategy (Housing 
Boulder)

 Energy Future and Associated Projects 

H
o

u
si

n
g

/L
a

n
d

 U
se

 
P

la
n

n
in

g

Climate Commitment

Resilience

Transportation Master Plan Implementation

Staff and elected official activities ongoing 
Regional Travel

Access Management and Parking Strategy (AMPS)

Staff Activities

Council

C:\Users\burnt1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\SGAYQBHC\CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5)CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5) 1 3/26/2015
Packet Page 569



City of Boulder
2015 Work Plan
 (Tentative as of December 16, 2014)

Project 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council SS: Parkland Concepts Plan CC: Approval of Concept Plan
Outreach to community & partners; 

create delivery plan for spring, 
summer, fall events

Deliver spring events Deliver summer activities and events
Review 2015 activation; compare lessons 

from 2014 and revise for 2016

Draft of parkland concept plan options 
for public workshop, Boards, Council 

review 

Board/Commission input on Concept 
Plan

Begin detailed design work on park 
improvements

Complete detailed design work for 
bidding 

Develop overall site master plan 
concepts, begin to formulate major 

capital projects

Initial feasibility planning on major 
capital projects

Continue to develop capital projects, 
identify potential partners, explore 

financing options

Continue to develop capital projects, 
identify potential partners, explore 

financing options

Council IP and local meals for Council Pilot

Council consideration of Local Food 
Procurement Policy; Review and 

acceptance of Ag Resources 

Management Plan

Council consideration of Local Food 
Procurement Policy; Review and 

acceptance of Ag Resources Management 

Plan

Staff Activities

SS: Review options IP 
CC: Public Hearing and Decision                                                                                                          

Recommendation & development of 
ordinances, changes and recommend 

other strategies to address 
Moratorium goals 

Follow up on other strategies & 
coordination with Hill Reinvestment 
Strategy; incorporate strategies into 

other work plan

Board review & public engagement Board review & public engagement

 Direction  on 14th Street 
redevelopment proposal 

SS 

SS: Update on strategy 
Residential service district (RSD) pilot 

program
RSD pilot program RSD pilot program RSD pilot program

Work plan implementation Work plan implementation Work plan implementation On-going work plan  implementation

Establish benchmarks  and evaluation 
criteria

Commercial district: Eco Pass Study & 
Commercial bear dumpsters

Implement volunteer program for 
clean up

Evaluate existing programs

Integration of strategy 
recommendations from Moratorium

Research options for sustainable 
governance & funding

Develop options for sustainable 
governance & funding

14th Street Lot public/private 
partnership redevelopment options re: 

work force affordable housing

14th Street Lot public/private 
partnership redevelopment options 

re: work force affordable housing

Stakeholder engagement Stakeholder engagement Stakeholder engagement Stakeholder engagement

Council IP: 2014 Accomplishments 
SS: As part of Human Services strategy 

update 
IP - Services and Regional coordination 

update
Staff Activities

Council 
Council update and input on testing 

phase
Briefing

SS: Adoption of Community Cultural 
Plan

Staff Activities
Research phase complete. Drafting 

phase complete. Testing phase begins
Testing phase complete. Certification 

phase begins
Implementation begins. New public art 

policy drafting
Public Art Policy drafting 

L
iv

a
b

il
it

y
L

o
ca

l 
F

o
o

d

Sustainable Agriculture and Local Foods 

Homeless Action Plan

C
iv

ic
 A

re
a

Community Cultural Plan 

Staff Activities

University Hill Moratorium

Council

Council

Staff Activities

 University Hill  Reinvestment Strategy 

Civic Area Implementation
Staff Activities

C:\Users\burnt1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\SGAYQBHC\CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5)CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5) 2 3/26/2015
Packet Page 570



City of Boulder
2015 Work Plan
 (Tentative as of December 16, 2014)

Projects 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council 

Staff Activities Ongoing redevelopment coordination
North Side of Pearl and Goose Creek 

bridge landscaping install. Bridge 
opens 

Depot Square opens 

Council Ongoing and Wastewater Collection 

System Rehabilitation program begins

Ongoing SS: 2016-2021 CIP Ongoing

Staff Activities

Council Report on 2015 City Events Summary of 2015 City Events

Staff Activities
Implement new events application and 

internal review process
Refine systems as needed Refine systems as needed

Improve events application for new 
online Landlinks System in 2016

Council SS SS

Staff Activities
Broadband Action Group formation 

and consultant assessment 
Consultant assessment continued Consultant assessment continued Present findings and recommendations 

Council
SS: Staff Recommendations design 

tools/process changes 
IP

CC: Draft recommendations/Adopt 
strategy 

Staff Activities
Issues identification/  preliminary  

work on design tools/ process changes
Technical analysis /develop options Draft recommendations

Public engagement Boards/public engagement Boards/public engagement 

Council

Staff Activities Flood Annexations - Individual Flood Annexations - Old Tale Rd Ongoing Ongoing

Council SS Public Hearing 
Staff Activities

Council

IP: Stormwater Master Plan and 
Wastewater Collection System Master 

Plan consideration

Staff
Stormwater Master Plan and 

Wastewater Collection System Master 
Plan updates continue

Stormwater Master Plan and 
Wastewater Collection System Master 

Plan updates continue

Council CC: Second reading 

Staff Activities Education campaign Enforcement begins Monitor Outcomes Monitor Outcomes

Council SS

Staff Activities
Research regulations and possible fees 

or taxes 

Human Services Strategy

O
th

er

 Boulder Junction

Capital Projects Activity 

CityWide Special Events 

Community Broadband

Design Excellence

 Flood-related  Annexations 

 Flood Management 

Smoking Ban - Implementation

Vacation Rental by Owner (VRBO)

C:\Users\burnt1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\SGAYQBHC\CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5)CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5) 3 3/26/2015
Packet Page 571



                                                             COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

Suzanne Jones  Mayor 
Mary Young  Mayor Pro Tem 

Matthew Appelbaum 
Aaron Brockett 

 Council Member  
Council Member 

Jan Burton  Council Member 
Lisa Morzel  Council Member 

Andrew Shoemaker  Council Member 
Sam Weaver  Council Member 

Bob Yates  Council Member 
   

                                                               
 
                                                             COUNCIL EMPLOYEES 
 

Thomas A. Carr  City Attorney 
Jane S. Brautigam  City Manager 

Linda P. Cooke  Municipal Judge 
                                                                
 
                                                              KEY STAFF 
 

Mary Ann Weideman 
Bob Eichem 

 Assistant City Manager 
Chief Financial Officer 

Lynnette Beck  City Clerk 
Patrick von Keyserling  Communications Director 

David Driskell  Executive Director for the Department of Planning, Housing 
Sustainability  

Molly Winter  Director of Community Vitality 
Heather Bailey  Executive Director of Energy Strategy and Electric Utility 

Development  
Michael Calderazzo  Fire Chief 

Joyce Lira  Human Resources Director 
Karen Rahn  Human Services Director 

Don Ingle  Information Technology Director 
David Farnan  Library and Arts Director 

James Cho  Municipal Court Administrator 
Tracy Winfree  Open Space and Mountain Parks Director 

Yvette Bowden  Parks and Recreation Director 
Greg Testa  Police Chief 

Maureen Rait  Executive Director of Public Works 
Cheryl Pattelli  Director of Fiscal Services 
Mike Sweeney  Acting Transportation Director 

Jeff Arthur  Utilities Director 
 

Packet Page 572



 Approved   02-17-2015 

2015 City Council Committee Assignments 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Beyond the Fences Coalition Morzel, Plass (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Boulder County Consortium of Cities Young, Morzel (alternate) 
Colorado Municipal League (CML) – Policy Committee Jones,  Cowles (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG) Jones, Plass 
Housing Authority (Boulder Housing Partners) Shoemaker 
Metro Mayors Caucus Appelbaum 
National League of Cities (NLC) Appelbaum, Cowles 
Resource Conservation Advisory Board Morzel (at large seat), Plass 
Rocky Flats Stewardship Morzel, Plass (1st alternate), Castillo (2nd alternate) 
University of Colorado (CU) / City Oversight Cowles, Shoemaker, Weaver 
US36 Mayors and Commission Coalition Appelbaum 
US36 Commuting Solutions Karakehian, Morzel (alternate) 
Urban Drainage and Flood Control District Jones 

LOCAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art (BMoCA) Young 
Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau Plass, Cowles (alternate) 
Dairy Center for the Arts Jones 
Downtown Business Improvement District Board  Weaver, Young 

INTERNAL CITY COMMITTEES 
Audit Committee Cowles, Morzel, Shoemaker 
Boards and Commissions Committee Plass, Shoemaker 
Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA) 
Mayoral Appointment 

Karakehian 

Charter Committee Karakehian, Morzel, Weaver 
Civic Use Pad/ 9th and Canyon Karakehian, Morzel, Young 
Council Employees Salary Review Cowles, Shoemaker 
Council Retreat Committee Morzel, Yates 
Evaluation Committee Morzel, Shoemaker

 

Housing Strategy Process Sub-committee Morzel, Shoemaker and Young 
Legislative Committee Jones, Karakehian, Weaver 
School Issues Committee Morzel, Plass, Shoemaker 

SISTER CITY REPRESENTATIVES 
Jalapa, Nicaragua Jones 
Kisumu, Kenya Morzel 
Llasa, Tibet Shoemaker 
Dushanbe, Tajikistan Weaver 
Yamagata, Japan Plass 
Mante, Mexico Young 
Yateras, Cuba Karakehian, Cowles (alternate) 
Sister City Sub-Committee Morzel, , Karakehian 



2015 Study Session Calendar

11/24/201512:11 PM

80

81
82
83
84

85
86
87
88
89

A B C D E F G H
11/24/15

12/08/15 Approved Briefing: East Arapahoe Transportation Corridor Plan 5:30-6 Chambers Randall Rutsch/Rene Lopez N/A N/A
Approved Hill Reinvestment Strategy Update 6-7:30 PM Chambers Molly Winters/Ruth Weiss 11/25/15 12/17/15
Approved Marijuana Advisory Committee 7:30-9 PM Chambers Tom Carr/Heather Hayward 11/25/15 12/17/15

12/22/15
12/29/15

Thanksgiving Holiday Week - No Meeting

New Years Holiday Week - No Meeting
Christmas Holiday Week - No Meeting

Packet Page 574



CAO to 
Prepare 

Ord.?

Power 
Point

Agenda Section Item Name Time

Public Hearing BVCP - Joint hearing with Planning Board - No other items to be scheduled for this evening: 
Initial screening of Public requests, report on results of listening tour, results from BVCP 
survey, discucssion of focus areas and policy changes. 180 Minutes no yes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY

MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL

CALL-UPS

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 3:00

December 15, 2015
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

December 2, 2015 CU/COB Leadership Lunch 

December 18, 2015
Legislative Breakfast 7:30-9 AM 

Packet Page 575



Agenda Section Time Minutes
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS Declaration Boulder County Farmer's Market
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT Historic Landmark Designation for 1900 King Avenue- Samson Wood House 15 Minutes

Historic Landmark Designation for 2200 Braodway - Trinity Lutheran Church
1st Rdg Annexation Ord for 236 and 250 Pearl
2nd Rdg Ordianance to implement West Trail Study Area Plan re: equine use and sledding - 
moved to consent
AMPS Study Session Summary from November 12th
2nd Rdg Ordinance Habitat Conservation Area Designation of the Schnell Homestead Open 
Space Property

PUBLIC HEARINGS Direction on initial screening of public request for BVCP 45 Minutes

2nd rdg Ordinance annexing an approximately 3.2-acre area of land generally located at 
4525 Palo Pkwy. with an initial zoning classification of Residential - Mixed 2 (RMX-2) 40 Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL Judge Cooke - Quarterly report to council
CALL-UPS

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 2:25

Agenda Section Item Name Time
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS State of the City
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT 15 Minutes

1st rdg Leases for Point to Point Electrical Conduit Crossings
PUBLIC HEARINGS Historic Landmark Designation for 1900 King Avenue- Samson Wood House

Historic Landmark Designation for 2200 Braodway - Trinity Lutheran Church
West Fourmile Canyon Creek Area Study update and direction Ponderosa MHP 150 Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER Living Lab Phase I Update 20 Minutes
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
CALL-UPS

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 3:50

January 5, 2016
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

January 19, 2016
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

Packet Page 576



Agenda Section Time Minutes
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT 15 Minutes

PUBLIC HEARINGS 2nd rdg Leases for Point to Point electrical conduit Crossings 30 Minutes

Minutes
MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
CALL-UPS

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 1:30

Agenda Section Item Name Time
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT 1st reading ordinance -Downtown Urban Guidelines Update- Lifting the height restriction is 

dependent on the adoption of the update 15 Minutes

PUBLIC HEARINGS 2nd rdg Annexation Ord for 236 and 250 Pearl 90 Minutes
Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER Living Wage Resolution 926 (title to be updated) 60 Minutes
Motion to revise the COB 2016 State and Federal Legislative Agenda
Bear Protection Ord Implementation Update 20 Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
CALL-UPS

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 3:50

February 2, 2016
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

February 16, 2016
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

Packet Page 577



DRAFT
2016 Study Session Calendar

Date Status Topic Time Location Contacts
Materials 

Due

01/12/16 Pre-Retreat Study Session 6-7:30 PM Chambers
  

Burnette/Lynnette Beck
01/12/16 7:30-9PM Chambers

01/22/15 COUNCIL RETREAT

01/26/16 Discussion of Co-op Housing 6-9PM Chambers

6-7:30 PM Chambers
7:30-9PM Chambers

Briefing 5:30-6 PM Chambers
6-7:30 PM Chambers

7:30-9PM Chambers

03/03/16 Boards and Commissions Interviews (Thursday) 6-9 PM 1777 West
03/08/16 Boards and Commissions Interviews 6-9 PM 1777 West
03/10/16 Boards and Commissions Interviews (Thursday) 6-9 PM 1777 West

3/22/2016 Briefing: Boulder Energy Future 5:30-6 PM Chambers H. Bailey/H. Joyce
03/22/16 Boulder Junction Update 6-7:30 Chambers Eric Ameigh, Lauren Reader
03/22/16 7:30-9 PM Chambers
03/22/16 CU spring Break Mar 21-25

03/29/16 Civic Area Long Term Planning Update 6-8 PM Chambers Sam Assefa/Lauren Reader
8-9 PM Chambers

Sister City Dinner- example only 5-6:30 PM
  

Lobby
6:30-7:30 Chambers

7:30-9:00 Chambers

6:00-7:30 Chambers

03/31/16

02/23/16

02/09/16

4/12/2016

Packet Page 578



DRAFT
2016 Study Session Calendar

7:30-9:00 Chambers

No Study Session due to Council travel to Portland, OR

Potential Ballot Items and Budget and Long Range Financial 
Planning Update 6-8 PM Chambers Peggy Bunzli/Elena Lazarevska
Boulder Energy Future Update 7:30-9:00 Chambers Heather Bailey/Heidi Joyce

05/10/16

04/26/16

Packet Page 579



 

 

           TO:  Members of City Council 

     FROM:  Michael Gallegos, City Clerk’s Office 

      DATE:  December 1, 2015 

SUBJECT:  Information Packet 
 

 
1. CALL UPS 

 A. Concept Plan Review 311 Mapleton Ave. (LUR2015-00071) 
 B. Concept Plan Review 4525 Palo Pkwy. (LUR2015-00080) 
   

2. INFORMATION ITEMS 
 None 
   

3. BOARDS & COMMISSIONS 
 A. Beverage Licensing Authority – November 18, 2015  
 B. Human Relations Commission – November 16, 2015 
   

4. DECLARATIONS 
 A. Boulder Colorado Companies to Watch Month – October, 2015 
   

 

Packet Page 580



 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM  

To:  Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
  David Driskell, Executive Director of Housing, Planning & Sustainability 
  Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Housing, Planning & Sustainability 
  Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
  Chandler Van Schaack, Planner II 
 
Date:   December 1, 2015 
 
Subject:  Call-Up Item: Concept Plan Review 311 Mapleton Ave. (LUR2015-00071)  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
On November 5, 2015 the Planning Board reviewed and commented on the above-referenced Concept 
Plan application for redevelopment of the 15.77-acre Boulder Community Health site at 311 Mapleton 
Ave. with a Congregate Care Facility consisting of a total of 16 buildings connected by pedestrian 
walkways or bridges, including 67 dwelling unit equivalents, with 150 independent living units and 83 
single assisted living areas, short-term rehab/skilled nursing rooms, and memory care rooms. The 
proposed parking for the project would be a mix of 199 structured garage spaces and 208 surface 
parking spaces (407 spaces total).   
  
City Council may vote to call-up the Concept Plan to review and discuss within 30 days of the 
Planning Board hearing. The call up period concludes on December 7, 2015.  There is one City 
Council meeting within this time period for call-up consideration, on December 1, 2015.  The staff 
memorandum to Planning Board, minutes, meeting audio, and other related background materials are 
on the city website for Planning Board, available here (Follow the links: 201511 NOV 
11.05.2015). The minutes from the Planning Board hearing are provided in Attachment A and the 
Concept Plan submittal package is provided in Attachment B. 
 
Seventeen neighbors spoke at the Planning Board hearing, with several people having pooled time 
with other neighbors.  Overall, the majority of neighbors expressed support for the proposed 
congregate care facility. However, most of the neighbors in support of the project also expressed 
concern with or desire to see changes to at least one element of the current proposal, and several 
neighbors expressed opposition to the project in general.  Concerns expressed by neighbors in support 
of the project included: 
• Traffic and parking impacts, both during and after project construction;  
• Concerns regarding construction impacts such as noise and lighting;  

Call Up Item 
311 Mapleton Avenue

1A     Page 1Packet Page 581

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/Browse.aspx?startid=47549&row=1&dbid=0


• Desire to have the building massing reduced to be more compatible with the residential character 
of the neighborhood;  

• Desire to see more energy efficiency features; 
• Preservation of historic and/or iconic structures on the site; and  
• More affordability/ a better range of pricing options within the project.  
 
Several of the neighbors expressed strong support for the proposed therapy pool and cited that feature 
as a primary reason for their support of the project overall. The neighbors who spoke in opposition to 
the project expressed concerns regarding all of the issues identified above, with an emphasis on 
negative impacts to quality of life and existing infrastructure associated with the project. 
 
Following staff’s presentation of the Concept Plan submittal, the applicant gave a presentation in 
which they described in further detail the public engagement process up to that point. They also 
presented data on congregate care facilities and senior housing within Boulder in support of the 
proposal, and provided additional details on the intended character and operating characteristics of the 
development.  
 
Overall, the board expressed support for the proposed project and found it to be largely consistent with 
the goals and policies of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP); however, they agreed with 
staff’s findings that there were several aspects of the proposal that need further consideration in order 
to make the project consistent with the full range of applicable BVCP policies. The board expressed 
broad support for the proposed therapy pool as a public benefit, and supported neighborhood access to 
the on-site amenities. Several board members felt that a coffee shop and potentially other small-scale, 
neighborhood-serving retail may be appropriate for the site. The board agreed with several community 
members who felt that there should be a broader range of unit types to expand pricing options and 
allow for greater affordability. The board made several suggestions for improvements to the site and 
building design, including providing better connectivity to adjacent sites, honoring existing historical 
features (subject to review by Landmarks Board), de-emphasizing parking, and generally breaking 
down the building massing and re-configuring the site to achieve more of a “village” feel and less of a 
“campus” feel.  

 
Consistent with recently amended land use code section 9-2-13(a)(2), B.R.C. 1981 City Council has 
the opportunity to call up the application to review and comment on the concept plan within a 30-day 
call up period which expires on December 7, 2015. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
A.  11.05.2015 Planning Board Minutes 
B.  Concept Plan Submittal 
 

Call Up Item 
311 Mapleton Avenue

1A     Page 2Packet Page 582



Attachment A - November 5, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
311 Mapleton Avenue

1A     Page 3Packet Page 583



Attachment A - November 5, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
311 Mapleton Avenue

1A     Page 4Packet Page 584



Attachment A - November 5, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
311 Mapleton Avenue

1A     Page 5Packet Page 585



Attachment A - November 5, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
311 Mapleton Avenue

1A     Page 6Packet Page 586



Attachment A - November 5, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
311 Mapleton Avenue

1A     Page 7Packet Page 587



Attachment A - November 5, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
311 Mapleton Avenue

1A     Page 8Packet Page 588



Attachment A - November 5, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
311 Mapleton Avenue

1A     Page 9Packet Page 589



Attachment A - November 5, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
311 Mapleton Avenue

1A     Page 10Packet Page 590



Attachment A - November 5, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
311 Mapleton Avenue

1A     Page 11Packet Page 591



Attachment A - November 5, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
311 Mapleton Avenue

1A     Page 12Packet Page 592



Attachment A - November 5, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
311 Mapleton Avenue

1A     Page 13Packet Page 593



Due to file size, a copy of Attachment B will be located in the City Council office in 
the City Manager’s office. 

Attachment B - Concept Plan Submittal

Call Up Item 
311 Mapleton Avenue

1A     Page 14Packet Page 594



INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

To:  Members of City Council 

From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Housing, Planning & Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Housing, Planning & Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
Sloane Walbert, Planner I 

Date:   December 1, 2015 

Subject:  Call-Up Item: Concept Plan Review 4525 Palo Pkwy. (LUR2015-00080) 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

On November 19, 2015, the Planning Board reviewed and commented on a Concept Plan application 
to redevelop the property located at 4525 Palo Parkway with 100% affordable family housing 
developed by Boulder Housing Partners, in partnership with Flatirons Habitat for Humanity along side 
of a companion annexation application (case no. LUR2015-00081, scheduled for City Council 
consideration at a public hearing on Jan. 5, 2015). The proposal includes 44 tri-plexes, townhouses 
and apartment units in nine buildings. Units will consist of 13 one-bedroom units, 14 two-bedroom 
units and 17 three-bedroom units. The proposal includes a modification to section 9-8-4, B.R.C. 1981, 
to allow more than 50 percent of one housing type in the RMX-2 zone district. The applicant is in a 
concurrent process to annex the property to the city with Residential - Mixed 2 (RMX-2) zoning. 

City Council may vote to call-up the Concept Plan to review and discuss within 30 days of the 
Planning Board hearing. The call up period concludes on December 21, 2015 (the end of the 30-day 
call up period falls on a weekend and so is extended to the following Monday). There are two City 
Council meetings within this period for call-up consideration, on December 1 and 15, 2015.  

The staff memorandum to Planning Board, minutes, meeting audio, and other related background 
materials are on the city website for Planning Board, available here (Follow the links: 2015 10 OCT 
11.19.2015  11.19.2015 PB Packet). There is one correction to the memo following the meeting. 
In the Background section, the memorandum to Planning Board originally stated that the property was 
approved for a land use designation change from low density residential to medium density residential 
as part of the 2002/2003 Annual Review of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP). 
However, the change to the land use designation was actually approved as part of the 2000 Major 
Update to the BVCP. The area to the south (Northfield Commons) was changed to medium density 

Call Up Item 
4525 Palo Pkwy

1B     Page 1Packet Page 595

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/fol/47549/Row1.aspx


residential as part of the 2002/2003 Review. The draft minutes from the Planning Board hearing are 
provided in Attachment A and the Concept Plan submittal package is provided in Attachment B. 
 
At the Planning Board hearing, there was significant public comment on the  proposal. In addition, a 
large number of written comments have been received and are included with the staff memorandum to 
the Planning Board. At the meeting, eight residents spoke in opposition to the project as proposed and 
six spoke in support of the proposal. Note that some members of the public pooled time. The general 
themes of public comment made at the meeting are summarized below. 
 
In Opposition: 
• Density – The proposal includes too many units and is too intense to be compatible with the 

surrounding neighborhood. Developer is trying to maximize the number of units on the property 
and we should practice moderation on this site. The density numbers presented by the developer 
and city staff misrepresent the density of Northfield Commons because they include the higher 
density areas on the south end of the development. 

• Traffic and Congestion – People will cut through the narrow streets in Northfield Commons or 
Kalmia Estates to avoid traffic lights and backed up traffic. Traffic can be an issue due to adjacent 
soccer complex. 

• Safety – People speed through the streets in Northfield Commons and on Palo Parkway. This is a 
safety concern due the number of children that play in front yards, sidewalks and in parks 
unsupervised. City needs to implement traffic calming techniques on the surrounding streets. 

• Housing – Affordable housing on this site is not consistent with many policies of the BVCP, 
including access to transit. A large amount of affordable housing is already in the neighborhood. 
People who live in affordable housing are not required to work in the City of Boulder. The units 
should be 100 percent ownership with no rentals. 

• Consistency with BVCP – The plan is inconsistent with the policies of the BVCP. The definition 
of the underlying medium density residential land use designation is “medium density areas are 
generally situated near community shopping areas or along some of the major arterials of the city.” 

• Parking – Parking is already scarce. On-street parking is heavily utilized, especially due to 
adjacent soccer complex. The proposed surface parking is not compatible with the neighborhood 
and garages should be provided. Some people thought that excess parking should not be provided 
and some were in support of excess parking. 

• Transit – Bus service to this area should be restored. 

• Access –The access to the development should be offset from Ridgeway St. so that people will not 
cut through Northfield Commons. 

 
In Support: 
• Affordable Housing – Affordable housing is important for people in our community and is sorely 

needed. BHP developments provide a strong sense of community. This is an excellent location for 
family housing. A mix of rental and ownership is beneficial. These types of developments always 
face opposition but they are important for our community. This housing enables many members of 
the community to stay in Boulder. We need more affordable housing options for families. Being a 
low-income parent does not make you a bad person.  

Call Up Item 
4525 Palo Pkwy

1B     Page 2Packet Page 596



• Compatibility – Development is largely compatible with surrounding neighborhood. The site is 
arranged so that the smaller buildings face Palo Pkwy. and interact with the existing neighborhood. 

• Design – The project represents sustainable urbanism. These are high-quality and energy efficient 
homes. 

 
The Board agreed that the proposal is consistent with BVCP goals and objectives. The project is a mix 
of ownership and rental units and is appropriate for families. In general, the Board supported the level 
of proposed density. However, they communicated concerns about parking and traffic. They 
articulated the need for an extensive traffic study at time of Site Review, with weekend traffic counts. 
They also expressed interest in traffic calming measures in the area, possibility done by the city. The 
Board provided mixed feedback regarding whether providing excess parking was a benefit or a failing 
in the site design. Some felt that the site contained too much pavement and others felt that providing 
excess parking was appropriate considering the context. The Board was also mixed regarding the site 
design centered on a central park with a loop drive. Some felt that this design would better serve the 
prospective residents, especially families with children. Others felt that the design was isolationist and 
did not integrate well into the existing neighborhood. However, most members stated that the internal 
streets need to be more pedestrian and bike friendly. Lastly, the Board gave mixed feedback regarding 
the requirement for a multi-use path from Palo Parkway to the Fourmile Creek Path. Some felt that a 
connection would be beneficial while others did not feel it was necessary. Refer to Attachment A for 
more information regarding the Board’s discussion. 
 
Consistent with section 9-2-13(a)(2), B.R.C. 1981 City Council has the opportunity to call up the 
application to review and comment on the concept plan within a 30-day call up period, which expires 
on December 21, 2015. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
A.  Draft November 19, 2015 Planning Board Minutes 
B.  Concept Plan Submittal 

Call Up Item 
4525 Palo Pkwy

1B     Page 3Packet Page 597



CITY OF BOULDER 
PLANNING BOARD ACTION MINUTES 

November 19, 2015 
1777 Broadway, Council Chambers 

A permanent set of these minutes and a tape recording (maintained for a period of seven years) 
are retained in Central Records (telephone: 303-441-3043). Minutes and streaming audio are also 
available on the web at: http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/ 

PLANNING BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT: 
Bryan Bowen, Chair 
John Putnam 
John Gerstle 
Liz Payton 
Crystal Gray 

PLANNING BOARD MEMBERS ABSENT: 
Leonard May 

STAFF PRESENT: 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
Hella Pannewig, Assistant City Attorney 
Cindy Spence, Administrative Specialist III 
Sloane Walbert, Planner I 
Jay Sugnet, Senior Planner 
Jeff Yegian, Housing Division Manager 

1. CALL TO ORDER
Chair, B. Bowen, declared a quorum at 6:12 p.m. and the following business was conducted.

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
On a motion by J. Gerstle and seconded by J. Putnam the Planning Board voted 5-0 (L.
May absent) to approve the November 5, 2015 minutes as amended.  The October 29, 2015 
minutes were tabled for approval until the December 3, 2015 Planning Board Meeting. 

3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
A. Jeremy Epstein, 4790 8th St., spoke in regards to call up Item D, 820 Lee Hill Dr. and

requested to allow a six-foot cedar privacy fence.

4. DISCUSSION OF DISPOSITIONS, PLANNING BOARD CALL-
UPS/CONTINUATIONS
A. Call Up Item: Floodplain Development Permit (LUR2015-00033), 2930 Pearl Street

B. Call Up Item: Floodplain Development Permit (LUR2015-00097), 1739 Broadway

Attachment A - Draft November 19, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
4525 Palo Pkwy

1B     Page 4Packet Page 598

https://webmail.bouldercolorado.gov/owa/redir.aspx?C=I5NO4b26akWhgmZpN9k_L3ln-0EqYNAIb3BQVECXatq4pRtRPkpbxOOxLA_bEvetV-NSpTIFrBA.&URL=http%3a%2f%2fwww.bouldercolorado.gov%2f


C. Call Up Item: Floodplain Development Permit (LUR2015-00098), 1270 Old Tale Road

D. Call Up Item: Approval of an Amendment to Approved Site Plans to amend the approved
fencing standards for the TrailCrossing at Lee Hill residential development to allow
privacy fences in specific areas. The proposal would allow 6-foot cedar privacy fencing
on Outlot A, 5-foot solid cedar fencing with 1 foot of latticework above (6 feet total) on
Lots 1 and 17 and solid 3’-10” cedar fencing on Lots 18, 24, 25 and 31. Visually
permeable 3'-10" high split rail fences would remain in all other locations. The project
site is zoned Residential - Low 2 (RL-2). Case No. LUR2015-00094, 820 Lee Hill Drive.

E. Call Up Item: Approval of an Amendment to Approved Site Plans to demolish the former
Olive Garden restaurant and construct an approximately 16,600 square foot Natural
Grocers by Vitamin Cottage grocery store. Included in the development proposal are
various site improvements, including new site and parking lot landscaping and storm
water improvements. The project site is zoned Business – Community 2 (BC-2). Case
No. LUR2014-00099, 2685 Pearl St.

Board Comments: 
 C. Gray requested to call up Item D, Case No. LUR2015-00094, 820 Lee Hill Drive.
 J. Putnam requested to have more information from staff regarding the access and

turning radius relating to the site criteria for Item E, Case No. LUR2014-00099, 2685
Pearl St.

5. PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS
A. Public hearing and Planning Board consideration of the following related to an

approximately 3.2 acre property located at 4525 Palo Pkwy:
1. Recommendations on an application for Annexation of the property with an initial

zoning of Residential Mixed – 2 (RMX-2) (case no. LUR2015-00081); and

2. Request for citizen, staff and Planning Board comment on a Concept Plan to develop
the property with 100% affordable family housing development by Boulder Housing
Partners, in partnership with Flatirons Habitat for Humanity. Proposal includes 44 tri-
plexes, townhouses and apartment units in nine buildings (case no. LUR2015-00080).

Applicant:  Lauren Schevets, Boulder Housing Partners 
Property Owner:  City of Boulder 

 B. Bowen recused himself from this discussion.

Staff Presentation: 
C. Ferro introduced the item.
S. Walbert presented the item to the Board.

Board Questions: 
S. Walbert, C. Ferro and H. Pannewig answered questions from the Board.

Attachment A - Draft November 19, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
4525 Palo Pkwy

1B     Page 5Packet Page 599



Applicant Presentation: 
Betsy Martens and Lauren Schevets, with Boulder Housing Partners, 4800 Broadway, the 
applicant, presented the item to the Board. 

Board Questions: 
Susan Lythgoe, B. Martens, L. Schevets, and Chris McGranahan, the transportation 
engineer with LSC Transportation Consultants, 1889 York St., Denver, representing the 
applicants, answered questions from the Board. 

Public Hearing: 
1. Harold Hallstein, 3664 Pinedale St., spoke in opposition of the project and

expressed concern regarding density, traffic, and possible relocation of citizens to a
flood zone.

2. Susan A. Lythgoe, 1455 Dixon St., #210, Lafayette, spoke in support to the project.
3. Sara Toole (pooling time with Dolores Sargent, Harvey Sargent, Shayna

Stillman, Dorsey Delavigne), 3159 Ouray St., spoke in opposition of the project and
expressed concerns regarding the proposed traffic, zoning and that the affordable
housing meets the BVCP.

4. Judy Langberg, 3166 Palo Pkwy, spoke in opposition to the project due to density,
safety, parking and traffic issues.

5. Shannon Cox Baker, 3845 Elmhurst Pl., on behalf of Better Boulder, spoke in
support to the project.

6. Pamela Griffon, 700 Walnut St., #312, spoke in support to the project.
7. Barb Verson, 3830 Howe Ct., spoke in support of low density.  Spoke in regards to

the multi-use path and not necessary anymore.
8. Ben Blazey, 3735 Ridgeway St., spoke in support to the project but expressed

concern regarding the parking estimates advocated for not having a thoroughfare.
9. Judy Langberg, 3166 Palo Pkwy, spoke in opposition of the project.
10. Jan Morzel, 2075 Upland Ave., spoke in support of the project.
11. Willa Williford, 2567 Vine Pl., spoke in support of the project.
12. Claudia Sanchez, 313 Pearl St., #2, spoke in support of the project.
13. Harvey Sargent, 3269 Ouray St., spoke in opposition of the project and stated that

people that may live in affordable housing would not be required to work in Boulder.
14. Judy Holleman, 3288 Palo Pkwy, spoke in support of the project but expressed

concern that the proposed design would not create a grid system in regards to the
proposed streets.

15. Elizabeth Mirowski, 3853 Fredricks Ct., spoke in support of the project and
expressed concerns regarding the traffic and reducing the density.

Board Comments: 
Key Issue #1: Is the proposed annexation consistent with city policies pertaining to the 
annexation of a property into the City of Boulder? Does the proposal meet the level of 
community benefit outlined in the BVCP? 

 All Board members agreed that the proposal would be consistent with the Annexation
Agreement and policies.

Attachment A - Draft November 19, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
4525 Palo Pkwy

1B     Page 6Packet Page 600



o H. Pannewig advised the Board that the Annexation Agreement could be drafted
with some flexibility in terms of the multi-use path.

 L. Payton regarding the condition within the Agreement regarding the multi-use path
stated that she would prefer to have that removed.

 J. Putnam agreed with L. Payton regarding the multi-use path.  He stated that he would
be open to leaving the condition in the Agreement at this time, but re-evaluate it at Site
Review when the final configuration would be done.

 J. Gerstle stated that he would prefer the multi-use path and remain in Annexation
Agreement.

Key Issue #2: Is the initial zoning of Residential Mixed – 2 (RMX-2) appropriate as the 
initial zoning for the subject property? 

 J. Putnam said that the language of the medium land use designation states that the
project is located on major arterials.  He stated that the BVCP designation would be
appropriate and consistent.  He added that the designation would only be appropriate with
the limitation of 14 units/acre per the Annexation Agreement.

 L. Payton agreed with J. Putnam’s comments the limitation of units 14 units/acres or
fewer.

 C. Gray stated that the RMX-2 zoning would be more appropriate on transit quarters.
She stated that the project would conform to underlying BVCP land use.  She stated that
the safety, traffic and density were major concerns of the public.

 J. Gerstle stated the RMX-2 zoning would be appropriate.

Key Issue #3: Is the proposed concept plan compatible with the goals, objectives and 
recommendations of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP)? 

 J. Gerstle stated the proposed plan would be compatible.  He stated that it would have
clear community benefit and help provide a variety of residential opportunities and would
be in accordance with the BVCP.

 C. Gray stated that the biggest problems with the project would be located offsite.
Traffic through the area would be problematic.  She suggested that the city would need to
conduct a sub-area plan.  Regarding the Concept Plan, she stated that one of the strengths
would be the mix of homeownership and rentals.  She stated that more homeownership
than what is proposed would be a benefit to the project.  In regards to the density, she
suggested to combine some of the single-family units into multi-family units and create
an opportunity for more families.  In addition, regarding the widths of the streets, she
stated that a smaller interior circulation would be better.

Attachment A - Draft November 19, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
4525 Palo Pkwy

1B     Page 7Packet Page 601



 

 

 
 L. Payton stated that the mix of rental and ownership units would be a nice mix.  In 

regards of the parking and sidewalks, she stated that she agreed with staff’s comments in 
the presentation.  She stated that this location would be a great site for families and would 
have opportunity for nature play for children.  She suggested the consolidation of one-
bedroom units into three-bedrooms.  She stated that it would reduce the number of units 
for the project, but it could create a benefit for the families.  In regards to the access of 
emergency vehicles, she stated that if projects would be designed for emergency vehicle 
access, the result would be wider streets and people would tend to drive faster.   
 

 J. Putnam stated that the project would be compatible with the goal and objectives of the 
BVCP.  In regards to unit configuration, he stated that it would be important to have a 
mix of unit types to accommodate a full range of families.  He stated that if all the units 
would be three-bedrooms, it would exclude many people.  In addition, if the number of 
units were reduced, he stated that it would not address the safety or traffic concerns.  

 
 
Key Issue #4: Would the project be compatible with the character of the surrounding area?  
Are the architectural and site design consistent with the Site Review criteria in terms of 
quality and compatibility with the surrounding neighborhood??  

 J. Putnam stated that the design elements within the project would fit within the 
surrounding neighborhood overall.  Regarding the traffic issues and parking, he did have 
some suggestions.  He stated that a proper traffic study would need to be done.  He stated 
that the traffic study would not have to limit density.  He stated that he would like to see 
weekend traffic counts on the traffic study.  In regards to the entrance connection, he 
stated that he would be less convinced to align it with Ridgeway.  He suggested that the 
entrance should loop back towards the west however he stated that the final decision 
should be linked to additional traffic analysis.  He stated that he would like to see in the 
Site Review more information regarding the level of traffic assumed in the Northfields 
Commons traffic study.  In regards to the internal design and whether it should be the 
“lollipop” or a grid system, he stated that there would be benefits of a common park area 
however he suggested designing the street to be more pedestrian and bicycle friendly.  In 
regards to parking, he stated that it would be over parked however it may be appropriate 
to have more than otherwise required due to the soccer park and public concerns.  He 
stated that it would be important to deal with the parking sensitively.  He stated that the 
proposed parking by the multi-use path would not be the best transition on the east side of 
the property.  He suggested the applicant review tuck-under carports or garages.  He 
suggested incorporating electric vehicle charging stations.  He suggested that since he 
would be supporting that the project be over parked that perhaps creating a design that 
some of the parking could be bought back or shared.  He stated that a strong TDM would 
be needed.  In regards to the path connection, he stated that he would be less convinced 
that a full ten-foot path on west side of the property would be needed.  He stated that he 
would rather see better connection through the property such as street and sidewalk 
connections to obtain a better integration with the neighbors to the south and west. 
 

Attachment A - Draft November 19, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
4525 Palo Pkwy

1B     Page 8Packet Page 602



 L. Payton stated that the portion of the Site Plan facing Palo Parkway is well done.   She
stated that the interior would have too much asphalt and parking.  She suggested that the
applicant address the weekend soccer field parking issue.  She stated that this could
reduce the number of parking spaces requested.  If the parking spaces were reduced, then
the plan could potentially have more park area in the center.  She stated that she supports
staff’s recommendation of parallel parking with detached sidewalks.  She stated that she
likes the central park idea.  She stated that she appreciates the idea of a grid layout,
however, the area would be small and it may not achieve much and that the central park
would be a nice amenity for the neighborhood.  In regards to the path, she stated that
there should not be a path on the plans.  She stated that the diagonal parking would be too
much asphalt.

 C. Gray agreed with J. Putnam’s comments regarding the TDM Plan.  She stated that
providing Eco passes would be a benefit as it would reduce the cost for homeowners. She
stated that she would like to hear more about the sustainability plan.  In regards to
recycling, she stated that only two areas would be designated on the Site Plan currently.
She agreed that the interior of the project seemed to have a lot of asphalt.  She suggested
softening that.  She expressed a concern that with no proposed garages or basements on
the plan, that there would be no place for residents to store their items (i.e. bikes, sports
equipment, etc.).  She suggested the applicant review that.  She stated that a traffic study
would be important.  She suggested a north connection through the project to the path.
She stated that the north end impinges on the wild land feeling, therefore she suggested
reviewing the Site Plan and to preserve the wild lands area.

 J. Gerstle expressed concern that the proposed plan treats the neighborhood as a separate
campus with only one point of entry.  He stated that he would prefer several points of
entry and integrate the project with the surrounding neighborhood with points of entry
and streets continuing as possible.  He stated the neighborhood should not feel as though
it were secluded and private.  He stated that a grid layout would help address that issue.
In addition, he stated that the path would help to make the area more permeable in
general.  He stated that there should be some public transit through the project rather than
around.  He stated that this would assist with the integration within the city.  He stated
that the current plan would be over parked and that too much area would be devoted to
parking.  He agreed that the traffic along Palo Parkway would be a concern and it should
be considered.  He stated that parking on the weekends could be a problem due to the
existing soccer field however this development should not be burdened to supply extra
parking since the problem currently exists.

 C. Gray stated that the proposed parking would be crowded.  She suggested not reducing
the parking but perhaps putting in garages.  She stated that currently parking is an issue
within neighborhood.  She stated that she would want to make sure that the new residents
would have place to park.

Attachment A - Draft November 19, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
4525 Palo Pkwy

1B     Page 9Packet Page 603



 L. Payton stated that a useful analysis for site review needs to be done in order to know
how much of the parking issue would be due to the existing soccer fields.  She suggested
that the applicant or staff could provide useful solutions to the soccer field parking issue
to assist the existing residents and new neighborhood.

 J. Putnam suggested looking at a neighborhood parking program.  He stated that due to
the nature of the site and existing concerns, it would require creativity on how to deal
with the parking issue.  He stated that traffic calming at this location would be a big
issue.  He stated that studies have shown with streets that have more parked cars; the
roads would be safer and can slow traffic.  He suggested that the city help with the traffic
engineering.  He stated that the traffic study may fall on other neighborhoods as well such
as Northfield Commons.  In regards to the path, he stated that there is clearly a social
path crossing diagonally from southwest to the northeast.  He stated that people would
continue to cut along this to gain access. He stated that this access would need to be a
hardened path otherwise people will be crossing and destroying the existing grassland.
He stated that perhaps a ten-foot concrete path may not be the answer, but at least a
naturalized, dirt path and it must be addressed.

Additional Key Issues: Architecture, Proposed Materials, and Grid Layout 
 C. Gray stated that she would be open to looking at a grid layout.

 J. Putnam stated that the architecture is good and consistent.

 J. Gerstle stated that he would like to see more of a variety of architecture.  He stated the
style is fine.  He stated that the attractiveness of the project would be increased if there
were a variety of different designs.

 C. Gray agreed.  She stated that she likes the adopted concept and that that it would be
reflective of the surrounding neighborhood.

 L. Payton agreed with the previous comments.  She stated that this project could benefit
from some guidance of the FBC.  She stated that some elevations seemed top-heavy and
the proportions seem a little off.  She suggested using natural stone in the materials and
wood or clad windows instead of vinyl windows.  She stated that the tower depicted in
one of the elevations did not fit with rest of proposed architecture.  She stated that she
would be in support of the proposed semitry, balance, fenestration, porches, and gables.

 J. Putnam, regarding materials, stated that he would like to see the suggestions made by
L. Payton, however this would be a cost constrained project and that if more money
spent on those materials, other things may be lost.  He stated the mission would be to
provide affordable housing and the project should not push too far as to jeopardize that
mission.

 L. Payton stated that some of the materials she suggested would have lower maintenance
and be more durable, therefore in the long run be more cost effective.

Attachment A - Draft November 19, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
4525 Palo Pkwy

1B     Page 10Packet Page 604



 C. Gray stated that there would not have a conflict with using true materials.  She stated
that intent would be to continue with quality.

 L. Payton expressed concern with the existing shallow ground water.

o C. Ferro explained that the project would not be proposing basements and
therefore would not be penetrating the ground water and water table.

Motion: 
On a motion by J. Putnam, seconded by J. Gerstle, the Planning Board voted (4-0, B. Bowen 
recused himself, L. May absent) to recommend to City Council approval of the proposed 
annexation with initial zoning of Residential Mixed –2 (RMX-2) pertaining to request No. 
LUR2015-00081, incorporating the staff memorandum as findings of fact, subject to the 
recommended conditions of approval for the annexation as provided for in the draft annexation 
agreement in Attachment C, but making the placement of a multi-use path conditioned on an 
approved site review and city manager discretion.   

Concept Plan Summary: 
L. Payton gave a summary of the Board’s recommendations.  Since this is a Concept Review, no
action is required on behalf of the Planning Board.  The Board was unanimous regarding Key
Issue #1that the proposed annexation would be consistent with city policies and that the proposal
would meet the level of community benefit outlined in the BVCP.  The Board was unanimous
regarding Key Issue #2 that the zoning of Residential Mixed – 2 (RMX-2) would be appropriate.
The Board was unanimous regarding Key Issue #3 that the proposed Concept Plan would be
compatible with the goals, objectives and recommendations of the BVCP in general.  In regards
to Key Issue #4 site design, in general the Board supported the proposed density.  In regards to
traffic, the Board supported the need for a robust TDM plan and more analysis regarding a
weekend traffic count and traffic calming devises.  The Board was mixed regarding if the site
proposal would be over parked.  In regards to the site plan, the Board was in unanimous support
for detached sidewalks.  The Board was mixed regarding whether a grid layout would be a better
solution.  J. Gerstle added to make sure that the proposed site would not be a closed campus and
to be fully integrated with the rest of the neighborhood.   L. Payton continued in regards to the
proposed central park, stated that the idea would be supported by the Board.  She stated that the
Board made comments regarding the provision of more storage and more covered parking.  In
additions, the addition of EV charging stations and sustainable elements were suggested.  In
regards to the proposed path, the Board stated it was not so concerned if it runs along the
boundaries but to ensure some permeability.  Regarding the point of access and Ridgeway, the
Board agreed that they would like more traffic safety analysis.  The Board’s preference would be
to not have the access completely lined up with Ridgway and perhaps have it offset.  The
Board’s concern would be to have the proposed site integrate into the rest of the neighborhood.

 B. Bowen returned to the meeting.

Attachment A - Draft November 19, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
4525 Palo Pkwy

1B     Page 11Packet Page 605



 

 

6. MATTERS FROM THE PLANNING BOARD, PLANNING DIRECTOR, AND CITY 
ATTORNEY 
A. Letter to Council Discussion 

 
Board Comments: 

 The Board members proposed their individual items to include in the Letter to Council. 
 J. Putnam proposed the following: 

 Encourage City Council to allocate more staff and community time 
 Need to get the BVCP and Design Guidelines correct   
 To look at the Site Review Criteria 
 Look at Neighborhood parking 
 He suggested keeping a tight focus and to do a few items really well, rather than 

focus on too many items. 
 

 L. Payton proposed the following: 
 To urge City Council to launch some sub-community or neighborhood plans 
 Prioritize the Broadway corridor 
 Revisit inclusionary zoning to require  to affordable housing and integrated into 

every development 
 To look at resiliency in terms of the Flood Plain and FEMA maps should reflect 

climate change, potential for more extreme events, etc. 
 

 C. Gray proposed the following: 
 Community benefit 
 To look at the Site Review Criteria 
 Climate commitment 
 To support the Landmarks Board to give them more flexibility to look at sub-

divisions to assist in small house preservation 
 DUDG and the lacking of urban design plans 
 Neighborhood area planning   
 Parking 
 Inclusionary zoning and Annexations and would like to 20% (market rate) /30% 

(middle income) / 50% (affordable housing) 
 

 J. Gerstle proposed the following: 
 Agreed with previous suggestions and that more focus would be needed  
 Community benefit 
 BVCP update 

 
 B. Bowen proposed the following:   

 Agreed with previous suggestions and that more focus would be needed 
 Climate change 
 Support municiplization 
 EUI building code focus  
 DUDG very high in prioritization 
 Community engagement especially with DUDG 

Attachment A - Draft November 19, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
4525 Palo Pkwy

1B     Page 12Packet Page 606



 Affordable housing (widening to 150% AMI, adequate funding, moving the goal
from 10% to 20%)

 B. Bowen asked the Board who they would like to approach the Letter to Council.  He
stated that there seems to be a consensus regarding the items to include.  He suggested a
prioritization exercise

 C. Gray suggested each board member organize their own items.  She reminded the
Board that L. May is absent and will have items of his own.  She stated that the
small/tiny house issue often is lost under Housing.

 J. Putnam suggested to the Board that one member takes all of the items suggested and
bundles them together and the outcome would be four-six headings.  For example, he
suggested combining “community benefit” with “Site Review criteria”.  In addition,
under a “Housing” category, the items of affordability, small houses, and land marking
could be grouped.

 L. Payton stated that the December 3, 2015 agenda would be a smaller meeting.

 B. Bowen designated that J. Putnam compile projects and stated that all board members
email project ideas to him directly.  J. Putnam will send the list to C. Spence and
include it in the next Planning Board meeting packet.

B. DUDG Updated Schedule

Board Comments: 
 B. Bowen stated that the DUDG has had seven meetings to date.  He stated that the

persons involved felt the results of those meetings were positive and successful.   He
explained that within those meetings there were many places reveled where there is no
agreement.  He stated that the focus would be on community engagement and design
plans.  The idea was neither to drastically alter the intent of the DUDG nor to craft new
policy.  He stated the focus was no positive reformatting and simplification of the
guidelines.  He explained that the DUGD will come to Joint Board meeting scheduled for
December 10, 2015 with a draft of the new DUDG sent out beforehand.  He stated that
there is a need for a coherent Urban Design Plan.

 C. Gray added that a Public Open House is scheduled for December 8, 2015.

 B. Bowen stated that after the open house and joint meeting, the draft will be edited.  In
February 2016, the DUDG will go in front of all the boards for sign off.   The Planning
Board will be charged with adopting sections 2-6.  He then stated that the entire DUDG
would go to City Council for approval.

7. DEBRIEF MEETING/CALENDAR CHECK

Attachment A - Draft November 19, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
4525 Palo Pkwy

1B     Page 13Packet Page 607



8. ADJOURNMENT

The Planning Board adjourned the meeting at 9:59 p.m. 

APPROVED BY 

___________________ 
Board Chair 

___________________ 
DATE 

Attachment A - Draft November 19, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up Item 
4525 Palo Pkwy

1B     Page 14Packet Page 608



Due to file size, a copy of Attachment B will be located in the City Council office in 
the City Manager’s office. 

Attachment B - Concept Plan Submittal

Call Up Item 
4525 Palo Pkwy

1B     Page 15Packet Page 609



  
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
BEVERAGE LICENSING AUTHORITY 

* * * MINUTES * * * 
WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 18, 2015, 3:00 P.M. 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
MUNICIPAL BUILDING – 2ND FLOOR 

1777 BROADWAY, BOULDER, COLORADO 
 

NAME OF BOARD/COMMISSION:   Beverage Licensing Authority (BLA) 

DATE OF MEETING:    November 18, 2015 

NAME & PHONE OF PERSON   Mishawn Cook, License and Collection Administrator 
PREPARING SUMMARY:  (303-441-3010)  
   Kristen Huber, Licensing Specialist (303-441-3034) 
   

     
NAMES OF MEMBERS, STAFF, AND INVITED GUESTS PRESENT: 

Board Members: Harriet Barker, Lisa Spalding, and Matthew Califano 

Staff Present:  Carey Markel, Assistant City Attorney,  Mishawn Cook, License and Collection 
Administrator, and Kristen Huber, Licensing Specialist 

 
QUASI-JUDICIAL MEETING OUTLINE OF AGENDA 

 

1. Member roll call and public hearing and consideration by the Beverage Licensing 
Authority, based on lack of attendance of the Chair and Vice Chair for quorum issue, of 
whether to confirm cancelation of the November 18, 2015 hearing, and so, whether to 
grant hearing continuance of the applications to the Wednesday, December 16, 2015 
hearing at 3:00 PM or to the January hearing if requested by an applicant or licensee. 

Roll call was taken. A quorum of three BLA members attended with Chair Wallace and Vice 
Chair Timken absent.  

Ms. Cook read the list of applications to be continued as stated on the hearing agenda. 

No applicants or licensees requested a continuance to the January hearing. 

Member Barker moved, Califano seconded, to continue the applications referenced to the 
BLA hearing on Wednesday, December 16, 2015. Motion approved 3:0. 
 
 
 

Boards and Commissions 
BLA 11-18-15

3A     Page 1Packet Page 610



  
 

2. Matters from the Licensing Clerk 
 

A. Neighborhood boundary setting for the December 16, 2015 BLA hearing for a New 
Hotel-Restaurant type liquor license application from Lucile’s Ltd. d/b/a Lucile’s 
Boulder at 2124 14th Street, Boulder, CO 80302. 

 
The following neighborhood boundaries were discussed: Maxwell Avenue Extended on 

the North, Arapahoe Avenue on the South, 22nd Street on the East, and 9th Street on the 

West. Member Barker moved, Califano seconded, to set the neighborhood boundaries 

for this application as described above. Motion approved 3:0. 

ADJOURNMENT   

Member Spalding moved, Member Califano seconded, to adjourn the meeting. Motion 
approved 3:0, thus the hearing was adjourned at 3:11 p.m.  

TIME AND LOCATION OF FUTURE MEETINGS, COMMITTEES OR SPECIAL HEARINGS: 

3rd Wednesday of every Month at 3PM in City Council Chambers for 2015. 
 

Attested:  Approved: 
 

 
 

 

Mishawn J. Cook, BLA Secretary     Chair of Beverage Licensing Authority 
 

Boards and Commissions 
BLA 11-18-15

3A     Page 2Packet Page 611



City of Boulder 
BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS MEETING SUMMARY FORM 

 
NAME OF BOARD/COMMISSION: Human Relations Commission 
DATE OF MEETING:  Nov. 16, 2015 
NAME/TELEPHONE OF PERSON PREPARING SUMMARY: Robin Pennington 303-441-

1912 
NAMES OF MEMBERS, STAFF AND INVITED GUESTS PRESENT: 
Commissioners –  Amy Zuckerman, Shirly White, Nikhil Mankekar, Emilia Pollauf, José Beteta 
Staff  – Carmen Atilano, Robin Pennington, Karen Rahn, Wendy Schwartz, Todd Jorgensen, Luis 
Ponce  
Commissioners absent – None        
WHAT TYPE OF MEETING (CIRCLE ONE)  [REGULAR]  [SPECIAL]  [QUASI-JUDICIAL] 
AGENDA ITEM 1 – CALL TO ORDER – The Nov. 16, 2015 HRC meeting was called to order at 
6:07 p.m. by A. Zuckerman.   
AGENDA ITEM 2 – AGENDA ADJUSTMENTS – Move Discussion/Informational Items 5.A.2 
and 3 Bridge House 2016 Community Event Fund Applications for KGB Thanksgiving and 
Homeless Persons’ Memorial to December. Move Action Item 6.B.2016 Community Event Fund 
Decisions to December. 
AGENDA ITEM 3 – APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
A.  Oct. 19, 2015 - N. Mankekar moved to approve the Oct. 19, 2015 minutes with one edit. 
J.Beteta seconded.  Motion carries 5-0.   
AGENDA ITEM 4 – COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION (non-agenda action items) – 
Community members Ann England, David Harrison, Shelli Angel, Mike Homer, Darren O’Connor, 
Eleanor Brode, Bill Cohen, Shae Fryderlund, Reno Yakavetta, Rob Smoke, Michael LaGarde and 
Michael Fitzgerald spoke on homelessness and the ban on camping.  
AGENDA ITEM 5 – DISCUSSION/INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
A.  2016 Community Event Fund Applications 

1. Boulder Dance Coalition – Jim Schwartzkopff reviewed the proposal for the 2016 dance 
series of events. 

2. Friends of Martin Acres – David Lorraine and Aaryn Kay reviewed the proposal for the 
Martin Acres Summer Festival to be held in August of 2016. 

3. Holiday Neighborhood Master HOA – Steve Tremper and another representative spoke about 
the proposal for Movie Night in the Holiday Park, a series of family friendly community 
move nights. 

4. Out Boulder – Mardi Moore reviewed the plans for the 2016 Boulder Pridefest. 
5. Postoley – Tom Masterson reviewed the 2016 dance series plan for Postoley.   

Commissioners recessed from 7:45 to 7:50 p.m. 
AGENDA ITEM 6 – ACTION ITEMS 
A.  2015 Community Event Fund Reports 

1. Out Boulder – Mardi Moore reported on the 2015 Pridefest event. S. White moved to approve 
     pending receipt of final budget. E. Pollauf seconded. Motion carries 5-0. 
2. Postoley – Tom Masterson reviewed the 2015 Postoley dance events. N. Mankekar moved to 
     approve. E. Pollauf seconded. Motion carries 5-0. 
3. BarrioE – Tamil Maldonado reviewed Cultura Viva, a BarrioE event. N. Mankekar moved to 
     approve. S. White seconded. J. Beteta recused himself. Motion carries 4-0. 

B.  2015 Celebration of Immigrant Heritage Report 
1. Motus Theater – Kirsten Wilson reviewed SALSA, an immigrant-themed theater production.  
     N. Mankekar moved to approve. E. Pollauf seconded. J. Beteta recused himself. Motion 

Boards and Commissions 
HRC 11-16-15

3B     Page 1Packet Page 612



carries 4-0.  
   C.  Community Impact Fund Applications 

1. Intercambio – Maye Cordero reviewed Intercambio’s CIF application for their Boulder County 
     Program to provide day care for their English class students along with supplemental 
     Pronunciation Guides and Immigrant Guides.    
2. Out Boulder – Sara Connell reviewed Out Boulder’s CIF application to provide employment 
     clinics and support for under-employed and unemployed transgender people in Boulder. 

S. White moved to approve funding for Out Boulder in the amount of $7328.00 and Intercambio in 
the amount of $5672.00. N. Mankekar seconded. Motion carries 5-0. 
AGENDA ITEM 7 – DISCUSSION/INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
A. Human Services Strategy and Homeless Strategy Update – K. Rahn and W. Schwartz 

provided an overview of the Human Services Strategy background, public engagement process 
and next steps. K. Rahn and T. Jorgensen gave an update on the Homelessness Strategy 
background, the Boulder Homelessness Strategy Framework, the progress of homeless initiatives 
and next steps. Staff answered commissioner questions about the presentations and the Oct. 27, 
2015 Study Session memos on these topics.     

B. HRC Responses to 2016 Questions from City Council 
1. Resolution Request Regarding Homelessness – Commissioners discussed the request to bring 
forward a resolution to City Council seeding action to decriminalize the status of homelessness as 
it relates to the City Camping Ordinance, BRC Section 5-6-10. Agreement was reached to bring 
this topic forward under the 2016 Questions from City Council. 
2. Indigenous Peoples’ Day – Commissioners agreed to bring this topic forward under the 2016 
Questions from City Council. 

      Other topics proposed included establishment of a multi-cultural center, Living Wage and the 
      wage gap/fair wages, protections for undocumented residents and the city approach to 
      community surveys.  Staff will provide commissioners a draft response to discuss at the 
      December HRC meeting.    
C. Inclusive and Welcoming Community Work Plan – Staff provided an update to 

commissioners on the status of the consultant selection process for the Community Perception 
Assessment. N. Mankekar met with consultant Hillard Heintze who is looking at policing in 
Boulder. 

D. Living Wage Issue – Staff will provide commissioners with a memo with options for their 
consideration no later than Dec. 14, and provide it to attendees of the 2014 Living Wage Forums. 
The December HRC meeting will include a public hearing on the topic. 

E. HRC Meeting Dates (December, January, February) – The December meeting will be held 
on Dec. 17 in Council Chambers.  January and February meeting dates will be discussed at the 
December meeting. 

F. Event Reports – E. Pollauf attended the Veterans Helping Veterans Now Veteran Awareness 
series event, S. White attended the Women’s Foundation of Colorado and the Colorado Center 
on Law and Policy meeting on self-sufficiency standards, A. Zuckerman attended a 
neighborhood BVCP meeting, N. Mankekar attended the CU Diversity Summit.        

AGENDA ITEM 7 – IMMEDIATE ACTION ITEMS – None.    
AGENDA ITEM 8 – Adjournment – N. Mankekar moved to adjourn the Nov. 16, 2015 meeting. 
J. Beteta seconded. Motion carries 5-0.   The meeting was adjourned at 10:46 p.m. 
TIME AND LOCATION OF ANY FUTURE MEETINGS, COMMITTEES OR SPECIAL 
HEARINGS: The next regular meeting of the HRC will be held on Dec. 17, 2015 in Council 
Chambers, Municipal Building, 1777 Broadway. 

Boards and Commissions 
HRC 11-16-15

3B     Page 2Packet Page 613



Packet Page 614


	20151201_agenda - public final
	1A_Election Certification
	Agenda Title
	Executive Summary, Staff Recommendation, Motion Language
	Attachment A- Certification of the Election
	Attachment B- Reconciliation Report

	3A_minutes 9-29
	Call to Order, Consent Agenda, Matters from CM
	Public Hearing- Building Performance, Items related to Medical and Recreational MJ
	Adjournment

	3B_ Human Services Strategy Update
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Next Steps
	Attachment A- Summary

	3C_ Homelessness Strategy Update
	Executive Summary, Overview of Presentation,  Council Discussion
	Staff Recommendation, Next Steps
	Attachment A- Summary

	3D_2016 State Federal Legislative Agenda
	Executive Summary, Staff Recommendation
	Assessments, Impacts, Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A- Legislative Agenda

	3E_2nd Reading 901 Pearl Vacations
	Executive Summary
	First Reading Questions, Staff Recommendation
	Feedback, Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A- Vicinity Map
	Attachment B- Ord No. 8090
	Attachment C- Draft Deeds
	Attachment D- Approved Tech Docs

	3F_2nd Reading COB ATB2
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation
	Assessments, Impacts, Analysis
	Feedback
	Attachment A- Ord No. 8092

	3G_Forest Glen Supp app
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts, Analysis
	Feedback
	Attachment A- Res No. 52
	Attachment B- 2015 Fund Activity Summary

	3H_BJGID-TDM supp app
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts, Analysis
	Feedback
	Attachment A- Res No. 17
	Attachment B- 2015 Fund Activity

	3I_1st Reading Emergency Supp 125
	Executive Summary
	Impacts, Staff Recommendation, Notes, Discussion
	Amendments
	Attachment A- Emergency Ord No. 8097

	3J_1st Reading OSMP
	Executive Summary, Staff Recommendation
	Assessments, Impacts, Feedback, Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A- Ord No. 8098
	Attachment B- OSMP Horse Regulations

	3K_1st Reading Schnell HCA
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts, Feedback
	Public Comment and Process, Analysis
	Attachment At- Ord No. 8099
	Attachment B- Schnell Homestead

	3L_1st Rdg 4525 Palo Pkwy Annexation
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts
	Feedback
	Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A- Annexation Map
	Attachment B- Res No. 1177
	Attachment C- Ord No. 9000
	Attachment D- Annexation Agreement
	Attachment E- Annexation Petition

	5A_2nd Rdg 385 Broadway Rezoning
	Executive Summary
	Background
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts
	Feeback
	Analysis
	First Reading Questions
	Hotline Questions
	Key Issue 1
	Key Issue 2
	Attachment A- Ord No. 8093
	Attachment B- Ord No. 8094
	Attachment C- Correspondence Received
	Attachment D- Applicant's Written Statement
	Attachment E- NIST Access Easement
	Attachment F- Planning Board Findings

	5B_2nd Reading 2180 Violet to H4H
	Executive Summary
	First Reading Questions
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts
	Feeback, Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A- Survey
	Attachment B- Ord No. 8095
	Attachment C- Written Statement
	Attachment D- Annexation Agr for 2180 Violet
	Attachment E- Annexation Agr for 2145 Upland
	Attachment F- Annexation  Agr for 1917 Upland
	Attachment G-Estimated Development Potential
	Attachment H- ROW Maps
	Attachment I- Master Crestview East Annexation Agr

	5C_Gregory Creek Canyon Plan
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts
	Feedback
	Background, Analysis
	Recommendation
	Next Steps
	Attachment A- Gregory Canyon Creek Plan

	99_Ref Materials
	1. Council Working Agreements
	2. 2015 Work Plan
	INSIDE FRONT COVER Council and Key Staff 11.13.14
	4. Council Assignments
	Council_Master_Calendar11-23-15 (2)
	2015 Study Sessions
	December '15
	January 2016
	February 2016
	2016 Study Sessions


	20151201_IP_Web
	IP Cover
	1A Call Up - 311 Mapleton Avenue
	Executive Summary
	Attachment A - 11-05-15 Planning Board Minutes 
	Attachment B - Concept Plan Submittal

	1B Call Up - 4525 Palo Parkway
	Executive Summary
	Attachment A - Draft 11-19-15 Planning Board Minutes
	Attachment B - Concept Plan Submittal

	3A BLA 11-18-15
	3B HRC 11-16-15
	4A Boulder Colorado Companies to Watch Month - October




